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TO THE SECOND EDITION.

THE great interest taken in the trial of Prof. Web-
ster — a trial which, since its commencement, has
absorbed the attention of the entire community —
has induced the publishers to furnish an accurate edi-
tion, for preservation and future reference. They have
spared no expense to secure the most thorough and
correct report which it was possible to make. All,
except the testimony, was phonographically reported
by Dr. Stone, and we have reason to believe that it
will meet the expectations of the public. Arrange-
ments of the most complete character were also effect-
ed with other reporters, to obtain a faithful report of
the evidence.

The charge of Chief Justice Shaw, and the argu-
ments of Mr. Clifford, have been carefully corrected by
their authors. The arguments of Messrs. Merrick and
Sohier have not been revised by themselves ; but we
present our report of them to the public with the
assurance that it can be relied upon as substantially
correct. Of this, the established reputation for fidel-
ity and accuracy of the reporter, Dr. Stone, is a suffi-
cient guaranty ; and the publishers cannot but believe
that those of our citizens who were present during the
trial will agree with them, that the report is a faith-
ful transcript of the speeches as delivered by their
authors.

This edition contains, in an Appendix, the verdict
of the Coroner’s Jury, the deposition of Dr. Martin
Gay, and other valuable and interesting papers, not
contained in any other edition.
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SUPREME JUDICIAL COURT.

TRIAL OF
DR. JOHN W. WEBSTER,

INDICTED FOR THE

MURDER OF DR. GEORGE PARKMAN.

Hon. LemuEeL SHAWw, Chief Justice.

Hon. SamverL S. WiLDE,
¢ CuarLEs A. DEWEY, ; Associate Justices.
““ TuHERoON METCALF,

Counsel for the Commonwealth.
How. Jorn H. Crmrorp, Attorney General.
GeorGe Bewmis, Esqg.
Counsel for the Prisoner.

Hon, Priny MEegrgrick,
Epwarp D. Somer, Esq.

Tuesday, March 19, 1850.

Tue Court met at 9 o'clock, A. M.

The Clerk read the names of sixty jurors. All but four answered.
Fourteen were excused from serving, on account of their health, or
military commissions.

The counsel for the Commonwealth then stated that JOHN W.
WEBSTER was present, to be tried for the murder of Dr. George
Parkman, the Grand Jury having found an indictment against him, to
which he had pleaded Not Guilty. He then moved that the Jury be
empanelled to try the case.

’:F'he Clerk then called the name of John W. Webster, and the pris-
oner stood up. He was then informed h)btha Clerk, that he was put
to the bar to be tried for the murder of Dr. George Parkian — that
the Court would now proceed to empanel a jury — that he had by
law a right peremptorily to challenge twenty jurors,and that if he had"
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objections to any others, he must show good and sufficient cause for
their exclusion.

The Court then propounded to the Jury, to be answered by each
severally, the questions required by the Revised Statutes, in regard to
previously formed and expressed opinions, and in regard to capital
punishments. .

The following persons were peremptorily challenged by the pris-
oner: Simeon P. Adams, Hiram Bosworth, Benjamin Chandler, Jr.,
Wm. L. Eaton, James L. Fowler, George O. Frothingham, Cyrus P.
Gould, Daniel Hall, Geo. W, Learnard, Walter C. Manning, Wm. Mel-
vin, Samuel T. Morse, Moses Pike, and Greenleaf C. Sanborn.

The following persons were set aside by the Court, as having formed
or expressed an opinion : Charles H. Appleton, Dudley H. Bayley,
(prejudiced ;) James Bliss, John Bowker, F r., Geo. H. Chapman, Alon-
zo Jones, Jr., Jacob W. Pierce.

The following persons were set aside, as having such opinions
against capital punishment as would forbid them to convict the pris-
oner: (George Bemis, Daniel F. Child, and John B. Hewes.

Mr. Benjamin H. Greene stated to the Court that his opinions were
distinctly opposed to capital punishment, but he did not think that
fact would prevent him from telling the truth in this case. Question
oy the Court — You would oppose the law as a legislator, but would
execute itasa juror? Answer— Yes. The Court ruled that his
case did not come within the meaning of the statute.

The following were the names of the jury obtained to try the

CaAsg i —

Roeert J. Byran, (Locksmith,) Foreman,
Tuomas Barrerr, (Printer.)

Jonn Borrowscavrg, (Slater.)

James Crospy, (Clerk.)

Jonn E. Davewnrort, (Painter.)
Avgert Day; (Dry Goods Dealer.)
Josern Eustis, {E’f[erchant.}

Daxier D. Furrer, of North Chelsea.
Bewiamin H. Greexe, (Bookseller.)
Arnorp Havwarp, (Carpenter.)
Freperick A. Henperson, (Furnisher.)
STEPHEN A. StackpoLi, (Clerk.)

The Clerk read the indictment, as follows : —

Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Suffolk, to wit: At the Muni-
cipal Court of the City of Boston, begun and holden at said Boston,
within and for the County of Suffolk, on the first Monday of January,
in the year of our Lord 1850, the Jurors for the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts on their oaths present, that John W. Webster, of Cam-
bridge,in the County of Middlesex, gentleman, on the 23d day of No-
vember last past, at Boston,in the County of Suffolk, in and upon one
George Parkman, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought,
did make an assault; and that he the said John W. Webster, wili a
certain knife, which he then and there in his right hand had and held,
him the said George Parkman, in and upon the left side of the breast
of him the said George Parkman, then and there feloniously, wilfully,
and with malice aforethought, did strike, cut, stab, and thrust, giving
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to the said George Parkman, then and there, with the knife aforesaid,
in and upon the left side of the breast of him the said George Park-
man, one mortal wound, of the length of one inch, and of the depth
of three inches, of which said mortal wound, the said George Park-
man then and there instantly died. And so the Jurors aforesaid, upon
their oaths aforesaid, do say that the said John W. Webster him the
said George Parkman, in manner and form aforesaid, then and there,
feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did kill and
murder, against the peace of the Commonwealth aforesaid, and con-
trary to the form of the statute in such case made and provided.

And the Jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do further
present, that the said John W. Webster,at Boston aforesaid, in the
county aforesaid, on the twenty-third day of November last past, in
and upon the said George Parkman, feloniously, wilfully, and of his
malice aforethought, did make an assault; and that he the said John
W. Webster, then and there, with a certain hammer, which he the
said John W. Webster in both his hands then and there held, him
the said George Parkman, then and there, feloniously, willfully, and
of his malice aforethought, did strike, giving unto him the said
George Parkman, then and there, with the hammer aforesaid, in and
upon the head of him the said George Parkman, one mortal wound,
of which said mortal wound he the said George Parkman then and
there instantly died ; and so the Jurors aforesaid do say that the said
John W. Webster him the said George Parkman, in manner and
form aforesaid, then and there, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice
aforethought, did kill and murder, against the peace of said Common-
wealth, and contrary to the form of the statute in such case made and
provided. And the Jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do
further present, that the said John W. Webster, of Boston aforesaid,
in the county aforesaid, on the 23d day of November last past, in
and upon the body of the said George Parkman, feloniously, willully,
and of malice aforethought, did make an assault ; and that the said
John W. Webster, then and there, with his hands and feet, him the
said George Parkman, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
thought, did strike, beat and kick, on and upon the head, breast, back,
belly, sides, and other parts of the body of him the said George Park-
man, and did then and there feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice
aforethought, cast and throw the said George Parkman down unto
and upon the floor with great force and violence there, giving unto
the said George Parkman then and there, as well as by beating and
striking and kicking of him the said George Parkman down as afore-
said, several mortal strokes, wounds and bruises, in and upon the
head, breast, back, belly, sides, and other parts of the body of him
the said George Parkman, of which said mortal strokes, wounds and
bruises, he the said George Parkman then and there instantly died;
and so the Jurors aforesaid do say that the said John W, Webster
him the said George Parkman, in manner and form aforesaid, then
and there feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did
kill and murder, against the peace of said Commonwealth, and con-
trary to the form of the statute in such case made and provided.

And the Jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do further
present, that the said John W, Webster, of Boston aforesaid, in the



sounty aforesaid, in a certain building known as the Medical College,
there situate, on the 23d of November last past, in and upon e_glea
said George Parkman, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
thought, did make an assault on him the said George Parkman, in
some way and manner, and by some means, instruments and weap-
ons, to the Jury unknown, did then and there feloniously, wilfully,
and of his malice aforethought, deprive of life, so that he the said
George Parkman then and there died ; and so the Jurors aforesaid,
upon their oaths aforesaid, do say, that the said John W. Webster
him the said George Parkman, in the manner and by the means
aforesaid, to the said Jurors unknown, then and there feloniously,
wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did kill and murder, against
the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth aforesaid, and contrary
to the form of the statute in such case made and provided.

DAN'L RHOADES, Foreman Grand Jury.
Joun H. Cuirrorp, Attorney General.

To this indictment, the Jury were informed, the prisoner at the
bar had pleaded Not Guilty ; and that they were here, upon their oaths,
to try the case, and true deliverance make.

At this stage of the proceedings, the Attorney General rose and said :
I would state, may it please your Honor, that from the great vari-
ety of circumstances connected with this case, and owing to the fact
that the attorney for this county has business in another Court, I have
been under the necessity of calling in my friend, Mr, Bemis,a member of
the bar in this county, to help arrange the case. He has rendered me
that service, and I would ask the Court that he may be permitted to
assist me on the trial, in the introduction and presentation of the
testimony to the jury.

Judge Shaw. It 1s granted.

OFPENING OF THE CASE, BY MR. CLIFFORD.

May it please your Honors, and you, Mr. Foreman and Gentlemen
of the Jury: —

In entering upon our respective duties, Gentlemen, in a case of so
much interest and importance as the one now before us, I am sure that
none of us can need anything like admonition to impress us with
the sense of our responsibility, or anything like exhortation to a con-
scientions fidelity in discharging ourselves of that responsibility.
Least of all, Gentlemen, do I deem it necessary to introduce that so
common topic of eaulion to a jury, that they shall keep themselves
free from all excitement which may prevail upon the subject of their
investizations out of doors; an excitement, Gentlemen, in this case,
which undoubtedly has affected the whole community, and which
arises, and has arisen, out of an event which must have caused it in
any community in which life would be tolerable. But here, Gentle-
men, in the clear, calm light of justice, in this Temple of Justice, we
are to investigate an issue, and endeavor, with all the aids and lights
which the ordinary course of legal procedure may place in our hands,
to ascertain the simple truth of the accusation which is brought by
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the Grand Jury against the prisoner at the bar. You are to try this
cause as you would any other cause which you had sworn to try upon
the evidence. I am to conduct it, Gentlemen, so far as I have the con-
ducting of it, just as I would any other cause, going to the manage-
ment of it fairi]}r, faithfully and frankly, as I am obliged to do by my
official position.

We are all engaged, not in a service of our own seeking, but in one
imposed upon us by our various obligations to the Commonwealth, to the
community, and to the prisoner at the bar, These duties are painful
to us, Gentlemen, laborious and responsible ; but they are duties; and
that single word carries with it all that need be addressed to right-
thinking, richt-feeling and conscientious men. They cannot be
evaded or shighted, and all that we can hope for is, by faithfully and
patiently addressing ourselves to what has devolved upon us in our
respective spheres of duty, to bring this issue to a righteous and just
result. .

The Grand Jury of this County, after a careful and patient inves-
tigation, have upon their oaths charged upon the prisoner at the bar
the crime of wilful and deliberate murder. You have been selected
from among the mass of your fellow-citizens to hear the evidence on
which this charge is founded, to listen to all the explanations
and answers which the prisoner may offer to that evidence, to
receive from this, the highest judicial tribunal of the Commonwealth,
such instructions and directions as will enable you to apply intelli-
gfnt]}f the rules of law to that evidence. and then to pronounce whether
at charge is true.

This, Gentlemen, i your high and responsible duty ; the highest, the
most responsible, that, under a system of government like ours, is ever
confided to the citizen. Mine 1s of a different character, Gentlemen,
though [ trust tending to and leading to the same result; and the
view that [ take of it will be an explanation of the mode in which it
is my purpose to open this cause, and introduce to you the evidence,
which, with the aigeof my associate here, I shall have occasion to lay
before you.

I desire, Gentlemen, here in the very opening of these proceedings,
distinctly,and under the sense of the responsibility which rests u]Imn me,
to apprise you of the view thatI take of my duty in the case. Iregard
it, Gentlemen, to a great extent, in its essential character, as a judicial
one. | am here to aid and assist you,as well as [am able, in arnving
at the truth. The too common idea of the functions of a prosecuting
officer, that he is to press a prosecution beyond what any fair-minded
seeker after truth would press it, I repudiate and disavow. I have
always done so. And if such a demand were made upon me by the
supposed exigences of my office, I certainly would not hold that office
for a single hour, I am here to represent the Commonwealth, to
see that, as far as in me lies, the justice of the Commonwealth is vin-
dicated, and the rights of every person who is charged with viclating
. it no less protected. I shall endeavor, therefore, to perform that duty
with fairness to this prisoner, and fidelity to the community and the
Commonwealth, which you and I alike represent here.

In this view of our respective duties, I shall confine myself, in the
opening of this case, to as plain, simple, and concise a statement as is
practicable of the evidence which we expect to lay before you. Ishall
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endeavor, scrupulously, not to predccupy your minds, or to forestall
iour judgments, by any comments upon or inferences from that evi-

ence. Nor shall I indulge in the discussion of any general topics,
however naturally they may seem to be suggested by or to grow out
of the facis presented to you. But I shall content myself, anﬁcel that
I shall best discharge the duty devolving upon me in doing so, with
presenting you with an outline of the facts; not going into a detailed
and minute statement of every fact, but with such an outline of the
facts within the possession of the (zovernment, as will facilitate your
inquiry, and indicate the grounds upon which the Grand Jury, an-
other body of your fellow-citizens, acting under the like sanctions which
have now been imposed upon you, have made their presentment
against this prisoner.

That presentment involves two general propositions. The first is,
that Dr. George Parkman, the person named in the indictment, has
been murdered. The second is, that he was murdered by John W.
Webster, the prisoner at this bar. I propose, Gentlemen, to give you
an outline of the evidence applicable to these two propositions, inde-
pendent of each other, and then to ask your consideration, under the
direction of the Honorable Court, to the form in which they have been
presented by the Grand Jury in the several counts of the indictment,
and the law applicable to them.

We shall offer, then, Gentlemen, in the first place, evidence to show
you that Dr. Georgte Parkman, a well-known and highly respectable
citizen of Boston, was living, in good health and cheerful spirits, on
the morning of Friday, the twenty-third day of November last ; that
he was engaged in his usual occupations, on that day, up to fifteen
minutes before two o'clock, at which time he was last seen alive,
about entering the Medical Building in Grove-street.

He did not return to his dinner on that day ; a fact which, on account
of the habits of Dr. Parlkman, was of itself calculated to excite some
uneasiness in his family. He was a man serupulously careful to be
home at the ordinary hours of his meals; and if ever necessitated to
be absent, he was most particular in apprising his family of the cause,
and of his whereabouts. It will appear that he had at that time an
mvalid daughter to whom he was tenderly attached, in whom he was
as much bound up as a father ever is in his child; and upon that
day, on account of her condition, and to administer to her wants in
the sick chamber, he had purchased a quantity of lettuce, which, at
that season, was a rare plant, and which will appear {rom the evidence,
he intended to take home with him in going to his dinner.

It will appear that Dr. Parkman left some lettuce in a shop near
the Medical College, with the intention of returning to take it, and
thence to carry it home. At that shop, it will appear that he made
certain purchases. He did not return. The lettuce remained there.
After he went to the Medical College, although he was expected to
return in a few minuates to take it, he did not return, and he did not
return to his home.

His friends and his family became alarmied. They waited, how-
ever, till the next morning, before any public movement was made in
relation to it. On that day, those connected with him, those who had
been in his employment, those who had transacted business for him,
those who knew him and knew his habits, were informed of his disap-
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arance, and a general search, though conducted with some less
publicity than was afterwards resorted to, was commenced on that day
— on Saturday.

The police were summoned to aid in that investigation and search.
And in the course of the day, it becoming apparent that he must either
have met with foul play somewhare, or that he had wandered away
from his home, notices were published in the evening papers of Sat-
urday, calling the attention of the entire public to the fact of his dis-
appearance.

Judge Shaw. Was Friday the day ?

Myr. Clifford. Friday was the day of his disappearance, Saturday
of the publication. Rumors of his having been seen were rife. They
were traced in every instance, when brought to the knowledge of those
who conducted this search, and were found in every instance to be
entirely unfounded. His friends and the police hearnii so many confi-
dent statements of his having been seen in different parts of the city,
that in one of the advertisements, which was published at a very early
period after his disappearance, he was represented by them as having
been seen in or near Washington-street on Friday afternoon, at five
o'clock. But on tracing this rumor, as all others were traced, to its
source promptly and at the time, it was satisfactorily ascertained, by
those who had the greatest interest in following them up with assi-
duity, vigilance and care, that the parties, in every instance, were
either mistaken in respect to the time when he was seen, or in the
identity of the person.

Gentlemen, the police, the entire police of this city, were brought
into requisition. Handbills were issued, offering the most liberal
rewards. And whatever may have been the hopes and expectations
of those who looked for his coming, for his return, when those rewards
were offered to the public, to the police, to everybody — whatever
might have been their hope or expectation that he had wandered off —
when they brought no tidings of him, (rewards of very large amount,
#3000 one of them,) that hope gave way, and the conjecture and
apprehension which had possessed the minds of his friends, the police
al?d lt_hf; publie, deepened into certainty, that he was not in the land ot
the living. o

In the course of the Sunday, Gentlemen, the following day after
the first publication of the notices —and [ now propose, for your con-
venience, to give an outline of what will be proved, chronologically,
in the order in which it took place — on Sunday, his rﬂmiE;' learned
from Dr. Webster, the prisoner at the bar, that on the Friday previ-
ous he had been in his company between the hours of one and two
o’clock. The ecircumstances under which that communication was
made to the family will be a subject upon which I shall have ocea-
sion, in another stage of these proceedings, to advert perhaps, but
[ now speak of it only as one fact in connection with the disappear-
ance and the attempt to discover the whereabouts of Dr. Parkman.
The search was continued through the week — Monday, Tuesday,
Wednesday, Thursday, and up to Friday of the following week. And
although, Gentlemen, the friends of Dr. %arkmau and the police who
were engaged in this search did occasionally hear, as I have already
remarked, that he had been seey after the time when he is represented
to have gone into the Medical College, and followed up every account,
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— going to Salem, going to East Boston, going to different parts of the
city, where he was reported to have been seen — followed up with
great diligence every one of these rumors that came to their knowl-
edge, and they all turned out to be entirely unfounded.

It may be stated here, perhaps, with propriety, that doubtless others
may have honestly believed that; they saw Dr. Parkman after that
period. . But so far as it has come to the knowledge of the Govern-
ment, Gentlemen, no person has appeared to state that Dr. Parkman
was seen and conversed with from the time that we shall show that
he entered the Medical College, ten or fifteen minutes before two
o'clock on that Friday ; and the inevitable and unavoidable inference
is that he is dead.

I ought to state to you that the evidence will show how thorough
the search was. The river was dredged. The yards, the outbuildings,
the dwelling-houses in the west part of the city, where Dr. Parkman
was known to have had a large property, were thoroughly and faith-
fully searched.

({1 Monday and Tuesday, Gentlemen, there was a search at the
Medical College. The manner of it, the extent of it, the character
of it, particularly with reference to the rooms which were occupied
by this prisoner, Dr. Webster, will be a subject which will demand
your consideration hereafter. I merely state now that this search
at the Medical College was a mere formal one; no suspicion on,the
part of the police then having attached to Dr. Webster ; and such a
suspicion, of course, being very unlikely, unless upon some strong
ground, to be fastened upon him by any one.

Thus, Gentlemen, it will be made to appear to you that Dr. Park-
man was seen and traced, as I have already stated, and at the time
that | have stated ; and that from that time to the present there has
been no person, so far as the Government is aware — no person who
can, so far as anybody is aware, correctly and truly state that he has
since been seen. Whatever may be the impressions, like those which
I have already suggested were entertained with the strongest belief
and idea, the Government are compelled to believe, that from that Fri-
day noon he has not been seen alive, independently of the evidence
which [ shall now proceed to state.

On the 30th of November, the Friday after his disappearance, in
the vault of a privy connected with the defendant’s laboratory at the
Medical College, were found parts answering to the deseription of Dr.
Parkman. They consisted ofa pelvis, (the hip bones,) the right thigh,
(from the hip to the knee,) the left leg, (from the knee to the ankle ;)
and with them were found certain towels with the initial of the
prisoner, and similar to those used by him in his laboratory. On
that day, Friday, and the next day, Saturday, were also found in the
furnace of Dr. Webster’s laboratory, fused i with the slag and cin-
ders, as the evidence will show you, and which you will consider im-
portant in one view of this case — fused in indiscriminately with the
slag, the einders, the residuum of the coal —a great number of bones,
and certain blocks of mineral teeth. Certain quantities of gold
which had melted were also found, and other substances, which will
be disclosed to you by the testimony.

On Saturday morning, or in the course of the day, certainly —1I
do not mean before meridian — in the course of the day, Saturday, in
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addition to what I have already stated as found in the laboratory,
there was found, in a remote eorner of that laboratory, in a place
where it had been noticed but had not been examined, (had been
noticed so early as the Tuesday previous by one witness, who will
state the circumstances under which he observed it,) there was found
a tea-chest, containing, imbedded in a quantity of tan, and covered
with minerals, the thorax or entire trunk of a human body, the left
thigh, from the hip to the knee, and a hunting-knife, of a peculiar
charaeter, and around the bone of the thigh, a piece of twine or mar-
line, which will be produced —a specimen of which will be produced
here, with other specimens found in his laboratory. These parts
were subjected to the examination of competent medical and scientific
men. They were put inapposition, — I speak now of the parts fonnd
in the privy and in the tea-chest, independent of the bones found in
the furnace, — they were put in apposition, and found to resemble,
in every particular, the body of Dr. Parkman, or such portion of
the body as these parts corresponded to; and, in no single particular,
dissimilar to the body of Dr. Parkman.

There were missing from this human body, when placed in apposi-
tion, the head, the arms, hands of course, both feet, and the right leg
from the knee to the ankle. The evidence will probably satisfy you,
Gentlemen, that they they belonged to a person about the age of Dr.
Parkman. He was about 60 years of age. The evidence will also
show that the form was peculiar, as his was peculiar. It will be tes-
tified to you by the witnesses, that the height, 5 feet 101 inches, cor-
responded precisely to the height of Dr. Parkman, taking, as the wit-
nesses will explain to you, the average length for these missing parts —
the head from the necl, and the foot from the ankle.

It is not necessary for me to detain you by details. The witnesses
will explain to you how they reach this result, to which they come, —
that the height of the person to whom these parts belong was 5 feet
10% inches. And we shall show you, by the passport of Dr. Park-
man, that he was of precisely that height. The evidence will also
prove that he was of a peculiar form and shape, and that this body
was also of that peculiar form and shape; that the hair indicated
something similar, and in no respect dissimilar, to that of Dr. Park-
man.

But then, Gentlemen, we shall put into this case evidence which,
upon this point, I shall leave you to judge of, and to take the proper
estimate upon. For I am not here to comment upon it, but merely
to state to you a general outline of what it is. Of the bones found
in this furnace, not a fragment was found which duplicates any one
found in the vault or the tea-chest, but every particle of bone belonged
to some part of a human body not found in that vault and tea-chest ;
showing that unless by a miracle they agreed, the bones found in
the furnace, the parts found in the tea-chest, and the parts found in
the vault, all constituted portions of one human body.

The Steriff. Silence in the gallery! Silence!

Myr. Clifford. There will also, Gentlemen, be some evidence which
will perhaps indicate to your minds a probability at least, if nota
conviction, that some of the bones found in the furnace were frac-
tured before they had ever been subjected to the action of fire — the
bones of the cranium, (of the head.) I say that there mav be some evi-
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dence of this, {I{cru will understand me in stating this point, — the
extent and weight and foree of it you will judge of hereafter,) indi-
cating that before the bones were subjected to the action of fire, those
bones had been fractured.

Then, Gentlemen, you will have placed for your inspection a block
of mineral teeth, which was found in that furnace, and found so near
the bottom of the furnace that it took the current of cold air, — found
resting upon the grate, a fact of some significance, — a block of min-
eral teeth, which will be testified to by two gentlemen, accomplished
dentists, to be the teeth of Dr. Parkman, made for him in 1846, upon
an occasion which Dr. Keep distinctly recollects, recognizing his own
work, and beyond that giving you the grounds upon which he feels
the confidence that he will express in his testimony ; a confidence so
strong, from his recollection of the work itself, and the formation of
these teeth, the peculiarities of their formation, and other facts, that
if he had seen them in Africa, or beyond the sea, he should have
known them to be the teeth which he made for Dr. George Parkman,
in the autumn of 1846. There were other portions of mineral teeth
found, which will go to aid you in your judgment of the reliability of
the testimony of Dr. Keep, but which are not so characteristic as the
block of which I speak. It will be shown that Dr. Keep has in his
E}usse&aion, and can produce now, a mould of the entire jaw of Dr.

arleman, taken at the time he made this block of mineral teeth.
You will see, by that mould, which will be testified to you by Dr.
Keep, that it is a mould which showed the peculiar conformation of
Dr. Parkman’s jaw, —a peculiarity so great, that you could not find,
through any caprice of nature, another precisely like it.

The Sheriff. Quiet in the gallery !

Myr. Clifford. It will appear from the evidence, that these mineral
teeth must have been cast into that furnace in connection with the
head. That will be made perfectly clear and apparent to you, upon the
evidence, found in connection,as they are, with certain portions of the
bones, which will be explained to you by another medical, anatomical
and scientific witness.

Beyond this, you will have exhibited to you, from among the
bones, the bones of the right lower jaw, found in that furnace, in frag-
ments, in portions, there broken and with serried edges, put together
to show that they belonged to one and the same jaw; and the con-
formation of that jaw, when thus put together, you will find precisely
like that taken in the mould in 1846, by Dr. Keep. This will be the
nature of the evidence to satisfy you that Dr. Parkman came to his
death as charged in that indictment, and in connection with the Med-
ical College.

There are one or two points, before proceeding to the other evidence,
which I shall offer, to which it may be proper, in this connection, to
advert. The thorax, which I have Epnien of as having been found
in the tea-chest, exhibits a perforation, upon which there will be evi-
dence laid before you to show that it was a wound which penetrated
between the ribs, taking off a portion of the membrane which covers
one of the ribs, and entering the region of the heart. It will also
appear to you, Gentlemen, that to these remains there have been
chemical applications made of strong alkalis, which, upon a chemical
analysis, is found to be demonstrated by an accomplished chemist,
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who will be here to state the result of his examination. The infer-
ences to be drawn from these facts cannot now be properly presented.

It will be demonstrated to you, that thege remains are not the
remains of a subject in the Medical College, for two reasons: one,
that there was no injection in the veins of any preservative fluid,
which is the invariable custom there; and, secondly, that all the sub-
jects are accounted for, independent of this, by Dr. Ainsworth, who

eeps an accurate record of them.

The evidence will show you, that the remains were separated (1
was about to say mutilated, but separated, perhaps, will be a better
word) by some person having an amount of anatomical skill, though
evidently not dissected for anatomical purposes. There are various
other facts, in connection with these remains, which I will not detain
you to recite. You will appreciate them as they come from the wit-
nesses. This is the nature of the evidence upon which the Govern-
ment say that those were the remains of Dr. Parkman, and that he
must, upon this state of facts, have come to a violent death.

Well, Gentlemen, if Dr. Parkman was murdered, and you are sat-
isfied of it, then comes the other great question, Was it by the prisoner
at the bar ? This inquiry will lead us back to the state of facts long
prior to the disappearance of Dr. Parkman. We shall offer evidence
to show the connection between the deceased and the prisoner.
There has been a business relation between them since the year
1842, when there was a loan of money made by Dr. Parkman to Dr.
Webster. Sinee that time, Dr. Webster has been embarrassed, and
even reduced to great straits, for money,—so much so, that certain
property which he had, had been subject to certain conveyances,
which we shall put into the case, and as{( you to judge of them. At
the time when this death of Dr. Parkman oceurred, all the personal
E‘upﬁrty which Dr. Webster had in the world was under mortgage to

r. George Parkman,

Dr. Parkman was a large prﬂpertly holder. He was accustomed to
make loans to others; and it wil pmbab]:f appear to you in the
evidence, that, though a liberal man in his gifts, he was very exact in
all his business relations. A just man himself, he exacted justice
from others; willing to be jud%ed by a strict rule himself, he wished
to 'hudge others by the same rule.

e loaned the prisoner, in 1842, $400, and took his note for it.
This continued along to 1847, at least, not paid in full, when Dr.
Parkman made one of a number to loan to Dr. Webster a certain
sum of money, to meet the pressing demands against him. Arising
out of, or connected with these transactions, Dr. Parkman took from
Dr. Webster a mortgage on all his personal property, including his
household furniture and his cabinet minerals, to secure what was
advanced, and also to secure the balance which was due from the
note of 1842, that balance being $342,83. In April, 1849, such
were the relations hetween these two parties. A friend of Dr. Web-
ster’s had an interview with Dr. Parkman, and furnished a statement
of the amount then due from Webster to Parkman, which was
£427.27.

About that time, Dr. Parkman was informed that this proper
mortgaged was sold to his brother-in-law, Robert G. Shaw. It will
appear that these cabinet minerals, and all his other property, being
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under mortgage to Dr. Parkman, he made an application to Robert
G. Shaw to raise money by loan, offering these very minerals which
were under mortgage tg Dr. Parkman, and representing his necessity
as so great that an officer was about to enter his house and take his
household furniture for debt. Mr. Shaw, commiserating his condi-
tion, having no knowledge that his brother-in-law had already a
mortgage upon all his property, agreed to advance to Dr. Webster the
sum of $1200. He did advance it in different amounts, and [ believe
one portion of it by a note, which Dr. Webster had discounted at the
Charles River Bank. Subsequently, Dr. Parliman learned of the
conveyance of these minerals to Mr. Shaw, and was greatly incensed,
and thought it an act of fraud, and avowed his determination to make
him pay his debt.

The evidence will show you that from this period he constantly pur-
sued him as a creditor who felt that his confidence had been violated,
and who regarded his debtor as a fraudulent and dishonest man. In-
deed, the evidence will show you that he not only held these opinions,
but communicated them very recently, before his disappearance,in a
message to Dr. Webster himself. It will also probably satisfactorily
appear, Gentlemen, that Dr. Webster had obtained further and further
delay from Dr, Parkman, under a promise that he would pay him from
the proceeds of his tickets for the lectures in the Medical College.

And here I onght to show you his connection with the Medical Col-
lege, as independent of his Professorship in Harvard College. He was
a Professor in both. His compensation for services in the Medical
College depended generally, as | understand it, upon the sale of tickets
to the students. It is not material whether I am right in this state-
ment or not, but [ understand that the compensation depends prinei-
pally upon the sale of tickets, The Professors had made an arrange-
ment with a very respectable person, Mr. Pettee, connected with one
of the banks, to act as their collector of the money paid for these
medical tickets. These lectares commenced on the Tth of November.
Dr. Parkman, as early and as promptly as the 9th of November, hav-
ing in view the purpose which he had avowed of compelling Dr. Web-
ster to pay his debt; and having, also, in his memory Dr. Webster's
promise to the payment of the debt out of the proceeds of the sales
of tickets, — the lectures having commenced on the 7th, Dr. Parkman
calls on Dr. Webster on the 9th, and insists then upon payment of his
debt. Dr, Webster then requests him to wait for a further period —
that he had not yet received the money for his tickets ; and he induced
him, according to his own statement, to wait for a further time.

It will appear, Gentlemen, that at that time Dr. Webster had in fact
received a considerable portion of his money, but it had gone to other
purposes than the payment of Dr. Parkman. There were other debts
hanging over him from the medical Professors. There was one note
to Dr. Bigelow, which was paid.

Dr. Parkman, still pursuing him, not satisfied with his explanations,
on the 12th of November calls on Mr. Pettee, the collecting agent,
to ascertain what may be Dr. Webster's condition, and determine how,
much he has in his hands. He calls again on the 14th, two days
afterwards, and then he threatens a trustee process, or speaks of it as
the only mode of getting his pay from Dr. Webster; and then he
sends a message by the collector to Dr. Webster, saying that he was



15

a dishonorable and dishonest man. On Monday evening, after the re-
peated subterfuges of Dr. Webster, he calls on him again, and says,
with anger, that something must be done. On the next morning, Dr.
Webster writes a note about the interview. On the day before his
disappearance, Dr. Parkman rides out to Cambridge, still in pursuit
of Dr. Webster. And this was the relation of these parties on the
morning of that fatal 23d of November. The improvident debtor
evading payment of his debt! The creditor resolutely pursuing !

On that morning, the 23d of November, Dr. Webster called at the
residence of Dr. Parkman, in Walnut-street, and there made an ap-
pointment to meet him at his rooms, to pay him, at one and a half
o'clock on that day. That is a fact, and Wih be proved. Though no

rson in the family knew that Dr. Webster was the man who called,

et the whole evidence will show you that this must be the case. He
id not call at Dr. Parkman’s house to pay him, but to make an ap-
intment with him to meet him there at a time when the College would
Eg vacated by the students, his lecture terrninath:.% at one o'clock, and
the meeting being between one and two. Dr. Webster has an inter-
view with Mr. Pettee about 9 o'clock on that morning. Mr. Pettee
was anxious to get out of his hands whatever he had, in consequence
of his having been requested by Dr. Parkman to pay him what was
due. He sought Dr. Webster at the Medical College, and paid him
the balance of %90, which was what he had in his hands, and there
informs Dr. Webster of Dr. Parkman’s threats of the trustee process,
and he then makes the reply to Mr. Pettee, « You will have no fur-
ther trouble with Dr. Parkman, for I have settled with him.” His lec-
ture-days —

Chief Justice Shaw. Mr. Pettee paid him ?

My. Clifford. He paid him $90. Perhaps I may as well state in
this connection as any other, that, from the beginning to the end, it
will appear that Dr. Webster had held out to Dr. Parkman the expect-
ation, and that Dr. Webster had represented to others besides Dr
Parkman his intention, of giving this money from the sales of tickets
g Dr. Parkman. We shall show you that in that Dr. Webster has

leified. We shall show you that not one dollar of that money
received from tickets could have gone to Dr. Parkman. This §90,
received, on the morning of the day of the disappearance, frma Mr.
Pettee, was in his possession the next day, and was deposited by him
in the Charles River Bank. His account there will be open to any
explanation which the prisoner and his counsel may be enabled io
give. I was proceeding to remark that the lectures —

Judge Shaw. Stop one moment, Sir. What did you say was done
the next day ?

My, Clifford. 1 said that the amount received from Mr. Pettee
was deposited in the Charles River Bank on Saturday, and was not,
therefore, paid to Dr. Parkman. [ was about proceeding to remark,
that Dr. Webster's lecture-days were Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday
and Friday ; that he had no lectures on Saturday or Monday. And,
therefore, you will observe that the longest interval he had during
the weelt, when his official engagements did not call him to the College,
was after Friday. It will appear that on that Friday he remained
at the College till after candle-light ; that he was seen b:,r more than
one person at so late aperiod as that; that he was there again on
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Baturday — at the College ; that he was there again on Sunday —an
unusnal thing ; that the doors, which ordinarily and usually had been
left unfastened when he was absent from the College, were fastened,
and that the key of one door, which he kept deposited in a certain
lace, up to that period, and to which one witness, who had oceasion
requently to go to his rooms, had access, was removed by Dr. Web-
ster himself, and carried away f om the building; that on Saturday,
which is the cleaning day in the Medical College, the day for clean-
ing the rooms, the janitor, who had charge of these rooms, and whose
duty it was to clean up for the next week, went into Dr. Webster’s
room. | hope that you will be able to understand the locality.
There may be some difficulty in making my present opening state-
ment clear to your correct appreciation of all the points which
it may be necessary for me to suggest. We shall endeavor to obviate
that difficulty.

I was observing that on Saturday he went into Dr. Webster's back
room, which is 2 room in the rear of his lecture-room — not into the
laboratory, which is below, on the basement floor; that he went into
this room, and that he tried to go down to the laboratory, and that
Dr. Webster ordered him out through the lecture-room door.

I have already said that Dr. Parkman’s friends, after making an
anxious search for him on Saturday, had gone so far, on that day, as
to publish his disappearance in the evening papers. It will appear
that Dr. Webster took one of those evening papers, which contained
the advertisement. It will also appear to you —a vast and important
fact in this connection to be stated — that Dr. Webster's relations to
certain members of the family of Dr. Parkman were somewhat pecu-
liarly intimate ; that to Dr. Francis Parkman he had been a parish-
ioner, with his family ; that a very short time previous to this evening,
Dr. Parkman had gone out to perform a pastoral office of friendship
for Dr. Webster; and that their families were on terms of considera-
ble intimacy — that their families were, whatever may have been the
relation between the heads of those families. The first disclosure of
the fact of an interview which took place between Dr. Webster and
Dr. George Parkman, is made by Dr. Webster to Dr. Francis Park-
man himself, on the afternoon of Sunday. During the Saturday
previous, and Sunday morning, the family of Dr. Parkman were in a
state of intense anxiety, and the first intimation that he had been
with Dr. Webster was in the afternoon of Sunday, between three
and four o'clock. .

It will appear to you, that Dr. Webster did know the fact of the
disappearance, on Saturday evening ; that he stated that he saw it in
the Fvening Transcript ; and that there was no communication to
the family of Dr. Parkman till four o’clock on the afternoon of Sun-
day ; and then it was made in such a manner, and in such a spirit,
as to have Ex{:i!e{] the Eurprise, to say tha least, of Dr. Francis Pnr]r..-
man, to whom the communication was made. The manner of mak-
ing that communication will be a fact in this case, which the Govern-
ment will lay before you from the testimony of Dr. Francis Parkman
himself. It will appear that on that day, on Sunday, he made the
statement to Mr. James H. Blake, to Mr. Littlefield, the janitor, in
company with Mr. Calhoun, to the toll-gatherer, and on that evening
to Mr. Thompson, a clerk in the Registry of Deeds, at Cambridge.
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I shall not forestali your judgment by stating these facts more m-
nutely. [ prefer that you take them from the witnesses.

Substantially the statement is, that Dr. Parkman came to the Med-
ical College by an appointment Dr. Webster had made with him
on that day, under a promise to pay the note; that he did come
in; that Dr. Webster paid it in the lectire-room, stating the precise
amount ; that he immediately received it, and started to go out, with-
out leaving any evidence of its having been paid ; that, on Dr. Web-
ster’s reminding him of this, he thereupon turned hach and dashed
his pen over the signature of the note — over the signature, Gentle-
men— telling Dr. Webster that he would attend to the cancelling the
mur[gag{* at Cdmhrldg{,, and that Dr. Parkman left him ther(- gmug
over the staircase two steps at a time ; that he had no recollection of
the money which he gave him there, but at another time saying that
among the notes was a $100 bill of the New England Bank. The
staternents of Dr. Webster are not consistent. He has stated to one
witness that there were two persons present, to others that there
Was no person present; to one witness that he did not know what
the money was, to other witnesses that he did remember that there
was a $100 bill of the New England Bank. And, thronghout the
whole of this transaction, it has been placed by him dmunctly upon
the ground that he did, fromn the proceeds of the tickets to that
course of lectures, pay to Dr. Parkman $453.64, which was the
amount that was due to him.

You will find that Dr. Webster's statements are irreconcilable.
We shall produce evidence to show that his whole statement i= a
fable and a pretence: that he did not pay Dr. Parkman the money
which he said he did; and that he has not the recollection of the
transactions which took place on that day, which he says he had.
We shall show you, Gentlemen, that all the money for the sale of
these tickets went elsewhere.

Then, Gentlemen, you will have occasion, going on further in his
conduct during that week, to examine a variety of facts like these :
That, you will remember, was Thanksgiving week. That Thursday,
the 29th of November, was Thanksgiving day. It will appear that
after Tuesday of that week there were no lectures at the College
It was a week of vacation, of leisure. Vet, Gentlemen, during that
week, Dr. Webster is present at the Eul]ege, at times constantly,
which was unusual. It will be placed in evidence before you, that he
wanted no iires made in his rooms that weel; and yet, Gentlemen,
we shall satisfy you that he had fires that week, built by himself, of
a more intense heat than had ever been built there before.

We shall show you, Gentlemen, that as early as ‘Tuesday of that
week he made a purchase of several large fish-hooks, which were
found afterwards upon the premises, under certain circumstances,
which the evidence will connect, probably, to some extent, with these
remains ; that on the Friday following, he purchased, or attempted
to purchase, other fish-hooks; but that, in point of fact, he did pur-
chase fish-hooks on Tuesday.

It will be shown to you, that there was found in the Medical Col-
lege, in his apartments, a grapple, or grappling, as it was sometimes
called, made of fish-hooks; that the fish-hooks were fastened on to
a staff by a peculiar species of twine, or marline, quite peculiar in its
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thread or twist, as will be testified to you by a competent person, an

expert in that line. And that around the thigh-bone is a piece of the

same description of twine and marline, and upon the exhibition of

the two pieces of twine — upon the exhibition of these same pieces

:rlhich were found — youn will be called upon to state whether they are
ike.

Then I have adverted, also, to something which will come now
before you, in connection with the deportment of the prisoner—to
the fact that his rooms were searched. The evidence will show you
that his rooms, or some of them, were passed through by some of the
police officers as early as Monday; that on Tuesday, Mr. Kingsley,
the agent of Dr. Parkman, whose mind had become impressed with
the conviction that he never came out of the Medical College, went
there, to the Medical College, with the police, and that they went
through the rooms of Dr. \&Ebﬁtw. Mr. Kingsley being present with
the officers; that at that time, on Tuesday, the officers, in company
with Mr. Kingsley, the agent of Dr. Parkman, the man who had
been engaged in the transaction of his business for several years,
and who felt great interest in this search, went through these rooms.
The conduet of the prisoner, at that time, will be shown; the fact
that the officers suffered themselves to be called off’ from the privy;
that the officers, when asking about that, and when replied to by Mr.
Littlefield, that it was the private privy of Dr. Webster, who has the
key, were led off by Dr. ‘R’ebstm‘ to another room, they not having
any suspicion of Dr. Webster, and most reluctant to believe anything
against him; that there was a fire in the furnace at that time ; that
during that search, the tea-chest, in which these remains were found
imbedded in tan, was seen by Mr. Kingsley, which you will consider
a very material fact, when you weigh all the circumstances.

Then, Gentlemen, it will appear to you in evidence, that on Mon-
day, Dr. Webster gave directions to the express man, who had always
been in the habit of going in with entire freedom — that he gave
him directions, on Monday morning, to bring certain things from
Cambridge, which he did bring on that day, certain fagots and
boxes, and told him to leave them outside; that on Wednesday he
carried other things there, and went to Mr. Littlefield’s apartments ;
that Dr. Webster usually kept the key; that the key was gone, and
he had then to leave his things outside.

Then it will appear, in the course of that weel, Dr. Webster was
extremely anxious to have it appear, in his conversations with various
persons, that Dr. Parkman had been seen going over to Cambridge,
after he was said by him to have been at the Dfedical College. His
manner was striking, and the circumstances under which he displayed
it were peculiar. You will probably give a great deal of significance
to this. We shall show that he wentso far as to urge upon one lady
the declaration that she saw Dr. Parkman on the afternoon of Fri-
day, she believing that, if she saw him at all, she saw him on Thurs-
day ; that Dr. Webster went to her and asked her whether she was
certain, and related certain circumstances which will have an effect in
determining your minds with respect to the sincerity of Dr. Webster,

On the same day, he went to a mechanic in this city, and having
erdered a stout tin box, made declarations of Dr. Parkman’s having
been seen in Cambridge ; and he also went on,in the same interview,



19

and stated a story, which he said was verified, that, through cerfain
mesmeric operations, it was discovered that Dr. Parkman’s body was
found, and that it had been carried off in a cab, upon which there
‘was some blood. This he stated on Friday, the day of the arrest.

That box he was very anxious to have made very strong, and in
such a manner that he could solder it up himself perfectly tight.
The particulars of that interview, and the fact that Dr. Webster had
never had such a box made before for him, by the mechanic, Mr.
Waterman, although he had had a long account with him for a series
of years, will be put in evidence before you. He gave orders, in rela-
tion to it, which were somewhat inconsistent. The cause of 1t, how-
ever, the Government cannot explain. I trust that he may.

Then, there is another branch of this case, to which the Govern-
ment will ask your intelligent attention. Much has been said, and
I think it has approached, Gentlemen, almost to a degree of cant,
about moral evidence, of late. There is, doubtless,a species of moral
evidence which should have the greatest weight upon the human
mind, which should have the strongest eflect in producing conviction
and belief of innocence ; and all that is proper and legitimate on be-
half of the prizsoner will be put in here, and you will give it its due
weight. On the other hand, I hope you will give heed to a class of
evidence going to show, that, in the progress of these events, Nature
has spoken out in this prisoner himself, ejaculations have transpired,
when he intended to have kept his mouth sealed and locked ; that
inquiries have been made by him which imply much more than-an
innocent consciousness; and these will be shown not only with the
circumstances connected with his arrest, but continuing through a
period of time which followed it.

On Thursday, Gentlemen, certain steps were taken, in conse-
quence of certain suspicions which had before been conceived in the
mind of Mr. Littlefield, the janitor of the College, to make an inves-
tigation, which had not been made by the police, of the vault of the
privy connected with Dr. Webster's laboratory. I have already
stated to you the circumstances under which he had made allusion
to that. The officers on that day went down and examined that
vault, and it will be made apparent to you that there was no mode of
access to this except through the privy above, of which Dr. Webster
himself kept the key.

Well, Gentlemen, you will have to consider the testimony which
bears upon the finding of those remains in connection with other
branches of this case, and you may be very liable, you will allow me
very respectfully to say to you, confiding as I certainly do in your
manifest intelligence, which I see in your countenances, to be misled
in weighing that testimony, unless you do it in connection with the
other branches of the case, which it would not be proper for me now
to advert to. 1 do not intend to ask you in advance what degree of
weight you will give to the testimony, but I do ask you not to give
a premature judgment of any evidence put into this case either by
the government or the prisoner.

I think you will find, by this evidence, that, as early as the declara-
tion made by Dr. Webster to Mr. Littlefield on Sumﬂy evening, Mr.
Littlefield conceived the suspicion that Dr. Webster knew something
more than others about the murder of Dr. Parkman ; that he commu-
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nicated his suspicion on Sunday evening, two days after the disap-
pearance of Dr. Parkman ; that, during that week, being the only
man who lived in that building, being the man whe would have oppor-
tunities to know what was going on— that, during that weel, he
acted in honest belief of that impression, and you will look upon him
in some degree as the dependant of Dr. Webster, he being the assist-
ant of the Professors, and relying upon them for his bread ; and
you will consider how such a man, having a suspicion, would proceed
with caution, with the greatest deliberation, fearful that it should ripen
into certainty, but that he did act with honest suspicion, until, on
Thursday, he attempted to open that vault, which, in addition to Dr.
Webster's private room, was the only part which bad not been
arched, which had no access to it save through Dr. Webster's room,
and Dr. Webster himself being bolted in a large portion of the time ;
and that, on Thursday, he determined to make an entrance into it;
that he commenced the work, and found it much more difficult than
he anticipated ; that he still continued it, however, till he had made
something of an approach to an aperture, there being several courses
of bricks ; that he communicated to other persons his purpose of doin
it ; that he went on,and, on Friday morning, not having aﬂcumplisheg
an entrance, he communicated to two gentlemen of the faculty his
purpose — to Dr. Jackson and to Dr. Bigelow; and, following up their
sugrestions as well as his own, continued his labor; and, while at
work, set his wife to watch for Dr. Webster, lest he should approach
the building unexpectedly ; and this is a fact as being a part of the
proof, a part of the res gesta, that he set his wife to watch Dr. Weh-
ster, and cared not for the others ; that Mrs. Littlefield thought, at one
time, that Dr. Webster was approaching, and gave the signal which
they had agreed upon in this event ; that she afterwards found that it
was not he; that he continued his work ; and the circumstances under
which he came up from this work, which enabled him to see what
first met his eyes, and afterwards startled the eyes of the whaole com-
munity, you will consider. You will also judge of his deportment
and conduet as he went down to Dr. Jacob Bigelow, and, net finding
him at home, went to his son, Dr. Henry J. Bigelow. Itwill be seen,
that they returned ; that, on their return to the College, police having
been summoned, these remains having been examined in the vault,
the Government, having no other alternative, arrested Dr. Webster,
a Professor of that Institution, as the murderer of Dr. Parkman.
He was arrested, and it is in this connection that it is proper that
I should speak of the testimony of Mr. Littlefield, because, that night,
Dr. Webster made declarations inconsistent with each othep and
which, I think you will be satisfied, were inconsistent with his own
belief’; that he charged upon Mr. Littlefield either the commission of
this deed, or of being a conspirator. Almost in the same breath, he
averred what was inconsistent with the fact of a conspiracy, that
those were not the remains of Dr. Parkman, any more than they were
his.  After his arrest, —and | do not intend to go into that any more
than to state that it is important, and you will regard the evidence
with proper consideration, — his conduct, from the time he was arrested
up to the time of the Police Court, was peculiar. He waived an
examination there. You will consider all the evidence which pro-
ceeded from him, most especially his declarations with respect to Mr.
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Littlefield, and then you will consider certain other evidence to which
I might allude if | went into the detail, but which I do not intend
to do.

There is one fact, however, to which I will allude, becanse it will
show the importance of these declarations of Dr. Webster, that, on
Tuesday, when that tea-chest had the minerals in it, and undoubtedl
the remaing in it, when there had been a fire in that furnace wh iuz
must have been known to Dr. Webster — for he was present there
before it — that, at that time, he had a conversation with Littlefield,
which resulted in what is not dependent upon Littlefield’s testimony,
but on that of others — that he put to him the question, on Tuesday
afternoon, whether he was a Freemason. Mr. Littlefield made a.
reply, which he will state to yon. Dr. Webster then asked him if he
had got his Thanksgiving turkey; and he will state that he answered
him © No! he had not ;" that he then brought out a written order to a
provision-dealer to give him a Thanksciving turkey ; the first time
Dr. Webster had ever made him a present, and at a time when,
according to his subsequent declarations, he had looked upon him
with suspicion, and did not like the man.

There will be other circumstances of perhaps no less importance.
He was taken, upon his arrest, to the Medical College, when these
remains were brought up from the vault into the room above. . The
circumstances which transpired there are important, and will be
detailed to you, The ohject in this was, to give him an opportunity
to be present when the further search was made of his apartments,
which had not then been opened. He had a private apartment, into
which the police had not yet had access ; and EI]" Parker, with a dis-
position to act with great fairness, gave him an opportunity to go and
to explain anything — with the presumption that he was an innocent
man — anything that he might find there. His appearance, his
deportment, his remarks during that night, Gentlemen, will be in evi-
dence before you, and they will be for you to judge of. There will
also be such explanations as he or his counsel can give. That they
will be important, you will judge.

There were found pantaloons, which, on examination, had spots
of blood on them, and were examined by a scientific person, who will
testify to it. They were marked with Dr. Webster’s name. There
were found slippers and towels, nearly new, — probably never used
but for this purpose, — thrown into this vault, where the tide ebbed
and flowed. For this vault, I should have stated, gave access and
ingress to the sea, but not to any solid substance.

These towels, with his initial, and some of them having the appear-
ance of scarcely ever having been used, were there while this privy
was about to be opened. Dr. Webster was asked where the key was.
Mr. Littlefield had stated that it was Dr. Webster's apartment, and
Webster kept the key. It was in that that these remains were found.
He was asked where the key was. He pointed to a key, and said,
“ There it 1s." It was trieg, and found not to be the key. Buta
key was found in the prisoner’s pocket, which was ascertained to be
the key that fitted.

There was found in his laboratory a large number of skeleton keys,
which had been filed down at the edge. They were found to be
keys which would fit every door, or nearly every door, in the College.
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After his arrest, he was asked in relation to that bunch of keys. He
identified them himself, by inquiring whether they were the ones filed
down at the edge. He replied, that they were found in the street,
and that he had carried them to his room, and thought they might at
some time be of use.

There was found, upon his arrest, a paper which will be put into
the case, upon which I shall be glad to have any comments by his
learned and ingenious counsel. It is a paper which purports to give
two different versions of the interview which Dr. Parkman had with
him on Friday, the 23d of November, the character of which I will
not anticipate and remark upon, but it will be laid before you for your
judgment.

After his arrest, and on the Monday following,"he was brought
before the Police Court of this city, and there, Gentlemen, either
under the advice of counsel, or without the advice of counsel,— perhaps
it is quite immaterial which is the fact, with reference to the effect
of the fact,— he declined and waived entirely an examination. thus
admitting that there was a case containing materials upon which the
Grand Jury should pass, although the consequences of that proceed-
ing were to commit him to close confinement until the Government
should be called upon to try him,

Then, after his commitment, after these proceedings had in the
Police Court, he wrote a note, which, according to the usages of the
jail, could not be sent out without inspection by the proper officers,
and which, upon examination, was addressed to a member of his
family, and contained an injunction and direction to another member
of his family, to keep certain papers which he had deposited, and not
to open them. That, of course, suggested, as it naturally would, to
the police, a suspicion that anything which he might wish to conceal
might be important to the subject-matter of inguiry. And imme-
diately a messenger was despatched to his residence, and that parcel
of papers was called for. And it turned out to contain the two notes
given by Dr. Webster to Dr. Parkman, with certain marks upon
them, and a paper showing the indebtedness of Dr. Webster to Dr.
Parkman, in April, 1349, with the interest upon that, in Dr. Web-
ster’s own hand-writing. . What explanation may be drawn from that,
you can call upon his counsel and me to give. If you call upon me,
I must say that I eannot explain it. But that may be put in an
entirely satisfactory light by his counsel.

Then, Gentlemen, the Government will probably put into this case
certain testimony going to show that, in the opinion of the most ex-
pert persons in hand-writing in this city, certain letters have been
written by the prisoner at the bar, between the disappearance of Dr.
Parkman and his own arrest, calculated to draw ofi’ the police from
the examination of the Medical College, to other places, and to divert
Eublic opinion into another channel. I state this with no other

inowledge of the matter than is involved in saying that these papers
have been submitted to experts with that conclusion. Its value and
weight you will judge of. :

Baut, Gentlemen, one thing is true, — that to all this mass of circum-
stances no explanation has, as yet, been given by the prisoner. Noth-
ing has been vouchsafed to the public, or to the Government, by way
of explanation, of any one of these facts of which I have now informed
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you. The prisoner has done what he had a perfect right to do, Gen-
tlemen, if he or his counsel thought it wise to do so. He has gone
into close custody, and without so much as asking the Government
to disclose the grounds of the charge against him. He has been
willing to remain in prison, in the dark as to the evidence which the
Government had, and waiting to give, whenever the Government

called upon him for his trial. his first and final explanation. I ecan
say, Gentlemen, with the utmost sincerity, if I can say anything with
truth, that [ hope he may be able to give that explanation which shall
carry conviction to your minds, and to the minds of the entire eivilized
world ; that however the pressure of these circumstances may be
upon him, he can lift them off, and stand out in the bright light of
day. If he succeeds in doing this, Gentlemen, no one will have more
gratification in the result than I shall ; and I am sure that you will
share with me in that gratification.

But [ think, upon the evidence the Government will be able to lay
before you, you will call upon this prisoner to do something more than
say the testimony is questionable on this point or upon that point.
Y ou will call upon him, with the facilities afforded to him by hiscounsel,
to make a clear and satisfactory explanation of this mass of eircums-
stances, and of proof, which, taken unexplained, must carry conviction
to the mind of every one, that he had an agency in that sad and
calamitous catastrophe — the death of one who had been his benefac-
tor, as well as the benefactor of the institution with which he was
connected.

The Grand Jury of this County, upon these facts,and others which
I do not feel called upon to present to you, — for I have only given a
Eeneml view of this class of facts,— the Grand Jury of the Cl:-unt],f.

aving this evidence before them, and other evidence which I have
not stated, have charged upon Dr. Webster the wilful murder of Dr.
Parkman. They have done it in four counts; and it may be proper
for me to occupy a single moment of your attention in considering the
question of law.

As I have stated, there are four counts in this indictment. [ do not
wish to embarrass you, or the counsel on the other side, by maintain-
Ing any proposition, or by seeming to maintainany proposition, which
is not well founded in law. And [ am perfectly free to say, that if I
were left to my own unbiased judgment as a prosecuting officer, the
remarks in the public papers, that the four counts are contradictory,
would have been needless; for, in my own judgment, I should put
the charge in the last count of the indictment. Still, Gentlemen, as
a matter of technical law, if the Grand J ury helieve that there was
evidence that the death of Dr. Parkman was caused, as is alleged in
the first count, by the stabbing of a knife, it would be taking a very
presumptuous risk for a criminal pleader to have left out a count
which set that forth, because, from what I have said, there is some
evidence going to show that the bod y of Dr. Parkman was penetrated
by a wound entering his heart, which would have caused him to have
bled internally; and certain indications, to which we shall refer, might
be found perfectly consistent with it.

Then there is some evidence, which is somewhat mysterions now,
but which may, in the developments of the future, or which might
have been at that time made sufficiently clear, to satisfy the Jury that
he was killed by a stroke of the hamwer on the head. And [ shall
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state, in this connection, that a sledoe-hammer, which had been in that
building, was on the morning of Friday seen in Dr. Webster's room,
behind the door. [t was taken by the janitor away from that place
and put in another, and no trace of that hammer has been found,
though the bailding has been searched from roof to foundation. It
was taken to Dr. Webster's room by Dr. Webster, unless there was-
some person there of whom we know not, and it was removed by the
janitor to another place. There has been a search for it, and it has
not been found.

There is another count, to which it is not necessary to call your
attention. :

The last count charges that Dr. Webster, by some means or instru-'
ments, and in some mode or manner, to the Jury unknown, did deprive
Dr. Parkman of life. And upon this, if you are satisfied that these
mutilated remains were those of Dr. Parkman, and that he came to
his death by Dr. Webster's hands, and that he could not have come
to his death without the knowledge and concurrent act of Dr. Web-
ster, — then, although you may net be able to put your hands upon a
single particle of proof as to the mode by which it was accomplished,
it will be no less your duty to return a verdict of guilty. “This is the’
view taken by the Government, and the Court will explain to you
whether it is a correct one.

We should be living under a code which would reproach us more
than many of the barbarous rites of heathen nations can reproach
them, if a man, by his scientific skill, could conceal the mode of
death, and the jury, being satisfied of the act, still should find that the
law was too weak to reach him, because the manner of death i= not
set out in the indictment. Such is not, as we maintain, the law of
Massachusetts. If the Jury are satisfied that he came 1o his death in
any manner by the hand of Dr. Webster, the prisoner at the bar, then
it presents the rule of law which we understand is settled in this Com-
monwealth, that a voluntary killing being proved, the law deems it to'
be murder, unless there is evidence arising out of the case, furnished
by the prisoner, that satisfies the Jury, by a preponderance of proof,
that there was either such' provocation that would reduce it to man-
slaughter, or which would reduce it to self-defence. That must be a
provocation reaching to blows, and not to words merely, of however
irritating and exasperating a nature. '

In other words, Gentlemen, we understand the rule of law to be
settled and established in this Commonwealth, and I respectfully sub-
mit, so far as a secret killing goes, by the united judgment of the Su-
preme Court of this 'Common'wealtﬁ, that if a vaiuntar}r I{illiﬂg b]f‘
another be shown, the presumption of law is that it is murder, unless
the case itself, or the evidence offered by the defendant, shows ecir-
eumsiances that accompanied the killing, which reduce it below
murder. I do not know that it is necessary for me to add a word be-
:,fm:fl this, upon the form in which the charge is made — the manner
in which the Grand Jury have presented the charge against him.

In these several charges, you are to consider whether it is satis-
factorily shown, beyond reasonable doubt,—and the nature of that
we shall have occasion te consider hereafter, when you hear the
remarks of the Court and the counsel,— if you are satisfied beyond
a reasonable doubt that the deceased, Dr. Parkman, came to his dyedth
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by the violent hand of the prisoner at the par, then, unless he proves
something satisfactory to your minds which, in the eye of the law,
will reduce it below murder, your verdict must be that this indict-
ment is proved. .

And, Gentlemen, while you will carefully, considerately, and as
true men, hearken to the evidence, as the clerk has called upon you
to do, in the discharge of your duty; while you will give all that
attention which a patient, and eareful, and assiduous regard for the
mterests of your Government, and of the prisoner, both shall demand
of vou; while you will. Gentlemen, give to him the benefit of every .
legal presumption, and of every legal doubt, which the law accords
to him,— if, upon this whole case, when we shall have finished it, the
. impression has been left upon your minds that has not been removed,
that he should be held responsible to the laws of the land and the
violated justice of the Commonwealth, for the murder of an unoffend-
ing fellow-citizen, I trost that you will have the resolution, the inflex-
ibility, if I may say so, to-bring in your verdict accordingly.

On motion of Mr. Sohier, all the witnesses, except those of the
medical profession, and the one under examination, were required to
retire and remain in a room provided for them, till required to give
their testimony.

Cuaries M. Kivestev, sworn. Was the agent of Dr. George
Parkman from about May or June, 1836 ; had the care of his real
estate. Saw Dr. Parkman generally two or three times a day;
made it a point to see him as often as once a day. Lived in Blossom-
street. Dr. Parkman’s estates were all around me, He owned many
estates in that quarter of the city. I generally called at his house,
but he frequently called at mine. Dr. Parkman disappeared on
Friday, the 23d day of November. I wanted to see him on business,
that day, and called at his house, No. 3, Walnut-street, about - three
o'clock, or a little before then. Had seen him the day before ; met
him in Court-sireet, and the usual conversation passed between us ;
had been with him most of the day. When I called on Friday, the
servant told me he had not been home to dinner. He usually dined
at half past two. He was very punctual in his habits; f never
before was disappointed of meeting him at the dinner hour. Had
called on him at least fifty times, in fifteen years, at that hour. Not
finding him, I left word where I might be found that afternoon. 1
had a subject of consultation with him, about which I wanted to get
an answer. Not hearing from him, I called on him earl}r the next
morning ; was informed that he had not returned. The family were
very anxious. It was advised that no public search should be made
till after the arrival of the cars at two o'clock. Was up at Dr.
Parkman's house at a quarter past two o'clock, and commenced
search immediately. I was told that he had left home saying that
he had an engagement to meet a person, it was not known who, at
half past one o'clock. I commenced the search by trying to find the
perzon with whom he made the engagement. I commenced from the
time he left, at twelve o'clock. Found the first trace of him in
Bromfield-street, at half past twelve. Thence, I traced him up
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Washington-street, to Court-square, and from thence, out through
Cornhill-square, or Joy’s Building. From Washington-street, he
went through Water-street, Devun?ilire-street. Merchant’s Exchange
and Post Office; then up State-street to Court-street, Green-street,
Lynde-street, and on to the corner of Vine and Blossom streets.
There I traced him into a store, where I learned that he had the
day before left a bag containing lettuce. The clerk requested me to
take away the lettuce, and said that Dr. Parkman had been there
the day before. Heard of him again in Fruit-street, which leads
from Blossom to Grove street and the Medical College. Continued
the search all the evening till eleven o'clock at night. The police
were at work, half a dozen of them, from two o'clock on Saturday.
We inguired of every one we met. Twelve or fifteen, not in the
olice, were directly concerned with me in the search. In the even-
ing, the police searchéd a great many houses. 1 was with them
when they searched five or six.

Advertisements were issued and rewards offered. The first adver-
tisement was published on Saturday afterneon, in some of the even-
ing papers. On Sunday, we searched about the city all the fore-
noon. In the afternoon, we heard he had been seen in East Cam-
bridge, and went over there. The officers went there to search, at
half past four. A great many were searching about the new jail
lands, and in his houses, especially in some vacant houses, on Satur-
day. After searching in East Cambridge till ten or eleven o'clock
on Monday, I came into town, and went to the Medical College, in
company with officer Starkweather. We went all over the building,
into all the lecture-rooms, and the dissecting-room. Starkweather,
Littlefield, Dr. Ainsworth, and myself, went into Professor Webster's
apartments, We knocked at his lecture-room door; it was from a
%m rter to half past eleven. We had been to the other places first.

"e found the door locked. The rest of us started to go dliuu.'n stairs,
Littlefield said Professor Webster was there, and would open the
door. He shook the door. In two minutes, perhaps, though it
seemed longer to us, Webster unlocked the door. It was the door
leading from the lecture-room to the front entry. Littlefield said we
had come to look round, and see if any clue could be had to Dr.
Parlkman. Webster paid but little attention to us, and I did not hear
what he said. We looked round, and went down into the lower
laboratory. Webster came down behind us, but did not speak to us;
or whatever conversation there was, was between him and Littlefield.
After we got through the Medical College, I went back to East Cam-
bridge.

The next day, officers Clapp, Rice and Fuller, went down with me
to the Medical College, as early as ten o'clock. We knocked at
Professor Webster’s door, and he opened it rather sooner than he did
the day before. When we first came into the building, we inquired
for Littlefield, and found him, or he met us, We searched his apart-
ments first. Littlefield was out and in the room, when we searched
it. We looked into his books, and searched his pantaloons for papers.
Looked into closets, into the bed, and under it. After Bearchinﬁ
Littlefield’s rooms, Fuller, Rice and Littlefield, went down throug
the trap-door, and were gone ten or fifteen minutes.

We knocked at Dr. Webster’s room, and were admitted sooner than
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before. Littlefield had before said he could get in, but did not. Mr.
Clapp did all the talking to Dr. Webster, and made the excuse
for calling on him, that they were about to search the whole neigh-
berhood, and wished to have it to say that they had scarched the Med-
ical College. Told Dr. Webster that they hm%’ no suspicions — had to
go where they were sent— had come to search his apartments, with
the rest. Dr. Webster very politely said we could look, but wished
that nothing might be turned over. We walked through the lecture-
room into the back room. [The witness here explained the rooms —
that the lecture-room was in front, the upper laboratory immediately
in the rear of it, and still in the rear of that a very narrow private
room, or closet, where drugs and chemicals were kept.] Mr. Clapp
made a motion to go into that small private room. Dr. Webster said,
“That is the room in which I keep my valuable and dangerous arti-
eles.” Mzr. Clapp put his head as far as even with the door, and drew
bacl, saying, “{'will not zo in to get blowed up.”

We then went down into the lower laboratory. In the upper labo-
ratory, I put my foot in the stove, to draw the ashes forward. 1 did
it at the suggestion of Mr. Leonard Fuller, the iron-founder, who re-
marked to me such things as buttons were sometimes found in the
ashes, when clothes had been burnt. Found nothing in the ashes like
buttons. In the lower laboratory we found a bright fire burning in
the furnace, with no ashes. It looked as if they had been just swept
up. That was the furnace in which the bones were afterwards found.
Dr. Webster was talking with Mr. Clapp, and [ went out to the south-
west corner of the room, where there was considerable rubbish. Saw
a tea-chest, with tan and minerals in it. It was filled up full. The
officers took up some of the minerals, and looked at themn ; recollect
distinctly seeing the tea-chest with tan in it.

A question was asked about the privy. An officer —1I think it was
Mr. Clapp — pointed to the door, and asked what it was. Littlefield
answered that it was Dr. Webster’s privy, and he had the key. He,
or some one else, called our attention to the other side of the room.
On the way down stairs, water seemed to have been spilled. 1 no-
ticed that it had n't dried any, but seemed as wet as it did the day
before. All went out into the dissecting-room entry, but Dr. Web-
ster. He remained. I don’t know whether he locked the door afier
us. This was on Tuesday, and steady search was kept up till Fri-
day. [The counsel for the prisoner objected to the question, why the
E:a-chest was not searched; but the question was allowed by the

ourt.

Thﬂ]re was no suspicion, as Mr, Clapp said, against any one con-
nected with the Medical College, at the time these examinations were
made ; and that might be the reason. [ had no official order to carry
out the search, which was left to Mr. Clapp. Search took place on
Wednesday and Thursday, but not so extensively as on the former
days. [ was aware that rewards were offered. think the $1,000
reward was offered on Monday, and the 3,000 on Wednesday. The
placards were posted and distributed around the city and suburbs,
where [ saw them myself. 1 went to the College again, in company
with others, on Friday afterncon, at about half past three or four.
Starkweather and I rang the bell at the door, when Littlefield came to
us in overalls. He had been borrowing tools previously, for the pur-
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pose of breaking throngh the wall of the vault. We talked a few
minutes together, and he said enough to satisfy me what was his in-
tention. I had heard a noise while% stood at the door, that convinced
me some one was to work on the wall. He went back again to where
I understood he had been so at work, and we left for the Marshal's
office. I was not present when Dr. Webster was arrested. I saw
him, however, that night.

The first intimation I had of the finding of Dr. Parkman’s remains
was at ten o’clock, when I went to the jail with Dr. Martin Gay, and
others, including Mr. 8. D. Parker, and two of the men employed in
the prison. When I went in, Professor Webster lay on the ged in
the cell, with his face downwards, He was asked if he was not able
to get up, and he said he was not.  After a few minutes, they lifted
him up. He had hardly strength to hold up his head, and was so
much excited that I thought he would not live. He was brought up
stairs into the jail office, when he asked for water, but could not drink
it. The tumbler was held to his face, and he bit at it. He tried to
talke hold of it once, and threw the water all about him. Iam not
aware that he hurt himself in the act of drinking. He sat in the
chair alone ; only once or twice requiring any support from the hy-
standers. He trembled, and was so much convulsed that [ would not
wish to see the like again. I cannot say the affection was like delir-
twm tremens. I have never seen a case of that. He eried out to
have word sent to his family, as they did not know where he was,
and also that others should be sent for. He mentioned his family a
great many times ; when Mr. Parker said there was another family,
who also had been in great distress for a week ; that we were going
to the Medical College, where there were some things he could per-
haps explain. He said he had nothing to explain, and would go to
the College with us. The officers helped him into the coach. He
was perspiring greatly in the lock-up, and, on Mr. Parker saying he
would be cold, he answered, * his extremities were freezing.” [am
sare that Mr. Parker was in the lock-up. I ran down after the coach
to the College, and arrived just as they had got into the small labora-
tory up stairs, Professor Webster had an officer from the jail on
each side, supporting him. When we got in, they proposed to open
the inner room door, and asked for the key, which he said Clapp had
taken from him when he was arrested ; and the door was broken open.
When they examined that room, I asked for the key of the privy.
Professor Webster said it would be found on the end of the shelf. A
key that was found hanging against the door would not fit. Those
who went down ecame back and told us of this, when Mr. Webster
gaid that some one had taken the key away. We then went down
to the lower laboratory, and broke the privy door open.

Officers helped We{ster down stairs. 'Was in the laboratory down
stairs, when something was said about the bones found in the furnace.
Was requested to let the bones in the furnace remain till the coroner’s
jury should assemble. Went from thence to the trap-door; there
were parts of a body taken out and lying there; the pelvis, right
thigh and right lez down to the ankle. 'l?lmught it was right thigh
and leg. Dr, Webster leaned on an officer ; said nothing. Did not see
that he appeared any different from what he had before — was a
great deal excited — stood eight or nine feet from the body. After
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loaking at it for a litile while, we turned away, and Dr. Webster was
taken to his carriage. I saw no more of him.

The next afternoon, there was found, in a tea-chest, the upper part
of a body and a thigh. I was called down from the upper laboratory.
They had made new discoveries. They were drawing out the tea-
chest to the middle of the floor, to overturn it. They overturned it,
and the thorax fell out, with the left thigh clasped in it between the
ribs, which did not entirely cover it, and had made indentations upon it.
A large knife ;— should call it a jacknife — fell onut. There was a
string round the body and leg, to lash them together. They were
taken and washed, and given in charge of the officers. A pair of

ntaloons, with blood on, was found in the closet. Dr. Charles T.
ﬁuksnn was present. Dr. Jackson said they must be kept, to ascer-
tain whether it was blood.

A saw was also found. It was a small saw, about fifteen inches
long in the blade. On the handle, there were marks, as if of blood.
[ had oceasion to require a pen, and asked Littlefield for a pen, when
he took two from a desk, and one of them, he said, I could not use.
It was made out of a sort of reed. I was not present when any tow-
els were found. I was present when Dr. Lewis put the limbs together.
I think it was on Monday morning. The general appearance was as
that of the body of Dr. Parkman. It was tall and slim : I should say
five feet ten and a half. He was very spare about the shoulders and
the chest. His complexion might be called sallow. His jaw was
prominent — the under part, at least. [ should not want to have it
understood that I swear positively to the identity of the remains with
the body of Dr. Parkman. I saw some bones taken out of the fur-
nace in the laboratory. I have heard Dr. Parkman use severe, but
never profane, language. I have been influenced, in my course of
conduct and actions, by hearing a statement made that Dr. Parkman
had used profane language. 1 was one of the party who searched
Professor Webster’s house ; but notat the time any papers were found.

Cross-examined. The morning after the arrest, [ went to Prof.
Webster's house, in a carriage, and joined Me:zsrs. Clapp, Spurr, and
another, at Cambridge. I also went on an other occasion to his house.
The search was made without a warrant, on the second occasion. I
was with Starkweather. Dr. Parkman used hard language when he
was irritated at any act of dishonesty, that he conceived any one guilty
of. He was uvsed to call names, but not to use profane expressions.
When we examined the laboratory, we took some of the minerals in
our hands, and examined them through curiesity. They lay all
around, in barrels, boxes, and on shelves, and in the vicinity of the
tea-chest. We noted the fire in the furnace before we looked at the
minerals, and in Prof. Webster’s presence. [ do not know the size
of the furnace, and never measured it. The door of the small room
wherein the chemicals were kept was open, but I did not look in.
Prof. Webster let us into the laboratory, and Littlefield was with us
at the time we got in. Littlefield gave no peculiar knock, that I
know of. He gave two distinet strokes, It was the furnace in the
lecture-room that we examined. Mr. Starkweather was with me at
the time, and Dr. Ainsworth ; and I think it was before we went to
Dr. Webster's room, that we examined the ashes, [ do not know
where the key of the vault was then. Dr. Webster was in his work-
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ing dress, with an apron and cap, both times I saw him, when search-
g the College. hen we called there the first time, Littlefield
left us, to get something or other. We knocked while he was gone,
and were proceeding down staies, when Littlefield came back, and
said that Dr. Webster was in the room. 1 had only traced Dr. Park-
man to the College through the medium of inquiry.

Made the first search not far from eleven o’clock ; I am uncertain as
to the exact time — if anything, it was a little after. Can tell very
nearly what time we got through the second search, — it was from
half past eleven to twenty minutes of twelve. Do not think I was
all the time talking with Clapp; was looking about, to see what I
could discover. Looked through everything, with the exception of the
privy, and the small room. Was told that the key was hanging on a
nail on those little shelves, on the west side of the small laboratory,
outside the little room, and right on that little room partition. There
was a hook there; do not recollect of anything on the hool; think
there was no nail there, but on a nail in the front door, there was a
key hanging.

Am pusitjve that I saw tan in the tea-chest, and the minerals were
on top of it. Do not know what became of the tan afterwards; did
not examine it. The saw was a small hand-saw, such as butchers
use to saw bones; it had a ridge on the back of it, so that it could
not saw through a board. Looked at the knife; there were rusty
marks on it, that looked like blood; could not say whether it was
blood or not; I refer to the knife found in the tea-chest. On the
knife that was found up stairs, there were marks on the handle, (very
slizht marks,) that were supposed to be blood.

Parrick McGowan, sworn. — I live with Mrs. Dr. George Parkman;
lived with the Dr. before his disappearance. Remember the day of
the Dr.’s disappearance; it was Friday. Remember of some one's
calling at the house that morning ; do not know who it was —he did
not rive me his address. He inquired for Dr. Parkman. [t was be-
tween eight and nine o'clock, 1 believe ; do not recollect that anybody
else called at that time. Think 1 should not know the gentleman, if |
saw him; could not swear that it was the prisoner. The doctor was
passing from his office to his breakfast-room, and advanced towards
the gentleman; some very slight conversation took place between
them, in which the doctor said something about 1} o'elock. Saw
the doctor about eleven o’clock, the last I saw of him, and have not
seen him since. The Dr. was very punctual at his meals; never
knew him to be absent but once while I lived with him, and then
he came in before they had finished dinner. Am the only man-
servant the Dr. kept while I was there. Went there the 26th of
September, 1849. [ attended the door that morning; it was my
business to attend the door generally. Several persons called upon
the doctor in the course of the day, besides this gentleman; cannot
tell how many. I did not tell anybody that the Dr. was gone out of
town, or gone out for the day.

Ropert G. SHAw, sworn. — I am the brother-in-law of the deceased
his age would have been 60 years in February. The Dr. was inti-
mately acquainted with the defendant, but I do not know how long
he had known him. The first that I knew of Dr. P.’s having lent
Dr. W. money was when I told him that Dr. W. had sold his minerals
to me. Last saw Dr. P. on the day that he was missing ; he called
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n me on the morning of that day, between nine and ten o’clock
we walked down together as far as State-street.  There was nothing
unusual in his appearance; he looked to be in perfect health, and ir
very good spirits. Parted with him about tdh, and that was the last
I saw of him. Saturday morning, Mrs. Parkman sent in, and
requested me to come in and see her. I went, and found her in
Ereat distress; she stated th& Dr. P. had not been home since Fri-

aynoon. I then proceeded directly to my brother-in-law, the Rev. Dr.
Parkman, and told him that his brother had been missing since Fr-
daynoon. Fromthence 1 think I went immediately down to Mr.
Edward Blake, who is our nephew; our suspicions rested on a
party unknown to him. Shall I relate the particulars ?

My. Clifford. That is something in relation to an affair about a
robbery from Dr. Parkman ?

My. Shaw. Yes; we sent to Mr. Park to know if any of the wit-
nesses on that trial were in town. Mr. Park said that he did not
think they were in the city, and that he thought we were mistaken.
Finding that the persons suspected were not in the city, of course we
gave up the search for them.

That evening, an advertisement was published, directed by me;

e reward of $3000 was offered by myself, and subsequently a

ward of $1000 for the discovery of the remains. Gave a general

irection to the search during the following week. First saw the
remains of the Dr. the evening they were discovered ; have seen
them since, when they were placed together. I did see some marks
which induced me to believe t-l'lﬂj" were his remains: they were the

~._~, hair on the breast and leg, the color of which exactly corresponded
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with what I had seen. 1 had seen the hair on his breast some time
previous, but the hair on his leg I had seen in the early part of No-
vember, on an occasion — (Shall I relate the circumstance ?  Yes.)
—that he came into my house, early in the morning, a very cold

@ Morning, I told him that I did not think he was clothed warm

; enough ; he immediately pulled up his pantaloon-leg, and showed me

N

\

his leg, that he had no drawers on. 1 could not identify the hair on

./ the leg, so well as the hair on the breast. The height and size of the

remains certainly corresponded with a figure like that of Dr. P.
There was nothing dissimilar about them from what I knew of Dr,
P. 1 did finally take charge of these remains, and had them interred
as the remains of Dr. Parkman. If I had not known that Dr. Park-
man was missing, | should not have thought the remains were his.
On the 18th of April, 184S, I received a note from Dr. W, asking
to have a private interview with me. I replied that I would see him
at my house in the morning. He came, the next day, according to
my permission, and expressed to me his great embarrassment, and
great want of money; he said that he expected that a sherifit would
be at his house, to take his furnitare, if he could not raise a certain
sum of money, to pay off some pressing demands that had been
standing for more than a year. He then pressed me to buy a cabinet
of minerals in his possession. [ told him I did not want them. He
told me that perhaps at some future time I might want them, to make
a donation. [ said I had no such purpose in view. He told me the
sum he wanted was $1200; and he pressed me so hard with regard
to his family, and other reasons that worked upon my feelings, that
finally, after reflection, I thought I would relieve him. 1 asked



how much h: quired immediately. He said, $600. I told him
that I had not the money, but that if he could get my note discounted
at any of the banks, I would purchase his minerals. In the course
of the afternoon, he came into my counting-room, and said he had
succeeded with a baf® —the Charles River l;],%anl:, I believe. There
is the receipt I received from him. [Here the Court examined the
receipt.] Afterwards he brought me a catalogne and a hill of sale of
his minerals. Idid not examine them particularly. On the 6th of
June, I gave him %200 in check, and on the 31st August my note
for the balance. He then said that there were some of the minerals
in the Medical College that he should like to keep. I told him that
if he would pay the interest on the money I had advanced, he was
at .iberty to keep them, and there the matter rested ; he has paid me
no intarest since, and I have not called upon him for any. Subse-
quently, I was walking with Dr. P., and we met Dr. W. passing.. I
asked Dr. P., What salary has Dr. W.at Cambridge ? He answered,
$1200. I said that was not enough, for he has come to me to sell his
minerals.  Said Dr. P., They are not his to zell; and he took me teo
his house, and showed me the mortgage. He then said he would
see Dr. W, and give him a piece of his mind. [This evidence was
objected to.] Dr. P. Jeft a wife and two 'children —a son and a
daughter. His daughter had been an invalid for several years—so
much so that he did not expect, she would recover. He was alfays
in the habit of buying delicacies as a relish for her palate. He'was
more than punctual,—he was the most punctual man I ever saw.
[ do not think anything could induce him to go from home if he
could avoid it. !
The Court here adjourned.

SECOND DAY.— Wednesday, March 20. e
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cording to the direction of the Court, did not come in till twenty minu

to ten o'clock. The counsel for the Commonwealth produced and
exhibited full plans of the various floors of the Medical College, and
a wooden model of the whole building, capable of being dissected se
as expose all the floors and partitions. These models and plans were

The Jury being engaged in examining the Medical College, g-
s

shown to the Court and Jury, and used in illustrating the subsequent

testimony. (See Appendix A.)

Francis Tukey, sworn.—1 am City Marshal ; was informed of the
disappearance of Dr. Parkman on the forenoon of Saturday, Novem-
ber 24, by Mr. Blake and Mr. R. G. Shaw, about ten o'clock. Cem-
menced search tmmediately at the west end of the city. I ordered
the West End police to inspect and make inquiry around the prem-
iges of Dr. Parkman in the West End. They eould get no informa-
tion concerning him, only that he had been seen in the neighborheod
on Friday. This information was given to Dr. Parkman’s friends by
me, and [ also advised them to advertise his disappearance, which
they did; the commission to do so having been given to the reporter
for the Journal, who was in my office at the time.

[The Court thought it unnecessary to go into proof of the fact that
Dr. Parkman had disappeared.]
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Witness was requested to state, in general terms, about the search
which was made. Answer: It was as general and thorough as the
means at the disposal of the city would allow.

Men were sent in all directions for 50 or 60 miles, on all the rail-
roads — to all the towns on the coast, including those on both sides
of the Cape.

We searched over land and water, and under water. We pub-
lished and circulated 28,000 copies of four handbills. The first
merely stated that Dr. Parkman was missing. It was published on
Sunday, the 25th. The second, published on MMonday, the 26th,
offered a reward of $3000 for the discovery of Dr. Parloman.

The third offered a reward of $100 for the recovery of a waitch,
withgut saying whose watch it was. It was a watch that had been
in the possession of Dr. Parlkman.

The fourth was published Nov. 25th, and offered a reward of
$1000 for the discovery of Dr. Parkman’s remains. 1 first heard of
the discovery of remains at the Medical College on Friday, Nov. 30,
in the afternoon. Went immediately to the Medical College. We
went into the cellar room of the latter, and thence down a trap. Little-
field, Trenholm, Clapp, and I, went down together., The trap-door is
on the same level with Mr. Littlefield’s apartment, in what might
be called the basement of the building. We passed a good distance
below, and over an uneven surface, for about 60 feet, to a corner.
In this corner there was a cross wall, in which there was a hole made
about 1S inches square; the ‘mortar and bricks lay around, as if
freshly broken down from the wall.

When we came up to the corner where the hole was cut in the wall,
we got a light, and I took the lamp and reached into the hole, and looked
about. I saw what I thought pieces of flesh. The water from a sink
was running and spattering about. When all had looked in who
wished, I asked Trenholm and Littlefield to go in and pass out what
they could find. We got a board, and they passed out, to the hands
‘of Mr. Clapp, three parts of a body. I asked, as a matter of form,
of Dr. Bigelow, if these were parts of a human body ; and he said yes.
I then inguired whether it was part of one which had been prepared
for dissection. He said it was not. I asked Littlefield whether there
was any entrance to the vault below, except through the privy hole,
and the aperture in the wall, at which we stood. He replied that there
was not. We brought the remains out, and placed them in the apart-
ments above, on the same floor with the laboratory. T went into an-
other room, while the men searched the laboratory and lecture-room.
I afterwards went up stairs, (having been told by the men that they
had found something.) I then went into the lower laboratory, and
the officers with me. [ stopped near the furnace. I saw officer
Clapp with something like bones, which I ordered to be let alone
until a commissioner of the Court could take them into his charge. 1
then sent for Professor Webster, and in the mean time went back to
the house of Robert G. Shaw.

[Mr. Tukey heré opened a box which he had had in his custody
since the contents were found. It contained miscellaneous matters;
among them, parts of bones caleined, and stuck among slag, or the
vitrified remains of coal or other mineral substances, which had been
burnt. A knife, with a silver hilt and sheath, was also among the con-

3
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tents. The blade of the knife might be about ten inches long, and
sharp on both edges, with a fine, tapering point.]

An article was also found that seemed like some teeth. After
these things had been found, I left the College, and did not return
that night.

Cross-ecamination. I proposed the printing of a bill on Saturday.
[ think I wrote the first one on Saturday night, when it was submitted
to the family. altered, and then published. The next in order I
also advised to be written, and did write it myself, I think. One was
signed by Mr. Robert G. Shaw, and another by me. [ should not
think the hole under the privy above 18 inches wide. The breach in
the wall was half way from the floor to the ground, and a perpendic-
ular line from the hole above would drop within 18 inches pf its
inward surface. One part of the remains lay near the wall, and the
.others separated a little from it. They were not exactly below the
hole above the privy, and I cannot say how far off they might be. I
am not aware of the relative positions of the different parts. The

ound rose to the wall, and the remains lay on the side of the plane
%}rrmﬂd by the rise of the ground, toward the north wall of the
building.

Direct resumed. The space occupied as a privy vault was a large
one, and a curious looking place. I cannot say whether the tide
flows in and out or no. I think that no solid substance could float
out seaward, The wall inside [ did not examine, to see whether it
was rough or smooth. I did not go inside at all.

Carvin G, Moore, sworn. — I reside at 34, Bridge-street. [ resided
there on 23d November last. Am not a tepant. [ saw Dr. Parkman
in Paul Holland’s store, at the corner of Vine and Blossom streets.
[ went in there to purchase, and while I was there he came in; this
was between one and two o’clock. He came in from Vine-street; and
the time could not have been less than 20 minutes to two. It was
oy, Friday ; and on Saturday the police came and asked me if I had
been in the store, when Isaid [ had; and I thought over the time then,
and arrived at the conclusion I have stated. Dr. Parkman came in,
passed the time of the day, and inquired about some sugar. He
asked for something to put it in, and Mr. Holland pointed to a bucket
for that purpose, He was then told to put the sugar up. I noticed that
he made two or three weighings before he filled the bucket; mean-
time the Dr. was asking about some butter. He subsequently pointed
out a part to be cut, which was taken ofl’ and weighed. I had some
talk with him about the weather, and he said we could not find fault
with it ; and that was all I can recollect. He might have been eight or
ten minutes in the store, perhaps less. He went out and away, by
Blossom-street. He seemed to hesitate as he went out ; and I thought
he bent over the counter and made some remark to Mr. Holland,
which I did not overhear. I did not observe the direction in which
he went beyond the door.

Cross-examination. 1 was not in business at the time. My house
was across the street from the store, quite a short distance. I made
a purchase at that time, and Mr. Holland had pay for what I got
before I left the store. 1 bought some butter off the same piece the
Dr. had his from. The transaction was in part delayed through Dr.
Parkman’s coming into the store. I dined that day not far from half
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Est twelve. From that time. and my subsequent movements, not
ing in a hurry, I suppose that I must have gone out about twenty
minutes past one o'clock, —not later. I do not take so long to have
dinner, when I am in a hurry. [ formed my impression concern-
ing the time next day. [ was examined on the coroner’s inquest,
and do not know whether I said I left my house at a quarter or twenty
minutes past one. I[did not write down any statement relative to
this matter, nor did any one do anything of that kind for me, that [
know of. On the afternoon of Saturday, Mr. Kingsley came to me,
and made inquiries relating to Dr. Parkman. I don’t recollect saying
anything to him, but that I had seen him.

It was after Mr. Kingsley left me that I considered over the time.
I do not remember whether or not | might have said that I had or
had not seen Dr. Parkman that day, before I spoke to Mr. Kingsley
on the subject.

Martaa Moogg, sivorn. — [ am wife to the last witness. I knew
Dr. Parkman by sight; but I did not see him on Friday, 23d Novem-
ber last. I told my son George to go to school, that day, ten minutes
before two. He was then on the corner of Fruit and Bridge streets,
on the sidewalk, near a truck. I spoke to him from an open window.
I had just looked at the clock before I spoke to my son to zo to school.
My attention was called to this fact. when inguiry was made for Dr.
Parkman.

Cross-exvamination. My son attends school in Pinckney-street. It
commences in the afternoon at two o'clock. I cannot recollect many
occasions of warning my son to go to school, It is not often; and
when I may have oceasion, it is only such natural oceasion as any
mother may have. I am sure it was within a week that my attention
was called to time. Itwas called to my recollection by my son, with-
in a day or two, when he said he had seen Dr. Parkman. It might
have been the next day, or it might have been two or three days. It
was in the house we talked over the matter; and I cannot say whetger
any one was present. I know it was Friday, the 23d day of Novem-
ber, and I know that [ looked out of the window on that day. Iam
not aware who I spoke to first on this subject. I told it to the sheriff.
I cannot recollect any other transaction that day.

George F. Moorg, sworn. —1 am twelve years of age. I knew
Dr. Parkman, and last saw him on Friday, 23d November. I heard
of his being missing on Saturday, when I recollected to have seen
him in Fruit-street. I was standing alongside a team which had got
stuck in the mud in Fruit-street, when Dr. Parkman passed down
towards Grove-street.

[The locality was pointed out on a map, and the attention of the
jury directed towards it. The boy pointed out his position, and that
of the team, on the street, at the moment Dr. Parkman passed.]

This was about ten minutes before two. My mother called me,
and said I should go to school, as that was the time. Another boy,
named Dwight Prouty, was with me, and I said, * There goes Dr.
Parkman!” The truckman was not whipping his horses. We went
to the Phillips School, which was not above a quarter of a mile, and
got there just before it commmenced. Two o'clock is the usual hour
of commencing school.

Cross-ezamination. 1 don’t recollect seeing Dr. Parkman on any
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articular day before that Friday, when he passed close by me.
Rfext day I told iny mother [ had seen him.

By the Court. 1 heard on Saturday that Dr. Parkman had been
missing.

Dwient Provty, Jr., sirorn. — 1 am thirteen years of age. 1go
to the Phillips School, in Pinckney-street. I last saw Dr. Parkman on
Nov. 23d, Friday, at ten minutes to two. I go to the school at two;
and that day, when I left where I live, at number 44 Bridge-street,
it wanted a quarter to two. [ looked at the clock as 1 left. I came
into Fruit-street, and saw George Moore, and a truck team in the mud.
I also saw Dr. Parkman go along by Grove-sireet. I think, but am
not sure, that one of the %m}'s said, *There goes Dr. Parkman.” 1
had seen him many times,before that day. fcmﬂd not describe his
dress that day. I last saw him when he passed on the same side of
the street. George Moore’s mother looked out of the window at the
time, and called out it was ten minutes of two; when we left, and
got to school in time. We did not stop on the way, that I can recollect
of. Dr. Parkman had passed just as we left the place.

Cross-examination. The truck was on the corner of Fruit and Bridee
streets, just as you go round, and the horses heading towards the
College. :

Evrias FurLer, sworn. — I carry on the iron foundery trade near
the Medical College. My counting-room is on North Grove-street,
at the corner on the west side, from whence we can look down Frait-
street. [t is about seventy-five feet from the Medical College. I knew
Dr. Parkman, and saw him frequently on business. He had a claim
on the land on which my foundery is built, I saw him on Friday,
23d November, 1849, between half past one and two o’clack, in front
of my house, in North Grove-street, where I was waiting for Joseph
Annis, whom I had an appointment to meet. I saw Dr. Parkman
some time — [ think, a few minutes— before two o’clock. Ihad looked
atgmy watch, and had also asked my brother about the time, belore
Dr. Parkman passed. The first answer was, that it was twenty min-
utes to two o'clock. I cannot recall all that transpired intermediately;
but I feel almost eertain that Dr. Parkman passed in ten minutes after.
We waited a very few minutes after he passed, when we went off with
Mr. Annis.  Dr. Parkman went towards the Medical College. I saw
the team in the mud that same day. It belonged to Marsh & Banks.
My brother is in our warehouse. Dr. Parkman bowed as he passed,
and we returned his salute. With reference to the Medical College,
the last time I saw Dr. Parkman, he crossed the street towards me,
and thence went directly towards it. I do not know that I looked
after him.

Cross-examination. He passed quietly. He had on a dark frock
coat, and dark clothing generally.

Avreert FuLLER, sworn, (a brother of the former witness.)—I knew
the late Dr. Parleman, and had met him, occasionally, for two years.
I last saw him on the 23d of last November, as he crossed Grove-
street towards our building, and passed towards the Medical College
I was at the door, weighing castings, at the time. He bowed to m
brother as he went past. This was close to our counting-room.
saw him when he was within forty or fifty feet of the College, and
after he had passed us. The time of the day I cannot tell to a
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minute, but it was nearer to two than half-past one o%clock. I was
on the spot all that afternoon until night, at my work, and [ never
saw Dr. Parkman afterwards. My position was such that no one
could pass in Fruit-street, without my seeing him. I was at work in
the building, but right in front of the door.

[ The position of Mr. Fuller's house was here pointed out on the
map to the Jury, and that of the relative streets and outlets to and
from the College.]

The time was spoken of that day, previous to the Dr.s passing,
and we fixed it next day, after he was missing. I have known Dr.
Webster well; and remember his coming into our counting-room
and signing a check to Mr, Cummings, blacksmith.

By the Court. 1 heard of Dr. Parkman’s disappearance next day;
it was the subject of common conversation.

By the Attorney General. Mr. Littlefield came to my house on
the Friday after Dr, Parkman’s disappearance, and borrowed a chisel
from me. My brother lent him a bar, I think the remains were
feund on the same evening. The implements were borrowed in the
afternoon.

[The question regarding what purpose the tools were borrowed for,
was ruled inadmissible.]

The tools were borrowed at different times.

Some conversation again occurred, concerning the ruling above,
which was adhered to by the Court.]

My brother lent Mr, Littlefield a hammer and a bar that day.
Mr. Kingsley called on me the same day. I do not remember Mr.
Trenholm coming also with him. I did not go to the Medical Col-
legre ; nor did my own knowledge teach me what was going on. Dr.
Parkman was a very punctual man with us, in all our dealings with
him. Dr. Webster, when he came into our counting-room to sign
the check, said, © The papers stated that nothing had been yet heard
regarding Dr. Parkman.”

Cross-examination. | was weighing iron all that day, and could see
both sides of the street pavement from where I was at work, which
was at the side of the door. I repeat that it was nearer two than one
o'clock.

By the Foreman of the Jury. 1 had to stoop some while at worl ;
but never was in any position that would prevent my seeing the
whole street for any length of time.

Leoxarp FuLLEr, sworn.—I am brother to the two last witnesses,
and work in the foundery along with them. Mr. Littlefield borrowed
a hammer and a bar from me on the Friday after Dr. Parkman’s
disappearance, and the same day on which the remains were found.
He came after dinner-time, and got the articles. He also had a tum
drill. The bar was about four feet long, and steeled at the point.
After having it away for about an hour and a half, he came bm:E and
wanted a hammer and a chisel. He had off his coat and jacket, and
was sweaty. His clothes were dirty. My brother Albert gave him
a chisel, and T went and found him a bar, which he took, and went
to the College. I saw no more of him that night. I knew Dr. Park-
man, and saw him on Nov. 23d, but cannot say positively at what time,
He was in the habit of coming into our counting-room, almost every
day, for the last three years. I saw hini on the 23d, in the fore part
of the day, but do not know exactly when.
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Cross-examination. I sawhim in Court-street, but cannot say, par-
ticularly, what dress he had on. I was in my chaise at the time [
saw him.

Pavr Hovrawp, sworn. — Am a grocer; kept formerly at the corner
of Vine and Blossom streets, Saw Dr. Parkman Friday, Nov, 23; he
came into my store between 1 and 2 o'clock; think it was about
11. He staid there about 15 minutes ; he bought 32 lbs. of crushed
sugar,and 6 lbs of butter. Brought in a paper bag ; asked permission
to leave it for a few moments, as he was about going out. I promised
to send up the things purchased, in the afternoon; he said any time
would do. The bag remained till evening ; I opened it; it contained
lettuce, Heard of Dr. Parkman being missing, next day, from Mr.
Kingsley. Mr. Calvin G. Moore was in the store when Dr. Parkman
was there. The lettuce was there when Mr. Kingsley called, the next
day ; it was not removed. Clerk was gone to dinner; he dines at 1
o'clock. Came back 10 or 15 minutes after Dr. Parkman left. Dr.
Parkman was not in a hurry.

Cross-examination. My clerk resided in May-street. Dr. Parkman
did not appear to be ina hurry when he called. He had a black coat,
pants, and satin vest on, with a black cravat and hat, so far as [ can
recollect.

Japez Pratt, (one of the Coroners of the County,) sworn. — Was
called upon in the course of Friday, Nov. 30, by officer Spurr, between
9 and 10 o'clock, to view the remains. Went to the house of S. D. Par-
ker, Mount Vernon-strect; thence with him to the jail in Leverett-
street, with Dr, Martin Gay and one or two others, Saw Dr. Webster
in the cell beneath the jai{ office ; a warrant was in my hands for the
arrest of Dr. Webster ; Dr. Webster was lying upon his face, appar-
ently in great distress. Desired him to be calm, and requested him to

t up. He said he was unable to getup; he was agitated, and trem-

led all over ; he exclaimed, © What will become of my poor fami-
ily!” He was afterwards lifted up, and assisted up stairs; don't
remember whether he perspired in the lock-up. Was nearly helpless,
and could not use his limbs ; was seated on a chair in the office ; some
person offered him water, at his request ; he was so agitated he could
not drink ; they put the tumbler to his mouth ; he thrust it from him.
Mr. Parker had directed, before we went down, that no person should
converse with Dr. Webster on the subject of his arrest. Mr. Parker
conversed with him; he stated to Dr. Webster that there had been
some discoveries made at the Medical College, and they had come
there to see if he was willing to go down and make any explanations
he might please. Don’t remember the answer, but he consented to go ;
Leighton, one of the keepers of the jail, and myself, rode in the same
carriage with Dr. Webster ; saw perspiration on him when sitting in
the chair in the jail office, not before; complained of being cold on
arriving at the College ; he was helped up the stairs, Don’t remem-
ber the conversation in the carriage particularly ; remember that he
complained of the manner in which he had been taken from his fam-
ily. Entered the College by the front steps; went in to the lecture-
room of Dr. Webster; think Cummings and Leighton were the offi-
cers who had hold of Dr. Webster ; went from the lecture-room to
the laboratory in the rear; think the Doctor was first, and they had
to break it open. , After going into the back room,some person inquired
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for the key to the small room at the back of it. Dr. Webster replied
that was his private room, where he prepared his lectures and kept
dangerous things; he had not the key; Mr. Clapp had taken all his
keys from him. The door was broken open ; there was a coat there,
which he used when he lectured ; there were drawers, or closets, on
the opposite side. Either they stuck, or were locked; some were
broken open. Dr. Webster objected to its being done ; said they con-
tained only some demijohns and bottles. Such was the fact; discov-
ered nothing there of importance ; then went down stairs.

There was an inquiry made for the key of the privy. Dr. Web-
ster said it was hanging on a nail; don’t remember whether this
was made before or after going down ; did not examine the build-
ing particularly, not thinking it my duty to do so. The key was ap-
plied to the door of the privy,and did not fit ; the door was broken by
my direction, and the seats were torn uF, not both at the same time ;
some person inquired where was the chimney that was hot; it was
pointed out, and the furnace. Some person went to the furnace, and
took off the cover, taking out something; I directed them to let it stay
as it was ; some one had hold of Dr. Webster by the arm all the time ;
he appeared different from any man I ever saw before. He called for
water; when the water was offered him, he would seem to snap at
it with his teeth, and push it from him ; was more excited in the
lower laboratory than up stairs.

Mr. Andrews, the jailer, came into the laboratory while we were
there ; we went out of the laboratory into an entry or cellar, where a
trap-door was opened. Mr. Clapp and Mr. Littlefield went down, and
requested me to. Went down, going on hands and knees ; the highest

lace was not more than four feet. The remains were broughtup ; Dr.
Webster was very much agitated; don’t recollect distincily how Dr,
Webster appeared then. Did not go back to the jail with Dr. Web-
ster ; the remains were put into a box in a cool place, and officers left
in charge. Next day, summoned a Jury of Inquest, at four o'clock ; I
took out the contents of the furnace myself. It was on Saturday ; can-
not remember whether it was before four o'clock, or after; police offi-
cers aided in taking out the contents of the furnace, but took out
nearly all myself; directed the officers to pick out the bones and
ieces of metal. There were bones, and pieces of metal that looked
ike pewter or lead; also some pieces that looked like gold ; there was
much ashes on top ; found considerable pieces of cinders sticking to
the brick, which I knocked of with a poker.

Court adjourned to half past three.

AFTERNOON.

The examination of Corower Pratr, resumed. — There was a
piece of jaw found toward the bottom of the furnace; it was artifi-
cial ; it was one piece. I caused it to be put in the hands of Dr.
Winslow Lewis, Jr. Found it about two thirds of the way from the
top to the bottom; the depth of the contents of the furnace was
about one foot. The bones were picked out of the ashes; were pre-
served at that time ; they were delivered to the chemists and medical
men, to take such parts as they chose to examine. Sent for Dr. Jef-
friecs Wyman ; I do not know what portion of the bones he took; I
had no Further charge of the laboratory. The ribs and some of the
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bones were put in a box in the privy, Friday night, and the door
nailed up; they were placed there as the coolest and safest place.
Now remember that I took out the contents before the inquest;
don’t remember what officers were left in charge ; don’t remember
what other bones [ found, beside the artificial jaw. Have had in my
custody a tin box, which came from the store of Mr. Waterinan. A
large bunch of teeth fell throug!. the grate, in removing the contents
of the furnace ; an officer, Trenholm, picked them up.

[The tin box was here shown to the Jury. It was about two feet
long, by twelve inches wide, and twelve deep, with a tin cover which
could be soldered to a rim.]

- Cross-examination. The bones were mixed with the cinders adher-
ing to the furnace. Noticed the bones in the cinders at the time of
breaking them off. Officers Fuller, Rice and Trenholm, were among
those who had charae of the building, Friday night. When I said bunch
of teeth, I meant the block ; there were two or three single teeth found.

Dr. WixsLow Lewis, Jr., swora. — Called to the Medical College
on Saturday, by Coroner Pratt; Drs. Martin Gay and Charles T.
Jackson were with me. Arrived there at three o’clock. I called on
Drs. Geo. Gay, J. W. Stone, and Jeffries Wyman, to assist me. Dr.
Wyman took charge of the bones found, and certain articles that had
blood on them. Drs. Gay, Stone, and myself, prepared a report on
the five pieces of a body that were found in the privy ; it was reduced
to writing, signed, and sworn to.

A very Broad, discolored and hardened stripe extended from
the left shoulder to the hips; the rest of the skin was of a natu-
ral appearance, except a slight greenness at the arm-pit. There
was a ragged Iierfuration under the left nipple. There was nothing
which was unlike what I should expect to find in the body of Dr.
Geo. Parkman ; they were not apparently portions of an anatomical
subject for dissection. There was nothing in the manner in which
the parts were separated to indicate that it was a subject. There
was no preservative fluid in the vessels, as there would have been if it
was a subject. There could not be the least doubt that all the five
pieces belonged to the same body. A mass of mineral teeth was given
to me by Coroner Pratt; carried them to my home and kept them all
night, as Dr, Keep was absent from the city; handed them to De.
Keep the next day.

|The document above referred to was here read, and the terms
explained to the Court and Jury. The paper is as follows :]

REPORT OF THE MEDICAL COMMITTEE ON THE INVESTIGATION OF THE
REMAINS.

Drs. Winslow Lewis, Jr., George H. Gay, and James W. Stone,
being severally sworn, on oath depose as follows : —

Having been directed to make a post mortem examination, at the
Boston Medical College, in North Grove-street, attended to that duty
December 2d, 1849, at ten o'clock, A. M., and examined five portions
of a human subject, viz: a thorax, a pelvis, two thighs and a left leg.
The thorax and left thigh were discolored, apparently with tan and
some caustic substance. The three remaining ones were white, fair,
and appeared as if soaked in water. The cartilage on the head of
the left thigh-bone was colored black. The following is a deseription
of the five portions separately : —

o
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I. Remains of Thoraz, and parts attached to it, which consisted of
all the hones, except the sternum. Fracture of the fifth right rib,
apparently recent, and about four inches from division between ribs
and sternum.

Both clavicles and seapul®e present; clavicles large. Both lungs
present, but collapsed. Left lung had pleural adhesions. Structure
of both lungs apparently healthy. ;

Anterior thoracic muscles cut up from the ribs, about six inches
from the centre, on each side, and with the skin thmwn one side.

Posterior portion of integuments from the left scapula to the lumbar
vertebre, of a dark mahogany ecolor, and hardened. Remaining por-
tion of integuments generally of a natural appearance, except a httle

greenness under the richt axilla, probably from commencing decom-
position, and some blueness under. the left axilla, leaving the skin

soft and easily broken, through artificial action exerted upon the hair -
and skin, as far forward as the section in‘the median line.

An opening, slightly ragged, abont one and a half inches in length,
under the left nipple, between the sixth and seventh ribs, e:-.tendmg
into the cavity of the chest.

Remains of thoracic aorta and thoracic esophagus present. Heart
and diaphragm wanting. Trachea divided through the cricoid carti-
lage. Spleen contracted, externally granulated and internally red.
Left kidney in its natural position, and contracted. No liver, right
kidney, pancreas, stomach or intestines.

Nota Bene. The right kidney, much contracted and discolored,
was discovered on the next day, and given to us.

Sixteen vertebre present, consisting of three lumbar, twelve dorsal,
and the greater portion of the seventh cervical, which appeared to
have been sawn through the upper part. Small quantity of long,

yish hair on the front of the chest. Some stained dark grayish
ﬁ;'r on the back.

Periosteumn removed from the front part of several left ribs. Both
arms severed in a very irregular and unscientific manner. :

II. Pelvic portion consisted of the bones of pelvis, two of the inferior
lumbar vertebrz, all the integuments, museles, organs of generation and
the pelvie viscera generally. All of the intestines remaining was about
six inches of the rectum, through the anterior and external portions
of which a section had been made, and the mucous coat separated free-
ly four or five inches throughout the whole circumference, but not
cut ofl at the lower end. Hair upon this portion of a sandy gray.
Both thighs severed from it in a very irregular manner. Integuments
divided down to the pubis in the median line. On placing the pelvie
portion in apposition with the thoracie, the third and fourth lumnbar
vertebr corresponded precisely. The spinous process of the third
lambar vertebra, with a portion of the transverse processes of the
same, was absent from the thoracic portion, but was found attached
to the fourth lumbar vertebra, which was on the pelvie portion.

III. Right Thigh, on being placed in apposition with the pelvic
portion, the bones, muscles and skin, corresponded perfectly, Good
muscular development, with but little of fatty matter, Patella attached.
Some ossification of femoral artery.

IV. Left Thigh had a string about two and a half feet long, tied
round just above the condyle, leaving loose ends. Patella attached.
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On being placed in apposition with the pelvis, the bones corresponded,
but some portions of the skin and flesh appeared to have been removed,
or contracted from artificial means. On the anterior surface of the
thigh, and somewhat on other parts, there were appearances of the
action of fire, or some caustic matter.

V. Left Leg of natural appearance, fair size, and on being placed
. in apposition with the left thigh, the articulation mrrespnndeg.

Measurements.
: Inches. Inches.
Thoracic portion, length ; 174
i i below axilla, circumference 30
Pelvic #  length 93
i3 “  circumference below crest of ileum 0L
Both thighs (of the same length) 18
£ W eircamference of largest part of each 18}
Left leg, length to the outer malleolus 16
o eircumference of largest part 123
Total 61
Deduct distance from bottom of pelvis to top of acetabulum 33
a7}
All the parts being placed in apposition, the distance from the top of
seventh vertical vetebra to the outer malleolus o274
Difference 1
Total length of parts discovered 974
Distance from sole of foot to the outer malleolus on another subject 3
Distance from top of head to base of sixth cervical veriebra 10
Total height — 5ft. 104 inches, or T0%

The foregoing described portions appeared to belong to a person of
between fifty and sixty years of age; the muscular system was well

developed, and there was but very little adipose maiter.
WINSLOW LEWIS, Jz.,

GEORGE H. GAY,
Attest, JAMES W. STONE.
J. L. AxDREWS.

Cross-cxamination of Dr. WinsLow Lewis, Jr. — [The witness ex-
plained the anatomical terms.] Had been acquainted with Dr. Parkman
about thirty years — quite intimate. It would not spontaneously have
occurred to my mind that it was Dr. Parkman, if [ had not known
he was missing. Could determine the height of the person within
half an inch, to a certainty. The perforation under the left nipple
was much affected by some chemical agency. Discovered no marks
of a knife on the ribs. A body of the size of Dr. Parkman’s would
contain about two gallons of blood. About twe quarts of blood, or
fluid, might be found in the cavities of a body of this size after death.
Could not say how long it would take to burn up a head; I think it
could be consumed in two hours, but cannot state that with any ac-
curacy ; it would depend upon the quantity of fuel. Could not de-
termine the precise age of that body from the remains. There was
more muscular development in the lower extremities than [ should
have expected in a body like that in other respects.

Direct resumed. 1f a person were wounded, as by the perforation
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in that thorax, he would, probably, have bled more internally than
externally ; a body ceases to bleed very soon after death, except from
the veins.

Dz. James W, Srowe, sworn.—1I concur in the report that was
drawn up and sig‘ned by Drs, Lewis, Gay and myself, and which
has been read. The hair on the back of the body examined was
much more, and longer, than usual, and of a sandy gray color. The
muscles of the lower extremity were more developed than one would
naturally expect from the general size of the body, indicating that
the individual had been accustomed to much exercise in walking.
In front, on the left side, the skin was burnt,and the hair singed,
so that its length could not be determined. On the other side, in
front, the skin was not burnt, but decomposition had commenced near
the right arm-pit. Judging from the skin, hair, and general appear-
ance of the remaing, the body belonged to a person from fifty to sixty
years of age. The amount of ossification of the arteries would seem
to indicate that the individual was nearly or quite sixty years of age,
There was nothing in the light color of the skin, the sandy gray hair,
the muscular development of the lower extremities, or the apparent
age, which would conflict with the idea that it was the body of Dr.
Parkman; yet, had I not known that Dr. Parkman was missing, I
should not have suspected that these remains were portions of his body.

I have been well acquainted with Dr. Parkman for five or six years;
he has visited me several times, and | have often been to see him.
He was a great and a fast walker,

My impression is, that the individual who separated the remains
had some anatomical skill. It is difficult for a person who has never
done it to remove the sternum, or breast-bone. [ have seen good physi-
¢ians, in a post-morfem examination, even when there was no ossifi-
cation of the cartilages, give up the attempt to separate the sternum
from the first rib and collar-bone, and break it off, leaving the upper
part of the breast-bone unremoved. In this case, the incision through
the skin and muscles was made, as usual, in the median line from
the neck downwards, and the sternum properly removed, by separating
it from the clavicle, or collar-bone, and by dividing the cartilages close
to the ribs. The divisions at the joints were rightly made, though
somewhat irregularly.

There was but little appearance of these remains having been
parts of a subject for dissection. That which looked more like dis-
section than any other part was mentioned in our report; viz: an
incision through the anterior portion of the external coats of the last six
inches of the intestine, and a separation of them from the mucous coat.
In preparing bodies for dissection, sometimes one injection into the
arteries only is made; at other times, two or more. The first injection
is made in all the subjects for antiseptic purposes. It is fluid, ana
usually consists of an arsenical solution, one of the chloride of zing,
or some similar preservative substance. This fluid is absorbed, so
that it is difficult to recognize it, except by chemical tests. The sec-
ond injection is solid, and is usually of glue or wax, so as to dissect
for the arteries. That can be easily distinguished. There was in
these remains no solid injection.

Cross-examination. \ﬂ’u examined the aperture between the ribs, to
ascertain il it had been caused by a knife, as it was suggested that
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this might have been the case. In this place, the skin was much
softer than usual, from the action of fire, and the finger might easily
have been pushed through the skin and muscles. The edges of the
aperture were rough, as if it.had been made by a stick. There was
no marlk produced by the cut of a knife upon the ribs. A day or two
after, [ heard that there was such a marl, but at the time of our regular
examination, on Sunday, Dec. 2, we could find nothing of the kind.

Direct examination resumed. ‘There was no mark in this open-
ing which had the appearance of having been made with a knife,
The opening extended not only through the skin and external mus-
eles, but also through the muscles between the ribs, and through the
lining membrane into the cavity of the chest. The membrane and
muscles between the ribs were perforated in other places, but nowhere
with such regularity as would indicate that this had been done with
a knife. I do not think that all the periostenm remained on the edges
of the ribs, '

Dx. Georee H. Gay, sworn. — I signed the statement that has been
read, and agree to it. I saw the remains at the Medical College,
and conceived that some anatomical knowledge had been exhibited in
their dissection. The separation of the head from the spinal column
is not an easy act. They do not use a saw to do it, except when
they wish to throw the parts away. A person withont anatomical
knowledge could not readily cut the head off. It is not easy to sep-
arate the sternum from the elavicle.  There was no indication, in the
process of removing the thigh, showing that degree of anatomical
exactness that would accompany the operation on the living subject.
There are several methods of taking the thigh off from the pelvis,
The hole in the chest I thought might be made by the pressure
of the ribs, or the end of a cane, at the time it was removed from the
tea-chest. [.saw the remains on Saturday, but did not examine them
so closely as I did on Sunday. I made an examination of the punct-
ure through the ribs into the cavity of the thorax, and through the
membrane internally, but saw no marks of a cut upon the ribs. I
observed nothing more than was stated by Dr, Stone.

Cross-examined. We examined merely to see the external and
internal appearance of the perforation; I thought it previously dene
with a stick, and saw nothing to make me change my mind. 1 exam-
ined the skin outside, and the membrane inside.

Direct examination reswmed. It was on Saturday afternoon I
first saw the body; the officer was poking off the tan from the part
with his cane, with which [ thought the perforation was made.

Dr. Woopsringe StronG, sworn. — [ have been in practice since
1820, in Boston. While [ was a student of medicine, I accepted every
opportunity I had to practise dissection. I have, since I came to Bos-
ton, dissected many a body, and meant always to be thorough in my
work. I have been at different institutions also, and am more dis-
posed towards surgery than to anything else. I have been obliged,
sometimes, to burn some remains. Once I had a pirate given to
me by the Marshal, when I was living in Cornhill. . It was very warm
weather. Iwanted the bones, and desired to get the flesh destroyed. I
had a common fire-place. The body was not a large one, but muscular, -
and had some fat. I made a fire of wood and flesh, and kept poking,
and keeping up a roaring fire. It burned all night,and up to three in
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the morning, and the mass was not half burned up. Coal is bad to
burn it with ; but wood is good ; though little flesh can be burned at a
time. Any dry wood, such as pitch pine, wonld do very well to burn.
The smell is difficult to allay, and the operator would be apt to be
found out through it.

I have known Dr. Parkman ever since I have been in the city ; a part
of the time as a neighbor, when I saw him almost every day. I last
saw him on the day he disappeared, in Beacon-street, at half past
twelve, or not far from that. I was driving down Belknap-street, when
I saw the Dr. on the other side of Beacon-street, whence he turned into
the common. He was going towards the west at the time. I was at
the Medical College on Wednesday after Dr. Webster's arrest, and
also on Tuesday. On one day of my visit, I saw paris of a body on
a board. [Witness deseribed the remains as others had done.] The
dissection of the breast was done in the usual manner of anatomists ;
and no one who had not been in the habit of seeing dissections could
have done the thing in the way it was.

The muscles outside the bones were cut through as far as
four inches, —the distance the flesh was taken from off the ribs.
The skin at the puncture was taken away ; and some one said, when
[ inguired about its being a stab, that it was not. I noted that the
aperture seemed as if a stab had caused it when the muscle was
tight. It takes a very sharp knife to make a clean cut, when the
skin is not tight. I saw a perfectly clean cut made, o as nearly to
graze the rib, which I thought must have been given when the body
was alive. I thought it might have been the means of death. If
a person was stabbed to the heart, something would depend on the
position of the wound, as to the hemorrhage. In this case, it would
have been internal. In’ the case of these remains, the parts were
peculiarly bloodless. They seemed as much so as meat that is seen in
the shambles. I observed the hair to be gray, or whitish. The skin
had lost the elasticity belonging to the young subject, and its thick-
ness denoted age. ijudged from the remains, from the hair, and
condition of the cartilages, that the person must have been between
50 and 60. The body was unusual in its {ormation, from its nar-
rowness across the shoulders, in proportion to the pelvis, and the tenuity -
in the upper part. It corresponded, in these respects, to the late Dr.
Parkman’s general appearance when alive. He bad a peculiar ap-
pearance, %?hﬁ:rc was nothing dissimilar to what I would have
expected to have found in his remains; on the contrary, there were
many points of resemblance. :

Cross-examination. 1 resided in Cambridge-street, No. 5, at the
time. [ went there in 1842, and have had acts of kindness from De,
Parkiman. We communicated together, and visited each other; and
I have the pleasure of thinking he was one of my friends. The color
of the hair on the body was the same as that on his head and face.
It is not so invariably. I don’t recollect whether he had whis-
kers or no. If there had been any disproportion of the parts found,
to indicate that they belonged to different bodies, I should have
seen and noticed it. I am in the habit of looking at the human
body regularly, and noting beauties or deformities. I did not see the
remains the first day I called; but I saw them on the second day.
I think I saw Dr. C. T. Jackson there, and I held some conver-
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sation with Tr. Lewis. I never burned up a body in a furnace. I
think that the intensity of heat would be as great in a stove as it
would have been in the furnace I saw in Dr. Webster’s laboratory.
The stove I saw in the same room was a better article to use.
I saw but one furnace in the college. [ have used a common
stove, when dissecting, to consume human flesh, with’ anthracite
coal, which I think is not so good as wood. A large coal fire
would burn up human flesh. It might be possible that the wound
might have led to the heart, and no blood flowed outward. This
could be accounted for by the form of the wound, which might col-
lapse ; and also by the sudden stopping the circulation of the blood,
such as cutting the aorta would effect.

Direct examination. There is a diversity of opinion among med-
ical men regarding the weight or amount of blood in the human body.
It might average 40 pounds, in a healthy man.

By a Juryman. Ipnoticed the body perhaps more particularly, on
account of its being supposed to be that of Dr. Parkman.

By Mr. Clifford. Both the back and front of the body looked as
if it might have been Dr. Parkman’s.

Di. Freperick S. Aivswonrti, sworin. — Am demonstrator of Anato-
my in the Medical College. All subjects must come through my hands.
Keep a record of all anatomical materials. My attention was called
to this record at the time of finding these remains; found I had all
the subjects and materials I ought to have; all were accounted for.
Examined the remains, and came to the conclusion, from the remains
themselves, that they had never been sent to me or to the College for
dissection. All subjects sent for dissection are injected with fluid, to
preserve them from decomposition. I use a solution of arsenious acid,
or chloride of zine, with a saturated solution of alum and saltpetre.

Dr. Webster has no connection with the anatomical department.
My impression was, that the person who cut up these remains had
no anatomical knowledge. The person who did it might have seen
a body cut up, but I should doubt whether he ever took a knife in his
hand to do it.

Court adjourned.

THIRD DAY.— Thursday, March 21

De. Cuaries T. Jacksow, sworn.— Have given attention to chem-
istry for several years. Went to the Medical College on Saturday,
the 1st of December. Went with Dr. Gay; Dr. Lewis was there,
and made some preliminary examinations, Dr. Gay and myself
undertook the chemical part. There were shown us the remains of
a human body. I took some observation of them ; there was nothing
to indicate that they had been used for the purpose of dissection.
The body indicated some knowledge of anatomy on the part of the
person that had divided it. There was no hacking about it; the
thigh and hips were disarticulated neatly. I heanf the testimony
of Dis. Gay and Stone, and coincided with them. Was acquainted
with the late Dr. Georze Parlkiman; he was very frequently at my
office: he was a tall and slender man, and was otherwise peculiar
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Did not see anything in the remains dissimilar from Dr. Parkman.
. There was nothing differing from what I should expect in Dr. Park-
man, in the muscular developments of the lower parts. The flesh
showed indications of chemical application.

[The report of Dr. Jackson was now read.]

I, Cuaries T. Jackson, being duly sworn, depose as follows : —

I am, by profession, a Physician and Chemist. On the first day
of December, 1849, 1 was requested, by Mr. James H. Blake, to
accompany Dr. Martin Gay in making some chemical and other
examinations at the Massachusetts Medical College, in the city of
Boston ; and at four o'clock in the afternoon of that day, I went, with
Dr. Gay, to the Medical College, and there met Dr. Winslow Lewis,
Jr., and others, with the coroner of the county of Suffollk, and the jury
of inquest. We made a general examination on that afterncon,
and adjourned until Sunday morning, when we resumed our examin-
ation; Dr. Jeffries Wyman being associated with us, and aiding in
the examination of the bones found in the furnace of the chemical
laboratory, and also took chips of wood on which we had been shown
certain brown stains, which were submitted to Dr. Wyman to
examine.

Dr. F. 8. Ainsworth also assisted us in the selection of fragments
of bone from the cinders of the furnace. The bones found by us
were in a mass of cinders and ashes which had been removed from
the furnace by the police officers, and were placed in a box, and had
the appearance of having been exposed to fire. They were much
broken, and were, in some instances, partially fused into the cinders.

We identified, at that time, the following bones : right os calcis,
right astragalus, tibig and fibula, phalanges, resembling those of the
ring or middle finger; coronocid process of the lower jaw, and numer-
ous fragments of a human skwll ; a human tooth with a hole in it,
appearing as if it had once been filled by a dentist’s operation ; three
blocks of mineral teeth, with platinum rivets in one of them entire,
but wanting the gold plate on which mineral teeth are usually set.

A pearl shirt-button was also found in the ashes of the furnace,
and was partially calcined. Numerous little copper cups found in
in one of the laboratory drawers — they did not appear to have been
burnt.

Many pieces of glass were also found among the slags and cinders
of the furnace. Masses of metal were also found, which proved, by
analysis, to consist of, in 25 grains,

Tin,  12.19
Lead, 11.95
94.14

Hence, it is evidently tea-chest lead.

The cinders of the furnace, pounded and washed, yielded globules
of gold, some silver, and a little copper. In the portion of slags and
cinders worked by me, 30 grains of gold were found.

My attention having been called to the state of parts of the human
body which Dr. Lewis was examining, I took portions of the skin
and muscles from the thorax, and tested them by reddened litmus
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paper, and found those parts strongly charged with alkali. T found
the discolored thigh also had been imbued with alkali, and stained by
the tan. [ took portions of skin from the thorax and thigh, and car-
ried them to my labﬂratnr}r, and ascertained, by chemical analysis,
that the alkali contained in them was potash, mixed with a very
little sea-salt.

The skin in several places appeared to have been corroded by the
joint action of potash and heat. The thorax had singed hair on it,
showing the action of fire, and probably of *flame, since the burning
was superficial.

I found no alkali in the interior of the thighs, nor in the flesh
beneath the skin of the thorax. The muscles of the cut surfaces at
both ends of the thorax were strongly alkaline.

I observed that the skin near an opening near the sixth and seventh
ribs was quite tender, and the edges of the opening into the thorax
were corroded, as if by petash.

I dissected out the arteries and some of the veins of both thighs
and of the leg, and gave them to Dr. Martin Gay. I subsequently
saw Mr. Richard Crossley in my laboratory, in my presence, examine
a portion of one of these vessels, with the adhering muscle, for arsenic
and zine, and saw that no trace of those substances was found.
~ The spots on the walls, floor and furniture, showed us, were com-
mitted to Dr. Jeffries Wyman, who cut out chips from them in my

resence. A pair of slippers were submitted to us by the officers, and

r. Jeffries Wyman cut pieces off from them in my presence, and
took them away with him. Dr. Martin Gay took portions of the
cinders and metals for examination, and his results should be com-
pared with mine, in order to ascertain how much gold was found

among the cinders. CHARLES T. JACKSON.

Attest,
J. L. ANDREWS.

I was instructed, by the Attorney General, en the occasion of the
presentment of the Grand Jury, to take possession of those articles
found at the Medical College, which were left with Dr. Gay. Went
to his house, and got them. Took them to Mr. Crossley. (Had made
a previous examination of them with Dr, Gay, and turned them over
to him for further examination.) Mr. Crossley is in my employment,
and occupies a part of my laboratory. My test, as to whether there
was alkali in the body, was satisfactory to me. The action of potash
on the human body softens the flesh, and dissolves it after a while; and
when heat is applied, it dissolves it very rapidly. With suitable
apparatus, the time taken to dissolve a human body with potash would
depend upon circumstances; if it were cut up n pieces and boiled,
the flesh would dissolve in two or three hours.  For this, it would take
of potash nearly half the weight of the body; and if the whole were
done at a time, a very large kettle. To dissolve Dr. Parliman
entirely, (he weighing about 140 pounds,) it would take about
seventy pounds of potash. Examined Dr. Webster's laboratory. The
largest kettle that was there was a tin boiler, with a thick copper
bottom, such as is used in boiling clothes, If the body was cut up in
pieces, it would have been adequate to dissolve it; but it would not
hold the whole body, or the thorax.
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The next best substance to potash for dissolving a body is nitric
acid, but potash is the best. Nitric acid would require doublz por-
tion; it would take the whele weight of the body, of nitric acid, to
dissolve it. The effect of it, when applied to a body, would depend
entirely upon caloric; if gently heated. it would give off very little
gas, and if boiled, a very large quantity. The odor of nitric acid is
very disagreeable, but it is not necessary that the gas should be
confined, for the safety of the operator; an open vessel would do. 1
saw nothing large enough to dissolve any considerable amount of
matter at a time, in the laboratory. There were in the laboratory
several bottles containing one or two pounds each, or perhaps more,
some of nitric and some of muriatic acid, nearly full, on the window
near the staircase. Did not examine all the bottles, but think there
was not more than ten pounds of it aliogether.

There was on the wall, (which was painted white.) and on the stair-
case side of it, drops of green liquid, (the stairs were those leading from
the back room in the rear of the lecture-room.) I sent to my labora-
tory, and got some filtering paper, which would absorb the green
liquid. Dr. Gay took that paper, and absorbed some ol it, and carried
it home with him. Since I received the things that Dr. Gay had, 1
have examined that paper, which [ recognized to be the same paper
with the green fluid in it, and found that green fluid to be nitrate of
copper. \ '
'he drops were very abundant in quantity, extending all along the
stairs, from top to bottom, and on the adjoining wall. Was =atisfied
that it was nitrate of copper; think it was spilt on the stairs, and
did not run down from the top; the drops were more abundant at
the bottom than at the top of the stairs. Nitrate of copper attracts
moisture from the air, and remains in a liquid state a long time ; the
stains were in a fluid state when I was there. Nitrate of copper has
an astringent acid taste, like copper. With regard to the spots of
blood, | was requested by the Government to make an examination
of them ; but considering the blood a more proper subject for micro-
scopic observation, [ transferred the duty to %r. Wyman.

Have had no experience of the effect of nitrate of copper on blood.
A pair of pantaloons was discovered, with spots of blood on them.
I think it was on Sunday Dr. Wyman cut out pieces from them. A
powerful microscope is t%lﬁ only test to discover small spots of blood.
Slippers were also found. with appearances of blood on them. Dr.
Wyman cut pieces from them also.

Several punch pieces of copper were found in one of the drawers in
Dr. Webster’s laboratory. Others were found, much thinner, under
the furnace, having upon them nitrate of copper, showing that the
oxyde of copper had probably been introduced into nitric acid, for the
purpose of making nitrate of copper.

I found, in the snbstances given to me, 458 ors. gold.
_ Dr. Gay found, 47  grs. gold.
And in a piece brought to me by Mr. John L. An-

drews, the secreiary of the coroner’s inquest, I found, 813, grs. gold.

Total, 173 83, grs. gold.

The market value of this gold, would be $6.94. There is some
4
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gold still remaining in the blocks of teeth. Think I did not extract
all the gold from the furnace ; there might have been some left.

Mr. Bemis. Is there any change in the appearance of the bone,
by being in fire, in connection with gold, giving any indication of the
proximity of the gold to the teeth ?

Dr. Jackson, [examining the bone.] —It is the same color that we
see in the slag where the globules of gold are found, —a pink color,
produced by oxyde of mold. It is on a block of artificial teeth. The
contents of the ash-pit were taken out,— a part of them while [ was
there, the remainder not. The bones indicated that intense heat had
been applied. Anthracite coal had been used at a high temperature.
[ have known the defendant for twenty-five years ; have studied with
him, and been on terms of communication with him. I have noticed
the knife [exhibiting the sheath-knife] in Dr. Webster’s laboratory,
when I studied in the old Medical College. The College was removed
to Grove-street in 1846. We found whiting and fresh oil upon the
knife, as if there had been an attempt to clean it. This was on Mon-
day or Tuesday. One of the officers called my attention to it. 1
scraped it off, earried it home, and analyzed it. The whiting was
not dry, but moist, and soft as puity. I did not notice the handle,
Dr. Parkman was about my height, which was five feet and eleven
inches.

Cross-examination. The back, one side and the two ends, of the re-
mains, were covered with potash, but no other part of the thorax.
The thigh-bone was smoked, and the skin was softened, as if by potash
and heat. If the bones had been separated from the flesh, I think
they could have been dissolved in half a day. There was nothing at
all in the large boiler I mentioned before, when I saw it.

I suppose the whiting had been used in cleaning the knife-handle.
Iried the effects of nitrate of copper on wood, and it produced the
same stains that we saw on the stair-case. [Here a piece of wood,
with the above stains on it, was shown to the Court.]

Ricn v CrossLey, sworn. — Have given attention to chemistry for
thirteen years. Have examined the blood-vessels, at the request of
Dr. Gay, to ascertain whether they were, as usual, injected with
arsenic acid and chloride of zine, and found neither of these substances

resent. These are the injecting substances used at the Medical
%U“i'gﬁ. I coincide with Dr. Jackson in his opinion about the nitrate
of copper. ¥

Dri. Natuan C. Keer, sworn. — Have been i the practice of dentist-
ry for thirty years. Give attention both to natural and artificial teeth.
Knew Dr. George Parkman as early as 1522, When I was a stu-
dent to Dr. John Randal, Dr. Parkman was frequently there; and on
one oceasion, was quite sicly, and Dr. Randal attended him. When
he recovered, he was at Dr. Randal's very frequently, and I was ac-
quainted with him at that time. As early, [ think, as 1825, he em-
ployed me as his family dentist ; and since that time, whenever he
needed assistance, I have been the person on whom he called. Was
shown the block of mineral teeth by Dr. Lewis. This was on my
arrival from Springfield in the cars, the Monday after Thanksgiving,
about one or two o'clock. I recognized them as the teeth [ had made
for Dr. Parkman, in 1846. Dr. Parkman’s mouth was a very pecu-
liar mouth, in many respeets ; differing in the relation that existed
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between the upper and lower jaw so peculiarly, that the impression
left upon my mind was very distinet. [ remember the peculiarity of
the lower jaw, with great exactness,

The cireumstances connected with the teeth being ordered were
somewhat peculiar. The first question asked by Dr. Parkman, when
the teeth were ordered. was, ¢ How long will it take to make them ?”
I took the liberty to ask why he was =o particular to know. He told
me that the Medical College was to be opened, and that it was neces-
sary for him to be there, and perhaps to speak ; and he wanted - them
by that time, or else he did not want them at all. That time wasa
very short one ; the peculiarity of the mouth made it a case requiring
as much skill as could be used. [ began to do it as soon as possible ;
gave a large part of my attention to it, from day to day. l]n conse-
quence of these circumstances, and the shortness of the time, and the
close application 1 gave to it, I remember very distinctly what was
done, more than in ordinary cases. [ proceeded, in my usual mode,
to take the impression. The first step was, to take an exact fac
simile of each jaw, with wax. A model of the lower jaw was made
from an impression taken with wax, while in a plastic state. Me-
tallic dies were made, by taking an impression of the plaster-cast in
casting sand. Into this impression melted zinc or brass was poured,

roducing an exact copy. By means of the dies, the plates were
Fﬂrmed, Dr. Keep exhibited the original pattern plates, which fitted
to the models.] WPhen the two gold plates were fitted, with soft wax
on each, to his mouth. I requested him to close it until the proper dis-
tance and position were determined. The projection of the lower
jaw, a marked peculiarity of his face, was thus obtained.

A great irregularity on the left side of the lower jaw of Dr. Park-
man gave me great trouble in getting this up. Each set of teeth
was made in three blocks, and then joined to the zold plate. There
were spiral springs that connected the two sets of teeth, to enable the
patient to open his mouth and close it with less danger of the teeth
being displaced than there would have been without the springs.
There was an accident which injured one of the teeth in the front
block, and delayed the finishing of them until near the end of the
night before the opening of the Medical Colleze. They were finally
finished, by setting my assistant at work on them with all the assidu-
ity he conld, at just thirty minutes before the opening of the Medical
College. My assistant was Dr. Noble. When I next saw Dr. Park-
man, he said that he did not feel that he had room for his tongue. In
order to obviate that difficulty, I ground the block of the lower jaw
on the inside, to make it lighter, and furnish more room for the tongue.
This grinding, at that time, was not accomplished with so much ease.
The teeth being on the plate, we could not grind on a large wheel.
We had to grind on a very small wheel. This grinding removed the
pink color that represented the gums, and also the enamel from the
inside of the lower teeth. The beauty of it was defaced by this
grinding. The shape left by the grinding was very peculiar, because
of its being ground on a small wheel, smaller than a cent.

I saw Dr. Parkman frequently. I saw him professionally, as near
as I can remember, about two weeks previous to his disappearance.
He called late in the evening, about ten o'clock. It so happened
that, not being very well, 1 had retired for the night. The
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person who went to the door, seeing Dr. Parkman, asked him in. and
went up and told me that it was he. 1 sent word to him that I
would come down as soon as I could. He told me his trouble. I
took his teeth, both upper and lower, examined them, and put on
a new spring. He staid about a half an hour, when he was ready
to go home. I had no more professional intercourse with him at all.
[ went into the country to pass Thankseiving, at Longmeadow, and
returned on the Monday worning after Thanksgiving,  Arrived home,
[ was told that Dr. Lewis wanted to see me, and he presented me
with these remains of mineral teeth, [showing them,] with the request
that I would examine them. ©On looking at them., I recognized them to
be the same teeth [ had made for Dr. Parlinan. The meost uninjured
portion that vemained was the block belonging to the left side of the
lower jaw. Several other parts had been very much injured by fire.
[ proceeded to look for the mould upon which these teeth were
made, put the metal upon its proper place, and it fitted exacily.
There is sufficient left ‘of these blocks to identify the place where
they belonged. There is no mistake. [He then :-:huwcg the mould
and remains of teeth, etc.] All the pieces having been found, there
were five pieces, which fitted to their exact places. The only piece
that could not be identified might or might not have been right; but it
;:;as supposed to be right, as there was no reason that it should not

0.

[The blocks of teeth, etc., were here shown to the Jury by the wit-
ness, and afterwards to the Judges. During the progress of Dr.
Keep's testimony, the Court and the spectators were affected even to
tears, and Dr. Keep, particularly, was overcome with emotion.|

I found imbedded, more or less, with these mineral teeth, some very
minute portions of %ruld,, in bone termed cancellated, heing peculiar
to the jaw-bone. saw the teeth in the doctor’s head, the last
time 1 saw him, in conversing with him. The presumption is very
strong, that these teeth were put in the fire in the head. Such is the
nature of these mineral teeth, that, especially if they have been worn,
they absorb small particles of water; when suddenly heated, the sur-
face becomes charred, and the water becomes steam, and there would
be a report, with an explosion. I have known such explosions to
take place, on heating teeth that have been worn; and when they
have been worn recently, the explosion is always sure to take place,if
heated rapidly. If, while in the head, they were put into the fire, only
a small portion would be exposed to the heat; and as the témperature
would be raised so gradually, the water would have time to escape;
and thisaccounts, in my mind, for the teeth not being eracked, except-
ing the front teeth, which would have been most exposed. I have
found, fused into the remains of teeth, portions of the natural jaw.
All these teeth were exhibited to me at the same time.

Cross-examination. My first impression, on seeing the teeth shown
me by Dr. Lewis, was, of the circumstances which I have related. Do
not think I have been burnishing up my recollection since they were
shown me. Knew them for mysell, without examining the mould ;
but [did examine them with the mould. The mould of Dr. Parkman
was preserved, as moulds usually are, for future use, in case of acci-
dent to the teeth.

I heard of Dr. Parkman being missing before I went into the coun-
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try. First time I heard of his being missing, was the first night it
was advertised in the papers.

Dr. Lester Noerg, sworn. — [ was an assistant of Dr. Keep, in
1846, and remained in his service until 1849. Am now pursuing
my studies in Baltimore; am a student at the Baltimore College.
Recollect working upon teeth for Dr. Parkman; it was in the autumn
of 1546.

[Here he was shown the mould of Dr. Parkman’s teeth, and recog-
nized his hand-writing on it.] )

Yes, this is my hand-writing — * Dr. Parkman, in October, 1846.”

I did recognize these teeth. Was called to the Attorney General's
room ; the blocks were brought in under seal, and there I examined
them. They were delivered to me for safe-keeping, and I have kept
them in my pocket since, until they were called for to-day. The
circumstances accompanying my recognition of them were, in the first
place, the general shape of the block, which was the same that I
remember to have worked upon for Dr. Parkinan. Also I found on
the inside a surface which appeared to be ground. At the moment I
saw it, I recollected that this block of Dr. Parkman’s teeth had been
ground in the same way ; that I saw Dr, Keep grind them. It was
after the doctor had worn them, after he had been to the Medical
College with them, that he said his tongue was incommoded.

I have every reason to believe that the blocks were Dr, Parkman’s
teeth, and no reason to believe that they were not; have as good
reason to believe it as any other fact. I have not the slightest doubt
that they were the blocks I worked upon for Dr. Parkman. We
were obliced to be very prompt, in making the teeth, to the time
of an appointment by Dr. Parkman. They had to be ready at the
time, because Dr. Parkman was sure to be there at the very moment
he appointed. The time of the appointment for their being finished
was, when he wished to attend a meeting at the Medical College.
An accident which occurred in blocking spoiled a part of the front
block ; it occasioned the necessity of remaking it, which, of course,
caused delay, so that we had to work upon them a large portion of
the night; remember that [ worked upon them almost all night.
We got them finished just in time for Dr. Parkman to go over to the
College with them. I went myself, in order that I might see, when
the doctor had oceasion to speak, how well he used them. Think it
was in the early part of November, that the Medical College was
opened. [ rather think he did not spealk ; merely, when complimented
for his generosity, by Governor Everett, he acknowledged it with a
bow, yet [ am not confident but what he said a few words. I under-
stood that he had been liberal in a donation by furnishing the
ground, ete.

Here the Court adjourned.

AFTERNOON,

The Court and Jury came in at half past three o’clocl,

Di. NoeLe — examination resumed. — The Medical College was
opened in the early part of November. It was in the early part of
my studies that I worked on Dr. Parkman’s teeth ; I began about the
11th of September. We first take the impression in wax. I made
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the moulds of these teeth in the wood, and made the metal casts.
Could not tell precisely how much time was spent on them; it must
have been quite a number of days. Have put blocks of teeth into the
fire, to see how readily they would erack, and I have never known them
not to erack; they may be heated up gradually and cooled with per-
fect safety. ‘Coincide with Dr. Keep as to his opinion. Some time
after the fitting of the teeth, —about a year, I think, —an accident
happened to them ; they bent together, and they had to be reannealed
to the pattern. I had to heat them for this purpose, and the mark of
the blow-pipe still remains.

Dg. Jerrries Wynan, sworn.— I am Professor of Anatomy in Har-
vard University ; have been a teacher of anatomy for the last eight
vears. First went to the Medical College on Sunday, the 2ud of
December. I had given to me the charge ‘of the bones found in the
furnace ; made a cﬂtﬂlﬂgue of them. These bones in this box are the
bones. Iwas not called specially to the other parts of the remains, [The
witness explained a drawing of a skeleton, in which the bones found

were marked in yellow.] There were no marks of the body being a
subject for dissection ; it struck me that the sternum was taken out as
it would have been by a physician at an ordinary post-mortem exam-
ination. I was also struck with the separation of the sternum from
the clavicles, or collar-bones, and first rib; the route for the knife to
pass thmugh is so difficult, that a person having no knowledge of the
structure of the parts would not have been likely to direct it in that
way. [ did not feel mysell called upon to examine critically. I
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should consider the person pastthe middle age of life. On examining
the thorax, and turning 1t over, [ was struck with the quantity of hair
on the back ; I never saw a person before with so much. « If a person
was killed by a blow, and then stabbed immediately, there would have
been a flow of blood according to the vessel wounded, and the depth
of the stab. A post-mortem examination may be made without an
effusion of blood, if made with care. [ made an examination of certain
spots on the side of the staircase, near the lower landing ; they were
not blood, but tobacco stains, This has no reference to the spots found
higher up; I discovered nothing positive in regard to the spots higher
up. Saw spots, which I was told by a chemist were nitrate of copper;
did not examine them. I performed some experiments on the effect
of nitrate of copper on blood. Blood is known by red flattened globules,
or discs ; I placed some blood under the microscope, and applied ni-
trate of copper in solution. The action was not immediate ; after a few
hours it took place, and the blood dises disappeared. 1 should say
that nitrate of copper would destroy all characteristics by which blood
could be detected Ej,r the microscope. There were no other spois in the
building on which were any marks of blood, or what was recognized
as such.

Witness was shown some slippers, on which were spots supposed to
be blood.] They are the same from which 1 eut portions having sim=
ilar spots, which I examined and found what I considered to be blood.

Pantaloons were shown, marked with the name of Dr. Webster, which
the witness identified as the ones from which he cut pieces.] It was the
right slipper that was bloody, and the left leg of the pantaloons on the
bottom, on the outside. The slipper had also what looked like Venetian
red on the sole. The pantaloons had another spot, which might be
Venetian red, but which seemed to be rather a mark of acid. The
blood did not seem to have fallen from any height, for it had not
trickled down; there was a piece of paper found in the laboratory,
with two spots of blood. [The witness explained the classification and
arrangement of the bones, referring them to the different parts of the
body.] The first bone belonged to the front of the forehead. [Witness
explained how he knew it to belong there.] The next was a piece of
the temporal bone, known by the canals that pass through it. The
next was behind the ear, [The witness proceeded to demonstrate the
places of the bones, and succeeded in putting together three fragments,
which form the greater part of the right-half of the lower jaw.]

Attorney General. Please state to the Jury whether there is
anj,;{;hling remarkable in the correspondence of this jaw with Dr. Keep's
maodel.

 Witness. 1 made a drawing of the jaw before | saw the model,
or knew of the condition of Dr. Parkman’s teeth, There was an ab-
sence of the teeth from the coronoid process to the first molar, or
bicuspid ; I was not absolutely certain which, but my impression was
that there were three teeth gone up to the bicuspid. I made a draw-
ing ina pencil of a bicuspid, as a probability. On comparing the
fragments of bones to the model, T found that Dr. Parkman had lost
these teeth. They seem to correspond in this respect; as the model
was taken from the mouth when the gum covered the bone, we can-
not expect an exact correspondence.  If the curves of this jaw had
been carried out, as we should expect, by analogy, it would have given
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a rising chin. The portion of the left lower jaw had a remarkable
depression ; have not witnessed the same in any other jaw, having ex-
amined a hnndred and fifteen or twenty of them, perhaps, with par-
ticular attention to the jaws. There were several vertebre, a joint
of an elbow, some bones of the wrist, some joints of the fin-
gers, part of the bones of the right leg, kmown unmistakably to be
such by their character ; there were not duplicates of any bone, nor
were there any bones except of the missing parts not found in the
vault or tea-chest. There were some fractures, which had the ap-
pearance of being made before caleining. Before caleining, the animal
matter adheres ; there is a greater disposition to splinter, and to an-
gular forms, rather than to crumble.

[The witness showed the jury a fracture of a skull-bone, which had
the appearance of being fractured before being caleined. He did not
think the sign was absolute.]

By the Court. Does your distinction refer to the fractures made
before and after death ?

Witness. Before and after calcination only.

Cross-eramination. In a hall-calcined bone, there is less disposition
to crumble. Think nitrate of copper effectnal to remove blood, but
not so good as water, nnless the blood were to be destroyed. Should
think muriatic acid a weaker solvent of blood, as it is of animal tis-
sues generally, than nitric. Physiologists generally consider that
the blood is aboui the fifth of the weight; this would be twenty-
eight pounds for a body of one hundred and forty pounds. This is
by no means,a precise statement; but twenty-five pounds have been
actually obtained, and probably not all was obtained. There was a
thorough examination of the laboratory for blood. I superintended
the taking up of the brick floor, which was laid in sand. Found no
traces of ci_hlm;;fj., Tool chips from the floor to examine ; found no
blood on them. Should think the cutting to pieces indicated that
the person doing it had some knowledge of anatomy, and knew
where the joints were to be found. If bloed had fallen from the
height of three feet, it would have given an oblong mark, falling
on a vertical substance; could not tell, from the blood-marks, how
long it had been on. After a day or two, blood-marks assume a
brown color ; after that, they do not change for years. The micro-
scape distingnishes human blood from the blood of the lower animals,
but not from that of the higher, as the ox.

PROF. WYMAN'S CATALOGUE.

The following is a catalogue of the fragments of hones taken from
the ashes of the furnace in Dr. J.W. Webster’s laboratory,at the Medical
College in Grove-street, and first seen by me December 2, 1849, (Sun-
day.) [Referred to in Professor Wyman’s testimony.] The list of
fragments of bones given at the Coroner’s Inquest is subjoined in an-
other order. ‘I'he present catalogue includes the parts there enumer-
ated, as well as others which were determined subsequently to the
Inquest.

The following are the names of the bones identified, and the char-
acters by which they were determined. Those about which a ques-
tion existed are marked as doubtful.
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No. 1. Frontal bone. Outer angle of the orbit, left side. On this may be
seen the outer portion of
Temporal ridge,
Part of the cavity of the orbit,
Supra orbital notch,
Part of the frontal sinus.
No. 2. Temporal bone. Petrous portion of the left side.
Internal anditory foramen,
Jugular fossa,
Carotid canal,
Fenesira ovalis.

No. 3. Temporal bone. Digastric fossa of the left side, with a portion of the
@ additamentum ' of the squamous suture.
No. 4. Sphenvidal bone. Base of the great wing on the right side.
Foramen rotundum,
Foramen ovale,
Sphenoidal sinus,
Vidian canal,
Suture.
No. 5. Temporal bone. Mastoid process.
Mastmd cells.
Mo. 6. Parictal bones. Two tables. el
Vascular canals — Glands of Pacchioni.
No. 7. Two fragments of the Oecipital bone.
a. Deeipital protuberance. :
b. Left lateral portion, with lateral sinus.
No. 7a. Fragments of cranium not determined. Some of them indicate
fracture, previous to burning.
N. B.— A few of these were found, during the second search of the ashes
made at the Marshal's office.
No. 8. Left Malar bone.
Edge of the orbit,
Edge of temporal fossa,
Maxillary suture.
No. 9. Left Upper jan.
Antruam,
Suture fitting that of No. 8,
Ridge.
No. 10. One of the condyles of the lower jam.

W

[ No. 11. Fragments of the lower jaw —inside of right half.]
No. 11. Four fragments of the lewer jam.
a Coronoid process.
b Alveolar portion which succeeds to # — dental canal.
¢ Portion succeeding to &, with alveolus and dental
canal.
, d Symphysis. (Chin.)
No. 12. Atlas. Upper and lower articulations, and arch of left side.
Tubercle for transverse ligament.
(A piece of tarsal bune, right cuboid adheres. See No. 25.)
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No. 13. Body of a cervical vertebra.
Under surface projecung from the slag.

No. 14. Fragments of a Humerus.
Theze are somewhat doabtiul.

No. 15. Tip of Ofecranon process of the Ulna.
No. 16. Fragment of a Radivs or Ulna.
No. 17. Scaphotdes of the left side.

No. 17a. Trapezeides. (Side right or left, doubtful.)
(This was found on the second search.)

No. 18. Seeond phalanx of a finger. (Side 7)
{Found on second search.)

No. 19. Terminal phalanx of a firger. (Side 7)
No. 20. Fragment of a Radius.
(Right or left doubtful.)

No. 21. Fragments of the Right Tilia.
Tuberosity with spine on the right.
o Canal {or the nutritions artery o adjacent ndge.
Spine — artieulation with fibula.
Lower articulating surface.

No. 22. Fibula — central portion.
No. 23. Right Os Calcis — nearly entire.
No. 24. Riglt Astragalus — nearly entire.

No. 25. Tarsal bone — Right euboid.
(This adheres to No. 12.

? Mo. 25z, Tarsal bones.

No. 26. Metatarsal bone of the great toe. o :
The ridge of the articulating surface indicates the right.

No. 27. Metatarsal bones — distal portions.
(One of the bones found on the second search.)

No. 28. Sesamoid bone.

No. 29. Terminal phalanx of the lirtle fae.
A part of middle phalanx adheres. (Second search.)

No. 30. Middle phalanx of a toe.

?No. 31. Phalanx of a toe. (Second search.)
No. 32. Fragments of fingers and toes.

No. 33. Fragments of eylindrical bones.
No. 34. Framments of bones of face.

No. 33. Fragments not determined.

The fragments of bones enumerated in the preceding ecatalogue
belong to the following regions of the body, viz., cranium, face, neck,
fore-arms, hands, richt leg below the knee, and feet.

There "are some fragments which were supposed to belong to the
humerus, 'They correspond to that bone as to their angles and curves,
but are not of sufficient size to render it certain that they are parts of
a hwmerus.

Beside the pieces of cranium in the package marked No. Ta,
others are to be seen in the slag connected with the fragments marked
Nos. 13 and 21,  Some of the pieces in No. Ta, do not present the
appearance of having been fractured by the process of calcination, but
by mechanical violence previous to the ealeination.

The fragments of the lower jaw are those of the rightside and chin,
and belong to a person from whom the teeth had disappeared between
the coronoid process and the region of the first molar or second bicus-
pid. The alveoli have been absorbed, and replaced by a flattened
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sutface, with a ridge on one of its borders. This would indicate that

many months had elapsed since the disappearance of the:molar teeth.

The bone of the leg (the tibia) is unequivocally that of the right side.
JEFFRIES WYMAN,

Dr. Ouiver W. Houues, sworn. — I am Parkman Professor of
Anatomy and Physiology in the Medical School. The pruﬁessur:ehi[i
is named after Dr. George Parkman. The dedication of the Medica
Colleze must have been on the first Wednesday of Nov, 1846. No-
ticed Dr. Parkman’s tecth, on that occasion, as new; they were
white and long. Dr. Webster lectures to the Medical Class four
times a week, on the subject of Chemistry. His lecture-room, labor-
atory, and small room in the rear, form an establishment entirely
distinet from those of the other Professors. He never had any need
of anatomical subjects. The remains indicated that the person who
separated them knew where to cut; there is no botching about
the business. Noticed a discoloration, which seemed to be the effect
of heat; was told, and readily believed, that it was the effect of a
caustic substance. Was familiar with the form of Dr. Parkman; did
not see any particular similarity between the parts and Dr. Parkman,
or anything dissimilar. A stab between the sixth and seventh ribs
would not necessarily reach the heart. If it did, there might be
more or less effusion of blood externally, according to circumstances.
If the wounds externally and internally cﬂrrespon%ml, there might be
external effusion ; if the external wound slipped over the internal, the
effusion would be chiefly internal. My lecture-room is over that of
Dr. Webster ; have never heard noises from his room. The students
in my room sit on rising seats; [ stand on the floor. -

Cross-examination. Could not know what the effusion of blood
would be, without knowing the direction of the knife ; if the knife
touched the heart, much blood would be inside, but not probably all.
Have heard the noise of students below, when in the demonstrator's
room, which is at the head of the stairs. Cannot say that the bair
had been singed by fire. Am not so familiar with the effects of cans-
tics as to say what effect could be produced by them ; but was pre-
pared to believe that all I did see had been so produced. A mortal
blow might be struck on the head, and no effusion of blood take

],ﬂl'{‘..

Wieran D. Eaton, sworn. — [ am a police officer ; was present when
the thorax was taken from the tea-chest. Was first sent to the Col-
lege by the Marshal. I was searching one part of the building with
Mr. Fuller. We took the tea-chest, and carried it into the middle
of the room; turned it over, and the body came out, with the back
up. Rubbed off some of the tan; saw a hole in the side; remarked
that it was about the size of that knife we found in the tea-chest.
The knile was closed when found ; the wound was on the left side.

Cross-exanination. 1t was not the knife which has been exhibited
to the Court, but a jack-knife, which I opened. I put my fingers on
to the wound. I saw the hole in the chest as soon as the body was
turned over. [am certain the wound was on the left side. I did not
measure the wound, except by putting my fingers to it. Nothing
more had been done to the body, except to turn it over, and take 1%
out of the box, and brush a little tan off, which I did with my hand.
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Some half a dozen persons were present. At the time I saw it, 1
can say that no person did anything to the body, except myself. 1
did mot know that anything was in the box, until it was turned over.
I thought that it was full of minerals. All we could see, at first, was
the minerals. I took out some of the minerals at the top, but could
not see the tan. There was a second layer of minerals. I stepped
away from the box, when my attention was called again to it, after
it had been turned over, by the other officers. I did not stop at the
Colleze on Friday night, when Dr. Webster was arrested, but did every
day and night after this, until the body was removed. I saw the
box moved round, and turned over.
At twenty minutes to seven, P. M., the Court adjourned,

FOURTH DAY.— Friday, March 22.

Eruramt Lorrieriernn, sworn. — I am the janitor of the Medical
College ; superintend the building, make fires, sweep, &c. Have
been janitor seven years, — three winters at the Mason-street College,
and four at the new. Have known Dr. Webster seven years. Have
known Dr. Parkman over twenty years. Was present at an inter-
view, Monday evening, Nov. 19th, between Drs. Webster and Park-
man. [ was in Dr. Webster's back private room, assisting him,
towards evening. Dr. Webster had three candles burning. He was
looking at a chemical book, and appeared to be reading. I stood at
the stove stirring some water, in which something was to be dissolved.
There was salt in the water. I heard no footstep, but saw Dr. Park-
man enter the room from the lectnre-room. Dr. Webster looked
round, surprised to see him enter without being heard. He said, © Dr,
Webster, are you ready for me to-night ?” — speaking loud and quick.
Dr. Webster answered, “No, [ am not ready to-night, doctor.” Dr.
Parkman said something else, I do not remember what. He either
spole of Dr. Webster's selling something mortgaged, or mortgaging
something sold. Dr. Parkman took out papers from his pocket, and
Dr. Webster said, “ I was not aware it was so.” Dr. Parkman said,
“It is so, and you know it.” Dr. Webster replied, I will see you
to-morrow.” Dr. Parkman stood near the threshold of the door, raised
his hand, and said, * Something must be done to-morrow.” He went
out, and it was the last time I ever saw him in the building.

When I was standing in front of the College, about half past one
o’clock, the next day, Tuesday, Dr. Webster came and asked me if 1
could carry a note to Dr. Parkman, and added, that if I could not
get any one I could trust, that I must carry it up myself. Igot a boy,
named John Maxwell, to carry it up. He was gone about twenty
minntes, and said he gave it into Dr. Parkman’s hands, at his house.
I had an interview with Dr. Webster about noon, the same day Dr.
Parkman was there — Monday — before Dr. Parkman was there in
the evening. I am very positive it was that same day. Dr. Webster
asked if the vault had ever been fixed, where we used to put the
remains of subjects from the dissecting-room, and from the Demon-
strator of Anatomy’s room, — meaning the vault in the entry. He
added, that there had been something said about having it repaired,

or o new one built. He asked what the matter was with it. He
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asked where it was built. I told him it was built right under his
coal-bin, which was between his laboratory and the dissecting-room.
In the bin we put about eight tons of coal. I told him the weight of
this coal sprung the wall, so as to make it leak, and caused an offen-
sive odor to be sent to all parts of the building. I told him it had
been fixed. Heasked me how it was fixed. I told him the vault had
been all kivered up with dirt, and there had been no smell since. He
asked me how I got down under the building to kiver it up, or how
any one could get down. I told him we took up the brick floor in
the dissecting-room entry, and then took up the board floor, about six
feet long. He asked me if that was all the way to get down under
the building. I told him it was, under his laboratory or the front
room, and told him how the walls run.  He asked me if we could get
a light into that vault; and I told him * No.” He asked if [ was sure
of it. I told him I was, for I had tried, a few days before, to get a
light into the vault. He said he wanted to get some gas out of the
vault. [ had tried to geta light in, to find something which Dr. Ains-
worth had lost, and the foul air put it out. Dr. Ainsworth had let
down an African skull, to macerate in the vault, and the rope had
rotted off. I attempted to put a light down, and it went out. Dr.
Webster told me he wanted to get some gas fo try an experiment.
I told him then would be a good time, as e high tide, -mti the
water would press the gas up. I asked him. how he was going to
get the gas into any vessel. He said he had apparatus that he could
do it with. He told me when he wanted to get the gas, he would let
me know. And that is the last [ ever heard of it.

I do not recollect any other interview with Dr. Webster, before the
day of the disappearance. But now I do recollect a message to the
Hospital. He said he wanted me to get him some blood, for his next
day’s lecture. He said he wanted as much as a pint. [ took a glass
jar off from his shelf, holding nearly a quart, and asked if that would
do to get it in. He said * Yes; get it full, if you can, over at the
Hospital.” Just before two o’clock, I carried the jar to the front entry,
and pat it on the top of the case, where I put up notices. I went to
Dr. }‘]ulmea‘ lecture before it finished. At Dr. Holmes® lecture-room
I s=aw the student (John E. Hathaway) who attends the apnthccat‘g‘a
shop in the Hospital. I told him there was a glass jar, in which
Webster wished to get a pint of blood. He replied, = I think we shall
bleed some one to-morrow morning, and I will save the blood.” Fri-
day morning, I went to the apnthemr:—; s shopat the Hospital, and the
student said he had no blood, as they had bled nobody. I told Dr.
Webster, about eleven and a half o'clock, Friday, that we could get no
blood. He said he was sorry, as he wanted to use it in his lecture.
That is all I know about the blood.

I have no recollection of having any interview on that morning with
Dr. Webster, after the one mentioned. In the morning, Friday, No-
vember 23, after I made his fire, swept the room, and went to set the
broom behind the door leading from his back-room te the laboratory, I
saw the sledge-hammer behind the door. 1t was usually in the la o=
ratory, Thehandle was about two feet long, of white oak, and would
weigh six or seven pounds. I never saw it in his back-room, or any-
where, except in the laboratory, before. One side of the hammer
was about as large round as half an orange, and it was rounded on
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hoth sides. T carried it down stairs into the laboratory, and set it
up against the box in the centre of the laboratory. 1 have never
seen anything of it since, though I have hunted the building all over.

I do not remember anything particular till quarter before two o'clock,
when, after [ had eaten my dinner, I was standing in the front entry,
looking out at the front door. I thought, before the Coroner’s Inquest,
that it was about half past one ; but, reflecting upon it, 1 remembered
that that day I had examined the tickets at Dr. Holmes’ door, which
would make it quarter of an hour later. [ saw Dr. Parkman approach-
ing the College, in North Grove-street, abreast of Fruit-street, walking
very fast. I entered Dr. Ware's lecture-room, and lay on the settee
nearest the register, and nearest the door, waiting for Dr. Holmes’ lec-
ture to finish, to help fasten his doors and clear away his things.

I did not hear any one enter Dr. Webster's lecture-room. The
front door was open till after the lectures, that day. Dr. Ware’s lec-
ture-room door was closed. That and Dr. Webster’s lecture-room door
close by a spring.

After putting away Dr. Holmes' things, I came down and locked
the front door. About quartér past two o’clock, Dr. Holmes went out.
He is generally the last one to go out of the building. Then I went
down stairs to prepare the furnaces for the next day. I always sift
the coal out in the afternoon. 1 cleared out the furnaces that
warmed the anatomical and medical lecture-rooms. They are both in
the cellar, close under the front steps. 1 then went up and cleared
out the stove in the back private room of the medieal lecture-room.
There are three lecture-rooms. The anatomical, up stairs; the chem-
ical and medical, below — the former in the west, and the latter in the
east wing.

I then went down to Dr. Webster’s laboratory door, to clear up his
room — the door that leads to my cellar — the door under the stairs
leading from Dr. Webster's small room to his laboratory — under the
laboratory stairs. 1 found that door bolted onthe inside. I then went
round to the next door, that led to his laboratory, and found that fast.
Put in my key; found I could not get in, and that it was bolted. I
heard him in there walking. [ heard the Cochituate water running,
Went up stairs, and tried the door that led into the lecture-room from
the front entry.

I found the door locked ; it was bolted on the inside. I went into
my kitchen; stopped a while, and laid down. About four o'clock, a
young lady called ; came into my bedroom, and told me there was a
gentleman at the door who wanted to see me. I went to the door, and
found Mr. Pettee, of the New England Bank, collector of tickets. He
wanted me to fill out a course of tickets for a student who was about
to leave town; the student was Mr. Ridgeway. He gave me the
tickets, all but Dr. Webster's; I took the money for Webster’s tick-
ets. After Pettee went away, in about fifteen minutes, I went to Dr.
Webster's door and found it fastened. Did not try again that day, till
late at l'lig]lt. Ii'[_',r u-'njec;t in goi]]g was to do his work up, wash his

lasses, and fix his fires. In the evening, about half past five o'clock,
%Wﬂﬁ called out of my kitchen, and heard some one coming down the
back stairs that led from the front entry. It was Dr. Webster; he had
a candlestick in his hand, and a candle burning; he never did
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use a lamp. He blew it out in my entry, and left it on the settee. He
ssed out through the shed; saw nothing more of him that night.

After Dr Webster went, I fixed myself, and went to a party. Got
home about ten o'clock, or a few minutes after. The party was at
Mr. Grant's,

The first door I went to was the laboratory door, the nearest my
room. Found it fast; then started to go to the dn%ectmg-rmnn door,
Unlocked the dissecting-room door, to put out the lights. The students
there used to dissect till nine or ten o'clock. Found the lights out;
bolted the outside door of the dissecting-room, and went to bed. I
never knew Dr. Webster’s door locked before, on the night of a lecture-
day, since I have been in the College. On Saturday, there were but
two lectures ; had but two fires to make. Made a fire in the dissecting-
room. Forget whether I went to unbolt the door of the dissecting-
raom before or after | made the fire; when [ did go, I found it un-
bolted and ajar. I thought I had fastened some student in, the night
before. Never knew any one had a key of the outside door, except
Dr. Leigh, the librarian, who has been there three years. Never
knew of any other person getting access to the building after it was
locked up at night.

I unlocked the lecture-room door — the one Dr. Webster came out
of the day before —and went in. [ went through the lecture-room,
but could not get through the private room into the lower laboratory.
The door was locked, and there was a lock on it which 1 never had
the key of. He had the lock put on it to lock up his laboratory, when
out of use, in the summer time. Went back to my room. Soon after
I went bacit, Dr. Webster came, with a bundle under his arm, through
the east shed. Met him in the entry. He told me to make him a
fire. Imade a fire in the stove, in the laboratory.  After doing it,
turned and went out. Don’t recollect of being in his laboratory or
lecture-room again that day. Saw Dr. Webster again before eleven
o'clock, in the lower entry; he came into the College, with a bundle
under his arm, done up in a newspaper. Paid him £15 in gold, for
Ridgeway’s ticket. Ridgeway had paid me $32, for a full eourse of
lectures. I gave the rest to Mr. Pettee.

I did no more work for Dr. Webster that day. Saturday is my
sweeping day. I heard him in the laboratory ; I speak of the lower
one; that’'s what I call the laboratory. Did not see him again that
day. [ heard walking in the laboratory; heard moving; could not
L'a-l‘]r what was doing. %—Ieard the water running in Dr. Webster's sink ;
it was not in the habit of running. Idid not see Dr. Webster all day
Sunday. Sunday night I was in North Grove-street, facing Fruit-
street, talking with Mr. Calhoun, one of Mr. Fuller’s foundery men,
about the mvs’u:rmus disappearance of Dr. Parkman. Had heard of
that disappearance on Saturday afternoon ; Kingsley told me. While
talking, saw Dr. Webster coming into Fruit-street, from Bridge-street.
I remarked that there was one of our Professors coming. When Dr,
Webster saw me, he came right up to me. The first words he said to
me were, * Mr. Littlefield, did you see Dr. Parkman during the latter

rt of last week ?” Told him [ did. He asked me when 1 saw him.

said last Friday, about half past one o'clock. He then inquired,
“ Where did you see him?” I said, about this spot. He asked me’
which way he was going, [said he was coming right towards the
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College. T told him I was standing in the front entry, looking out at
the front door. )

Dr. Webster had his cane in his hand, — and struck it down apon
the ground and said, * That is the very tirne when I paid him $453.60.”
I remember he put the odd cents on. Itold him I did not see Dr. Park-
man come in or go out of the College, for I wept directly inio Dr.
Ware's lecture-room, and laid down on a settee. fie said he counted
the money down to Dr. Parkman, in his lecture-room; and that Dr.
Parleman grabbed the money from the table without counting it, and
ran as fast as he could go, up two or three steps at a time. Dr. Web-
ster said Dr. Parkman told him he would po with him to Cambridge
and discharge a mortgage ; and added. “ I suppose he did, but [ have not
been over to the Register of Deeds’ office to see.” Dr. Webster said
that this was the first he had known of it; he had read it in the T'ran-
seripf.  Dr. Parkman was there said to have been engaged to meet an
unknown gentleman. He had come over to see about it, for he was
the unknown gentleman. He said he had been to see Dr. Francis
Parlkman. He then went away.

When Dr. Webster spoke to me, he used before to look me in the
face, with his head up; he did not then, but looked down, and seemed
confused and agitated. [ never saw him look so before. His face
was thoughtful ; he looked pale, I cannot say which way he went ;
think it was towards Cambridge. On Monday I could not get into his
room to make up the fire. The first 1 knew of his being in the Col-
lege, my wife told me; she told me that Dr. Samuel Parkman had
been there to see Dr. Webster. I asked her how he got in, seeing all
the doors were kept locked.

I went up the laboratory stairs, and saw Dr. Samuel Parkman and
Dr. Webster, in the back room. They were talking about old Dr.
Georze Parkman. I overheard conversation about some money ; Dr.
Webster said the old Dr. was very angry. I staid there but a min-
ute ; did not see Dr. Samuel Parkman go away. The front door-bell
rang, and I went to the door, and found there a person who I ascer-
tained was Mr. Parlman Blake. He asked me if Dr. Webster was
in. Itold him he was. He said he wanted to see him. I asked him
his name, that [ might earry it to Dr. Webster. He gave it. I had"
my key in the lecture-room, but it was bolted. I went down and
came up the other way to Dr. Webster. He hesitated somewhat, and
then said, * Let him in.” I unbolted the door; do not know how
long Mr. Blake was there.

| went again to the laboratory door, nearly at twelve o’clock, to see
whether any work was to be done. Found it locked. Don’t know
whether the door-bell rang or not. I went to the door, and found
Kingsley, and they said they could trace Dr. Parkman nowhere but
to the Medical College, and they had come to look. I told them I
would show them all the rooms that I could get into myself. Met
Dr. Holmes on the stairs: he asked if the],' wanted to haul all the
subjects out of their chests. They said no; they merely wanted to
see il he had stowed himself away in the attic. Dr. Holmes told
me to show them all around. Went to Dr. Webster’s room first; it
wase locked. We knocked two or three times, with loud raps. Dr.
- Webster did not come at lirst. Finally he came, unbolted the door,
and stuck his head out. I told him what the officers had come for;
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did not hear him say anythinz. We went in, looked throuch the
room, and went down into the laboratory. Do not recollect hearing
Dr. W. say anything. Don't remember whether he went down inte
the laboratory with us. We unholted the lower door, and went out.
I showed them all over the rest of the building, and they went away.
Recollect of nothing more that day, on the subject.

Tuesday morning, could not get iu to make the fires, further than
the lecture-room. Went about hall past nine o'clock, unlocked the
lecture-room door, and found Dr. Wehster in a sort of smoking cap.
I asked him if I should make a fire in his furnace. He said no; said
the things for his lecture that day would not stand much heat,
Tuesday evening, I told my wife I guessed Dr. Webster had got his
room open; I went up into Dr. W.'s back room ; he was reading a

per. He asked me if I knew where Mr. Foster kept, near the

oward Atheneum. [ asked him if he was a provision dealer. He
gaid he was. I said I knew him. He asked me if I had bought my
Thanksgiving turkey. I =aid no; I had thought of going out te
Thankseiving. He added, © Take that order,and get you a nice tur-
key. L am in the habit of giving away two or three every year, and
perhaps | shall want you to do some odd job for me.” I thanked him,
and told him I should be most happy to do anything for him I could.
He then gave me another order to Foster, to send him, to Cambridge,
some sweet potatoes. I went to Foster’s; he took the order, and told
me to pick out such a turkey as I liked. I ecame home, and staid
there till half past six. It was the first time he ever gave me anything.
The 1dea of his giving a cent’s worth was remarkable. I was going
out to the Suffolk Lodge of Odd Fellows, and met Dr. Webster in the
entry. He had a candle, which he blew out, and set upon the settee.
He went out with me. [ asked him if he should want any fires in
his room that week, as there were no lectures. He said, * No, Mr.
Littlefield, I shall not need any fires.” He inquired if I was going
down town. I told him I was going to the Lodge. He said, © Youn
are a Freemason, are you?” | replied, © Yes. % am a kind of one.”
We parted, and he went towards the bridge, and [ up Cambridge-street.

Wednesday morning, Prof. Webster came to the College early.
He went into the laboratory, and I heard him moving things around
there. I went to the door and tried to listen, but the catch over the
key-hole was down. When [ stood listening, | saw my wife looking
at me. [ went into the kitchen; I told my wife —

[Prisoner’s counsel objected to his saying what he told his wife.]

Aitorney General, State what you did when you saw your wife.

Witness. 1 was picking a hole through the partition when my wife
saw me; [ eracked off a small piece, and thought Dr. Webster heard
me. | went into the kitehen afterward ; then came outand laid down on
my face, and looked under the door. I thought I heard the moving
of a coal-hod on the floor from near the door. [ could see him, as
high as his knees, going toward the furnace where the bones were
found. Cannelcoal and bark were kept near the laboratory stairs, in a
bin ; hard coal was kept near the furnace. Could see no more of him.
Laid there about five minutes, Went ont with my wife about nine
o'clock; did not get back till one oclock. About three o'clock 1
passed through the dissecting-room. In passing up stairs to the Dem-
onstrator’s room, I first felt heat in the wall from Dr. Webster’s labo-

5 :
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ratory. 'The staircase brought me in contact with the wall ; I put my
hand upon it, and it was so hot I could not hold my ‘hand on 1t long.
[ knew it proceeded from a furnace, where [ had never known an
fire, and never made any fire. I went into the store-room, of which
had a key. I put my key mto the door of Dr. Webster’s laboratory ;
it was not locked, but was bolted. Found the other cellar-door of the
laboratory locked. Unlocked the door of his lecture-room, and went
in, but found the door of the back room locked. | then went down
into my cellar, and back of the building, to see if T could look in the
window and see any fire. [ climbed up the wall to the double win-
dow, having a light on each side, and got in. The first place I went
to was the furnace. I had never made any fire there; did not seem
to be much fire there. It was covered up by a soapstone cover, and
the whole top of the range was covered over with pots of minerals,
and an iron cylinder was lying on it. I did not move anything.

I then took up a broom, and went to where there were two hogs-
heads full of water. I tried one of them with the broom-handle, and
found the water was two-thirds out ; the other had a gasometer in it.
I did not try the water with the broom, but it was low ; a spout was
lying in one hogshead, leading to the sink. They were full on Fri-
day ; there were also two barrels of pitch pine kindlings, which, on
Friday, had been one full and the other two thirds full. The kin-
dlings were two thirds gone; I could not think whathe had done with
them. On the stairs I saw spots such as I had not seen before ; they
were much spattered. I reached down and tasted of one of the spat-
ters ; it tasted like acid.

The water was running ; I noticed the running of the water that
weel, because 1 had set it running before, and he had stopped it. He
said the noise disturbed him, and it spattered the floor. })did not see
Dr. Webster that day. There were grape-cuttings, an empty box, and
a bag of tan, left by the laboratory door on Monday. They stood
there till Friday. [ do not remember when the tan went in, but he
took the grape-vines and the box in himself, on Friday; I tried to carry
them into his room several times during the week, but could not get
mnto his room.

[Witness explained a mistake of dates made by him before the Cor-
oner's Jury.] .

Thursday I did not see Dr. Webster all day. That day was Thanks-
iving ; 1 went down to Hopkins' wharf, and got a piece of lime for
r. Webster, which he had asked for on Tuesday, when he gave me

the turkey. It was as big as my head ; it was nothing unusual for me
to get lime for him.

Court adjourned until half past three o’clock,

AFTERNOON.

Examination of Mr. Eparam LirTLEFIELD, resumed. — Tuesday
morning, November 26th, after I left Dr. Webster’s room and went
out, saw Messrs. Clapp, l{ingslﬁg. Fuller and Rice, come in by the
shed. Mr. Clapp said he wished to speak with me. Said he,
« We are going to search every foot of land in this neighborhood,
and wish to search the College, so that people around may not
object to having their houses searched.” I told him I would show
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him all parts of the College to which I had access. We then saw Dr.
Jacob Bigelow in the entry. We all went into my parlor and talked.
Dr. Bigelow said, « Show them everything.” - Some one said, « Let
us begin with Dr. Webster’s rooms.”

I went to the door leading to my cellar, and it was fast. I told them
we must try the otherway. Went up to the lecture-room door, and
found it locked ; rapped as loud as 1 could with my knuckles. Dr.
Webster camie and unbolted the door. I told him what the officers
were there for. We all passed in, and down into his lower room. 1
think Mr. Clapp went toward the small private room.  Dr. Webster said
that was the room where he kept his valnable and dangerous things.
I hardly ever went into that room. Mz, Clapp did not search that room.
We all went down the laboratory stairs. Mr. Clapp looked into a pane
of glass in the privy door, and asked, “ What place is this?™ Dr.
Webster was then within three feet of him. 1 told him # That is Dr.
Webster's privy; no one has access to it but himself.” Dr. Webster
seemed to me to withdraw their attention to another part of the room,
and unbolted another door, that led to the store-room. We all went
out.,

Some one wanted to search the vault where the remains of subjects
are thrown. I told them there was nothing there but what [ had
thrown in myself ; no one else had access to it ; it wasalways locked,
and I kept the key of it. The vault is a room sunk below the Col-
lege floor, twelve feet square; the entrance to it two feet square, and
secured by strong locks. We unlocked the access to the vault, and
lowered a lantern into it. All seemed satisfied that there was nothing
there which did not belong there.

We searched over the whole building; then some one asked if
there was any way of getting under the building. I told of the trap-
door ; we got lights, and went down. Fuller and [ erawled across to
the back side of the building ; there was nothing there but dirt, put
there when the building was made. [ pointed Fuller to the wall di-
viding off’ what was under Dr. Webster’s laboratory. [ told him that
was the only place which had not been searched, and there was no ac-
cess to it, except by breaking through the floor, or digging through the
wall. They then searched my room.

In the afternoon of the same day, about four o’clock, I was in the
front cellar, under the front steps. I heard Dr. Webster open the
door and come in. About two minutes after, being in the entry, I
heard him come down the laboratory stairs, and unbolt the door
leading into my entry. When I heard him unbolt his door, [ went
into my kitchen, As soon as I went in, I heard his bell ring.

I was in the cellar in the forenoon, Thursday. My wife wanted
me to remove the grape-vines, which were getting scattered abount ; I
attempted to get them into Dr. Webster’s room, but eould not open the
door. Went to work on the wall about three o'clock, to get under Dr.
Webster’s laboratory near the privy, to satisfy myself and the public.
I could not go outside of the building without everybody being at me,
saying that Dr. Parkman would be found in the Medical College, if
he was ever found anywhere. That was the only place not searched.
I went down the front scuttle ; all the tools I had used were a hatchet
and mortising chisel. I could not do much with such tools ; all I did
was to get out two layers of brick.
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I was gone that night till about four o’clock, at a ball of the Shals-
peare Division of the Sons of Temperance, in Cochitate Hall ; there
were twenty dances, and I danced in eighteen of them. My wife called
me about nine o'clock, and wanted me to go to work on the wall ; did
not get up till she called me to breakfast. After breakfast, Dr. Web-
ster came into my kitchen, and asked me if I had heard anything from
Dr. Parkman. He said he had just come from Dr. Henchman'’s apoth-
ecary shop, where he heard of a woman having put a Jarge bundle into
a cab, which drove off. They took the number of the cab, and after-
ward found it all covered with blood. Isaid there were so many flying
reports now about Dr. Parkman, that one did not know what to believe.
He went up stairs; there were men there carrying up busts to place
in the anatomical lecture-room. Dr. Henry J. Bigelow was there, 1
asked him if he knew there were reports and suspicions against Dr.
Webster ; he said he knew there were. [ informed him what I was
doing on the wall; he told me to oo ahead.

In a few minutes, I went into the Demonstrator’s room, and there I
saw Dr. J. B, 8. Jackson alone. [ told him what I was doing on the
wall. He replied, * Mr. Littlefield, I feel dreadfully about this.” [Ob-
jected to by the prisoner’s counsel.] He added, * Do you go through
that wall before you sleep.”

Attoraey General. Did he give any directions as to what you should
do, if you found anything there?

Witness. He asked me what I would do, if [ found anything. I
told him [ should go to Dr. Holmes. He -=1|d “No; go to old Dr.
Biercluw s, in Summer-street ; then call at my huu*e* and if I am not
in, write your name on my s‘t.ue there ; and when I return I shall un-
derstand 1£.”

About three o'clock, I went to Mr. Fuller’s,and borrowed a crowbar.
He asked me what I wanted to do with it: I said, to knock a hole
throuzh a brick wall, for Cochituate water-pipe. He said, © 1 guess
you do.”  What I said was in joke, and I suppose he so understood
me. I went home and locked all the doors, leaving the keys inside.
I told my wife not to let any one in ; but, if Dr. Webster came, to be
sure and let him in— but not till she had aiven four raps on the floor.
I blistered m}f hands in working through the wall; came up and
gloves on, went and borrowed a cold chisel and hammer of
Fuller ; he seemed very ready to lend them.

[ got out three courses and a half of brick, the thickness of the wall.
I heard soen some one moving over the ﬂUUr, and four raps on it with
a hammer, I came up stairs, and met my wife, who said she was
mistaken. She saw two gentlemen coming, and thought one of
them was Dr. Webster. They were Mr. Kingsley and officer Stark-
weather; I came out and saw them. Mr. Kingsley wished to get
into Dr. Webster's privy. [ told him that it was locked up, and I
could not get in.  Trenholm, with whom I was well acquainted, came
up. [ told him that I should get through the wall in twenty minutes,
and would then let them know.

While I stood there talking, Dr. Webster came in; he went into his
room. Butwhile I was conversing with Mr. Trenhulm Dr. Webster
came to us and said that an Irishman had offered a twenty dollar bill
at the toll-house, to pay his toll of ene cent. The toll-keeper thought
it strange, and lkept the biil, as I understood Dr. Webster. He said
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that the Marshal had been to him about it, and asked him if he paid
such a bill to Dr. Parkman ; but that he replied, he could not swear
to it. After he went away, I went back into the building, and Tren-
holm was' to call in twenty minutes or half an hour ; my wife was to
keep strict watch at the door.

After getting down, [ used the crowhar, and not the chisel, and
goon knocked the remaining bricks through ; it might be five minutes,
I had difficulty to get a light through the hole, on account of the draft
of air; when I got the light in, there was no trouble from the draft.
On holding the%ight._ I saw the pelvis of a man, and two pieces of
legs. [eame up, and told my wife. She spoke to me first, and asked
n:e what was the matter. [Objected to by prisoner’s counsel.]

Mr. Clifford contended that he had a right, as the witness had
been charged with a conspiracy, to prove his condition, and he now
asked him what that condition was.

Mr. Merrick said the prisoner’s counsel did not object to that ques-
tion, but to his testifying what his wife said.

Witness. I wasviolently agitated. I locked the trap-door, and went
to see Dr. Jacob Bigelow. He was not at home ; but Mrs. Bigelow
asked me what was the matter. I then went down to Henry J. Big-
elow’s, in Chauncey-place. He told me to go along with him to Mr.
Shaw's, in Summer-street — Robert G. Shaw, Jr's. house We went
down into his study. Mr, Shaw sent for the Marshal, and he came.
The Marshal told me to oo back to the College, and he would soon be
there. I went to Dr. J. B. 8. Jackson’s, in Bedford-place, wrote my
name on the slate, and got back to the College before the rest. Mr.
Trenholm was there; he had been down and made some discoveries,
The hole I dug in the wall was about three feet from the ground, eigh-
teen inches one way, and a foot the other.

The ground under the privy was lower from the floor than the
F’rnund in the cellar where I dug; the ground under the privy shelved
rem the wall. The remains were not perpendicularly under the privy-
hole, but thrown out from it forward a little, There is no aperture
where the parts were found, by which anything but tide-water can come
in. The wall had been pointed with cement the year before, The
tide came in underneath through the broken stone placed around to
keep the wall from spreading. The receptacle for offal of the dissect-
ing-room was meant to be tight, but lets the tide in; it would not let
anything else in or out; the tide soaks through the brick.

Attorney General. You said Mr. Trenholm had been down and
made discoveries. How could that be, when you locked the door and
put the key in your pocket?

Witness, My wife had a key.

Attorney General. Were you in the laboratory when the Marshal
thought he heard Dr. Webster above, and went up with his revolver ?

Witness, Yes.

Attorney General. What was the noise ?

Witness, 1t was my wife and children running. I was there when
they brought Dr. Webster ; went to the door, and saw a carriage and
several gentlemen. Officer Spear came to me and said, * We have
Eot Dr. Webster here, and he is very faint; we want some water for

im, and to get him into the College as soon as we can.” He was
altogether supported by the officers ; did not seemn to have the use of
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his legs at all. He looked pale, and I thought he trembled; he com-
plained that they had taken him away from his family, without giv-
ing him a chanece to bid them good-night.

[ unlocked the lecture-room door, and we found the back room
locked. They asked me to unlock it. I said they must ask Dr. Web-
ster for the key, for he had it himself. He said that he had been hur-
ried away from home, so that he had not taken his keys with him. I
went ronnd through the cellar-door, which Dr. Webster had that day,
for the first time, left unbolted, and broke down the door between the
back room and lecture-room. They then wanted to get into the small
back private room, which was locked. Itold them they must ask Dr.
Webster for that, for [ never had access toit. Dr. Webster made the
same excuse for that key.

There were inquiries made for the key of the privy. I told them
they must also ask Dr. Webster for that; I had never seen it. Dr.
Webster said it was hanging on a nail. We went to the place, and
took a key from a nail, but it did not fitt He asked us to show it to
him, and then said we had got-the wrong key ; it was the key of his
wardrobe. We could not find the right key; he said hie did not know
where it was. Then inquired for a hatchet, which usually hung on a
nail, by a ring, near Dr. W.’s stove ; it was not there. Dr. Webster
was asked for it, and said it was in the sink. It was found there,
and we broke open the door of the back room, We there found, in a
drawer,a hatchet that was wrapped up ; and when they were undoing it,
D:. Webster said it was a new one, that had not been taken out of the
Eaper. We went down and broke open the privy. I do not remem- -

er whether Dr. Webster was down there or not, when we broke it
open. He was much agitated, and asked for water, but could not
drink. His hand trembled,and he snapped at the tumbler like a dog,
or a mad person. 1 :

I went to the furnace, and picked out a bone from it. 1 was told to
let all remain as they were. We went down into the cellar, and
passed up the remains on a board io the trap-door, and laid them on
the floor. Dr. Webster was brought down near them. Mr. 8. D. Par-
ker asked Dr. Gay if these were human remains. He said they were.
Dr. Webster was much agitated, and perspired. After looking some
time, the parties retired, and officers were left to guard the premises.
Dr. Webster's working-dress was a pair of thin overalls and an old
coat; have not seen the overalls since the arrest. [ think he had on
the overalls Monday or Tuesday before his arrest; have always seen
him have them on when he was at work.

All the keys I know of the Doctor’s having were of his own reoms
and the dissecting-room. Ilknow a bunch of skeleton keys were found
in his drawer; mr::,f' were found in his small back room. Know of
towels being found in the privy-vault; they were a diaper-roller and
two crash towels; the crash towels were marked W. The roller
towel I knew; he had had it several years. On Friday, when I
washed some glasses for him, I wiped my hands on that towel ; Idon’t
recollect that it was marked; I had that to wash for him a good many
times. [A bunch of skeleton keys were produced, found in Dr. Web-
ster’s private drawers. The prisoner’s counsel objected, and asked
what they had to do with the case,

The Attorney General claimed that they were accounted for by the
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prisoner after his arrest, and were tied to a piece of twine similar to
that on the leg of the body found.

The prizoner’s connsel still objected, and the keys were withdrawn.]

My, Littlefield. I was not present when the towels were found by an
officer. 1 have sometimes been in the dissecting-room, and got for Dr.
Webster a small piece of muscle, as big as my finger, to experiment
upon. Other than that, [ have never known him have any occasion
for anything from the d]S‘:—Ll}Hi'I'T-I‘ﬂ!.'l"I I have heard noises from him
from explosions of pistols hy ﬂ‘:.-'nlvﬂmL batteries, and bladders filled with
oas; by filling and setting fire to them, they would go off as loud as
cannon. [ heipef.l to h&ng them up, fix them ; ; used to stay to hear him
explode them.

[The towels, as they were found in the vault, were shown the wit-
ness, and he identified them,

The cross-examination was about to be commenced when the Court

adjourned.]

FIFTH DAY. — Saturday, March 23.

Cross-examination by My. Sohier. What hour, on the evening of
Monday, November 19th, was it that Dr. Parkman came to the College?

Mr. Littlefield. It was not dark out of doors, but Prof. Webster
had lights. I was in the upper laboratory, and saw Dr. Parkman
come in. He went out the same way that he came in. When he
came in, [ was standing by the stove. Dr. Webster was at his table.
When he first spoke, Dr. Webster seemed surprised. Dr. Parkman
gaid, * Are youready for me now?"” or *“to-night?” Professor Web-
ster said, “ No, [ ain’t, Doctor.” Dr. Parkman accused him either
of selling something that was mortgaged, or of mortgaging something
that was sold. He mentioned somebody’s name ; Ibelieve Mr. Shaw’s,
but can’t be sure. Dr. P.J.i:l{man as he went out, said, * Something
must be done to-morrow.” = He staid, perhaps, half an hour.

Myr. Sokier. You say on rl'ldﬂ,}? evening, November 23d, you
tool the broom. Where did you take it from ?

My. Littlefield. Idon’t know ; there was no particular place for it.
Put it back behind the door. Saw the sledge. It was one that a
workman left. It was a sledge, I supposed, for breaking up stone.
It was left by a mason, who came to tear down a flue. Saw the sledge
after the workmen were there, but never saw it before. Did not know
that it was sent from Camhrltlge The two faces of the sledge were
rounded. Did not say that one was flat, and the other rounded.
Never used the sledge. Searched for the sledge all over the building,
and under the hmldmn‘ after Dr. Webster's arrest. There was a
smaller sledze there, nmghmg two or three pounds. Thatis there now.

i dine at one ucluch daring Dr. Holines’ lecture, I said before,
I dine just at one, and he begins his lecture at one. I ring his bell
first. Was detained, on T‘Lul.ur. November 23d, by examining Dr.
Holmes' tickets.  Suppose it took me fifteen minutes. ~ Tock the tickets
in my hand. Stood there till the class went in. They made a consid-
erable rush ; recollect I got crowded out of the door two or three times.
Several students usually remain in the chemical lecture-room for
some time after the hour, and I waited for them.

On the same Friday noon, when I lay down on the settee, the
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door shut after me in Dr. Ware’s room. The door shuts itself,
and shuts hard. Remained there till three or four minutes of two.
Did not o to sleep; did not lay there long enough to get asleep.
Reclined, with my head on the arm.

On Friday afternoon, thought I heard some one walking in the
laboratory. The sound might possibly have come from the dissecting-
room. Stood near the door, and tried to get it open. Can’t say
what [ was listening for. Put my ear up to the door, and heard the
wa'ter run.  Have recollected it ever since, Heard footsteps; went
back up stairs, and tried that door. When Dr. Webster came down,
he passed within a foot of me. Did not speak to me, nor [ to him.
Left home that night about six o’clock. Was not ready to go to the
party when I saw the doctor. Can’t tell precisely what time it was.
Tried the doors after Dr. Webster passed, and before [ went to the

arty.

T)ltiﬁd them, in order to get in. Ido his work, wash the glasses, sweep
up, and prepare for fires; it takes sometimes half an hour, and some-
times an hour ; sometimes it is dirty work. Recollect examining the
doors after | came home ; shut the dissecting-room door, and it locked
itself. The lights were out before I tried the doors of Dr. Websters
apartments and found them bolted. Tried all the doors but that of
the lecture-room up stairs; that I did not try. Out of this room there
are two doors. One was never used ; it has two locks ; Dr. Webster
keeps the key; I have no key to fit the upper lock. There is no slide
in the door. There is a slide over the sink, that is fastened with a
elasp inside, and buttoned the other side. This is not usually open.
On Thursday night previous to the disappearance of Dr. Parkman, was
at a ball, and got home about one o'clock. Was in Prof. Webster’s
rooms on Thursday afternoon, to do his work. Do not know that I was
there in the night. [ got home about one o’clock. I do not know
that I was ever in Dr. \%’ehster’s rooms after he left.

[ Mr. Sohier asked if he had not been in his rooms for playing cards,
or gambling, in the night; and he declined to answer the question, but
added that he might reply to it, if the time was specified.

He was also asked if he remembered the time when Prof. Webster
found out this fact, and what he did. He said he did not know, but
he never =aid anything to him about it. ]

The water was kept running all the week. I drew off the pipes
after he had gone, to prevent freezing. We used to get water there,
to keep them free. [ 'put the glass pipe under the sink, to draw the
water off. I put it there after Dr. Webster was arrested. T put one
there before, but it was not of glass ; but he forbade me doing it. 1
changed my testimony before the Inquest about the turkey. 1 stated
that it was on Wednesday that he gave me the order —about four
o'clock.

Mr. Sokier. Did you testify before the Coroner’s Inquest that the
order for the turkey was given on Wednesday, before or after the
examination of the rooms ?

My, Littleficld. The order for the turkey was given on Tuesday,
and I examined on Wednesday.

My. Sohier. But did you testify that it was before or after you
examined his rooms ?

Chief Justice Shaw. You are assuming something that he has not
testified,
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M. Sohier. May it please your Honor, he testified before the
Coroner’s Inquest.

Chief Justice Skaw. He has not testified that he made the exam-
ination on the same day, on Tuesday, that the turkey was ordered.

Myr. Sokier. The Court somewhat miaunderstand); my question.

Chief Justice Shaw. You inguire whether it was before or after.

Mpr. Sohier. He has now stated that he made the examination of
Webster’s rooms on Wednesday afternoon. He has also now stated
that Dr. Webster, onTuesday, gave him an order for the turkey. He
now states that he stated before the Coroner's luquest, that it was
given on Wednesday. And I ask whether it was before or after he
made the examination of the rooms, that he stated, before the Coroner’s
Jury, that the order for the turkey was given.

Chief Justice Shaw (to the witness.) You now think this turkey
was given on Tuesday?

Myr. Littlefield. 1t was given on Tuesday.

Chief Justice Shaw. Had yon then been into the rooms to make
the examination?

Mr. Littlefield. 1wentin on Wednesday.

M. Clifford. He corrected it before the Grand Jury, when he said
that the turkey was given on Tuesday.

Chief Justice Shaw. The mistake was, then, in considering that the
order was given on Wednesday.

Myr. Littlefield. 1If I stated at all before the Coroner's Jury, I said
that the turkey was given after I made the examination of his rooms ;
I must have said so. Iwrote down my testimony before the Corg-
ner’s Jury, after [ had been before the inquest; wrote down the heads
of it. [ have it written down that Dr. Webster eame to his rooms on
Wednesday, after I made the examination, went down the back stairs
and rung for me. I don’t know how I came to get Wednesday and
Tuesday confused in my mind. :

I made no other mistake, that I know of, in regard to the transac-
tions of Wednesday. First began to arrange in my mind all these
circumstances after Dr. Webster's arrest, and all along the week
before. Began it on Sunday night, November 25th. I then told my
wile I was going to watch every step he took. I made this remark
as soon as I had the interview with Dr. Webster; and told my wife
my suspicions, and that I meant to watch. I did not know that a
reward was out until Monday. I assisted, on Sunday, in searchin
the building. Never said that I meant to get this reward, and I{Iﬂjg
you to prove it. Never said anything to Dr. Webster about it. %
did not make memorandums till after I was before the Coroner’s
Inguest. Said my suspicions were excited Sunday night. Stated in
my direct testimony all the cireumstances that excited them.

When I saw Dr. Webster, he was right abreast a house called
“Suke Bryant’s” I was not standing on the sidewall. When he
went to the College, he walked on the platform. If he had come to
me, he must have crossed the street, to where there ought to be a side-
wall, but there is none. This was about sundown. [ said I exam-
ined his face very closely, and it looked pale. He did not look at
me when he struck his cane on the ground. I then suspected him
of having something to do with the disappearance of Dr. Parkman
Dr. Webster said, © That was the very time I paid him $453 and
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sixty odd cents.” He said he counted the money down on his table,
and Dr. Parkman snatched it up, without counting it, and said he
would go over to Cambridge and get the mortgage cancelled. Dr.
Webster said something about meeting some gentleman about the
matter, but cannot recollect what.

The next day my wife told me that Dr. Samuel Parkman had
just gone up. I went up, becanse my wife said he wanted to see me.

then had suspicions of Dr. Webster. 1 do not know that I then
had anything in my mind partieularly about what took place between
me and Dr.gwrchster on Saturday evening. Did not stop there half
a minute. Do not know that I thought over everything that I had
seen of Dr. Webster at that moment, but was thinking of it about all
the time. [ had suspicions of Dr. Webster on Monday morning. 1
sugpected that he had dealt foully with Dr. Parkman. Went down
stairs, to go about my business. Could net go through the lecture-
room without jamming by Dr. Webster and Dr. Parkman pretty hard.
It was but a short time before Mr. Blake came; it was not hall an
hour. I went round, and went up stairs, and found Dr. Webster in
his lecture-room. I opened the door of the lecture-room.

Mr. Kingsley came about twelve o'clock, I think. At that time he
was let in at the lecture-room door. Mr. Starkweather was with
Mr. Kingsley—nobody else. I went in with them. The Doctor
came am% opened the door, and put his head out. We all went in
together to the laboratory, but I cannot tell whether Professor Web-
ster went behind or before. I went round with the officers; was
watching Dr. Webster some — seeing how he appeared at that time.
[ believe I went into the back room, and they all followed me. 1
don’t know whether Dr. Webster went down or not. 1 let them out
at the lower door, and went with them. Can’t say whether I saw
Dr. Webster this day again or not; I heard him in his room, but
can’t say at what hour.

Early on Monday evening, November 26th, 1 went down to Mr.
Grant’s dancing academy. Tried Dr. Webster’s rooms before I went
down; tried them all the afternoon. Wanted to get in and do up
his worl; that was all my object.

I did not see Dr. Webster go in on Tuesday, November 27th. 1
unlocked his door at half past nine or ten, and saw him at work. I

ssed down to his table, and he went towards his back room.
1 looked in, and saw he had a fire ; asked him if he wanted a fire in
his furnace, and he said no, his lecture for that day had some things
about it that would not bear much heat.

The officers came to make examimation about eleven o'clock. Dr.
Webster let them into the lecture-room himself. I went down stairs
with them, and the Doctor went down also. I don’t recollect hearing
the Doctor say a word in the upper room, except the remark about
his little room. After he went down, there was something said about
a whitewashed pane of glass. I thought, at the time, that Dr. Web-
ster tried to lead them away from the privy. When Mr. Clapp asked
what place was that, Dr. Webster started right off’ to the door at the
front part of the laboratory, leading into the store-room, and said,
“ Here’s another room.” This was after I said that Dr. Webster
had the key of the privy. Then I went out into the store-room,
Thought this was suspicious. Went out into the entry. The key of
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the dissecting-vanlt was set up on end near the corner of the vault.
That is a dark corner. I saw no more of Dr. Webster till afternoon.

When I saw Dr. Webster go 1|"1'.1"11, I went into the entry, to see if I
could get into the laboratory. as not standing in the place where
I was when he came; it was not to watch. [ went back, to see if I
could hear him come down the laboratory stairs, The bell then
rung; I cannot. say whether it was the upper or the lower bell that
rang. 1 went directly up. Found him in the upper laboratory ;
thinlk it was about four o’clock. I went down to Foster’s after that,
and judge from the time that it took me. Did not see Dr. Webster
after I came back.

Never went in at the window before Wednesday afternoon, Novem-
ber 28th. There isa window between my room and the Doctor’s store-
room ; itis nailed in strong. The bolt on the Doctor’s door is on the
outer door. Imight have said, before the Coroner’s Inquest, that I did
‘not see the Doctor until about six o'clock ; but this was owing to the
mistake [ made about the turkey. After I came back with the turkey,
on Tuesday, it might have been a quarter before six before I saw Dr.
Webster. [ came home, and stopped in the kitchen and took my tea,
and fixed myself, as [ was going out.

The interrogations about Freemasonry were after I got the turkey.
Can't say that [ tried the doors after I came from Mr. Foster's till
I came back from the Lodge. It was pretty late before I came
home. The Lodge did not close 1ill after eight. I stopped over an
hour, after that, in Bowdoin-square. Do not know that I tried the
doors again that night. Had not washed the glasses after Iriday.
Emptied out the water and washed them, after his arrest. Don’t
recollect that I said, before the Coroner’s Inquest, that 1 heard some
one in the laboratory near one o'clock. Don’t recollect that I did
hear anybody there then. I said, before I went to peep under the
door, [ went to listen. That was before I went out at nine o’clock.
The Doctor told me, on Tuesday, that he should not want any fire. I
knew that he always wanted very hot fires. It was a cold morning,
and I thought it very strange that he should be in his room without
a fire. Did not state, as I recollect, before the Inquest, that I heard
any one in on Wednesday, at four o’clock, before I went in.  Was not
long watching. Heard him making a noise, and heard him step.
This was before [ saw the coal-hod.

[ can’t tell which way he was moving the coal-hod on the floor. [
testified, and I tell you now again, that I heard the coal-hod moving
on the floor; I afterwards saw him carrying the coal-hod. I could
not tell what was going on, I thought it very strange when I found
the heat on the wall. My reason for getting in was, that I thought the
building was on fire. [ said there did not appear to be much fire there.

I felt the heat by the side of my face. I put my hand up perhaps
half a foot higher than my head, and felt on the wall. Should think
the furnace was three feet above the floor. The flue runs up, and that
wus the place where the heat came from. Dr. W had told me never
to take anything except what he left on a particular table, where he
left his things for me to clean. That was my reason for not removing
anything. There were some erncibles, but none full. The soapstone
cover was covered with crucibles and minerals. The minerals were
all out of the papers. The furnace was pretty hot. I cannot say
whether there was fire, but the bricks were hot.
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The hogsheads were fixed to make gas in, but had net been used.
I took a broom near the door; I did not know but Dr. Parkman might
be poked into the hogshead. 1 did not expeet to find anything in the
furnace. Can’t say what kind of a lock was on the privy. I have
sixteen keys. I did not try to get into the privy. Pmbnh;f , if I had
a key that would fit it, I sgroulri'liave unlocked it. I should not think
it was a very common lock or key; did not try to open it; made
no attempt to find any key that would fit it; did not stay there over
ten or fifteen minutes. That night I went down to a cotillon party.
Made no attempt to get a key for the privy.

I went up stairs into the upper laboratory. Thought the spots on
the floor were suspicious. Noticed the spatters on the wall and paint.
Can’t say what color they were. Noticed the spots on the stairs more
than anything else. Thought it was blood, and something had been
put on it to conceal it. Saw the spots on the upper laboratory floor
that I thought were suspicious. Did not try the little private room ;
never had any access to that room. Could not get into the lecture-
room without breaking the door. Told my wife of the discovery of
the remains immediately ; told Dr. Jackson and Dr. Bigelow of 1t on
Friday, November 30th. Tried the doors on Thursday, to see if I
could not get in. Did not see him on Thursday. Can’t tell you
exactly where I was Thursday forenoon. Don’t recollect that I tried
to get in on Thursday. Had communicated my suspicions to Dr.
Hanniford on Tuesday evening. The first man, after Dr. H., to whom
I communicated them, was to a person that works for me, by the
name of Thompson. This was on Wednesday night.

I did not tell my suspicions to anybody else, except my wife, till
Thursday morning, when I spoke of them to Mrs. Harley, who went
and got the tools for me. ‘That was when [ first went to dig through
the wall. I told Drs. Jackson and Bigelow of them on Friday, No-
vember 30th.

Was at the party Wednesday night, November 28th, till ten, or half
past ten. I first mentioned to Mr. Fuller that we could not get under
the privy any way but by making a hole through the wall,

[In answer to a question why he did not go down through the floor
the same as he did when he covered up the dissecting vault, witness
said he did not wish to take up the floor of the passage-way to the
dissecting-room, where the students were continually passing.]

There was not a brick on the floor but was laid in mortar. I saw
the bricks when they were laid. They were laid in mortar, the same
as in a chimney. The mortar was laid in the under floor, and the
bricks bedded in it. Sand was spread on the floor afterwards, to fill
the cracks between the bricks. -

The remains, when I first saw them, might have been two or three
feet from a direct line with the hole in the privy. I did not go in, but
only put my head in, till I went for Dr. Bigelow. Have seen the
silver-sheathed knife; saw it about the premises frequently. Saw
it in the back private room. Dr. Webster kept his tools there. 1
never saw the jack-knife from the time Prof. Webster showed it to
me till after it was taken from the tea-chest. Did not hear Prof.
Webster say he got it to trim grape-vines. Never had occasion to help
him cut corks. Did not get any blood for Dr. Webster during this
course of lectures. I don’t recollect whether he ever had blood at any
former lecture. Never had any particular knocks or signals to get
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into his room. If any one wanted to see him, I would knock on the
door, if I found it bolted. I sometimes found it bolted.

The reason I did not knock was, that if’ he chose to keep his doors
locked from me, I did not choose to knock. I do not know that I
ever tried to get in when his doors were fastened.

" wrote down the heads of my testimony after [ had been before
the Cowsner. I tried to be correct before the Coroner. I saw Mr.
Merrill, and corrected my testimony about the turkey; but I don’t
recollect that'I made any other. [ may have made some minutes
before the Coroner’s Inquest, but don’t know. I kept them to look
at. Never made a new set. Never wrote them off but once. I
have read my testimony before the Corener’s Inquest a number of
times, but can’t say how many times. I kept it in a drawer. I
never had a copy of my statement before the Coroner. I had my
own minutes. I never read a word in that book that contains the
Coroner’s Inquest. What I read was my own minutes. [ never
heard it read. I did not want to read it. [ eould recollect it myself.

[Here Mr. Sohier read his statement before the Coroner, in which
it was said that he felt the heat on the wall at four o’clock on Wednes-
day, and keard some one in the laboratory ; and asked him if he had
said that. He said he did not know that he had. Mr. Clifford said
there was false punctuation in that document, which altered the
sense. Chief Justice Shaw said the proceeding was irregular.

Judge Merrick proceeded with the cross-examination. He showed
Mr. Littlefield an advertisement of a reward, and asked him if he
saw it at the time it came out.]

My. Littlefield. 1saw one like it on Monday, and carried it to the
Demonstrator's room, and showed it to Dr. Holmes, Saw them stick-
ing up all about the College, more than any other place. Cannot tell
how early I saw the second one.

I went over to East Cambridge with those who were in search of
Dr. Parkman. [ asked the toli-man if he was the one that saw Dr.
Parloman go over on Friday. Do not recollect saying, at that place,
that I saw Dr. Parkman go in or come out of the College. Did not
say, at that time, that [ saw Dr. Webster pay Dr. Parkman any mﬂnei.
I did not say that [ knew Dr. Webster did pay money to Dr. Par
man. [ do not lknow that [ saw a person by the name of Greene at
that time.

By M. Clifford, [ never have made any claim to any reward. I
have said that I never had made any claim, and never should. I say
now that I never shall claim it. [ had the heads of my testimon
written down, and was reading it over to my wife, and she told me{
bad made a mistake about the turkey. I went right down to Mr.
Foster, and inguired, and found on his books that it was Tuesday.
1 then went to Mr. Merrill, one of the Coroner's Jury, and told him,
voluntarily correcting it.

I signed two depositions before the Coroner’s Inquest. I was before
the Coroner’s Jury nearly two days. [Mr. Clifford said the attention
of the Jury was called to some cuts or hacks in the sink on the labor-
atory floor where the hatchet was found, and asked Mr. Littlefield
when he first saw them ; and he said he first saw them on Satur-
day after Dr. Webster's arrest.] Keys of the front doors were found
in Dr. Webster's apartment after his arrest. I never knew that he had
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one hefore. They might have been there, but T never saw them
before. There i a hole in the bottom of the sink, so that, when the
water tuns into 'he sink, it will immediately rm off,

By Mpr. Sokier. The chip cut there was done by an officer. The
sink was made to let off water when Dr. Webster was making gas.-
The sink was sometimes unsed for breaking up ice. Don’t know
whether the other Professors have keys of the outside doors.

Awprrx A. Foster, sworn. — Am a provision dealer in this eity.
Remember filling an order from Professor Webster to Mr. Littlefield.
It was Tuesday, November 27th. Think it was from three to four
o‘ciock. The order was torn up. Mr. Littlefield brought an order, at
the same time, for some sweet potatoes.

[Mr. Clifford showed him a transcript of the charge of the turkey,
to which he testified.]

A week or two after this, Mr. Littlefield came in and inguired what
day he brought the order, and I told him.

Mgrs, Carorixe M. Lirrierienn, sworn. — [ am the wife of Mr.
Ephraim Littlefield, the janitor of the College. We oceupy a part
of the basement of the dullege. I knew Dr. Parkman by sight. [
think I heard of his disappearance on Saturday. [ know I heard of
it Sunday, because my husband told me. On Sunday afternoon,
after tea, Mr. Littlefield went out. He came in, and beckoned me
from the kitchen to the bed-room. He said he believed that Dr.
Parkman was murdered by Dr. Webster. [ said, © For mercy’s sake,
what makes you think so? Don’t you ever mention such a thing
again. If the Professor should hear of it, it will make trouble for

Du':’

The reason I gave him for saying so was, that if the Professor
should get hold of it, it would make trouble for him. I do not know
that I had noticed anything unusual before this, but after this I recol-
lected that the door by the laboratory stairs, which was usually left
open, had been fastened since Friday afternoon. Some time before,
Dr. Webster asked me if I would not get water from his pipes, be-
cause he wanted it used. This gave me occasion to pass through that
door. Some time about four o’clock, on Friday afternoon, I sent my
litile oirl to get some water there, and she came back and said she
could not get in. -

I told her she must be mistaken, for that door was never fastened.
I went, and found it was fastened. On Saturday, also, [ recollect the
door was fastened. [ know, when I went to get a pail of water for
brealfast, it was locked ; and I cannot tell how often afterwards I
noticed it. We could obtain the same water from the cellar; but as
Dr. Webster had requested me to get water there, I thought I would.
I don't recollect about Sunday; but on Monday morning, between
nine and ten, Dr. Samuel Parkman came to my door, and inquired if
Mr. Littlefield was at home. I told him he was somewhere in the
building. He asked if Prof. Webster was in,and which way he could
go to see him. [ told him he could go by the way of the door leading
from our cellar, if the door was not fastened. I went, and found it
unfastened, and showed him up stairs,

A short time after, [ went for some water, and found the door fast-
ened. Never tried any other door than the one that leads from our
cellar into his laboratory. I think it was that same forenoon that Mr.
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Sawin, the express man, came with a bundle of grape-vines, a box,
and a bag, and left them in our part of the cellar, where he never left
anything before, because he always took them into the rooms of Prof.
Webster. When the Professor was out, there were keys by which
he could get in. [ don’t know why he could n’t get in that morning.

On Thanksgiving day, I asked Mr. Littlefield why he did not take
those grape-vines and carry themn into the laboratory ; zu:ul he =aid he
could not get in, for the doors wgre all locked. Mr. Littlefield took
hold of the door, and shook it, and said, * You see [ cannot get in.”
The grape-vines were in my way, and [ wanted them removed.

Myr. Bemis. Have you seen your husband attempt any other mode
of gaining information about Dr. Webster, except looking through the
key-hole 2

Ir. Sohier. We object.

My. Bemis. The inquiry wag, whether she had seen Mr. Littlefield
attempt to do anything further to ascertain whether Dr. Webster was
there.

Myr. Merrick. It would corroborate your own witness, which can-
not be done, except with reference to the search for the body, or un-
less the witness be impeached. We do not object to offering evidence
to show that Mr. Littlefield did try the doors; but if you propose to
show that Mr. Littlefield was lying down, we object.

Attorney General. [ suppose that anything which goes merely and
exclusively to corroborate Mr. Littlefield is not admissible ; but that
any fact which goes to show that Dr. Webster was in his room, or
anything which she witnessed showing that there was difficulty of
access to his apartments, is proper.

My. Bemis. And we offer 1t no more to prove that Mr. Littlefield
did this, than to prove that any other independent person was looking
through the key-hole.

[The Court ruled, that anything she observed might be stated by
the witness, but not her conversation with other persons.]

My Bemis. Did you see Mr. Littlefield attempt to do anything, in
order to get into the building ? :

Myr. Merrick. We object.

Mr. Bemis. Supposing that Mrs. Littlefield had seen Mr. Little-
field go round and try to get into the room, I think it could be testi-
fied to.

Chief Justice Shaw. What was done or seen, can be testified to.

My. Bemis. Did you see Mr. Littlefield lying on the floor, near
vr. Webster’s door ?

Mrs. Littlefield. 1 did not see him lying down, [ only saw him
listening at the key-hole; and when he saw me, he came away.

Did not see him go into Prof. Webster's rooms on Wednesday.
Mr. Littlefield was in the habit of making fires in Prof. Webster’s
rooms. [ do not know that he built any fires there after the disap-

-arance of Dr. Parkman till Dr. Webster's arrest. Know that my
Eizshﬂnd goes out to build fires, but do not follow him. I saw Prof.
Webster pass through the entry Monday, Wednesday and Friday.
Wednesday morning, he came quite early, as early as eight o'clock.
I saw him pass through the entry. He did not go through into the
hhurutur}:

On Friday morning, Dr. Webster came to the College, I cannot say
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precisely what time. We were late at breakfast. Dr. Webster came
m, and said, «* Have you heard anything new about Dr. Parkman 2"
My husband replied, * No, | have not.”

Professor Webster said that at Dr. Henchman’s he had been told
there was a woman who had seen a large bundle in a cab, all bloody.
My husband went for tools on Thursday, and I saw him bring an axe. I
know Mr. Littlefield commenced digging the hole in the wall on
Thursday. I saw him go down. [ should think he was there about
an hour. About three o'clock, on Friday, he went to work again.
The doors were all locked. While he was at work, I watched for
Dr. Webster.  When he had been down there about half an hour or
three quarters, I thought Dr. Webster was coming.

I had a hammer, and was not to let him in till I had struck four
times. [ struck four times, when I thought I saw Dr. Webster, and
Mr. Littlefield came up; bat it was not Dr. Webster,

While he was out, Dr. Webster came in, and went through the
entry ; and he took the grape-vines, and went into the laboratory. I
heard him unbolt the door. Then he left the door unlocked, as he
usually had done before the disappearance of Dr. Parkman. He left
the door a little ajar. Dr. Webster went out, and Mr. Littlefield went
down and went to digging again, ;

While Dr. Webster was in, Mr. Littlefield was out talking with the
police officers. He had not been down but a short time ; it did not
seem more than ten minutes. When he came up, he seemed very
much agitated — more so than [ ever saw him before. I said—

Judge Merrick. We object to conversations.

Mpr. Clifford. 1 think, may it please your Honor, that it may be a
matter of =ome econsequence, in the course of the cross-examination,
for us to show, not only by Mrs, Littlefield, but by Dr. Bigelow, and
other persons, certain facts, which consist partly in appearances, and
partl:-; in conversations, but which are, nevertheless, faets — facts
having material bearing upon this issue. If it is attempted to be
intimated here, under any pretence, that Mr. Littlefield assumed to
have found those remains, or anything which implicates him, it is
most material to show what his appearance was when that discovery
was first made — what he did when he came out of that cellar,
in reference to this subject-matter, and when he found Dr. Bigelow.
They are matters of fact, and not matters of relation. They are a

rt of the res gesta,—-substantially so, at least. Suppose the Jury to
E: satisfied that these remains were those of Dr. Parkman, 1t appears,
from this evidence, that they must have been there either according
to the knowledge of Littlefield or Webster. Now, the conduct of
Littlefield, at first, is important; and it is proper, as much as the
langnage of a person when he comes away from a place in which it
is charged he committed homicide. Would it not be admissible for
him, in such a case, to produce testimony as to what he said at first,
if he is to be tried for the offence? I can see no difference between
such a case and one like this, where a man is the witness and not
the defendant.

Judge Merrick. We had supposed that precisely this question
would be taken up. Mr. Littlefield was called upon to testify as to
what he said. We have not objected to that, but we have objected
to other conversations. We have objected to Mrs. Littlefield’s testi-
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fying as to what she said, and the Court sustained us; and we can
see no difference between that ruling and the ruling asked for now.

Chief Justice Shaw. It appears to us that his manner and conduet,
and appearance, are competent. but net his conversation.

My. Bemis. State, then, what was his manner, when he came up
from the discovery of this body.

Mys. Littlefield.  He was much affected, and burst into tears.

He did not go right away. He locked the doors, and went away.
Mr. Trenholm, the police officer, came while he wasaway, and in-
quired for him. Cannot tell how long after Mr. Littlefield went
away. [ unlocked the door with another key. My Trenholm went
down. He was not gone more than five minutes, I should thinlk.

Mr. Trenholm remained till Mr. Littlefield and Mr. Clapp came.
No one else went down while Mr, Littlefield’ was gone; I was about
the house. Afterwards I went to my room, my little boy and girl
following me; locked myself in. I went out into the back cellar,
after a pail of water, while the officers were down, I did not see any
bed-clothes brought there by the express man.

Cross-cxamined by Mr. .%‘akéer. I recollect distinctly going in the
cellar for water. Did not say a bag of tan was left, for I did not
know what was in it. Dr. Webster was there somewhere about four
o'clock, but he staid but a very few minutes. Did not see him take
the things in, but saw them there before he went in, and they were
not there afterwards. Mr, Littlefield brought home a turkey, and I
asked him where he got it, and he said Dr. Webster gave it to him.
I corrected him as to the mistake he made in the time.

Joun MaxweLL, sworn. — Live in Fruit-street Place, beside the
Medical College. Kunow Mr. Littlefield. Knew Dr. Parkman.
Mr. Littlefield got me to take a note to Dr. Parkman, about twelve
o'clock, some day the fore part of the week that Dr. Parkman was
missing, and I carried it. 1 delivered the note to Dr. Parkman.

Joun E. Hatnaway, sworn.  Am engaged at the Massachusetts
Hospital ; have charge of the medicines. Mr. Littlefield made appli-
cation for blood on Thursday, the week before Thanksgiving. 1 did
not furnish the blood. T fixed the date simply by the fact that there
was but one chemical lecture more that weelk.

[Judge Shaw cautioned the Jury, as they had heard but one side of
the question, against making up their minds. The Court then ad-
journed till Monday morning at nine o’clock. ]

SIXTH DAY.— Monday, March 25.

Saran Buzzerw, swoersn. — [ know Mr. and Mrs. Littlefield. Iama
niece of Mrs. Littlefield. Made a visit to them the 19th of Nov. ; went
home the 27th ; belong in Connecticut. Heard of Dr. Parkman’s disap-
pearance on Friday alternoon. Heard people talking about it Friday
night, Saturday, and Sunday. Went to the door F riﬁuy, between four
and five o'clock — to the front door — to leta person in; did not then
know who it was; have since ascertained it was Mr. Pettee. It
was on the 23d of November, the day of Dr. Parkman’s disap-
pearance. I was sitting in the kitchen, and heard the door-bell ring.
As Mr. Littlefield had lain down, I went to the door. The key was

6
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not in the door, and I did not know where to find it. The door was
locked. Lwooked throngh the side-light. and saw a gentleman at the
door ; I mean the great door, at the top of the steps. Told him that
Mpr. Littlefield had lain down, and if he would go round to the other
door, ! would call him. He went down to the other door, in the shed,
ar. [ called Mr. Litilefield. AsI was passing through the entry into
the kitchen, saw Mr. Littlefield come out of the bed-rooin door. He
was then in his stocking feet. I then passed into the kitchen. Mr.
Littlefield went to the door.

Cross-exvamined by Mr. Sokier. I recollect that I was sitting, read-
ing ; and recollect that Mr, Littlefield had lain down after the lecture.
My attention was called to it by hearing Mr. Littlefield and my father
talling about it, and that called it to my mind. Ihad not heard of
the disappearance of Dr. Parkman, when [ went to the door.

Josern W. Preston, sivorie. — | am a student of medicine ; have been
in attendance upon the last course of lectures. I saw Dr. Webster
after the lecture on Friday, November 23d, I think about six o'clock.
I saw him about eight or ten feet from the carriage-shed, on the east
of the building. He entered the shed. I saw him go in. Can’tstate
whether he entered the College or not. [ am confident it was Friday
night, the 23d of November. I was passing out of the dissecting-
room entry, and was going by the shed.

Cross-examined by Mr. Sohier. The shed is on the opposite side
of the building from the dissecting-room. [ was passing from the
dissecting-room, on the plank walk in Fruit-street. Dr. Webster
passed near me. [ spoke to him, and he bowed. I went through
Fruit-street Place. I fix this to be Friday, because I was to meet iwo
-young men on Hanover-street. I had met them there on Thursday
night. They were expecting some one from the country, and I told
them I could only meet them there that night. Thought it remarka-
ble to see Dr. Webster at that time. Spoke of it as remarkable, to
Mr. Richardson, a member of the bar, not far from Thanksgiving day.
Can’t say whether before or since Dr. Webster was arrested. Fix the
hour by the fact that I usually had tea at half past six o'clock, and
was to meet these young men at seven o'clock. I had just come from
the dissecting-room. Left some students there ; can’t say how many.

By Mr. Bemis. [ never had secen Dr. Webster there before, at
that time of the day. I had frequently been from the College as late
as that, and had never seen Dr. Webster pass there as late as that,
any other time. This was my second course.

Witttam Cawmovn, sworn. — I work for Mr. Fuller, the iron-
founder. Know Mr. Littlefield. Live at the corner of Fruit and
Bridee streets. Recollect the time Dr. Parkman disappeared.
Remember seeing Dr. Webster the first Sunday after Dr. Parkman
was missing. Saw Dr. Webster in front of the College, in Fruit-
street. I was with Mr. Littlefield, talking with him. Dr. Web-
ster was about twenty paces off, coming down Fruit-street. I had no
watch ; I think it was about four o’clock. Dr. Webster came up to
M. Littlefield, and said, « Mr. Littlefield, did you see anything of Dr.
Parkman, the latter part of last weelc 27 ¢ {:EE," said he, « 1 did.”
“ Wherenbout did you see him?"” Near the ground we now stand
on.” % Which way was the Doctor coming 2" Mr. Littlefield an-
swered, * He was coming towards the College” © Where were you

when you saw him?” Mr. Littlefield replied, he was in the front
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entry of the College. He also asked Mr. Littlefield if he saw him
enter the Collere. Mr. Littlefield said he did not; he went into the
College, and =at down in one of the rooms. Dr. Webster asked what
time he saw Dr. Parkman. Mr. Littlefield answered and said, “ About
half past one o'clock.” Dr. Webster said that about that time he had
paid Dr. Parkman $453, in his lecture-room at the College, and that
the Doctor never stopped to count the money ; but, as I understood it,
either grabbed it up, or wrapped it up, and ran off; and, said he, =1
told him, ¢ Doctor, you must go over to Cambridge, and have this mort-
gage cancelled, and have it all done up in good shape;’ and that
was,” said he, “ the last [ saw of him.” I did not understand whether
he said the Doctor made any answer to it or not. I can't say how
Dr. Webster looked. I am not acquainted with Dr. Webster's man-
ners and customs,

Dr. Webster had a cane. Isaw him put it down on the ground
several times. Dr. Webster stood with his face to the College, M.
Littlefield was standing a little one side, and Dr. Webster and I were
facing the College.

Dr. Jonx B. S. Jacksoxn, sworn. — [ am one of the Professors in the
Medieal College — Professor of Pathological Anatomy. Have known
Mr. Littlefield since I have been Professor, and some time before. Re-
member Mr. Littlefield applying to me about one o'clock of the day
of Dr. Webster's arrest. l‘v}r. Littlefeld came to'm room, and said
he could not go into the street without being told that Dr. Parkman
was in that building. He did not directly apply to me for leave todo
anything., He informed me that he had already partly dug throngh
the wall. I advized him to oo on, and finish the opening through the
wall ; cannot repeat the very terms in which I said it. [ told him, if
he made any discovery, to go at once and inform Dr. Bigelow, senior,
of the fact, and to call at my rooms, in the neighborhood of Dr. Big-
elow’s house, and leave his name on my slate, if 1 was not in. Ien-
joined the strictest secrecy upon him, in case he made no discovery,
and pledged myself to the same. Iecame home, in the earlier part of
the evening, and found Mr. Littlefield’s name on my slate. [ don't
know that any parts of anatomical subjects have been used in Dr.
Webster's apartments, and probably should not have known, if they
had been.

Georce W, TrexrOLM, storn. — Lam a member of the police. My
beat, last November, was in the west part of the city, in the district
near the Medical College. [ have known Mr. Littlefield for two or
three years. Know Dr. Webster. The first time I saw him, after
Dr. Parkman’s disappearance, was on the Sunday afternoon follow-
ing, about quarter before four o’clock. Iwas conversing with Mr. Lit-
tlefield, and he came up and said to me, * What about that $20 bill 2
Told him I did net know ; had not heard anything about it. He
then said an Irishman had presented one at the toll-house. —I am
mistaken ; this was not the day. — I was talking with Mr. Blake —
James H. Blake — shortly before four o'clock, in front of the Medical
College. Saw Dr. Webster coming from towards the front steps of
the College. Dr. Webster spoke to Mr. Blake, and told him the first
that he heard of the disappearance of Dr. Parkman he read in the
papers the night before. '

Dr. Webster said he thought he would come in, and let his friends
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know that he had paid Dr. Parkman $4%3. Said he took the money
up and started; did not stay to count it; and that Dr. Parkman teld
Dr. Webster that he would go over to Cambridge and get the mort-
gage discharged. [ was searching the houses near the Medical Col-
lege. '

gsn Friday, the day of Dr. Webster’s arrest, [ was passing by the
College, about a quarter before four, I should think. and met Mr.
Littlefield, who told me he had commenced dizeing through the wall,
and that he had suspicions of Dr. Webster ; he said he had told the
officers that every place in the building had been searched but that.
He was going to dig through the wall, to satisfy himself and the
public, whether there was anything there or not. I put my hand on
the laboratory wall, but eould not feel any heat then. We went down
the front steps, and saw Dr. Webster. It was then he made the re-
- marks about the twenty dollar bill.

He then said that an Irishman came to Cambridge Bridge, and
offered a twenty dollar bill to pay one cent toll; and said the toll-
keeper thought it rather strange for an Irishman to have a twenty
dollar bill. Said the toll-keeper asked him where he got it, and he
said he got it of Dr. Webster. He said the City Marshal had the bill,
and had sent for him to see if he could identify it. Said he told him
that he could not swear to the bill. He then went off. Mr, Little-
field told me to come back in about half an hour or twenty minutes;
he thought he should get throngh the wall by that time. 1 then went
away, and was gone twenty or thirty minutes. Came back, and met
Mrs. Littlefield, and asked her if he had come up from under the
building. She said he had, and had gone down to see Dr. Henry J.
Bigelow. [ asked her if he found anything. She then asked me if
I would be afraid to go down, and see if he had found anything. I
told her I would not. She then went with me, and showed me the
direction; she showed me the trap-door. I then took a light, and
went down, and erawled up to the place where he dug through ; put
the lamp through, and put my head and shoulders through, and saw
those parts of the body that were afterwards shown to Coroner Pratt.

I then came up, and waited there till Mr. Littlefield returned with
the Marshal, Dr. Henry J. Bigelow, and Mr. Clapp. [ assisted in tak-
ing out the parts. We all went down. DMr. Littlefield and I crawled
through the hole. I held the lamp, and passed the parts through.
They were laid on a board, as they were passed through the wall.
Don’t recollect that any entrance was made to the laboratory before
Prof. Webster came down. The remains were left there.

I remained till Prof. Webster came down. I was left in charge of
the College during this interval. Prof. Webster, and the party with
him, came down about eleven o'clock. I and Mr. Littlefield forced
the inside door, so that the party could get in. Some one asked for
the key of the privy door. DMr. Littlefield made answer, that the
Doctor had the key, and that he always kept it himself. The Doctor
then pointed to a hook or nail, and said it was up there. I think it
was Mr. Starkweather took down the key, and handed it to Mr. Lit-
tlefield. Mr. Littlefield and I went down to the privy and tried the
key, and it would not unlock it.

e then went back up stairs, and told him that was not the key.
Mr. Littlefield told Prof. Webster, Don’t know that I recollect what
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he said. The door was then broken open. Prof. Webster, while up
in the back room, appeared to be confused. He appeared different in
the laboratory. He was more agitated down in the laboratory. He
called for water, and when they handed it to him, he would bite at
it. I remember the inguiry being made about the bones in the fur-
nace. This inquiry was made while the Doctor was in the room.

Mr. Adams, Mr. Rice, and myself, remained in charge of the Col-
lege all night, and all the next day and night, till Sunday. Ilelta
few minutes at a time. The place was in custody of the police all
this time. Heard no instyuctions in regard to Mr. Littlefield. The
place was securely guarded. No snch vigilance was exercised in
remard to Mr. Littlefield. Inquiry was made, in the little room, for
the hatchet, and Dr. Webster said it was in the sink. Inquiry was
made for it in the little room. I believe Mr. Littlefield succeeded in
finding the hatchet. Was present when a key was fitted to the lock
of the privy door. The lock was in the laboratory.

Cross-examined by Mr. Sokier. What Dr. Webster said about the
twenty dollar bill, was the first that I heard of it. Dr. Webster was
slightly acquainted with me. [was the person he had asked to make
snme inquir[e:‘-; for him, a weelk or two before. Think I saw Mr. Lit-
tlefield on Sunday. Saw him on Saturday. Mr. Littlefield said he
had not seen Dr. Parkman for three or four days. On Friday, the
30th, Mr. Littlefield said he suspected Dr, Webster; told me he did
not wish me to say anything about it, till he had ascertained whether
anything was to be found. DMr. Kingsley asked Mr. Littlefield, on
Saturday, the 24th, whether he had seen Dr. Parkman, and he said
he had not seen him for three or four days. This interview was but
a very few minutes. DMr. Littlefield did not go on to state where he
saw him the last time. When the inquiry was made about the
hatchet, we were in the upper room. It was wanted to open the back
room door. The nail to which the Doctor pointed for the privy key
was in the back room, by the shelves. [ did not assist in breaking
open the privy door. Was present. Believe the door was opened
with the hatchet, which was used to press the bolt back. The lock
came off that night. The privy door was nailed up thatnight. A
nail was driven in the side of the door.

Naraanien D. Sawis, sworn. — I run the Cambridge and Boston
Express. Know Prof. Webster, Have been in the habit of carrying
articles for him. I remember bringing in to Boston, the next week
after Dr. Parkman’s disappearance, two bundles of fagots, made from
the cuttings of grape-vines, for Prof. Webster; took them from his
house. 1 brought in an empty box, about the shape of a soap-box, a
foot and a half square, and a bag of tan; took them from Dr. Web-
ster’s house in Cambridge, and left them in Mr. Littlefield’s cellar.
Was told to leave them there by Dr. Webster.

Dr. Webster said, © You may leave them in Mr. Littlefield’s cellar,
and I will take them into the labioratory myself.” Had never received
any similar instructions before. Had done these jobs for Prof. Web-
ster for three years; suppose I had been to the College two hundred
times. Ithad been my practice to leave them, sometimes in the lower
laboratory, and sometimes in the upper. I would take a bunch of
keys from Mr. Littlefield’s kitchen. They hung in a small case, near

=

the door, as [ went into Mr. Littlefield’s kitchen.
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Monday, when I left these bundles, I tried the door, to see if it was
unfastened. Found it fast.  Did not know but I might misunderstand
about the door. Always went in at the store-room door. I then
went into Mr. Littlefield’s kitchen for the key; did not find it, and
went off.  Went there again on the 28th day of November, on
Wednesday. Carried two boxes. @ne about two and a hall feet long,
ten or twelve inches wide, and a foot deep. The other box was about
a footand a half square. The large one was empty ; the other was not.

I left these where I left the others, in Mr. Littlefield’s cellar. In the
one that was full, there was a little piece split off, and I saw a checked
handkerchiel. The grape-vines and box that I left on Monday were
there on Wednesday, but the tan I did notsee. I went to the College,
to see if I could find the boxes, and I could find only the small one.
That was on Monday, after the arrest. The two largest boxes I could
not find. The boxes were of pine.

Cross-examined by Mr. Sohier. Was frequently in the habit of
carrying boxes to the College. When I had business in the laboratory,
I always went in.

The jack-knife was shown the witness. ]

saw the knife on the 17th of November, in Dr. Webster's hand.
He was trimming the grape-vines. He had this knife 1n his hand.
He had cut his hand, and it bled. I noticed it as a very peculiar
knife. I am positive I saw this knife.

Derastus Crare, sworn. — How long have you been connected with
the police ?

My. Clapp. Ever since 1528,

[ Mr. Bemis presented to the witness the two mortgage notesand a
paper accompanying them, and asked him if he had seen them
before.

Witness looked at them, and said, — On the 5th of December he was
directed to go to Cambridge, and get a Cambridge officer, and search
the house of Dr. Webster. I took with me oificer Hopkins, and went
to Cambridge, and procured the aid of officer Sanderson. We went
to the house of Dr. Webster. The two officers went up stairs, and 1
remained below. This was the second search. [ went in pursuit of
a package of papers.

In consequence of what had been said to me before I went, I asked
Mrs. Webster if she had anything like a package or bundle given her
by her husband. In a short time after, Mr. Sanderson brought down
some papers. They being articles not named in the search-warrant,
I told him to go and put them in the trunk where he had found them,
and to bring the trunk down. I then requested Mrs. Webster to take
certain papers out of the trunk, and hand them to-me ; that I wished
to carry them to the city, and would give her a receipt, which I did.
We soon came away. [had asearch-warrant. Mrs. Webster handed
to me the package [ asked for, though I did not know what was in it.

[ The witness now identified the papers shown in Court, as the same
that he took from Dr. Webster's house ; and said that there was
nothing on the papers but what was there when he took them, except
his own private marks. Mr. Bemis proceeded to describe the papers
as follows : |

There are two notes, one for $400, dated June 22, 1542, and the
other for $2,432, dated January 22, 1847, given to the order of George
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Parlkman, signed J. W. Webster. There is also an account, or
memorandum, in Prof. Webster's writing. The signatures of the
notes are emscd and also the face of the notes is l_m%.ﬁ"ll A
memorandum on the first note states that this was to be oiven up on
the payment of Webster’s mortgage of January, 1847,

On the back, 1845, July 10, iz the memorandum —* Interest is
accounted by receipt, and seven dollars principal, leaving due $393.
Oct. 10, 75.” On the top of the note there is a memorandum —
“ $433.64 paid Nov. 22."

The large note was payable in four years, with interest and one
quarter of the prineipal to be paid yearly. This note was witnessed by
Charles Canningham. _

Below, in pencil-mark, is a memorandum — 8500 of the above is
G. P.’s plus 332 =832; for balance, see Mr. Charles C.”; and on the
top of it, A payment to G. P. of $532. Dr. W.'s other mortgage,
and other note to G. P., of June 22, 1842, to be cancelled.” Then
six words in pencil, ** 383‘-‘:‘,835,”

On the back, Nov. 3, character for 7, ¢ $17.56 as per receipt.” Then,
in writing, “ 1848, April 18, received one hundred and eighty-seven
dollars 50-100,” signed “G. P.” “ Nov. 11, one hundred and eighty-
seven dollars,” by G. P., and receipt; and written across, in what
would be shown to be the prisoner’s hand-writing, * paid.”

The memorandum is in the form of a letter, signed « C. C.” and
addressed to Dr. Webster, showing the amount of his indebtedness to
Dr. Parkman, dated in 1549. In pencil-mark, at the bottom, is a
memorandum, in the hand-writing of Dr. Webster, stating that the
balance due Dr. Parkman, including interest, was $453.64.

The paper was done up in the form of a letter, and addressed to
Prof. Webster. There was a memorandum on the back of it, in Dr.
Webster’s hand-writing, “ C. Cunningham, on debt due Dr. P.”

[ Mr. Clapp now produced a memorandum, which he said he took
from Prof. Webster's wallet on the night of his arrest, and put his
marks upon them to identify them.] Mr. Bemis read:

“ Nov. 9, Friday, rec’d $510.00
234.10 out for Dr. Bigelow.,

Cash from Mr. Pettee, $275.90.

Dr. Parkman came to the lecture-room, and staid till students went
out. He came to me and asked for money. I told him to call Fri-
day, Nov. 23. He was a good deal excited. Friday, Nov. 23, went
to his house and told him to call at hall past one, and I would pay
him. He called, and I paid him $453.64, and he gave up two notes,
and said he would go and get the mortgage cancelled.”

[ The $234.10 out for Dr. Bigelow, was a note of Prof. Webster's
for thatamount held by Dr. Bigelow, which was placed in Mr. Petiee’s
hands, and dedueted by him {rom the amount, $510, which he was to
]E’n],r Prof. Webster. This left the amount which Mr. Pettee paid

rof. Webster in cash, $275.10.

Mr. Bemis said they also proposed to put into the hands of the
Jtlr!,r two memoranda in I:IE’!'I{,.Il mark, that were taken from Prof.
Webster's pocket ; one of which was ¢ $453.64.” On the other was,
“ A jug molasses ; keys ; tin box ; paint ; solder.” ]

My. Clapp. On Tuesday, 27th, [ was directed by the Marshal to go
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to the College, and search it through, and also every building in that
quarter I conld get into.  Also, the vacant lands. Took Mr. Fuller
and Mr. Rice. Arrived at the College about eleven o'clock,

We entered the College on the east end, through the apartments
occupied by Mr, Littlefield. We tried the front door, and could not
get in. We then went up the stairs, and tried the door to get into
the laboratory. We then went up into the front entry, and tried the
lecture-room of Dr. Webster.  We were informed that it would be
but a short time before Dr. Webster would commence his lecture.
Mr. Littlefield rapped with his knuckles ; waited half a minute and
rapped again, when Dr. Webster came to the door. I informed him
that we wished to look over the College. He said the police had
made a search before ; but if we wished to do so, we could. I have
lmown Dr. Webster by sight for a quarter of a century. I said to
Dr. Webster, * We cannot believe, for one moment, that it is nee-
essary to search your apartments.” I told him that those persons
whao had reported that they had seen Dr. Parkman had come to the
conclusion that they were mistaken.

We then went down to the laboratory, and passed round. Saw
nothing there that attracted much attention. We were shown to the
FIIFFHgE that leads to the dissecting-room : on one side there was a
urnace, and on the other a coal-bin. While I was near the privy and
laboratory stairs, some one called my attention to the other side of the
room. and Prof. Webster showed us out into the store-room. We
went into the College, to make a nominal search, so that we counld
have it to say in the neighborhood that we had been to the College
I had no suspicions of the College, and did not suppose it was at al.
necessary to go there. 'We went and searched the great vault ; held
a lantern in it, and saw all around it.

I inquired of him at what time he saw Dr. George Parkman last. [
told him that we were about to search all the houses in the neighbor-
hood, and I thought we would begin at the College first.

We went down to his table, where he stands to lecture. He said
he saw him on Friday, the 23d of that month, about half past one
o’clock, at that place. He came there by appointment. I asked him
how much money he gave him that day, and he said he gave him
$453. He said Dr. Parkman turned round, and went up, with a hur-
ried step, to the door, and he had not seen him since.

I then went to his back room, and passed in, and looked into the
little room ; and he said that was where he kept his valuables and dan-
gerous articles.

I went into Mr. Littleficld’s apartments, and searched every inch ;
all the closets, bureaus, clothing — male and female — and crockery
ware. We also searched every other part of the College — basement,
garret, and under the floor. Then we went and accomplished what I
supposed was the main object — searched all the houses in the neigh-
borhood.

On Friday, November 30, about six o’elock, I was summoned to the
College, where I met Mr. Trenholm, Dr. Bigelow, and others. I was
the first that put a light in where the remains were. After we had
come up from beneath, we went into the laboratory. The door was
open. There were four or five others. I went forward to the fur-
nace. I found a pan with sand in it; a table stood before it. I in-
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quired what that was. The top of the furnace was covered up with
pieces of freestone. On top of these were minerals. I inquired what
was there. [ reached down my hand, and took up a piece of hard
coal. There was something that adhered to it, that looked like burnt
bone. The Marshal said, “ Don’t ineddle with anything there.”

I was soon directed by the Marshal to go to Cambridge. I took a
coach, tool Mr. Starkweather and Oliver H. Spurr with me, and went
to the house of Dr. Webster. We stopped the coach within five or
six rods, before we got to his house. [ left the officers there, and met
the Doctor on the front steps, showing a gentleman out of his house.
The gate was open, and I passed in. I spoke to the Doctor before he
got into the house, and told him we were about to search the College
over that evening, and wished him to be present. He went into the
front entry, and from there into the library, and put on his boots, his
hat, and coat. When he got out, he said, ** I should like to go back
for my leys.” 1 told him it was not necessary, as we had keys enough
to unlock the College ; and he said, * Very well.”

I walked with him from the house to the carriage. We got into
the carriage, and I tried to have a free conversation with him. We
came over Craigie’s Bridge. Had some conversation about the railroad ;
-also, with regard to the efforts that had beenmade to find the body of Dr.
Parkman. [ told him what distances we had sent to trace out the re.
ports of his having been seen. He said there was a lady over there,
(pointing towards the “ Port,”) who knows something about it—
“ Suppose we ride over and see her.” I told him I thought we had
better postpone it to another time. Dr. Webster said he had ealled on
Dr. Parkman about nine o'clock on the morming of the 23d, request-
ing the Doctor to call on him between the hours of one and two.
He also stated that the Doctor did call. He also siated that he paid
him %483, and that Dr. Parkinan was to cancel the mortgage.

I inquired of Dr. Webster if Dr. Parkman had done so. I think
his answer was, he did not know. I then asked him, in case Dr.
Parkman was not found and it was not cancelled, whether he would
be the loser. He answered that he would not. When we arrived
near the bridge, I told him that soundings had been had about these
waters, all above and below the bridge ; that a hat had been found
near the Navy Yard, supposed to be Dr. Parkman’s.

We drove on till we got to Brighton st., and the Doctor observed
we were going the wrong way. 1 told him I thought perhaps the
driver might be green. We arrived at the jail, and [ got out and
went to the jail-door, to see if thers were any spectators there, Ithen
requeﬁt{id the genllif;:[m:n 1o gct out, and we wallked into the jaila
office.

The Doctor got out and walked in, without making any remark
whatever. After we got into the office, I opened the door to the rear
office, and said, * Gentlemen, suppose we walk in here ; * and theyall
walked in, without saying a word., Dr. Webster now tarned round to
me, and said, * What does all this mean?” Said I, « Dr. Webster,
you recollect I told youn, at the bridge, that soundings had been had
above and below the bridge. We have been sounding in and about
the College. We have done looking for the body of Dr. Parkman.
We shall not look for his body any more; and yon are now in cus-
tody on the charge of the murder of Dr. Parkman.”
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He uttered half a sentence that Idid not understand, and then said,
“1 wizh you would send word to my family.” I recommended to him
to have it postponed till morning. I told him I thought it would bea
sad night to them, if they knew it. He seemed inclined to speak to
me a word or two, on the nature of the crime, and I said to him, * I
think it would be better for you not to say anything on the subject.”

He wished me to notify some of his friends that night. 1 recom-
mended him to wait till morning, and told him that it would be of no
use to him, for they could not see him, as things were then. 1 told
him that there was nothing necessary to be done that night, and ad-
vised him to postpone it till morning. I then told him I wished to see
if he had anything about him improper to carry into jail.

I took into my possession, that came from his person,a gold watch,
a wallet and $2.40 in money, and certain papers, an omnibus ticket-
case, and five keys. One of the keys appeared to be a key of his
house, and that I have given up. 6113 of these keys was marked
“ privy.”

Ij] tn}ul{ all thesze articles, and earried them to the Marshal’s office,
and locked them up in my private drawer, of which I have the key,
and did not see them again until Sunday, about twelve o’clock.

I left Dr. Webster in custody of Mr. Starkweather and Mr. Spurr.
I made out a mittimus,and gave it to Mr. Starkweather, and told him
not to commit the Doctor till he had heard from me. Mr. Spurr and
myself then went to the Marshal’s office, locked up the articles I had
taia:n from the Doctor, and then went in pursuit of the Marshal. Did
not find Mr. Gustavus Andrews at the jail.

I did not find the Marshal. Went for the County Attorney, but
did not find him. Went to the College, and found Dr. Webster there.
I first saw the party in the laboratory, standing by the sink. They
were waiting for the key to unlock the privy. ]\ﬁ‘. Littlefield came,
with some two dozen keys, and found none that would fit. We got
several articles to pry open the door, and in doing so, the lock came
off. Sunday, about twelve o’clock, [ found this key, marked * privy.”

The lock was produced, and the key shown to fit.]

he next day I went into the laboratory, and found the lock where
I had laid it. I found the screws, and put the lock on, and put the
key in, and found it fit.

| have some keys that I found at Dr. Webster's house, when [ went
there with a search-warrant, and they fit the doors of the College. I
went and tried them, and found them fit according to the labels. 1
found the two keys that fit the outside front doors in his private
drawer, in the College. Those keys that I found at Cambridge fit the
doors of the laboratory.

I saw Coroner Pratt at the laboratory, after Dr. Webster’s arrest. I
heard Col. Pratt and some others say that it was not best to meddle
with the furnace.

Soon after I went in, I found the Doctor facing the nerth side. He
was in a great tremor. Some of them puta tumbler of water to his
mouth, and I noticed his teeth hit the tumbler.

He did not seem to me to know what was going on. He did not
seem to notice it. His teeth chattered, and he trembled. He ufpmred

more like the ¢ trembling madness” than anything else I could
think of.
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1 obtained a warrant on the first day of December. I got Mr.
Charles Cunningham to go out with me, and segrch the premises of
Dr. Webster. [ took a bank book from a drawer in his library.

his he presented to the Court.]

did not find anything lacked there. We searched the library very
closely ; looked behind all the books., Searched the trunk over in
which these papers were found, and it seemed to be filled with old
papers. Saw none like those afterwards found.

Ii they had been there in the same condition at our first search
as when I found them, I think I should have noticed them. We
were directed immediately to go again. We went to the College, and
got permission to look over his minerals, but found nothing. We
went to his house, but found nothing.

The Court here adjourned till half past three o'clock.

AFTERNOON.

Examination of Derastus Crape, resumed. — There were other
private papers in the pockets of Dr. Webster, not pertaining to this
case. [ am not confident that on the night of the discovery Mr. Lit-
tlefield tried the door of the laboratory; when we looked into the
upper laboratory, all appeared right. Do not recollect stopping and
looking at minerals in the lower laboratory. Don’t recollect that
there was a fire in the furnace in the lower laboratory; at the time
when we went over to arrest Dr. Webster, all that was said to him
was, ©* We are going to have another search of the College, and want

ou to be present.” The keys produced are all that I found upon
Eim : in coming over from Cambridge, in relation to the disappearance
of Dr. Parkman, Dr. Webster said he believed Dr. Parkman to be an
honest man, and that he should lose nothing by his disappearance.
The conversation in the carriage was easy, and it was my endeavor
to keep it so. We arrived at the jail at quarter past eight, and at
the College at some past ten.

Crartes W. Lirrig, sworn. — I am a resident of Cambridge ; am
a student at Harvard of the Senior Class. Knew Dr. George Park-
man. Recollect meeting him on Thursday, Nov. 22d, at about two
P. M., on the Mt. Auburn road, between Mr. Saunders’ and the
Cemetery. He was riding in a chaise; he asked me where Dr.
Webster lived, and I pointed out the place, when he rode on. The
distance to Prof. Webster's house was between a quarter and an
eighth of a mile. I fix the day from the fact that the next day I
went to New York. Dr. Parkman was riding alone.

SErH PETTEE, sivorn. — Am a resident of Dorchester ; am discount
elerk in the New England Bank, and collect funds at the Medical
College. There are seven Professors, and my duty is to distribute
tickets, and collect the pay for them of the students. I entered upon
this office on the Tth of November. My first acquaintance with Dr.
Webster was at this time. Received one hundred of Dr. Webster's
tickets for the chemical lectures, to dispose of among the students.
I disposed of fifty-five tickets, and received pay at the rate of $15 per
ticket — which amounted to $825. Some tickets were third-course
tickets, which students attending the two other courses are entitled
to free.

Ju all 1 disposed of ninety-three tickets to Prol. Webster's course
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thirty-eight tickets were for notes, third course and free, and seven [
have on hand ; thg total number of students on my list, for all the
courses, was 107, In three instances'tickets to Dr. Webster’s course
have been disposed of without my receiving the money. At the first
division, on the 9th Nov., of the funds, which I made among the Pro-
fessors, of the proceeds of the lectures, there was due Prof. Webster
$510. I had in my hand a note signed by Prof. Webster, and
payable to Dr. Bigelow, of $225.89. That note was dated April 1,
- 1849,  Interest, £8.21. Total amount, $234.10. This sum I took
out of the amount due Prof. Webster, and gave him a check for the
balance, $275.90. The next division of funds was about the 14th
of November. Ieredited him with thirteen tickets sold, amounting to
£195, that I paid him not far from the middle of November, by a
cheek cashed at the New England Bank.

The next payment was on the 16th — two tickets, $30 —and was
%:'arid on the 20th to Mr, Littlefield, who had an order for it from Dr.

ehster. The order read, * Please deliver to bearer whatever tickets
or balance of eash you may have on hand.” On the 23d, for six
tickets, [ gave him a check for 890. I have still some of his funds
on hand. I was first acquainted with Dr. Parkman,— that is, to know
that it was he,— on the 12th of Nov. He came into my place of busi-
?}H‘l? and inquired of me whether I collected the funds of the Medical

ollege. .

Mrg Sohier. [ shall object to this eonversation with Dr. Parkman.

My. Bemis (addressing the Court) We do not ask it as a con-
versation. ~ We ask it as a fact, to ascertain whether or no Dr. Park-
man made the inquiry of him if he had funds belonging to Dr.
Webster.

Chief Justice Shaw. 'That is admissible,

Mr. Bemis. State whether he ever made such an inquiry.

Mr. Pettee.  He did make that inquiry of me. And I stated to
him that I had no funds then in my hands.

Judge Merrick. We object fo this,

My. Bemis  (aside to Mr. Clifford.) Why not make an attempt
to get in this entire conversation now ?

Mpr. Ciifford. Tt will appear, may it please your Honor, in the
course of Mr, Pettee’s testimony, that certain conversations were had
between him and Dr. Parkman, with respect to the state of Dr, Web-
ster’s funds ; and that subsequently this conversation was communi-
cated by Mr. Petiee to Dr. Webster. And I suppose that all his
conversations with Dr. Parkman were communicated to Dr. Webster ;
we certainly intend to prove that this one was.

Judge Merrick. We do not objeet, if you intend to prove that.

Mr. Pettee. 1 told Dr. Parkman I had paid Dr. Webster all I had,
only a few days before. He made some few remarks, and left the
bank. In a short time, he returned and took a dividend belonging to
his wife. When I paid the dividend, I inquired if Prof. Webster owed
him; when he replied that I could judge by his inquiries. On the
14th, Dr. Parkman called again, and again inquired if I had any
funds of Dr. Webster's in my hands. 1 replied that I had not, for 1
had just paid them over to Dr. Webster. He said to me he thought
he had given me a hint to retain the funds, or something to that pur-
pose. I told him I had no control over the funds belonging to the



93

Professor. He said, “If you had done it, you would have been doing
justice to Dr. Webster, and all concerned ;” that he should be obliged
to distress Dr. Webster and his family. He seemed to blame me for
not retaining the funds. He afterwards made some remarks, the im-
port of which was, that he was not an honest or upright man ; and he
asked me to tell I}r Webster so. 1 never saw Dr. Iarl{man again,
On the morning of the 23d, I went to the College, to pay the 30 in
my hands.

[ inquired for Mr. Littlefield, and was sent to the front door, where
I took a notice from the box in the front entry and altered it; the
notice was to the students, and I altered the time I would meet them
there from Thursday to Saturday. I passed through into the library,
and thence into Dr. Ware’s lecture-room; and then passed through
Mr. Littlefield’s cellar into the laboratory, and thence to Dr. Webster’s
room. [ apologized to Dr. Webster for coming so early. He told me
to walk in. I told him that Dr. Parkman had called upon me several
times, to inquire if I had any funds of his in my possession; and that
therefore I did not wish to have any trouble with Dr. Parkman, and
had come to pay the money over to him. Professor Webster replied,
* Dr. Parkman is a curious sort of man, rather nervous, and has been
at times subject to fits of aberration of mind;” so much so, he believed
he was once obliged to put his property out of his hands, and that
Mr. Blake, a relative, attended to his business.

After making these remarks, he said, “ You will have no further
trouble with Dr. Parkman, for I have settled with him.” . I then paid
Dr. Webster by a cheek for $90 on the Freeman’s Bank. On the
same afterncon, (Friday, the 23d,) between four and five o'clock, [
went to the Enamlln:gﬂ:1 and passed up to the front door; I rang the bell,
and there was a woman passed through the library, am] as [ thought,
was going to open’the door; but she looked throngh the side-lights,
and asked if I wanted to HP'E"IL to Mr, Littlefield 7 1 replied that
did. She said that if T would go to the side door, I could find him,
I went to that door, and met Mr. Littlefield ; he was in his usual dress,
but without shoes ﬂl‘lf_l_ stockings, [ asked hlm if he had sent for me,
and what for? He said he wanted me to fill up a ticket for B. R.
Ridgeway, a student, who was going to leave town the next morning.
[ took out the ticket, and gave it to Mr. Littlefield, and left. The
following day, (Saturday, the 24th,) at about three o'clock in the
afternoon, I again went to the College, through the front entrance,
and into Professor Ware’s lecture- -room, and saw Mr. Littlefield sitting
upon a table.

My visit to Dr. Webster on Friday morning was especially to pay
over to him the money in my hands. I sent to him notice that I
should pay him money that morning. At the interview with Dr.
Parloman on the 14th, relative to Dr. Webster and the funds belonging
to him in my possession, his language was hard, but not profane. At
the first interview that I had with him, when [ told him that I had
paid over to Dr. Webster all the money in my hands, he replied, —
“The de’il you have ”—or something to that effect. His message
sent by me to Dr. Webster contained no profane expression. 1 think
[ did not communicate Dr. Parkman’s message to ]br. Webster, that
he was a dishonest man; but 1 told him I did not wish to have any
trouble with Dr. Parkman relative to the funds.
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Cross-examination. 1 have no means of knowing how many stu-
dents attended Dr. Webster's lectures, except by the tickets sold ; the
bills that were paid on the check for $195 were probably on the New
England Bank. Lhave only ninety-nine on my list who took chem-
iral tickets of me. I had no other business with Dr. Webster, on the
morning of Friday, the 23d of November, than to pay him the money
in my hands. The expressions of Dr. Parkman, when I told him
that 1 had paid over the money to Dr. Webster, were very harsh, and
he appeared to be quite Exuiteg.

Direct resumed. 1 communieated to Dr. Webster, I think, no such
language from Dr. Parkiman, as that he was a rascal and a
whelp. If I had communicated such language, I think I should have
remembered it.

Jonxn B. Dana, sworn. —1 am cashier of the Charles River Bank.
I have known the defendant for the last twenty years; he kept an
account at our bank in November last.

[A bank book, found at Prof. Webster’s house by Constable Clapp,
was here put in.]

On the 10th of November, a check on the Freeman’s Bank for
$275.90 was deposited in our bank by Professor Webster;  November
15th, he deposited $150 in bills; November 24th, a check for $90.
On the 23d of November, the balance in the bank to the eredit of
Professor Webster was $£139.15 cents; this balance is struck from
the checks actually drawn up to that time. On the 1st of November,
his balance in the bank was $4.26 cents. There were no deposits
after the 24th of November. On the 1st of December, we paid a
check of Prof. Webster’s for $93.75, for rent. Do not know when
it was drawn. December 3d, (Monday,) paid $5, €13, and $19;
those are the last checks that were paid; for the balance, found to be
about $68, a trustee process was issued on the 1st of December, which
we paid into the hands of the party who trusteed.

Damier Hexcuman, sworn. — 1 am a druggist in Cambridge-street ;
am acquainted with Dr. Webster. On the 23d of November, Dr.
Webster asked me if I would give him bills for a check for $10, 1
gave him the bills ; he gave me a check on the Charles River Bank.

The check in question was here produced.]

t is dated November 22d, but was handed to me on the 23d, (Fri-
day.) On Friday, the day of the arrest, (November 30,) the check
was sent out to the bank for payment ; and the answer returned was,
that there were no funds of Dr. Webster’s there. I have never re-
ceived payment for the check.

James H. Brake, sworn.—1 am nephew of the late Dr. George
Parkman ; I assisted in the search for Dr. Parkman, after his disap-
pearance. On Sunday afternoon, about three o'clock, I went on to the

{ni'tlﬂ land, and, in returning, went up North Grove-street, toward the

=l

Medical College. Near the College, I stopped, and was talking to sev-
eral police officers.  While there, Dr. Webster came from the direction
of the College towards me; think he had no overcoat on; it wasa
cold, disagreeable day. He took me by the hand, and said that, on
the evening before, he saw in the Transcript a notice of the disap-
pearance of Dr. Parkinan, and that he had come in on purpose to
notify the family that he was the person who went to Dr. Parkman’s
house on Friday morning, and made an appointment with him at the
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Medical College, at half past one o’clock. That was the first we knew
of the person who called at Dr. Parkman’s house. Prof. Wehster
gaid that Dr. Parkman met him at the hour appointed, and that he
paid him the amount of the note, and that Dr. Parkman =aid that he
would go to East Cambridge, and discharge the mortgage. Said Prof,
Webster, # We all know Dr. Parkman to be an honest man, and I
trusted him with it.” He then said that he should go up and see the
Revi Dr. Francis Parkman about it. Dr. Webster said, on that morning
he went to church, and he thought he would wait until the afternoon
before he came in.  After this conversation, Prof. Webster went into
the Medical College. At this time, there were several police officers
about. Did not see him again that day. Stood near the College a
few minutes, and then went to the Marshal’s office. While I was
standing in North Grove-street, Dr. Webster might have come up the
street without my seeing him; but I was standing so that I could see
the College, and the Doctor came from the direction of the College,
when I first saw him. When he met me, he took me by the hand
rather suddenly ; but I noticed nothing uncommon or unusual. He
held me by the hand nearly all the time we were talking. He made
no inquiry relative to any search that we were making for Dr. Park-
man. Relative to the mortgage, Prof. Webster said, *I trusted it
with the Doctor to go over to Cambridge and discharge it.”

Cross-evamination. We were, at the time, searching for Dr. Park-
man, but I did not inform Prof. Webster of the fact. Prof. Wehster
did not inform me how he came in. Commenced the search for Dr.
Parkman on Saturday afternoon, after dinner.

Rev. De. Francis Pareman, sworn. — 1 am brother to the late Dr.
George Parkman. Have known Prof. Webster for a great many
years ; first, when he resided at the North end, in his father’s house ;
he attended at my church. After he moved to Cambridge, I was
called to perform pastoral offices for him within three months of the
disappearance, I was called upon, by the son-in-law and daughter
of Dr. Webster, to baptize their son, the grandson of Dr. Webster.

On the Sunday after the disappearance of my brother, we were in
ﬁ'reat perplexity and distress. 'I!‘Im day was passed partly with my

rother’s family. About four o’clock in the afternoon, just as the
people were passing from church, Dr. Webster came to my house.
Immediately upon entering the room, he said, *I come to tell you that
at half-past one, on Friday, I saw your brother, and paid him some
money.” Either myself or Mrs. Parkman said, “ Then you are the
gentleman that called at George’s house, at half past nine on Friday
morning, and made the appointment.” He answered that he was,
and that he should have come and told us before, but that he did not
see the notice until Saturday evening, and that he waited till now
because he supposed the family would be at church. I then said,
“ Dr. Webster, we are glad 1o see you, and to learn that you are the
person who called upon him ; for we feared that he had been lured by
some one to East Cambridge, to do him some harm.” Dr. Webster
said, “ He did gome to the College, on Friday, and I then paid him
$483, and some odd cents.” I asked him if he was perfectly sure of
the hour; to which he answered, “I am quite certain.” I asked him
this question, because two men had called at my house, and stated
that they saw my brother, at some distance from the Cellege, on
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Grove-street, on Friday, Nov. 23, but not so far that he might not
have reached the College at half past one. He =aid, * My lecture
ended at one, and I waited twenty minutes or half an hour.” I asked
him if he saw any papers or bundles in his hand. Dr. Webster said,
“Yes, he had some papers, and he took out one and dashed his pen
across the paper,” — making a sudden motion, to intimate the mark
intended to represent it as sudden and violent. Dr. Webster said,
that he, upon paying the money, remarked that the mortgage was
not cancelled ; to which Dr. Parkman replied, with quickness, “ I will
see to that, I will see to that.” He then said that Dr. Parkman went
out of the College with great rapidity.

I then asked Dr. Webster if he could inform me whether my
brother actually went to Cambridge to cancel the mortgage. He said
he could not tell, but that he would go to the Register’s office and
find out. His manner I could not but observe to be hasty; there
seemed to be in him great nervousness of manner. He commenced
upon his business immediately upon entering the room, and it was
impossible for me not to remark that there was no expression of sur-
prise at the mysterious disappearance, and none of sympathy. 1
should describe it asa business visit. His characteristics are activity
and quickness, and therefore his conduct at the interview did net
impress me so strongly at the time; there was a certain flarry of
manner that [ had not observed at former interviews. What par-
ticularly struck me, was the absence of that expression of sympathy
natural to give to those in perplexity and distress. He was there
from ten to fifteen minutes. K‘Iv impression is, that he wore no over-
coat. When he left my house, in Bowdoin-square, my impression is,
that he went down Green-street. My brother's habits were ve

remarkable. He was amongst the most punctual of mankind. He
was almost invariably at his regular meals. He had a wile, a son,

and a daughter. His daughter had been a great invalid, and he paid
a great deal of attention, and was a good deal with her, His son was
away, at the time, in Europe. I believe | may say, with confidence,
that my brother never used profane language. When he was moved,
he would express himself strongly ; but I think I may say that I never
heard him use a profane word.

Cross-examination. The names of the two men who called at my
house and stated that they saw my brother at quarter past one, some
ways from the College, were named Fessenden and Oliver. Dr.
Webster, when he said my brother took a paper from his bundle and
dashed his pen across it, did not say what the paper was.

The Court here adjourned to nine o'clock on Tuesday morning.

SEVENTH DAY.— Tuesday, March 26th.

At a little past nine, the Court came in, and after the calling of the
Jury, the evidence for the prosecution was continued.

Baven Sz, sworn. — My residence is in this city, and [ am en-
gaged in mercantile business. Have had some business with Prof.
Webster. - A letter, dated October 15th, 1849, came in answer to a
letter I had written to him. He was owing me at this time, and as
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I wished to close up the partnership concern, I wrote to him, and this
was his reply.
[The letter was read and is as follows : —]

Camibridge, October 151h, 1549,
R. Swrn, Esq. — Dear Sir: I will call and pay vour bill, on receiv-
ing my fees from the medical students ; until when I ask vour indul-
gence. Respectiully yours,
J. W. WEBSTER.

Samver B Funrer, sworn. —1 am one of the police, and have
been for nine years. I have seen the defendant, but am not at all
acquainted with him. I saw him on Sunday evening, November 25,
after the disappearance of Dr. Parkman. I went to East Cambridge,
to the Regisier of Deeds, to ascertain if Dr. Parkman had been there
to get a mortgage cancelled. I had a chaise with me. Mr. Thomp-
son, the clerk, said that we would better go and see Dr. Webster, as
that would be the quickest way to get at it, so as to get the names to
enable us to find it on the records. We reached Dr. Webster's just
at the edge of the evening. Dr. Webster came to the door. The
clerk spoke first, and told our business. After going in, Dr. Webster
opened an account-book, and after turning over the leaves two or

ree times, left the room. He seemed to tremble. He was gone
some two or three minutes, and then came back, and sat down in a
chair, and said, * It is strange 1 cannot find those papers.” He got
up, and went to his trunk, and overhauled his papers. He went back
to the account-book, turned the leaves over two or three times, and
then had some conversation with the clerk. Hesat down again, and
said, * My ticket-man said that Dr. Parkman came to him the other
day, and demanded what money he had in his possession, for tickets
sold. My ticket-man refused to let him have the money; Dr. Park-
man, thereupon, told my ticket-man that I was a d—d rascal and
scoundrel.”  Webster said, I don’t care for it now, but I did at the
time. I have settled with Dr. Parkman. and it is all over.” Dr.
Webster had sorue conversation with the clerk, and told him that the
mortgage was on personal property, and not on real estate. I said
we would go to the City Clerlk’s and see if Dr. Parkman had been
there. We then left. }r::;n,w no more of Dr. Webster that night. I
saw him again on Tuesday forenoon, about eleven. 1 was at the
College, with Messrs. Clapp, Wright, and Charles M. Kingsley,
from eleven to eleven and a half, We went to the lower laboratory
stairs door, leading from Mr. Littlefield’s cellar and found 1t
fast, and then went to store-room door; both were fast. Then went
up to front door of the lecture-room. After Mr. Laittlefield had
knocked twice, Dr. Webster came to the door. Mr. Clapp made his
business known, and said that he had come to search the building.
I asked Dr. Webster who was with him when he paid Dr. Parkman
this money. He said, -* There was no one but the Doctor and myself.”
I asked the time of the occurrence. He said between half past one
and two o'clock. I asked Dr. Webster where he and Dr. Parkman
stood, when he paid this money. He said, * Behind the table, near the
end,” — that is, as he would stand in facing the students, it would be

7
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the left. We then passed on to the laboratory. He said, * This is

my private laboratory, gentlemen.”

When we got down to the foot of the stairs, Mr. Clapp asked, turn-
ing to the privy, “ What place is this?” Mr. Littlefield answered, ¢ Mr,
Webster's private privy.” At same time, Dr. Webster said, * Gen-
tlernen, here is another room.” We passed on, taking very little
notice of what was in the lower laboratory. I did not mind what
there was there. I noticed Dr. Webster hurried us through the
rooms. After we Jooked at the main vault, I then passed on with
Mr. Littlefield, who took a lantern, and went down into a scuttle,
through an arch under the building, and went to the corner by the
privy. I asked Mr. Littlefield if that was the outside wall. He
said it was the privy wall. There was no hole there at that time.
There was some short conversation between Mr. Littlefield and my-
self, there. I have been under Dr. Webster’s laboratory two separate
times, and have examined the walls about the cellar. There is an
access fo the tide in the cellar. Since the arrest, I have been through
the hole in the brick wall.

I am the officer who found remains in the tea-chest. I had been
searching, Saturday, 30th November, from half past eight till a few
minutes before four. 1 had seen the chest once before. Mr. Rice,
Trenholm, Butman, and others, were there ; there were some six or
eight of them. I told them that I wounld take that side of the build-
ing, and search everything., [ looked over the bottles, &ec., in the
laboratory. 1 looked at the box, and thought it was where he kept
his minerals ; but as [ meant to search everything, I commenced tak-
ing off some of the minerals. The writing on the labels looked fresh,
and after I had taken out a few minerals, I noticed some tan ; and I
then run down my hand through the minerals into the tan. I put
my hand into the tan as far as my wrist, and drew out a large knife;
opened it, looked at it, shut it, and put it into my pocket. I made a
remark, that I thought that there was something besides minerals there.
I then took the chest out into middle of the room, and turned it out,
and there were the remains of a human body, —a thorax and other

arts. When the contents of the chest came out, the back was up, as

turned out the remains. I found a hole in the trunk, in the left
breast, about the region of the heart. The tan was scraped off by
the hand. Some one took up a stick to scrape it off; I told themn not
to touch it till the Coroner had been called. [ made a remark, that I
thought the knife would fit the wound ; but I did not try it.

[The tea-chest in which the remains were found was here shown
to the Jury. It is a common one, without the lead lining. Three
sides of it are covered with heavy marks of blood on the inside, as
though the wood was well saturated with it.]

I also found a kidney. There were some bed-clothes found in the
lower laboratory, on the table. There was a comforter, and two
woollen blankets. I found them near the window, done up in a news-
paper. Should not think any of them had ever been used; they
were new. I remained in these rooms five weeks, lacking one day —
from early in the morning to eleven o'clock at night. We allowed
no one in without a permit from the City Marshal or the Mayor. [
watched Littlefield very closely, and did not allow him to move an inch
without watching him, as I was ordered. The privy hole was nine
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and three fourths inches each way. We tried to get the thorax
through the hole, but could not, as it was too large for it The
1'.IE|‘I-'I$ would go thmug‘h h'l.;r turning it up, as I called, edcrr-w,i[

We made experiments in regard to hearing noises from Dr. Holmes®
room, and Dr. Webster's I.i'lzunmlmv by shouting. Both doors were
shut at the time. This expe riment was made by some one who came
in with a permit. I was up stairs, and the other person was below;
and then we changed. We conld not hear each other.

[A small plate and stick, both having ink on them, were here shown
to the witness. |

The plate stood in the upper laboratory, on a bench. The banr.'h
was some five or six feet from the lecture-room door. The stick lay
under the table, on the floor. This was Samrdaf morning.

Cross-examination. 1 measured the privy-seat after it was taken
up from its place. Mrs. Littlefield and Butman, I thiuk, were there.
'I!Le seat was up. Mr. Littlefield held the thorax; also the pelvis.
The pelvis went through quite easy, but there was no room to spare.
There was tan ina hug, and about half a bushel in a barrel. The
bag laid about eight or ten feet from the door of Mr. Littlefield’s
store-room. The bag was very nearly full. Idid not see the tea-
chest on T uesday, to take any notice of it. The knife was shut. I
think I put it in my pocket. At any rate, it.was in my pocket a few
minutes after. and [ have had it in my possession ever since. When
the chest was turned up, there were Butman, Starkweather, Rice,
and, I think, Mr. Littlefield.

This party was there most of Saturday and Sunday. 1 said the
tea-chest was found Saturday, a few minutes before four o'clock.
When the thorax first came out, it fell back up. As I held the chest
up sideways, it slid out. I saw the hole after [ had looked at the tho-
rax some four or five minutes. I turned it over, and saw it when I
turned it over. I drawed it part way out of the tan, and let it lay
till the Coroner came. A string was not tied round the thorax, but it
was round the bone of the thigh.

I allowed no one to meddle with the remains till the Coroner’s Jury
came. They came about half past four o’cloek the same afternoon.
Butman was going to scrape the tan off, when I spoke to him. He
did not scrape it, thongh. He said, * I am going to scrape the tan off,
to see how it will look.” T took my hand and brushed off’ the out-
side. The neck-end of the thorax was up, as it lay in the chest. I
put my hand down about up to my wrist. I never saw Thompson,
after he went out to Cambridge, till I saw him here at the trial. 1
told this gentleman that I thought Dr. Webster's conduct very singu-
lar, but I didn’t know but what it was his way. This was after I
left Dr. Webster's house, at the time we went to Cambridge about
the mortzage. [ thought he trembled. [ had no suspicion of Dr.
Webster at the time. [ did n’t know but what it was his manner.

We arrived at Cambridge just after dark. I shoaldn’t think we
were there more than twelve or fifteen minutes. We went to ascer-
tain the date of the mnrtgage. The first day I was at the College
was Tuesday. [ think I did n’t state to the (garnners [nquest that
Dr. Webster said that Dr. Parkman was there at half past one o'clock
exactly. I made memorandum of the conversation that took place
on Tuesday, the next morning, I think, or that night. The memo-
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randum of the conversation that took place Sunday preceding this
Tuesday, I made on Monday morning. I think I made remarks in it,
that Dr. Webster trembled. When Mr. Littlefield made the remark
that « That is Dr. Webster's privy,” two of the officers went down
stairs.

Saturday was the first day I went down cellar. [ took particular
notice of the ground. There are marks of tide coming in in the
trench ; it follows the trench, and does not flow over all the cellar. In
the trench, it is sometimes three feet deep near the wall, and two feet
near the privy.

I did not see the remains in the privy. The trench varies from
three and a half feet to six feet. It is quite level near the privy-hole,
but towards the north wall it is considerably steeper. 1 found towels
under the privy-hole. They were directly under the privy. The
labels to the minerals did n’t look as though they had been written a
very long time; perbaps five or six months.

Direct resumed. Mr. Eaton was there after I had taken the tea-
chest out by the window.

SamveEL Pargman Brakg, sworn. —I am nephew of the late Dr.
Parkman. After Saturday evening, I devoted my whole time to
searching for Dr. Parkman. I heard that Dr. Webster had paid Dr.
Parkman some money ; and so I called to see him, on Monday morn-
ing, between the hours of ‘ten and eleven, at the College.

As I approached the Medical College, I met a student, as I
thought. I asked him if Dr. Webster lectured there. He said
he could not tell. I believe he then rang the bell. Mr. Littlefield
came to the door. I asked if Dr. Webster lectured on that day. He
said he believed not. He tried the door to the lecture-room, and it
was fastened. I gave him my pame. [know that the door was fast-
ened, and he said he would go round the back way. He asked my
name, and passed through lﬁje entry. He kept me, as [ thought,
rather an unusual time. He then unbolted the lecture-room door. He
(Liittlefield) passed out, and I passed in.

As soon as I entered the lecture-room, I saw Dr. Webster coming
out of his laboratory. He had something in his hands, which he put
on the table. He had on a smoking-cap, and a working-dress, I should
think. He stood still, and I came up to him. [ said I had heard he
had paid Dr. Parlkman some money, and had called to inquire the par-
ticulars respecting it. He then went on to state that, on the pre-
ceding Tuesday, the 20th, his lecture-day, Dr. Parkman had called
there, before his lecture had elosed : and he said he sat down in that
seat, (pointing to a seat, in this way,) waiting for me to get through
the lecture. After the lecture, Dr. Parkman came up to Dr. Webster,
with a paper, and said, © Doctor, [ want some money.” He said he
was very much affected, and S}mke guite angrily; and said, * You
have $500 in your pocket, and [ want it.” Dr. Webster said, * I told
him that I could not pay him on that i]‘:l],.'; that I had not collected
all the money.” Dr. Patkman said, * When will you pay it2” «I
said, ¢ On Friday.” Dr. Parkman then went ont. On Friday, the
23d of November, I called at Dr. Parkman’s house. I saw him at
the door, and told him if he would come to the lecture-room that day,
I would settle. He did come, about half past one o’clock.”

I asked him how he knew about the time. Professor Webster
suid, * My lecture had finished, and some of the students stopped
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to ask questions ; and, after getting through with the students, they
went to look at some J‘Jictures, recently purchased, in the back room,
and then went out. Very soon, Dr. Parlkman appeared ; seemed to be
in a great hurry, and came up to my table and asked me if I was
ready for him. I said I was. Dr. Parkman then took out of his
Efml:et a bundle of papers, done up rather loosely in brown paper.
rom this bundle he drew out some notes, and I took out the money
and paid it —some $453,” and some cents. [ don’t remember how
much he said. *“He seized the money, and was going off. [ said,
¢ There is one thing you have forgotten, %m:tur — that is, the mortgage.’
Dr. Parkman said, *I havn't it with me, but I will see that it is prop-
erly attended to.” He then rushed out of the lecture-room, with these
papers carelessly exposed to view.”
then asked him in what money he paid him, thinking I might get
some clue. He said he did n’t recollect much about it, except one
£100 bill on the New England Bank ; there were other bills, from $12
to $50. He said he could n’t say whether they were country bills, or
not. [ asked if he had the notes Dr. Parkman gave him. He an-
swered in the affirmative, but in a way that made an impression on
my mind at the time. [ asked il any one was present during the
interview. He said, very emphatically, ¢ No.”

We then went on to talk about our families. There was nothing
further of importance. I then left him. TIhad been acquainted with
Dr. Webster for a good many years. On my entrance, his manner
was peculiar. It seemed to want that cordiality which was usual
with him. When I came down the lecture-room steps, [ had my eye
on him, and he seemed to look pale. He received me in a stiff’ man-
ner. 1 think he did n’t put out his hand, to shake hands. His man-
ner, when he spoke of Dr. Parkman, surprised me, by the expression
“angrily,” at this time, when the family were in deep distress. He
expressed no sympathy. He stood rather stiffly, and let me approach
him, instead of partly coming to meet me. He said very little about
the search for Dr. Parkman. He made no inquiry about Dr. Park-
man’s family at all.

This interview did not last more than fifteen or twenty minutes —
perhaps fifteen. We talked of other general topics. There was no
change of subject while we were talking about Dr. Parkman. Iwent
out the same door 1 entered. I heard the door bolted after me.

Cross-examination. 1 only know Dr. Webster came after me, by
hearing the door bolted after me. I heard of the disappearance of
Dr. Parkman Saturday afternoon, about four o’clock, and I devoted
myself to his search from that time. I felt very great apprehension.
Dr. Webster was preparing for his lecture the next day. He put a
}ar on the table. He told me he was preparing for lecture next day.

did not assist in preparation of handbills. I{irqn_'[ced into the upper
laboratory. I merely looked in through curiosity. When the Doctor
sat down, it was in the lecture-room, on a settee,at the west end. He
did not sit at all, in the laboratory. during the interview.

[The Court here took a recess of a few minutes, during which time
the Jury were allowed to retire.]

Cuarces B. Stargwearner, sworn.—I am connected with the
police, and have been for four years. I first commenced my search
for Dr. Parkman the Saturday after his disappearance. On the
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Monday subsequent, I went to the Medical College, in company with
Mr. Kingsley, and met Mr. Littlefield, about twelve o'clock. Saw
Dr. Ainsworth and Dr, Bigelow. 1 made known to them the object
of my visit; that we had come to look over the College, to see il we
could find Dr. Parkman. They made no objection. Mr. Littlefield
tried Dr. Webster’s door, and it was fastened. He then knocked on
it quite hard. In about a minute, Dr. Webster came to the door.
We told him what we came for, and then went in. We went into
his upper laboratory, and then down stairs into the lower laboratory.
Dr. Webster went down with us.  We were in the lower laboratory
about three minutes. Dr. Webster said, * This is all my apartments.”
Mr. Littlefield opened the door by the lower laboratory stairs, and we
went out. When Dr. Webster got to the foot of the stairs, he said,
* This is all my apartments.”

I was one of the party who went, on Friday night, the 30th
November, to arrest him. Coming in, Dr. Webster talked very
freely about the railroad, and a Mrs. Bent, who had seen Dr. Park-
man on Friday. He wanted us to drive round by the Port, and see
her. We came in over Cragie's Bridge. When we were coming up
Leverett-street, beyond 2nd-street, Dr. Webster said that we had passed
the street to go the Medical College, and some one remarked that the
driver was rather green. The conversation was mostly carried on
by Mr. Clapp. We got to the jail, and got out. Dr. Webster was
the first man that spoke. He said, “ Mr. Clapp, what does this
mean?”  Mr. Clapp said, * We have done looking for Dr. Parkman,
and we have taken you into custody for the muorder.” ¢« What,
me!” % Yes, sir; you are in custedy for the murder of Dr. Park-
man.” Mr. Clapp and Mr. Spurr then left, and went in search of
the Marshal and Mr. Samuel D. Parker. Before leaving, Mr. Clapp
made out a mittimus, but told me not to commit him then.

Immediately after Mr. Clapp went out, Dr. Webster called for
water, and drank. He asked me if they had found Dr. Parkman.
I told him I wished he wouldn't ask me any questions, as it was not
proper for me to answer them. He said, * You might tell me some-
thing about it.— Where did they find him? — Did they find the whole
of the body'? — How came they to suspect me 2— Oh ! my children!
what will they do!— What will they think of me! — Where did you
get the information ” I asked the Dr. if any one had had access te
his private apartments. He answered, “Nuﬂrnd],r has had access to
my private apartments, but the porter, who makes the fires.” There
was a pause for some minute and a half; then he exclaimed, * Oh
that villain! [ am a ruined man!” He said nothing more, but walked
the floor, wrung his hands, and sat down. He seemed to put his
hand into his vest pocket,and put it up to his mouth. In a moment he
hada spasm. I went up to him, and asked him if he had been taking
anything. I thought, by his appearance, he had, 1 took hold of
hira, and raised him up, and he walked the floor. [ was with him
about an hour.

Mr. Clapp came back, and told me he had not found the Marshal and
Mr. Parker. I went tothe Doctor, and told him that we must commat
him. He could n't stand. Iasked Mr. Cummings, one of the attendants
at the jail, to take hold of him. We put him in the lock-up. [ told
Mr. Cummings that I thought he had been taking something, and he
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had better send for a physician. The lock-up is under the office, not
in the jail proper. Mr. Clapp thought it was not best to send for a
doctor, unless the prisoner got worse, but to attend to him ourselves.
We had to lay him into his berth. He laid on his side, and turned
over on to his face. He appeared like a man in a fit, though I never
saw a man just so in my life.

I saw Dr. Wehster again, at the Medical College, about three
quarters of an hour after. Dr. Webster, Mr. Parker, Mr. Clapp, and
several others, were in the upper laboratory when I arrived. 1 only
saw two doors broken open. One was a privy door.

Some one asked where the furnace was, and Mr. Littlefield walked
towards it. The Doctor appeared very much agitated in the labora-
tory. Not so much so up stairs as down stairs. [ went down with
Mr. Littlefield, and handed up the remains to Mr. Hopkins, I don’t
remember that the Doctor said anything, but he asked for some water.
He tried to drink, but spilt it all out. The remains were brought out
by the scuttle door, and there the Doctor stood, looking at them. 1
was at the Medical College daytimes, but not nights, after the remains
were found. I found fish-hooks and twine,

[The fish-hooks and twine were here shown to the Jury.]

[ The fish-hooks here shown were apparently the size of the largest
kind of cod-hooks, of nearly five inches in length. Three of them
were bound together with stout twine, or marline, so as to form a
grapple;; and, a little above the place where they were joined, was a
piece of lead, of about four or five ounces in weight. Some three or
four more were shown, of the same size ; some single, and some bound
together. With one of the bunches there was a heavy sinler, per-
haps weighing six or eight ounces. The twine was heavy and stout,
of about one half the size of an ordinary clothes-line.]

These were all found, just as they are, m Dr. Webster’s private
room, on Friday night. I took them on Saturday. Saturday there
was a general search. They were rolled up in a newspaper, all in
one bundle. They were in a large closet, on a shelf. The twine
was as it is now. The lead was found with them.

I was in the upper laboratory in the afterncon of Saturday, and
heard my name called by some one below, and went into the lower
laboratory. There I saw Mr. Fuller bringing a tea-chest, from the
front part of the lower laboratory, out into the middle of the room.
He emptied out a thigh, and other parts, with a quantity of twine
round the thigh. I cut a piece of it off.

[The twine was here produced.] It all came from the thigh.
[Some twenty-four skeleton keys were here offered to the witness by
the Prosecuting Attorney.] These keys, except one, I found in Dr.
Webster's back private room, on a shelf, tied up as they now are.
These keys — [Answer objected to by Counsel for the defence, as not
having sufficient connection with the subject-matter of investigation ;
but the Court ruled that the evidence in regard to the keys was
admissible. |

There is a key fitting the dissecting-room. That key fits the door
of Dr. Webster's lecture-room, and store-room door. The second key
fits the outer lecture-room door, and bears marks of being filed. The
third key fits front door, and the door underneath the steps; a brass
key. They were all found together, in the back private room. These
are all the keys that I know anything about.
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There were three drawers in the room, which had been taken out,
and made a cupboard of. [ Some evidence in regard to finding ardent
spirits objected to, and withdrawn. ] : '

When Dr. Webster was brought to the Police Court, I said, « Dr.
Webster, I fonnd some keys in yourroom.” Dr. Webster said, * What,
those that were filed? I picked them up in Fruit-street, and threw
them there, into the cupboard.”

Cross-examination. | was examined before the Coroner’s Jury. 1
made notes at the College, as I found things. [ went everywhere, — to
Salem, Billerica and other towns, in search of Dr. Parkman. I wrote
things down on the spot, and have the paper now in my possession. 1
had made this writing belore I went beiore the Coroner’s Jury. Idon’t
think I said anything there about Dr. Webster’s putting his hand in
his pocket, and putting it to his mouth.

Wﬁmn I saw Lattlefield at the College Friday, at half past four, Iasked
if every place had been searched. He said, “ Yes, except Dr. Webster's
privy.” I asked if we couldn’t look into that. He said, * No,” that
« Dr. Webster had the key, and had gone.” [told him that we would
come in the morning and see it. That is all the conversation. Mr.
Kingsley was present. Mr. Kingsley came from the Marshal’s office
with me. We went and looked over several old buildings. I next
saw Dr. Webster on Friday next, the day of his arrest. All the keys
were in the same room, in the closet. 1 said to Dr. Webster, at the
Palice Court, that I had found some keys in his room; not skeleton .
keys. The rest of the kg&s do not fit any place, as I know of. The
keys were all together. Mr. Clapp said that we had keys enough to
fit, and that we need n't go back — that is, when Dr. Webster offered
to go back after the keys at his house. I have given the exact words
of conversation at the jail. I wrote them down while the Doctor was
there ; and while he was talking, I was writing on a stove, which had
no fire in it. I did not write down my own language.

Cuarces B. Rice, sworn.—Am one of the police who went to search
Dr. Webster’s apartments, on Tuesday. After going down stairs,
some one asked 1f we had seen everything. Some one said, * Yes,
except Dr. Webster’s private privy.” Mr. Littlefield said it, I think.
This remark was made in the east room. Dr. Webster showed the
way ; we passed out. I was at the Medical College the night of his
arrest. remember the Coroner’s Jury didn’t wish the furnace
meddled with till the next day. [ stood behind Dr. Webster. 1don’t
remember there was anything said in his presence.

Cross-examination. f saw a tea-chest turned over. Messrs. Fuller,
*tarkweather and others, were present. Starkweather stood on the
stairs, We saw the remains. Some of the tan was brushed off by
some one.present. I can’t say whether any one had, or had not, a
stick in his hand. This was before the Jury came. I don’t re-
member who asked if we had seen all; that was when we were
down in the lower laboratory. Some one answered, * Yes, E?ﬂi'?[l]t
Dr. Webster's private privy.” Dr. Webster was talking with M.
Clapp, facing towards me. Mr. Littlefield was in the room, but in
what part, I cannot say.

Sanver Lang, Ji., sworn. — I am hardware dealer. My store is
No. 9, Dock-square. Know Dr. Webster; have known him since
1835. 1 could n't fix the day of Dr. Parkman’s disappearance. After
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I heard that Dr. Parkman was missing, [ saw Dr. Webster at my
place of business. I do not recollect the time of day, but should think
the after part of the day. It must have been Monday or Tuesday
after Dr. Parkman’s disappearance, for I went out of the city Wednes-
day. He came in, and inquired for fish-hooks, Thatis all I recollect
distinctly. I know I answered, that we had none in the store. Iam
a clerk. Mr. Stephen B. Kimball was clerk also, at the time. -Ihad
been in Dock-square about one year and a half, in the employ of M.
C. Warren, at the time. [ had zeen Dr. Wehster in the store before.
It made no impression on my mind, for I have done business with
him, but not very frequently at Mr. Warren’s store.

Stepren B. Kiuearr, sworn. — L am elerk for Mr, Warren ; and was
at the time of Dr. Parkman’s disapFeamnce. I knew Dr. Webster. 1
saw him on Monday or Tuesday of Thanksgiving week. [ fix the time,

Mr. Lane’s going off the next day. He inquired for large-sized
fish-hooks. It was %ate in the afternoon, for it was getting dark.

Janes W. EncerLy, sworn. —I am a hardware dealer. Remember
the time of Dr. Parkman’s disappearance. A person ecame into the store
Tuesday, the 27th of November, towards night, to purchase fish-hooks,
the largest we had. Ishowed him the Ial‘gest, of which he {jurcrhuscd
half a dozen, and went away. [Fish-hooks shown, and identified
by witness.] I fix them by a peculiar mark on them, and by their
unusual size. [ have had them on hand two or three vears. [ did
not then know Prof. Webster; but have seen him at the jail, and in
Court, and recognize him as the one who purchased them. He did
not state what he wished to do with them.

WitLiam W. Meap, sworn.— Iam a hardware dealer, in Union-street.
Am not acquainted with Dr. Webster, but have seen him. He called
on the Friday after Thanksgiving, and inquired for fish-hooks ; a hook
‘0 form a grapple-hook. [ showed the kind I had, and he purchased
three of them. I showed him how they might be put together, so as
to form a grapple. The ones that he purchased were considerably
smaller than those shown me. [ could net swear positively that the
person was Dr. Webster. [ told an officer that he had on a dark
dress ; an over-coat. I went down to the jail, to look at him. They
showed me where he was. [ went in a short time, and came out, and
remarked that, if I should see him with hat and coat on, I should feel
more confident. The hat and coat were put on,and I thought that it
looked like the same person. He came into my store about quarter
of one; any way, it was before one.

Wittian N. Tyier, sworn.—1 am a twine manufacturer. For
forty-five years I have been an actual operator in the business. [
am able to judge of the manufacture of the different kinds of twine.

Some dark short pieces of twine were shown to the witness.] It is
small marline, and rather peculiar ; itis two threaded marline. [ The
pieces on the fish-hooks were also shown.] Ihave not the least doubt
but the pieces are the same. They are both of good Russian green
hemp. a thing not usual for the manufacture of such marline at the
present day. American hemp is mostly used. The Russian is used
on ship-board. This is unusual for common unses. The irregularities
of these pieces arise from being made in small quantity.

Cross-examination. When we malke it, we don’t malke more than
forty to fifty fathoms, and then we “ball up.” There is not more
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than four or five fathoms in a ball. There is five cents difference in
a ball, between the kinds ; one being twenty cents, the dew rotted ; and
the other, the green, twenty-five cents. In spinning, the furthest end
will be the largest. I judge the specimens by the stock and manu-
facture.

[The witness went on here to illustrate, in technical terms, the dif-
ference of manufacture and of stock.]

By the Government, The Russian is used on ship-board, but does
not come in balls.

Naraanier, Warterman, sworn.—1 am a tin dealer, in Cornhill ;
have known Dr. Webster for ten or twelve years. He was in my
store on the 30th of November, about ten o'clock in the forenoon —
the day of his arrest. Seeing him talking with my foreman, I walked
up, and said, “ Doctor, you must excuse me, but I must ask how Dr.
Parkman appeared when he gave you the money 2” He said he took
the papers in his hand, and darted out in a peculiar manner., [ said,
if that was the case, some one, seeing the money, enticed him into one
of his own houses, before he got a great way from the College. [
said that if he was found, he would be found in a cellar of one of his
own hounses; for I did not believe the story of his going over Cam-
bridge Bridge. Dr. Webster then said, « Dr. Parkman did go to
Cambridge ; ” and then said he was sure he went there. He said so
quite energetically. He then said, “ Only think — a mesmeriser told
the number of a cab, and Mr. FitzHenry Homer found the cab, and
spots of blood on the lining of it.” That is all that was said about
Dr. Parkman.

[The Court here adjourned till half past three o’clock.]

AFTERNOON.

[The Court eame in a few minutes past half past three, and the ex-
amination of the witnesses for the prosecution was resumed. |

Naruaxie, Warermax, eramination continued. — Dr. Webster
stated that he wanted a tin box made. I inquired how he wished it
made; and he said he was going to have a number of small things
put into it, and the sides must come up straight.

By the Court. What do you mean by straight ?

Witness. 1 mean, with the edges not turned in. He said small
things — say hooks, &c. He then spoke of having the handles very
strong, and on the cover. He wanted it made so he could solder
it up himself ; for, he said, * You know I can do such things myself.”
I left him standing with my foreman; I bad no further conversation.
There was to be only one handle, and that on top. I didn’t hear him
say when he would like to have it done. 1 have done business before
with Dr. Webster.  [Account with Dr. Webster was shown.]  This
account runs back to 1843. I have not made such apparatus, for any
purpose, before. The Doctor wanted the handle made very strong.
The box was completed Saturday morning, and labelled, * to be called
for,” and “ charged,” and has not since been called for.

Cross-examination. My store is near to the Cambridge Omnibuses,
and goes through to Brattle-street. The box was to be made as
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though it was to be filled with small things. 1 went of my own ac-
cord to converse with Dr. Webster.

Cuarces B. Lotarop, swoern. — I am in Mr. Waterman's store. 1
remember the occasion of Dr. Webster’s calling to have a small tin
box made. I showed some boxes, but they would not answer, as he
wanted something to pack small things . This was the 30th of
November, at ten o’clock. He said he wanted to put books, &e., in
it. [ asked what size he wished. He gave me a piece of paper,
describing it as eighteen inches square and thirteen deep. He wanted
it made of thick tin. I told him we usually made them of light tin,
as long as it was not necessary to keep the air out. He said he
wanted it made tight, and with the handle on top. He asked me if
I could not have a groove in it. I told him yes, it would be best to
have the edge turned in on the top. Mr. Waterman came along at
that time, and made some remarlk, interrupting me, saying, —* You
must excuse me, Doctor, for interrupting; but I must ask you about
the money you paid Dr. Parkman.” Mr. Waterman remarked, that
he did not believe that story about Dr. Parkman’s going over to Cam-
bridge; that he didn’t believe he got further than the tenements in
Grove-street.  Dr. Webster said, Dr. Parkman took the money in his
hand, and darted off. Dr. Webster said there was no doubt about his
going to Cambridge, for he saw him going over the bridge. He
pansed a moment, and then said that a woman had been mesmerised,
and had given the number of a cab; and that Mr. Homer had found
the eab, and blood in it. [ asked if it was FitzHenry Homer; and he
said, Yes. That isall the conversation about Dr. Parkman.

I told him, il he would put the things in, I would solder it up for
him, if he would bring it. He said, No; that he had the tools, and
would solder it up himself, as it was going out of town, as I under-
stood, to be packed. If he was going to solder it, Mr. Waterman
said he had better have a holder, or a shingle, to hold the tin down
round the edge, while he applied the solder. [ told him I would have
it done on Satarday night. He said he wanted it before that. I told
him I would try and get it done by noon. He said that would answer.
He spoke about Dr. Parkman’s going to Cambridge, as though he had
not any doubt of it.

Samver N. Broww, sworn.—1 am one of the toll-gatherers on
Cambridge Bridge. I kuew the late Dr. Parliman, and also know Dr.
Webster. I had a conversation with Dr. Webster, the day of the
arrest — the 30th of November. I was at the corner of Grove-street
and Cambridge-street, in a grocery store, a little before four o’clock.
I saw Dr. Webster pass by the window ; I went out, and walked with
him down to the toll-house. I asked him if he could recognize a
twenty dollar bill I had taken in the morning. I did not show it to
him. On the morning of the 30th of November, I was on the Cam-
bridge side; an Irishman came along with this 20 bill, for me to take
oue cent for toll. I changed the bill for the Irishman, and carried it
alierwards to the Boston side. Mr. Hadley told me I had better keep
it.  Mr. Hadley came down to deposit toll-money, and made it known
to the Marshal. This bill was on the Freeman's Bank. 1 felt inter-
ested, and asked Dr. Webster if he recognized that bill. He said, No.
The money he paid Dr. Parkman was that which he had received
from the students; some in large, and some in small denominations.
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We parted a little this side of the toll-honse, and T had no more con-
versation with Dr. Webster. I saw Dr. Parkman the Wednesday or
Thursday before his disappearance. Dr. Parkman came to the toll-
house, and asked if I had seen Dr. Webster that day. I said, No.
This was between ten and eleven o'clock. In about fifteen or twent‘ﬁ
minutes, Dr. Parkman came along, in a chaise, with the top turne

down, and went over the bridee. That was the last time I saw him.

He had been twice, within four or six days, to inquire if I had seen

Dr. Webster.

Cross-examination. 1 first mentioned this conversation with Dr.
Webster to Mr. Hadley, as soon as [ got to the toll-house. I made
no memorandum,

Mzs. Bersev Bent Coneman, sworn.—1 reside in Cambridgeport.
Have known Dr. Webster a number of years; I saw him Friday, the day
of his arrest, at my house, at about four o’clock. A servant showed
him into the room, but did not bring his name. He inquired, when
[ came down, at what time I had seen Dr. Parkman last. He asked
what day I saw him. I told him I thought I saw him Thursday, the
day before his disappearance, as [ was sitting at my window. “Ii
was on Friday, you say,” said he. “No,” I answered. “I was
busy on Friday, in the lower part of the house.” *How was he
dressed 2” [ told him in dark clothes. I asked him if he had heard
anything of him. He said that there had been a coat or cloak fished
up, which was thought to be his, which had spots of blood on it.
There was a hat found, likewise. I said, then, “ O, dear, then I am
afraid he ’smurdered.” He said,* We are afraid he is.” He said there
was a $20 bill left at the toll-house, by an Irishman. That was all
he said then. He asked me twice or three times if I was sure that it
was Thursday. I think I saw Dr. Parkman on Thursday afternoon.
I saw Dr. Webster to the door. He repeated, at the door, * Was n't
it Friday you saw him?” I told him, No. That was the last [ saw
of Dr. Webhster.

Samuer D. Parker, sworr. Am attorney for the Commonwealth,
for the County of Suffolk. On the 30th of November, there were some
twelve or fifteen persons eame into my room ; among them, Marshal
Tukey and Robert G. Shaw. They made some statements about
findinz some remains at the Medical College. They told me that
Dr. Webster was in jail. They asked what should be done. T said,
if they were human remains, they should go for a coroner. We next
spoke of holding Dr. Webster. [ told them that a complaint must be
made and sworn to before some magistrate, and that Judge Merrill
was the nearest. He was sent for. He objected, on the ground that
he was a remote relation to the prisoner. But it was found that it
was not near enough to conflict with the duties of his office. It was
some ten minutes before any one was willing to make a complaint.
At last, Mr. Kingsley said, 11" will.” I drew up the complaint, stating
that Dr. Parkman had last been seen at the Medical College, and
that he believed Dr. Webster to be concerned in his disappearance.
This was signed and sworn to. I told Mr, Tukey to search the
place thoroughly.

Dr. Bigelow and Dr. Martin Gay were sent for, and accompanied
me to the jail. We inquired for Mr. Andrews, the jailer. He was
not there. Mr. Leighton, the clerk, however, came. He went down
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stairs, and bronght Dr. Webster up, two men holding him up, and
placed him in an arm-chair. Dr. Webster recognized Dr. Gay and
myself. Water was handed him, but he could not drink, he shook
so. Dr. Gay assisted him, as he was not able to hold the tumbler in
his hand. He was greatly distressed, and spoke of his wife and
children. I begged him to be calm, as we had not come to harm
him; that some discoveries had been made, which required explana-
tion. I understood that one or two of his private rooms had not been
opened, and requested him to go to the Colleze. He said he wished
to have Mr, Franklin Dexter and Mr. William H. Prescott sent for.
[ said to him that Mr. Dexter had moved out of town. He replied
that his family were at the Revere House. He spoke about the dis-
tress of Ris wife and children, and said, * O, my wife and children!”
I told him there was another family who, for the week past, had been
in great distress. I was incredulous when I left my house. [ told
him I hoped to God he would be able to explain all satisfactorily. I
told the officers that Dr. Webster was not to be interrogated.

The officers assisted him in getting into the coach. I do not think
he could support himself. We went to the College. 1 got there
before he did. I did not speak to him while there, as I remember.
We passed into the back room, and some one asked for the key of the
privy. Not being found, that door was forced. I remember his
asking for water. There was some search for key to privy ; but none
being found, it was forced. Mr. Andrews called my attention to the
fact that bones had been found in the furnace. Messrs. Pratt,
Clapp, and Littlefield, went down the scuttle, and the remains were
placed on a board. [ asked Dr. Gay if they were the parts of a hu-
man being, and of the same person. He arranged them, and =aid
they were. Dr. Webster was then four feet behind me, and that
would malke it about nine or ten feet off. No body spoke to Dr.
Webster. I gave orders to have him remanded, and strict guard to
be placed over the remains. He was earried out, being still supported.
When the privy seat was opened, Mr. Andrews noticed some quicks
ening of the pulse, I believe.

HUUTHSS-EIﬂ?fai'MEiM. I went very early next morning to the Revere
se.

By the Government. I was at the Police Court when Dr. Webster
was brought up for examination. He waived an examination.

Joun N. Cummines, sworn. — lam turnkey and watchman of the jail.
1 was there when Dr. Webster was brought, after his arrest. Mr.
Clapp went away, and afterwards came back and told me to commit
him. I then went into the back room, with a key. He was on the
settee., I =poke to him two or three times, but he made no answer.
He did not appear to have the use of his limbs. We carried him
down to the lock-up, and hoisted him up into a berth, and left him.
He spoke about his family, and wished water. We then left him.

Mr. Parleer came to the jail, and wanted to see Dr. Webster. 1
took the key, and went down and told him I wanted him to come
up stairs, for Mr. Parker wished to see him. He did n't appear to
take any notice of what I said. I took hold of him, when he said, «1
expected this.” I then went and told Mr. Parker that he couldn't
come up. Mr. Parker, and Dr. Gay, and two officers, Mr, Leighton
and Mr. Jones, then went down. Dr. Gay asked him, after we
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got down, if he could not walk up stairs with us; but he made no
answer.

We then took hold of hlm He put his arm round Mr. Jones’ neck,
as though he was frigchtened. Mr. Jones and I then carried him up
stairs, and sat him in an arm-chair. Mr. Leighton, Mr, Pratt, and

myself, went with him to the College. 1 mde ountside. When we
got to the College, we helped him out, and up the steps. He laid
some few minutes on the steps, before the door was opened. He
trembled, and sweat very much. His face was quite red. The
weather was cold at the time. After a while, a light was brought.
We went into the College.

Down in the Kttle Tack room, the Dr. stood where he cﬂuld look
into the little room. They found a coat, and the Dr. remarked that it
was the one he lectured in. When smr{:hmg the drawers, he said,
“Idon’t know what they want there ; they won’t find anything there.”

When we went back to the coach, we hoisted him into the coach.
He could not help himself at all.

We rode back to the jail. I noticed his pantaloons were quite
wet, when I put my hand on his leg. I noticed his under:coat was-
quite wet, when we took off his over-coat, in his cell. After we got
back to the jail, we put him in his cell. He was left on his back,
with his face up. lﬂ'e came down twice during the night; about
one o'clock, and about half past two. Found him in the same way
that he was left, both times. Some one asked about the hatchet,
but I ean’t recollect who it was, He appeared in considerable dis-
tress, when in his cell.

Gusravis AxprEws, sworn. — I am keeper of the jail. Remember
the night of Dr. Webster’s arrest. It was on the 30th November. I
had been out that night, and on going to the office, I found a mitti-
mus for Dr. Webster, but no prisoner.

I went to the Medical College, and through the sheds, to the lower
laboratory. Quite a number of gentlemen came down stairs, towards
the privy.  Mr. Parker, I think, pointed to the furnace, am‘]l went to
it. Isaw what I supposed to be pieces of skull. Dr. Webster was
about two feet from the privy duur, when I looked round. That was
the first I saw of him. The privy door was broken in about this time,

When the remains were brought up, I was within nine feet of Dr.
Webster. He appeared much agitatmL He appeared to put his
feet down, and brace himself up. He stood so until the remains were
brought up. I asked Mr, Parker if he wished anything further of
Dr. Webster. He said, “I have nothing to say.” 1 went out, and
called a carriage. When Dr. Webster was put in, he appeared
helpless, and was lifted in. He looked like a man that was faint.
The first word he said, in the ecarriage, was, “ Why don't they ask
Littlefield. He can explain all this. He has the care of the dissect-
ing-room. They wanted me to explain, but they didn’t ask me
anything, What will my family think of my absence 2”7 [ said, = My
dear sir, I pity you; I am sorry for you.” ~He said, ** You pity me!
You are sorry forme ! What for 2 I said, * To see you so excited,”
He said, * Oh, that’s it!" I don't recollect anything more being said,
till we reached the jail. We left him in his cell. I don’t think he
moved much, during the night. In the course of the forenoon, he
was able to sit in a chair. Saturday morning, he said, wratuztuusly,
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after ne was in a chair, * This is no more Dr. Parkman’s body, than
it is my body ; and how in the world it came there, I don’t know.”
He then said, # I never liked the looks of that Littlefield, the janitor.
I opposed his coming there, all I could.” I think there was nothing
more! He perspired very profusely the night before ; that is, Friday
night. I have a letter, which was bronght up to be sent out. It 1s
a rule of the jail, that all letters must be examined by the officers,
and then laid on the table, and I send them. This letter was brought
up Tuesday morning, Dec. Ist. It was in Prof. Webster's hand-
writing. ﬁ Holmes, junior, turnkey, called my attention to it. I said
I should n’t let it go till some officers called for those papers. I went
to Mr. Clapp, and told him about the clause.

Other notes of his went, but this I retained. I told Dr. Webster,
if he had anything to communicate to his family, of a domestic char-
acter, that he did not wish me to hear, he might communicate it to
his daughter. [ told Mr. Prescott, and Mr. Cunningham, the same
thing.

E[ he letter was here put in, by Mr. Bemis, which Mr. Andrews
had stopped at the jail :—]

“ Boston, Monday evening.

My Dearest Magriawxe: — [ wrote mamma yesterday, and Mr,
C., who was here this morning, told me he had sent it out. Ihada
good sleep last night, and dreamt of you all. I got my clothes off, for
the first time, and awoke in the morning, quite hungry. It wasa
long time before my first breakfast, from Parker's, came; and it rel-
ished, I can assare you. At one o'clock, I was notified that I must
appear at the court-room. All was arranged with great regard to
my comfort, and avoidance of publicity, and this first ceremony went
off better than I anticipated. On my return, I had a bit of turkey,
and rice, from Parker's. They send much more than I can eat, and
I have directed the steward to distribute the surplus to any poor ones
here.

If you will send me a small canister of tea, I can make my own.
A little pepper I may want some day, you can put up, to come with
some bundle. I would send the dirty clothes, but they have been
taken to dry, and have not been returned. I send a kind note, I
received to-day, from Mr. Curtis.  Prof. Peirce and Horsford called
to-day. Half a dozen Rochelle powders, I should like. Tell mamma
not to open the little bundle I gave her the other day, but to keep it,
just as she received it.

Hope you will soon be cheered by receipt of letters from Fayal.
With many kisses to you all, Good-night, from

Your afft. Father.

My tongue troubles me yet, very much ; and I must have bitten it,
in my distress, the other night. [::‘,r is painful, and swollen, affecting
my speech, somewhat.

Had mamma better send for Nancy — I think so ; or aunt Amelia.

Couple of colored neck-handkerchiefs.

One madras.”

Cross-examination. | I{Efrt it because of the passage — ¢ Tell
mamma not to open the little bundle I gave her the other day, but
to keep it.” I retained the letter on that account.
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Eur C. Kivstey, sworn. —1 am post-master of East Cambri
[Letter shown.] It was dropped into my office Nov. 30th, and I
handed it to Marshal Tukey, myself. It s directed to Mr. Tukey,
Boston. It was first dropped in, about quarter past ten — between
ten and twenty minutes after ten. [ brought it over that day, about
half past eleven. Its peculiar appearance induced me to bring it
in my=elf; instead of letting it come by the ordinary course of mail.

Francis Tukev, sworn. — That is the first anonymous letter I
received. [Showing a letter.] The hand-writing is different outside,
from that inside. I received it the same day that it is postmarked,
(the 26th.) This other one I received from the post-master of East
Cambridge. I cannot swear, but I think it came to me the day of
its postmark. I put my initials on them, before they went out of my
hands, to the Coroner’s Jury. [There was a third letter, but it was
not described.] :

EIGHTH DAY.— Wednesday, March 2Ttk.

At nine, the Jury came in, and about ten the Court was opened.
After the usual calling of the Jury, the evidence for the prosecution
was continued.]

Narnanier D. Gourp, sworn.—1 am an old resident of the eity,
[ am not personally acquainted with the defendant. Have seen his
hand-writing in signatures to medical diplomas. I have filled the
diplomas for several years. The names of all the Professors are ai-
tached to these diplomas. In filling those out, I have had occasion
to see his signature. [ have paid particular attention to Penmanship,
both teaching it and practising it, out of a natural curiosity. I have
also published on the subject of Penmanship. I have been engaged
in teaching it for fifty years.

[Mr. Bemis presented the letters received by Marshal Tukey, and
requested the opinion of the witness regarding the writer. ]

M. Solier. We object to this presenting letters. The Govern-
ment attempt to show that certain letters were written by this defend-
ant, by comparison of handsin one letter with the writing in anpther.

Chief Justice Shaw. They offer the letters to a person who has
known his hand-writing for a number of years, g

My. Sokier. This lkind of evidence, if it is admissible at all, belongs
to a class of evidence exceedingly liable to error; and we do not intend
to tale the responsibility of permitting it to be presented, without
interposing an objection. This evidence is offered on the ground of
the decision in the case of Moody and Rowell. We do not mean to
objeet to that decision, but we trust that the Court will not go be-
yond it.

That decision sustains three propositions. First, that genuine
hand-writing may be presented to the Jury, for them to compare with
the writing alleged to be by the same person. Secondly, that an
expert may determine and testify, by comparing letters, whether hand-
writing be genuine or not. Thirdly, that an expert may be presented
to show that there was an attempt at simulating the hand of another.

This case does not come under either of these three propositions.
What they now undertake to prove is, that these letters were written
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by Dr. Webster, by comparing them with genuine letiers, Suppose
it was a question of forgery, and Prof. Webster was under trial there-
for. Would it be admissible, first to put on the person whose pre-
tended hand-writing it is to testify that it was not lis, and then to
put on this witness to say that Prol. Webster wrote it. The evidence
18 not presented to prove that this is the hand-writing ol the defendant,
but that he wrote it.

My, Clifford. 1 think that the counsel misapprehend the ground
upon which we offer this. We do offer it with the intention of show-
ing, by the testimony of an expert, that th?’ are in the hand-writing,
using that term in its proper and enlarged sense, of the defendant.
For if a person’s hand-writing was ordinarily uniform, but he occa-
sionally varied it, the evidence, according to the gentleman’s proposi-
tion, would be inadmissible ; but admissible if his hand-writing was
always uniform, — a distinction which no rule of law could be founded
upon. We offer certain documents, which we say are in his hand-
writing. We offer a person who has made this his particalar study.

Suppose that we were to undertake, as my brother has sugoested,
to show that here was a forged missile. In such a case, he admits
that we could present the testimony of an expert. Whereas, we mean
to show that a man has attempted to conceal his own hand-writing.
Upon principle and the reason of the thing, which is the most strin-

nt, if & man 1s sitting down to imitate the hand-writing of another,
with that hand-writing of another before him, it is possible that he
may succeed. But if a man is sitting down to make a hand-writing,
he has two processes to carry in his mind : one, to remember all the
peculiarities of his own hand-writing, and aveid them ; and also to
carry in his mind the form of the dissimilar or disguised hand.
Upon which of the two propositions would the testimony of an expert
bear most satisfactorily ? Why, certainly, upon the latter. An
expert says, “* | am acquainted with hand-writing. [can tell whether
it is disguised. I can tell the hand-writing of this individual. There
are slight peculiarities that I can explain to the Jury, and satisfy
them they are his.” [ submit that that would be admissible.

I understand the case of Moody and UHowell to go to the extent
mentioned by the learned counsel. But there is other authority con-
nected with this subject. In England, it has been adinitied, in Cator’s
case, reported in Espinasse, in a prosecution for libel, that an expert
may take the stand, and prove w.ﬁether it is a disguised hand of the
prisoner. And that is precisely the point which we offer here.

lt seems to me, that so far {rom extending the rule of Moody and
Rowell, it is clearly within its limits. It is within those limits to put
in the testimony of an expert, who has made it his study, and whe
can explain to the Jury such peculiarities as will tend to satisfy their
minds that this party has attempted to disguise his hand, and has
failed to do it. I submit that we do not attempt to do more than has
been done before. It is proper, I believe, to allude to the decision of
inferior courts. In the trial of George Miller, where my learned
friends were both engaged in the case, this precise evidence which we
propose was admitted. Also in the case of Eastman and Fondy ; and
not precise experts, but other persons, were admitted to testify to the
hand-writing. And I am not aware that there has ever been a ruling
the other way.
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Judge Merrick. 'The precise question which is now presented to
the Court has not been previously decided : at least, I have no knowl-
edge of any such decision. Where the question has been, whether
a particular instrument was made by the party by whom it purports
to have been made, experts have been allowed -to testify whether the
paper appears to be in the common hand-writing or disguised —whether
it is the hand-writing of the person who purported to have executed
the instrument. And that is all that I understand to have been said
in the case of Moody and Rowell. There the instrument was de-
nied. It was asserted that it was not genuine. Then the expert
was allowed to testify to the paper presented, purporting to have been
that of the party presented. That is very distinguishable from the
present case, where the papers presented slrn not purport to be in the
hand-writing of the prisoner. It is not sugpested that these papers
purport upon their face to be the hand-writing of Dr. Webster.

My. Clifford. One of them, we do contend, is Dr. Webster’s hand-
writing upon its face,

Judge Merrick. Upon the ordinary rules of testimony, not! But
the proposition is, that an expert may take these papers, which do not
purport to have been written by Dr. Webster, and which it is not
pretended are in the similitude of his hand-writing, and may testify
whether they are, or not, his writing. It is attempted to be shown,
by the expert, that it may be, or is, in the hand-writing of Dr. Web-
ster, by analyzing the letters, and by tracing the form of particular
strokes of the pen, which it is thought can connect it with the ordi-
nary hand-writing of Dr. Webster. ’ "

And now, when we say that this has never been determined by the
Court, while the Courts have uniformly regarded this species of evi-
dence as of a weak, and perhan of a questionable kind, we submit
whether it is not an extension of the rule, to present that which is not
upon its face the hand-writing of Webster — that this can be shown
to have been done by the prisoner.

Mr. Clifford. 1 find that my friends on the other side confine
the application of their remarks to one particular letter, which is pecu-
Liar. 1 ought to have added. when I was up just now, that we expect
to show that that is a document that could not have been written by
a pen; that the Jury will be satisfied of that. We also expect to
satisfy them, from the testimony of Mr. Gould, that it could only have
been written by an instrument which is found in the private room of
Dr. Webster. We expect to show that this document was written
by this instrument. e expect that the Jury will be satisfied of it,
from this witness, —and it presents another ground for the admission
of that particular document, which seems to obtain the particular
stress of the remarks of the Counsel.

Judge Merrick. [haveonly to say, that to the rule which has been
heretofore adopted we have no objection. But we do object to any
extension of the rule. With respect to this last suggestion, I have no
opinion to express, whether an expert can or can not show that a paper
of that kind was written by the defendant. Certainly he has not
laid the foundation for any such knowledge, which would enable him
to determine that the writing of one of the papers was made with
this instrument.

Chief Justice Shaw. With regard to the precise point presented,
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we consider that it is not obnoxious to the objection on the other side.
It is sufficient to say, that the experience of the witness qualifies him
to testify to this. Papers which have passed under his notice have
given him an opportunity to know, by a long and familiar acquaint-
ance, the party’s hand-writing.  This witness, therefore, now seems
to us to be competent to give an opinion, that these are in the hand-
writing of the prisoner; and in the use of the term hand-writing, I do
not mean the general hand-writing, but whether they were done by
his hand. That is to be proved.

Commonly, this question of hand-writing arises in a case of forgery.
But there are other cases where this evidence is introduced — that is,
where parties are sending threatening letters.  There, the question
is, whether they were written by him, although not written in what is
understood to be his usual h:mc;:writ[ng. So far from following that
hand-writing, the object is to depart from it. How much further the
Counsel mean to go, we do not know ; but at present we think that
these letters may be put into the hand of the witness, for the purpose
of allowing him to say whether they were or were not written by the
defendant.

M. Bemis. State whether the * Civis” letter was, in your opin-
ion, written by Dr. Webster.

Myr. Gould. 1 think it was. There are some circumstances con-
nected with the determination of this question, which may appear
trifling to a person who has not attended to the subject. But yet, I
consider them important.

When any one undertakes to forge a hand, there are only two ways
m which he can do it.

Judge Merrick. Did I understand the Court, that he could do any-
thing meore than give his opinion? or is he to state the grounds and
reasons for that opinion, which will invelve the whole point in issue ?
The witness has expressed an opinion that this is the hand-writing of
Dr. Webster ; and he suggests that it is a delicate theory by which
he may be enabled to know this. This is somewhat peculiar, and
different from the ordinary testimony. -

Mr. Clifford. If you will allow me, I will make one suggestion
more. [ suppose that if the witness is introduced here as an expert,
he stands subject to all the rules which the Court may put upon him,
precisely as Mr. Tyler, the manufacturer of twine, stood here yester-
day. Then, any foundation by which he reaches that result is obtained,
I suppose, as in all other cases. The delicacy of the theory, as it is
expressed by the learned Counsel, may be a matter of opmion. It
may be, that this delicate theory will be made by the witness so per-
fectly apparent and transparent, as to satisfy every mind that it is
palpable and clear, from the nature of things ; and I suppose that that
is a matter for the Jury to decide, and not to be pre-determined here,
I trust that he may be allowed by the Court to stand here, and give
the reasons and foundation for his opinion.

Chief Justice Shaw. I do not understand that there is any theory
to advance. This opinion is connected with the hand-writing of Dr.
Webster; and it appears that, according to that opinion, this is his
hand-writing. Now, we think that he could point out to the Jury
what circumstances constitute the grounds of that opinion.

Mr. Bemis. 1 suppose that it will be competent for Mr. Gould, by

L2
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way of facilitation to this opinion, to use one of the genuine letters m
the case ? '
Chief Justice Shaw. That will be a subject for consideration here-
after. - :
Mr. Bemis. State the grounds of your opinion, that this is Dr.
Webster's hand-writing, from your knowledge of it.
Mr. Gould. As ] observed at the commencement, it is impossible
for me to explain the reasons for my opinion, without going into some

ticulars which may seem very trivial, but which are to me abso-
utely necessary. I hope that I shall not say anything that is not rel-
evant to to the cause and the subject. In all the practice that [ have
ever had in writing, I never have been able to satisfy myself that I
could make two letters precisely alike. I do not think that I could
make two letters that will exactly correspond, if one is placed top
of the other. But still, when I have had scholars to teach, I never
saw the time, even when I had a large number of them, but what I
could designate who wrote any writing that was presented to me.
There is some peculiarity which shows that it belonged to a particular
individual; and as every one has this peculiarity, it is next to im-
puss[iihie to attempt to get rid of it, when he attempts to disguise the
hand.

Mr. Sohier. We understood the Court to rule, that the witness
was to point out the similarities of hand-writing,

Chief Justice Shaw. He has not gone beyond that point.

Mr. Sokier (aside). He has not reached it.

Myr. Gould. 1 should be very glad to answer only yes and no. 1
do not know any other way than to give those similarities of hand-
writing in my own way. As it was observed by the Counsel, every
man that attempts to disguise his hand must either do it b{mrﬁ'less
flourishing, entirely letting his hand loose, or else he must be on his
roard in every stroke that he malkes, in order to prevent its showing
exactly who wrote the letter. It is next to impossible for any one
to continue through any considerable amount of writing, without
making some of those letiers which are peculiar to himself, and
which he has been in the habit of making in a peculiar manner,
and which he may attempt to make in some other manner.

Now, I find inr this letter, that there are three letters which are en
tirely different from what Professor Webster's hand-writing is; or,
rather, two letters and a character, viz.: the letters & small, and »
sinall, and the character fq which he almost universally makes in one
particular manner, but which in this letter are made differenily. He
uses the character, without writing the word. In other small letters,
we find nothing dissimilar from his usual hand-writing., I find some
striking similarity in-the letter I [Some checks were about to be
shown to witness, but the defence objected to anything but the names.
The objection was withdrawn, however. Letter to Marianne Webster
shown witness, and memorandum found in prisoner’s pocket ; also the
letter to Marshal Tukey, and Dr. Webster’s checks on the Charles
River Bank.] I find a similarity in the eapital I which can hardly
be mistaken. The small letters, which I think similar, may not look
to the eyes of othersas they do tome. Asanaturalist may see minute
peculiarities in a shell, which might escape my eye, so, in hand-
writing, I notice similarities and shades of difference which are not per-

-
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cewved by an unpractised eye. The I, T, D, in these papers, are all
made in the same way. Whenever [ examine specimens, I always
look for those points that are similar; then I see how many are dis-
similar. [ commence with the capitals. Almost every letter has a
different principle in its formation. The capitals are, many of them,
alike, and the first siroke alike ; but they differ in their dress or other
strokes. In adding these particular strokes, every one differs in his
manner of doing it. [ next examine the words. The form of whole
words, in writing, is fixed in the mind before writing them, just as a
single letter is ; and when written, may male the same impression on
the eye as a letter. Ican point out short words, which appear very
much alike. I would remfrk that the figures 1,3,4, 9, are alike.
The letter f in the “Civis letter,” when compared with the oth-
ers, is alike. INow. isalike in all;—the words from, was, all,
if, his, Boston; — B is not always alike; it varies in the first
stroke in the * Civis letter,” The letter ¥ placed above the line isa
r.a]iitﬂl.

n my own mind, I have no doubt that the « Civis ” letter is Dr.
Webster’s hand-writing.

[A letter, in a yellow envelope, post-marked November 26, and
directed to Marshal Tukey, called the * Dart ” letter, was here hand-
ed to the witness.]

This hand-writing is soinewhat dissimilar from Dr. Webster’s, At
first sight, it looks as though it were written by a boy ; but, gn close
examination, it shows marks of having been written by one used to
the pen. The top part of the T and the Fare made with more pains
than Dr. Webster’s uszual letters, and the direction of the stroke is
different. I find some slight difference in the letter ). The ¥'s in
yore and yours are similar. He usually writes gours in full. The
w in will is also similar. He almost universally leaves the small a
open at the top. I find, in this letter, that it is left in the same way.
On the envelope, the @ in Francis and Marskal have been cor-
rected aft,erward}; at the top. The name on the inside of the enve-
lope is written by the same hand, and erased. It could not have been
done by the finger, for it would have left the ink thicker at the com-
mencement than at the end ; and this, too, is quite regular. I think
the envelope and the letter are in the defendant’s hand-writing, and
the letter 1s written with a pen.

Mr. Bemis (to the witness.) You have seen the instrument which
has been found, and which is before you. Do you think that that let-
ter [the * East Cambridge ” letter] was made with that instrument?
Mr. Bemis showed the witness a stick, about six inches long, around
the end of which a piece of cotton had been tied. Objected to.]

My, Clifford. It seems to me, that if there is fﬂundl on the prem-
ises an instrument which is peculiar, the evidence asked would be ad-
missible. Suppose it to be an instrument of some novel manufae-
ture, which is so peculiar that no duplicate of it can be shown to exist
?iﬁn the city, and a document is found which was evidently made

it ?

Fﬂéief Justice Shaw. That is a distinet proposition.

Mpr. Clifford. My proposition is this. We do find, in the posses-
sion of the defendant, an instrument. Whether it is novel or pe-
culiar, the principle seems to be the same. Suppose that we find a
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letter which it appears might have been made by that instrument, and
could not have been made by any other. This is manifestly very
strong evidence. The degres of weight to be attached to i,

pose to be a matter for the Jury, on the exhibition of the facts to
made by the witness. Would not that be admissible evidence ?

My associate [Mr. Bemis] suggests this illustration. Suppose that
metallic type, of a peculiar character, had been found in Dr. Web-
ster’s premises ; and that there was no similar type to be found any-
where ;"and a document, with reference to the matter of Dr. Park-
man’s disa ppearance, had been sent to the City Marshal; and an ex-
pert comes here to say that that document was prepared with the me-
tallic type. Could not this evidence be presentedpm order to show
that it was made with the knowledge of the party in whose posses-
sion that instrument was found ?

Judge Merrick. I understand that this attempt is to show that this
witness has made experiments with this instrument, and that he has
made a mark similar to those in the letter ; and now he comes to tes-
tify that that letter was probably written h}r that mstrument. The
question is, whether that may be admitted ; whether that is compe-
tent. We submit that it is not.

Mr. Clifford. Tt seems to me that the objection goes rather to the
weight and value of the testimony, than to its competency.

Chief Justice Shaw. We think that this is entirely inadmissible.
The fact that that instrument was found has already been proved ;
but it 1s still liable to objection and error.

[A third letter, addressed * Mr. Tulkey,” post-marked November 30,
was shown.]

I have no doubt it is Dr. Webster’s. The characters are made by
the same hand as the others I have examined. The particular letters
differ some, but the words strike the mind by their lilkeness. The
word was occwrs two or three times; the words the, if, and cap-
ital E, the w in watch, a e, the Juf,have a very great resemblance.
The w is large, but I don’t know as it was intended for a capital.

The word Boston looks like all of his. This was not written
with a pen, for the reason that the top of the letter looks as if some-
thing soft were used ; and it could not be a brush, for a brush does not
begin a stroke in that way. Itis nota pen, because some parts will
be stronger marked than others. If you examine with a glass, you
will notiee it.

The hair-marks of the letters show that the fibres of the materials
used in writing it were very fine. This is seen particularly in the
letters ? and w. There is no dot to the 2.

[A memorandum called the * Cunningham memorandum,” con-
taining some items of the prisoner’s account with Dr. Parkman, was
here shown to the witness, who recognized in them particularly a B
and an ¢ of Dr. Webster *3]

In regard to the three lines on the top, I have no doubt that they
are by the same hand.

[The two memoranda shown which were in Dr. Webster's wal-
let when arrested.]

The word paid on these is in the defendant’s hand-writing. I
also notice the figures and the November, as of the same character
as those I have previously spoken of.
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he erasures on the large note shown.]
hey could not have been made with a pen, for the same reasons
given with regard to the letters. I see in them traces of a fibrous
substance. They were not made with a pointed instrument.
The $400 note shown.]
he marks of the fibrous substance are here very distinct.

[The Court here took a recess for a few minutes, and the Jury were
allowed to retire.] :

Cross-examination. 1 have seen these specimens of writing before
to-day. I have seen other anonymous letiers, which I think were all
addressed to Mr. Tukey. The letter addressed to Mr. Tukey, which
I have examined, was evidently written in haste. The * Civis " let-
ter is one which is not disguised to my eye. It is in Dr. Webster's
usual band-writing; though somewhat rounder, if anything, than
Dr. Webster's usual hand.

It is impossible for me to say a whole letter is disguised. If it was
shown to me, I could not say i1t was mntended to be a disguised hand.
I observed that there were, in the * Civis ” letter, three letters dissim-
ilar to Dr. Webster’s hand-writing. I could n’t take my oath that the
others were the same as his hunﬁ-wriﬁng. I should say the other let-
ters were his hand-writing, but could not swear to every separate one;
but as a whole.

I only say that they all appear like his ordinary hand-writing, ex-
cept the letters which I have epumerated; but I cannot say he
intended to disguise them. I could n’t say all the excepted letters are
alike. The d’s are peculiar. I think Een: he has made his d's
as he has usually done, with a curve to the left. He vsually makes
a u for an @, and does not connect the opening at the -top. I
have examined a number of his specimens. l; have not seen some
of his a's joined at the top, in his genuine hand-writing. The
letter B is made without a hook to it, as we say. Sometimes he
makes an K that looks very much like a K. In his usual writing,
he makes a character which one would not consider an §. There
is not, at the first sight, an appearance of itz being disguised. With-
out something in the letters very unaccountably formed, I do not pre-
tend to say any hand is disguised. [ first take some of the ordinar
hand-writing, and then compare the two. Ido find the writings o
some other persons where there are some things the same. I have
taken up writing, casually, wherever I have been —anybody’s to com-
pare with. I have compired these letters with even the writing of
my own family. The * Civis” leiter is not ezactly like Dr. Webster’s
hand-writing, when you come to examine it closely. It struck me, at
first sight, as being his.

The *“Dart™ letter does not appear like Dr. Webster’s general
hand-writing.

The letter called the * Dart letter * was here handed to the witness. ]

The letter T is peculiar. The o's are similar to Dr. Webster's ;
so are the »'s. The & was similar, at first, but conmected afterwards
at the top. The w and f are similar also. The f's are all peculiar,
and not peaked at the top, and are also peculiar in the final stroke.
I think it an unnatural hand ; for when the letters are made wvery
strangely, and others — the same — not, then I judge that it must be
feigned. I think it is a disguised hand, and Dr. Webster's.
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[Here the letter, post-marked East Cambridge, and directed to
Marshal Tulkey was shown to witness,]

The word w23, as a whole, looks like Dr. Webster’s. 8o do the
words is, be, Boston, but.

There is a similarity between them. They have the same appear-
ance. The writing was not done with a pen. If T had the instru-
ment before me, I could tell, at sight, whether it would make such a
mark. My own opinion is positive that it was written by Dr. Web-
ster. I only say that, take it as a whole, and the peculiarities I have
noticed, it looks like Dr. Webster’'s. [ cannot express an opinion
more than I have, from the specimens I have seen. 1 have an opinion
that the East Cambridge letter, and that of November 26th, were
done by the same person as those written with a pen. I shounld not
think any man could write a disguised hand twice alike. They
sometimes vary essentially, but always more or less. I have not
taken into consideration at all the ather letters of Dr. Webster which
I think disguised, in forming my opinion. I have probably examined
a dozen times hand-writing not written with a pen.

Georse G. Smita, sworn. — [ have given attention to penmanship.
Have known Dr. Webster many years. 1 have known his hand-
writing by seeing incidentally the diplomas, and by notes I have
received from him., I have a general remembrance of his signature.
As an engraver, I have been obliged, in fac similes, to examine
minutely specimens of hand-writing, and have sometimes been called
into Court to testify in regard to hand-writing.

[The # Civis” and the * Dart” letters, together with the letter to
Miss Marianne Wehster, and. that sent to Mr. Ralph Smith, and the
memoranda found in Dr. Webster’s possession, were here handed to
the witness.]

I have not seen the one to Miss Marianne Webster before, but the
others [ have. [ have seen the * Civis” letter before. My opinion is,
that it is Dr. Webster's hand-writing. [ am very sorry to say that I
feel quite confident of this. With regard to this “ Dart” letter, I find
certain peculiarities, but I do not feel prepared to express myself so
confidently as in regard to the other. ]E think it might be his; but I
am not certain, though strongly confident. I have no doubt that the
envelope and the writing inside are the same. The erasures look to
me as though they were partly made by passing a finger over it, and
the rest by something else. ﬁ'at a pen though, sir!

The East Cambridge letter was here shown to the witness.]

his looks like Dr. Webster’s hand-writing, and like the other, T
think it like Dr. Webster’s hand-writing, though I am not certain that
it is his. This letter was not written with a pen or a brush. We
find a very peculiar softening of the shade. If, then, it was done
with a pen, it must necessarily be full of ink, and there could not be
that softness of shade at the commencement. It was made with
some soft instrument. [ do discover marks of fibres.

The two notes were here shown to the witness.]

hose erasures I do not think were made with a pen. I ean dis-
cover traces of fibres in them. I have examined the checks before.
I have examined quite a number of specimens of Dr. Webster's hand-
writing.

Cross-examination. The erasures on the notes could not have been
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made with a pen. If the pen had been soaked very soft, it might
possibly have been done.

BThe Counsel makes a heavy mark with the back of a soaked pen,
and shows it to the witness.]

There is a material difference in the two, because in yours there is
lacking that softening shade, and the marks of fibres. It is possible,
if there were cotton in the ink, that there might be this appearance.
The = Civis” letter has several peculiarities; one in the termination
of a d. Another one is d in the middle of a word. Another is the
character &. I noticed he wrote and in full first, and then after he
made one of his own §s, and then altered it. There is a general
appearance which I can’t explain, but it impresses the opinion on my
mind that it is Dr. Webster’s. The d’s in the beginning and end of
the words differ. It is undoubtedly a disguised hand, though not to
a great degree disguised. I judge from the peculiarity in the separa-
tion of the @ in the middle of a word. It is separated from the first

rt, but joined to the last part. This is joined. I think it must

ave been purposely disguised. I think so from these specimens
submitted to me. 2i‘l‘lus! most changed letter I could not determine,
without sitting down, with a great deal of eare. It is like the Doctor’s,
in some respects, and not like it in others; but there is enough to
convince me that he wrote it. I might recall other things, if I were
to refer to my memoranda, and have time.

[The following anonymous letters were now put in: —]

Boston, Nov'r 31, 49.
Mr Tukey,
Dear Sir,

I have been considerably interested in the recent affair of Dr Park-
man, and [ think [ can recommend means, the adoption of which
might result in bringing to licht some of the mysteries connected
with the disappearance of the afore-mentioned gentleman,

In the first place, with regard to the searching of houses, &ec., I
would recommend that particular attention be paid to the appearance
of cellar floors; do they present the appearance of having been
recently dug into and covered up again; or might not the part of the
cellar where he was buried have been covered by the piling of wood ?
Secondly, have the outhouses and necessaries been carefully exam-
ined; have they been raked suﬂicientl?r ?

Probably his body was cut up and placed in a stout bag, containing
heavy weights, & thrown off one of the bridges,— perhaps Craigie’s.
And I would recommend the firing of cannon from some of these
bridges, and from various parts of the harbor & river, in order to
cause the parts of the body to rise to the surface of the water. This,
I think, will be the last resort, & it should be done effectually.

And I recommend that the cellars of the houses in East Cam-
bridge be examined. Yours respectfully,

. CIVIS.

The following one is the letter post-marked November 26, directed
to Francis Tukey, City Marshal. The eunvelope also contained the
name on the inside, which was still legible, through an erasure.
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Dr Sir —
You will find Dr Parkman
Murdered on brooklynt

- heights. ours,  M.—

Captain of the Dart.

[The next one read was one directed to “ Mr Tukey Boston,” taken
from the East Cambridge post-office by the post-master, and handed
to Mr. Tukey in advance of the mail. - 1t was in a light pink enve-
lope, looking something like chemical filtering paper. The address on
the outside was done in italics, as large l:-un%.les are marked.]

% Dr Parkman was took
on Bord the ship herculun
and this is al | dare to say
as [ shal be kild
Est Cambge, one of
the men

oive me his watch
but I was feared to
keep it and throwd
it in the water rigt side
the road to the
long bige to
BD$ .H'

[The last letter was written on both sides of a small scrap of white
paper, with the edges roughly torn.]

Fisuer A. BoswortH, swoern.— [ am a physician, and reside in Graf-
ton, Worcester County. I attended Medical Lectures, two courses, in
1547 and 1848, I knew Dr, Parkman, and also Mr. Littlefield. The
latter was janitor. [had oceasion to go to Medical College 23d Nov., to
see a student. It was between half past one and two—near two. I went
up Cambridge-street to Blossom-street, then into Fruit-street, and down
College-court. [ went up the front steps, the east stairs, and found the
door a-jar; and from the position of the door, I concluded the lecture
was notout. [ immediately passed out, and went down towards the dis-
secting-room entry, as [ did not wish to disturb the lecture. As 1
fmssed the foot of the stairs, I met Dr. Parkman right at the corner.

{e was going up the same stairs that I was coming down. As [
Fasaed round the corner, I saw the Dr. nearly at the top of the stairs.

soon came up into Court-street, and did an errand ; then went, about
three o’clock, back again, and rang the bell. The janitor made his
appearance at the front door, in three or four minutes. I recognized
him. [ inquired if a student named Coffrain was there. He =aid he
did not know the gentleman; but if he was there, he was in the dis-
secting-room. [ asked him if he would speak to him. He said he
was busy, but asked if I knew the way. I said I did.

I went down, and found Mr. Coffrain in the disseeting-room. I
thought Mr. Littlefield was in his usual working-dress. I fix the
time, because on the 21st of November I borrowed some money on my
note, payable in four months. The next day I came from Grafton to
Boston, and was too unwell to go out to do any business. The pext
day, the 23d, [ went to dine in the rear of 684, Washington-street,

#
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below Dover-street, in Cotton-place. I ate my dinner at half past
twelve o’clock, and went directly to the College. The 24th, on Sat-
urday, I was over to South Boston, on business for my brother, the
Rev. Mr. Bosworth. I first heard of the disappearance of Dr. Park-
man on Saturday afternoon, at the depot when I was going up to
Grafton. I saw a notice of it in the paper, the same night. I remem-
bered the eircumstance then, of my seeing him, and mentioned it at
the depot. I was not apprised, till yesterday, that I would be required
here. I was informed yesterday, at eleven o’clock, at my house.
[The Prosecuting Attorney-here informed the Court that the evi-
dence on the part of the Government was now all in; and it wanting

but a few minutes of two o’clock, the Court adjourned to half past
three, P. M.]

AFTERNOON.

OPENING STATEMENT OF MR. EDWARD D. SOHIER, IN BEEHALF
OF THE DEFENDANT.

May it please your Honors,and Gentlemen of the Jury: +

[ am aware that it is usual — perhaps it may be considered as im-
perative upon the Counsel, in a case like this—to call the atten-
tion of the Jury to the sitnation of their client; and to comment, in
strong language, upon the importance — the vast importance — of the
interests which he has at stake. But, Gentlemen, I shall not do this;
I cannot do it.

I fear much, Gentlemen, that, should I permit my attention here to
wander from the cause to the party, from the record to the dock, I
might be lost. I might, perchance, perceive nothing but the man
who, for more than a quarter of a century, has been a respected Pro-
fessor in that University which is the pride of our State; a respected
Lecturer in that College which is one of the boasts of our city ; the
man under whose instruction many now present at this trial were
educated, myself among the rest; —1I should see him struggling for
his life ; strugeling for his reputation ; struggling to avert infamy from
himself and from his children, in that self-same dock where we have
been accustomed to see felon after felon, to abide the judgment of the
law. I might think of these things, Gentlemen, and I might wander
from the case.

I must, on the contrary, rather follow — though necessarily it needs
must be ata long and huinble distance — in the footsteps of the eloguent
Counsel who opened this case in behalf of the Government ; and I
must allude, Gentlemen, briefly, to our duties here; to our relative
situation, and relative responsibilities to the cause; the rules of law
applicable to the charge involved in it; and the rules of evidence, as
applicable to its long, detailed, and circumstantial testimony.

We are here, Gentlemen, as the learned Counsel told you, in the
discharge of our various duties as officers and as ministers of the
Court, to discuss and determine that one great question, which, for
months, has absorbed the attention, and has agitated to their very
lowest depths the feelings of a great community ; to wit, —Is the lile
of Professor Webster, now the prisoner at the bar, forfeited to the
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laws of his country, upon the ground, and for the reason, that it has
been proved here, beyond a most reasonable:doubt, that he has been
guilty of one of the most horrible offences that can be found in the
law’s dark catalogue of crime? A grave and serious duty has de-
volved upon us — has devolved upon you, the judges, and upon us,
who represent him in this more than mortal strugzle. It devolves
upon you to say, whether Professor Webster shall depart hence to his
family, and there remain, what he ever has been to them, the very
cenfre of their affections, the very object of their idolatry ; or whether
he shall depart hence to the scaflold, leaving to that famlly a name
which they would prefer to bury in the gmve—whlch they wonld
coneeive to be their greatest curse, their only disgrace. Yes, it does
devolve upon you to say, whether the fire upon his hearth-stone shall
burn brightly, or whether your breath, Mr. Foreman, when you pro-
nounce the verdict, shall extinguish that fire, so as to cause all its
ashes to be scattered to the winds — its place to be forgotten in kind-
ness by his friends, and in merey by his enemies !

This duty does devolve upon you; and, if you err, you see the
victim. He it is, and his is the family, who must be offered up as an
atoning sacrifice to that error, unless, indeed, you err on Mercy's side
— upon the side of that qu'll:ty in which it is permitted man to ap-
proach nearer than in any other to the nature of his God ; — here, in-
deed, you may err, and err in safety too, and no prisoner’s groan, no
widow's sob or orphan tear, bear witness to the error.

And here, and here only, is your lot happier than ours. If we err
here, we can err in no safe place. We must'answerit to the prisoner
and his friends. We must answer it to an exacting and a scrutinizing
profession. We must answer it to our consciences. There is no place
for us to err in. There is a place for you.

Standing, then, as we do, and as you do, engaged in one and the
same duty, to wit, — in examining, discussing, and deciding this great
question, it behooves us to stand in no antagonistic position to each
other ; but, on the contrary, to aid and assist each other, so far as in
us lies, and as we can truly do it. Ill would it become us, by any
management and chicane, to obtain a verdict in this caze ; and ill would
it become you to permit this defendant to suffer by any error of ours,

It is your duty, and your right and privilege, to constitute your-
selves the Counsel for this defendant: to see that he has the benefit
of everything that could be urged in his defence; to see that he shall
have the evidence presented in every possible view that can be taken
of it, whether we assume those views or not. And it is your duty to
remember, and never for a moment to forget, that, in the words of
your oath, it-is this defendant whom you have in charge. Yet, it is
not this defendant only, but this defendant’s family, whom you have
in charge.

And here I pray that you would allow me to make a few remarks,
upon a subject I would not address men like you upon, on any less
important cause, or on any less momentous oceasion. But, in the
name of this defendant, and of all that he has at stake, I must en-
treat you to commence the examination of this case, by examining
your own ininds; and that you do it with a strong, settled, stern de-
termination to eradicate everything that partakes aught of prejudice,
or savors of suspicion.

I remember well that, before you took your caths of office, by virtue



" 125

of which the law has permitted you to exercise this trust, you each
said that you were not sensible of prejudice. But, can you say so
now — now that we stand at the end of this week of testimony, which
the Government have been pouring in upon us? Are youn sure that
you ever could say so, without an accurate and scrufinizing examina-
tion? What safety is there in the fact that a man is not sensible of
prejudice, when we all know that it is the very essence and the ver
quality of prejudice, to lurk unseen in the mind of man, blinding his
perceptive faculties, weakening his reasoning powers, distorting his
judgment, so that the very source to which we look for safety and
protection becomes a source of rnin. There is no safety in the fact
that a man is not sensible of prejudice. And I ask you to commence
the examination of this case, by discarding prejudice. No man can
be safe, without seeking to remove it. Why, if prejudice exists in a
gingle mind, it is contagious; it is communicated by the intonation
of the voice; it flies from eye to eye, and is imparted, as by an elec-
tric shock, from hand to hand ; and there is no safety. We ask you,
then, to search for it, and to extirpate it.

As between the prisoner and his Jury, as between man and man,
speaking as between friends, I do not pretend to say that we have
felt, or can feel, positive, that there is no man upon your panel un-
tainted by prejudice. By no means are we to forget, Gentlemen, or
are we to suppose that you have forgotten, the great excitement
which existad in this city when it was first brnited abroad that George
Parkman was murdered. Do we now forget that men then quit their
avocations, — that they were clustered together in the corners, in
the doors, in the stores, the houses, and the churches,—and that their
conversation was upon this one point, and upon no other. Have we
forgotten the great indignation that was excited in this community —
so ereditable to the community, but so dangerous to the defendant—
when it was first announced that his body was found in the Medical
College, in the laboratory ? Have we forgotten the prejudice against
Prof. Webster? Have we forgotten these things? By no means!
They are burned into our memories, and we shall not forget them.

Are we to say that it is a certain and fixed positive fact, that there
can be no prejudice? By no means!  And therefore it is, that after
you have heard and listened to the Government evidence, we ask you,
in the name of the defendant, to examine your minds, and to examine
his side of the case free from all taint of prejudice.

I have thought, Gentlemen, that, in opening this case, I might per-
haps the best diminish the labors of the closing Counsel —instead of
stating to you minutely, or in detail, the circumstances which we
intend to prove here, in defence — by calling your attention, first, to
the rules of law which are descriptive of the offence charged ; what it -
is, Gentlemen : what the definition is of the offence, as the Govern-
ment have charged it against him.

Secondly, that I should call your attention to the rules of law,
as applicable to the manner in which that offence is charged ; that is,
to the indictment. Thirdly, Gentlemen, that I should call your atten-
tion to the nature of the Government’s evidence, and to the rules of
law applicable to that kind of proof. Then, Gentlemen, that I should
state to you, with great hrevity —and merely by scheduling together
in heads — what the facts are which we intend to give in evidence;
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which facts, when proved, taken in connection with such of the Gov-
ernment’s facts as you shall conceive to be entitled to credit — on
which you can rely with any confidence — will constitute the entire
mass of evidence on which you will eventually have to pass.

First, then, with regard to the rules of law which describe the
offence charged. The offence charged here, Gentlemen, generally, is
murder. That is the offence charged in the indictment, the murder
of George Parkman. We then wish to inquire and ascertain what
are the rules describing this offence, so that we may know when it has
been proved, and when it is left in douht. -

Murder is a division of homicide ; the word homicide extending to
every possible killing of a human being. I a man is killed under any
circumsiances, anywhere, or by anybody, the word homicide covers
that act. A homicide must, necessarily, at once be divided into two

reat divisions : first, that which is eriminal, and, therefore, punisha-
le ; secondly, that which is not criminal, and, therefore, which is not
punishable by the law.

Now, criminal homicide, which is the only species of homicide with
which we have anything to do, is divided into two parts — into two
divisions : first, murder, which is punished capitally, by the death of
the offender; secondly, manslaughter, which is not punished capital-
ly, but which is punished ignominiously. These two divisions con-
stitute homicide.

Now, inasmuch as this indictment charges Professor Webster with
murder, and inasmuch as it is always competent for a Jury to acquit
of murder and convict of manslaughter, or acquit of both, every man
who is indicted for murder is in the same position as if he were in-
dicted twice ; first, for one offence, and then for the other.

The first question is, What is murder, taking it by itself? The
second question, then, will be, What is manslaughter, taking that, too,
by itself? Murder is defined to be * The killing of any person with
malice prepense or aforethought, either expressed or implied by law.”
Two things are necessary to constitute murder: first, the killing ;
secondly, malice. And this definition is precisely no definition, be-
cause it gives you no idea of what is intended by the word murder,
unless you have an accurate and well-defined idea what the meaning
of the word malice is, as used in this connection.

Malice is divided, by all eriminal writers, into two counts: first,
what is called express malice; and, secondly, malice which is im-
plied. Those are the definiticns of the word malice. Express mal-
ice ! When we use that term, we mean what is always meant by mal-
ice in its common out-door use. It means a wicked disposition and
perverse mind, which does induce a man, or may induce him, to com-
mit a certain act.

“ Express malice,” say the hooks, * is when one person kills another
with a sedate, deliberate mind, and well-formed design ; such formed
design being evidenced by external circumstances, discovering the
inward intention; as, lying in wait, antecedent menaces, former

udges, and concerted schemes to do the party some bodily harm.”
%ﬂis is easily understood, without being dwelt upon at the bar.

We come next to what is meant by what is called implied malice.
And here the definition is not so easy. Implied malice is where the
malice is implied by the law. Now, it 1s a theory of the law, that it pun-
ishes not so much the overt act, as it does the wicked and depraved
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mind which prompts to that overt act. It punishes the mind, and
the wicked and perverted intention, as much as it does the overt act.
But you will ask, at once, how is the law to arnve at the mind of
man ? — How shall it dive down into its hidden recesses, and bring
up the malice? It cannot do it, except by judging of the mind by
the acts, considering them to be the fruit of the mind. Then, Gentle-
men, by the frait, the law undertakes to know the mind.

The law, then, Gentlemen, has adopted certain acts which it alleges
to be, and assomes to be, evidence of latent malice. The law says,
that when certain acts —and we now confine ourselves to homicide
— when a homicide is committed in a certain manner, under certain
circumstances, malice shall be implied from the act; and that is the
mode in which the law arrives at this matter of implied malice.
When we undertake to define it, all that we can say is, that when
certain acts are committed in a certain manner, and with certain
means, then malice is implied. If we would know what it is, we
must ascertain what are the acts and the circumstances. What are
the acts?  We must arrive at what the malice is, by saying what the
acts are, from which it is to be inferred.

What, then, are the acts from which the law will imply malice, in
this matter of homicide 2 For we are to consider only this one single
matter, malice in komicide.

Malice, Gentlemen, is implied by law from any deliberate and cruel
act, — I pray your attention to these words, from any deliberate cruel
act,— committed by one person to another, however sudden. There-
fore, where one person kills another suddenly, without any, or without
considerable, provocation, the law implies malice. Malice is inferred
from a deliberate and cruel act, as where one kills another without
any, or without considerable, provocation.

When, therefore, you ask when malice is implied by law, you must
look at the acts from which the law says malice is to be defined. And
that is the only way in which it is to be defined; a deliberate cruel
act, without any, or without considerable, provocation ; and then the
law is, that it is implied malice. That is the definition which I shall
state to you, for the purposes of this trial.
~ Having stated this, you see shadowed out, at once, the real distine-
tion between murder from implied malice and manslaughter. Forone
15 almost the reverse of the other. Murder from implied malice, is a
deliberate and cruel act, without any, or without considerable, provo-
cation. Now, manslaughter, as I have shown to you, is the reverse.

Manslaughter is not deliberate. It is a sudden act. Itis not a
cruel act. But it is done in the heat of blood. Manslaughter is not
without provocation, but with it. And therefore, in terms, it is most
distinctly the reverse of murder from implied malice. Whenever
death ensues from sudden transport of passion or heat of blood, if
upon a reasonable provocation, and without malice, or if npon sudden
combat, it will be manslaughter. That, Gentlemen, is the definition
of manslaughter ; and here is shadowed out the line between the two.
One is considerate, deliberate, and cruel, without provocation. The
other is inconsiderate, sudden, in the heat of blood, and with provo-
cation, or sudden combat, one of the two.

Now this may be a very narrow line of distinction, but it 15 not to
be lost sight of by a Jury. For on one side is life, on the other,
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death : life, it may be, encumbered with long and severe punishment ;
but still it is life, — life which is clung to — life rendered radiant with
hope. And though this line may be a narrow line, and though the cir-
cumstances may fade into each other, they are not to be lost sight of.
And as one is deliberate, cruel, and without provocation, the other is
hasty, in heat of blood, and with provocation, or sudden combat.

Thus much, Gentlemen, for murder from implied malice ; and thus
much for the general definition of manslaughter. But, Gentlemen,
it is necessary to go a little further here, as [ have undertaken to give
a definition of both of these offences. The law states, as 1 have
already remarked to you, that manslaughter is in heat of blood, with
reasonable provocation. Now the question arises, what is sufficient
provoeation to reduce a murder to a mans]aughter ?  What does the
law deem to be a reasonable provocation? To answer this, we must
go to the books. And it is easy to answer it from the books, because
the diffefent acts of provocation have been well known and long
defined, for numerous years.

In ascertaining, Gentlemen, what is deemed to be a reasonable
provocation, the law always regards the weapon, or the instroment,
with. which the homicide is committed. For you will see, at once,
that one kind of provocation might be considered sufficient to excuse
a blow with one weapon, which may be very insufficient to excuse a
blow with another. The provocation that might excuse a blow with
a stick, might be insufficient to excuse it with an iron bar. In eon-
sidering what is a reasonable provocation to extenuate the murder
into manslanghter, it is necessary to ascertain what the weapon is ;
because from the weapon the provocation is to be estimated. Now,
when we speak of deaths by a weapon, they may be divided into death
from two general classes of weapons : those which are likely to pro-
duce death, and those which are not; those which are deadly, and
those which are not. Now,we have the question raised at once, What
is considered a reasonable provocation to reduce a homicide from
murder to manslaughter, where a deadly weapon is used 2 And then,
what is a sufficient provocation to reduce it, where a weapon not
deadly is used? I am dwelling upon this, in regard to the manner
of death, because by and by it will become material, when it is neces-
sary to speak — when we come to speak of the indictment. It may
be essential to our positions. by and by.

What is a reasonable provocation for the use of a dangerous weapon ?
and then for a weapon not dangerous ? I will answer the first ques-
tion from a book. And I read fromm East’s Pleas of the Crown.
“ Any asauult, made with violence or circumstances of indignity, upon
a man’s person, as by pulling him by the nose, if it be resented imme-
diately, by the death of thie aggressor, and it appears that the party
acted in the heat of blood upon that provoecation, will reduce the crime
to manslaughter.”

What will reduce the crime of killing, if it be done with a deadly
weapon #

Chief Justice Shaw. What section is that ?

My, Sokier. Chap. 5, sect. 20, Now, in this connection, Gen-
tlemen, 1 will merely read from here an abstract from a case which
illustrates this position, —an assault made upon a man’s person.
Take Lanure’s case, as it is called, where a person was riding
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upon a highway, and another individual whipped his horse out of
the track. Then the rider killed the aggressor. That was consid-
ered as |'|'|&ﬂ5|ﬂl]ghter, because the rvider was considered as having
reasonable provocation.

Chief Justice Shaw. Whose case was that ?

Myr. Sohier. It was Lanure’s case, in the same section. [ will
refer to Taylor's case, the same chapter, and twenty-sixth section.
“Three Scotch soldiers were drinking together, in a public house ;
some strangers, in another box, abused the Scotch nation, and used
several provoking expressions towards the soldiers ; on which one of
of them, the prisoner, struck one of the strangers with a small rattan
cane, not bigger than a man’s little finger. The stranger went out
for assistance ; and, in the mean time, an altercation ensued between
the prisoner and the deceased, who then came into the room, and who,
on the prisoner’s offering to go without paying his reckoning, laid hold
of him by the collar, and threw him against a settle. The alterca-
tion increased ; and when the soldier had paid the reckoning, the
deceased again collared him, and shoved him from the room into the
passage. %pnn this, the soldier exclaimed, that he did not mind
killing an Englishman more than eating a mess of crowdy. The
deceased, assisted by another person, then violently pushed the soldier
out of the house ; whereupon the latter instantly turned round, drew
his sword, and stabbed the deceased to the heart. Adjudged man-
slaughter.”

That illustrates the position. Anassault here existed ; turning him
out of the house. Upon the heat of blood, occasioned by this assault,
he killed his opponent; and it is held to be manslaughter. [ state
these, as among the provocations to reduce the offence to manslangh-
ter, if the homicide is cominitted with a daugerous weapon.

The next question is, What is considered a sufficient provocation for
a homicide which is committed with some weapon not likely in itself
to produce death ? The whole doctripe is summed up in East’s, and
I now read from the original section, chap. 5, sec. 20: * Words of re-
proach, how grievous soever, are not provocation sufficient to [ree the
party killing -from the guilt of murder ; nor are contemptuous or in-
" sulting actions, or gestures, without assault upon the person; nor is
any trespass against lands, or goods. This rule governs every case
where the party killing, upon such provocation, made use of a deadly
weapon, or otherwise manifested an intention to kill, or to do some
great bodily harm. But if he had given the other a box on the ear,
or had siruck him with a stick, er other weapon, net lLikely to kill, and
had unluckily, and against his intention, killed him, it had been but
manslanghter.”

Aund this, Gentlemen, is the answer to that question, What is rea-
sonable provocation ¢ Always look at the weapon. If it is a deadly
one, it must be an assault upon a person ; if not a deadly one, words
or actions are sufficient mmduce it.

The next question 15, What is meant in the law by sudden combat ?
For the rules state this: * Manslaughter is a killing, on reasonable
provocation, or on sudden combat.” What, then, is sudden combat,
as it is stated ? 1 will answer by reading from the same book, sec.
24 of the same chapter. * There are cases where, upon words of
reproach, or, indeed, any other sudden provocation, the parties came to
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blows, and a combat ensues, no undue advantage being taken or

sought, on either side ; if death ensve, thiz amounts to manslaugh-

ier.  And here it matters not what the cause be, whether real or im-

jgiued. or who draws or strikes first, provided the occasion be sud-
en.?

It is thus, Gentlemen, that if two persons get into what is called a
combat with each other —neo matter which begins it—if they get
into the combat, and then, being heated by the combat, one kills the
other, then the law considers the frailty of human nature, and, under
such circumstances, the offence is reduced from murder to manslaughter.
An example is given. A uses provoking language towards B, who
thereupon strikes him, and a combat ensues, wherein A is killed.
Held manslaughter ; for it was a sudden affray, and they fought upon
equal terms.

But this has nothing to do with it, except when they commence.
If they get excited, on equal terms, and they commence their guar-
rel with the fist, and afterwards have some other weapon, it is ex-
cused, as caused by heat of blood, excited by the quarrel.

This is stated, perhaps, a little stronger in Whiteley’s case, which I
cite from Lewis’ Reports, page 175, in which the Justice says,
“ When persons fight on fair terms, and merely with fists ; where life
is not likely to be at hazard, and the blows passing between them are
not likely to oceasion death ; if death ensues, it is manslaughter.”

These authorities, which I have stated, show the real distinetion
between murder from implied malice, and manslaughter, — the one
being, as [ have said, the reverse of the other: one being voluntary,
deliberate, and without provocation; the other being hasty and on
f)r::-'-'ncatic}n, or with a sudden affray. The provocation being in vie-
ent assault, when a deadly weapon is used; the provocation being
words, when a weapon not deadly is used, and when, they being excited
by the combat, one chances to destroy the other. These are the defi-
nitions which [ bring to your mind.

Professor Webster stands charged with murder and manslaughter.
If he committed the murder, it must have been either express or im-
plied malice, or that he killed him in a deliberate and cruel manner,
without reasonable provocation, malice being judged of by the man-
ner and the want of provoeation, and the provocation being judged of
by the weapon. And hence follows the extreme and vital importance,
in a case of this kind, of the Government’s alleging and proving the
manner, beyond all reasonable doubt ; for it is the manner, the manner
of death, the manner in which the homicide iz committed, which
creates this crime of murder, from which all the distinguishing marks
are to be drawn between murder and manslaughter. And therefore
it is that I have been over this — that we may bear it in mind, and
ap];:}' it, when we consider this part of the case.

hen the Government say that Professor Webster killed Dr. Park-
man with implied malice, they say he killed him cruelly, deliberate-
ly, and without provocation. And this is to be judged of by the man-
ner. When the Government says that he committed the act of man-
slaughter, then it virtually alleges that he killed him not deliberately,
but in heat of blood, and with some provocation. And there, Gen-
tlemen, as we apprehend, is the definition ; and this is a statement of
the rules of law defining the various offences which are embraced vir-
tually under this indictment.
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I come, then, Gentlemen, to state what we conceive to be the rules
of law applieable to the manner in which the crime shall be charged ;
that is, the rules of law applicable to the indictment.

In examining, in eriminal cases, it is essential that the Jury should
bear in mind, not only what the rules are defining the offence charged,
but they should bear in mind, particularly and strietly, what the va-
rious particulars of the offence are which is charged ; not only what
the uﬂgﬁme 15, in general, but what the particulars of the offence are.

Gentlemen, it is to be borne in mind ==and this is a rule of law which
is essential absolutely to the safety of every one—that it is a mat-
ter of no consequence how many crunes a man has committed, if
he has not committed the particular crime set forth in his indiet-
ment. [t is a matter of no consequence, if he has committed the
erime charged, if he has not committed it by the means charged. This
is the position which we take, and it is a rule of law intended for the

“protection of the eitizen; and if it is broken in upon, the man has no
safety. If a man is to be tried for particulars of offence, or for an
offence in which the facts are erroneously set forth, no man can pro-
vide for his defence ; and therefore it is that no man shall be tried for
any offence, unless that offence is fully, substantially, plainly, formally,
set forth. Not only must the statement be full, but it must be plain,
so that every one shall understand it. Not only must it be substan-
tially, but it must be formally, made. If this rule is departed from,
there is no safety for any one.

It is essential that we should examine this indictment, and it is es-
sential that we should understand precisely what it is that the Gov-
ernment undertake to charge the defendant with. What are the par-
ticulars of the offence which Professor Webster is now set at the
bar to answer? These particulars must be fully, plainly, substan-
tially, and formally, set forth ; and I must, therefore, ask your atten-
tion to the indictment.

This indietment contains four counts; that is, it has set forth, in
four distinet forms, the charge, and the Government are at liberty to
{h{ruve any one. First, the allegation is, that the prisoner, Professor

ebster, killed Dr. Parlkman by striking him with a knife. Second-
ly, that he killed him by striking him with a hammer. Thirdly, that
he killed him by striking him with his fists and his feet, and striking
him against the floor. Fourthly, that he killed him in some way,
or by some means, instruments, and weapons, to the Grand Jury un-
known.

Now, may it please the Court, and Gentlemen of the Jury, I must
ask your attention to the rules of law applicable to this indictment.
And I shall, in the first place, ask your attention to the rules of law,
as I conceive them to be applicable to the three first counts, which ean
all be readily considered together.

In an indictment for murder, Gentlemen, it is an imperative rule,
that the means of death shall be accurately described.  And when we
say that a thing is to be accurately deseribed, we mean that the Gov-
ernment shall prove it as they have described it. They shall state
the means of death accurately; that is to say, their proof shall sus-
tain their statement of the means of death.

Now I ask your attention to another position. I understand it to
be a well-settled rule of law, that there are certain means by which
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human nature may be overcome, which have been settled and adjudi-
cated by the law to be totally separate and distinct from each other,

One very large class of means of death is embraced under the head
of striking with a weapon. Another class, Gentlemen, very distinct
— distinct upon authority — is striking a man against an object.
That is another class, as I apprehend. And there are various other
means of death, well distingaished from each other, such as poisoning,
strangling, burning, starving, and others. [ put this by way of illus-
tration; and-l put the position, that these particular means of death
are distinet and separate from each other, to wit, striking a man with
a weapon, striking a man against an object, poisoning a man, stran-
clin a man, burning him, starving him, drowning him, and the like,
They are separate and distinct means of death,

Whichever of these means which I have mentioned —and you
will notice I say means — whichever of these means the Government
see fit to adopt, and charge as the means used, the Government is
bound to prove, and prove beyond reasonable doubt — the particular
means. Now, under this class of means, as [ call it, producing death
by striking, it 1z usual for the Government to allege some particular
weapon. But it is not necessary that the particular and express
weapon should be proved. Any weapon which will produce death by
the means stated, that is to say, by the striking, would answer in
proof, instead of what the Government charge.

For instance, suppose the Government charge that the man pro-
duced death by means of striking with a knife, and it turns out that
he struck with a hatchet ; it is sufficient, because the means, the class,
is spoken of ; and if it turns out that it is produced by some other
weapon, the case is made out. For instance, the Government charge
Professor Webster with striking with a knife, and it turns out that
he actually produced death by a hammer; the case is proved. But,
if they charge that he did it in a separate mauner, to wit, by stran-
eling, or by seizing a man, and striking him against a door, and the
death is produced, as before, by the blow of the hammer, the indict-
ment would not be sustained. Theweapon is of no consequence ; but
that such a means was used, is of consequence, and must be proved.

[ will refer to Kelley's case, in Moody’s Crown Cases, page 113;
also to Thompson’s case, in the same book, page 139. In an indict-
ment for murder or manslaughter, when the cause of death is knock-
ing a person down with a stone or other substance, and the mortal
wound is from the stone or substance, the charge should be accord-
ingly. A charge that the prisoner strucka mortal blow will not be
sufficient.  Also, in Thompson's case, the indictment stated that the
prisoner assaulted the deceased, and beat him on the head. The evi-
dence was that the prisoner knocked the deceased down with a blow
on the head, and the mortal wound proceeded from the ground. The
learned Judge thought the case did not come within the indictment.

I will also refer to annther case : to Martin, fifth of Carrington and
Paine, page 128, In this case, the other two cases which I have cited
were confirmed. Here a man was indicted for producing death
by striking. The charge was that the prisoner wilfully struck him
with a hammer.

The kind of instrument is not material. The truth was, there was
doubt whether the death was produced by being struck against the
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door, or by the hammer. The Judge ruled that there was nothing in
the count about being struck against a door, and unless the Jury were
satisfied that the death was produced by the blow, and not by the
door, the indictment would not be sustained.

Unless the Government prove the means asserted, it don’t prove
the indictment. The law, as I understand it, is, that the particular
means stated must be proved to the satisfaction of the Jury.

Now, then, Gentlemen, putting our attention to those first two
counts, the Government alleges that death was produced by striking.
What becomes of their evidence? The Government allege in the
two first counts, and, therefore, the Government must prove, that the
killing, here in this case, was by striking with some weapon or other.
In the third count, the Government, if they rely upon it, assert that
the strikine was with hands, or fists, or beating against the floor.
And that is precisely what the Government must sustain upon this
count.

I come now to the fourth count. We shall submit here, if it be
regular, in this part of the case, that this count, may it please your
Honors, is totally insufficient, and ought not to be considered by a
Jury ; and that the Government had no right to introduce any proof,
under this count. That is an insufficient count. And in the second
place, if the Government have a right to Introduce proof under it,
still, that they have not introduced it at all. This count states, as 1
have said, that the death was produced in some way or manner, and
by some means, to the Jurors unknown.

Now, we shall submit that there is no precedent whatever for an
such count; and if there is no precedent for it, the precedents are all
against it.  There is no authority for it which we have been able to
find anywhere ; and the authorities are directly against it.

I will cite, may it please your Honors, in the first place, from Hale’s
Pleas of the Crown, page 185, first American edition. * An indict-
ment of murder or manslaughter hath these certainties or requisites
to be' added to it, more than other indictments. For it must not be
only felonicé, and ascertain the time of the act done, but must also
declare how and with what it was done. Yet, if the party were
killed with another weapon, it maintains the indictment; but if it
were with another kind of death, as peisoning or strangling, it doth
not maintain the indictment upon evidence.” And the first volume of
the second part of Coke’s Institutes is referred to, page 319. The
same doctrine is laid down in Hawkins’ Pleas of the Crown, Book 2d,
sect. 84, chap, 23. The doctrine is laid down in these words: “If
the killing were with a weapon, the count must show with what
weapon in particular; and yet, if upon the evidence it shall appear
that the killing was not by such weapon, but by some other, the va-
riance is immaterial, and the appellee ought to be convicted, as shall
be shown more at large, under the Chapter of Evidence. And if the
killing were not by a weapon, but by some other means, as by poison-
ing, drowning, suffocating, burning, or the like, the count must set
forth the circumstances of the fact as specially as the nature of 1t
will admit.”

I will refer to East’s Pleas of the Crown, chap. 5, sect. 107:
“[t is essentially necessary to set forth, particularly, the manner of
the death, and the means by which it was effected ; and an omission
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in this respeet is not aided by a general conclusion from the evidence
that he was murdered,” &c.

I will also refer to the third of Chitty’s Criminal Law, 734th page
of Judge Perkins® edition ; also, to Russell on Crimes, first American
edition, 677th page: « It is essentially necessary to set forth particu-
larly the manner of the death, and the means by which it was
eflected ;” and this statement must, according to the circumstances of
the case, be one of considerable length and particularity. And, as
examples of strictness, I will refer to the same case I have already
cited, in Moody’s Crown Cases, and the fifth of Carrington and Paine.
I refer to them over again, on account of their bearing in this con-
nection. :

The count, may it please your Honors, now under consideration,
is elearly distinguishable from the count made use of in the case of
‘Colt, reported in the third of Willis" Reports, page 432. There is
one of the counts which charged that the erime was committed, in
the first place, by striking the deceased with a hatchet; and another
count charged it to have been committed by striking and cutting him
with a certain instrument to the Jurors unknown. This case comes
nearer to disproving my position than any before the Court. But the
means of death are stated; and the means are, to wit, striking with
the instrument which is alleged to be unknown to the Jury ; and the
instrument is immaterial, if it be a striking instrument. He might
have struck him with a ramrod, and it would make no difference.

The distinction between our case and that is, that the means of
death are clearly stated, but the instrument is stated to be unknown.
And we apprehend, may it please your Honors, that this mode. which
the Government have adopted in the fourth eount, of alleging an
indictment, would give rise to great confusion. We apprehend that
it might contravene many established rules. Why, under a count of
this kind, may it please your Honors, there may be an indefinite
number of issues tried. Killing in every possible way in which
human life may be taken, may be tried ufider an issue of this kind.

We submit, then, so far as one of these counts is concernecd,
that it is imperfect and insufficient, for the reasons that I have stated
to the Court. In regard to the three others, — the first two allege a
death by striking ; the third, a death produced by striking with hands
and feet, and beating against the floor.

Now, then, Gentlemen, the question presented to you is this: Has
the Government proved, beyond reasonable doubt, that Prof. Webster
destroyed George Parkman by striking him with a weapon? That
is the point. The Government must prove the killing by the means
stated. That is the first proposition. And if the killing is proved
by the Government to be in any other mode, then they fail upon
their own proof. And if the Jury, upon the evidence, are left in
doubt, whether the killing was produced by the means stated, or by
some other means, then they are bound to acquit, under their oaths;
because it is the right of the defendant — it is his right and privilege,
and it is every man’s right and privilege — to have the Government
held strictly and distinctly to prove what they allege, in all its mate-
rial particulars. Here they allege, in these two counts, a striking by
a weapon. If they fail in this, there is an end of the case. If you
are left in doubt, there is an end of this case. If you believe that he
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killed him in this way, but you are left in doubt, then you are bound
to acquit him. :

This is no hardship upon the Government. The Government may
allece as many counts as they choose. They may bring forward
r.:hﬂrges of death committed by burning, strangling, poisoning, or in
any other way. They never need sufler from the privilege which
they have to give in stating the means. Buat then the law helds
them to prove some one of the means alleged ; and if they fail in that,
they fail in their case.

To recapitulate that pnmt. To convict on these first two eounts,
you must be satisfied, beyond reasonable doubt, that the death was
produced by the means of striking : under the third count, that it was
produced by means of striking with the hands and fists, and beating
against the floor.  And we shall submit to you that, with regard to
that point, there is not a tittle of proof. I do not suppose that the
Government will contend that the death was produced in that way.
And I apprehend that we might pass from that, and carry you more
pnmculd.r}é to the first two cnunls, of death by striking, because on
those the Government have produced some apparent proof.

I say that these counts are to be proved here, and proved heyond
reasonable doubt. And this brings me to the third statement which
I intended to make — what it is that the Government must do, to
entitle themselves to a conviction, supposing the defendant introduces
no proof whatever. What are the Government to do, under any
circamstances, to produce a conviction ? They are to prove that
Professor Webster destroyed Dr. Parkman, according to the allega-
tions read over to you, and that he destroyed him by means of striking
with a deadly weapon; and if they fail, beyond reasonable doult,
there is an end to the Government's case. 1 say, leyond reasonable
doubt ; and, as 1 am upon that point, I should like to dwell upon it
for a moment.

1 am perfectly aware, Gentlemen, that there is an idea abroad, that
this matter of reasonable doubt is something that the law accords to
the prisoner as a gratuity ; something that he is not entitled to; some-
thing by which guilty men sometimes escape punishment. But there
never was a greater mistake in the world. This matter, that the
Government are to prove a man guilty beyond all reasonable doubt, is
no privilege to the individual, for which he does not have to give full
compensation. It is oot accorded to him as a gratuity. And the
examination of our eriminal system shows that I am right here.

Under different systems of laws, different criminal codes are adopted.
I make no doubt but that ours is as perfect as any. Look at it, and
see how imperfect it would be, if it were not for the checks put upon
it. Every man must be prmed to be guilty.

What is our system? We take a man from his family. We arrest
him upon the charge of a heavy, heinous offence.  We lock him up
in a jail. And while his mind is paralyzed by his pesition, he is told
to procure a defence — to proceed and prepare for his defence.  What
next 2 Why, ex- parte proceedings go on. The matter is tried and
adjudicated before a Coroner’s Jury, where he is not present. It is
afterwards tried before a Grand Jury, where he is not represented.
An ipdictment is found ; and then, with all this aceumulation of pub-
lic opinion necessarily formed upon these proceedings, he is brought
into Court, and put upon his trial.
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How, then, is he placed? T am now taking the general position of
a party ; I am not referring to particular instances. How, then, is he
placed, and what is his position ? Why, he is placed at the bar; his
month is shut. I he opens it at all, what he says is to go for noth-
ing. And then witnesses are let loose upon him by the Government.
And who are they ? In many instances, they are malicious, swearing
on account of some old grudge. In many cases, they are interested:
sometimes for rewards and property ; interested sometimes, in swear-
ing off erimes from themselves; sometimes interested for still worse mo-
tives. Now, in this situation, thus placed, and thus presented before
a Jury, what chance would many and many an innocent man have of an
acquittal ? It would be very small indeed, were it not for checks and
counterbalances which we have provided in our system for him; and
one of them is this same matter of reasonable doubt. The law says
you may take a man in this way ; you may lock him up; you may
try him over and over again ; you may put him upon trial ; you may
close his mouth ; you may produce your witnesses against him : but
here youshall stop. And if, with all this, you cannot prove him guilty
beyond reasonable doubt, he is to be acquitied. This isall the protee-
tion that an innocent man has,

You may, any one of you, be charged with an offence done when
you are alone. Yon cannot prove that you did not do it. Persons
will be mistalen about identity. But you can prove your previous
character, and that there is a reasonable doubt. You are, we say to
the Government, to prove your murder by your means, and beyond
all reasonable doubt. And this isas much my privilege, as you have
the privilege of trying me, and at your particu{ar leisure. And, there-
fore, it is most certain and true, that this matter of reasonable doubt,
so far from being a gratuity to a defendant, is his right. It is what
the law has provided for him as his shield ; and though it may be that
cuilty men may occasionally take shelter under that shield, what
does the motto say, but *that a hundred guilty would better escape,
than that an innocent man be punished ”? The Government are to
prove it beyond reasonable doubt. And if they fail, there is an end
to their case.

It may be asked, What is a reasonable doubt? The answer is
well stated in the first volume of Starkie, part third, sect. 79; “A
Juror ought not to condemn, unless the evidence exclude from his
mind all reasonable deubt as to the guilt of the accused. And as
has well been said, unless he be so convinced as that he would ven-
ture to act upon that conviction in matters of the highest concern to
his own interest.” It is the first volume, 514 page, of Starkie.

It must be such a certainty, then, Gentlemen, that yon would not
hesitate to act upon it in matters of the highest concern to your own .
interest. It must be such a certainty, I contend, that you would act
upon it, if your lives depended on it—*in the highest concern of
your own interest.”

If it be such a certainty that you would not venture your own life
upon it, what right have you to venture his? You should be con-
vinced, Gentlemen, and convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. \

These remarks, Gentlemen, bring me to the fourth head to which 1
said I should ask yourattention ; which was, to the nature of the Govern-
ment’s evidence, and to the rules of law applicable to evidence of that
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kind. Evidence, Gentlemen, so far as there is any occasion of divid-
ing it, for the purpose of this opening, may be divided into direct and
eircumstantial proof. Direct evidence needs no explanation ; and, in
point of fact, there is none of it in this case. But merely for the pur-

e of convenience, [ will say, that direct evidence consists of this:
where the testimony is derived from persons who have actual knowl-
edge of the factsin ‘ifispute—-l'mm persons who have actual knowledge
of the matter they come to prove. :

For instance, Gentlemen, if a person comes here and swears he
saw a certain transaction take place, — there is direct evidence ; and
all the Jury would have to inquire into would be whether they believed
the man or not. If they believed him, there is direct evidence of a
particular fact, which he is brought to sustain.

But circumstantial evidence is, where a fact is attempted to be

ved, not by anybody who saw it, not by any one who knows it,

ut by proving in advance certain other circumstances, and certain
other facts, and then drawing a conclusion, from those facts and cir-
cumstances, that these particular facts which we are endeavoring to
ascertain exist. This is called circumstantial evidence. Where the
Government,— for instance, taking a case like this,— where the Gov-
ernment undertake to prove a certain fact, to wit, that a man was
murdered. They bring nobody who saw it; but they go to work and
prove a certain quantity of other facts, — they may be many, or they
may be few : and having proved those other facts, they say we draw
a conclusion, that the main fact was as we contend it was, —that is,
that the murder was committed. '

Now, Gentlemen, as you see at once, in this matter of evidence,
there is no comparizon between the strength of direct and circumstan-
tial evidence. Circumstantial evidence is weak, compared with direct;
and for the reason that the opportunities for human error are multi-
plied. All we can do, in the investigation of facts — all we ever can
do — is to approximate towards certainty.

Nothing human is infallible. On the contrary, everything is falli-

ble. All we can do is to approximate; and we approximate near or

at a distance, in accordance with the means we have at our command.

Now, Gentlemen, if a murder is proved by direct evidence, what
are the chances of error? A man comes here, and swears to a cer-
tain fact. What are the chances of a Jury being led into error?
The chances depend upon his lying. If he swears falsely, then we
are misled. But he comes, and swears to a solitary fact. And he is
not lilkely to mislead us, because it is so simple.

Take a case of circumstantial evidence. The proof sometimes
consists, as in this case, of numerous facts —of scores of facts,
Every single fact is a distinct issue. Every single fact must be
proved, beyond a reasonable doubt. Very well. Here the chances of
error accumulate.

If they prove ome fact, by one man, he may lie. If they prove
another fact, by another man, he may lie; and so the chances of error
multiply. And then, after all the circamstances are in, what do you
do with them? Then you are to draw the correct conclusion from
them. Human judgment is called in, to draw the accurate conclusion
from these facts. And bere there is a great source of error. Cir-
cumstantial proof is exposed to error from beginning to end ; errors



138

in testimony from which the circumstinces are intended to be estab-
lished ; errors in the inferences and conclusions which we draw
from them after we have collected them.

Take the most simple case we can possibly put. Suppose a man is
seen killed upon the side-walk. Suppose a watchman comes, and
swears that he saw a man ranning away. A second swears, that, the
house being pointed out to him, he went in, and arrested a man who
appeared to be out of breath. A third comes, to say that he afler-
wards found blood on some clothes belonging to the prisoner. Talke
the first witness. He may be mistaken ahout the man, and about the
house, and he may lie ; — three chances of error. The second may be
mistaken about the man whom he arrested, or the house which he
thought was pointed out, or he may lie ; — three more chances of error.
And the third may be able to detect blood or not, and he may be mis-
taken about his statement whether the clothes were those of the pris-
oner, or he may lie, too. Here are all these accumuiated chances
of error. And then, when they are all proved, correct conelu-
sions are to be drawn from them. It may be that he did commit
murder. It may be that he was an innocent man, who was running
along that way; it may be that he ran away {rom terror, at seeing
such a blow struck ; it may be he was a [riend of the deceased.

I put this as a simple case ; and yet you see how great the chances
of ervor are. But when you come to such a case as this, there is no
telling to what a height those chances reach.

It is, Gentlemen, necessary also to remember, as [ apprehend — cer-
tainly it is not the least important part of this evidence — that we are
always drawing incorrect conclusions; and hence the number of in-
nocent persons who have suffered from eircumstantial proofs have
lost their lives, so far as we can judge, from cases made up from incor-
rect inferences; not so much from pauvcity on the part of witnesses, as
from the incorrect inferences drawn by the jurors.

Take that most common of all cases, cited continually : where an
uncle and a niece lived together; and the niece, one evening, was
heard erying out, begging him not to kill her. On the next morning,
she had disappeared. He, being charged with the deed, and being
put to his wit's end, found another girl to simulate his niece. The
deception was found out, and the man was convicted and hanged.
But it afterwards appeared that the niece came back, having only run
away. Here were these circumstances laid before conscientious jurors ;
eircumstances proved by conscientious witnesses, But they erred.

He who is arrested with stolen goods in his possession has to an-
swer for it. It implies a theft. There is an old and well-established
case, in illustration of this, where a man, who had stolen a horse, got
a countryman to hold him, knowing he was pursued. Presently, the
constable came up, and arrested the countryman, Here was a plain
case. He was found with the stolen property in his possession, im-
mediately after the thefi had taken place; and he was hanged for it,
There is another instance.

[ am induced to dwell upon this for a moment, because | am per-
fectly aware that there are certain opinions, that eircumstantial evi-
dence is necessarily correct, and that circumstances cannot lie, and
various other sayings, that are totally false ; sayings which probably
applied to the circumstances in connection with which they were first



139

mentioned, but, by being stupidly repeated over and over again, have
received the dignity of proverbs. The truth is, that circumstances
do not, but the witnesses who undertake to prove them may lie, and
the conclusions drawn from them by human judgments may lie;
and it is all idle to suppose that there is any particular virtue i cir-
cumstantial evidence. But, on the contrary, it should be remembered,
that it is always weak and uncertain.

I will read, merely as a part of my argnnent, from Mr. Best’s
worl: on Presumptions of the Law, page 253. Speaking on this
very point, and in regard to this prevalent idea, that rircumstantial
evidence is strong, he says, **Juries have been told from the Bench,
even in capital cases, that, ‘where a violent presumption necessarily
arises from circumstances, they are more convincing and satisfactory
than any other kind of evidence, because facts cannot fie’ Numer-
ous remarks might be made on this strange proposition. The first
that presents itself is, that the moment we talk of anything as a con-
sequence necessarily following from others, all idea of presumptive rea-
sons is at an end. Secondly, even assuming the truth of the asser-
tion, that facts or circumstances cannot lie, still, so long as witnesses
and documents, by which the existence of these facts is to be estab-
lished, ean, so long will it be impossible to arrive at infallible conelu-
sions. But, without dwelling on these considerations, look at the
broad proposition — facts cannot lie. Can they not, indeed ? When,
in order to effect the ruin of a poor servant, his box is opened with a
false key, and a guantity of goods, stolen from his master, deposited
in it; or, when a man is found dead, with a bloody weapon lying
beside him, which is proved to belong to a person with whom he had
a quarrel a short time before, and footmarks of that person are traced
near the corpse, — but the murder has, in reality, been committed by a
third person, who, owing a spite to both, put on the shoes and bor-
rowed the weapon of one to kill the other; — did not the circumstans-
ces lie — wickec!y, eruelly lie? There is reason to fear blind reliance
upon the dictum, * that circumstances eannot lie,” has occasionally ex-
ercised a mischievous effect in the administration of justice.”

Another great cause, Gentlemen, why circumstantial evidence is
not to be relied on, to a great extent, is, what is called a moral
cause ; that there is a well-known tendency of the mind, when great
erimes are suspected, which leads witnesses particularly, and even
jurors, to exageerate facts, and to place great reliance upon their own
shrewdness. %‘his, Gentlemen, is also alluded to in the same book
from which [ have quoted. I will read it, as a part of my argument,
Speaking on this very subject, Mr. Best says, * There is an anxiety
naturally felt for the detection of crimes, particularly such as are
either very heinous, or peculiar in their circumstances, which ofien
leads witnesses to mistake or exaggerate facts, and tribunals to draw
rash inferences ; and there is also natural to the human mind a ten-
dency to suppose greater order and conformity in things than really
exist, and a sort of pride, or vanity, in drawing conclusions from an
isolated number of facts, which is apt to deceive the judgment.
Accordingly, the true meaning of the expressions so frequently ro be
found in our books, that all presumptive evidence of felony should
be warily pressed, and admitted cautiously.” /

So far with regard to the Government's evidence. In this case i
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consists entirely, solely, of circumstantial proof. And in many cases

the circumstances relied upon are actually proved by other circum-
stances.

It is undertaken to prove circumstances by circumstantial evidence

itself.  And who shall say to what extent the sources of error have
thus multiplied 2 Owing to this known tendency of circumstantial
evidence to mislead the mind, owing to the danger which is likely to
arise, the law has adopted certain rules, which are to govern and
to guide Juries in considering it. Some of those rules I shall ecall
your attention to, because I consider them pertinent. There may be
others mentioned hereafter.

The first rale which the law has adopted, for the purpose of guard-
ing, as far as possible, against error— (as for guarding against it
entirely. it cannot be done ; there is no human tribunal where it ean
be guarded against ; but to guard against error to some extent, cer-
tain rules of law have been adopted) — the first rule I shall name is
this. It is an established rule of law, that every circumstance which
is relied on must in itself be proved beyvond all reasonable doubt. I
refer for that to the first of Starkie, 442 page. The first rule is, that
every single circumstance from which the conclusion is to be drawn
must be proved in itself beyond all reasonable doubt. That, of course,
shows you that every circumstance is a separate issue, in itself.
Every circumstance is to be proved beyond reasonable doubt; and
that, you understand, means this: you must find that it is proved
beyond all reasonable doubt, when all the evidence is in; not that
any one witness proves a point particularly ; but, when you come to
consider all the evidence in the case, introduced hy each side, upon
each point, you are to be satisfied of each individual circumstance,
beyond all reasonable doubt.

Iherefore it follows necessarily, that if in a long train of circum-
stances, upon which the case is hung up by the Government, there
is any one single circumstance which fails, there is an end to the
whole case at once. They undertake to anchor their case by a
chain of circumstances. If one link breaks, by its own intrinsic
wealness, or by any force which the opposite party brings against it,
there is an end to the case.

Secondly, Gentlemen, the cireumstances which are proved, when
you find they are proved beyond reasonable doubt — those eircum-
stances must establish, to a moral certainty, the particular hypothe-
sis attempted to be proved by them. That is to say, il the énv&m-
ment undertake to prove a certain fact, by circumstances, and you
are to consider it proved by an inference drawn from those eircum-
stances, the circumstances must prove that the inference is correct.
That is to say, not only the circumstances must be proved beyond
reasonable doubt, but also you must be satisfied that the inference is
proved beyond all reasonable doubt. And that is the second circum-
stance. For that rule I will refer to Willis on Circumstantial Evi-
dence, 157 page,

Thirdly, Gentlemen, the circumstances — and I pray your attention
to this rule — these circumstances which are proved beyond reasonable
doubt, must not only support the particular hypothesis which the
Government intend they shall support, but they must not support any
other hypothesis, That is to say, they must not only sustain the

P ISR — e R
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inference which the Government draws from them, but they must
exclude every other possible inference. Because, if a set of cireums-
stances could establish two distinct hypotheses, and éne is contrary
to what the Government assert, and the other in aceordance with it, —
that’is to say, if one is in favor of the defendant’s guilt, and the other
of his innocence, — there is an end of their case. The Jury are bound
to talke his innocence for granted. And it is from this rule being
disregarded, being overlooked. that a vast quantity of misery has
been inflicted upon innocent people.

I will refer to Best upon Presumptions of the Law, page 282.
# The evidence against the accused—"

My, Clifford. 1 do not understand that that work is authority
in these Courts. I have not been much in this Court; but I suppus‘:a
that that is the work of a very extravagant man, and I do not lmow
that it has been passed upon by the Court.

M. Sokier. It is a work that has been cited here very often;
and I am not sure that it was not cited in Peter York’s case. I
think it was.

Best refers to the first of Starkie’s Evidence, page 577, third edi-
tion, and to Willis on Circumstantial Evidence, page 187, as author-
ities. The rule is stated, as taken from several works, that the
evidence must be such as to exclude, to a moral certainty, every
hypothesis but that of the guilt of the defendant. And if any other
hypothesis can be sustained, it is for the Jury to assume that hy-
pothesis to be the true one. And Mr. Best says that this must be
“ understood by reference to instances where inattention to contrary
hypotheses has led into error. In the first place, then, the safety of
individuals has occasionally been jeopardized by the fabrication of
circumstances ; which may be either casual, or intentional. Under
the former are ranked those cases where the accused, although inno-
cent, is shown to have had peculiar temptations, or facilities, for
committing the act with which he is charged : as where, in cases of
murder, he has lived with the deceased, or had an interest in his
death ; or where a man becomes covered with blood, by coming in
contact in the dark with a bleeding body ; or death is produced by a
weapon which is proved to be the property of a person, who, never-

.theless, is not the real eriminal.” These are eases which I shall

read, if they are proper authority.

Chief Justice Shaw. Taken with a qualification, that it must be
consistent with every other reasonable hypothesis.

Mr. Sohier. I will refer to Starkie, page 577. The particular case
which I was going to state to the Jury — and there are several cases
stated — was this. “A servant-girl was indicted for the murder of
her mistress. The chief evidence against her was, that no one person
lived in the house but the prisoner and the deceased, and all the
doors and windows were secure as usual. After the prisoner was
condemned and executed, it appeared, by the confession of one of the
real criminals, that they had gained admittance into the house, which
was situated in a very narrow street, by means of a board thrust across
the street, from an upper window of an opposite house, to an upper
window of that in which the deceased lived ; and having commutted
the murder, returned the same way, leaving no trace behind them.”
And there are numerous other cases.
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I put this by way of illustration, as a case in which the circum-
stances were proved. The error was in the inferences. And
cases are continually occurring, in almost every man’s life, when
these circumstances might take place. And hence these rules are
considered most essential for every citizen; and they ean never be
lost sight of without endangering the party, and every other person
who may be placed in the same situation. :

I wish to draw your attention, for a single moment, to these rules.
There is only one of them to which I will ask your attention. Take
the Government’s evidence. [ will merely state it generally. What
is the Government evidence 2 Why, it consists of one great chain
of circumstantial proof, with which they have endeavored to surronnd
the defendant, and by the weight of which they have endeavored to
erush him. This chain consisis, of course, of two great divisions,
two greit parts. First, what is called the corpus delicti ; that is, that
Georre Parkman came to his death by violence from somebody. That
is the first link. Secondly, that Professor Webster was the party
who produced that, and that he produced it in the manner alleged.
These are the two great divisions, and each of these divisions, of
course, goes into various subdivisions, and the subdivisions into vari-
ous links.

But without stopping to consider that, let us see how the Govern-
ment support their case. Take the first great division of their chain.
They say that Dr. George Parkman was murdered. That is the very
first point with which they start, that he came to his death hy vio-
lence. How do they undertake to prove that? By various circums-
stances, all leading to one end ; that Dr. Parkman being in the Med-
ical College, where it is admitted he was, never came out. And that
is the cireamstance upon which they begin to build their chain.

Now you notice at once the various circumstances on which they
rely — the handbills, search. and everything else. That is the first
part of the division of their proof, that, being there, he never came
out. Take the second. They have a link of precisely the same
kinl, or a duplicate of the other. They say that Professor Webster
destroyed him by violence. Why? Because he was the last person
known to be with him; and if he did not destroy him by violence,
the Government do not know who did.

Now suppose that he left the College. If that one link be broken,
their whole chain runs away. ; .

Take another department of their case. They say they prove the
identity of the body: and that constitutes one departinent of their
proof. How do they prove it ? Principally by the teeth found in the
furnace, h}r marks upon the teeth! Suppose it should turn out t_h?!.t
there is no very great peculiarity ; there is an end of their identity.
If it was built upon other circumstances, it might stand upon them.
I have put these points solely by way of illustration, .

The great points to be borne in mind are, first, that every circum-
stance relied upon must be proved beyond reasonable doubt ; secondly,
that the circumstances must establish to a moral certainty the guilt
of Professor Webster. Ta do that, the third rule must come in—
that these circumstances must not support any other hypotheses. If
they do, there is an end of the case.

What must be the line of defence taken up by any man, who is
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indicted and tried upon circumstantial evidence 2 It must eonsist in
denying this; it must consist simply in this, — to wit, that the cir-
cumstances relied on by the Government are not, and cannot be con-
sidered to be, when all the evidence is in, established beyond all rea-
sonable doubt. And that is the point which we take— that these
circumstances are not and cannot be established, when our evidence
is in, beyond all reasonable doubt.

Secondly, that these circumstances do not sustain the hypothesis
attempted to be founded vpon them, to the exclusion of all others:
but, upon the contrary, conclusions can be drawn from these circum-
stances better in favor of the innocence than in. favor of the guilt
of Dr. Webster. So much with regard to the rules of law as applica-
ble to the erime charged, as applicable to the manner in which it is
charged, as applicable to the nature of the evidence which has been
adduced here.

I come, then, to state, very briefly, and very generally, merely the
heads under which we intend to introduce some evidence. We do
not intend, Gentlemen, in this stage of the proceedings, — for it is not
necessary, and it would, in my opinion, be totally irregular, — to go
into any examination of the circumstances which the Government
have been attempting to prove, or to show which of these circum-
stances we deny, and which we admit. That is to be explained in
another stage of the case. My duty is to show to you the heads
uuder which we intend to introduce our proof.

We say we do not intend to produce any direct evidence for the
purpose of explaining by what means those human remains came
into that laboratory, or beneath it. Professor Webster remains on
the position which he originally took. He knows nothing about it.
Those are the remains of a human body. We can no nore ex-

lain that than the Government can. We ean explain it only by

ypotheses, as the Government has explained it. The defendant
stands as you would stand, if similar remains were found upon your
premises, nnder the foundation of your house, in your work-shop, any-
where. So he stands, and so he must stand. And we know of no
direct proof by which anything of the kind can be explained.

Again, in regard to the interview which took place between Dr.
Webster and Dr. Parkman, it is impossible for us to introduce direct

roof. In the nature of things, no direct proof can be introduced.
E‘ur, as you see, the circumstances exclude all direct proof. The
statement of the case,as put to you, is that the parties met alone, and
that the interview was an interview by themselves. Of course, there
can be no proof brought about that interview., The evidence in
regard to this, seeing that we have no direct proof, — seeing that, from
the nature of things, we can have no direct proof, — must be circums-
stantial. And suech circumstances as we can introduce, in connertion
with such of the Government’s eircumstances as you give credit to,
must constitute the bulk of the testimony in this case, upon which
you must render your verdict.

The evidence, under the heads in which we shall introduce ii, 1s
simply this. Professor Webster stands charged here with having
committed a cruel and an inhuman act. That is the charge against
him. In regard to his being the person to commit an act of that
kind, we shall introduce his character and reputation. The law,
Gentlemen, I am free to say to you, does not give the same weight to
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character, where direct evidence is brought to bear upon a party,
which it does in all doubtful cases, or where the Government depends
upon circumstantial evidence, which make up, of course, doubtful
cases, and which must be doubtful cases. il

Where a man stands charged, on circumstantial evidence, and in a
doubtful case, with the commission of a great crime, the very greatest
weight is to be given to character. And his character is always
admissible, with this view. If a man should be proved, by direct
evidence, to bave committed murder, it would be of little importance
to prove that he had previously been of good character. The only
issues that could be made of his character, in such a case, would be
to show that the witnesses who swore to the fact could not be true.
The argument would be, that the witnesses did not swear to what he
did do. .

But when you come to a doubtful case —a case of circumstantial
evidence — then there is weight to be placed on character; and a man
has a right to be judged of, by his fellow-citizens, by a character
which he has earnt and established by a long life. Now, in introduc-
ing character, a man shall be at liberty to introduce it simply and
solely so far as his traits of character have a direct bearing upon the
offence charged. For instance, suppose a man should be indicted for
felony and larceny. It would be perfectly ridiculous to show that
his character for humanity was good. His character for honesty
would be in issue. Suppose a man was indicted for perjury. His
character for truth and veracity would be at stake.

Professor Webster is charged with doing a wviolent, inhuman and

cruel act. And I shall introduce evidence, with regard to his charac-
ter, by which you will judge whether he would do this act. And I
shall be very much mistaken, if we do not establish strongly npon -
that ground. Again, we shall undertake to show, so far as proof is
accessible to us, (for you will bear in mind that the arrest of Professor
Webster took place after a week, in which many of his acts were
comunitied,) what his conduct was, and how he spent his time, daring
that period.
» We shall also introduce proof, Gentlemen, in regard to the question,
whether Dr. Parlkman was ever out of that College, after that fatal
Friday noon. For we are mistaken if there is not proof to show that
he did come out of it. That may not have bearingas to whether that
is his body or not; but it will have an important bearing as to whether
he was destroyed by Professor Webster, as is alleged by the Govern-
ment. The facts are simply these, in regard to the evidence we
introduce : —

In regard to the character, and to the various heads to which I have
alluded, Professor Webster is a person who has all his life been devoted
to the pursuit of chemistry. gf—: is a person of nervous disposition ;
but a man exceedingly peaceable and harmless in his habits and his
conduct. We make no question, in regard to his nervousness. He
may sometimes show petulance. But so far from being a violent man,
familiar with deeds of blood, nothing can be further from this. He is
naturally a timid man.

He has, Gentlemen, as I have stated to you, always been devoted
to this pursuit; and he has devoted his days and his nights to it.
Whatever advancement he may have made in this pursuit of chem-
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istry — whatever accumulated wisdom he may have — we do not
claim for him. -

In reference to dealing with the world, he is not a shrewd man. On
the contrary, he may be considered the reverse ; that is his character,
so far as we konow it.  But it is not a new thing for him to be locked
up in his laboratory, days and nights. It is no new thing for him to
exclude the janitor, or anybody else, when he is conducting his
experiments. It is a safe and necessary practice, in all laboratories.
True it is, that, at the time when these pipes were new, certain persons
had access to them, for the purpose of keeping them clear; Eut, for
certain very good reasons, he stopped that use of it,and let the water
run off. ;

All this is, and this alone, the head and front of his offending.
The interview took place precisely as Dr. Webster has stated, and
Dr. Parkman left the College ; and Dr. Webster left the College at
quite an early honr for him, on that Friday afternoon.

We shall show you how Professor Webster passed the rest of the
week ; that he was at home almost every day, at dinner ; almost eve
night, at tea. These are all the peculiar circumstances under whii
we are prepared to produce evidence, excepting that we may introduce
evidence directly contrary to what the Government have put in, upon
certain points. This is the statement, and all the statement, that we
intend to malke to you, upon the opening of the case.

Hox. Joseru T. Buckmveuanm, (Senator from Middlesex,) sworn. — 1
reside in Cambridge, and have known Prof. Webster for thirty years.
It is seventeen years since I commenced living in Cambridge. Inever
heard that he was guilty of any act of violence or inhumanity.
In regard to his general reputation, in that respect, I have never heard
him charged with any act of violence. We have been on familiar
terms, and have met very often.

Hon. Jonn G. Pavrrey, sworn. — I have known Professor Webster.
In regard to his character for violence, I have never heard it discussed ;
but have never known, myself, of any act of viclence committed by
him. I have known Dr. Webster to be considered a petulant man,
but one who would exhaust his sudden fits of petulance in words ; but,
in §Enerﬂl, he is a peaceable man.

ouN H. Brakg, sworn. —1I reside in Boston, and am acquainted
with Professor Webster. At one time, I was very intimate with him.
This was twenty-five years ago.

I was with him, the first year of my acquaintance, in the laboratory.
Never heard of any acts of violence being committed by him.

Dr. Janes Warker, sioorn. — [ reside in Cambridge, and have been
acquainted with Prof. Webster fifteen years; ten years of which
was since [ resided here. I never heard anything against his
peaceable character. I never heard of any acts of violence.

Fraxeis Bowen, sworn. — [ reside in Cambridge. Have been ac-
quainted with Prof. Webster about thirteen years. He has moved in
the same society with mysell. He is quickly excited, but very quickly
forgetting the cause of his excitement. A hasty and irritable man,
but lacking depth of passion. Never knew of any act of violence
being laid to him. '

10
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Josepn Loverms, siworn. — 1 reside in Cambridge. I have been
acquainted with Prof. Webster; have known him twenty years. He
has been considered a peaceable, humane man, and I never heard any-
thing to the contrary.

George P. Sancur, sworn.-—1 reside in Charlestown ; and am ae-
quainted with Prof. Webster. Have known him personally ten years ;
and by sight, fifteen years. [ never heard of any acts of inhumanity
or violence charged against him.

Rev. Dr. Convers Francis, sworn, — I reside in Cambridge ; and
amn acquainted with Prof. Webster. I went to reside in Cambridge
in 1842,  For about twenty years, [ have been acquainted with him,
as a neighbor. So faras[ know, he has been considered a peaceable,
honest and humane man, and honorable and satisfactory in his con-
duct to his neighbors.

AL, WiLLarp, sworn. —1 reside in Cambridge. [am acquainted
with Prof. Webster. [ have known him about twenty years. His
reputation for peace and humanity has been good.

Joun CHAMBERLAIN, sworn. — I reside in Cambridge, and am a
carpenter. lam acquainted with Prof. Webster. Have known him
twenty years, before he moved out to Cambridge. His character
stood very high, as a citizen, and a good neighbor. Never knew of
his being guilty of any act of violence and inhumanity.

Hox. Joen Giies, sworn. —1 reside in Boston in winter, and at
Cambridge in summer. Iam an attorney at law. Have known Prof.
Webster since 1829 ; been personally acquainted, since 18545, with
him. As far as my information extends, he has been considered a
peaceable and humane man. Have never known any acts of viclence
and inhumanity to be committed by him.

Epmuxp T. Hasrines, sworn, —1 reside in Medford. 1 was for-
merly a merchant. [have been acquainted with Prof. Webster. 1 was
first acquainted with him in 1825. I have sold him land, two or three
different times; the first lot was in 1834. I lived in Cambridge
6ill 1834, I never heard anything contrary to his being a quiet,
humane and peaceable man. [ am much in L&[nhrldge, on business,
so that I have had an opportunity to hear concerning him. I have
never heard anything against him till his arrest.

Joun A. Furron, sworn. — I reside in Cambridge, and am a paint-
er. lam acquainted with Prof. Webster, and have been for the last
twelve or fourteen years. I never heard anything against his being
a quiet, peaceable and amiable gentleman. I never heard any acts
of violence or inhumanity imputed to him.

Cross-eramination. do not remember anything to the contrary.
I recollect that Dr. Webster took a very active part in decorating a
hall in Cambridge, at the late inauguration; and that he had orders to
stop in the decorations, and not go on any further. He did not show,
as I thought, any anger. I did not see or hear that he was violent,
in jmlling the decorations down.

angs D). Green, sworn. — I reside in Cambridge. [ have been
Mayor there. I am acquainted with Prof. Webster; and have known
him somewhat, for fifteen or twenty years ; more particularly, for the
last six or seven years. He has generally, in the community, so far
as | have been able to judge, been regarded as a peaceable and
humane man.

==
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C. M. Hovey, sworn. —1 reside in Cambridge. [ keep a seed
store, in Boston. Have known Prof. Webster for about twenty years ;
perhaps twenty-five. His reputation as a peaceable man has been
considered very high.

Daxier TrEADWELL, $worn. — 1 reside in Cambridge. Have been
connected with the College; but am not now. I am acquainted with
Prof. Webster, and have been for nearly thirty years. [ think he has
been considered as a quiet, peaceable, and humane man; but some-
what petulant, and nervous. But he is generally considered a per-
fectly harmless man.

NINTH DAY.— Thursday, March 28th.

[The Jury came into the Court-room a little before nine o’clock ; and
in a few minutes after, the Court came in. After the usual calling of
the Jury, the evidence on the part of the defence was resumed.]

Naraanier I Bownrren, siworn. — I reside in Boston. Have been
acquainted with Prof. Webster for about thirty years. His general
character is that of a humane and peaceable man ; but he is possessed
of a somewhat quick and irritable temper.

J. D. Heve, sworn. — I reside in Cambridze, and have known Dr.
Webster for about twenty-five years. He is generally considered
as a peaceable and quiet, but nervous though not a passionate man ;
but not ever violent.

James CavawacH, sworn. — I have resided in Cambridge for six-
teen years, and have known Prof, Webster all that time. I lived
three years with Professor Webster. His general reputation is that
of a peaceable and agreeable man; but he is sometimes hasty in his
temper. I always found him a kind-hearted and pleasant man, when
I lived in his family.

Masor Apranam Epwarps, sworn. — I reside in Cambridge; am
City Marshal. Have been acquainted with Professor Webster for fif-
teen years; I lived in the same ward with him. He has been, as far
as | know, a peaceable and humane man.

Peree W. Cuanorer, Esq., sworn. — I have known Dr. Webster
personally for about twelve years. He is generally considered as a
mild man, deficient in energy of character and strength of passion,
His general character for kindness and humanity is decidedly favorable.

Dr. MorriL. Wynax, sworn. —I reside in Cambridge, and have
for the last twelve years. I am not a near neighbor, but live not far
from Dr. Webster. My acquaintance with him commenced fifteen
years ago, and has continued up to the present time. His general
reputation has been, as far as I know, that of a kind, amiable, and

reeable man.

Dr. Jarep Sranxs, (President of Harvard University,) sworn. — I
reside in Cambridge, and have for seventeen years; during which
time, I have known the defendant. From my own observation, he
has appeared kind and amiable. I never knew of anything against
him. I did not hear anything until his arrest. As far as [ know, I
should say that he has been generally considered an amiable and
kind-hearted man.

Cross-ezamination. 1 have heard many remarks about him since
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his arrest, but nothing to which I gave credit. His conduct, as far as
I knew, hefore, Wasnﬁlat of a kind and peaceable man.

Cuarres O. Earon, sworn. — I reside in this city. I have been
somewhat acquainted with Dr. Webster about three years; more or
less intimate, I have always found himn a quiet and peaceable man.
I should think he was a kind man. I am a sign and ornamental

inter; have done more or less work for him, for two or three years,
at the Medical College; during his lectures, more work than at any
other time. I have had occasien to go to the Medical College fre-
!}]‘;lently. I always found him in his private room, or lecture-room.

e told me, if I wished to see him at any time, to come to his private
entrance by the dissecting-room. I have [requently been there when
[ found his doors bolted inside. At other times, and I have found them
unbolied. Generally find them unbolted about his lecture-hours. 1
have gone away a great many times, when Mr. Littlefield told me
that he was in, though I found his door locked. The last time I was
there was November 12th. He requested me to meet him at the
College. [ inguired for Dr. Webster, and the janitor told me that I
could not see him, as he was busy. [ told him that Dr. Webster had
requested me to come there at that time. He tried the lecture-room
door, and it was bolted ; then the lower laboratory door, and that was
bolted ; and then we went round to another door, and gained admit-
tance.

Cross-examination. | have not been at Professor Webster's lecture-
room at any other time this fall. I was there in the summer of
15849. I painted his diagrams, and only went there when he was
there. I have not, perhaps, been there in the summer, but in the
latter part of the spring. I amn sure that it was while he was lectur-
ing at the Medical College. [ had orders nearly every week, during
his lectures. He had many diagrams that he wished done during the
vacation, for the next course of lectures. He wanted me to wait till
the lectures were finished for my pay. I was there four or five times
a week during the lectures. Sometimes I would not go more than
once a fortnight. I believe I have prepared diagrams for three dourses
of lectures, including the fore part of 1849. The course of 1850 is
now going on. I painted some diagrams for the present course.
When I prepared diagrams for Professor’ Webster, I was an appren-
tice to Thomas C. Savory. I set up for myself October 1848, While
I was an apprentice, [ think I went oftener than I did after I set up
in business for myself. :

I sometimes went three or four times a week, and sometimes every
day in the week. I went on his lecture-days. I think the days
when he had no lectures were Thursday and Saturday. [ won’t
say certain. The days were in the janitor's box.

The lectures did not last the whole year round. I do not know
when they commenced, or what month they left off. Perhaps they
commenced November, and ended in April or May. I could not say
how late, but I have been there when it was warm weather ; whether
in April or in March, I couldn’t say. 1 couldn’t say that l was there
in May. I couldn’t say whether I had been there in the month of
April, for certzin. I mean to say, that I was there when it was quite
warm weather; it may have been in a January thaw. I think the
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lectures close in the months of April or May. I have given my tes-
timony from recollection. When I go, I have to wait outside.

I had not been there for a long time previous to November 12, 1
think I was there in the summer of 1849, but cannot say what time.
I think I went for my money. I think he had from me one bill in
January, another in June, and another in July. He ordered his dia-
grams n Febroary, for the fall of 1849. He gave me orders for the
present course, I was to have them finished by the first of Decem-
ber. I have prepared some diagrams for these lectures, which Dr.
Webster ordered.

Direct resumed. 1 am not a student, and my knowledge of the time
of the lectures is derived entirely from my painting diagrams for him.
I think the-lectures began in November, and ended in the spring. 1
never knew that Professor Webster lectured in Cambridge. ]I]:]id not

o to explain the diagrams. I had the privilege of seeing him when
went precisely at one; but did not go always at that hour.

Roserr E. Arrnore, sworn. —1 reside in Boston. Am acquainted
with Dr. Webster. 1 have known him, more or less, for about six
years. [ resided in Cambridge from 1842 to 1845. Have been inti-
mate; and from my knowledge, I can say I never knew anything
against him. [ am aequainted in the neighborhood where he lives,
and was intimate with his family. :

Samver S. Greexg, sworn.—1 reside in Cambridge. I have
resided there forty years. [ was the person who gave information to
the Marshal that the toll-keeper said that Dr. Parlkman had passed
the toll-house. Sunday evening, I was at the toll-house, where I
understood Mr. Littlefield to say that he had seen Dr. Webster pay
Dr. Parkman $470, and that another person was present. I after-
wards understood him to say that he did not see the money paid. [
was sitting back, about four feet off from him ; and I remarked the dis-
crepancy at the time. I understood him to say Dr. Parkman went out
of the College. This conversation between Dr. Webster and Dr.
Parkman, he said, was Friday. It was on Sunday the conversation
took place at the toll-house. :

Cross-examination. Mr. Whitney was present, who, I think, differs
a little from me in opinion. The toll-man was there, but not Mr.
Hadley. A gentleman came in, and I thought he was a police officer.
I can’t give Mr. Littlefield’s language. The amount I now fix at $430,
and no cents. [ made a mistake when I said $470. He stated that he
had charge of the building. He didn’t say where he was when he saw
Dr. Parkman; it was in the building, though, I think. He said he saw
Dr. Parkman in the building, but did not see him in the lecture-room.
I didn't hear him say that he saw him come in. I stated all that I
knew, in the first place. I understood him to say that he saw Dr.
Webster pay it, and afterwards I understood him to say he didn’t see
h]im pay it. I didn’t understand that Dr. Webster told Littlefield
this.

Junce Samver P. P. Fay, sworn. —I have resided in Cambridge forty

ears, Dr. Webster has been there as Professor many years. I have
en his near neighbor for the last fifteen years. Have always heard
him spoken of asa kind, humane man, and net violent, though some-
what irritable. He has been considered benevolent. The Friday
evening that Dr. Parkman was missing, I saw Professor Webster, |
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called in casually at Professor Treadwell's; and there I found Dr.
Webster and his wife, and Dr. Wyman and his wife. [ was there
about an hour; I came in about nine o’clock. 1 have no particular
recollection of him. He appeared as usual. He entered into conver-
sation with those there, There was no meeting there by appoint-
ment. There was nothing but conversation on general subjects —the
topics of the day and discoveries in ventilation. I saw him four or
five times during the week. I called there either Sunday or Mon-
day, or it might have been Tuesday, of the ensuing week; I called
there two evenings, and spoke about the disappearance of Dr. Park-
man, as Dr. Webster was in town every day, and had perhaps heard
the news, as I thought. I was there Monday, I think, or Tuesday,
and was invited to play a game of whist. I sat down, and played
three or four games; the Doctor and his daughier against Mrs.
Webster and myself. I was there two evenings out of Sunday,
Monday, and Tuesday. I made the inquiries in regard to Dr. Park-
man of Dr. Webster.

Joseer Kippeg, sworn.—I am a druggist, in Boston. T am ac-
quainted with Dr. Webster. I remember the day of Dr. Parkman's
disappearance. Professor Webster came into my store about five
o'clock, — previous to lighting up the gas,—about fifteen minutes
after sunset; I think it was fifteen minutes before five. He was
there only a few minutes. I am positive of the day, for I have a bill
of articles which he purchased.

Cross-examination. He bought a box of cologne, which contained
six bottles; did not pay for it.

Direct resumed.  He took it with him. |

Marianse Wesster, sworn. — I am a daughter of Dr. Webster,
Siuce his arrest, I have endeavored to call to mind the places where
he was that weeli. Father was home to tea Friday night, the 23d, a
little before six., He took tea at home, and remained at home till
eight, and then went to a neighbor’s house, with mother, and sisters,
and myself. . Father left us at the gate. Mother left with him.
We were at a small party. [ next saw him about half past
twelve; when I came home from the party, he opened the door for
me. He retired to his room about one o'clock. It was half past
twelve when I returned home ; and we all went up stairs at the same
time. It was his custom to breakfast at home; but I did not break-
fast myself that morning, so I did not see him again till a little after
one o'clock. He dined at home. I did not see him again till dark.
I was not at home mysell that afternoon. I don’t remember the
Transcript being there. One of the neighbors takes it, which father
sometimes reads. He was at home that evening, and read to us, and
played whist part of the time. That was not the evening Judge Fay
was there. I remember he was at home to tea. Belfore tea, he came
into the parlor with a book.

I went to bed at ten. Father was at home then. I can’t call to
mind seeing father, until I saw him at church. After chapel, he went
to take a walk with my motherand sister. He wasat dinner at half
past 12. We dined earlier than usual, for he was going to town
that afternoon. I knew, that morning, that he intended to come into
town. [ heard atnoon that he wished to go in the morning. He was
going in to call on Dr, Francis Parkman, to tell him that he was the
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individual who had the interview with his brother, the Friday pre-
vious. [ don’t reccollect when I next saw him. I cannot call to mind
seeing him that evening. On Monday, he was home to dinner at
two. He came home just at dinner-time. [ next saw him at tea.
We are always an hour at dinner. [ cannot recollect he was at
home that afternoon. He was at home that evening, and spent the
evening at home. [ fix it by Judge Fay's being there, and playing
whist. I went to bed at a little past ten. Father was there then.

On Tuesday, father was at home to dinner. He was at home a
short time after dinner. I don’t remember whether [ was at home
that afternoon, or not. He was at home in the evening till between
ten and eleven. Idon’t recollect whether he then went to bed, or not.
I left him sitting up. There was a fire, that evening, in the direction
of Porter’s; and we played whist, is the way I fix the time. We
played amongst ourselves. He generally breakfasts with the family.
On Wednesday, father was at home to dinner. I remember seeing
him Wednesday about eleven. I was in the dining-room, reading,
and he came in and spoke to me about it. He then went and
worked in the garden till near dinmer-time. He dined at home,
and was there till twenty minutes after six. He then came, with
sisters and myself, to Boston, to Mrs. Cunningham’s, to a party.
We came home at eleven, with him. We left him up when we went
to bed. He was sitting in a dressing-room, reading a newspaper. He
was at home all day, Thursday. Part of the morning he was in the
garden, and at home in the evening till T went to bed, which was at
ten. [ left him up. On Friday, I first saw him at dinner. He was
at home for about halfan hour after dinner, and again at sunset. He
was at home part of the evening.. I have a married sister, abroad in
Fayal. We have constant intercourse with each other. We keep a
journal, from which we write to Fayal. I have refreshed my memory
with it, concerning these facts. He is in the habit of sending plants
to Fayal, in air-tight boxes. I knew he intended to send some plants
this winter to Fayal.

I don’t know whether the plants were in preparation or not. He
has had flowers from Fayal. [ don’t know whether he was making
Pm[?lﬁ rations, at this time, to have flowers got for him.

arrieT T. WeBsTER, sworn. — I am a daughter of Prof. Webster.

On Friday evening, the 23d Nov., I saw father, before tea, hetween
half past five and six. He was at home till eight o’clock. He went,
with sisters and myself| to the party. He then left us, and went with
mother to Mr. Treadwell’s. Isaw him, on my return from the party,
at hall past twelve; he opened the door. I saw him for about half
an hour. He went up with us, when we retired. The next day, I
did n't see him till one o'clock. He spent the afternoon at home till
about dark, when he went out about half an hour, and went to a book-
store, He brought back a new book,—an illustrated edition of
Milton’s Allegro and Penseroso. He spent the evening ai home.
Miss Hodges was there part of the evening. He read aloud to us
rt of the time, and also played whist. We were up till about ten.
Ve left him up. I saw him at breakfast, Sunday. He went to
church, and was at home at dinner-time ; and after dinner, came into
town, to tell Dr. Franeis Parkian that he had had an interview with
Dr. Parkman on Friday. I heard of his intention in the morning.
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I next recollect seeing him before I went to bed, but cannot state the
hour ; — it was after ten. I think I left him up that evening. I next
saw him on Monday at dinner-time. I don’t recollect seeing him in
the afternoon. He spent the evening at home. Miss Wells and
Judge Fuy were there. We played whist that evening. I retired
early ; am not sure whether Judge Fay had gone, or not.

Op Tuesday, I recollect first seeing him at dinner. I saw him
again at tea. He was at home that evening. He read aloud to us

rt of the time, and played whist part of the time.

On Wednesday, [ saw him at breakfast, and again at eleven. He
spent part of the time, till dinner, in the garden. He spent the after-
noon at home. He went out with sister, to come to Boston. I did
not sit up for him. He was at home all day Thursday ; the fore part
of the'day he was at home at work in the garden. He spent the
evening at home ; read to us part of the time. We were all at home
that evening, and spent the time in music and reading.

I next saw him Friday, at breakfast. I think he dined at home ;
and [ saw him acgain at five o'clock. He was at home at tea. Mr.
Horsford sent out a number of articles, on New Year's day, from the
College. There was a cap, and a pair of overalls, two coats, and a
pair of pantaloons. It was after father's arrest.

[The Jury were here allowed a short recess. |

Ann Finnian, sworn. —1 live in Dr. Webster’s family. I went
there the 15th November, on Friday evening. He usually took break-
fast at half past seven to eight o’clock. I had been there a fortnight
when he was arrested. He had usuvally dined at two o'clock. He
was out Wednesday, and came into the kitchen at twelve. [ fix the
time, by thinking that I was belated with dinner. His coming in
made me think it was late, and =o [ looked at the cloek. This was
Wednesday, the day before Thanksgiving. He took down the key,
and went out into the garden. He breakfasted at home, I remember,
while I was there, every day; but I don’t remember seeing him the
morning after his arrest. That is the first time I missed him from
the breakfast-table while I was there.

Catmarmive T'. WeBsTER, sworn. —I am a daughter of Prof. Webster.
On Friday afternoon, the 23d November, he came home between five
and six, P. M. He went, with mother and my sisters, to a friend’s
house, where we were invited to a party. He and mother left us at
the gate, to go to Mr. Treadwell’s. Saw him again at half past twelve
at night. It was about one when we retired. On Wednesday
before Thanksgiving, he came home between eleven and twelve, and
worked in the garden. He passed the evening with me at Mr. Cun-
ningham’s, in Boston. We left there about half past ten, and came
out in the eleven o'clock omnibus. We walked from Mr. Cunning-
ham’s to the toll-house, and then took the omnibus. While waiting
at the toll-house, [ remember seeing a notice of a reward for Dr.
Parkinan. Sister pointed it out first; and father read it aloud to us,
as it was rather high up.

The Sunday preceding Thanksgiving, I saw father, with his shoes
in his hand, preparing to come to town; but mother dissuaded him
from it. He was coming to town to tell Dr. Francis Parkman that
he was the individual who had the conversation with his brother, the
Friday previous. He waited, however, and went to church. After
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chureh, I went to walk with him. He came to Boston that afterncon.
I saw him that evening, between nine and ten, in hisstudy. At about
dark, I heard his voice in the entry, but did not see him. He came
into the parlor about ten o'clock, from his study. I heard from my
mother, that he brought out a bundle Friday. [Objected to.]

Di. Winsvow Lews, recalled. — I have been acquainted with Prof.
Webster about thirty years. I know many of his acquaintances.
He is considered by others, in general, as a man of humanity and
kindly feelings. I was his pupil when he was a physician in the
alms-house. In regard to the time when he was Professor at Mason-
street College, I could never get into his room without knocking at
the door. He was Professor there at the same time I was Demon-
stator. i

I have noticed the cut in the thorax of the remains, carefully. The
cut was anything but a eclean cut. If it had been a ¢lean one, 1t would
not have shown that it was made before death. I could not tell
whether a broken calcined bone was broken before or after it was
caleined.

We finished our examination on Sunday. I think Dr. Strong was
there afterwards. We agreed upon the substance of our report on
Saturday. There was a bloodless appearance about the pelvis, as
though 1t had been scaked. I attributed this appearance to having
laid in water.

Cross-examination. 1 have not examined osteology as closely as
Dr. Wyman, and rather prefer Dr. Wyman’s opinion to my own, on
that subject. There is less likelihood of a clean cut after death than
before.

Direct examination. It could easily be done in the thorax, after
death, for the flesh there is tense.

Georce H. Gay, recalled. — I was one of the Committee to exam-
ine the remains at the Medical College. We finished on Sunday.
I think I saw Dr. Strong there on Monday. My impreszion, at the
time | looked at the cut, was, that it was done with a cane. Some
of the remains were bloodless. [ am speaking of the parts that were
found in the privy. They seemed to have been soaked in some
iquid.

qﬂl.wm W. Hovmes, recalled. — There are two principal author-
_ities on the subject of the quantity of blood in the human body ; one
of Haller, and the other of Valentine.

Haller says one fifth of the body, or about twenty-seven or twenty-
eight pounds, is the average quantity.

Valentine states it to be between one fourth and one fifth of the
weight of the body in an adult male, or thirty-four and a half pounds
on the average — arrived at by a most exact mathematical estimate.
Thirty-four pounds would be about seventeen quarts.

The fracture of the bone after calcination depends upon the degree
of calcination. Bones may be calcined so as to easily crumble ; but
calcined partially, they will split, break outward, or inward, and di-
rect across, and in almost any direction. In the experiments [ have
made, [ find such to be the case.

Cross-examination. 1 would not defer my opinion to that of Dr.
Wyman. It is an opinion of a simple physical fact, within any one's

reach.
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I have examined specimen shown me by Dr. Wyman ; but could
not say that it was fractured during life. [Bone shown.]

The animal matter is not all removed, and the bone is only partially
calcined ; and I cannot say that it was fractared during life. T gave
my opinion of my own opinion, when vou inquired if I would defer
my opinion to that of Dr. Wyman.

Proressorn E. N. Horsrorp, sworn. — [ am instructor at the Uni-
versity, at Cambridge, in the Lawrence Scientific School. I have
delivered part of a course of lectures, at the Medical College, since
Dr. Webster’'s arrest. | commenced instructing in chemistry in
1841, I have had occasion to use nitrate of copper in my laboratory,
and I have seen it used in other laboratories. It is a solution of
copper in nitric acid, and is used in organic analyses,

I have tried nitrie acid, and also potash, in dissolving bones and
flesh, I tried it on the hock-bone of beef, and on the muscle, too;
using the commercial nitric acid. The muscle was placed in one
vessel, and the bone in another. In about four hours and twenty
minutes, the bones had disappeared; and in five hours and twenty
minutes, the vessel was entirely elear, leaving no trace of it. The
flesh disappeared in three or four hours. I have dissolved human
musele in a very short time; but have made no experiments with
human bones. I took the laboratory after Prof. Webster's arrest.
There are two instruments, called Sanctorius thermometers. Colored
lignid is required, which is made of solutions of copper.

As to blood, I have occasion to use it not unfrequently. Have
never made experiments on gases in anatomical vaults. éaﬁes are
generated there. I sent out some clothing, and an old blanket, to
Prof. Webster's house, after his arrest. They consisted of a pair of
overalls, a blue coat, and a little light cap. [ examined them only
cursorily before 1 sent them out. I knew Prof. Webster was under
arrest, I saw them again, and looked at them carefully; but I saw
no blood on them. I did not see any change in them. .

Cross-¢xamination. | found them in the small back room. [ think
the policeman had had them for a pillow. They were lying on the
floor.

When I took the laboratory, there were four or five bottles of nitrie
acid, of perhaps a gallon, or a gallon and a half. The weight de-
pends upon the concentration — perhaps fourteen pounds. I think
it would take rather more than the weight of the whole flesh and
bone to dissolve a human body. Nitric acid would act on a metallic -
vessel somewhat. The best vessel would be one lined with porcelain.
In the experiments I made, no smell came out. * It would not, with-
out a cover being off; and the temperature were raised to a great
heat.

Nothing would come from the body itself, but from the acid.
There is no vessel there that would contain one hundred and fifty
pounds of nitric acid. Nitrate of copper may be spilled about the
laboratory, and 1 did not think much of it. It might affect clothes,
in process of time. It is slowly corrosive, when applied to the skin.
In my last lecture, 1 used blood, to show the effect of heat upon it.
In my experiments with the nitric acid, I used something more than
four pounds of acid to the four pounds of bone.

By the Defence, To destroy flesh by nitric acid, would depend
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upon the amount of flesh putin. The identity of the flesh would
be lost in a very short time. I have known Dr. Webster several
years. His general reputation is that of kindness and mildness.

By the Government. Should not think nitric acid would act on
mineral teeth. I have never tried it, though.

De. Wi T. G. Mortox, sworn. — I am a physician. Have prae-
tised dentistry about eight years. I usually manufacture my own
teeth. I have had opportunities of knowing Dr. Keep’s work, and
have been instrueted in his method of manufacturing teeth.

{Teeth shown. |

see no particular mark by which to identify the teeth. [ should
think they End been ground on the inside. It is not unusual to grind
out the inside, to make room for the tongue. It is done by small
wheels, from the size of a fourpence to a dollar. I have used pla-
tinum pins in my manufacture. It is not unusual. There are holes
in the plate, for the pins. There is no peculiarity in the position of
the holes. Ina hqu I have recently read, it is laid down that the
best place is between the first bicuspid and the first molar, for the in-
sertion of these pins. There is partial absorption of the lower jaw.
I could take this mould and find teeth which would even fit better
than these shown me.

Witness shows a tooth, and applies it to the mould.]

his fits on the right side, as to length. The general outline of
all jaws is alike.

[ Witness showed some moulds where absorption is greater than
that seen in the mould of Dr. Parkman’s mouth.]

Here is one with the same number of teeth, though not quite so
great an absorption. 'The block of teeth shown me look like teeth of
mine, when they fall into the furnace. There are some teeth which
I should think would be more likely to be found in the mouth than
others. We don’t pull them, for they will often remain many years.
One iz an eye-tooth.

These models I have shown are those of the most marked cases
that have occurred in my practice. On the application of great heat,
this block [found in the furnace] may have warped so as to fit this
mould of Dr. Keep's.

Cross-exzamination. 1 knew Dr. Parkman when he was alive. 1
never saw any two jaws alike; so | eannot say anything about a
peculiar jaw. There is a general resemblance in all jaws, in some

rts. I could n’t say that his was peculiar.

I could give the names of those the models of whose jaws resemble
Dr. Parkman; but I do not like to give the names of my patients.
In many instances, I could tell Dr. Keep’s work; but would not swear
to every case. Teeth, when set and completed for one man, will not
fit another man’s mouth. I should judge, from the mould, Dr. Park-
man was about fifty-five. [ have one case here, where the absorp-
tion is as abrupt as in Dr. Parkman's; and here is another which
is not.

By Myr. Sohier. The blocks, separate and distinet, might fit two
mouths.

By My. Clifford. If | had a jaw to operate on, and had noticed
it, and had taken an impression, and that had any peculiar marks
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about it, and it had not been a long time since, I could probably
identif

By syfm Court. The model indicates all the peculiarities of a jaw
—as stumps and cavities.

By Mr. Sokier. The model would show the jaw, with the muscles
on it. [ might recognize a model; but I would not feel positive.

Proressor Dawier Treapwern, recalled. — 1 live in Dr. Webster's
immediate neighborhood. I remember the Friday of Dr. Parkman’s
disappearance. Dr. Webster and wife came to my house, about half
past eight. There were Dr. Morrill Wyman, Mrs. Treadwell, and
myself, when he came in. The conversation was on a great variety
of topies. [t was nearly ten when they left.  Since his arrest, [ have
thought of the conversation, but could think of nothing unusual. He
seemed perfectly self-possessed. [ saw him again, the next weel,
twice, Snce. on Tuesday evening, a little past six, somewhere be-
tween his house and the c?lrur{;h, near the corner of the burial-ground.
I was going towards the post-office. I had met him going home,
two or three times, coming in from Boston, as [ thought. Tuesday
evening, we had a short conversation. I saw him once besides that,
but can’t say when, exactly. He usually spoke of general topics.
He spoke of Dr. Parkinan, and I talked with him on that subject.
There was nothing unusual about his appearance and conversation
He spoke in his usual animated manner.

Cross-examination. 1 am quite confident that, on Tuesday, he was
going to his home. I think it must have been after six, for I had
taken my tea. He did n’t speak of going to the bookstore. Asl
left him, after speaking of the disappearance of Dr. Parkman, he
pointed to a star, and asked what star it was. I saw him Friday
evening, and Tuesday evening, and another evening. Tuesday
evening, our conversation was near the grave-yard, and after six.

[The Court here adjourned from two till half past three o’clock]

AFTERNOON,

[The Court came in at half past three, and the evidence for the
defence was resnmed.]

Dr. Janes W. Sroxg, recalled. — 1 am one of the committee who
made the post mortem examination of the body ; the examination was
entirely finished on Sunday, December 2d. The hole in the thorax
had no appearance of being a clean eut. There is not the slightest
difficulty in making a clean cut after death. Paid much attention
to dissection, while a student, and am satisfied that clean cuts could
be made as easily, with a sharp knife, upon the human subject, as the
butcher makes them daily upon the flesh of animals. Particularly
where this hole existed, there could be no difficulty in making a clean
cut, as the muscles between the ribs remain tense after death.

Puinens G Haren, sworn. —1I live at No. 15, Vine-street. I used
to know Dr. George Parkman by sight, and had known him so for
fifteen years. The last time I saw him was on Friday, the 23d of
November, in Cambridge-street, between North Russell and Blossom
streets, I was going home, and he was going towards Court-street.
‘When I got home, it was about twelve or thirteen minutes of two.
I looked at my clock, to see how long I had been out. I fix the date
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by my hushand going to Vermont on the morning of the 22d. That

very day my sister came down from Maine; and the next day I went
up to South End, towards Roxbury, to tell my sister’s daughter of it
and I was returning when [ met Dr. Parkman. I mentioned it after
I heard he was missing, and remarked that he conld not have been
gone a great while, for I had seen him the afternoon before.

Cross-examination. | don't know but that Dr. Parkman turned
round ; I was not his keeper. I mentioned to my sister, after I got
into the house, that I had met * Chin,” so as to draw a smile, as she
was low-spirited, and also because he was the only person I met that
[ knew. She asked who 1 meant, and I told her % Parkman. [
said “ Chin,” beeause he had such a long chin, and I wanted to make
her smile. I had not seen Dr. Parkman before for some time. I
met him in Cambridge-street. He was on the same side-walk —on
the right-hand side going down. Idon’t know whether he turned
down Blossom-sireet or not. [t was sometime in the alternocon I
mentioned it to my sister, but I can't say what time.

Josepn Harcn, sworn. — I reside at No. 15, Vine-street. [ wentaway
from the city on Thursday, the 22d day of November. [ went to
Corinth, in the State of Vermont. [ returned on Monday, the 3d of
December. The person last on the stand is my wife.

Wietian V. Troxrsox, sworn. — I reside in East Cambridge. Iam
elerk in the office of the Registry of Deeds. [ went to Prof. Web-
ster’s house, Sunday evening, with Mr. Fuller. 1 should think it
was six o'clock. We went to see the date of the morteage he had

paid the preceding Friday. A young lady opened the door. 1 went
mtﬂ Dr. {’Vf-htters study. I asked him if he recollected the time the
mortgage was given. He said, if we would wait a moment or two, he
would get it. He looked into his trunk on the floor, and remarked
that it was strange he could not find the paper. He then said he
could give me the information another way. He then read from a
book [ supposed a journal, and gave the date of a mortgage ; and cor-
rected himsell instantly, and said that was not the date I wanted. I
then told him that I wanted the date of the mnrtrragc he paid the
money on on Friday. He gave the date, and it proved to be on per-
sonal property. I then said [ would call at the City Clerk’s. There
were two mortgages, and I made a minute of them, and went to Mr.
Blake’s. That was all about the mortgage. There was other con-
versation, but not about this. Dr. Webster said that he had called
over to see Dr. Francis Parkman, and that he ‘had told him that he
was the gentleman who had an interview with his brother on the
Friday of his disappearance. He also said, when he came over, he

called at the toll-house, and asked the toll-keeper if he had seen Dr.
Parkman, as he heard he had. He said, also, that he called at Mr.
Page’s, to see if Dr. Parkman had cancelled the mortgage. He said
that he did not find Mr. Page at home, and was not aware that his com-
munion-day came on the last Sabbath, instead of the first, in the month,
He said he ascertained that the mortgage had not been cancelled. I
said that we would call at Mr. Page's office and see, as Mr. Page
might have overlooked it. I left the house. I saw nothing of any
trembling. I conversed "with him, and noticed nothing except the
wrong date. The first date he gave me was that of the large mort-
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ge. [ have known Dr. Parkman, and have seen him very fre-
quently within the last five years.

On the 23d of November, I saw him in Causeway-street; on Fri-
day, about ten minutes or a quarter past two o'clock, I was going
towards Charlestown Bridge, and he was coming towards Leverett-
street, and we met a ]ittlﬂ%?eluw the centre of the street. There isa
millinery shop on one side, and a carpenter’s shop on the other. [
think it was near Merrimac-street. | may be mistaken as to the name
of the street, though I could point it out. [A map of the city was
shown, and he pointed out the locality.] It was somewhere near
Portland-street. He was on the opposite side to me, and I was en
the left-hand side, going down. I paid for this coat on that day; by
this way I fix the time; and [ also made a short examination of a
title at the Registry, for a man who kept on India-street.

I had not been in Boston for about nine days, at that time. [ was
m again the week after. I went to carry my memorandum to this
man in India-street. I was in afterwards on Thanksgiving day. The
man was not at home, and [ wrote a memorandum, as [ only had the
message verbal, and the young man there wished me to do so.

I started from East Cambridge, by one clock, about three or four
minutes of two. The clock on the Court-house was at two then,
The first place I went to was Orrin Towle’s, at the corner of Elm and
Hanover streets, to leave some deeds. [ took out my watch there,
and it was twenty-three or twenty-five minutes past two o'clock. This
was after I passed Dr. Parkman. [ came into town on foot. I went
into Leverett-street, then into Causeway-street, then into the street
which leads into Portland-street, then down Hanover-street. I am
called a quick walker.

I noticed Dr. Parkman’s appearance. He was dressed in a dark
frock coat, dark pants, and a dark hat. When I saw him, he had
his hands behind hiin, and seemed to be excited and angry about some-
thing. I did not turn round to look after him. He was walking. The
first time I called to mind that I had seen him was on Sunday, about
five o'clock; and I told it to Mr. Blake, the ex-City Marshal.

Cross-examination. 1 do not think I am near-sighted, nor that I
am called near-sichted. My eyes are weak, and [ sometimes wear
glasses slightly colored. I give attention to copying in Registry of
Deeds. 1 suppose it weakens my eyes, but not to impair them.
Hooper & Blake’s is further from Leverett-street than the place I have
reference to. I met*him before I ecame to the first cross street which
leads off to the right; but I cannot call the name of the street.
Ban shown.] It is Merrimac-street [ mean. It is not a very great

istance from Leverett-street. I recolleet going down Merrimac-
street to Portland-street. [ carry a magnifying-glass, for the purpose
of looking at fine writing. 1 have never said that [ wrote at times
go fine that I could not read it at other times. I swear posit."s'.Fe.l%
that [ never stated that [ wrote so fine, in a mesmeric state, that
could not read it. [ never say mesmeric state. I have said to Mr,
Andrews that, in the biological state, | have written so fine that others
could not read it: but never, that I could not read it. [ sometimes
lecture on Biology. I will not pretend to say that my faculties are
different in such a state. I prefer not to answer in regard to it. I do
not know that I see any better in a Biological state. Mr. Andrews
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said he had seen some very fine writing done in a Biological state,
and then I made the remark to him.

Dr. Parkman did not speak to me, and I do not know that he
noticed me. I told Mr. Blake on Sunday morning. At Dr. Web-
ster's house, there was some further conversation, which I have not
mentioned, I asked Dr. Webster how Dr. Parkman appeared when
he paid him the money. He said that he appeared angry and ex-
cited. He also informed me that © Dr. Parkman had called on Mr.
Pettee; who sold his tickets for the lectures, and inguired if he had
any money in his hands belonging to Dr. Webster. Mr. Pettee in-
formed him (Dr. Parkman) that he did have some. He (Dr. Parkman)
then wished him to pay over the money in his hands to him, and he
would give him his receipt. Mr. Pettee refused. Dr. Parkman was
very angry, and used an expression that Dr. Webster was a d d
whelp.” I should have stated it before, but I was interrupted by
Counsel. When we were coming out, Dr. Webster said, «Gentle-
men, [ trust you will be successful in your search ;" and offered us
any assistance in his power. I have always remembered it, and
stated it so to Mr. Blake. :

[A written statement, made by the witness to Mr. Andrews, was
here shown to the witness, which he acknowledged he had signed.]

Mr. Andrews asked me for a general outline, as his hands were
too cold to write it down ; and so [ made a general statement. [ was
about to state further, that Dr, Webster spoke about its creating a
great sensation in Dr. Parkman’s family, and the community. I think
that is all. No, it is not all yet. I think he did say that Dr. Park-
man had used insulting expressions every time he met him, and that
he had told Dr. Parkman that he would pay him when he got his
money for the tickets to his lectures ; and that Dr. Parkman would
not believe his word. He either said that two persons were in the
room at the time of his paying Dr. Parkman, or a few minutes after.
I said it was my impression, and that I was not certain; but Mr,
Andrews told me I might as well put it in. I did, and he then asked
me to sign it, which I did.

By Mr. Sokier. This Mr. Andrews is the one I supposed employed
by the Government in procuring evidence. Mr. Andrews came to
the Registry of Deeds. * Put it down rough,” he said,  for I can’t,
my hands are so cold.” [ told Mr. Andrews that my impression was
that Dr. Webster said, that © There were two persons present — the
one the janitor, and another person — when he paid the money, or who
were there a few minutes after.” [ said it was my impression ; and
Mr. Andrews then said, * Never mind,— put it down ;” and I did,

Samvel A. WentworTH, sworn. — I reside in Vine-street, and am
a provision dealer. Was acquainted with Dr. Parkman, and have
known him for two years. The last time I saw him was on the 23d
of November, in Court-street, between the hours of half past two and
half past three o'clock. [ fix the time by my dinner hour, being one
o'clock. I went to dinner, and came back ; and my young man went
at two o'clock, and [ waited till he came back. My store is No. 1, in
Lynde-street. I then went down town. The young man was gone
more than half an hour. 1 came down to Haymarket-square, and
went to market for Saturday morning. Dr. Parkman was in Court-
street, near Sudbury-street, opposite Mrs. Kidder'sstore ; and he stopped
all of a sudden, turned round, and faced the street. He was on the
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same side of the street with me. He was going down Bowdoin-
square, [ had passed him when he stopped. He had his hands
behind him, under his coat, when he stopped.

Saturday evening, after I had shut up, and it was late, I went home,
and my wile said that there had been two men in, looking after Dr.
Parkman. I remarked that I guessed he had not gone a great ways,
as I only saw him yesterday, near Derby Range, in Court-street.
When I first saw him, he was coming towards me; and, as I crossed
to go down Sudbury-street, I saw him standing as I have said.

Cross-examination. | spoke to my wife,and to another lady in my
house. I communicated it to a Mr. Foster, in Blossom-street, after it
was thonght Dr. Parkman was found. Idid not mention it to the police.
I could n't say exactly, but I think it was near three o'clock. I never
go Thursday afternoon to buy my marketing. I remember that it
was the day [ was going to market. I went to market after I got through
with my business in Haymarket-square. There wasa Mr. Russell
with me; a Mr. I. H. Russell. He recollects being with me some
time when [ saw Dr. Parkman, but does not recollect the exact day.
I do not recollect seeing anybody ever that looked like Dr. Parkman.
My wife said that two men had been there inquiring after Dr. Park-
man. The first time I mentioned it, except to my wife, was on Sat-
urday, after finding the remains. I knew that the rewards were
offered. :

Samven B. Crevano, sworn. — I reside in Chelsea. My place of
business is in South Market-street. I have been acquainted with Dr.
George Parkman for abount eleven years. I was a tenant of his in
1833-39. I last saw him on Friday, November 23d, on Washington-
street, between Milk and Franklin streets, between quarter past three
and half past three o’clock — perhaps twenty minutes past three. I
fix the hour from the fact that fwent to see the Rev. George Wildes,
who boards at 18, Franklin-street. Dr. Parkman was on the east side
of the street, and was going toward Roxbury. I always called on Mr.
Wildes at three o’clock, whenever I wished to get his services, for he
was usually at home at that hour. At this time, | was coming from
there. On Wednesday, I wrote a note to, the Rev. Mr. Allen, of
East Boston, requesting him to officiate for us at St. Luke’s, in Chel-
sea, the next Sabbath. Not hearing from him, on Friday morning,
[ sent a note to him by a boy, but he returned with it, not being able
to find him. [ have the note with me which he brought back. Ithen
addressed a note to the Rev. Mr. Woart, of Christ Church, inviting
him to preach, and sent it by the boy. He returned, with a note, statin
that he could not preach nli’ day. I have this notealso with me, whicE
fixes the date.

I then waited till three o'clock. Iam always sure of finding Mr.
Wildes at three o'clock. I called on Mr. Wildes, going through Dev-
onshire-street and up Theatre-alley. He was unable to fill the pulpit
on Sunday, and HDI[ came up from Franklin-street to Washington-
street.

I saw Dr. George Parkman. He appeared to be walking up Washing-
ton-street with a laboring man. The peculiarity struck me, and I no-
ticed him; but, as [ :1[}]|‘.|I‘-Dﬂ.ched. him, I found he was walking alone.
I almost touched him, I came so close. [ did not speak to him. I
have not spoken to him for several years past. 1 heard,the following
Monday morning, of his disappearance.
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Cross-examination. [am not aware of having mentioned to the
relatives of Dr. Parkman that I had met him at this time. I spoke
of it to my partner, on Mouday morning. I also mentioned it to a
M. Knapp, a police-officer, and asked him if it was necessary to com-
municate it to liiarﬁlml Tukey. He said it was not. I have seen the
rewards offered.  Asit was .-smfed in the reward that he was seen going
to South End, I did net think it necessary to mention it to his family.
I'should have been happy to have done so. 1 think [ cannot fix the
?:E.ctspnt where Isaw him. [ was on the inside. He passed on' my
ell.

I saw him some four or five rudﬁ off, when I first saw him. It was
about half-way from Franklin and Milk streets. There were some
persons between him and myself, when I first saw him. He was
walking his usual pace. I do walk somewhat fast. [ am not aware
of having had any conversation with Mr. Lee, Superintendent of the
Providence Railroad. I am not aware of seeing notice that informa-
tion was wanted by the police. [ thought they knew that he was seen
going to South End, by the notice in the reward. I read the papers
generally, bat I do not remember that I noticed that further informa-
tion was wanted.

[Letters sent to Rev. Mr. Allen and received from Rev. Mr. Woart
were here handed to Counsel by witness, but were ruled inadmissible.]

Lucws R. Page, sworn. —1 am City Clerk at Cambridge, and keep
the records. [ saw Dr. Webster on Sunday, about a quarter before
five o'clock. 1 found him at my house, after I had come home from
church. He stated that he called to see if Dr. Parkman had called
at my house, to discharge a mortgage. I replied to him that Dr. Park-
man had not been there, and told him that I had been there all the time
sinee Friday noon. My office is in my house. [ looked at the records
before he left, but did not find it dlﬂrh-lrged

ApBy B. Ruoves, sworn. — I reside in Minot-street. [ was ac-
quainted with Dr. George Parlman enough to bow when I met him.
I have known him for twenty-five years. I have attended his brother’s
church. I saw him last on Friday, November 23d, in Green-street,
at the corner of Liyman-place, near Emery Souther’s apothecary store,
at one guarter to five o'clock. I think. It was very neardark. There
was a man with him. I passed as near as I could, with my daughter
between. I was going toward Chambers-street, and he towards
Bowdoin-square. He was walking quite fast. We bowed, as we
passed.

I fix the time by the fact that that was the only day that [ and my
daughter went home together through Green-street. We had been.
out shopping together. At Mr. Hﬂvev s store, in Winter-street, we
made purrha%eq We purchased some muslin-de-laine — eleven
yards, at twenty cents a yard. We passed through several streets
after that. [ brought the bundle with me. They were not charged,
and came to $2.20. [ was so positive that [ had seen him, that I
called on Dr. Francis Parkman, Tuesday after, and told him. I was
at home Saturday, and my davghter was out. It was neither Thurs-
day nor Saturday, for | was at home Thureday.

first saw the notice of the disappearanee of Dr. Parkman by the

paper on Sunday morning. My daughter left town, Saturday after-

noon, for Lexington ; and on her return, we were speaking about the
11
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disappearance of Dr. Parkman. My daughter said, * Don’t you remem-
ber we met Dr. Parkman on Friday?”—and I at once recalled it to my
mind. I made a memorandum of my purchase. ['have it at home.

[Wime&s was instructed to bring it the next day.]

did not go out till after dinner. We dine between two and three
o’clock. I then went out, about three o'clock, and did my shopping,
and was returning when [ met Dr. Parkman.

Cross-examination. 1 have felt a great interest for the family of
Dr. Parkman. I never have expressed any doubts or misgivings. I
did not express any doubts to Mrs, Patterson. [ have never said to
my sister, Mrs. Harrington, that if I had not expressed ‘myself so
strongly, I should be inclined to doubt. 1 ean’t say who the gentle-
man was that was walking with Dr. Parkman. The two were
together, but passed so quickly that I conld not notice this man’s
looks. He was taller than Dr, Webster,

In the interview [ had with Dr. Francis Parkman, I told him that
my daughter had called to my mind our having passed him on the
Friday afternoon of his disappearance. [ called on him again,on the
Friday after, to tell him that I had heard he had been seen by an-
other party. ['did not go to remove any doubts I thought he might
have as to the truth of my former statement.

Mary Rnuobes, sworn.— 1 am daughter of the lady last on
the stand. I have known Dr. Parkman by sight nearly ten years. 1
saw him last on Friday, November 23d, in Green-street, opposite Mr.
Souther’s, the apothecary. My mother was with me. “Pe had been
to Mr. Hovey's store, and had been out shopping, and were returning
home., We bought a dress that afternoon. Dr. Parkman passed near
me, and I had to move my bundle, so as not to hit him. I was out
Saturday morning. I first heard of Dr. Parkman’s disappearance on
Saturday, at Lexington. I first mentioned it on Tuesday to m
mother and my brother; but to no one before I came to Boston. {
have taken pains to fix the time in my mind. It was near dark, and
about five o'clock.

Cross-ezamination. There was no discussion at Lexington about
it. I read it out of the paper, aloud. I had not heard of the reward.
I understood that it was Saturday that he disappeared. I read the
Journal or Traveller. After I reached town, mother spoke of it first.
I did not notice particularly the gentleman with Dr. Parkman. He
was not taller than Dr. Parlkman, but stouter. We did n’t see him
untii we came up to him.

I did not take pains to find out if Dr. Parkman had been found. 1
don’t know as the reward was spoken of. I don’t recollect the streets
we passed through. 1 did not return through Green-street any other
time with mother. [ was with my mother in Green-street, going out
on Wednesday, but I came back alone. I don’t recollect meeting him
that day, but I have seen him frequently, and know him by sight.

Saran GreexoucH, sworn. —[ reside in Cambridge. 1 knew
Dr. George Parkman personally in early life, but within the last few
years I have only known him by sight. The last time I saw him was
the Friday before Thanksgiving, in Cambridge-street, between South
Russell and Belknap streets, at a little before three o’clock. The way
I fix the time is, that I had an engagement out to tea. After dinner,

I had the horse harnessed, to bring me down to the bridge. When |
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came to the bridge, I left the carriage, and looked at my watch, to see
if I should be able to et into the r:it}' to see my somn, who goes out at
three o'clock, before he should leave his house. Just as I met Dr.
Parkman, I noticed the time, to see how long I had been coming
across the bridge, and I saw I had been ten minutes. When [ met
Dr. Parkman, it was just ten minutes of three o'clock. He was on
the opposite side of the street. [ was on the left hand side, coming
in, and he was on the right hand side. I reached my son’s, in Tem-
ple-sireet, just at three o’clock, as he was about to go out.

Cross-examination. He was going towards the bridge. I shonld
not have thought of the circumstance again, if I had not heard of Dr.
Parkman’s disappearance soon after. I saw him across the street.
I first s=aw him when he was nearly abreast of me.

By the Court. 1 can’t say positively that it was him that I saw,
but that is my belief.

Samver B. Deax, sworn.—1T am a salesman for C. F. Hovey &
Co., in Winter-street. On the 23d of November last, there were sold
eleven yards of muslin-de-laine, at twenty cents per yard. There
was no other sale of that kind and price, for cash, that day. I cannot
tell to whom the sale was made, but [ made the memorandum of the
sale. I cannot give the time of day, but from the entry in the book I
should infer it was in the latter part of the day.

[Mr. Sohier now stated to the Court that he believed the evidence
for the defence was all in; but he should like to consult his minutes,
to see that no witness had been overlooked.

The Court then adjourned.] °

TENTH DAY.—Friday, March 29th.

he Court came in at nine o'clock ; and after the usual calling of

the Jury by the Clerk, Mr. Schier rose and stated to the Court that
the defence rested their case here.] i

Mr. Clifford, Attorney General, here said that perhaps he did
not state it so distinctly in his opening as he should have done, but
he wished the Counsel for the Defence to understand that the Govern-
ment held that on the larze mortgage. there were sums still due to
other individuals besides Dr. Parkman, which would not become due
till 1851. These sums amounted to over $500.

The following rebutting testimony was then introduced by the Gov-
ernment.

Josern SaNDERsoN, sworn. — [ am one of the police of Cambridge.
I have known Dr. Webster for about four years. [This witness was
called to show where Dr. Webster was one night during the week of
the disappearance of Dr. Parkman.] [saw him between Sunday and
Thanksgiving day, after the disappearance of Dr. Parkman. [ saw
him come out of the theatre coach, in Harvard-square, close to the
Colleges, where the omnibuses stop. I should think it was between
eleven and twelve o'clock at night. None of his family got out with
him. [ was standing near the omnibus, and I followed ﬁim towards
his house. I don’t recollect seeing him after he got past Graduate
Hall. 1T followed him, perhaps fifteen rods, on the side-walk, round
the square. [ am a watchman.
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Mr. John Bryant met me immediately after. He is a watchman,
and I made an observation to him that that was Dr. Webster. Dr.
Webster might have touched me in passing. I first called it to
raind the day after Dr. Webster’s arrest.  The theatre coaches come
out from eleven to twelve o’clock. I am confident it was past eleven,
from the direction I took on my round, which I never take till' after
eleven o'clock, unless something unusual calls me.

Cross-ezamination. 1 mentioned this to Mr. Bryant on Saturda:,r.
Iam a watchman. I was on that part of my round which I do not
take till after eleven o'clock. I fix the hour in my mind from that
circumstance. I don’t know how many persons got out of the coach.
I don’t recollect how many went the way he did. I don’t know
whether there were any ladies who got out with him. I could not
say that it was, or was not, Wednesday. I have never set any night.
It was not Thanksgiving day ; for that was pleasant, and this evening
was somewhat hazy.

I don’t know it was not Tuesday. It was either Monday, Tues-
day, or Wednesday. I passed him as he got out of the coach, and 1
turned round and walked behind him. He walked faster than I did.
I followed him nearly to his hounse. but could only see him as far as
the upper end of Graduate Hall, where the bank is. When the
coach stopped, I was right against 'the wheel- horses, and was looking
at the people getting out of the conch. I know Dr. Webster by sight,
but do not speak to him. The moon was obscured at that time, but
it was as light as a starlight night. Imet him; he came towards me,
and I was standing still at the time. I turned round then. The first
person I spoke to, alter that, was Mr. Bryant. After passing Graduate
Hall, there is a street running down to the left; that is Church-street.
The theatre omnibuses run every night; it is a common thing. They
run to accommodate persons who have been in Boston to the theatre.

Dg. Dawier Harwooo, sworn. — I am a dentist, and have been in
practice here since 18'29', except from April 1841, to January 1847.
I am a member of the Massachusetts Medical Society. I havealways
been very busily occupied with my business. I was one of the first to
manufacture mineral teeth extensively, though perhaps not the first.
There are characteristics generally about teeth, by which a dentist
would be as likely to know his own works, as a sculptor would be to
recognize his own statues, or a merchant his own writing. I mean
to say this is generally so.

Where there are several teeth, or a block, they are called large work.
Single teeth would depend upon composition for their ldmltsﬁc.atmn*
but in blocks, on the form and combination, as well as composition.
I should not like to say I could distinguish Dr. Keep's work certainly,
but I think I could eommonly |dcnl;1f'3,r his worls. ‘\’Jhen I see patients
with artificial teeth fixed by several dentists, I am in the habit of saying,
“ This is Dr. Keep's work ; and this, another’s ;" calling over the names
of the different dentists who I think made them. The assistant in
my laboratory is also able to detect the work of different individuals,
by their form and composition.

[The block of mineral teeth found in the furnace was here shown
to the witness.]

These teeth have been so changed, and so covered by foreign sub-
stances, that [ should not wish to state with positiveness that they are
Dr. Keep’s work. Lhave the impression that Dr. Morton, and Dr. Kel-
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ley, of Newburyport, use the same materials, and in nearly the same
way, as Dr. Keep. All mineral teeth are made of nearly the same
substances — quartz, felspar, and fine white clay ; but they differ in
their proportions of these materials, Dr. Keep’s teeth are almost
destitute of white clay. This work appears to have been done by Dr.
Keep. 1 am quite confident that it is Dr. Keep's style and composition.
When he manufactures blocks of teeth, he does not separate each tooth
down to the gum, as [ do; but he leaves them connected together,
ﬁmhably for the purpose of giving them greater strength. 1 know D,

eep’s work, from having seen it in the inouths of patients, and some-
~ times at his place. I don’t say that Dr. Keep's style is his alone. His
style is not to separate the teeth far from their edge or point. [Models
shown.] I should think, from the absorption of bone at one part on
the left — [Objected to, as not being proper for rebutting testimony :
and the Court ruled that it was not, of course, admissible to go into
general testimony now ; but that it was proper to state the peculiari-
ties upon which to ground judgment.] If [ had the moulds, and if I
had made the teeth, and if I had seen them a short time before, [ should
know teeth that I had made. I think Dr. Keep could not have been
mistaken. [Here the witness stated that since handling the block
shown him, a portion of the top of a tooth had come off, thus showing
the original composition. |

I should not conceive how he could have been mistaken, unless
there were duplicates of the set.

Cross-cxamination. The block has a peculiarity ; has a projection
below the molar testh, which eorresponds to an extraordinary absorp-
tion. From this, as well as the general workmanship ﬂlldy style of
making, I should know them, if they were mine, even in such a
condition. [ think there are several gentlemen who make teeth in
blocks, butin a different way. [ have seen blocks something like that.
I have looked over two bushels of models, but have not seen any so
marked and so peculiar. From the circumstances I have stated, I do
not think that the maler of these teeth could have been mistalen.

Dr. Josava Tucker, sworn, — I am a dentist, in this city. I have
received a medical education, and have been in the practice of den-
tistry twenty-one years; and have been employed all the time. Ihave
given attention continually to artificial teeth, and manufacture sets, as
well as single teeth. |[The block of teeth found in the furnace
here shown.] I should not like to give any opinion on any but the
left lower block, and that [ should think could be identified by a dentist.
I think the dentist who made it could identify it as easily as an
artist, who had spent a week in painting a man’s face on canvass,
would recognize the picture painted by himself.

Cross-examination. 1 should thini:, in connection with a model.
a man could identify his work. If a man made the teeth, and had
the model from which he made them, then I should think he might
identify them. I would not say that they might not be warped into
shape by heat.

Dgr. WirLarp W. Copman, siworn. — 1 am a dentist. I have received
a medieal education, and have been connected pretty largely with
dentistry, for about fifteen years; part of that time I wrought upon
mineral teeth entirely. [The teeth found in the furnace shown to the
witness.] [ think they furnish sufficient means of identification.
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By the Court. —1I mean to say, that, from the workmanship and
materials of their composition, an artist might still be able to identify
his work, even in this condition.

Cross-examined. There would be u very strong probability that
he could identify them as they are. The teeth might warp into an-
other shape, or might not. There is a very strong prnbahirity that a
dentist could tell his own teeth ; not so well, though, after they had
been in the fire, as before.

Benyamin H. Tobp, sworn.— Reside in Boston, and am em-
ployed in the Custom House. On Sunday afiernoon after the dis-
appearance of Dr, Parkman, I was at the toll-house, on the Cambﬁ%&
side of Cragie’s Bridge. It was about dusk when we got over. Mr.
Littlefield was in company with me. He paid the toll. We went
over out of curiosity, as we heard that Marshal Tukey, and a number
of the police, were there, searching for Dr. Parkman. There was the
toll-man stood at the door, and an old gentleman sat in the back part
of the room, and perhaps another gentleman. Mr. Littlefield aslited
if the police had been over; and the toll-man said that they had, and
had gone back into Boston. [ asked the toll-man if he was the man
who had seen Dr. Parkman go over with an Irishman? He said No,
it was a young man, who had gone to tea. Littlefield said he was con-
nected with the Colleee. There was some conversation about Dr.
Webster paying Dr. Parkman some money, and Mr. Littlefield said
he saw Dr. Parkman coming toward the College on Friday alternoon.
That is all I recollect he said. _

Cross-examined, | don’t recollect hearing Mr. Littlefield say that
Dr. Webster paid Dr. Parkman some money. He did not say that
he saw Dr. Parkman go away from the College that Friday afternoon.
1 recollect every word he said. I have kept it in my mind ever
since. [ have sometimes thought of it hall a dozen times a day. 1
met Mr. Littlefield in the street, since the trial began, and he asked if
[ recollected what was said over to Cambridge. He told me, one
time, he thought I would be summoned. I never saw Littlefield in
Gibbs® Hotel in my life.

[saac H. Russein, sworn.— 1 am a resident of Boston, and
dealer in dry goods. I know Mr. Samuel A. Wentworth. I am
of the firm of Jacobs & Co. I do not recollect walking with Mr,
Wentworth any particular day. Idon’t recollect being in his company
on Friday, the day of Dr. Parkman’s disappearance. I was with
him once, when he pointed out Dr. Parkman. It was before Dr.
Parkman’s disappearance. It must have been one day, or might have
been three months ; I can’t say. I don't recollect when I saw Dr.
Parkman. If it had been near his disappearance, I should have remem-
bered. I don’t recollect the day of the month, or the day of the week.
I saw advertisements in the papers about Dr. Parkman, and I did not
then call to mind that I had seen him.

By the Court. Where I was, when [ was with Wentworth and
saw Dr. Parkman, I can’t say.

Cross-examined. 1 occasionally walk with Mr, Wentworth, I can't
say where I was when I heard of the disappearance of Dr. Park-
man; at what time in the month it was, or on what day. If it had been
a short time before the disappearance, [ should have recollected.

Reexamined. I read the papers daily.
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[Mr. Clifford here stated that there were some four or five witnesses
whom he wished to introduce, to show that there was a person in
Boston, at the time of Dr. Parkman’s disappearance, who bore a
strong resemblance to Dr. Parkman, in form, gait and manner ; and
that so strong, that he was approached and spoken 1o by persons who
lkknew Dr. Parkman ; and he cited a case where such testimony was
introduced.

Judge Merrick objected to such testimony, and thought it was en.
tirely inadmissible, and contrary to the universal practice of the
Courts, in questions of identity.]

Mr. Clifford. Suppose that there was an imdividual who had
certain great peculiarities, and that he was met by persons who did
not speak to him, but taken by them for a person whom he resembled,
and that this person was met by others, who, on account of this re-
semblance, spoke to him, — might not these last persons be introduced
in a case of this kind ? ;

Chief Justice Shaw. If the person was here, there would, perhaps, be no
objection to his introduction, and the Jury might then draw opinions for
themselves ; but the testimony in the present case is held to be inad-
missible, as of a too remote and unsatisfactory nature.

The Jury were here ajlowed a few minutes recess.]

gorcE W. Frrewp, sworn.—1 keep toll-house on Cragie’s
Bridge. [ remember about the time the clock was put up on
the Court House at East Cambridge. It was put up last fall.
It has not kept very good time. It frequently stops, and does not

ree with other clocks. I can see from the bridge the Lowell R. R.
¢lock, and have an opportunity to compare the Court House clock
with others. It is a very inaceurate timepiece, according to my
experience, :

Cross-examined. I can't say the day it was put up. [ have some-
times noticed half an hour difference, and at other times a quarter
of an hour difference. It is sometimes faster, and sometimes slower,
than the railroad time. : '

SamveL D. FuLLer, sworn. — [am toll-keeper on Cambridge Bridge,
and have occasion to notice the clock on East Cambridge Court
House. It has stopped very frequently ; and sometimes [ have
noticed that it would be five or twenty minutes out of the way ; and
sometimes it would stop entirely, in a storm.

[Mr. Clifford then informed the Court that the Government would
rest their case here.]

CLOSING ARGUMENT OF HON. PLINY MERRICK.

May it please the Court and Gentlemen of the Jury :

I need not say to you, Gentlemen, with what feeling of embarrass-
ment I rise to address you, at the close of this protracted investigation.
I eannot be more sensible than you are, of the diffieulty to be encoun-
tered in the examination of so much testimony, or of the interest there
is that all this testimony shall be rightly understood, and the conse-

uences which properly ensue from it be rightly deduced. A case,
g;entlemen, is presented to you, transcending in public interest an}{
that has heretofore occupied the attention of our judicial tribunals.
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few months since, a well-known and highly respectable individual
suddenly disappeared from this eity. His disappearance was followed
by inquiries broad, extensive, almost universal. An individual con-
nected with a family well known in this community — himself con-
nected with large and great interests in it — who had been accus-
tomed, day by day, -.m§ month by month, and year after year, to
mingle freely in the community — without any known cause, was
-ost. X
Hiz friends, naturally, inevitably, ook the deepest interest in his
discovery, and in his recovery. They enlisted the entire official force
of the commnuuity in their service. Much more than that! They
enlisted the entire sympathies of the whole community. Whenall in-
quiry, and all investigation, and all effort, seemed to be utterly baffled,
and there was no hope left, and there was, in reference to this individual,
one universal darkness, a sudden and astounding notice fell upon us
all. The mangled remains of his dead body, it was believed, were
found. The perpetrator of the awful crime, which brought that body
to the condition in which it was found, was said also to have been de-
tected ; and that individual was one who, in the ordinary course of
things, would have been no more suspected of such atrocions erim-
inality than you, or any one of you or of us who are engagedin this
present trial.

That discovery, Gentlemen, so astounding, so overwhelming, was
instantaneously followed by a disclosure to the community, in every form
in which. disclosure can be made, of the various circumstances tending
to establish the facts, that these remains which were found were the re-
mains of the body of Dr. George Parkman, and that the prisoner at the
bar was connected with the scene of hiz death. Ineident after incident
was communicated to the public, and everything which could bear
against this unhappy prisoner was spread abroad, as it were, on the
wings of the wind. Every sheet that was published — every hour that
}[))assed — gave new tokens to the community, at once of the death of

r. Parkman, and, as it was supposed, of the guilt of this prisoner.

In the mean time, Gentlemen, the prisoner now at the bar was in
the cells of your prizon, a silent sufferer. While every incident tend-
ing most unfavorably to affect him was the subject of daily commu-
nication and discussion abroad, he was alone, and without friends,
and without help, to repel these acecumulating circumstances of the
charge against him, Gentlemen, he waited not only in silence, but
in hope and in confidence. He sent forth no appeal to the commu-
nity. He suffered these communications of which I have spoken to
be spread broad-cast through the community, till the voice of the echo
came from the distant parts of our country, and from other lands, with-
out ever once asking this community even to suspend the formation of
their judgment. He waited, Gentlemen, in silence, and in hope and
in confidence, because he had lived long in our midst, and knew who
were finally to be his judges. He knew thata time was coming, when
passion would aubsicfe, when prejudice would give way, when
calin reason would intervene, and his country would try him fairly, in
the midst of her tribunals of justice.

That hope and that expectation are not disappointed. He never
asked, Gentlemen of the ﬁrg.', one hour's delay of this investigation ;
but so soon as it was the pleasure and convenience of the Govern-
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ment, consistently with the arrangements of this Court, to enter upon
this trial, he was prepared ; —not prepared, Gentlemen, by a series
of experiments am? investigations, which he could malke in his silent
and solitary cell —but prepared in that consciousness which enabled
him, or would enable him, to come before a Jury of his country, and
say, whatever might be the appearances against him, he could confi-
dently trust at once his cause and his life with an impartial Jury,un-
der the instructions of a learned and impartial Court.

Gentlemen, it is impossible that you yourselves did not know much
of this canse, before you took the seats you now oceupy. It is impos-
sible that you have not, in one form or in another form, heard much
of that which has been detailed to you in the evidence which the Gov-
ernment have produced upon the present trial.  And yet, one and all
of you, under as solemn responsibilities as can be imposed upon you,
have declared that all those circumstances, and all the comments
which may have been made upon them, created not only no prejudice
in your minds, but not even a bias, against the prisoner. And if, Gen-
tlemen, these circumstances, though known as well before as since
this trial, could not then produce even so much as a bias on your
minds, I have some ground upon which I may estimate the effect
which this same evidence,now presented in a judicial form, is entitled
to produce on the same minds.

hat, Gentlemen, is the charge that the Government have made
against the prisoner?— what the issue to be tried, and what the
proofs by which that issue is to be determined ? The Government
charge that, on the 23d of November, 1549, George Parkman was
murdered by the prisoner at the bar. In various forms, such as the
officer of the Government chose to make, upon the investigation which
took place before the Grand Jury, the charge is presented, in the in-
dictment upon which the prisoner is now tried.

It has been stated to you, that it is competent for the Government,
or the officer of the Government, in preparing an indictment, to pre-
sent the charge in various forms; because, upon the trial — the final
trial — some difference of evidence may render the different state-
ment of the particular grounds of the ci’mrgﬂ essential. It is compe-
tent, and the Government have availed themselves of that competen-
ey, to present different counts. I do not now speak, Gentlemen — it
is not necessary that at this moment I should — upon the different
manners in which the Government have, in this indictment, charged
this defendant with this crime. Enough, that the defendant is on
trial for his life, charged with a capital offence.

To establish this charge against the defendant, there are certain
facts which it is indispensable that the Government must prove. They
must prove the death of George Parkman. They must prove that his
death was by the ageney of another person. They must prove that
the prisoner at the bar was that agent; and that,in causing the death
of George Parkman, he acted with malice aforethought. If any one
of these facts is not proved, the Government eannot claim nor ask for
a conviction. Unless the death is proved, and that it was by the
agency of the individual, they can have no ground of conviction.
Unless they show that the death occurred, and by the ageney of the
defendant, and that it was also with malice aforethought, they can
have no verdict for murder, but may have a verdict fora less offence
~— for manslaughter.
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These facts, then, Gentlemen, which the Government must prove,
they have undertaken to establish by much evidence. Time has been
exhausted to an unusual extent, —not to an unnecessary extent, but
to an unusual extent,—in gathering together the facts which are
called the proofs in this case against the prisonerat the bar  Though,
Gentlemen, we have spent day alter day, not one single fact is proved
which comes directly to any one of the great facts which the Govern-
ment are bound to establish. By no direct evidence is it shown even
that Dr. George Parkman is no longer in the land of the living; by
no direct evidence that he was slain by the agency of another human
being. By no direct evidence is it claimed that it is shown that the
defendant had any direet ageney in eausing or procuring that death.
But every one of these facts is sought to be proved by collateral cir-
cumstances ; thus asking you to say that certain facts, which are not
proved, are known; and from those facts you may draw, by infer-
ence, those other facts which are yet unknown,

Let us see, then, Gentlemen, precisely what the proposition of the
Government is; let us see precisely what the prisoner at the bar con-
cedes ; and then we shall find the precise issue to be tried, and the ques-
tion which you, upon your high responsibility as jurors, are called
upon to determine. The preeise proposition which the Government
undertakes to establish, by the indirect testimony which the Counsel
has introduced here, is, that on the 23d of I’g;vember, 1849, Dr.
George Parkman, between the hours of one and two o'clock, entered
into the Medical College, and had an interview there with the pris-
oner at the bar; and that he never left that building— that he and the
prisoner never separated ; but that, shortly afterwards, the body of Dr.
Parkman was found dead in the same building. This is the proposi-
tion which the Government undertakes to establish. Mark, Gentle-
men, that the Government do not undertake to establish, nor is there
any evidence in the case from which it is by possibility to be inferred,
that these parties ever met again. If they separated there, there is
no proof thatg they have seen each other since. None, Gentlemen !
Unless George Parkman was the vietim of violence, then there is
nothing to connect his death with the hand of the prisoner at the bar.
This is the proposition of the Government.

What does the defendant say? He concedes that which he has
always stated, that at half alter one o'clock, on the 23d of November,
1819, there was an interview at that College, for a specific purpose,
between him and Dr. Parkman ; that that specific purpose was then
accomplished ; and that Dr. Parkman then, in life and in activity,
left that building, or at least the room in which the interview between
the parties then took place. That is the proposition of the prisoner
at the bar, whose life is in your hands,— that Dr. Parkman left this
building, after a short interview of a few moments, at half after one
o'clock. That is all the prisoner at the bar concedes. Beyond that,
he denies everything. And if the Government will have it that
George Parkman was in that building, or in that room, at a later hour
than that, they must prove it. The prisoner concedes no time to
them at all. It was half after one o’clock, as he says, that this inter-
view took place, and it terminated then.

Now, Gentlemen, we stand upon these two propositions, which
make the issue between the Government and the prisoner. Whether
Dr. Parkman did, in fact, leave that building or not, is to be deter-
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mined, We are to examine all the evidence which is in this case.
To show that he did not leave this building — that he was slain
there — that the interview terminated in the death of Dr. Parkman —
they must prove that he never left that building. All the evidence
of the Government is in the case. ;

I do not mean to say to you, Gentlemen, by any means, that this
mass of circumstantial evidence that the Government have brought
in here has not a tendency, or, if you please, a very strong tendency,
to show the truth of the fact charged upon the prisoner, without
explanation, and without further examination, and without the closest
analysis. That would be saying more than any one could assert, after
this long chain of circumstances has been presented. 1T it did not have
such a tendency, the Grand Inquest would have found no indictment,
and we should have had no trial. It is because it has such a ten-
dency that it is here. And it is for you to say that this tendency is
such as to produce érresistible conviction upon your minds. I{: it
does not, the prisoner is entitled to an acquittal.

On the other side, we have undertalen to satisfy you, by proofs, that
Dr. Geo. Parkman did leave this building, and was abroad in various
parts of this city at a late honr that same day. Suppose, Gentlemen,
that you shall be satisfied of this latter fact. Suppose that the evi-
dence in the case shall convince you that Dr. Parkman separated
himself from Dr. Webster, and went his way, where he would. In
the absence of all evidence that these parties ever met again on earth,
there is no proof that Dr. Parkman ecame to his death by the hand of
Dr. Webster. Say, if you please, Gentlemen of the Jury, in this
state of things, that the remains found on Friday, the 30th of No-
vember, are the remnants of the body of George I}arkman. Say that
there are proofs, conclusive proofs, for the purpose of this argument, that
he was slain by violence. Say, Gentlemen, further, if you please,
that we cannot tell, exeept by this connection with Dr. Webster, how
all these things were brought about. What is the conclusion? Why,
Gentlemen, simply this: that if these parties separated once, and
there is no proof that they ever met again, there is behind it all one
great, inexplicable mystery ; —that, with all our efforts, —earnest, zeal-
ous, persevering, — these facts of human life have baffled human
reason and human investigation ; and that is all.

And so, Gentlemen, is the every-day experience of life. It has
been said that realities are stranger than fiction. The imagination
cannot keep pace with the extraordinary events of life; and there are
mysteries in the order of Providence, and in the course of human life,
which human reason cannot fathom — which lie deeper and lower
than the human mind can sound.

Then, Gentlemen of the Jury, if these pariies separated — although
it may be that the remains of Dr. George Parkman were found I}'ia]g
in dishonor under the foundations of the Medical College — if these
parties separated, then there is no proof; none that touches, or can
touch, the life of the prisoner at the bar; none that ¢an connect him
with the sad events which transpired on, or immediately after, the 23d
of November.

And how, Gentlemen, does the proof stand? Did they separate,
or did they not ?

We have called, Gentlemen, several witnesses of respectability —
inhabitants of this community — to testify to you upon this subject.
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See the condition in which Dr. Webster has been placed in reference
to the discovery of these witnesses! — Alone in his cell, with no great,
opulent family around him, of large connections, to aid and assist
him — with a wife, and the three daughters whom you have seen
upon this stand, oceupying his mansion in a neighboring city — these
witnesses have sprung up, as it were, by their casual recollections ;
and we have been enabled to discover these proofs, and bring them to
your attention.

Gentlemen, the number of witnesses is not large; bat, contrasting
it, even in this aspect, with the number of witnesses whom the Gov-
ernment, with all their search, with the aid of the municipal govern-
ment here —its police officers searching night and day, their agents
employed tracking Dr. Parkman’s footsteps — compare the number of
witnesses we have brought here, who have seen Dr. Parkman in the
afternoon, with the number whom the Government brought here, who
saw him in the morning, when he was engaged in his ordinary pur-
saits — and, even in that light, our proof does not stand in a disad-
vantaceous position, in comparison with that of the Government.

We have presented to you the testimony of Mr. Thompson, Mr.
Wentworth, Mr. Cleland, and Mrs. and Miss Rhodes. We have also
Mrs. Greenough and Mrs. Hateh. 1 shall not, at this moment, dwell
upon the testimony of Mrs. Hatch. She testifies — to speak simply
of her testimony — that, at a quarter before two o'clock, on Friday,
the 231 of November, she saw Dr. Parkman in Cambridge-street,
going toward Court-street. At ten minutes before two, according to
the Government’s testimony — that is, five minutes after he was seen
by Mrs. Hatch— he was seen going to the Medical College ; and that
he turned from Cambridge-street into one of the streets leading to the
Medical College, furnishes the f'xlplnna.l‘iﬂn that the Government may
give to this. Of this testimony I shall have occasion to speak here-
after, in a connection of the highest importance, most pregnant of
suggrestions, and worthy, as I think evidently will be found, of the
highest moment and consideration.

But, passing from her testimony to the testimony of others, Mr.
Thompson says that he came in from Cambridge that afternoon, and
that about twenty minutes after two o'clock, at an hour confessedly
much after Dr. lxarl.'m:m entered the Medical College, he met Dr.
Parkman in Causeway-street. He knew him very well. He had
seen him many times before. He had known him ten years. For
the last five years, as a clerk in the Registry of Deeds, in East Cam-
bridge, he had had oceasion often to see Dr. Parleman ; and knew him,
I suppose, vastly better than [ know any one of you. He knew him
perfectly well, as he says. He asseris that he passed Dr. Parkman,
that he recognized him, and passed his way; that he transacted his
business, and returned home. If this is true, these parties did sepa-
rate. Why is it not true?

I did not know, from the cross-examination, but that an attempt
would be made to show that this witness had given, at another time,
a different account — said somethingy which would be caleulated to
ereate a distrust of the aceuracy of the statement which he has given
here — that he had made a diﬁ'g.rent statement somewhere else. And
when the Attorney General cross-examined that witness from a paper
subscribed to by that witness, I did not know but what you thought
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that the paper did not conform to his testimony here. The witness
stated how that was, Mr. Andrews came to hun, and said that —

My. Clifford. The witness had previously said nothing about the
meeting of Dr. Parkman, but ﬁpﬂﬁﬁ only of the meeting of Dr.
Webster.

Judge Merrick. It was in reference to another part of the case
upon which the cross-examination bore. Mr. Andrews asked him to
write down the testimony in the rough. He did so; and the paper is
not produced. And we may fairly infer from this, that there is
nothing in the paper which could conflict with the credibility of this
witness. He stands in this pesition: He is the clerk in the Registry
of Deeds’ office, at East Cambridge. He has been employed there
many years. He was fully acquainted with Dr. Parkman, and he
swears to you that he met him at twenty minutes past two o'clock.

I do not suppose that this witness is to be discredited upon a part
of the ground of the cross-examination. This biological state, of
which he speaks, is nothing. We all know that many individuals
have their belief, which seems strange, and fantastical, and groundless,
but which they, in the utmost sincerity, adopt for themselves. Yet,
because they adopt these strange beliefs of theory, we cannot say
that they are not sincere. More frequently they are the most sincere,
and they adopt them on this very account. They adopt them, not to
make themselves agreeable by falling in with the common tone of
society ; but they adopt them from conviction, because they believe
them to be true. And whether the world says yea or nay, in all
truth and integrity, they feel bound to adopt and promulgate them.
This is the position of this witness. There is no attempt to impeach
him. They have not tried to disparage his visual organs, and he
swears they "are good; and he also swears that he saw Dr. Park-
man in Causeway-street at a time which is incompatible with the
proposition upon which the Government rest this prosecution.

Mr. Wentworth, a witness probably well knewn in this community
—a man whose personal appearance upon the stand certainly entitles
him to a favorable consideration — testifies, that in the alternoon of
the Friday of the disappearance, between the heurs of half afier two
and half after three, he met Dr. Parkman in Court-street. The
witness was walking with Mr. I. H. Russell. He saw Dr. Parkman
approaching, and, at the point of meeting, he crossed from the right
hand side to the left hand side of the street; and, as he crossed over,
he saw Dr. Parkman was coming; that Dr. Parkman turned round,
placing his hand under his coat; and he mentioned it, at the
time, to Mr. Russell. He says he went to his dinner, came back,
and waited there till his young man — who went at two o’clock —
returned ; and that he thence went to the market, to purchase his
provisions for the succeeding day; and that he knows that he did it
upon that day; and that he knows that he did not do it at any other
time. And he fixes it by saying that on Saturday his business
required him to be at his store at a later hour than on any other day.
He was informed by his wife that two men came to his house to
mquire for Dr, Parkman, who was missing; and he immediately
said to his wife, #1 do not think Dr. Parkman can be far off;, for 1
saw him yesterday afternoon.” Now, Gentlemen, if this is true,
here is evidence inconsistent with the theory of the Government.
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The only circumstance which has been interposed here, to affect
the testimony of Mr. Wentworth, is that Mr Russell has been called,
this morning, and testifies that he has no recollection of that event —
none at all. He remembers now, that at some time he was walking
with Mr. Wentworth ; that they met Dr. Parkman, and that Dr.
Parkman was spoken of to him by Mr. Wentworth. But the time
when it was has faded from his recollection to such an extraordinary
extent, that he told you he could not say whether it was one day
or three months before the disappearance of Dr. Parkman. It has
faded entirely from his recollection. He remembers nothing at all
about time when, or place where; but he remembers simply the fact
that it did oceur. He says, indeed, that if it had been on the ocea-
sion mentioned by Mr. \V{anhvr:-rth, he thinks when the disappearance
of Dr. Parkman came to be spoken of, he should have recollected it.
It may be so, or it may be not. We cannot explain the workings
of our own minds.

1 put it, Gentlemen of the Jury, to your experience. We are en-

ged in a vast number of occupations. We see a vast number of
individuals, Crowds pass in the street. A casnal observation is
made. We speak to this friend and to that; and there being noth-
ing to impress it upon our mind, no impression is made — no process of
association can bring it back again.

And T put it to you, Gentlemen of the Jury. — You have been
separated from your fellow-citizens many tedious days. Throw back
your recollections to the day of your separation, and answer to your
own consciences and your own understandings, individually, whether
you can now account to yourselves, or to anybody else, all the persons
whom you saw the day before you came, and the conversations that
took place. The important transactions of that day are stamped upon
your minds; but the unimportant, the transient ones, are gone,
Gentlemen, with the air that you breathe. And so it is with Mr.
Russell. The thing was of no consequence. [t passed out of his
mind ; so utterly passed out of his mind, that time, place and eircum-
stances, are gone, and all that he can bring back is, that, some time or
other, something of this sort took place.”

But Mr. Wentworth, on the other hand, an unimpeached, and 1
stand here to say an unimpeachable wiiness,—with a responsibility
which touches this Government, a responsibility for which he is to
answer here and hereafter, — stands here to say that he knows when
it was; that he has always known it; that this fact did make an im-
pression on his mind; that he found the trace of it, at the moment
when he knew that Dr. George Parkman was lost; and that he not
only recognized that trace then, but that he gave audible utterance
of it at the time. Such, Gentlemen, is the testimony of Wentworth,
and such the position he occupies. ;

We come, then, Gentlemen, to the testimony of Mr. Cleland, the
witness from Chelsea, a man of intelligence ; and one would think,
from the account he gave of the pursuit in which he was engaged on
the afternoon of the 23d of November, connected, as he is, with
valuable institutions, and a man of standing and substance in the
community, that he would be a witness entitled to your most implicit
confidence,

Mr. Cleland tells you, Gentlemen, that on the morning of that
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day, he, as a member of a religious society in Chelsea, as an agent
acting in its behalf, was taking measures to secure the attendance of
a clergyman upon the next Sabbath morning ; that he wrote a note
to one of his friends, and that that note was despatched, but re-
turned to him unopened ; that he had oceasion to write another to
one of his friends, to which he received an answer. The note
returned was thrown into his desk, and those notes can now be
produced. They are on the table, and can be presented to you the
moment the Attorney-General is willing.

He knows this was Friday, from the business in which he was en-
gagmL from the time in which he did that business, and from the
notes which were written, — one of them by himself, and the other by a
clergyman, a friend of his, — both of which notes he offers to produce,
to fortify his recollection. He says that in the afternoon he had
occasion to go to Franklin-street, to meet a clergyman ; that he
passed through Devonshire-street, Theatre-alley, into Franklin-street ;
gsaw his friend ; had his communication with him ; and then im-
mediately passed into Washington-street : and in that street, between
Franklin and Milk streets, at an hour which could not vary much
from twenty minutes after three, he saw Dr. George Parkman coming
towards him. He saw him under circumstances which particularly
attracted his attention. He thought them a little peculiar. He knew
the position which Dr. Parkman occupied in - society ; that he was a
man of affluence and wealth. He saw him walking with a laboring
man, in his common and ordinary dress. In consequence, he watched
him. He discovered that they separated, and that Dr. Parkman was
not walking with this individual, as he thought he was. He kept
his eye upon him, and they passed side by side. Hesaw him at a
distance of four or five rods, and saw him when they met and passed
each other.

About the time there can be no question. About the place there
can be no question. It was Friday, the 23d of November, twenty minutes
after three, in Washington-street, between Franklin and Milk streets.
Was it Dr. Parkman? Mr. Cleland knows him as well as you know
his Honor on the bench. He had known him for years. His atten-
tion was particularly attracted towards him. It was fixed in his
mind. And when he came to know of the disappearance of Dr.
Parliman, he communicated it to the Government, and was told that
it was of no consequence to inform the police of it, because Dr.
Parkman had been seen on Washington-street, ai the South End.
afterwards. Here is a gentleman, beyond all doubt and suspicion,
who tells you that he saw Dr. Parkman at this hour.

Then, Gentlemen, there is the testimony of Mrs. Rhodes and her
daughter. They say that on that afternoon they visited this part of
the city. They came from the westerly part of the city, where they
reside, to do some shopping for the family. Among other places,
they went to Hovey & Co.’s store, in Winter-street, and there pur-
chased a dress. The number of yards and price were given; and -
going to Mr. Hovey’s, it is found that on that day there was sold
this article, precisely at this price per yard, and precisely this price
in the aggregate, and that there was no other such sale as that on
that day !

I suppose that no one in his senses will question that this dress
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was purchased, and that they went home. Mrs. Rhodes says that
the bundle was earried by her daughter; and the daughter says that
she carried the bundle, and as she passed Dr. Parkman, she shifted
the bundle on to the other arm, in order to avoid striking him with it.
I suppose there is no doubt but that they passed an individual whom
they say was Dr. Parkman. Mrs. Rhodes says that she was
acquainted with Dr. Parkman, and had been for many years. She
was a member of Dr. Francis Parkman’s church, and knew the
brother in the pulpit and the brother in the world — the one as well
as the other. She says that this acquaintance between them was
such that they always bowed to each other as they passed; and, as
she came up to this gentleman, that she did bow to him, and that he
recognized her, and returned the bow. The daughter says that she
noticed what took place ; saw Dr. Parkman ; knew who it was; saw
him bow to her mother, and saw her mother bow to him. It was
Dr. Parkman. They both tell you so, upon all the responsibility
which can rest upon any individual in society. They have much at
stake. They know perfectly well the importance and the materiality
of this testimony of theirs. They know, Gentlemen, that it contra-
venes the hypothesis of the Government. They know that it comes in
opposition to views now taken, and now held, not enly by the Govern-
ment, but by the family and friends of Dr. Parkman; and Mrs. Rhodes,
a woman of unblemished reputation, and unsuspected character, know-
ing full well how this thing is held out to the family, how her friends
think in relation to this matter, that she js laboring under a mistake,
has dwelt upon it with all hope and all desire to come to the truth;
and she asserts, that she must now say, let the consequences be what
they may, that this man whom she met at that time was Dr. George
Parkman. Do you know that it was not 2

Another witness, Mrs. Greenough, says, that on the same day, ten
minutes before three o’clock, she met, as she believes, Dr. Parkman,
in Cambridge-street. She is a woman of much respectability, as I
venture to say any of you will admit. She had occasion to come
into the city on an engagement of a social character. She had occa-
sion to see her son, who left his home at three o'clock. She says,
that, as she was coming through Cambridge-street, making no par-
ticular observation, she saw her old acquaintance, Dr. Parkman, on
the other side of the street. She recognized him, passed on, and
looked at the Liynde-street church. She fixes the hour, and the time
and place. She does not state as strongly as the other witnesses
that the person she saw was Dr. Parkman; but she believed it then,
and believes it now. She would not say, in dogmatical language,
that it was not possible for her to be mistaken.

On the next day, her husband informed her that Dr. George Park-
man was missing. She immediately said, I saw Dr. George Park-
man yesterday.”

This, then, Gentlemen of the Jury, is the testimony upon which
we rely to convince you that Dr. George Parkman did separate from
Dr. Webster ; that Dr. Parkman went from that College, and was
abroad in various parts of the city. During the afternoon of that day,
he was seen in different, and, to some extent, in distant parts of the
city. He did not return to his family, and that is strange. He was
never seen afterwards; and that is strange. Something intervened
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that day that was very strange. Something occurred that day which
we cannot understand, which we cannot reach or know. What that
was, who can tell 7 Can you, upon the evidence which has been pre-
sented to you?

When his friends made first a comparatively slicht and fruitless
search, they gave netice to the world that they put their minds upon
causes which might produce a strange effect.  And it is neither un-
charitable, nor unjust, nor unreason able, to suggest to you now what
upon the greatest deliberation was ““Eﬂf‘ﬁtt'l' h‘l. his friends then. We
start no new theory; but we take up the theory of his friends, those
who knew him best. They say, in the advertisement which they
put forth to the community, that he might have strayed away, under
the influence of some sudden aberration of mind. They thought that
reasonable, or they would not have said it. They would not have
put forth a suggestion of that sort under a reward of £3,000, without
believing it. And vet they did it. We cannot tell whether it were
&0,

We know that responsible, unimpeachable men and women, with
organs of vision capable of determining this question, did see this man
abroad. Who can say that that is not true? The suggestion may be,
that they are mistaken. They may be mistaken, but are you certain
that they are mistaken; so certain, Gentlemen, that these men and
women are mistaken, that you dare touch the heart’s blood of this
man who is upon trial ?

Gentlemen, contrast this proof with some other that has been pre-
sented here.  When the mangled remains of this human being, who-
goever he was, were spread out on the floors or on the tables of this
Medieal Cullegm anid exposed to medical gentlemen and friends, they
were asked to view, and see if they could find = anything dissimilar to
the frame of Dr. Parkman. And they bring the answer to that ques-
tion here as a fact, from which you are to draw an inference. Yet
in the same moment that thev are asking you to systematize the evi-
dence which they present in regard to the want of dissimilarity in
these remains, so that you can draw such a conelusion as that, —'[h-.?]I
are asking you to believe that responsible men and women are mis
taken, not in the naked leg, but in the open face, the open, clea
living peculiarities of the living man. What are we here for? Whag
is your solemn duty ? To weigh all the evidence ;—nota part! Not
to take up the system, the theory of the Government, and see whether
the evidence of the Government will sustain that theory ; not to see
whether the evidence which they produce tends to establish that
hypothesis. It may be that all the facts they maintain should exist,
and yet that the prizoner at the bar should have had no hand in the
atrocious perpetration of the murder, because they parted after the
interview had taken p]ﬂrze between them. [ commend it, Genﬂemen
to your sober consideration, that you have, upon this question, as
solemn a responsibility as ever rested upon the conseiences of human
beings. !

Gentlemen, I shall proceed to the examination of the testimony
which the Government have brought to your consideration. And 1
mean, Geutiﬁ:m‘u, to treat that tEStiITICIl]],’ with all the fairness of
which my mind is capable, in examining or in presenting it to you. I

do not feel, Gentlemen of the Jury, as if I was here in strife or in
12
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contest with you, or with any one. I do not feel, Gentlemen, as if 1
was here in strife or in contest with my friend, the Attorney General.
We come here, not to contend for victory, but to learn the truth, to
vindicate justice, to administer the law. And when I speak to you,
[ do it in the hope that I may aid you in the great duty, the solemn
duty, which you have to perform. If I sometimes speal earnestly,
from deep convictions, I know that you will not understand me as
fearing or apprehending that I have anything to overcome, any re-
sistance ta be encountered, any opposition to contend with. No: you
are my friends — the friends of the prizoner at the bar— as you are
the friends of all men in the community of which you are brethren
with them.

Let us look, Gentlemen, to the facts, in the order in which the Gov-
ernment are bound to prove them, and see how far their evidence, di-
rect or circumstantial, tends to prove their case. The Government
must prove the guilt of the defendant. I say they must prove it.
The burden of proof is exclusively upon them. If they do not estab-
lish, beyond reasonable doubt, the several facts which they are bound
to prove, they cannot claim nor ask for a verdict of conviction.

The law presumes that the prisoner at the bar is not guilty, unless
it is forced upon the minds of the Jury, by a just consideration of the
evidence brought against him. And it is upon these two great and
leading presumptions of the law, that the defendant is innocent until
his guilt is proved by the Government, and proved beyond reasonable
doubt, that I approach towards the consideration of them.

They are, first, to establish the death of Dr. Parkman; secondly, to
establish that his death was occasioned by the agency of the defendant.
First — have they proved to your satisfaction that Dr. Parkman is dead 2
They have much evidence, certainly, tending to establish this fact.
And I wish to state that evidence to you, with the single remark, that
it is for you to pass upon, before you can proceed into the investiga-
tion of the other more material parts of the case.

Dr. Parkman entered the Medical College on Friday, the 231 of
November ; and since that day he lhas not been seen.  To show that
he is dead subsequent to that day, certain remains ol a human body
are found, and evidence has been given to you, in reference to those
remains, tending to show the identity of that which has been found
with that which was lost— tending to identify the dead with the
living.

In the first place, Gentlemen, there were remains found in the vanlt
beneath the privy, other parts in the tea-chest, and still other parts of
2 human body in the cinders of the furnace. Intelligent and wmost
respectable gentlemen have been called here to testily with rega rd to
each and all the parts of this body. Dr. Wyman, who has exhibited
much skill, much science, much knowledge in his profession, has
stated to you that the bones — the fragments of bones —which he
finds, correspond with, or belong to, parts of a body which were not
found in the tea-chest or vault. And he states that these fragments
of bones constitute part of the head, neck, arms, hands, leel, and one
leg below the knee; and that there was among these fragments noth-
ing duplicated ; no fragment which must necessarily have existed in
two human bodies; no fragment which could have existed in any park
of that found in the tea-chest and vault.
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Now, upon this testimony, you are to consider; and I have no
donubt of the resalt to which vou will arrive. If all these fragments
did constitute the parts of one human body, in different states and in
different conditions, the inquiry then is, were those remains the body of
Dr. Parkman, or not? And upon this point, certainly, you have.
sﬂ;iung proofs — perhaps entirely decisive; but of that you must

nooTe.

] You have the testimony of these same medical gentlemen, who say
that the structure of Dr. Parkman was somewhat peculiar; that
these remains, examined in the best way they could, corresponded in
all particulars with the,body of Dr. Parkinan —in the form, the struc-
ture, the size, the height, the color of the hair, the growth npon the
back ; certainly very strong circumstances, tending to establish a prob-
ability that this was the body of Dr. Parloman. And this is done, per-
haps, effectually, perhaps conclusively, by the testimony of Dr. Keep,
the medical gentleman who had occasion to make the teeth of Dr.
Parkman three years before, who had occasion often to examine them,
who has compared the teeth with the model, to which it adapts itself.
He declares that he eannot entertain a particle of doubt that they are
the same ; and these, connected with circumstances which tend to
show “that they were fused while in the mouth of Dr. Parkman.
These circumstances are strong.

We have called your attention to the testimony of Dr. Marton, an
eminent, and intellizent, and skilful dentist of this city, who has
given to you clearly his views on the subject. Not that we call him
to c:;-ntrm)lj::l, Dr. Keep, but that, you may understand this testimony
which has been presented.

This has EI‘IHJJ::{i the Government to bring in Drs. Harwood, Tucker,
and Codman, who have confirmed the general statement of Dr. Keep;
and I have only to say that this is a question upon which you are to

ass.
. If you are satizsfied that this is the body of Dr. Parkman, that
settles that point. If you are not satisfied, their case is gone,

What was the cause of the death ? — and thatis a thing which ré-
quires your particular attention. Have the Government satisfied you,
beyond reasonable doubt, that Dr. Parkman died by violence 2 Ishall
not now, of course, call your attention to any part of the testimony
of the Government by which they attempt to implicate Dr. Webster ;
but, taking the circumstances having a tendency to show that Dr.
Parkman came to his death by violence separate [rom anything which
implicates Dr. Webster, let us see whether it is certain, beyond
reasonable doubt, that this body which was found came to death by
violence.

I suppose the Government will rely upon two circumstances,
which have been given in evidence, as tending to show this fact;
which two circumstances are quite insufficient in justifying a Jury to
come to such a conclusion. | refer to the supposed (racture of the
skull, and to the perforation of the side. As to that portion of the bone
presented by Dr. J, Wyman as having some tendency to show that
there was a fracture, I have scarcely occasion to say more than to re-
mind you that, in answer to an inquiry from the Chief Justice, Dr.
Wyman said, that though there was an appearance that that fracture
occurred before the bone was subjected 1o heat, yet there was nothing
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which would enable him to determine whether it was before or after
death. But with regard to the other question, even whether it was
before or after caleination, Dr. Wyman was by no means certain that

it was before it. If it had not gone so far in the calcination, then he
might not have found the ragged suture, as it might have been caused
by caleination.

Dr. Holmes, a young gentleman — [A voice. “ Not young.”] Dr.
Holmes, a middle-aged, but very respectable and intelligent physician,
who is old enough to have been one of the physicians in the Massa-
chusetts General Hospital, and a Professor in the Medical College,
tells you that, in his opinion, this fracture was.not caused before cal-
eination ; and, when asked whether he would not defer to Dr. Wyman,
he says, “Not in this particular, though I would cheerfully in others.”
In reference to this particular examination, he says that he has exam-
ined, and hiz own observation is as good as anybody’s else. It is
uncertain whether that fracture was before or after caleination, —
whether it was before or after death, —and =o it furnishes no guide to
the Jury, in determining whether death was caused by this fracture
or not.

Next, as to the perforation in the side. It appears, from the testi-
mony of Mr. Eaton and Mr. Fuller, that this perforation was discov-
ered almost immediately after the thorax was taken from the tea-chest.
They noticed it. If they are right, it was so. [ shall not stop to
question their accuracy. It was there before. But, how? Wasita
cut? Dr. Woodbridge Strong testifies that it was a clean cut, made
with a knife ; and, in his judgment, it must have been made with a
knife. On the other hand, you have the opinion of three intelligent
and scientific gentlemen, called upon to make the examination of the
body — Drs. Lewis, Stone,and Gay; and who made the examination
with care and precision, writing down their testimony at the time,
preparing to testify before the Coroner's Jury — an examination made
at the moment when all inquiry was of the utmost importance —
when every circumstance was sought for as a momentous matter, in
ascertaining the truth in relation to this great and overwhelming
calamity which had come upon the community. They tell you, one
and all, that there was no knife-cut there ; that it was a ragged open-
ing ; that there were no indications upon the side, external or inter-
nal, that it was a clean cut, made before or after death. Now here is
a disagreement between these medical gentlemen. What are you to
do? Do vou know how the fact is? If you do, you can act upon your
own judgment. If you do not know, but are trying this cause upon
the evidence, then you have the testimony of three witnesses, that,
whenever or however that hole was made, it was not made by a sharp
instrument.  If that is a fact, then the Government are destitute of
evidence to show that Dr. Parkman, if this was his body, came to his
death by a blow upon his head or a stab upon his side.

How did he come to his death? Remember, it is not for the pris-
oner at the bar to explain how these were dead remains, but the Gov-
ernment are to show you that a living man was killed. How was he
killed? Was he killed at all? Do you find upon the person wounds,
blows, and evidences of destruction, sufficient to take human life ?
To take a man’s head off, kills him. To take his breast-bone ont,
and separate all the internal parts of the body, kills him ; to cut off
his arms and his thighs, kills him; to put his head in the fire and
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burn it to cinders, kills him, Was Dr. Parkman killed in any of
these ways? Do you think he was burnt to death? Was his limb
placed in the fire — that limb of which you found fragments — was
that put in the fire till the fire scorched him to death 2 Was his head
placed so as to be burnt alive? Nobody believes it. Do you believe
that he was killed by having these two legs cut off 2 that he was laid
upon the floor, or upon an anatomist’s table, and held there until his
legs were chopped off 2 Nobody believes that. Or, was he held there
until his arms were chopped off, and all his limbs severed 2 Nobod
believes that. That is to say, that, though yon find this body mun-
lated — distressingly mutilated — yet nub-mlv believes that this muti-
lation was the cause of death.

What, then, was the cause of death? After all the investization
which has been made, this matter iz as dark as it was before light
went into the cavern underneath the Medical College. How the man
—ay, the victim, call him which you will — how he died, no man
knows.

Then, Gentlemen of the Jury, are the Government to ask you to
say that this was a death by violence, when they cannot say how it
took place. When the charge shows that they don’t know, can they
ask yvou to draw the inference that he must have been slain? Can
they ask you to draw the inference from the fact, that he was alive
on the 23d of November, and that, on the 30th, his mangled remains
were found, that it is an inevitable consequence that he must have
been slain ?

Take the case which is ordinarily put of presumptive evidence,
and see how widely it differs. A man 1s seen running from a house,
with a bloody sword in his hand. The spectators immed iately pass
into the house, and find a bleeding body, convincing them that there
has been sudden death. Upon examming him, a wound is found
upon his side, which corresponds with the sword. The inference is
unavoidable, that the man has died in consequence of the flowing
blood. He is suddenly found dead.

But here, the disappearance was on the 23d; the discovery of the body
on the 30th, seven days afterwards; and there is nothing found but what
might have been inflicted after death, How, then, is it certain beyond
reasonable doubt, so that'it is safe to say, There has been murder
here — that this body was brought to its death by crime and violence 2
Gentlemen, death visits the human family in ten thousand forms.
Sometimes its approaches are lingering and slow ; sometimes it takes
us suddenly by the hand, and relieves us at once of life.

Can you say certainly —have you this evidence — that, because
seven days after the disappearance of Dr. Parkman, his mangled re-
mains were found in this College, that he did not die a natural death,
which might have reached him,as it often reaches the rest of the
human ﬁit'!'l..l]f,-'., sudz_]enly and unawares ? — tll:lt, in some str:mge way,
which you cannot see, because of the thick darkness in which all hu-
man life is shrouded —because you cannot see how it is done, you will
leap through the thick fog, and by circumstanees almost irrelevant

conclude— [ mean imperfectly contlude — that death cme in the form
of violence applied to him?

Gentlemen, you will take care, in forming your judgfnents upon this
matter, if one man has gone —if that man was our friend ; if he
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was most respected in the community ; if his loss has lelt a deep
chasm in society ; if his ahsence has touched many hearts, and he be
mourned over by many friends — still, you are to remember that, be-
fore you affect the rights, the ll.ben},r, and the life of one of your
fellow-beings, you must be sure that the great [act of death by violence
was established.

Lord Hale said, in reference to circumstantial evidence, that he
“ would never advise a conviction upon circumstantial proofs, unless,
at least, the body had been found.”

Gentlemen, the writers upon law, the expositors of the law, npon
the bench and in the books, have deelared that this same eaution is
equally applicable to the means of death as to the discovery of the
body. When the body has been found, and can be identified, the
first care should be, to see that the prool is clear that that body
ceased to live by violence applied. And if it cannot be shown, by
direct or by indirect circumstances, that the body came to its death by
the agency of another, though strong suspicions may exist, and the
greatest of jealousies may fill the minds of men. still there is a want of
that perfect judicial proof, upen which men — conscientious men,
acting in the discharge of their duty —are bound to proceed.

It 1s so here, Gentlemen. I do not undertale to say to you that
Dr. Webster can, or that his Counsel can — supposmg these remains
to have been those of Dr. Parkman — explain how ie came to his
death. We do not pretend to do any such thing. But, Gentlemen,
we do pretend to say that the Government must prove this fact — an
essential fact in the case. And when we say that these marks might
have been inflicted long after death, and that there is no evidence that
they were inflicted before death — when death comes in a thousand
forms : when he might have fallen by the way-side ; when some robber
may have seized the body, and, having plundered it, then, in the
midst of an excited community, searching everywhere, fearful of
discovery, have thought to have taken these remains, and placed
them there — can you say that such was not the case? or can you
say that these circumstances impel you irresistibly to the conclu-
sion, that George Parkman came to his death by the agency of
another person ?

1 submit it, Gentlemen, to your calm inguiry ; and if the evidence
on the part of the Government, upon this subject, comes only to cre-
ate a strong probability, but does tiok Come up to the clear fact, beyond
reasonable doubt, that this body was slain, there is an end of this
trial.

But, Gentlemen of the Jury, suppose that you pass these questions
by ; that you come.to the conclusion that this was the body of George
Parkman, and that his death was caused by the violent agency of
another person; what was the crime which was committed in taking
his life # I shall here, necessarily, Gentlemen, be obliged to antici-
pate ; but I ask you earefully to discriminate.

I am going-to attempt to show you, upon the circumstances which
have been developed upon this trial —taking all the Government'’s case,
and making the worst of it for the prisoner, in their behalf — that the
crime which was committed, if it was committed by Dr. Webster, was
not murder, but manslaughter, because the circomstances warrant the
conclusion that it was the lesser crime. Do not misunderstand me.
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As the Counsel of Dr. Webster, — called in here to protect him in this
hour of peril, when his life is at stake,— his Counsel do not feel at
liberty to stand exclusively upon the gronnd upon which he stands.
He denies that he took the life of Dr. Parkman, But, Gentlemen, his
Counsel cannot know what effect the evidence which the Government
have presented upon that question may produce upon your minds.
And, therefore, il it should coe to that, that you should arrive at such
a couclusion as that Dr. Webster did the deed, then, Gentlemen of the
Jury, we must ask you to say, Whit was it that the prisoner did?
what law did he violate 2 what erime did he commit ? I contend that
it was manslaughter, i it was committed,at all.

Gentlemen of the Jury, the law upon the subject of murder and
manslaughter was stated to you, in the clearest and most distinet
manner, by the Counsel with whom [ have the pleasure to be asse-
ciated. The distinction is simply this : Homicide with or without
malice. And we contend that the evidence in the case will warrang
the Jury in coming to the conclusion, that, i’ there was a homicide
here, that if Dr, Parkman came to his death by the hands of Dr.
Webster, it was under circumstances of such extenuation as reduces
the offence from murder to manslaughter. You understand, that if
a homicide be committed, it is murder, unless there 1s extenuation ;
that is to say, unless it was done in sudden combat, or with justi-
fiable provecation.

The question, then, is, if a homicide occurred, if Dr. Webster was
the cause of the death of Dr. Parkman, did it occur under such exten-
uating circumstances as will reduce the crime from murder to man-
slaughter 2 Now, Gentlemen, you will receive the direction of the
Court as to what is necessary for the Government to do in order to
establish the fact of malice aforethought. Without malice, the
erime of murder could not have been committed, in a homicide. I do
not understand the case of York precisely as it was understood by
the Attorney General, though I do not know as the difference is ma-
terial. [ understand the ease of York to have the same bearing as the
case in Sir Michael Foster; that, the fact of the killing being first

roved, all the ecircumstances of extenuation, which are to reduce
rom murder to manslaughter, are to be established, or it iz murder.
The opinion put forth in the case of York, as it was applicable to
that case, was on the question, whether it was voluntary or not. 1
do not unlerstand that it made a difference whether it was done in
secret or not ; this reference to secret murder being argued by the
Magistrate.

Chief Justice Shaw. The proposition that was affirmed there is
universally applied. It was, that the fact of homicide — voluntary
killing by design, or by the use of a deadly weapon — having been first
proved, the circumstances ol justification in self-defence, or in what-
ever other way it may be instizated, must either be estallished by
proof, or arise out of all the circumstances of the case.

Judze Merrvick. That is as | understood the case, and as I had
supposed the law of the case would be stated b],’ the Court.

Chi f Justice Shaw. The evidence on both sides is to be taken
into consileration, and the instigating facts may arise out of all the
circumsiances of the case.

Judze Mervick. That is all material to this case. Gentlemen of
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the Jury, upon this question, whether the homicide was murder or
manslanghter, if you are satisfied that Dr. Parkman eame to hisdeath
by the hand of the defendant, and that he killed him by design, then
the law implies malice, or malice aforethought accompanies the act
of killing by design — the use of a deadly weapon indicating design
or purpose to aceomplish that object.

Eut in determining this question, the Jury are to look at all the
evidence in the case, and see under what circumstances the homicide
mitst have been committed ; and if, upon the consideration of all those
circumstances, it shall appear to the Jury, by a fair and proper
inference from all of them, that the homicide was not by design,
but was committed under extenuating circumstances of provoecation,
or sudden combat between the parties, then the crime committed
was manslaughter, and not murder.

[ suppose, Gentlemen of the Jury, that the Government mean to
ut to the Jury that there is evidence, in this case, of express malice.
t was so stated by the Attorney General, in the opening of the case.

I understand what that express malice is understood to consist in.

And, therefore, before I go to the circuinstances of the case, I would

eall your attention to the other circumstances, which go to establish

the [act that there was malice prepense ; that is, that this crime was
premeditated — that he designed to kill Dr. Parkman, before he went

intw the College. That is the broad statement of the Government:
that Dr. Webster planned this homicide ; that he devised the means;
that he seduced him to the College by false pretences. The ground
upon which this conclusion is based 1s this: Dr. Webster states, that
on Friday, the 23d, Dr. Parkman met him by appointment. The
appointment was toaccomplish a particular piece of business,-namely,
that Dr. Parkman should bring to his place certain papers and notes,
"and that he should receive there certain money, and cancel those
papers. Prof. Webster says that, following this appointment, the
interview took place, and the business transaction occurred ; that Dr,
Parkman came there, bringing with him all, or a part, of the papers;
that the business was transacted between them, and that they sepa-
rated. The Government deny this. They say that this business
transaction did not take place; that Dr. Webster did not pay Dr,
Parkman this money. And they ask you, Gentlemen, to believe and
to conclude that he did not pay it, because he had not the means of
paying it. And then they ask you to conclude, that, as he had not
the means, and did not pay it, that this appointment was the means
by which he intended to induce Dr., Parkman to come to the College.

It becomes, then, necessary to allude to the evidence of the Govern-
ment, in relation to this matter. They have called several witnesses.
They have called Mr. Pettee, who sold Dr. Webster's tickets to the
medical course of lectures; and they have shown how the money was
paid by Pettee to Webster: then they have shown evidence, from the
deposits in the Charles River. Banl, that deposits to an equivalent
amouut followed the payments of Pettee for the tickets. Then they
have shown either what become of those deposits before Dr. Webster
was arrested, or since ; and they attempted to show, in that way, that
all the funds which Dr. Webster derived from the students were used
in such a manuner that he had none of them to pay Dr. Parkman
with. The evidence seems so satisfactory, that I shall not attempt
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to contest it at all. I suppose it is so. Not only do I suppose it is
so, but I am fully authorized to concede it was so. That was not
the money paid to Dr. Parkman.

Then the Government have called certain other witnesses: Mr.
Henchman, who testifies that, on the morning of this day, the 23d of
November, Dr. Webster presented him a check, drawn on that day, or
the day before, for ten dollars, which Mr. Henchman cashed for him.
He had funds in the bank, and the money might have been paid ; and
if the check had been sent over at that time, it would have been paid.
There is no doubt of that fact— that Dr. Webster wanted this small
sum of money for his temporary use. He was in the habit of depos-
iting, for his daily use, in the Charles River Bank ; and as he wished
to use the money he drew it out. And, accordingly, you will find
that, in almost all the instances, the money was drawn out in small
checls.

Then they have called Mr. Smith, to show that Dr, Webster was
unable to pay, or unprepared to pay, a small bill to him; and that
Dr. Webster wrote back to him, saying that that bill should be paid
when the money came in from the sale of his chemical lecture tickets,
That is true. :IYou perceive that that debt, like that of Henchman,
was unpaid, on account of his daily expenses. That was to be paid
from the chemical lecture fund.

We conceive that Dr. Webster wanted money for his daily ex-
penses; and that he drew it from the source from which he was
accustomed to draw all his money, and that he did not wish to appro-
priate this money to other uses,

Now, as to this money paid Dr. Parkman, I am free to say to you
that we have not offered proof to show where it came from. And
this we cannot do. Yet, the circumstances of the case are such as
do not show that Dr. Webster had malice in his heart to contrive
the perpetration of this most atrocious crime, for the want of this
money. Gentlemen, yon know now, as well as Dr. Webster knew
then, that he was a debtor, and that Dr. Parkman was his creditor.
You know now that Dr. Parkman had made up his mind, resolutely,
in reference to his debtor, and that Dr. Webster knew it too. Yon
know that Dr. Webster knew that there had been transactions be-
tween himsell and another party, which, unexplained, thrown out to
the community, would touch to the core the reputation of a man
standing in the position in which he did. You know that, in the
exigency of the time, he had mortgaged his property to George Park-
man ; that consisted in part of his minerals. You know that, sub-
sequent to that, in his exigeney, he had afterwards raised $1200 by
a bill of =ale of those minerals, which had exasperated Dr. Parkman,
but which Dr. Webster vindicated by a long letter to Mr. Shaw,
which, unhappily, is not here. Dr. Webster knew that the time was
coming, and that speedily too, when he must answer to Dr. George
Parkman. He knew that the time was coming when he could no
longer ask for delay or forbearance, but must be prepared to meet the
elaim—I will not call it inexorable, but the earnest claim — which
Dr. Parkinan must make against him. He must be prepared for that
oreat day ; for it isa great day with a man in Dr, Webster’s situation,
— with & man with a large family, with expensive habits, and an
expensive condition in life. When such a man is called upon to
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pay a considerable sum of money, he is obliged to strain himsell on
that side and on this side, and to gather in a fifty dollar bill here,
and a twenty dollar bill there.  And it was in this way that this mone
for Dr. Parkman was hoarded together, little by little, gathering i
where he could, and collecting it where he could; knowing that the
time was caming when he could not put off the dﬂ],r

If you will examine the books, you will find, that of ®195 paid at
one time by Mr. Pettee to Dr. Webster, $150 were deposited in the
Charles River Bank. All the other sums which he received from
Mr. Pettee were deposited in the bank. But, of this $195, 845 were
saved out, and made up, Gentlemen, with the previous savings, the
means of meeting the claims of Dr. Parkman.

In the mean time, he was subject to calls from other quarters; and
thouch he micht, at somewhat of an earlier day, have made pnyment
to Dr. ParLrn.m yet, from the relation in which they were placed to
each other, he was not over willing to gratify the immediate demands
of Dr. Parkman, but was willing to put him off as long as he could.
There was no friendly relation {Etween them. All he meant to do
was to put himsell in a situation, when the time did come, and Dr.
Parkman eame with a pressure that he could no longer resist, that
then he could meet him, pay him, and be rid of him. And that,
Genilemen, is the history, as far as I can detail it to you, of the
circumstances in this case.

There are corroborating circumstances, Gentlemen. Understand
me, that thils iz not gathered from imagination. Do not say that Dr.
Webster, to some extent, at least, is not fortified by the facts in the
case. Let us see if we cannot find such facts. Remember two cir-
cumstances : Dr. Webster says that he paid $183. Of that noney
so paid, $100 was in a bill of the New England Bank. Another
circumstance in this connection: Brown, the toll-man, says, that on
Friday he saw Dr. Webster passing the Cambridge Bridee, and
asked him what he paid Dr. Parkman. He replied he could not
tell : some large and some small amounts; some of which came from
the students in the medical course.

Myr. Clifford. The testimony is somewhat different —

Judge Merrick. T am much ebliged to you lor the corrertion.

Mr. Clifford. Samnel N. Brown, the toll-gatherer, details the
conversation which he had on Friday with Dr. Webster.

Judge Merrick. 1 will read it.  After speaking of the $20 bill,
he says that “ Dr. Webster and I were talking tosether. I asked
him il he could recognize that $20 bill. He said he could not; that
the money he paid Dr. Parkman was that received [tom the students,
some of larze and some of small denominations.”

M. C.!'zﬁ‘md I have it—*The money he paid Dr. Parkman
was money he had received from the students, some of large and
some of small denominations.”

Chief Justice Shaw (reads.) *1 asked Dr. Webster if he could
recognize that $20 bill. He said he could not; that the money was
mouney he had received from the students, some of large and some of
emall denominations.”

Mr. Clifford. Precisely as I have it!

Judge Merrick. 1 do not perceive any essential diflerence between
us. |
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Mr. Cl fford. Tt implies that all the money was received from the
students,

Jidge Merrick. The view that I take is that no such idea was
intended to be conveyed. The tol'-man asked if Dr. Webster could
recognize that $20 bill; =aid that an Irishman had offered a £20 bill,
to pay a one cent toll; that he thought it rather strange that an
Irishman should have that money,and pay it for toll. And, suspect-
ing he might have got it from Dr. Parkman, he went to ask Dr.
Webster about the bills that he had paid to Dr. Parkman. He had been
at the College, and spole of this as he was passing back to Cambridge.
The toll-man said, that he understood that the money eame from
the students. But the idea intended to have been conveyed to the
mind was, not that every dollar was derived from the students, hut
that portions of it were. This is apparent from the fact that he had
received a considerable portion at a much earlier date. A consider-
able portion of the money received was distributed at once : 230
were paid to Dr. Bigelow: $195 were received afterwards; and
$150, the next day, were deposited, as the records, the testimony
of Pettee, and the bank books, show. And, therefore, it is perfectly
obvious, that the idea Dr. Webster meant to convey to Mr. Brown,
the toll-man, was, that he could not tell, because he could not recog-
nize the various bills that were paid, as the money came without
defining the precise source. 1 suppose that the toll-man was the
last man to whom he would tell his particular affairs.

But some of the money came from the students; on%which there
are two suggestions to be made.

The first suggestion is, of the saving of $45 from the $195. Sec-
ond, that there was paid, according to the statement which he earl
made, the note of 8100 from the New England Bank. Mr. Petiee
went to the New England Bank to gét his money. He can’t swear
that he was paid, or that he paid Dr. Webster, in money of the New
England Bank, But yonr personal acquaintance with such matters
shows, the experience of everybody shows, that they do not pay any-
thing but their own bills from banks. He laid this money aside, and
paid it to D, Parkman. He had saved the rest of the money, but
with the exception of the $100 bill,-he could not identify what he
had paid. He could not detbrinine whether that $20 bill was one
which he ever had lefore. i

My. Clifford. 1 do not understand what this deposit is.

Judge Merrick. 1suppose that he took this $100, which he had
received from Mr. Pettee, and kept it, and deposited other money in
the Charles River Bank.

Mr. Clifford. He reserved only $45.

Judge Mervick. 1 don’t say he did any more from the tick-
ets. I wish to fortify these presumptions. Iywiifh I could go to the
persons from whom he received this money. Suppose that Dr.
Webster had apprized his Counsel, *Why, I received such a sum of
money here, and such a sum there,” —a careless man in his money
matters, — and that * twenty, forty, or an hundred dollars, in another
place, were received ;" and it should be proved not to be so— that
there was a mistake about it. How hazardous a case it would be
for him! Then it comes back to this course of daily savings. It
appears that his situation was such as to require him to do it; that
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he had means, and that it might have been done. He says it was.
You see Dr. Parkman was his creditor, and his pressing creditor.
The time of the lectures had come, and at that moment he must
preserve his place. Dr. Parkman had him in his power. He pre-
pared himself for the time ; he availed himself of all practical means
to come to it. Then see if Dr. Wehster is, or is not, corroborated in
his statements on this subject.

The Government Counsel apprized us, after all the evidence was
in, that he should claim not only that there was this money due to
Dr. Parkman that Dr. Webster says he paid, but that the large note
comprehended debts which were due to other parties, amounting
to 5512,

Gentlemen, there is no other evidence in the case upon that subject
from which the Attorney General can argue — nothing but the notes
and the papers in the case. These notes and papers are, then, to be
taken into consideration, to see whether this is o or not. Now the
mere fact that Dr. Webster is found in possession of these papers
would, wnder ordinary circumstances, create a presumption in his
favor, that he was fairly, and honestly, and justly, entitled to them.
And as the law presumes that he is innocent until he is proved guilty,
therefore this presumption' exists in his favor until the Government
establishes the contrary fact.

Now, Dr. Webster does not pretend, and he never pretended, that
he met Dr. Parkman in order to pay anything else than the small
note. NowF®Gentlemen, if you will look upon that small note, and
see how the $453.64 is made up, you will find that it is made up by
computing the interest which is due to Dr. Parkman, not to the date
of payment, but to a day considerably ahead; that is to say, appa-
renfly Dr. Webster paid Dr. Parkman more than was due. How
comes that? Simply that these parties understood each other, and
there was some doubt about how much was due ; and then there was
a proposition, as Dr. Webster said to some witnesses, that when Dr.
Parkman came and said, © There i1s so much due,” —¢ Yes,” he
replied, * that is what we agreed upon ;" that is to say, they had
fallen into some difficulty about it, and then had finally agreed on
that amount.

My, Clifford. It is so stated in the memorandum, in Webster's
pocket-book, and not elsewhere.

Judge Merrick. 1 will look at my minutes soon. Then, Gentle-
men, you have another circamstance. It is stated, by every one who
speaks of the conversation of Dr. Webster in relation to that individ-
ual, that Dr. Webster spoke of the mortgage. He did speak of the
mortgage. He says that after the money was paid — that is, the
notes were cancelled —something was said in relation to the mortgage.
it was rather an iinperfect statement, but the amount of it was this:
that Dr. Parkman said he would take care of the cancelling of the
mortgage.  Accordingly, you perceive that Dr. Webster did, on the
next day, not only believe that the mortzage was to be cancelled, but,
in point of fact, went to the city office to see if it was so. This is
important, because, if you can find a basis of truth in that statement
which is made by Dr. Webster at that time, it will enable you to
complete the parts; just as Dr. Wyman found, from the [ragments
of bones which he collected, sufficient indications to determine to
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what parts they belonged, and to assist in reconstructing the entire
skeleton.

Dr. Webster says that Dr. Parkman would see to it. You do not
find the mortzage in the possession of Dr. Webster, but it has been
E‘Eﬂd”md here, from the papers of Dr. Parkman, by the Government.
Now I think, Gentlemen, that this is a strong corroborating circum-
stance. Look at the whole series of these business transactions, It
appears that Dr. Webster was the debtor, that Dr. Parkman was the
creditor ; that Dr. Parkman meant to have his debt paid, at all events,
and that the note must be met. Then, as to a portion of his money,
ﬁnu find that Dr. Webster did receive money from the New England

ank, which would correspond, in part, with the money paid ; some
%c_:rticrn of the money received from the tickets was not deposited.

on find that the business transaction took place ; that Dr. Parkman
went down there with the expectation that something would be done.
He did carry his papers with him. That took place between the
parties, at that time, which resulted in this, that Dr. Webster got
possession of the notes, and Dr. Parkman kept the mortgage.

Now, [ put it to you, that, in this state of facts, although this is not
clearly proved, yet, that the explanations are sufficient to refute this
assumption taken by the Government. This inference from his want
of means, from the idea that Dr. Webster had not any money, and
so seduced Dr. Parkman, by false pretences, to come to his place, is
totally groundless. These are all the considerations that [ have to
present upon this subject, and I ask youw to consider them. 1 do not
‘say that the arcument on this part is perfect; but it is for you care-
fully to discriminate, and to secure the truth. And consider whether
it is not ample to repel that suspicion of the Government, that it must
have been that Dr. Webster had not any funds, and so premeditated
this awful erime. I put it to you, whether it is not more reasonable,
that this outline of this condition in which Dr. Webster was is true,
than that a man of his standing in life should have set down de-
liberately the way of blood ; and yet to one or the other of these con-
clusions you must come. And you must come to the latter conclusion,
or you cannot sustain this hypothesis of the Government, that there
was malice aforethought, express, because Dr. Webster had not the
means of making the pecuniary payment. I beg you to weigh it
well, for on it are the 1ssues of life and death.

AFTERNOON.

F»Tr. Merrick resumed his arcument, and continued as follows :—]
wish now, Gentlemen of the Jury, to eall your attention to those
circumstances which tend to show the character of the transaction,
upon the supposition — with the idea, or hypothesis — that the death of
Dr. Parkman was caused by the prisoner at the bar, at the time of the
interview between them, at the Medical College, November 23d.
And here you perceive, Gentlemen of the Jury, that we are under
the necessity of relying exclusively upon the circumstances. [f Dr.
Parkman died under the hands ﬂll Dr. Webster upon that occasion,
no human voice can relate to you the circumstances, except the voice
of the prizoner himself; no direct testimony can come to you. Still,
you are judges of the fact. And, in this mstance, as in everything
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else in this case, yon are fo weigh circumstances, and deduce from
circumstances the inferences which are the just and proper conclusions
from the fact. Now, Gentlemen, 1 contend that the eircumstances
which must have accompanied that scene of death, if death there
were, must have been such as to have extenuated the offence com-
mitted, from the erime of murder to the erime of manslaughter.
What was the relation of these parties to one another, the circums-
stances under which they met, and from which they never separafed,
according to the Government, both alive? You have heard of the
relation between these parties, of debtor and ereditor.  You know that,
fora long period of time, Dr.Webster had been indebted to Dr. Parkman.
You know that Dr. Parkman became exasperated, to some extent,
against him, in consequence of the aets on the part of Dr. Webster
which Dr. Parkman denounced as unjust and dishonest. And, under
that imputation of injustice and dishonesty, you know, from the evi-
dence given, that Dr. Parkman meant to pursue, and did pursue him.
[ speak in terms well measured. So early as the first conversation
which he had with his brother-in-law, Mr. Shaw, the feelings of Dr.
Parkman were much excited against the prisoner. And I believe
that, from that hour to the last hour when he was known to be in ex-
istence, that feeling never was removed, but became inereased. You
have the testimony of Mr. Pettee, with whom Dr. Parkman held
several interviews. He in vain endeavored to realize the money that
was coming to Dr. Webster from his annual course of lectures.
He was disappointed and chagrined. He had said to Mr. Shaw that
he would have this money; and Mr. Shaw had endeavored to calm
his mind. Both these gentlemen oceupy a relation, in respect to pe-
cuniary means, well understood by the community. It was not the
amount due from Dr. Webster to Dr. Parkman which made the money
a matter of interest or of importance. A loss of that amount wonld
never have been {elt by Dr. Parkman ; and undoubtedly, under other
circumstances, he would freely have parted with much more than that,
perhaps to Dr. Webster himself. But there were relations between
them of an angry character. Dr. Parkman, as [ say, was disappointed
and chaerined with his want of suecess with Mr. Pettee; yet he
never forbore the purpose he had in his mind, to enforce against Dr.
Webster the payment of this money. He did not call in the aid of the
law; he did not ask for a writ, by which his property could be
attached ; but he assumed, by his mode, I will not say of harassing
the feelings of his debtor, that he should be able to obtain this money.
Accordingly, you find that his pursuit was constant, his purpose un-
chanzed and inflexible, and his manner, I think, never calm, in
relation to this matter. He sent, by Mr. Pettee, a message, which,
if it reached Dr. Webster, could not but have exasperated him.
That that message, or another like it, did reach bim, [ think you can-
not question. So early as Thursday evening preceding November
23, there were irritating circumstances connected with this subject.
Dr. Webster was aggravated. Probably, never a profane word was
SFEIE{C'H by Dr. Parkinan; yet, that rash language was used, and, in
the common parlance, vulzar language was used, which came in some
way (o Dr. Webster, certainly showing that there was not a kind
relation between the two, [ donbt not.  You see it developed in other
circumstances.  So early as Monday evening of that weelk, that fatal
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weel, Dr. Webster was at a late hour in that laboratofy, where he
toiled for his daily bread, reading a chemical book, as Lattlefield has
gaid. You find Dr. Parkman, I will not say 1utrttdmg upon him,
but calling upon him. A conversation ensued, and Dr. Parkman
departed, with a menace upon his lips.  Something must be done
to-morrow,” said he. The time is passing, — the morrow passed.
Dr. Webster, in the morning of that day, according to Littlefield and
Maxwell, wrote a note to Dr. Parkman. [ wish it were here,
and did hope, at one time, that, with the multifarious papers pro-
duced on this trial by the Government, that also would be presented.
He wrote a note. Its precise terms are not communicated, but you
will have no doubt that it had relation to the circumstances exisiing
between them. Dr. Webster says that he came to him. That isa
part of the memorandum found upon his arrest; and it is, therefore,
competent for you to take into consideration that Dr. Parkman called
again. At any rate, during that week, he was watching the high-
‘!-I'a_\,':s. endeavoring to anticipate the ﬂppm:uh of Dr. Webster to the
Medical College. He was more than once at Cambridge Bridee. He
was on the watch,— he was on the inquiry. He asked the toll-
gatherer of the passages of Dr. Webster,

On Thursday, having been at the bridge, according to the testimony
of the toll-man, he procured a conveyance, drove out to Cambridee,
and, when near Dr. Webster's house, made inquiries for it, and re-
turned. The next day they met, and by appointment, under the state
of feelings and excitement which had been cenerated by their whole
course nf {it—u]mg, and b}f the pura.u;t of Dr. Pdrl-._mqn, so constant and
g0 unintermitting, so pressing and urcent. They met. s it strange
that men, meeting under such eircumstances, should oet into a wrans
g‘le T Jsit s'cranﬁe, or unnatural, that one party, who felt himsell to

= pursuing a dishonest man, that he had been personally injured,
wmﬂ-l therefore take, I will not say the law into his own hands, but
take that which would do more for him than the law conld do, and
would pursue his debtor 2 Is it strange that the debtor, who had been
thus pursued, should retaliate # — that this should breed angry words,
and that pf.'rﬁr}n:ﬂ collision should follow, and that pi:-rsnnnl collision
should ‘be followed by that from which, when done, death would
ensue? Iam arguing upon probabilities. There is in morals, as
well as in p:ﬂltl:s a reguhr succession of events. Passion has its
sway, as well as the laws of nature. The action of the mind is as
regular as the motion of the planets in their spheres. It was as nat-
ural that men should fall into altercation — that altercation should be
followed by blows, and that blows should be followed by death — asit
is that any cause should produce its effect.

Gentlemen, the parties met under these cireumstances —in this
state of excitement; and we are now to suppose the death of this
individual. This is all that we know. The creditor, pressinz witha
firm, if not with a hard hand! ‘T'he debtor resisting! Justice ma
sometimes seem to be too exacting in its requnsutmns. The claim o
right may seem to him against “whom it is pressed to be urged too
far, and the party will turn upon the other, who seems to him to be
the ngaressor. Word after word will be followed by blow after blow,
and deadly consequences may ensue.

Which, when we are speaking of probabilities, is more likely —
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which most Yikely — the sudden altercation, bringing the parties to
combat, and from combat to death ; or that there should have been,
on the part of Professor Webster, a cold, slow, fearful caleulation, for
a sin like this ; — that he prepared the way; that he seduced the vie-
tim ; that he led him on to the snare, and coldly and deliberately slew
him? No, Gentlemen, the annals of crime fell no suck story as that :
that a man like Professor Webster, with such a character and such a
position, has at one single step leaped away from all the influences of
education, social life, religious instruction, all at once, to the highest
and worst crime that man can commit against his fellow! And yet,
Gentlemen of the Jury, unsight and unseen, with these sarroundin
circumstances, and these vast improbabilities, you are asked to be-
lieve that th#s crime was deliberate and with express malice ; not that
these parties — hot and excited from former altercations, freshened from
every moment of intercourse that occurred between them — meeting
for the last time, when the work was to be done effectually for Dr.
Parkman — that it should have led on to a combat. This is the al-
ternative. You are to judge which it was.

You are not to go beyond this period of time, but to stop there.
What had transpired between these parties before thattime ? Nothing
which afterwards trunspired could change the character of the act,
which was then complete. I leave to you, Gentlemen, as rational
men, who are called upon here to decide upon the most numerous col-
lection of circwmstances that were ever presented to a Jury, to deter-
mine whether you will not gather from the circumstances surround-
ing these parties, and under which they met, the conclusion that it
must have been beyond all semblance, and all reasonable doubt. that
death came, not from premeditation, but from suddenness of anger,
when there was a fearful heat of blood between- these parties, exas-
perated the one against the other —exasperated until it came to
death !

I have said that you are not to go beyond the act, to ascertain the
character of the act itself. And it is easy to show that it must be so.
Should you think that you could go further, to see what disposition
was made of this body, when it was once killed, and gather premed-
itation from that, — stop and consider a moment. We should hope, per-
haps we should even expect, that parties so situated, if they came to
combat —if combat went on till death came — I say we should hope,
and perhaps expect, that the party who, in the heat of blood, had been
guilty of erime, would have been so overcome that he would have
rushed from the place, and said, “ God have mercy upon me!” to the
first person he met; “1 have killed my friend! From angry words,
we proceeded to blows. Fuel was added to the flame, and in the heat
of passion, I smote him to the earth, a bleeding corpse ! ” Isay that
we should have hoped that a man would do this. Pﬁm would all do
so? Professor Webster was a man of standing in society. He had
a wife and children. He was poor. While his blood was hot, and
passion high — his victim slain — he does one rash act more. Before
his blood cools, he does one act more. Surrounded as he was, the
temptation came over him to coneceal ; and he did the first act of
concealment. From that moment, all disclosure was too late. The
expected time of his salvation, by a public disclosure, was passed ;
and all that followed was the necessary consequence of the first false
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step that he took after his brother was no longer a li}r?ng man. He
attempted to conceal ; and, having attempted to conceal, and ha‘vinf
cut himself off from all possibility of public disclosure, the arrest fol-
lows. One false step leads to another, and at length the temptation
comes upon him to conceal and destroy. To conceal and destroy!
The temptation comes upon him to avert suspicion — to shut out

ofs — to turn’ away inguiry. If, then, Gentlemen of the Jury, he
shut up his doors —if he gave out false statements — if he did, what
I do not think the evidence will warrant any one in saying — write
these anonymous letters to the police, it would be only a continuance
of that first false step, by which he shut himself out from his duty,
and then, to cover up the erime he had committed, attempted conceal-
ment.

Wrong in his impulses, he certainly wgs, But still, after it was
done, and the concealment must come, painful as it was, he had driven
himself into the circumstances, And 1 put this to you, to ask if you
do not see that the explanation of his subsequent conduct has no ten-

ney whatever to show you the character of the act.

Then, riddle this testimony in all its parts. See the relation in
which these men stood. See one pursuing the other. How natural
to prompt resistance ! How natural for them to have had a combat !
The combat makes heat of blood. In the suddenness of passion, life is
lost. And then, according to the plain statements which have been
made, you are to judge whether these probabilities do not show, clear-
ly and satisfactorily, to any reasonable mind, that the erime could not
have been premeditated murder, but must have been extenuated, by
the heat of passion and the combat of the parties,into that great, but
still lesser erime, of manslaughter.

Pass, now, Gentlemen, to the consideration of other matters. And
yet, before I enter upon the evidence of the Government which bears
directly upon Professor Webster, [ have to ask your attention to that
defence which was suggested by the Counsel associated with me, and
which I may term the technica]ypart:-—the indictment and its aver-
ments — the duty of the Government in relation to it, and the effect
of the evidence which they have produced.

The first and second counts in this indictment, Gentlemen, in my
judgment, are substantially, for all practical purposes in this trial, the
same. The charge is, that the defendant, with a certain knife which
he had in his right hand, made an assault upon George Parkman,
in and upon the left side of the breast of him the said %Eeorge Fark—
man, then and there, feloniously, wilfully, and with malice afore-
thonght, did strike, cut, stab, and thrust, giving to the said George
Parkman, then and there, with the knife aforesaid, one mortal
wound.”

The second count charges that, * with a certain hammer, which he
the said John W. Webster in both his hauds then and there held,
him the said George Parkman, then and there, feloniously, willfully,
and with malice aforethonght, did strike, giving unto him the said
George Parliman, then and there, with the hammer aforesaid, in and
upon the head of him the said George. Parkman, one mortal wound.”

Both of these counts charge that he killed George Parkman I:E
striking ; and I suppose that any evidence to show you that the dea
was occasioned by any instrument would sustain either indictment.



I suppose that any evidence that would satisfy you that death was by
the hammer, would be sufficient to support the charge that it was
the knife. : .

But the proof to support these counts will not be sufficient to sup-
port the third, which charges that he “did strike, beat and kick, in
and upon the head " of George Parkman, and cast him upon the
floor, i "

The fourth count charges that the individual, in some way or than-
ner, and by some means, weapons and instruments, to the Jury un-
known, did cause the death of George Parkman. Now we claim, —and"
upon this claim we shall receive the instruction of the Court, by which
you will be governed, — we claim that the Government are bound, in
a charge of murder, to set out the charge in a plain,substantial, and
formal manner. We elaimathat the law has distinctly declared what
formalities are necessary in an indictment. We claim that, amnn‘ﬁ'
these formalities, the law has prescribed that the manner of death
shall be distinetly described. We claim that no indictment is suf-
ficient, which does not set out distinctly and precisely the means of
death. - We have ecalled the atiention of the Court to such legal
authorities as we think fully sustain this proposition. They were
read to you by the Counsel associated with me. Of course, I have no
purpose to repeat the particular statement, but to refissert generally
the proposition, that the Government are bound to make sach an exact
statement in the indictment, or the indictment must fail. The defend-
ant cannot be convicted under an indictment which does not explicit-
ly state the means of death. He is not bound to answer it.

With respect to this indictment, we say, —and we trust that we shall
be sustained in this by the Court, — that it is incompetent for the Gov-
ernment to offer any evidence, or to supply any evidence which is
offered to support it, because it does not aver how the death was
occasioned, in some particular way and manner. That last count,
Gentlemen, is no more than saying that the defendant might have
killed Dr. Parkman by strangling, by poisoning, or by drowning him,
in some way or some manner. Which of these, under this count of
the indictment, is the defendant to prepare himself against — the fire,
the water, the knife or the poison? He has a right to know. And
therefore it is that the law has provided, that before an individual is
brought to trial, the Government may set out the offence which is
charged against him in just as many different forms, and under just as
many different allegations, as they choose.

These different statements in the indictment are called counts,
The law provides that the Government shall not be limited at all as
to the number of counts. They may be extended, as my learned
friend said, as far as the ingenuity of man can carry them; but still,
when the case comes to trial, the Government are held within the
counts which they have drawn, and the party is to be tried exactly
upon the counts.  And if it be that the Government are bound to set
out the manner of dzath, if there be any count in the indictment which
does not set out the manner of death, but is entirely indefinite, — so
that it may have been done in one mode or in another mode, each of
which is recognized by the law as a distinct method of taking life,
and to be set out in a distinet form, — then the Government cannot
malke out its case, because it does not affirm either the one or the
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other positively : but is loose and reneral, and does no more than if
it had said these words — * John W. Webster murdered George Park-
© man.”

If this propesition is eorrect, there is but one thing more 1 wish to
say upon this point: that is, that, in applying the evidence, they
must apply it to those counts which the evidence can sustain. For
instance, if the Government can satisfy you that death was inflicted
upon George Parkman by a knife or a hammer, you may apply the
charge to the first or second count ; but it would not support the third
dount, which charges a means of death recognized by the law, and, if
relied upon.by the Government, to be distinctly charged.

Then, again, if they present evidence to show that death was cansed
by striking with the hands and feet, and casting against the floor. that
. ~would not support the first two, but would the third alone,

With this statement, I proceed to add, that, in my judgment, there
is no evidence in the case, — and I submit to you whether there is any
eyidence in your minds that you can apply to either of these counts,—
to show that death was occasioned in that particular way, by
the hammer and the knife. Do you know it, and can you affirm it,
that this was the mode in which death came? It was not thought
quite so certain by the Grand Inquest, by whom this indictiment was
presented. That is nothing. You are to pass upon it.

The only proof tending to show, in my judgment, that death was

roduced by either the hammer or the knife, is the evidence of Dr.
]':Vyman., about the fracture of the skull, and the perforation on the left
side. Will the evidence of those causes of death satisfy you, beyond
reasonable doubt, that either of them were thecauses? Remember that
the Government are claiming that George Parkman was murdered by
premeditation. Remember that they are saying, and asking you to
say to John W. Webster, the fatal word, that he did premeditate this
murder. If he did it premeditatedly, do you think he left the wa%r of
death to chance, to a chance blow, to the hammer which he might find
or the knife which he might seize ; or that he prepared, in advance, the
way? Will you say that he did net strangle this man—that he did
not take care instantly to stop his breath by the lasso? Is that an un-
reasonable suggestion? When the Gevernment are called upon to
prove, beyond all reasonable doubt, that it was by striking or by beating
his hody with his hands and feet, are you prepared to say that this
proof, which comes to no more than this — that he was living, and is
now dead and mangled —shows that the death was in a particular
form? Will you say, Gentlemen, that it is impossible that George
Parkman might have been seized, and that liquid poison could not
have been poured down his throat, while his head was held fast?
Will you say that provision was not made by which he cast himself
voluntarily upon the floor ?— this man, who always went down those
steps in haste — that he did not throw himself down, and destroy life
in that way? We are in the broad field of conjecture. The Gov-
ernment ask you, not merely to conjecture, but to decide and to deter-
mine. It may be that there was 4 knife; it may be that there was a
hammer. Bat is it certain? Unless it is certain that it was so, you
cannot be satisfied of it; for it is necessary that the Government
should aver and prove the cause of death. I ask you, Gentlemen ol
the Jury, if it be proved, beyond a reasonable doubt, that death was
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sccasioned in the forms and in the manner that the Government
have set forth?

I know that the Attorney General said to you, in the opening, that if
he had relied upon his own judgment, he would have put the cha
only on the fourth count; because he would regard the assertion that
the indictment could not be sustained under it as a reproach to the
law of the land. It may be a reproach. The question is not, Is
it a good law? If the law requires that certain specified forms must
be gone through with, those forms must be gone through with, And
which, I ask you, would be the highest reproach to the law, to leave
such rules unamended, or for Courts and Juries, knowing what thé
law is, to legislate on a man’s life for a particular case — make a
new law when a man’s life is in peril 2

No, Gentlemen of the Jury ; if this be the law, if the Government
proof does not come up to the demands and requisitions of the law,
then, I say, it is a great duty which you have to do, upon this state of
things, viz., to discharge the defendant. Guilty, he may be. But what
says the law ?— “ Better that a hundred guilty men should escape,
than that one innocent man should perish ;" and therefore it throws
round the life of every man these guards and protections of the law.
It makes rules for circumstantial evidence ; it makes rules for indict-
ments; it hampers its own officers with technical forms, for the pro-
tection of life. It means that it shall be so. And I say to you, Gen-
tlemen of the Jury, that to acquit even a known felon of an offence
odious and atrocious,—1I say, to acquit him, according to law, is a
nobler triumph than was ever witnessed in the groans or agonies of
convicted guilt upon the scaffold. If, Gentlemen of the Jury, you
shall receive instruction in conformity to the views which we have
taken of the law upon this subject, —if you cannot find, beyond rea-
sonable doubt, how this death came,—for your country’s law and
your country’s justice, I ask a favorable verdict from you on that point.

Gentlemen of the Jury, I shall proceed now directly to the consid-
eration of the evidence upon which the Government claim that they
have brought home to the prisoner at the bar the charge which they
made. And here, Gentlemen, we must pause for one moment, to see
again the precise position which the parties oceupied. I say, then, to
you, once more, that the Government claim that George Parkman
entered the Colleze between the hours of one and two, on the 23d
of November, and that he never came out. The defendant admits -
that Dr. Parkman was there at the hour of half past one, and that he
left the College. You see the position which the respective parties
take. If the Government will not take the admission of Dr. V‘P&hst&r
that George Parkman was there at one and a half o'clock, but
choose to take a different hour, that different hour is by them
to be proved. :

Now, Gentlemen, 1 wish to call your attention particularly to the
evidence bearing upon this question. I wish to do so, becanse

-involved in it is another consideration. The Government claim that
Dr. Parkman came to his death by Dr. Webster’'s hands. Dr. Web-
ster denies that statement. The Government claim that the remains
which were found were those of the body of Dr. Parkman, and
that they have proved that he came to his death by violence.
This is neither admitted nor denied, in this state of the question, by
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Dr. Webster; but he says he knows nothing of it. We stand,
then, Gentlemen on that—on that, as from the beginning. When Dr.
Webster, on the morning of the 1st of December, after such a night
as a man has scarcely ever passed, recovered partially the power of
speech, he uttered, in simple but expressive language, his defence : *1
do not think those remains are the remains of Dr. Parkman; but
how in the world they came there, I am sure I don’t know.” His
proposition, then, Gentlemen, you perceive is, that by some way and
means, and for some purpose or other, those remains were placed in
that building, without his agency, and without his knowledge ; and
never has he professed to know what they mean. He cannot now
profess to be able to explain them. This he says— “ I am guiltless of
my brother’s blood.” The evidence of the Government, how sum-
mary soever it is, cannot and ought not to avail. I wish, then, Gen-
tlemen, to trace, as well as I can, the evidence of the Government
which bears upon these two propositions.

There are a few subjects which, it seems to me, ecan be disposed
of now better than in any other stage of the cause; and I now propose
to dispose of them, before going to the great propositions. The great
circumstances which the Government rely on are, that Dr. Parkman
entered the Medical College, and never went from it; that shortly
after, the remains were found in such a manner as to imply that Dr.
Webster must have known about them. There are several auxiliary
circumstances connected with it.

In the first place, I call your attention to these anonymous letters.
Three letters were received by the Marshal. They are brought in
here for the purpose of showing that Dr. Webster attempted to avert
the attention of the police from the College. And it is said — the
argument must be, that Dr. Webster, if conscious of innocence, if there
was no occasion for diverting the attention from that College, could
never have written such letters. The argument is strong, if the fact
is established beyond all doubt. It would be difficult to assign a
motive why Dr. Webster, as an innocent man, should have written
sugh letters for any purpose, except to divert from himself the in-
quiry.

But, then, we are to consider, first, — is the fact proved, that these
letters were written by Dr. Webster. That, Gentlemen of the Jury,
is utterly denied. I mean to state it to you from him as strongly as
I can ; — it is utterly denied. AndI mean to call your attention to the
proofs in the case, g:n‘ a moment or two.

I am sorry, Gentlemen, it happened that these letters came so re-
cently into my possession as they did, — that I should have had so little
opportunity to make a personal examination, and to go abread, and to
see what examination could be there made, in relation to them. They
were put in the last of the Government’s evidence. My engagements
were of the most pressing character, and those of my associate, also.
We were drawing towards the close of the trial, when we were to
make preparation for this hour; and our attention could be less effect-
ively given to these letters than it otherwise would. And yet I
have seen sufficient of these letters, enough to satisfy me that
EE evidence is not such as to convince you that Dr. Webster wrote

L .

The evidence that the Government has is, first, the letters themselves,
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and then the testimony of experts. Deacon Gould says he has, for a
long time, known the hand-writing of Dr. Webster, and that he has
some superior knowledge ; but I think it cannot have escaped notice
that his evidence was presented on the ground that he has effective
skill. Now, as to these letters, there is quite a difference between
them. Mr. Smith, the engraver, sustains Mr. Gould about the * Civis®
letter, but not about the others. That letter was dated on Monday;
the others were dated the 30ih. Indeed, one was dated the 31st, but
post-marked the 30th. Now, it is these that Mr. Gould has expended
his force upon; and if either of these is in the hand-writing of Dr.
Webster, the = Civis” letter is. ;

I have not had much time to examine this, but I wish to call your
attention to some things which Mr. Gould states. He sees the resem-
blance in certain letters, in which he says they are precisely alike.
Now, I have unpractised eyes. I claim no skill as an expert. Quite
the reverse. But I think I haveskill enough to discover that, in some
of these particulars, —and 1 think you will decide in all, — this Mr.
Gould is the merest visionary ever called upon to testify before a Jury.

I am about to ask you, when you retire to your rooms for the last
solemn decision, that you will take these letters. Remember that
you are not to be governed by the opinion of Messrs. Gould and
Smith ; they are only opinions. And you are to consider whether
it is proved, beyond all reasonable doubt, that these letters are in the
hand-writing of that man. In connection with that opinion, you may
have your own opinion, and exercise your own judgment. And from
comparison of the same papers from which that witness has formed
his opinion, I will show you a specimen. Among other things which
the witness says were made alike, you will remember, were the ficures
1,3,4and 9. You will find, in the «Civis” letter, that they are
made different. Here is the date 1849, — ¢ the last shall be first, and
the first last,” —1I wish you would look at that 9, and then look at
those upon every one of the checks.

Believing, Gentlemen, most confidently, that letter is not in the
hand-writing of Dr. Webster, — (it would take guite too long to go
into particulars,) —1I have to say, generally, that I think the most
careful serutiny of it, in comparison with the real letters which have
been produced, will show that the opinion of Mr. Gould, upon this
subject, is of such a character that no Jury will feel safe to act upon
it in unimportant matters — much less to be sufficient to justify them
in acting at all upon any part of the evidence where life 1s at stake,

I know that I need not dilate upon this. I have stated my own
convictions. The Court will state to you what the evidence is; the
Court will state the law. And I will leave to you to form your judg-
ment upon those letters, with the genuine papers in the case; and
have no doubt, that when you have done that, — though the Govern-
ment have been zealous and honest, have done no more than what is
right and fit, in laying the evidence before the Jury, — yet, you will
come to the conclusion that you have no other right, and no ether
decision, in relation to that, than to lay it out of the case.

There are one or two other considerations. The Government have
introduced testimony here in relation to certain articles found in the
possession of Dr. Webster. They have called witnesses here, to
show you that on Friday morning Dr. Webster ordered a tin box.
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So he did. How does that connect Dr. Webster with this murder,
or anything in relation to it? Why, it may be argued, that it is'a
box in which the remains could have been put. But was the box
made for that purpese 2 Did the Doctor say anything which indi-
cated that it was to be made for that purpose 2 The Doctor said no
such thing. Where were the remains ¥ — and where was the box to
ﬁ? The remains were at the Medical College. Was the box to go
ere? The box was to go to Cambridge.

My. Clifford. No, sir!

Judge Merrick. It was to go out of town, to be filled.

Mr. Ciifford. It was the witness” own construction.

Judge Merrick. It was what he said. Now see the position in
which the Government was placed. Dr. Webster calls at Mr. Water-
man's, orders a box; and is asked what 1t is for, and he tells. He is
‘asked where it is’to go, and he tells. The Government ask you to
think that that is a lie. The Government say that it was a good
thing to put the thorax and the thigh in; and, therefore, conclude
that it was so. Gentlemen, you are to be satisfied beyond reasonable
doubt ; not what is probable ; not what is likely. And yet, Gentlemen,
seriously, the life of Dr. Webster is dependent upon this very thing.

Suppose that the case were so balanced that the Jury should say,
We are satisfied, if it is proved that this box was made for this purpose.
The Government say they can prove it. They call in Mr. Water-
man, who says, ©'The Doctor said it was to put small things in, and
to be sent out of town to be filled.” All you can say is, that that is
not true. That is to say, there is no proof, one way or the other, as
to the object to which it was to be applied. And yet, this cause is
just as much to be proved as you are to be satisfied beyond reasona-
ble doubt of the murder itself. Every fact which the Government
present makes an issue; and if it is disputed, then that fact i= to be
established by proof, and not by conjecture. And if the proof falls
short, then that fact 1s to be laid out of the case. It is to have no
influence, because it is not proved. That is the whole argument with
respect to the tin box.

have only to say to you, with respect to this, and the fish-hooks,
that Dr. Wegdter had ideas of his own upon this subject. We ecan-
not prove it by what he said to his wife, or children, or anybotly else.
He cannot get up in Court and testify to it. He does say that they
had nothing to do with it, and puts the Government upon proof:
Standing in a land of law, he has a right to say that they are not

roved.

y With regard to the fish-hooks, the Government say, probably, that
they were to be made into a grapple.  Where have they the proof?
Will they take the statement of Dr. Webster as to what he intended to
do with it? No, they will not.  And if they will not take that state-
ment from him, také yon none from them. ¢ Prove all things, and
hold fast that which is good.”

Now, then, I say that the Government, with reference to this, have
given no more than a possibility, not an application ; and they wmust
show the application, or the intent to apply these articles, or they
can have no effect.

At one time, another matter seemed likely to cause perplexity. T
refer to the bag of tan which was brought to the College by Sawin.
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Chief Justice Shaw (reads.) + Mr. Waterman said that he
wauld solder it, and the Doctor said it would be done at Cambridge,”
My. Clifford. The Jury may judoe of it. '

Judge Merrick. That is what I am asking them, with all my
heart, to do. With respect to the tan, it seemed at one time mo-
mentous. Dr. Webster sent in, at one time, a bag of tan, from his
hounse. A part of these remains were found imbedded in the tan.
Here were these remains on Friday, and the tan was sent in on
Monday. Dr. Webster is able to prove that the tan was there on
the morning after his arrest. The bag of tan was seen on Tuesday
morning by Mr. Kingsley. But it existed untouched on Friday
morning.

There is no proof that there ever was seen any other bag. It does
not appear that the tan was ever used, or touched. Still, here, as in
the other case, I suppose that the Government ask you to make some
inlerence from it. The truth is, the tan was there for a purpose
which Dr. Webster could explain. If you go into the laboratory, and
see all the contrivances, you would hardly be surprised that anything
which mechanics use should, in larger or less quantities, be found in
a chemist’s laboratory.

I did not know, Gentlemen, at one time, but that we should be in
danger from another matter, of which evidence is in the case — that
bunch of keys which was found after Dr. Webster’s arrest. 1 did
not know but that they were to be brought in, in some way, to the
connecting Dr. Webster with this awful crime. But all that we
have upon this subject is the explanation of Dr. Webster. He says
he found those keys, and thought they might be useful. The keys
were separate and distinct; and it turns out that a portion of them
will apply to the dissecting-room, and to two doors in his own' room.
He had a right to go to the dissecting-room, and to his own room;
and, therefore, the keys are nothing. If he were on trial for hurglarf,
they might be proper evidence. Being on a trial for murder, dead
weapons would be proper. The keys touch the burglar; the
deadly weapons t.::-ur:lllJ r. Webster. Iysuhmit that there is nothing
;Fhich affects, or which ought to affect, this case, in the slightest

egree, . .

Mr. Littlefield has testified, in relation to a sledge-hammer, which
was there at the time when it is supposed this erime was committed,
that he has searched diligently for 1t since — and it is gone.

Another witness has testified in relation to twine. There was
-twine found tied around the bone of the thich that was inserted in
the thorax, which was buried in the tan. This twine corresponds
with twine which was found in the private room of Dr. Webster, and
that which was on the fish-hooks wnich were purchased. Now, if
Dr. Webster committed this offence, he micht, or he might not, have
used that twine. [If he made that grapple, and it could be proved
that while he was doing it on one side, he was tying the thigh' with
the other, it might conviet him.  But take our hypothesis, and it ex-
plains it.  “ How these things came there, I don’t know.”

The Government’s case does not exclude the idea that all these
might have been placed there by another agent. If another man
came there and did any of these things — that is enough. If another
man came there and brought these remains, that man could dispose

e
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‘of them, could carry sledges away if he pleased, could use sledges,
and, if he found a ball of twine there, could tie it round the leg of a
human being. And therefore the twine and the hammer are ex-
plained, if at all, by the agency of the third person.

One or two words upon two or three other topies, before I come to
the main topic. Something was said about a $20 bill. Dr. Webster
came to Trenholm, and inquired about the $20 bill which he had
heard of from the Marshal. Dr. Webster knew nothing about it,
and inguired. DMrs. Coleman testifies that Dr. Webster called on
her, and asked her if she saw Dr. Parkman on Friday. She said,
“ No, it was on Thursday.” He asked again if it was not on Friday,
and she repeated her answer. Just as he was going out of the door,
he asked the third time. She seemed to indicate, by her manner,
that he had asked enough ; and she answered something sharply to
him. Everybody was inquiring, at that time, if any one had seen
Dr. Parkman.  Dr. Webster was interested in everything that touched
public excitement ; and he was as likely as anybody else to inquire
of any one whether they had seen Dr. Parlkiman. When passing
from the College to his home, he called on her, and asked her if she
saw him on Friday. She says, “No, on Thursday.” Now it hap-

ens that it was almost immediately afterwards that he was arrested.
It was on Friday that he called — on Friday, the day of the arrest,
when he was going on a voyage of discovery. He said to Mrs,
Coleman, I saw him on Friday.”

Chief Justice Shaw. This 1s Mrs. Bent; and now is Mrs. Bent
Coleman.

Judge Merrick. She is the same person. She is now called Mrs.
Bent Colemnan, and has probably made some addition to her name
since that time. I cannot but think that Dr. Webster must have
understood Mrs. Coleman differently, or he would not have asked
three policemen to hear her statement. There is no pretence that
Dr. Wl:‘bster sought to induce her to make any representations upon
the subject. He did not persuade her, or atrempt to persuade her;
but he simply asked for personal information; and having obtained
that, howsoever he understood it, he did not ask her to make false
representations. I shall leave that, with an assurance that it cannet
make an unfavorable effect upon the interests of my client, upon the
present trial.

There are two matters testified of by Mr. Littlefield, which would
better be disposed of with this class of miscellaneous testimony. I refer
to the blood, testified to by Mr. Littlefield, and to the inquiry of Dr.
Webster relative to the dissecting-vault.

In the first place, with respect to the blood, Dr. Webster was
entirely open in his communication with Mr. Littlefield upon the sub-
ject, asking him to go to the Hospital, and saying that he wanted it
for his own lecture. There is no evidence as to the use intended to
be made on that nccasion. Professor Horsford has said that it is not
unusual to use blood, in the ecourse of chemical lectures. If the sub-
jeet was proper, it might be used to advantage. There is a presump-
tion of law in reference to this, as to all parties — that the innocence is
presumed unless the contrary is shown. And unless it can be shown
that there was an inappropriateness of the use of blood in that lecture,
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it is nothing. He probably wanted it to show to the class, as teach-
ers of chemistry sometimes do. -y

Then, as to the dissecting-room vault. Dr. Webster inguires
whether it was mended ; adding, that there was some talk about hay-
ing it done. Littlefield said it was done. * Well.” says Webster,
“it is tight, now ; does it generate gas?” No; the Doctor did not
ask the question; but obtained a fact whence he might infer it. Said
he, “ Did you ever try a light?” *Yes,” says Littlefield; * Dr.
Ainsworth asked me to put a light down, and I put one down, and it
went out. Dr. Ainsworth could not get the article he was in search
of.” Dr. Webster says, “ 1 want to get some gas,” as soon as Mr.
Littlefield told him that the light went out. * Can you, sir?” says
Littlefield. * Yes, I can,” was the reply ; “and I will do it at another
time ;” and there the conversation ended.

It is a fact that Dr. Webster made this inquiry for an innocent
object; and it is made use of, on this trial, against him. The trath
is, if he contemplated this murder at all, it was so complete a P]aue,
and he was so assured of its safety, that you would, certainly, if Dr.
Webster had done it, have discovered the body there, instead of any-
where else. [ submit to you, that the evidence is insufficient to prove
that for which the Government present it.

I am sorry to delay you so long about these subjects. They are a

rt of that immense mass of evidence which is thrown into the scale
against the life of the prisoner at the bar. I do not believe that, in
the final adjudication of this case, you will feel at liberty to regard
them at all; and I pray you, that unless they are clearly proved, and
unless you are satisfied, beyond all doubt, that they have to do with
the case, that they will be removed from it.

I come now to the evidence bearing directly on Professor Webster,
viz., to the first proposition, that Dr. Parkinan never left the building,
and that the remains were those of Dr. Parkman slain by Dr. We%-
ster. Dr. Webster's proposition is, that Dr. Parkman was there at
half past one o’clock —not after; not at ten minutes of two, but at half

st one : and how the remains came there, he is sure he don’t know.

And now I have to ask you to consider that the Government
theory is altogether incorrect; and that there is strong reason to
believe that these premises were invaded by an unknown form. I
have called, Gentiemen, your attention carefully, I hope, candidly,
to the evidence which the defendant has been able to produce here,
tending to establish the fact of the alibi of Dr. Parkman. That alibi;
according to the evidence on the part of the defence, commenced at
twenty minutes after two o'clock, when he was first seen, in Cause-
way-street, by Mr. Thompson.

I mean now, Gentlemen, by the most precise and careful analysis,

of the evidence in this case that I am able to make, to satisfy your
minds, not only that we, on the part of the defence, have proved the
alili,— that is, the separation of Dr. Webster and Dr. Parkman,—but
that the Government have fully, and clearly, and unequivocally estab-
lished it. I mean, Gentlemen, that this evidence, when all consid-
ered, — all that they have put in, connected with all the facts in the
case,— will fairly warrant the conclusion, that, at the times when the
Government witnesses say they saw Dr, Parlman, it was after he had

e b el T




203

been in and finished his interview with Dr. Webster, and had gone
away.

his, Gentlemen, you perceive, is a matter of the greatest import-
ance, because, if it be true, it has the strongest possible tendency to
show, that although appearances may be now so much against Dr.
Webster, and although this testimony presses so that at times it
might seem impossible to escape,—1I say, if this be so, it bas the
strongest possible tendency to exculpate Dr. Webster, and fix the
crime somewhere else; not that Dr. Webster can explain it, but it
shows that there is a theory and a hypothesis which the Government's
testimony does not overcome or reach.

Remember that rule which governs circumstantial evidence, which
was so admirably explained to you by my associate, that the Govern- -
‘ment are to prove, first, the facts, as the basis of the conclusion;
secondly, that the facts shall tend to establish, and actually prove, the
Prnpusitiun which the Government assert; and, thirdly, that they
shall exclude, to a moral certainty, every other reasonable hypothesis.

Now, Gentlemen, if the Government testimony goes only to show
that their testimony will support their theory, but falls short of
excluding any other reasonable hypothesis, and excluding it to a
moral certainty, then, howsoever strong suspicion, or probabilities, or
bias of mind, may be, yet the fact asserted by the Government cannot
be said to be proved beyond reasonable doubt.

Let me r.-aﬁ your attention to this question of time; it becomes
of the utmost consequence. Recollect that the assertion of Dr. Web-
ster 1s, that the time was one and a half o'clock,—not more than
that. Was that the time?

. The Government witnesses, Mrs. Martha Moore, her son George,

Dwight Prouty, Jr., and the Messrs. Fuller, clearly establish that the
time Dr. Parkman was seen going down Fruit-street into North
Grove-street cotild not have been earlier than ten minutes before twe
o'clock. Dr. Webster says that is twenty minutes aflter he was at
the Medical Collece. Where was Dr. Parkman during that twenty
minutes ? Had not he got there, and gone away ?

I will endeavor to satisfy you that he went there, and finished his
business, and had gone. At half past one, Dr. Webster says he was
there. What did Littlefield tell you that he testified on this subject,
on a former occasion? He fixes it now, approaching two o’clock. He
does not fix it entirely ; he leaves it something loose. But he tells
you that on a former occasion he thought and testified that it was
earlier.

Chief Justice Shaw. The only possible way in which that orig-
inal testimony can be used is by impeaching the witness. It is
against his present testimony.

Judge Merrick. 1 will not allude to it, then. Mr. Littlefield fixes
it indefigitely. What he said upon a former occasion has no bear-
ing. Dr. Webster fixes it at half past one o'clock. What was the
hour of the appointment? Here we are not left to the statements of
De. Webster, but we have testimony from a witness on the part of the
Government, and from a person who knows something in relation to
it. I refer to the testimony of the servant of Dr. Parkman, Patrick
McGowan. He did not hear all the conversation, but he did hear
enough to know when was the hour of the appointment; and the hour of
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appointment was half past one o’clock. Then we have these two im-
portant facts, to aid the assertion that Dr.Webster first makes, that it
was half past one o'clock, '

Myr. Clifford. McGowan says that he heard something said about
half past one o'clock. That is all he says.

Judge Merrick. There was an appointment, and the hour of half
past one o'clock was mentioned. This appointment, I think fairly to
be inferred from the testimony of Patrick McGowan, was at half past
one o'clock. It is likely that, adcording to that appeintment, Dr.
Parkinan was there at that time, because, according to the testimony
of his friends, he was the most punctual of men. If he made an ap-
_ pointment, he kept it; and exactly, and especially, and strongly, in
this particular case. He was pursuing Dr. Webster earnestly and
closely.

If Dr. Webster appointed to meet Dr. Parkman at half past one
o'clock, upon this business, do you helieve that the most punctual of
men would have given to him/the opportunity of an apoiﬂi —“You
were not here at the time ”? And therefore I say, upon the proof of
Dr. Webster’s own assertion in the case — on the testimony that comes
from Patrick McGowan, and the probability arising from Dr. Park-
man’s habits of punctuality —it is extremely probable that the state-
ment of Dr. Webster is true.

But now I come to the testimony of Dr. Bosworth, and to compare
that with Littlefield’s, who says that he saw Dr, Parkman coming
towards the College on Friday noon, November 23d,and that the door
was wide open. The door deing wide open, and Dr. Parkman coming
toward the College, he went into the adjoining room, and sa¥w no more.
There was another man there when Dr. Parkman passed. Littlefield
was standing there looking out, and immediately after saw Dr. Park-
man go up to the door, as he passed by. Dr. Parkman went up on
the steps. Now, Littlefield did not see Bosworth. Littlefield has not
given any account of seeing any man at that time.

One thing more, which shows that there were two times when Dr.
Parkman came there. When Dr. Parkman was coming up from
Grove-street to the College, the door of that College, according to the
testimony of Littlefield, was wide open. When Bosworth came there,
and crossed the top of the steps in front, the door stood ajar— that
is, partly open.

Now, the testimony of Bosworth, in connection with the statement
of Dr. Webster, the time appointed as attested by MecGowan, and the
punctuality of Dr. Parkman to meetall appointments —I put it to you,
il it is not the most probable thing in the world, that Dr. Parkman was
at that place at half past one o'clock, and then went away. Fifteen
minutes after, he was in another place, according to the testimony of
Mrs. Hatch, who testifies that at fifteen minutes before two o'clock
she saw him going up Cambridge-street. [ put it to you, whether
this is not clearly evinced by all the testimony: that the appointment
- was made at half past one o’clock ; that the most punctual of men kept
it ; that the interview was, as Dr. Webster says, very short ; that he left -
the College; and then, for some purpose or other, came back again
but shortly after was seen by Mr. Thompson, in Causeway-street. I
do not see, Gentlemen of the Jury, how this conclusion is capable of
being avoided. The appointment was at half past one o'clock. Dr
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Parkman was the most punctual of men. Dr. Webster had no earthly
reason to state a false time. If he were guilty, and made a disclos-
ure, he would disclose the true time. Dr. Bosworth saw Dr. Park-
man when Littlefield does not speak of secing anybody, and when the
door was in a different situation from what it was when Dr. Parkman
was there the second time. I put it to you, when we are in a case
surrounded by nothing but probabilities — perhaps hurrying this pris-
~ oner to the last hour of life — whether a deduction cannot be drawn,
which will satisfy the mind of any rational man, that Dr. Parkman
had finished his business,and that this proof of the Government shows
that he came there again. '

Let me ask your consideration to one thing more. Dr. Parkman
stepped into Holland’s store, and talked about butter and sugar. Only
consider that he had not been to the College. He had made an a
pointment to be paid by Dr. Webster, after pursuing him in all di-’
rections — going to Pettee and to the toll-man — going to Cambridge
— waiching the highways and byways; and then he goes down to
meet his appointment: and do you think he would stop in to Mr.
Holland’s to spend a quarter oi‘! an hour about buying butter and
sugar ? :

ake another hypothesis. He has seen Dr. Webster, comes away,
and goes to Holland’s store. Holland says it was about half past one
o'clock. Mr. Moore says it was a little later. He steps into Cams-
bridge-street just in time to be seen by Mrs. Hateh. And then you will
find that afterwards he was upon the College steps, for some purpose
or other. i

Here are these facts. I cannot explain them ; there is mystery
everywhere, If it cannot be explained, give to the defendant the ad-
vantage of all probabilities and arguments in his favor. Do not let
your decision be more fatal than the events of that day.

If, then, Gentlemen of the Jury, there be a strong probability that
Dr. Parkman has been murdered, I cannot conceive anything stronger
than this position I have taken. The testimony of Bosworth strikes
my mind with vast force. Not seen by Littlefield! The door partly
open, and not as Littlefield testifies it was when he was there at ten
minutes before two o'clock !

Now, Gentlemen, let me go one step further. I have said to you,
in an earlier stage of the case, that it was not uncharitable, nor un-
just, nor unreasonable, to suppose that, in this state of excitement, he
might have been touched by those causes which oecasionally touch
and overcome human infirmity; and that if his friends believed that
he might have been overcome by aberration of mind, this may ac-
count for his irregularity of movement — for his failure to return home
— his conduct, in one instance, at least, peculiar.

Now let us trace that night down, and see whether the Government
testimoriy excludes all reasonable theory. If Dr. Parkman was out,
you see the foundation for a reasonable theory exists, If his dead re-
mains were found, Dr. Webster had nothing to do with them. That
night, at half past ten o'clock, he was at home, or at Mr. Treadwell’s ;
found at home at half past twelve or one o’clock, and at home in the
morning. A medical student has testified that he saw Dr. Webster
at six o'clock Friday evening. I leave it to you to say whether he is
not mistaken. Mr. Kidder saw him at five o’clock, buying cologne.
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The young ladies say that he was with them at tea, and ent the
evening w%lh them. TITTI‘.IM night, when I have shown uﬁsﬁat %
Parkman might have been brought into the College, Mr. Littlefield
was careful to fasten up that building, bolt the dissecting-room door
on the inside, and leave it bolted. Te next morning — Dr. Webster at
home during that night, and all night — that dissecting-room door, .
which was bolted on the inside, was found unbolted. Somebody had
been there. Who wasit? Idon’tknow. Somebody had been there.
Inexplicable, mysterious, but important, most important, for your con-
sideration! Somebody had been there. Monday and Tuesday, these
rooms of Dr. Webster were passed through, at least, if not searched.
Nothing then was found. Wednesday after, he returned home at eleven
o'clock. Dr. Webster was in Cambridge, and remained there till eve-
ning — till he went to pass the evening with his friend Cunningham ;
spent Thanksgiving at home, and came into Boston Friday morning.

In the mean time, had anything else transpired? During this pe-
riod of time, Dr. Webster’s rooms were accessible, because Littlefield
got in, though not through the deor. But he who unbolted the door
on Friday night could have got in the same way as Littlefield did.
Baut, during that time, a change of some significance had taken place.

Kingsley made an examination with Littlefield — slight, it may be,
but still some little examination. And, among other things that he
saw, was this tea-chest, at that time filled with tan, anﬁ3 partially
covered with papers containing minerals, or with minerals in papers.
Partially covered! Notentirely! Only covered in such a way that
he could see the tan just as weﬁ' as he could see the minerals!

My. Clifford. Are you speaking of the first search ?

Judae Merrick. 1am speaking of the search on Tuesday.

Mr. Clifford. The first was Monday.

Judge Mérrick. Between that Friday and Tuesday there was a
change in that particular. That chest then was only partially cov-
ered up with minerals. A change had taken place,and, in the mean
time, this building was accessible. It had been entered in a mysteri-
ous way on the very Friday on which Dr. Parkman disappeared. A
change took place, and, accompanying that change, there are these two
very remarkable circumstances. In this tea-chest, what else was
found 2 In it that knife, as clean as when taken from the merchant,
with no spot upon it, was placed, Wherefore so? Dr. Webster had
made no concealment of it. Wherefore conceal? The silver weapon
was exposed. Why hide this, a clean knife, by the side of that tan?
If Webster had done so, why? If another man had done so, he had a
motive ; that was, to bring in direct connection Dr. Webster and these
remains. And therefore his knife may have been placed there. _

Another circumstance! Why was that twine put upon the bone
of that thich? Can you concaive the reason? Assume that Dr.
Webster did it. Wherefore did he put the twine upon the bone?
He did not put any twine upon the remains which were cast into the
vault! He did not tie it round the thorax, for the purpose of pressing
it together. But it was tied to the bone. Wherefore — wherefore?
Dr. Webster could not have done it. If there was a mysterious bein
there, who changed things while he was gone, who did all the busi-
ness, — then, Gentlemen of the Jury, you can see a Teason why that
twine was there. It was to bring, if the matter were ever discovered,
that portion of the body into immediate connection with somebody.
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Now, Gentlemen of the Jury, these remains were not found, an
of them, on Monday or Tuesday. On Tuesday, remember, the testi-
mony of Mr. Kingsley was, that he saw a fire burning in this furnace
—a bright fire burning there. But there is no pretence, I think, that
then the head, or the arms, or the limbs, of any human being, were
in that furnace. There is no such pretence as that. If there was a
bright fire burning, it was seen; and if human flesh or bones were
Hhrnin%:rthey would have been noticed.

On Wednesday, it was said that there was a great fire burning in
the furnace. But Littlefield saw none. Yet he did see Websier
carrying the materials. For what purpose, we do not know. But
this we do know, — watched or not watched, Dr. Webster left early
on that day, and did not return till Friday morning. In the mean
time, the room was open to whomsoever might go there. And if
there was a person disposing of some of these remains by potting
them under the privy, finding the fire left by Prof. Webster in the
moming, might he not have conceived the idea of burning a portion
of the remains there, and so the whole be accomplished?

Now I have said that these were mysterious circumstances. Prob-
ably Dr. Parkman wandered round the ecity, and finally went, in the
evening, to the College. But there is a mystery beyond.

There is one mystery concerning what is found. The remains
found are those alone of the wmaked dead body of a human being.
Where are the remnants or the traces of the garments? In this
furnace, mark, so accurate and so exact was the examination of the
cheinists, that they were enabled to detect a quantity of tea-chest lead.
It is in the report which has been read to you. So exact and
minute was one examination as that. Where is anything, or the
remains of anything, but the naked dead body of a human being?
And yet, Gentlemen, it is certain that Dr. Parkman wore garments
from head to foot, and had a coat, and under-clothes, and boots,
And there undoubtedly was, as there is about all of us, something
of an incombustible character — the buckles of our suspenders, some-
times the buttons on our coats, and the nails in our shoes. Some-
where orother, why have not remnants, orspecimens of the remains of
these, been found ?

Now, I put it to you, if when in that College you find nothing but
the remnnants of a naked human being, —if you know that Dr. Parlk-
man had garments upgn his person, if you find that there is a proba-
bility that he may have been, in aberration of mind, wandering in dif-
ferent places —1I submit to you if it is an extravagant, visionary theory,
that he was stripped elsewhere, that his garments never were in that
College ; that he was taken in there a naked body, and treated as he
was treated till danger was thought to come, and then his body was
disposed of. You are the judges; but upon these facts, these proba-
bilities, these circumstances, you must pass. They cannot be dis-
Euised; they cannot be discarded. And if they make doubts for the

overnment’s case, if they leave you, with all their accumulation
of proofs, in a state that you cannot say, with positive assurance, I am
convinced, beyond reasonable doubt, that every other reasonable
theory is, to a moral certainty, excluded, — then our innocence may
not be manifest, but our salvation from conviction is, under the laws
of the land, made certain to us. :
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about the same extent, Mr. Littlefield is confirmed by the testimony
of Mrs. Littlefield. It is  not very material. She had been asked to
do something, and after a time was unable to do it, without explana-
tion from Dr. Webster.

But Mr. Littlefield says moch more. And it is not, after all, so
much thegeffect of the testimony of Littlefield, in finding this door or
that dnofrastened, which exerted an influence ; but the tenor of his testi-
mony, that Dr. Webster entirely changed the character of his con-
duct, entirely changed the mode in which he took care of his room,
and gave outward manifest appearance, by changed conduct, that
something was wrong. When this is the purport of a witness’ testi-
mony, it becomes of the highest moment to understand how full is
the credit to be given him —if he is to be fully credited. If he is
not, then human liberty and human life cannot rest upon any dedue-
tions to be drawn from such proof.

We do notattempt to impeach the testimony of Littlefield as to gen-
eral character. We do not rely upon discrepancies and contradictions.
Some mistakes he has made; some errors he has fallen into as to
- time ; some difference, upon a close analysis, I think, would be
found in his testimony, relative to results, and the testimony of others.
But upon these matters, Gentlemen of the Jury, I am not disposed to
dwell ; though I must say that we should be careful, extremely care-
ful, where life is in pel'ﬂ not to place too much dependence upon a
witness who, in giving part of his testimony, has fallen into error.
A wide berth must not be given to witnesses upon whose testimony
depends the fragile thread of human life.

et, it 15 not upon the ground that he mistool the time of the inter-
view that I should ask a Jury, even in such a case, to question his
testimony ; but the matenal part of it is upon the character and con-
duct of the party charged with the offence. And it is my duty to
call your attention to this intrinsic, internal evidence, and ask you
whether there be not something from which a disposition to give
credit and relability starts bacl.

Gentlemen, consider this testimony. Consider the accounts which
he gives of himsell in reference to Dr. Webster and these remains ; that
is the material amount of his testimony. It spreads over a vast surlace.
He occupied the time of some three or four of the longest of the Gov-
ernment’s witnesses. But, afterall, it narrows down in importance toa
few matters, and the credibility which is to be given to it depends
upon a few circumstances.

Gentlemen, in considering this testimony, let us take a point from
which we may make our observations. That pointis Sunday night,
when he had his conversation with Dr. Webster, who then m(Iu_u'cd.
of him when he saw Dr. Parkman last. He replied, on Friday ;
which, in passing, Gentlemen, you may recollect is quite different
from what he said to Trenholm, on Saturday — that he had not seen
Drz. Parkman for three urfuunla:,r:; Dr. Webster told Littlefield that at
the hour of one and a half o'clock, Dr. Parkman came, and he paid
him $483. And thcn by the narrative of Dr. Webster, and his
manuer, it came,” says Littlefield, *“into my mind, that Dr. Webster
was guilty !’ of this awful crime of murder. Up to that moment, be-
tween Liutlefield and Webster there had been as kindly a relation as
there is between you, Gentlemen, from your long acquaintance upon

14
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thi= panel : — the Professor occupying a chair in that College ; Little-
tield holding a place in part under Dr. Webster, and Dr. Webster a
man of fair character and reputation in the world. Yet, this brief con-
versation, as Littlefield said, forced upon his mind the clear, settled,
firm conviction, that Dr. Webster, the man whom he was talking
with, was a murderer. He had a sharper vision than the poice officer,
Fuller, who visited Dr. Webster, and had more conversation with him
that evening.

So clear and certain was Littlefield, that he went to his wife, his
bosom companion, unfolded to her his convictions; and she replied to
hirg, * For mercy’s salee, don’t say or think of such a thing as that!”

Now, Gentlemen,is not that somewhat remarkable, that thisstrong,
mighty, overwhelming conviction — that this should have come into
the mind of Littlefield, at that time, from that conversation — not from
what had transpired elsewhere, dut from that conversation? Now we
have this point of observation : — This witness says thatat this period
of time his suspicions were strong and overwhelming — thorough,
certain, complete, and undoubted. Now mark his conduet before and
after that time, and see whether it squares with the statement that he ™ -
makes, that his conviction was so stronz upon his mind that it
was only under the exhortations of his wife that he was silent for a
moment. ;

Before that Sunday, on Friday, again and again during the after-
noon, he visited all the doors, in order to enter and malke fires. He
went to the party; he came home late ; he went to all the doors at
that time of night —and what for 2 Surely, not to make fires at that
time, when the next day was not lecture-day! He testifies that he
went to the party,and came home in his party dress; that he went to
these rooms, and examined them all.

In a man who had no suspicions, this vigilance was remarkable.
You are called upon to note extraordinary circumstances in the
prisoner ; — note them in the witness who testifies against him.
Saturday he watched ; Sunday he tried the doors of Webster. Why?
Surely not to make the fires on Sunday, in the morning! Remember
no suspicions were then exeited. :

Chief Justice Shaw. OFf what Sunday are you speaking 2

Jiwlge Merrick. The first after the f?;ml'ppearance.

Chief Justice Shaw. It was Sunday evening that he had this inter-
view. :

Judge Merrick. 1 am speaking of his conduct before the interview
as incompatible with his want of suspicion. Wherefore all this action
before the suspicion? Now go to the day after. You see the
vigilance before his suspicions were excited: see how it was alter.
On Monday morning — the very next morning after this deep and awful
conviction came upon his mind — whenhe came to the overwhelmin

conclusion that the Professor, his friend, the teacher, had been guilty
of the most awlul crime that had bzen committed in the community,
— he goss into that room ; he passes through that laboratory alone, that
day, twice — three times, I believe, and once with the police! Yes,
three times! He was there four times; three times alone, and with
an opportanity to search justas much as he pleased! In the morning,
De, Samuzl Parkman first came there. Mr. Littlefield was not found
by Dr. Samuel Parkman, who found, on the contrary, Mrs. Littlefield,
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and she showed him up to Dr. Webster’s room, through the lowen
laboratory, and through the door of the laboratory stairs. Littlefield
afterwards came in, ascertained that Dr. Samuel Parkman had gone up,
went to the door by the laboratory stairs, and entered that laboratory.
That is the first time that he enters that laboratory after the suspicion
had come into his mind that Dr. Webster had committed this awful
erime! Would not his eye naturally have fallen on every chject that
could have attracted attention 2 Would his vision have been closed to
anything which would startle a man who was put upon his guard by
the most grievous and horrible suspicions?  And yet, he passed
throuch that laboratory to the upper room, heard a part of the con-
versation, and turned and went back! Opportunity ample! Dr.
Webster he knew to be engaged. His own suspicions most strongly
excited! Then he knew how these rooms had been watched and
guarded, if he had been as vigilant ashe says— and yet, he makes no
observations ! '

+ Afterwards, Mr. Blake comes there. He goes, to gain admission for
Mr. Blake, through this same laboratory ; and, finding the door open,
goes through it, and makes no observation whatever! Then, again,
Gentlemen, that same day, Kingsley, the agent, and Mr. Starkweather,
the policeman, go there to gain admission, in order to search in this
College. Mr. Littlefield tells you that, many hours before they came
there to make search, he had his mind impressed with an ineradi-
cable conviction that Dr. Webster was guilty of this murder. IF that
was his conviction, if the police came there, armed with the power
of the law, to investigate with regard to this matter, I ask you how
a man with such suspicions would have conducted? Would he not
have searched? WWould he not have watched? Would anything
that came within the range of human observation have been over-
looked? 'Would he not have turned the suspicion of the police to
everything ?  And yet, he says that he passed through that building
in the most formal and imperfect manner, without a search at all.

Follow this subject up. Before this time, he was watching, and
watching, and watciming, these rooms. When his suspicions were
grievously excited, when I%is convictions were most firm, he made
no search at all!

Tuesday came round. The police came again. The convictions
had not been eradicated from the mind of Littlefield at all. He goes
with the police. Mr. Clapp says, * We do not suspect you at all.
We are ordered to search this part of the city. The neighbors will
object to our searching their houses, until after we have searched
here.” Mr. Littlefield says, that he believed Dr. Webster was a mur-
derer; but he would not give a hint to that officer that it was worth
while to be a little more vigilant! And when he had got into the
laboratory, and that inquiry was made about the privy, and Webster
diverted attention fromn it, then Littlefield did not even say that it
was necessary to be more exact! Nay, he was the least observant of
all. Mr. Kingsley tells you that he made the discovery of the spots
of nitrate of copper; and yet they escaped the attention of Littlefield !

In the nature of things, can it be that this suspicion should have
existed, which would make everything deserving of observation, and
yet, that Mr. Littlefield did not draw the attention of anybody to the
spots, so plain upon every step, or even tiotice them himself? I say,
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the want of vigilance creates a suspicion and distrust in his integrity,
which appeals to a Jury for a careful estimate of his testimony.

Again, that same day, in the afternoon, that friendly intercourse
took place. When Dr. Webster rung the bell, and Littlefield went
to answer it, he gave him a turkey, and Liutlefield thanked him. I
must confess that I can hardly coneeive how he could have taken .
that order from Dr. Webster, furnishing his Thanksgiving dinner—
that food over which he was to be grateful to Providence for all the

st favors he had received —and was taking it, as he believed, [rom
the red right hand of a bloody murderer! He took it, thanked him,
and they passed down together, towards Cambridge-street, in friendly
conversation ; and when Dr. Webster asked him where he was going,
he said, “To the Lodge.” * Then,” said Dr. Webster, * you are a
Freemason, are you?” “Why, a part of one, they call me.” And
there the conversation ended, friendly and kind. He had just re-
ceived {rom Dr. Webster this present, and was harboring in his heart
this suspicion, that Dr. Webster was a murderer!

I do not speak without proof; for Mr. Littlefield tells you that that
same night, when he came from the Lodge, he stopped at Dr. Hana-
ford’s, and there spent an hour, during which he breathed out to him
his suspicions against his friend, Dr. Webster. Can it be so? Can
his conduct be explained consistently with the idea that his testimony
is to be taken as solid, substantial truth ?

-Go to the next day. The next day, in the morning, he watches.
All the discovery is, that fire is made in the furnace. He goes away.
In the afternoon, he returns. He discovers, in a strange way, the fire
in the furnace. In passing through that dissecting-room eniry, he
says that the heat was so great he felt it upon his face. Thatisa
great heat to arise from that furnace. You have been there, and
have seen it; and I think it deserves the careful consideration of Gen-
tlemen, whether he could have discovered it. He felt it hot, and
thought the building was on fire. Because the brick was hot, he
thought the building was on fire!! He attempted to enter into those
rooms. He went to this small furnace. The fire was substantially
down. How can this be? How the wall, on the outside, could
give out so much heat as to make a person think the building was
on fire, after the furnace fire had been substantially extinguished,
is beyond my belief. I submit whether it is not beyond yours.

Then go one step further. Mr. Littlefield saw there was a small
fire here. He has this building to himself. His suspicions are ve-
hement. He goes to the hogshead, to see if he can find the body of
Dr. Parkman ; but, was so observant of Dr. Webster's directions to him
of his little affairs in that laboratory, that, — though he believed him
to be a murderer, though this fire iz strange beyond all things, and
he was making it when Littlefield was watching him, — yet, even he
will not take off a crucible, and did not do 1t! He left, without
making any more of an examination about the body, except in the
hogshead. I believe he discovered the acid at that time. But he did
not go to the privy ; and he made no effort to get in there, though he
thought Dr. Webster had diverted the police from that place !

Thursday, he told his hired man. Then his conduct changes. He
is gradually unfolding his suspicions. An axe is sent for to Harlow’s
and then he takes a hatchet and chisel, to see if he can find the
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temains of Dr. Parkman. Why should he go there? It was the
privy that Dr. Webster had excluded him from. Why not contrive
some way or other to open the door, and get in there; perhaps all
this pains-taking of getting in would have been needless. Why not

above ? and, if the body was not found above, why not drep a
light down the vault ?— it would have shown everything. But no!
this process was too simple. He goes below, to dig through the wall.
But he works imperfectly ; he does not accomplish it. Having got
the axe from Harlow’s, he went to work with the hatchet, but it does
not work effectually. And yet, Gentlemen of the Jury, is it not a
matter of some surprise —is it not a matter that requires some more
explanation than a mere passing word — how it was that Mr. Little-
field had then made up his mind to undermine that College ?

I believe the last reward for the body was published coincident
with Mr. Littlefield’s exertions to break through that wall. Though
he disclaims all intention of claiming it, yet I can see no earthly
reason why he should not claim it; for the parties are able, and he
has been the object of shme obloquy. His exertions were coincident
with the last reward, which he now disclaims. He went to work
with this mighty conviction, and yet he left that work unfinished and
incomplete!  Was it the conviction that he was upon the very track
of the murderer, and that he should find, decaying there, the body of
Dr. Parkman, which could, the next day, be carried off to some other
place? And yet he delayed for want of tools! He went to the
party, and danced eighteen out of twenty times, with the conviction
that a dead man’s bones were almost under his apartments at home,
laid there by the hand of the wickedest criminal that has lived since
Cain!

On Friday, he does not rise very early, or go to his work very
early. And, what is very remarkable, at nine o'clock, while he is at
breakfast, Dr. Webster comes in, and speaks to him, in the same calm,
easy manner in which he has spoken to others about Dr. Parkman;
inquires after the news: and he then tells him what, but a short time
before, he had been told by some one in Dr. Henchman’s shop — the
story that he had heard of mesmerism, the cab, and the blood. I believe
Henchman has been upon the stand, and might have been asked
whether Dr. Webster made that statement without authority ; but he
was not asked. Littlefield says, that there are so many stories flying
abroad, that he does not know what to think. And this was the con-
versation that took place when half the College wall was undermined,
and when Littlefield was meditating the completion of it! In the
course of that day, what sirikes me as most remarkable is, that M.
Littlefield, in all the long testimony which he gave, never once, from
that moment Dr. Webster conversed with him in his kitchen, looked
for, or sought to ascertain, where Dr. Webster was. I have looked at
my minutes, and I cannot find that,after the time on Friday when this
easy conversation took place with the Doctor Mr. Littlefield even went
to the laboratory door, or to the lecture-room, or anywhere else, to see if
Dr, Webster was in the room. And, for aught I can see, he told his wife
to watch whether Dr. Webster was coming, before having taken the

caution to ascertain whether Dr. Webster was in his laboratory.
ow, this is Friday afternoon. Mr. Littlefield goes to work again.
He goes then to the Messrs. Fuller — and, Gentlemen, bear in mind
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the reason which Mr. Littlefield has given for this work, rather than
that of finding the body of Dr. Parkman. He says, he could not go
up town, without being told that the body was under the Medical
College. He says he went to work there, to satisfy his own mind
and that of the public; and vet, he had thought Dr. ;’Webster guiltg,
and had not failed to mention it on fitting occasions — first, to his
wife, then to Dr. Hanaford, to his neighbor, and to Trenholm, and,
on Friday, to Drs. Bigelow and Jackson — the latter of whom =said to
him, * Do it belore you sleep.” He borrowed, as I was saying, tools
of ihe Fullers. He was engaged in a work as serious as you are at
this moment: he was to find the body of a most respected citizen,
who had been murdered ; he was, by that finding, to charge another
respected citizen with the crime of murder, which would consign him
to an ignominious grave—and yet, mark his language! He joked
with the Fullers about it!

And, at length, Starkweather, and Kingsley, and, shortly afier-
wards, Trenholm, came, He had then accomplished his work, and
petforated that wall. All he had to do was, to apply the force
of the bar. A hole, the size of the bar, had actually been made,
Two policemen, and the agent of Dr. Parkman came. Stark-
weather put this question to him, as he has testified, though Litile-
field does not mention it —“ Has every place in this building been
searched 2” Mr. Littlefield replies —* Yes, it has, except the privy
of Dr. Webster.” Remember, that Littlefield has said that the
suspicions that the body was concealed there were universal in the
community. He told Starkweather that every place, except the
privy, had been séarched. "« Well,” said Starkweather, “ let us search
it now.” “No,” said he to Starkweather, in substance, * wait till
Dr. Webster has gone home; he has got the key.” I do not mean te
say of the privy, but the keys of his establishment. *Then,” said
Starkweather, “I will come to-morrow morning.” Why not then?
Why nof have had one disinterested witness, who might, at this mo-
ment, have testified about it? Why did he put off Kiugsley and Stark-
weather, when the hole was actually perforated? Throughout the
whole, those men had been there with him — those men who could
have been vouchers for his integrity.

Mr. Littlefield talked with them about the erime of Dr. Webster.
He made no secret, and had no delicacy upon the subject. And yet,
when they desired to see beneath that privy, and when the hole was
perforated, he sends those men away. And then came his friend,
Trenholm, and he told him. But he said, “ Away! begone, for
twenty or thirty minutes,and come bacl.,” This is positively fearful.

Vhy not now? :

He penetrated that wall, Gentlemen of the Jury, exactly up by the
wall on the north side, 1 believe, of that building ; and there, almost
in the very front of the hole he made, some few feet distant from the
perpendicular line of the privy, were found these remains, with the
water dripping on them from the sink.

Gentlemen, I bring to you the facts in the case. If they are
startling facts — if they demand explanations from Mr. Littlefield,
which cannot be given—1I bring them to you only that you may
say what ought, in justice and in truth, to be deducted from his testi:
mony. And if the chain be impaired by the want of credibility of
this witness — if you, in short, do not believe, because of these inter
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nal difficulties, these intrinsic corruptions, in the testimony — then,
Gentlemen, this mass of net-work, these great theories and hypoth-
eses of the Government, crumble away, as the clond and the mist
are dispersed in the beams of the rising and refreshing sun.

Gentlemen. allow me to contrast, for & moment, with these consider-
ations, affecting how far you must judge the credibility of Mr. Little-
field concerning the conduct of Dr. Webster, some other facts.
Would Dr. Webster, Gentlemen of the Jury, do you think, have done
all that has been found to be done in that building, if he had been the
perpetrator of this crime? Do you think he would have maltiplied
proof, and made proclamations to invite suspicions upon him 2 That
is unnatural. He would not have done what he never did before.
Gentlemen, is it likely he would have scattered these remains, in order
that they might have been most readily found ? — that he would have
made a fire, so as necessarily to attract attention? Why, you find
improbabilities starting upon the testimony of Mr. Littlefield. You
find corresponding improbabilities in the conduet of Dr. Webster,

And, let me approach, Gentlemen, those considerations which have
the strongest presumptive tendency to manifest the innocence of Dr.
Webster. First, Gentlemen, where are the traces of crime ? Where
are the marks of blood in this laboratory 2 The physicians have told

ou the guantity of blood in the human body. Has blood Been
%::mud? A halfl a dozen spots on the left side of the pantaloons, and
two or three upon the slippers, which have been. in that room for
years! The medical gentlemen say they cannot tell how long those
gpots have been there. That is all you can find. These clothes have
been where blood is sometimes used, as Prof. Horsford testifies; and
half a dozen spots are found, and that is all. Do you think they
came from Dr. George Parkman? And, except these traces, which
might have been there before, there is not to be found the slightest
mark of viclence there,

Now, Geantlemen, there is no mark of violence — either of blood,
of stain, or of instrument. Nothing! The knife which is found is
untarnished ; the Turkish knife contains no blood. The floor is
not marked with blood. There is no indication of viclence! and
yet, it is said, that, at noon-day, two muscular men met — muscular
and strong, though in advanced life ; — Dr. Parkman, a vigorous
man, and somewhat powerful ; Dr. Webster, such as he was ; — that
this mortal struggle occurred ; that a mortal blow was given, and no
blood was found, though the pavement was taken up, though the
walls were searched, though the garments were ransacked, — and no
blood found, save what has been mentioned, which might have been
there years before!

The overalls were carried away, Littlefield says; and yet, Horsford
testifies he found them there, after he came. The policemen used
them for pillows ; — [ do not believe they rested their heads on blood.
Professor Horsford has examined them, and he finds no blood. Is it
possible that this erime can have been committed by Dr. Webster 2

Again, il it is done, is it possible that he has done it without prep-
aration? He is a chemist ; he understands this power of his over
the human muscle and the human hone. If he had meditated this
murder, he would have dissolved to liquid every inch of Dr. ]“ar!{malm’ﬂ
body and bones, in proper vessels, cut up as it was, in much less time
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than he had. And if he had contemplated this murder, would not
the most effectual means have occurred to him? Would a man like
Dr. Webster have bzen hacking and mautilating the remains of a
mangled victim he had murdered, when he had by his side the means
of destroying the identity in a few brief hours; or when he might
have taken the key from the side of the dissecting-room vault, cut up
his body to pieces, opened the trap-door, and put it downsavhere it woul
be unsuspected ? :

There cannot be an .improbability, in my judgment, greater than
this supposition, that he could have committed the murder without
destroying all traces of the body. It overcomes theories, and hypoth-
eses, and conclusions, and deductions, from these surrounding, and,
as the Government think, overwhelming masses of cireumstantial
evidence, — which are met by the fact. that there are no marks of vio-
lence, no proofs of erime, and a total absence of all means of destruc-
tion which he could have used. While, on the other hand, the im-
Eerfect, incomplete, insufficient effort to destroy a part of this body,

y putting potash upon it and holding it over the fire, showing the
worlc of an unskilful man, proves that it must have been an unknown,
inexplicable being who did the worl, which the Government are now
seeking to impose upon my unhappy client.

Nay, more, Genilemen! Nay, more! These improbabilities, that
Dr. Webster could have done this thing, grow stronger and stronger,
the more evidence is presented for your examination, At every turn
you take, at every movement of advancement, these improbabilities
are multiplied.

Follow Dr. Webster from that place. See him with his family
that evening. The first part of it is spent as usual, with his wife and
children. Then see him accompanying those children to a neighbor’s
family hearth; then going by himself {o Professor Treadwell’s, and
spending two or three hours in social conversation — not absent-mind-
ed, not full of fits and starts, not frightened at the sound he has made,
but self-possessed, calm, social, as usual. Were ever human nerves
made thal could do this? 1 pray you, Mr. Foreman, [ pray yon an-
swer me. When life is jostled, even when some little event occurs
in our daily wallk, —a disappointment in our aflairs, the treachery,
it may be, of a.friend, the outbreak of some calamity falling upon us,
— our [amilies, when we return to the fireside, note that something has
happened. Will not the tender and observing wife say to her partner,

What now ?
% What cloud upon your brow ?
What fever in the brain ? what anguish at the heart # 7

Do the children, loving and deveted children, watch and note the
first variation in the parent’s smile — in the parent’s cheerfulness ; and
can, can it be, that Dr Webster should have committed this daring,
attrocious, unspeakably great crime, and have then been with his wife,
and children, and friends, unmoved, unaffected by the issue which
has been charged against him? To be =o, he was more or less than
man. Bat, like you and me, he was a man.

I pray you, Gentlemen, weigh this, weigh that, when you are consider-
ing these circumstances. The next day, in the morning, he was about to
visit the family of Dr. Parlanan, because, the night before, he had seen in

the publie papers — which I might produce here, but the fact is too well
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known, it is unnecessary — he had read in them, that George Park-
man was missed, having had an appointment with an unknown indi-
vidual ; so that Dr. Webster knew that the friends, the family, and |
the community, did not know where Dr. Parkman was. He had but
to keep silence, if he had committed this crime, and he had every
feason to believe that universal darkness would rest upon it ; and yet,
Gentlemen, with that full knowledge, but with a conviction that the
erime had nothing to do with him, he comes to Boston for the express
purpose of making known that he was the man. He saw Mr. Blake
first, and told him; he saw Dr. Francis Parkman and his family,
shortly afterwards, and told them: yet, Gentlemen, all these commu-
nications are now to some extent turned against him.

Mr. Blake has represented that Dr. Webster exhibited something
of agitation ; Dr. Francis Parkman has, on the contrary, represented
something of over coldness. With one, whom he held by the hand,
he seemed too warm ; with the other, oppressed with affliction himself,
not at the moment in the best state of mind for observation, too eold
and formal: and both the warmth with one friend. and the formality
with the other, are now circumstances brought against him, under
which Dr. Webster is in danger of suffering, unless that danger be
avoided by the calm and sober reflections of the Jury. That is tosay,
they are to judge upon a new case in the affairs of men. How to
treat relatives, in such a case, [ think no man can tell.

Dr. Webster came to tell his story, and he told it as well as he
could; and I submit, that no prejudice is to come to him now, be-
cause Mr. Blake thought him too warm, or Dr. Francis Parkman
deemed him too cold. Go with him further, and you find that he
called on the City Clerl, at East Cambridge, and found that the mort-
gage was not cancelled ; went to his study ; was found there by the
police; went home; and was lecturing to his class on Tuesday,
while these bleeding monuments of erime were just, as it were, by
the side of him. Can it d¢ so? From day to day, Gentlemen,
his avocations show him receiving his friends, visiting his friends,
occupying himself at home, calling at Fuller's and writing the checlk,
and speaking of Dr. Parkman ; being at the apothecary’s, where he
is told this story of the cab; at the tinman’s, where the box is or-
dered, and where he speaks of the story of which he has been told
everywhere, entirely easy and unaffected ; and all this time, as they
say, this forlorn man, if he be the villain they say he 1s, 15 as calm
and quiet as his brethren of the profession, and as clear in his mind,
and regular in his actions, as the sun in the morning. Gentlemen, it
is not possible !

On Friday, the 30th of November, he was with his family. In the
evening, came the officers and ministers of the law. They came, in-
deed, without authority — perhaps without authority which could
wholly vindicate them, but in the belief that they had the right to
make the arrest, — acting, doubtless, in perfect good faith. The minis-
ters of the law —Clapp, Starkweather, and Spurr — went to Dr.
Wehster's house, to make the arrest, on the discovery of the remains
in the vault. Dr. Webster is found tranquil. Mr. Clapp, who knows
him, addresses him, and tells him that further searches are to be made
at the Medical College for Dr. Parkman, and he is required to aid.
“ Very well,” said he, [ will go;” as candid as you or I could be,
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“ Let me step in, and put on an outer pgarment.” As they were entering
the carriage, he said. < Stop a moment; I have left my keys; I will
get them.” ¢ No matter,” says Clapp, “ we can get in very well.”

They enter the carringe. A free and easy conversation takes
place. They speak of Dr. Parkman ; Dr. Webster speaks freely on
that subject. The conversation changes. They converse on other
topics, — the railroads, —and so pass Mrs. Bent’s. Her place is spoken
of. They keep up a calm and quiet conversation all the way to Bos-
ton ; and this, on a representation that these officers had made, that
they were going to search the Medical College.

Now, suppose that Dr. Webster knew that he had committed this
crime, If he had committed it, he knew it. His rooms had been
twice searched. He finds three officers, come late in the evening, to
search again, at that time of night. If he had been guilty, do you
think, Gentlemen, that his nerves would have upborne him then? I
know not the man that has the power of resistance, under such cir-
cumstances, - Innocence could have carried him through; guilt
would have prostrated him, because guilt would have assured him
that he should be carried to the exposure of his guilt. And yet, he
moved as calmly and as tranquilly as when he gathered his family
around his daily table.

Allusion was made, in the conversation which we have mentioned,
to the discovery of part of the garments of Dr. Parkman. They
passed the second street leading [rom Levereti-street.  Dr.Webster
says, * You are going wrong ; yon have passed the street to the Col-
lege.” Mer. Clapp says, ¢ The driver is a green fellow, but I guess
he will bring us up right at last.” Dr. Webster is still calm. They
reach the jail. Mr. Clappalights,and asks the gentlemen to descend for
a moment. They enter the jailer’s apartment. Mr, Clapp enters the
inner apartment. They all enter; and then Dr. Webster looks round,
in the dim darkness of the jailer’s inner room, and asks, *“ What does
this mean?” Mry. Clapp replies, “It is no longer of any use to im-
pose on us; the body of Dr. Parkman has been found. We have been
sounding round the Medical College. We shall search no more ; and
you are arrested as his murderer.” Dr. Webster started back, with
the simple exclamation, * What! me?” “ Yes— you!” His voice
sank, as his heart did. “He attempted,” said Mr. Clapp, * to artic-
ulate. He began to speak to me something about the crime; and I
told him not to speak to me of that. He waited a little while, and
asked that his friends, most respectable, Mr. Dexter and Mr. Prescott,
should be sent for; and [ said, They cannot see you to-night.”

Here is the man deceived. He knew he was deceived. They told
him one thing, and meant another. No matter that it was for good
and honest purposes — they did deceive him. And when he spolze,
Mr. Clapp stopped him, am{s&id, “ Don’t speak to me of your crime.”
Then said Dr. Webster, * Let my friends speak for me.” *No,”
replied Clapp, * you cannot see them to-night.” And he became asa
child at its mother's breast — helpless ! hopeless ! — and he exclaimed,
“My children! my children! what will they think of me?” Nat,
% How shall I escape ' — but, © My children! my children!”

He was lelt in this condition. A mit¢imeus was put into the hands
of the officer; and he was alone, in faintness of body, in feebleness,
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bowed and overcome as he was by the deception which had been used
upon him — his faculties disordered — his mind broken and shattered
by the shock which I know not how any man could bear. He spoke to
Starkweather ; who responded, *“ Don’t ask me; it is improper for me
to tell you ; ” —and he sank back in his chair, scarcely able to sustain
himself, while a few short ejaculations fell from his lips, which instan-
taneously were put down on paper. And the very words he uttered in
that state — awful, overwhelming, cruel state of mind ! — are brought
here by that officer, and detailed to you, to work out his conviction,
closing with this most significant language, * No person has access, but
the porter who makes the fires,” in answer to the question put to him,
Then he exclaimed, # O, I am a ruined man!” — language put into
his heart and understanding, and almest into bhis lips! This police
officer calls his attention to the man who had access to his room ; and
Dr.Webster, under this affliction, overwhelming and ruinous, was point-
ed to the janitor by the police officer, who did not tell him that he was
wrong when he asked him, © Who has access to your rooms?”  And
the exclamation follows, “ I am a ruined man!” As if he had said,
“ Here I am, under arrest; they will not suffer me to speak; the
will not suffer me to see my friends. There is a charge upon me; {
know not on what it rests; I have been deceived. 0O, my children !
my children! — what will become of them?”

It occurs to his mind, on the question put to him by the police offi-
cer, ** Who has access to your room ?” —“[ am a ruined man!” Is
that confession, alter such a conversation as that, and under such cir-
cumstances 2 Will you say that the Government have the right to
consider such a confession possible 2

Go with him one step further. Mr. Parker comes to see him. The
prisoner, careless of his position, weeps for his children. Mr. Parker
says to him, “*Another family have been in distress for a week past;”
and silence nn!y follows — silence mﬂ}r,with s0Mme slighi exclamations
from the prisoner. Yet he willingly accompanies the officer, to visit
the scene of the alleged murder. His rooms are broken open ; and I
call your attention to one oreat fact, He was he]pless nuar]y all the
time, from the moment that thisgreatcharge wasmade. But (romall the
witnesses you have it in testimony, that, if he became calm for a mo-
ment, it W':ls not fu lhe itlum‘ hul: upper hibnmmry‘ Rmnﬂnha:l‘, Gen-
tlemen, the occasion when he became calm. Remember that at that
time the remains had not been exposed to Professor Webster. He
had not been told where they were, or where they were to come
from. But then he was most composed ; — and when was that 2 It
was at the time, Gentlemen, that they were asking him for the key
of the privy. .

Professor Webster did not know that any hole was dug. If
conscious of guilt, when they asked for the key of the place where he
had secreted these remains, would he have been calm almost at that
moment alone? A wrong key was tried, and brought back to him.
He then said, « That is the key of my dressing-room.” There, Gen-
tlemen, was a moment of calmness, That was at the very place and
time when, according to the theory of the Government, they were to
go to the identical spot where Dr. Webster had deposited these res
mains. Yet he was calm, comparatively. He went below, and the
fit was on him. And, Gentlemen, from that state and condition 1n
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which he was, he did not recover again. He said no more. He was
overcome, He was the victim of eirenmstances. He was unmanned.
[t would be as unjust to take the falling word from his lips, at that
time, as it would be to go to the houses of the insane, and ask for the
ravings of the maniac, and carry them to the Court-house — that the
victim might be sent off to an ignominious execution. He was carried
to the carriage, and fainted. Mr. Andrews said a kind word., 1 felt
that it was so, when the witness was upon the stand ; and I thanked
the sheriff’ for having a keeper with so much feeling. He spoke a
kind word to this suffering prisoner. But he was scarcely conscious
of it. A few broken sentences escaped him. * You pity me ; what
for 2" « Because of your excitement,” was the reply. * Oh, that is
all” And he subsided again, and said not another word. His night
was cheerless — his cell solitary. It was but an indifferent place to
a man whose mind was so harassed, and his feelings quenched.

The next morning he was found in this same overwhelming pros-
tration. A few hours partially changed him. He awoke to new life,
and, with the little strength that he had, in the first moment of dawn-
ing reason, from this night of darkness, and agony, and shame, and
mortification, and distress,— with the first dawning light of reason, he
uttered, in simple but expressive language, the whole of his defence :
— [ do not believe,” said he, to a man whom he was for the first
time in sixty years to call his jailer, — I do net think that these are
the remamns of Dr. Parlkman ; but [ am sure [ don’t know how in the
world they came there.” Gentlemen, that is his defence. He can-
not tell you how they came there; he asks you, Gentlemen, to give
care and scrutiny to those surrounding and pressing circumstances.
He asks for leave, under the @gis of the law of his country, to pre-
sent himself, with that reputation which sixty years of life has given
him. He brings the community around him, from the president of
the university to the mechanic at his bench. All classes cluster
around him, and tell you what he has done,

And, Gentlemen, # #s the rule of law, that in cases of doubt, where
evidence is complicated, where it is uncertain what conclusions shall
be drawn froin these mystifying masses of circumstantial proof,—it is
then that the toil and the virtue of life come as a protecting shield, to
say that he who in life has embalmed virtue shall at the last be saved
by it! His character is here. He brings it, and lays it before you;
and with it he brings all that he has done within, and around, and
near, these awful remains of death, and of mutilation of the human
form. He implores you to weigh them well: and he asks only that
your consciences, when your last day’s work in this Court shall be
done, shall be pure and free; that you shall have given weight to
all his objections to the evidence of the Government; that you shall
look to this alibi, which appears overwhelming in its accuracy and
positiveness ; that you shall save him, in the hour of his affliction,
to be returned to the world again, and yet arrive to that humble
home of which no voice can adequately tell the sorrows that now sit
there, or the joy that may yet be imparted to it!

God grant him, in this day of peril, a good deliverance! And may
He grant it to you also, that you shall never reflect upon your final
determination here, but with inward peace and inward satisfaction,
that shall sustain your life, and crown you at the last in death !
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ELEVENTH DAY.— Saturday, March 30th.

CLOSING ARGUMENT OF HON. JOHN H. CLIFFORD, ATTORNEY
GENERAL.

May it please your Honors, Mr. Foreman, and Gentlemenof the Jury :

In a cause, Gentlemen, of the magnitude and the interest of
the one now before us, I expeited, and doubtless you expected,
that everything which human power could bring to bear upon it, in
order to exonerate this defendant from the charge which the Grand
Jury of this county have preferred against him, would be done — that
all that professional fidelity, all that professional skill and adroitness,
all that human eloquence and ingennity, could pessibly advance in
his favor, would be done.

And, Gentlemen, in that expectation I have not been disappointed.
The transcendant ability which characterized the closing argument
in his behalf yesterday, shows that whatever conclusion the evidence
in this case may compel you to come to. there has been nothing left
unsaid or undone, which, consistently with the truth, could have been
said, or could have been done, for this prisoner.

But, Gentlemen, I had, if not another expectation, at least another
hope. I expressed it to you, when I opened this case, a fort-
night, nearly, ago: that when the evidence which the Government
had to array here before you against this unhappy man should have
been all presented, I did hope that he could furnish some explanation
of the terrible circumstances which had weaved round him a web that
seemed to be then irresistibly contracting to his doom. [ expressed
that hope, Gentlemen, [ may say, with the sincerity of a compassionate
heart. [ expressed it, as a citizen of this Commonwealth of ours,
who feels an. interest in the great interests which are represented
by him. And, I grieve to say to you, that after all that has been
done, and all that has been said, that hope has been utterly disap-
pointed.

Why, Gentlemen, I eall your minds back to the statement with
which this case was opened; a statement of what the Government
expected to prove, — made, I submit to you, as I submit to the world,
with a degree of moderation that indicated how sincere that hope
was, in my bosom. [ ecall your minds back to that siatement of
the outline of the proof which I expected to put in here: and I now
ask you, upon your consciences, to say whether that outline has
not been entirely filled up; whether a single statement was made
which has not been proved ; whether the inferences which I then for-
bore to draw from those facts are not now pressing upon yoeur minds,
with a force that cannot be resisted.

I ask you, then, to consider how all that evidence has been met.
"We have waited long days, and weeks, and months, for an ex-

lanation of these facts, }[‘his prisoner, although he has been the
mmate of a cell, has not, you know, Gentlemen, been, in the
langl';mge of his Counsel, a forlorn and forsaken man, unaided, and
unable to prepare himself to meet the testimony of the Government.
No! far from it. He has not, as my friend, the opening Coun-
sel, asserted here, been compelled to sit by, the victim of preju-
dice in the public mind, arising out of public rumor, and waiting
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patiently till the day of his deliverance should come, in a Court of Jus-
tice, by making his explanations and showing his proof.

“ A victim of prejudice,” Gentlemen? I put it to you, whether
that statement has any foundation here. 1 ask you, whether the
very opposite state of things has not existed in a degree unprece-
dented in our history; whether there was ever a man against whom
the prima facie proofs that had met the public eye had sunk down
S0 deepll;,' into the public heart, who has had such forbearance shown
him. There has been, from beginning to end, a degree of reluct-
ance that is unprecedented, to admit the possibility of his guilt.

Gentlemen, it is a strange and eventful history which we can now
look back upon, from the time that these mutilated remains of
George Parkman were found in the premises of the defendant, —
ay, and under his lock and key. It was the subject of an examin-
ation before a Coroner’s Jury, which was secret. But, Gentlemen,
his Counsel here will do me, as the representative of the Government,
the justice to say, or to assent to what I say, that before this evidence
which was taken down before the Coroner’s Jury had been read by
me — before [ ever passed my eyes over its pages — it was placed in
their hands, for the purpose of enabling them to meet everything
that was contained in it, and prepare their client for his defence.

It does not, let me say to you, lay in the mouth of this prizsoner,
or his Counsel, to come here and complain of any course which
has been taken, respecting him or his case. Never, I venture to say,
was a man put upon his trial for a crime that affected his life, who
had received such eonsideration from the Government representative
as he has received from me.

I am not aware that there has existed a single fact that has not
been fully communicated and freely exhibited to the Counsel for the
prisoner, to enable them to investigate, explain, and answer it, that,
when they came before a Jury of their country, they might be
enabled to say, ¥ We have known everything that the Government
have to prove; we have prepared our answer; we can explain, and
here is the explanation.”

Gentlemen, so it has stood: and when allusion was made to the
fact of his being in that cell friendless and unaided; that there had
been a secret inquest, when he was not present; that there had
been afterward a secret investigation by the Grand Jury, where he
was not represented, — did it occur to you to reflect, as ﬂllﬂ.t statement
was made by the Counsel, that between those two investigations there
was another occasion, when he was present, when he was T-E']]I’EEEntJEd
by the ablest Counsel that the ablest bar in New England could fur-
nish him ? — that he then, either with or without their advice, chose,
not only to keep his own mouth shut and sealed, but to say to the
Government, to say to the world, “I am content, not only not to offer
proofl in exculpation of myself, but I am content not to ask even for
what proof there is against me”? (Gentlemen, between these two in-
vestizations, which have been the subject of almost a complainin
and reproachlul remark, this prisoner was brought into this building,
before another tribuual, for a preliminary examination.

And, Gentlemen, while there, upon the supposition that he was
entirely an innocent man, intelligent as he doubtless is, what, Gentle-
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men, would have been his course? Why, to demand of the Govern-
ment to show their proofs!

I put it to the consciences of every one of you, if you were seized
by an officer of justice, and were brought up upon the most heinous
and revolting charge that could be made against a man, would you
not turn round after you had had twenty-four, yea, forty-eight hours
of reflection, and time to recover from the first shock with which it
struck 3011——puwerful even as the Counsel has represented, though
that first shoclt may have been — I put it to yon, whether von wnul.i
not have demanded that the Government should show the proofs upon
which they attempted to charge you, an innocent man, with a criime
like this. Would you have said —1 care not whether with the
advice of Counsel or without it—*“I am content to go into close
confinement, to wait until the Government shall find its convenience
and its pleasure to try me, and to suffer this good name which I
bave been building up for sixty years” —as the Counsel have told
yvou — “to be blasted, and the whaole ecivilized world to have that
name upon its lips, in terms of reproach and execration; to leave my
family to suffer the torture, and sus :pense, and agony, which must
attend a charge upon a parent and a husband, like this, remaining
unexplained, and without an attempt at explanation ™ ?

It has come to be a point of consideration, in this case, that such
a fact as that existed. And, more than that, Gentlemen! The time
has now come when that explanation was to be made — when passion
was to subside — when he was to enter a Court of Justice, and feel
that, before a Jury of his country, he could be secure.

And now, what is that explanation? I eall your attention to the
fact, that the evidence which he has put in here applies to but four
propositions.  And I call your attention to the further fact, that, upon
that evidence, such as it is, have been founded four hy pﬂthwm put
before you by his Counsel; and it is my purpose, to put these two
things together.

In the first place, in answer to all the evidénce which the Govern-
ment has produced here, he has called the witnesses to his character.
That is a point that never was in controversy, namely, that he had
an outside reputation; how well founded in {155 real character, the
other evidence in this case must determine, to a considerable extent,

The second point has been an attempt to show (Iam now speaking
of the evidence he has offered here) that for him to be lockad up in
his laboratory is not an unusual thing, — an attempt, from one witness,
which has entirely failed, and which has been met by other testi-
mony, independent entirely of that which has received the harsh
comments of the Counsel.

His evidence then goes to establish a third proposition.

Chief Justice Shawe. What was the first?

My. Clifford. The first was the witneszes to the character ; second,
the attempt to show that his being locked in his laboratory was not
an unusual thing. One witness only to that— Mr. E{lmn, the
painter. The third attempt was fo show his own conduct, and his
whereabouts, during the week which intervened between the disap-

arance of Dr. Parkman and the finding of his remains. That is
the third proposition, as offered to be supported by the proof to which
the evidence applies. And this case is to be tI‘ieiv upon the evidence,
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The fourth proposition is, an attempt to answer this whole case ?‘f
the Government, by showing that after Dr. Webster, and Dr. Park-

man were together, on the 23d of November, Dr. Parkman left him,

and was seen abroad in the community after two oclock of that day.
This is absolutely all.

Then, upon that evidence there has been an attempt to raise cer-
tain hypotheses, which I shall have to consider in another connection ;
but to which, when I do come to consider them, I shall ask you to
apply the evidence in the manner that I have indicated.

Now, in a state of facts like these, as presented to a Jury of the
country, I think there is one proposition which cannot escape our
notice. The constitution and goyernment of this Commonwealth has,
as its highest olject —as it is the highest object of all organized ciy-
ilized society— the protection of human I'IgE; and, under that con-
stitution and government, we have a system of law, which is in-
tended to carry out that purpose.

If a case has ever arisen which is to test and try the value of that
constitution, and of that system of laws, it is the case now before us.
And if ever the great and high responsibility of applying that test
was confided to human minds, it is now confided to you.

Why, how does this case stand upon the proof? Is not all the
charge attempted to be answered by the fact that Dr. Webster,
this prisoner at the bar, moves in a different sphere of life — that he
has been subject to a different influence — that he has had a different
experience, from those who are ordinarily seen in the prisoner's
dock 2

We are now to know whether the law under which we live is, or
is not, like that Divine justice whose character it is onr law’s humble
funetion to imitate and follow — whether it is a respecter of persons
— whether it is competent to hold the weak and the impotent in its
grasp, but is itself impotent when the high, the influential, and the
E;nwcr[ul, are charged with its violation. It is an old complaint, Gen-
tiemen —

“ Plate sin with gold, and the strong lance of justice
Hurtless breaks ; clothe it in rags,
A pigmy straw can pierce it.”

But I thank God that we have here a state of society, a sys-
tem of law, a sense of justice, to which no such reproach as that
can be applied. Why, is there any doubt that George Parkman —
the original proposition with which I started before you, when we
commenced this case —that George Parkman, a highly respected,
almost universally known citizen of this metropolis of New England,
a man of large affairs, a man of extensive connections and interest,
has been murdered? Ay, and, by a most remarkable coincidence,
is there any doubt in your minds, now, after hearing all that
has been said by the prisoner's Counsel — whether he were the
Jperpetrator of it or not—that Dr. Parkman was murdered in the
Euilt]ing of an institution which owed its erection to his munificence ?
— that, in the ordinary avocations and business and intercourse of
life, he went out from his home to meet his sudden and fatal doom ?

And, Gentlemen of the Jury. if that fact be established — no matter
who was the perpetrator —if the laws of Massachusetts are impotent
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to ferret out, and detect, and convict, and punish the perpetrator, —

then the sense of security and of safety, which belongs to us as the
members of a civilized society, is gone forever. We had better go
back, as we shall certainly be driven back, to that state of anarchy
and of barbarism, in which every man’s wrong is avenged by his
own right arm.

And now I come to consider the improbability that a false accusa-
tion should be made against a wan like this prisoner. Thousands of
eyes, Gentlemen, since that fatal event, which struck into and startled
the heart, not of this community alone, but of the whole civilized
world, have been opened, every circumstance has been weighed,
every man has been watched — and the vigilance of our police, the
keen eye of justice, stop here. If that be a false accusation, that of
itself is another marvel and miracle, greater than any that has been
presented as a mystery by the prisoner’s Counsel. The complaint has
been here that there has been no direct evidence — strong as the
Counsel has admitted this mass of circumstantial proof to be — no
direct evidence that the fact charged upon this prisoner is true; that
the act committed by him, as charged in this indictment, was wit-
nessed by any human eye, and that that witness has come here upon
the stand to say so. Gentlemen of the Jury, how many murderers
think you have been punished, or ever will be punished, if a Jury are
to wait until direct evidence of an eye-witness is to be furnished to
them, in order to remove all reasonable doubt from their minds?
‘What degree of security will there be in society ? How can we go
to rest upon our pillows, feeling that the law gives us any protec-
tion, if a position like that is to be maintained. When crimes like
these are to be committed, you will consider that men take no wit-
nesses with them; they avoid the sight of all eyes, but that all-see-
ing Kye, which sees in the darkness as in the light, but which they
then forget.

Let us consider here, for a moment, what the nature of this
evidence is. Having considered its nature and character, and
having furnished such authority, on that subject, as seems to meet
and control all the suggestions which have fallen from the learned
Counsel in relation to it, I shall then state, in a brief, and, 1
hope, intelligible manner, the law as applicable to the ' offence
itself, and to the indictment which charges it. I shall then endeavor
to proceed to satisfy your minds that no other person than this pris-
oner could have committed the act. Having, in the first instance,
considered the evidence that the act has been committed, I shall
ask your attention to the evidence which goes to fasten and fix the
charge upon him.

Now, Gentlemen, what is the nature of the evidence upon which
you are to arrive at your conclusion ? It is circumstantial.  So, |
think, it must be said, 1s almost all evidence. We are not here, Gen-
tlemen of the Jury, dealing with or expecting to find absolute verities —
pure, absolute truth. That, Gentlemen, belongs not to fallible man,

~ but to the omniscient and infallible God. And we are here to exer-
cise such instrumentality as, under our system of law, and in our
state of intelligence, we may be able to use for eliciting the truih.
And when we have arrived at a conclusion, through those instrument-

alities, and our reasonable doubts are all removed ; then, our minds
15
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being satisfied, even if we err, no such terrible consequences to us can
follow, as have been shadowed forth in the argument of the opening
Counsel.

What iz circumstantial evidence ? Is it so mueh less satisfactory
and strong than the positive testimony of a witness? Why, Gentle-
men, the temmnnv of a witness is not dependent El’ll‘ll‘.’El}’ upon his
integrity and veracity. The value of it, certainly, is not entirely
dependent upon these. It is, in no inconsiderable degree, dependent
upon his intelligence, his powers of observation. But if there is a
class of facts existing, which, combined, lead the mind, by the stern
and inflexible chain of logical sequence, to a necessary result, the
mind must give to it its eredence.

Let me, in much better language than I ean use, and with a wis-
dom which I may never hope to equal, give you the exposition of this
matter, from one of the ahlest and most learned Judges now gracing
the bench of a sister State. ropose to refer the Court to tﬂ case
of the Commonwealth against l-{:.rman, and the charge of Chief Jus-
tice Gibson, in that case, to the Jury.

It was a capn:a,i case, as this is, [t was a case of great interest —
of a mother for the murder of her child. And the Chief Justice of that
Commonwealth, Pennsylvania, who is now an honor and an orna-
ment to the bench, in charging the Jury, addressed them, upon this
subject of circumstantial testimony, in these words :

“[ shall confine my remarks to the distinctive character and value
of the testimony. N}u witness has been produced who saw the act
committed ; and hence it is urged for the prisoner, that the evidence
is only cirenmstantial, and consequently entitled to a very inferior
degree of eredit, if’ any credit at all. ~ But that consequence does not
necessarily follow. Circumstantial evidence is, in the alstract, nearly,
though perhaps not altogether, as strong as positive evidence ; in the
concrete, it may be in finitely stronger. A fact positively sworn to by a
single eye-witness, of blemished character, is not so satistactorily proved,
as is a fact which is the necessary consequence of a chain of other
facts, sworn to by many witnesses, of nndoubted credibility. Indeed,
I scarcely know whether there is such a thing as evidence purely
positive. You see a man discharge a gun at another : vou see the
flash, you hear the report, you see the person fall a lifeless corpse ;
and you infer, from all these cireumstances, that there was a ball dis-
charged from the gun, which entered his body and caused his death,
because such is the usual and natural cause of such an effect. But
you did not see the ball leave the gun, pass through the air, and enter
the body of the slain; and even testimony to the fact of killing i is,
therefore, only inl'r:mntnl or, in other words, circumstantial. It is
possible no ball was in the gun; and we INFER that there was, only
because we cannot account for the death on any other supposition.
In case of death from the concussion of the brain, strong doubts have
been raised by physicians, founded on appearances verified by post
mortem examination, whether an accommodating apoplexy had not
stepped in at the nick of time, to prevent the prisoner from killing
him, after the skull had been broken in pieces. [ remember to
have heard it doubted in this Court, whether the death of a man,
whose brains oozed through a hole in his skull, was caused by the
wound, or a misapplication of the dressings. To some extent, how-
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ever, the proof of the cause which produced the death rested on cir-
cumstantial evidence.

“ The only difference between positive and circumstantial evidence
is, that the former is more immediate, and has fewer links in the
chain of connection between the preimises and conclusion ; but there
may be perjury in both. A man may as well swear falsely to an
absolute knowledge of a fact, as ton number of facts, from which, if
true, the fact on which the question of guilt or innocence depends
must inevitably follow. No human tc’stlmﬂn\' is superior to doubt ;
the m.whmur}r of eriminal justice, like every other production of man,
is necessarily imperfect; but you are nat, therefore, to stop its wheels.
Because men have been scalded to :le-uh or torn to pieces, by the
bursting of boilers, or mangled by wheels on a railroad, you are not
to lay aside the steam- -engine,

“Innocent men have, doubtless, been convicted and executed on cir-
cumstantial evidence ; but, innocent men have sometimes been con-
victed and executed on what is called positive proof. What, then?
Such convictions are accidents, which must be encountered ; and the
innocent vietims of them have perished for the common good, as much
as soldiers who have perished in battle. All evidence is more or less
. circumstantial, the difference being only in the degree; and it is suf-
ficient for the purpose, when it excludes disbelief — that is, actual
and not technical disbelief; for, he who is to pass on the question is
not at liberty to dizbelieve as a juror, while he believes as a man.

“ It is enough that his conscience is clear. Certain cases of circum-
stantial proofs to be found in the books, in which innocent perzons
were convicted, have been pressed on your attention. Those, how-
ever, are few in number, and they occurred in a peried of some
hundreds of years, in a country whose eriminal code made a great
variety ol offences capital. The wonder is, that there have not been
more. They are constantly resorted to, in capital trials, to frighten
Juries into a belief that there should be no conviction on merely eir-
cumstantial evidence. But the law exacts a conviction, wherever
there is legal evidence to show the prisoner’s guilt, beyond a doubt ;
and circumstantial evidence is legal evidence.

¢ If the evidence in this case convinces you that the prisoner killed
her child, although there has been no eye-witness of the fact, you are
bound to find her guilty. For her sake, I regret the tendency of these
remarks; but it has been our duty to make them, and 1t will be
yours to attend to them.”

I now come to the consideration of peints of law upon which
I shall adidress myself to the learned Beneh in your hearing. They
are all involved in the inquiry which you are now makmg The
ground that we take, may it please your Honors, upon the law, is
established upon well-settled principles of the common law, as recog-
nized in the ecase of Peter York, and subsequently affirmed by
this Court in the case of Washington Goode, and more recently
in the ease of Knowlton. Unless it appears, by a preponderance
of the testimony, to have been done under reasonable provocation,
such as the law recognizes, malice is to be presumed ; and, malice
being presumed, whether there is express malice shown by the proof
or not, it is murder. Then, Gentlemen, the distinction that was
taken, uml very properly taken— and, upon the authorities, fully
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illustrated by the opening Counsel — between express malice and im-
plied malice, I do not intend to go over, because 1 entirely conenr
in every E\rupmitiun stated to you on that subject, in regard to express
malice. If you find there was anything of premeditation with regard
to this prisoner, that ends the inquiry of this case. That fixes it, by
all the authorities, upon the very ground taken by the prisoner’s
Counsel, to be a case of murder. But, if you should not be satisfied
of that, still, the law presumes, in the absence of any controlling
proof, that there did exist the other species of malice, namely, implied
malice,

Therefore, it is quite immaterial, in sustaining this charge against
the prisoner, whether the Jury are satisfied of any proofs of the pre-
meditation or not, unless they are, on the other side, satisfied upon the
proof, that, when those two men came together, there was not merely
exasperating, irritating and provoking language, but that there was,
on the part of George Parkman, a provoking blow, which led to
another from the prisoner, that was fatal to his adversary. Beeause,
upon this matter of implied malice, the provocation which the law
recognizes cannot be a provocation of language, no matter how exas-
perating, how irritating, it may be. Therefore, if exasperating
words were used, and a sudden blow was given by the prisoner with
an instrument likely to cause death, then, Gentlemen, he is as much

uilty of murder as if he had prepared and planned it for months

fore, and beguiled the party to the place, and there carried into
effect his previous premeditated purpose. Hence, we take no excep-
tion to all that matter of law put into the case; and I only refer to it
now, to say that you must have felt, as I did, a painful disappoint-
ment, when this case was opened by the defendant’s Counsel — that,
while we were anxiously looking for an explanation of facts, we had
the extraordinary spectacle of the Counsel for the prisoner devoting
two hours and five minutes to the discussion of the law, and ten
minutes to the presentation of the facts.

All the nice subtleties and refinements of the law of homicide,
about which thére is no controversy, and in which I agree fully and
entirely with the learned Counsel, were gone into with a degree of
clearness and ability which marked the accomplished lawyer, and
were presented for your consideration to avoid what seemed to me
tie unfortunate and meagre array of his store of facts being exposed .
to the Jury. Bat, Gentlemen, that exposition had to come. [ have
already adverted to the classes of faucts upon which he relied.

Exception has been taken, Gentlemen, to this indictment; or, rather,
perhaps [ ought not to say that. I do not know as exception is
taken to the indictment. But, althongh it is said that the Govern-
ment may charge, in the various modes in which they have charged,
in the first three counts, a homicide committed by the prisoner, — yet,
they are bound to prove, in this case, to the entire satisfaction of the
Jury, that the homicide was committed in one or the other of those
rnu:ilus; and that the fourth count of this indictment,. in which the
Grand Jury have charged upon this prisoner, that, by some means,
instruments and weapons, to them unknown, he did commit murder,
is not such a count as can be sustained in a Court of Law.

Gentlemen, il that were so, we ought to have been saved the long
and anxious labor of this trial. If that were so, and the law were
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open to that reproach, I think this learned Bench would require that
very conclusive authority should have been produced to satisfy their
minds of their imperative duty so to rule. Why, take the very
illustrations of the Counsel here—and I could not conceive of
more cogent and effective ones — take the illustrations which he pre-
sented in support of that monstrous proposition — that if a man is so
scientific in his deeds of blood as to be able to conceal the mode or
the means by which he consigns his brother-man to a sudden and a
violent death, although the fact may be proved upon him as clear as
the day-light. he cannot be punished, under the laws of Massachu-
setts! That is a most extraordinary and monstrous proposition. [t
may be that this Honorable Court may say that this is the law; but,
the illustrations show us to what such a construction of the law would
lead us.

Why, it is suggzested that the lasso might have been cast around
his neck. Was there any evidence before the Grand Jury which
could justify them in saying, upon their oaths, that this was the
way in which the murder was committed. It is perfectly true, that
a galvanic battery might be so prepared as that, when a man is
walking over the wires, he shall be prostrated, and deprived of con-
sciousness.  But we must have evidence of it.

The plain proposition is, simply, as laid down by Hawkins, 23d
chapter, 84th section, of the second book, that, *in drawing an
indictment for murder, or any other capital offence, the pleader must
set forth the nature of the facts as specially as the circumstances will
admit."”

Now, if it was known to the Grand Jury how the act was done,
of course, they must set it forth, If they should undertake, through
their accompanying officer, to charge that the homicide was com-
mitted in a way and manner to them unknown, and afterwards, when
the party is put upon his trial, it should appear—and it might ap-
pear, for the Jurors may be called to testify to such a point — that
he was stabbed, or strangled, or his life destroyed in any other way,
and this was known to them before the indictment was drawn, then
it could not be maintained. And that is the protection of the pris-
oner. “ The nature of the facts” would not have been, in such a
case, “ set forth as specially as the circumstances admitted.”

I will give you but one illustration, and I submit it to the Honor-
able Court, as an evidence of the absurdity of this proposition. 1
derive it from the case itsell. Suppose, may it please your Honors,
that Dr. Webster, with premeditation, had enticed Dr. Parkman into
his laboratory, and had there, in a scientific manner, in some way
to the Jurors unknown, and also unknown to anybody and every-
body, murdered him; and had succeeded —in the mode indi-
cated by the Counsel —in the space of eight hours, in destroying
every vestize of that body, by acids, or in some other way. Then,
_suppose that four most respectable Professors of that institution
found the clothes of Dr. Parkman — he having been seen to enter,
and not seen to come out of Dr. Webster’s room —and his pocket-
boolz, taken by the prisoner from Dr. Parkman, in the possession of
this defendant, and no vestige of his body. Then Dr. Webster says,
taleen by surprise, “ I murdered him, but do not betray me.” Those
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Professors thereupon take him into custody. Not another word is
said. Then, when he is advised by Counsel, he retracts his confession,
and there is no evidence how he killed him; according to the
monstrous proposition of the Counsel for the defence, he might have
wallied the streets of this city, and shown himself anywhere, free as
the air, throughout this Commonwealth of ours, and the law could
not reach him! Now, if that is the law of this land, it is time it was
altered. No! it is not so.

Gentlemen, I shall maintain, here before you, that if yvou are
doubtful —and T admit you may well be — whether he died by a
blow on the head by a hammer, or by a stab from a knife — if you
are doubtful how it was done, by what means, or instrument — and
yvet, if you are satisfied that Dr. Webster was the perpetrator of
the homicide, that he did deprive Dr. George Parkman of life,—
then, no matter how he did it, he cannot, under this indictment,
escape the violated justice of this Commonwealth. That is to be
vindicated, were he ten times higher in social position, as much as
though he were the humblest man among us, _

Now, in order to come to the consideration of the evidence, I start
with this proposition : — That the proof in this ense must satisfy you
beyond a reasonable doubt — and by that is meant a doubt for which
you can give a satisfactory reason to your own minds, and to others,
if they ask it; nota possible doubt; not that it was possible that
some one else might have done this, but a reasonable doubt, that
George Parkman has been killed. Proof must satisfy you, beyond
reasonable doubt, that George Parkman has been killed by somebody.
Have you a doubt of that? If you have, my labor is in vain. I may
stop here, for the case stops here; and your faith, Gentlemen, in
anything else in this case, is equally vain.

Why, it is said by the learned Counsel that there is no direct evi-
dence that Dr. George Parkman is not now living ; and it is gravely
put to you, in the face of all this proof which we have had here,
upon the testimony of Dr. W. T. G. Morton, and upon such improb-
abilities as the ingenuity of the Counsel could invent— it is gravely
put to you,as a question in doubt, whether Dr. George Parlunan still
be in full life or no.

Well, Gentlemen, what have we been doing here, for a fortnight
past? What has been done before we came here? Have the =ol-
emn rites of religion been performed over unknown bones? Has
his estate been administered upon, and have others succeeded
to and entered upon the large responsibilities which belonged to
him, —and yet, is he still among the living? Oh, would to God
it were so! Has there not been a search, which has brought into
requisition, not only the vigilant police of this city, but which
mitde every man in it a policeman — a search such as never was had
before 2 And no tidings or trace of him, livine or dead, have been
found, unless these mutilated remains, and these calcined bones, con-
stituted parts of his mortal frame.

Why, it is said —

“The times have been
That, when the brains were out, the man would die,
And there an end ; but now

under the invecation of the learned Counsel —
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- — Y they rize again,
With twenty mortal murders on their crowns
Ard push us from our stools.”

Ay, Gentlemen, to push you from yourstools, which you occupy, —
the seats of justice and the law. DBut the attempt will fail. | read it
in your countenances — I read it in the proof which came from that
witness-siand — that you have no more doubt that these were the
- remains of Dr. George Parkman, than that this which I am now utter-
ing to you is my living voice. Upon this part of the case there is
not left a particle of doubt. :

But we are to consider, what was originally intended to be present-
ed as leading to this conclusion, but which, upon the sirength of the

roof, has now been tortured into making the fonadation for another
ﬁ}'pﬁlh&sis — the evidence of the alibi, so to speak, of Dr. Parkman.

What was the original purpose and object of the Couasel, in under-
taking to show here that Dr. George Puarlinan was seen on Friday
afternoon, the 23d of November, after two o'clock, and so along till
five o'clock of that day? What was the original purpose of this ev-
idence ?  Look back to the statement of the opening Counsel for the
defence, and you will see what it was, Did an intunation fall from
the lips of my learned friend, the junior Counsel, that their evidence
was to satisly you— what the senior Counsel undertook to waintain
as his hypothesis — that there was a separation of Dr. Parkman and
Dr. Webster, which reconciles the testimony of both the Government
and the defence? That was for the purpose of satisfyimg your
minds, or rather of raising a reasonable doubt, whether the reiains
were proved to be those of Dr. Parkman. That was the object
of it; for that was really the great point in the defence. Dr. Web-
ster had started it very early in these proceedings, and under circum-
stances which made the declaration pregnant against him, that that
was no more Dr. Parkman’s body than it was his body. So they went
over this commuonity to find witnesses who could testiy to having
seen Dr. Parkman. And [ venture to say, that from the fifteen or
twenty whom they might have presented here, they selected the five
whose stories most nearly agreed. Yet can you doubt that they
might have had fifteen more ? But it weuld have placed him in so
many places at the same time, it would have been impossible for thé
evidence to be correct, without making him ubiquitous.

They have presented to you the testimony of Mrs., Hatch, Mr.
Thompson, Mr. Wentworth, Mr., Cleland, Mrs. Rhodes and her
daughter, and Mrs, Greenough. I shall examine, not only to show
how fallacious it is with regard to his separating from Dr. Web-
ster, but also with regard to the main proposition, that those were
the remains of Dr. Parkman found in the laboratory of Dr. Web-
ster.

Mrs. Hatch is the first witness. She places Dr. Parkman in Cam-
bridge-street, going up towards Court-street, at about a quarter before
two o'clock on Friday afternoon, Nov. 23d. Thisisall consistent with
the statement of the Government. It was some time in the course of
the afternoon she spoke of meeting * Chin,” as she ealled him. Sup-

ose a istake of only five minutes; and Dr. Parkman, being in Cam-
Eridge—ﬁtreel, turns upon his track, while she passes on ; — he turns again,
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and goes into Mr. Holland’s store.  But there is another answer to
her testimony. [ suppose it to be philosophically true, that two
persons, between whom there is a general resemblance of [eature,
form, and oait, would net be so likely to be mistaken for each
other, as two persons who have some one peculiar and striking fea-
ture in common. Why? Because a seneral resemblance does not so
much arrest the attention, and strike the eye, as a single prominent
peculiarity.  And you see that the only impression that Mrs. Hatch
received was, that she had seen a prominent chin. She had no con-
versation with him. She did not speak to him, nor he to her. She
passed a person with a prominent chin. She spoke of it, in the
course of the afternoon, not as Dr. Parkman, but as # Chin ; * show-
ing what had arrested her notice.

Take the testimony of Mr. Thompson, the biological witness. He
saw him, he says, at about fifteen minutes past two o'clock, in Cause-
way-street. H);: did not speak to him. He thinks it was fifteen
minutes past two o'clock that he saw him, because he looked at the
clock as he came away from East Cambridge. That clock, we have
shown to you, by two witnesses, to be an unsafe and unreliable
time-piece ; and especially when it was first put up, last autumn.

He merely saw him passing. He may have made a mistake, as to
the hour, or the identity of the person. I do not suggest that he
made a mistake as to the day, but I think he did mistake the time,
or, more likely, the person,

AMr. Wentworth testifies that he saw him in Court-street, between
half past two and three o'clock. The others saw him going at his
usual gait. This witness sees him looking at the roofs of the houses.
His attention is called to the fact of his disappearance, the next night;
and he does not think it worth his while, notwithstanding the great
public excitement, notwithstanding all the rewards, notwithstanding
the suspense and angnish of desponding friends, to go and connnu-
nicate so important a fact as this.

Weither of these witnesses, Mrs. Hatch, or Mr. Wentworth. saw
him so as to observe his dress. But, above all, with respect to Went-
worth’s testimony, he declares to you that Mr. Russell was with
him —a gentleman whom we put upon the stand, and who says
that he was with Mr. Wentworth on an oceasion when he saw Dr,
Parliman. Wentworth fixes it as the only time when he was with
Mr. Russell and saw Dr. Parkman. Russell says he cannot fix the
day, but that it cannot be the day that Dr. Parkman disappeared;
for he heard of the disappearance the next day, and is confident that
it would then have come to his mind, had it been on the day of his
disappearance. [ regard the testimony of Wentworth to be so im-
paired, by this testimony of Russell, as to be valueless,

Next comes the testimun}rqf Mr: Cleland. That testimony, like that
of Mrs. Rhodes, is dependent on two facts of memory that are inde-
pendent of each other. If Mr. Cleland had said that he knew it was
on Friday that he saw Dr. Parkman, because on Friday he met Dr.
Parkman going into such a place while he was coming out, and he
knows that he went into that place only on that day, and fixes
it, by other evidence, that he was there, then he has but one fact, in
respect to the time. to remember. But now he has two facts; the
time when he went to see the Rev. Mr. Wildes, and the time that he
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saw Dr. Parkman. He does not fix the time, except by the notes. But
whether it was on that day that he saw Dr. Parkman, depends entirely
upon the confidence he reposed in his memory. Then there is the
matter of identity. How did he see Dr. Parkman? Unquestion-
ably we cannot doubt that there is a person whose slender form,
whose peculiar gait, so resembles those of the late Dr. Georze Park-
man, that he was very frequently mistaken for him. Mr. Cleland
says that he has not spoken to Dr. Parkman for several years; that
he did not observe his dress; that there were persons intervening;
that he passed by him and did not nod, but thought that it was sin-
. gular to see Dr. George Parkman walking with a laboring man, whom
he at first erroneously supposed was in his company.

Then we have the evidence of Mrs. Rhodes and her daughter. I
suppose it is a matter which may be referred to, without being put
expressly in evidence, that the sun set, on the 23d of November, at
thirty-two minutes past four o'clock. It is proved that that was a
cloudy day. “I saw him from a quarter to five to five o'clock,”
says Mrs. Rhodes. How near dark was it? How did she see
him? Approaching? No! Not till she got up side by side, —
then she bowed to him., She did not say he bowed first. Sup-
pose it was the stranger resembling Dr. Parkman. Suppose he met
this gracious lady bowing to him; he would naturally return the =alu-
tation, thongh she was a stranger. She bows and passes on, in the
twilight. On Sunday morning, she first hears of his disappearance.
She was a parishioner of his distressed brother, and it never occurred
to her, throuzh that Sabbath-day, — never through the Monday follow-
ing, — never through the Tuesday following, until Tuesday night,
when her danghter returned from Lexington, —to communieate the
fact. Then came the after-thought, that she had seen him on Friday
afternoon, as late as five o'clock. Then she puts in another fact, —
and [ take the testimony of herself and daughter together, for it
amounts to one,— another fact which is pregnant with significance ;
that Dr. Parkman, when she met him, was in company with a gen-
tleman wearing a dark-colored surtout, which she noticed as she
passed him. Where is that gentleman? Why is not he here to tell
us that he was walking in company with Dr. if"'gri.,-mun, on that day,
at that hour, and in that place? Isnot that fact conclusive that Mrs,
Rhodes was mistaken? She is mistaken as to the day or the person,
beyond all peradventure or doubt.

The testimony of Mrs. Greenough I need not comment upon.
It was characterized by a fairness, by a scrupulousness, which I
should have been glad to have seen imitated. It was my belief;
but I cannot be positive.” Why, Gentlemen? Because she reflects
that he has never been seen in the world since. That nobody has
seen him, is one of the elements to be taken into consideration in
determining whether she saw him, or whether she was not deceived
in her impression that it was him.

If we satisfy your minds that Dr. Parkman’s bones were found in
that furnace, his remains in that vault and in that tea-chest, then
that fact is just as much to be taken into consideration, to be weighed
against this testimony to prove that he was seen after he entered the
Medical College, as this testimony of the afibi is, against the fact of
those being his remains, or the fact that he never left that building
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alive. And I undertake to say, that all this testimony, if it were in
reference to an ordinary case of alidi, where the party was still living, —
the testimony of six witnesses, who swear that they passed the person
in the street, did no business with him, did not speak with him,
that there was a person with him at the time, who does not come
forw: rd, — would be extremely unsatisfactory. If Dr. George Park-
ma- were living, and in this Court-house to-day, trying an action
against Dr. Webster for having stolen his notes of hand, and the
only defence was founded upon this testimony of an alibi, I should
maintain with confidence to a Jury, that the evidence was, in itself;
weak and insufficient. But what was Dr. George Parkman doing, on
that day, when these witnesses think they saw him? Roaming aghuut
the streets; —now in Cambridge-street, then in Causeway-street;
now in Washington-street, going towards Roxbury; then in Court-
street, examining the roofs of houses. Again in Cambridge-street,
and afterwards in Green-street. What was he doing ¢ Was there
ever anything so preposterous!

Consider this fact. I believe the city have made a computation of
the number of persons that pass through Court-street in a certain
given time, during a business day. I do not remember the number,
though I think I have heard. [A wvoice —* Thirty thousand.”]
Thirty thousand persons, in a day of twelve hours, as I am now
informed. How many persons were there in the city who did not
know Dr. George Parkman? Or, I might put it with more swrength,
how many were there who did know him ?

Now, if Dr. Parkman were roaming about this city, as these
witnesses describe, during the whole of that Friday afternoon, I ask
you to say, upon your consciences, would they not have been able to
produce here, to swear to the fact— not six, or sixty, or six hun-
dred, even, — six thousand, rather! Do you suppose that it would
have been possible for him to have wandered about this city during
a whaole afternoon, and no human being, except these six persouns, to
have seen him? Well, what is the evidence ¢ That this great num-
ber of persons, who, if bhe had been in the streets, must have seen
him, did not see him! This is shown by the search which followed
immediately, —a search of the greatest extent, vigilance, closeness,
and scrutiny, that was ever made throughout this city.

But it is not merely the passing a person in the street, or on the
opposite side of the street, or on the same side of the street, or having
a mere passing glance, which, if we give any weight to experience,
can give us a well-orounded assurance that we are not mistalen in
this matter of identity. We offered to put in evidence here, that
there were persons who accosted a man, believing him to be Dr.
George Parkman, and found they were mistaken, when they ap-
proached to converse with him, ‘3{;@ were not allowed to put it in.
And why? Becanse it was a matter of common experience, as the
Court said.  And I put to you, that it is a matter of common expe-
rience, —common to you and to me, I ask you, how many times
you have gone up to a person, and spoken to him, or even attempted
to take him by the hand, and then retreated with—*1I beg your
pardon, sir; I thought it was Mr. i

You may have seen the District Attorney of the neighboring Courts

of Middlesex, Mr. Train, by my side, during one day of this trial,
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In the last capital trial T conducted in that county, 1 met upon the
sidewalli, near the Leverett-street Jail, on iy way to East Cambridge,
on the first morning of the trial, a police officer of this city. AslI

ssed him, he said to me, “Mr: Train, good-morning.” I stopped,

aving this very matter of the disappearance of Dr. Parkman in my
mind, and turned toward him. He asked, * At what time shall I
bring over the subpenas?” “In what case?” I inquired. * The
Pearson case,” said he. *“Oh, any time in the forenoon,” I re-
sponded, and passed on.

On my arrival at the Court-room, I mentioned the circumstance to
Mr. Train; and, at my suggestion, he met the officer with a reproach,
when he came with the subpenas, for not bringing them sovoner.
“ Why,” said the officer, ¢ you told me I could bring them any time
this forenoon.” I told you ¢ — when?” * Why, this morning, when

ou were coming over.” [ have not seen you to-ddy,” replied Mr,
%‘rain. “ Why, certainly, I met you, and talked with you.” * You
met me?” ¢ Certainly, I did.” So confident was he of the identity,
he was ready to have gone upon the stand, and sworn that he did talk
with Mr. T'rain ; and when [ told him that I was the person, and told
him precisely what the conversation was, for a long time, he honestly
believed that we were playing a hoax upon him. Yet, Gentlemen,
the degree of resemblance between Mr. Train and mysell is no
greater than is found between many persons here present, and be-
tween Dr. Parkman and many persons now living.

I alluded, in the discussion to the Court of a question that was
mooted yesterday, to the celebrated case of Sherman, in Middlesex.
That was an instructive case, upon this matter of identity. A person
was arrested, charred with having committed an assault upon a little
girl in Medford, and another upon another girl in Newton. One as-
sault was committed on Saturday, and the other on Monday. A week
afterwards, this man made his appearance in Newton, and was rec-
oonized by two ladies, who had seen him when he was running away
from the spot where he was attempting the assault. He was arrested,
and brought before the magisirate. He stated that he had never been
in that place before, which was untrue. The children were sent for,
and, in a crowd of a hundred people, they both selected him. The

arties from Medford came over, and they identified him also. He
was indicted by the Grand Jury on two indictments, and they wers
both put to the Jury at the same time.

The evidence of these two classes of witnesses, from both towns,
nineteen in number, was laid before the Jury. They were positive,
elear and certain, in their testimony, that he was the person; the
proof of identity was perfect and complete, when the Government
evidence was closed. The Counsel for the defence, having received
from the defendant a statement of his whereabouts, then traced him,
by undoubted proof, through the whole weel, and particularly cover-
ing the two days of Saturday and Monday. He proved, by most
respectable witnesses, and the most undoubted corroborating circum-
stances and facts, that that man, on Saturday, rode -out of Nashua on
a stage-coach, and that on Monday he was at Manchester, in New
Hampshire. The alibi was so conclusive the Government were com-
pelled to abandon the prosecution ; the learned Judge saying that there
never was so strong a case of identity as that made out for the Govern=
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ment, except the case which had been proved for the defence. It was
shown that there were two persons as like as the two Dromies, not
only in countenance, form and gait, but even in the accidents of dress.

Now, Gentlemen, to talk about a man’s being satisfied, by a passi
glance, that he saw a particular individual, whom such a massncﬁ'
proof as in this case tends to show was then numbered with the dead
— who has neverappeared since that fatal day — and to undertake to
satisly a Jury of this, when all the probabilities are against the con-
clusion, seems to me like asking a Jury to surrender everything
that is proved in the case to the testimony of three or four witnesses
to a fact in which they are more likely to be mistaken than any fact
to which they could testify.

But, beyond and above all this, however your minds may be affected
by this testimony, let me now meet the proposition of the Counsel for
the defendant, by saying that, whether these people saw Dr. Parkman
or not, as they have testified, is entirely immaterial to your verdict in
this case. If you are satisfied upon the other branches of this case,
that Dr. Parkman’s remains were found in the premises of this
prisoner ; and if the evidence connects him with those remains, then,
what matters it whether Dr. Parkman was seen after two o’clock on
that day or not? The Court will tell you that the time when this
homicide was committed is immaterial. It may have been on one
day, or another; it may have been at one hour, or another. And if
these witnesses did see Dr. Parkman — improbable as it is — yet, if Dr.
Webster, by some means and instrumentalities to us nnknown, did
beguile and entice him back to the College, and there obtain those
notes, and did deprive him of life, then, Gentlemen of the Jury, it
becomes entirely immaterial when it was done.

But where was Dr. Webster himself that Fridayafternoon? Where did
he dine that day ¢ Did the Counsel answer that ¥ Did his proofs answer
that? Is the fact which the Government have put in here disturbed one
particle — shaken from its foundation at all — that Dr. Webster was at
that laboratory, dinnerless and alone, with no lecture to prepare, ata time
when the longestinterval occurred between his lectures, viz., from Friday
until Tuesday ? Has that fact been shaken? And if he did dine any-
where, whether at home or abread, would he not have shown it? He
was arrested within a week. He had sagacious,acute and intelligent
friends about hiin; he lacked no legal counsel, no anxious friendship,
which would seize upon such a vital fact as this, and prove it belore
you. And if he was locked up in that laboratory all that afternoon,
whether he enticed Dr. Parkman back there and slew him at four
o'clock instead of two o'clock. what is the difference? And thus, all
this testimony about the Parkman olibi, as it is called, becomes en-
tirely immaterial to the real issue before you. '

But I now pass to the consideration of the identity. How is this
proved, Gentlemen of the Jury ? It is put to you as an open question ;
how is it proved? We have heard something said about the negative
argument. I think it will be apparent, upon a little consideration and
analysis of the testimeny, that there is nothing negative in the argu-
ment which I shall draw from the facts proved here, independent of
the teeth. :

In the first place, the evidence shows, beyond all question, that the
parts of a human body found in that furnace, and in that vault, and
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in that tea-chest, constituted parts of only one haman body. By the
marvellous science and skill, so beautifully detailed to you here by
that aceomplished scientific man, Dr. Wyman, and by the testimon
of those other intellizent physicians, who made the examination ng
the body — by the testimony of all of them, this fact is placed beyond
the reach of doubt. Inaddition to that, it is evident, from all the testi-
mony, that these constituted the parts of a body which was not a sub-
ject for dissection. That you can have no doubt about ; the testimon
of Dr. Ainsworth is that there was no subject, that heluntrcd to the GJ
lege, missing. He keeps a correct record, and all his sub_;eus were
accounted for. It has not been suggested that any other person was
killed or missing, except Dr. Parkman. And now take these coincident
facts : — that here were the mutilated remains of a human body ; that no
subject was missing from the dissecting-room ; that no person had died,
by violence or otherwise, whose remains were missing ; no living person
missing, except Dr. Parkman; and that these remains are found to
bear every point of resemblance, and not a single point of dissimi-
larity, in form, age, or size, or in the fact that he wore false teeth,—
I ask you, if anything can rest on human probabilities, what is the
value and strength of this argument? Is it negative ?

Why, you might take the entire community — ay, the community of
the entire country and the world —and go through it, and select from it
the man who most resembled Dr. George Parkman : let him be slain;
let that man’s remains be mutilated precisely as these were muti-
lated, preserving no more than were preserved of these; and the
chances are as millions to one — ay, you cannot calculate the chances —
that upon the remains of that person, or those portions of them cor-
responding to those found here, although there might be entire resem-
blance in most particulars, still there would, to the searching eye of
friendship, and of long acquaintanceship, be some one little point of
dissimilarity ; —and one such point as that would be just as fatal as if
there were no resemblance at all.  Yet here you find, from the testi-
mony of the physicians, from the testimony of Mr. Shaw, of Dr.
Strong, and others who examined them, and drew their conclusions,
that they were the remains of Dr. Parkman, hefore Dr. Keep had ever
examined those teeth, or it was known that Dr. Keep could have
identified them. I ask you whether their opinions were not justified
by this state of facts? I do not say that upon this evidence alone
you would have been called upon to pronounce upon this question of
identity ; but I do ask you to consider whether all these facts do not
reasonably justify the conclusion, to which his friends arrived, that
those were the mortal remains of Dr. Parkman, and of no one else ?

Consider it for a moment. Here is a portien of a human body,
which has great peculiarities. There is no doubt about that. 'ﬂy
Shaw testifies to it. Dr. Strong testifies to it. There was the pecu-
liar color, profusion, and length of hair; the peculiar shape of the
jaw, with the fact of wearing false teeth; and the exact similarity
in the height of the body. What are the chances that, among
all these points of resemblance, there should not be one single
Iﬂim of difference, if they were the remains of another person?

ese resemblances may be said to be slight. Well, if they are,
they are many; and a thousand threads, all running in one direc-
tion, and not one running counter to them, though they are as slight
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as the finest filaments of gossamer ever woven in the morning sun-.
lizght, yet by their very number and dircction they may be strong
enouch to draw us irresistibly to the conclusion to which they lead.
Why, Gentlemen, of what is the cable made, that holds the ship to her
moorings?  Its separate threads may be snapped by an infant’s hands;
but, united, they resist the force of the tempest.

[ come now to the positive, the demonstrative testimony; upon
which [ undertake to say, that you, as intelligent men, must be as well
convinced, as if we had brought in here the entire mortal body of
the deceased. I mean the testimony of Drs. Keep, Noble, and
Wyman. And [ approach it reverently, when I consider the circum-
stances under which this identification was made, — when I remember
the long and patient labor of that conscientions man, Dr. Keep,
upon the manuofacture of a set of teeth for Dr. Parkman. that
he might be present at the opening of that College building of
which he had been the munificent benefactor — that it should happen,
in the order of Providence, that in that very building, where he met
his fate, that very set of teeth should have been found to identify
his remains, and to vindicate his memory —ay, and to vindicate the
law! I do approach it reverently. 1 seem to see in it the guiding
hand of Almighty God. leading us to the discovery of the truth.
And when that witness stood upon that stand, and gave us the his-
tory of his patient labors over those blocks of teeth, the Counsel here,
able, and accomplished, and vigilant, as they are, must have felt, and
did feel, that the great foundation of the defence, upon which they had
haped to build up their theory, was crumbling out, sand by sand, and
stone by stone, from beneath them.

And consider, too, that these witnesses were no volunteers. in order
to fasten upon this unfortunate person a charge so awful and revolting
as this, No! Dr. Keep's own emotion indicated with what reluct-
ance he had come to that awful conviction. Why, Gentlemen,
why? Not simply that these were the remains of his friend, but
that they were also the remains of the friend of Dr. Webster, who
was also his friend. He was his teacher; he saw how it tended to
fasten and fix this act upon him — what an immense stride was then
made toward the conclusion at which a Jury must arrive, when that
great question of identity must be settled beyond controversy or doubt.

The conviction pressed itself upon him, that this prisoner, whom he
would save if he could, must be connected with the mutilated remains
of ane who had been, not only the benefactor of the institution in which
he earned his bread, but his benefactor also, as these papers here will
show you — the benefactor, the friend, of him

“ Who should against his murderer shut the door,
Mot bear the knife himself.”

And he felt as any man of ordinary feeling would, at coming to
guch a conclusion as the truth required him to state to us — “I know
those teeth were his, as well as if [ had them entire in my hand to-
day.” That he could state this with confidence, take the testimony of
the experts we put upon the stand, and what becomes of the miserable
pretext which Dr. Morton presented, that such blocks of teeth could
not be identified ¢ They could be recognized, according to the beautiful
analogy expressed by two of the witnesses. Drs. Harwood and Tucker,
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in the words of one, * as well as the sculptor would know the product
of his chisel ; ” and the other, ““as well as a painter, who had studied
a face fora week, and painted it upon the canvass, could know the
portrait as his own work, wherever he might see it.”

If anything more were needed, it is found in the conformity of the
jaw of Dr. Parkman to the mould which Dr. Keep had ; which mould
corresponded with all the peculiarities of the jaw of Dr. Parkman,
picked out from the smouldering ashes, and, by that true lover of
science and uncompromising seeker for the truth, Dr. Wyman, put
together, and produced here before us.  If he had produced hers Dr.
Parkman’s right hand, with a scar upon it which every one of his
friends had known, the evidence of identity could not be more conclu-
sive. When we consider that here is a man in this culprit’s dock, with
such advantages of education and of culture as he has enjoyed, who
15 himsell a devotee of science, — and we feel that he has so debased
and betrayed his high vocation and mission as to have slain, either in
anger or in cold blood, whichever it may be, his fellow-man, and his
benefactor and friend, — it almost sickens us ; we feel that there is no
shield for any of us against the commission of great crimes; that
culture, science, and all the ennobling and purir}'ing influence of edn-
cation, are utterly lost upon us. Ta find them subjected to such base
uses as that chemist’s laboratory has witnessed, prompts us to exclaim,
with the poet,

% Dh star-eyed science ! hast thon wandered there
To waft us back the tidings of despair 7 *

But we recover and are refreshed only when we go to the other
fact which this case discloses,that, although science had been debased
to the purpose of destroying those remains, yet science, in,its true
vocation, in its nobler scope, sifts and penetrates those smouldering
ashes, and evokes from them those materials with which it recon-
structs almost the entire body which science had vainly attempted to
destroy. This gives to us a renewei assurance of respect for science!
And [ eannot pass from this part of the ease without expressing a
feeling which has been often in my mind during the solemnities of
this trial — the honor that is due to that noble profession through
whose ministers this assurance has come to us. When we have wel-
comed them to our bedsides, amid our trials and sufferings, we have
loved and honered them ; but when we meet them here, and see them
taking the stand, as they do, most reluctantly, against one of their own
brotherhood, — forgetting, or rather trampling under foot, all those
conziderations which arise from caste, from class, and giving them-
selves unreservedly to the truth, let it strike where it may, let it fall
where it will, —they challenge and are werthy of the highest honor;
and they have my humble reverence.  One of their number, whom we
looked to have been here, and whose aid, in another recent capital trial,
I had occasion to seek — in which his testimony showed how much
he would have added to the impressiveness of this — has passed away
from us, since these investications commenced, — a man who honored
the community in which he lived, who honored the profession to
which he belonged, and who, for the cause of scieace, has been removed
from us too soon, — [ refer to the late Dr. Martin Gay, whose testinony
to that secene down in yonder prison,and over at that Medical College,
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would have been as valuable to us, as would his scientific testimony
upon the question of the identification of the remains. .

I now pass to the consideration of another proposition, I consider
the matter settled, beyond all question, that there were found, in Dr.
Webster's laboratory, in the vault, the tea-chest, and the furnace, the
remaing of Dr. Parkman. The circumstances under which those re-
mains were found, negative, without the aid of argument, the two
propositions which have been presented by the learned Counsel : —
one, that he died by his own impious hand — that he committed
suicide ; the other, that he died by the visitation of the Almighiy —a
natural death. No man, it seems to me, can call upon Counsel to
argue a question like that. Why, Gentlemen, to have died a natural
death, and his body to be found thus mutilated, and mutilated there!
— for what conceivable purpose? Is it possible that he committed
suicide, and some person, in mere sport, had hacked those remains. and
burned that head? Preposterous! Absurd! Could his death have
been innoeent, with such a disposition of his body ? No, Gentlemen !
It speaks louder than any language of mine can speak, that there was
erime, as there was concealment, connected with these remains, This
hypothesis was not pressed by the other side ; it was thrown outas a
suggestion — consistent or Inconsistent as it might be with other
propositions ; and the inconsistencies of some of these I shall advert to
presently.  But this idea was not dwelt upon, and the Counsel could
not have entertained such an opinion. No, Gentlemen! The circum-
stances under which those remains were found bring us conclusively
to the conviction thatcrime was connected with the destruetion of Dr.
Patkmaun’s life, by whomsoever it was done,

I now, Gentlemen of the Jury, come to examine the hypotheses
which have been set up on behall of this defendant. I ask you to
‘consider whether any one of them even, taken alone, independent of
the rest, is a rtational, reasonable hypothesis, such as the law con-
templates to negative the hypothesis which the Government muin-
tains upon cireumstantial proof. I shall then ask you to consider how
consisient with each other these hypotheses are. I think I cannot be
mistaken, that the consumption of your time, upon this latter subject,
will be superfluous, For, although that argument, which embraced
these theories and propositions, was addressed to you in the most
impressive language and manner, and although each independent and
distinet proposition came from my learned friend with a force and
fervency which I could not hope to rival, if I had the ambition to do
so, still. I think, as fair-minded men, men of fair intelligence, you could
not but have been struck with the manifest contradictions and incon-
sistencies into which his case had betrayed him. And yet, there was
no help for it. He did all that mortal man could do. He had the
truth of the case against him. And I do not know that an argument
could have been framed that would have been more satistactory, —
certainly none more able and impressive, — than he addressed to yon,
out of the materials that he had at his command.

But what were the propositions 2 They were, that-Dr. Webster
admitted, what we had proved, that Dr, Parkman went to that College
at or about hall past ene o'clock; that he paid Dr. Parkman the
money, which we say the proof denies; and that, beyond this, he denies
everything. Then the Counsel undertake to construct their hypoth-
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eses. And what are they ? in the first place, and most importaut,
they disclaim, now that our proof is in and uncontrollable, all imputa-
tion upon Mr. Littlefield as having been the author of Dr. Parkman’s
death. If they had not done that in words, you, as a Jury, would
be bound to put your impress upon that hypothetical statement of
what Mr. Littlefield did, or might have done. That came, as the
Counsel told you, in the fearless discharge of his duty. It may be
that it was in the discharge of a duty that he put Mr. Littlefield, an
honest man, upon his trial here, though he did not dare to make
the accusation against him that his client had the hardihood to make
before he came here.

The Counsel knew that where we had corroborated Mr. Littlefield,
he would stand unshaken ; and that we had furnished them with the
means of contradicting him, if his statements were untrue; and that
they did not coniradiet him in a single syllable. I mean to present
M. Littlefield just as he is. I mean that justice shall be done to him,
if justice is not done to him who libelled him. But I now spealk of it
as a part of the Counsel's allegations, that he disclaimed all imputa-
tion upon Mr. Littlefield, as having been the perpetrator of this erime.

Bat the Counsel argues, supposing this to be the bady of Dr. Park-
man, it is not proved he died by violence ; he might have died a nat-
ural death, and been stripped and robbed, and his body carried into
the laboratory of Dr. Webster, and he not know it.

I have already had occasion to say to you, we are not here to
discuss possibilities. It is no part of your duty, though it may be a

art of the duty of the Counsel. He could suggest nothing else.
hy, Gentlemen of the Jury, he might, with almost equal plausibility,
say that Dr. Holimes, the accomplished physician and Professor, who
entwines with his scientific laurels the wreath of the muses — whose
fame is precious to us all, — who is known, and honored, and beloved
everywhere, — that Dr. Holmes might have killed Dr. Parkman, when
he was coming down out of his lecture-room. But we are not deal-
g with possibilities,

Ei‘la‘t—-in;}; dizmissed Mr. Littlefield, and the other possibilities, the
suggestion is, that the deed was committed by somebody out of the
College, and the remains carried there, And thatreally seemed to be
the proposition upon which the Counsel rested. You see the incon-
sistency of his other propositions ; if Dr. Parkman went there at half
past one o'clock, and then went away, as Dr. Wehster said he did,
and thence to Holland's store, and bought his groceries, and then
back again to the College, and was there waylaid and murdered, then
all the testimony which they put in afterwards, of the afternoon alibi,
goes for nothimg. He never was seen out of the building, if that is
true. Il he was killed elsewhere and carried there, it involves another
absurdity. The idea is, that it was done by some robber or marauder,
who waylaid him, and, after he had slain him, carried his remains to
that College. For what? Why, the first suggestion is, to have
them desiroyed, or for concealment until the excitement arising out of
his disappearance should subside; the other is, in order to get the
reward which was offered for the discovery of the remains. Then it
becomes quite material to consider what 15 meant by the suggestion
that the criminal got in there that night, and by that mysterious un-
bolting of the door. lg}u and when was that? Friday night! — that
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was the night of the day of his disappearance. The robber and mur-
derer was expeditions, upon the hypothesis that he separated from
Dr. Webster, and was wandering about the city deranged that after-
noon, and his body concealed in the College that night.

But how does this consist with the theory that he was killed else-
where, and it was not until a search was made, and a reward offered,
and when slander began to breathe upon Prof. Webster’s name, and
connect him with the disappearance, that this marauder, whoever he
was, went and deposited the remains in Dr. Webster’s room, and
there proceeded to dissect and destroy them? What is the proposi-
tion ?  Does it satisfy your minds, Gentlemen ? Does it raise a rea-
sonable doubt ? Remember that, whoever this marauder was, he was
a tolerably competent dissector and anatomist; for the manner in
which that body was cut up, in the expressive language of Dr. Holmes,
showed it to have been done by a competent person — ¢ There was no
botching about the business.” No, Gentlemen; he left

“ No rubs nor botches in the worle.

So that, whoever he was, he was a tolerably skilful anatomist.

More than that — he was something of a chemist. Do you remem-
ber the testimony of Dr. Charles T. Jackson, confirmed by one of the
other medical witnesses? It was he and Mr. Crossley, who, with
Dr. Gay, made the examination. Their testimony, independent of
that of Dr. Gay, is, that the;,.rtuuk portions of the muscle of the thorax,
and found that strong alkalies had been applied to it, which is known
to chemists to be a most efficient mode of destroying flesh. * Bat,
after slander had begun to whisper apainst the good name of Dr.
Webster ! " — there were rumors, were there? there were slanders,
were there? which began to blow upon his good name!— Gentle-
men, I ask you to consider, as men having faith in Providence,
whether it is likely that unfounded suspicions could attach to such a
man as Dr. Webster, of having committed an act like this.

More, Gentlemen! —and this answers a very considerable portion
of the theory advanced by the Counsel —1I ask you if you believe
that it would be possible, in a community like this, distinguished for
its intelligence and its humanity, that such a man as Dr. Webster
could remain, not under suspicion only. but under an accusation like
this, for four months together, and no hope-giving trace or indication
of his innocence be discovered? Why, Gentlemen, what interests
have been involved in his innocence, if it could be made to appear!
— what anxiety and solicitude have been felt by all the friends of
good order, of education,— of that beloved University, the cherished
child of our Pilgrim Fathers! If one of the officers of that Univer-
sity were charged with crime, he would have, as this prisoner has
had, not only the sympathies, but the repelling disbelief, until proof
forced its convictions upon us, of every man in the community. Do
you suppose that suspicion upon such a man as that could ripen into
accusation, and that accusation into an indietment, and that indiet-
ment into trial, in a community like this, and the world sit down

uietly and let it all go on, if he were an innocent man ?  Bu, it is
%qrther urged by the Counsel, that, before suspicion had begun to be
aroused, even as early as the Friday night of Dr. Parkman’s disap-
pearance, the person who carried the remains there got into that



243

building in some incomprehensible way, and hence the door was found
unbolted in the morning.  Yon remember how impressive the Counsel
was about that unknown person, who might thusand then have effected
his entrance into the building. This, of course, is utterly subversive
of the other theory, if it has any foundation in the proof. But 1
think there is another suggestion worthy of your attention. On that
Friday night, after one o'clock in the morning, and up to one the
next day, who testifies of the whereabout of Dr. Webster? Who,
beside him, had a.key to that door, except Dr. Leigh? The facility
with which Dr. Webster flitted between the Medical College and
Cambridge has been made apparent to you by the testimony of his
own witnesses, I, too, think the unbolted door had some connection
with these remains, but not that it bears upon any other person than
the prisoner. I cannot imagine that there was some murderer out-
side who carries these remains there, becanse suspicion had begun to
breathe upon Dr. Webster. That would imply that this bmfy had
been put there at a very late period in the week.

But, in point of fact, G‘entﬁ:mcn, until these remains were found
on the premises, and until that startling discovery was communicated
to the police, there was no evidence of a general suspicion against
the prisoner — none whatever, until Friday, the day of his arrest.
Then, undoubtedly, it was a matter of remark. There is no doubt
but that, with regard to the College, public sentiment had been deeid-
ed before that date. But, let me say that the public are not prompt
to entertain an unfounded charge, of a great crime, against a man
who is set so far beyond the reach of suspicion as to make it require
proof upon proof to connect him with the transaction. But what
foundation is there for any such theoryas this? There has appeared
nothing yet, nothing whatever, to point at, or implicate, any such
third person. And upon what are you to try this cause. Gentlemen?
“ Hearken to your epidence,” was the admonition with which you
commenced your patient and protracted labors in this trial ; and you
are to take it all. I shall consider how much has been added to it
by the defence, by and bye.

Four months have now elapsed, and neither time, place, mode of
death, nor any other eircumstance, has directed attention to any third
person ; nobody else is suspected. It is idle, it is absurd, to suppose,
1 a state of evidence like this, that any one else committed the act
which all that evidence tends fo fix and fasten upon this prisoner,

There is a further suggestion— and I will answer it now — that the
remains were carried to the Medical College with a view to get the
reward. Did ever a reasonable man listen to, or did ever wise men,
who were uttering their own convietions —

[Judge Merrick here interposes, and holds a private consultation
with the Attorney General.]

M. Clifford. 1 understand, may it please your Honors, and
Gentlemen, from my learned friend — to whose argument, to whose
efforts, I am certainly disposed to do entire justice — that he used the
matter of the reward in connection only with this consideration : that
it might be remarkable that the offering of the reward was coincident
with Mr. Littlefield’s commencing the search for these remains. The
fact is not so; but, if it were so, what an absurdity it would be, con-
necting it with anybody! That a person should deposit there, and
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afterwards find there, what ?— not that portion which has been satis-
factorily identified, but parts which conld not be identified! How
absurd, that he should have destroyed all those parts of the body by
which identity is ordinarily proved, and to which we must resort to
prove it—the head, hands, arms and feet—and then undertake to
find the remains which were concealed in the vanlt, for the purpose
ol getting the reward, when the great question would be, in the first
instance, whether they were the remains of Dr. Parkman or not.

You will remember that all Mr. Littlefield found were the portions
deposited in the privy vault. He did not find the portions in the
tea-chest, or the bones and teeth in the furnace, and he gave no inti-
mations by which they could be found. He found simply the pelvis,
the right thigh, and left lez. And how did he find them? T shall
consider that in a moment. The proposition, then, that they were
put there for the purpose of obtaining a reward, is preposterous.

Then take the other proposition. Could any man in his senses
have undertaken to destroy those remains in Dr. Webster’s laboratory ?
— in the day-time, remember, when he was there, as we show, not
by Mr. Littlefield alone, but, as they show, negatively, by their own
evidence. For it is a most remarkable and significant fact, that the
three danghters of Dr. Webster, who came here to festify in the
defence, have, by their own testimony, in a most remarkable degree,
confirmed and corroborated Mr. Littlefield. They put their father
away from home at the very time Mr. Littlefield puts him at the
College, and Mr. Littlefield puts him away from the College at the
very time they put him at home. There is no couflict, but a perfect
harmony, between the testimony of these witnesses. Now, the ab-
surdity of any person doing such a piece of work as this, in that
laboratory, without the knowledge of Dr. Webster, is manifest. Sup-
pose they had secured their opportunities, when he was out? There
was that assay furnace, in which, upon the evidence, a fire had never
been kindled before. Do you think Dr. Webster could have had a
person there, and a fire in the furnace, without his attention being
attracted to it? For what purpose would any other individual do
this? Who would be so fatuitously presumnptuous as to attempt to
fasten upon a man in Dr. Webster's position an accusation like this
and by such means as these ?

Now, Gentlemen, I intend to state to you two or three propositions
upon this subject, which, I think, are clearly met by the evidence in the
case, and sustained. If Dr. Parkmman had been killed in that Col-
legre, and his body never carried out, but subsequently conveyed into
Dr. Webster’s laboratory, for concealment, or for the purpose of being
consumed, then it is evident that either Dr. Webster or Mr. Little-
field must have known it. I think that we cannot escape from that

roposition. Their hypothesis is, that some assassin might have
urked in the entry — a little space of eight feet wide — and, as he
came out of Dr. Webster’s room, waylaid and slew him; and that he
carried the body either to Dr. Webster's laboratory, and ran the risk
of being detected by him, or into Littlefield’s apartments, or some
other portion of the building, encountering an equal risk of being de-
tected by him. The idea of an assassin laying in waii, with a hun-
dred students all around him, and with the janitor near, and the front
door broad open to the street, is as absurd as for a man to lie in wait
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in the Merchant's Exchange, at mid-day, with the intention of com-
mitting a secret homicide.

Then, we come to the next hypothesis,. Was Dr. Parkman killed
outside of the College, and his body bronght into the apartments of
Dr. Webster 2 If so, it must have been brought there for one of three
purposes : — Concealment ; to be eonsumed and destroyed ; or to fix the
charge of murdering him upon Dr. Webster. The last [ have already
considered. With regard to the first, concealment, it is obvious that
it could not be accomplished, because Webster or Littlefield must know
it. The idea of going into his laboratory, to burn a body in his fur-
nace, and to conceal it from him, is as absurd as it would be for him to
come into this crowded lerl:-mcrm and undertake to do it here.

Was the body to be consimed and destroyed 2 All the evidence
shows that this could not be done without his knowledge. Drawing
off the water, burning up the fire-kindlings, so that only a small quan-
tity was left, p%’hmw his knife in the tea-chest, using up his tan,
spilling his nitrate of copper upon the stairs, pcnctnung into his pri-
vate room to get thie twine, —and the fact of that twine being kept in
Dr. Webster’s private room my learned friend found it convenient not
to remembar — the grapplings and twine being all together in that

ﬁnmm room, in & drawer, — now, I ask you, if any stranger could
ave done this, and Dr. Webster not have known it? | ut it even
upon a possible hypothesis. 1 anticipate your answer. The idea of

fastening suspicion upon Dr, Webster — what is that? It is not
shown to you that he had an enemy even in the world ; it is impossi-
ble to imagine that any man should have possessed the temeri ty of
fastening the charge of murder falsely upon such a man. And yet, if
that had been attempted by anybody, what would have been the natural
course? Why, he would have taken the dead hbody there, and left it
in its unmutilated state. Found under these circumstances, it would
have been conclusive. What was the probability of its being found ?
Suppose this hypothesis to be true — the man who killed him outside
the College, in order to fix it on Webster and get the reward, did
nothing to discover it.

Mr. Littlefield found those parts under the vault; officer Fuller
those in the tea-chest: and Coroner Pratt, or Marshal Tukey, the
bones in the furnace. If that is true, this unknown, possible person
took the most incompatible modes of carrying out his intention, and
adopted the most efficient means to defeat its fulfilment. [ am ad-
dressing reasonable men. My learned friend, pressed as he was by
the strength of the circumstances, was driven into these inconsistent
propositions, absurd and ridiculous as they are ; and he had the ability
and skill to present them in a most impressive manner.

My duty is to call you back to the testimony. There are, in this
case, two or three great, overshadowing facts, which, long ere this,
would have sent any common eulprit a doomed conviet from the pris-
oner's dock. Before adverting to them, let us consider the other prop-
osition, which has not been made — not in terms been made — but
which has been indirectly attempted to be maintained ; — I mean, the
proposition that Mr. Littlefield is not to be believed. And why ?
Because, as the Counsel was compelled to say, that, if he was be-
lieved, it did make this case a strong one against ‘the defendant.
Gentlemen of the Jury, why is he not to be believed ? By what rule
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are you sitting here, as his fellow-citizens, and under the sanction of
your oaths — by what rule of evidence, by what rule of law, by what
rule of justice, by what rule of right. are you to say that Mr. Little-
field has not entitled himself to your eredence?

There are various modes of impeaching a witness. One is, by
attacking his general reputation for veracity. That gives him an
opportunity to sustain his character by counter testimony. If the
Counsel here had undertaken that mode of attack, they knew very
well that, like the unskilful engineer, they would have been hoisted by
their own petard. They knew that we could present ample evidence,
both to corroborate his statements, and to sustain his character for
truth and veracity. Another mode is to impeach him, by showing
the conilict of his testimony with that of other eredible witnesses.
No such conflict is found here — corroboration and confirmation
rather. A third mode is, to show the inconsistencies and discrepan-
cies in his own testimony. This has been attempted — with what
fairness or success, we shall see, and you are to judge.

I have another consideration to present, which, I think. is demand-
ed by a sense of justice to an humble and honest man. To him, and
to his wife and children, his reputation is as dear as that of a College
Professor is to him, and, in the eye of the law, is entitled to equal
consideration. When I remember the load of obloquy which, coming
originally from the defendant’s lips, has been borne by Mr. Littlefield ;
the imputations which have been heaped upon him, so that, during the
rest of his life, abroad or at home, his name must ever be associated
with this terrible tragedy, — when I remember that those children of
his must have it said that Dr. Webster, and Dr. Webster’s friends, and
the reckless and thoughtless who sympathized with him at the risk of
injustice to others, imputed to their father, if not a murder, a most foul
and unrighteous conspiracy, — when [ remember, also, that he has been
here upon this stand an entire day upon his examination, and taken up,
on another day, and subjected to a cross-examination by those whe
rank with the ablest cross-examining Counsel in Massachusetts, and
been subjected to all the scrutiny and sifting which their masterly
powers could command ; when, if he was untrue, if he was open tc
contradiction, his falsehood must have been exposed,—and when I
reflect that he has gone bravely through it all, that he has come out
of the fiery furnace of an ordeal like this, without a trace of fire upon
the garment of truth which he has worn, —I put it to you, whether
he shall longer continue to bear the imputation cast upon him by this
frisnner, and which, with a less directness of charge, his Counsel
iave now undertaken to impress upon you and upon the community !
I challenge your sense of justice, whether that shall not be put to rest
forever! .

Gentlemen, are we here in a Christian Court-room? If he had
contradicted himself, or been contradicted by others — if he had been
fm'.-'ed to have done anything which opened him to such an attack —

should not, most certainly, stand here to defend him. But he is
charged with having told you an improbable story. We will see if
he has done so, in a moment. My present purpose is, to show that
injustice is done to the man. If that is the case, there is no defence
for Dr. Webster. For it is certain, that, these remains being there,
it must have been known to Littlefield or Webster. And [ think,
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besides, it conld not have been known to Littlefield, without having
been known to Webster.

I do not put Mr, Littlefield upon this stand as a man of culture —
of nice, delicate moral sense ; but I put him here as an honest man,
who fills reputably his position in lliﬁ:—a useful, though humble
one — and in that position commands the confidence of those who
know him best, and are best able to judge of him. During all this
period, when the keen, sharp eyes of the police were upon him;
when, as constable Clapp tells vou, and as Mr. Kingsley confirms him.
every nook, and corner, and crevice, every pocket, every place on
his premises, was searched ; when they had their eyes upon him,
scrutinizing him every moment, — that nothing should have been dis-
covered, — that, what is of moré importance, he should have been
retained in his place, ever since, by those very Professors whose asso-
ciate had been taken off to the cells of a prison upon his accusation,
thus manifesting their confidence in the accuser, if not their convie-
tion of the guilt of the accused, — I say, that, under these circumstances.
he is entitled to some expression of their sense of justice, from the

whole community, if there is any sense of justice left in it. It shall
~ be no fault of mine, if he does not obtain 1t. So far as my humble
voice can bear witness to iy convictions of his truth, I should feel
that I was false to every sentiment of justice, to every conviction of
duty, if I did not utter it. :

here, then, do we show Mr. Littlefield to have been? And
where do they show him to have been? For, if he was not where
the Government proves him to have been, they could have called
these persons to have contradicted him. They could have called
Drs. Holmes, Jackson, and Hanaford; Messrs. Harlow, and Thompson,
and Grant, to show whether he spoke the truth. But we could not.
I should have added, also, the members of the Suffollt Lodge, where
he went on the Tuesday night. All his whereabouts, during the
weels, have been open to contradiction. He had spread himsell just
as broadly as the Counsel could desire. There is not a syllable of
conflict. A miserable attempt was made to show, by the old man,
Mr. Green, that he had said he was present when the conversation
took place with Dr. Parkman. Even he concludes, that, upon the
whole conversation, he was mistaken in his first impression. But
the very man who took part in that conversation is put upon the
stand — Mr. Todd —and proves conclusively that he did not say any
such thing.

Now, Mr. Littlefield is entirely uncontradicted here. Let us see
what his conduet was, — and I shall go over it more cursorily than 1
otherwise should, if I did not rely upon this proposition, which you
will assent to, that in all that Littlefield has said, he has been open
to contradiction. He has been carried over all this period of time ;
and he has not been contradicted, he has been left unimpeached, and
by Counsel who would leave nothing undone which could be done to
serve the interest of their client. Then, I say to you, that I think
you are bounil to receive and accept the testimony of Mr. Littlefield
as true. For whatever there has been in it that has been the sub-
ject of coment— that looks unreasonable — we have an explana-
tion. In my view, there 1s not a single act testified to that 15 not
perfectly explicable, and explained by the theory that he had con-
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ceived a suspicion, which, in my opening statement I put before you,
he conceived as early as Sunday night. The fallacy of the argu-
ment of the Counsel will be shown, in commenting upon Mr. Little-
field's testimony. He asked why he did not do this, or that.
“ Extraordinary conduet,” he exclaims, * that Littlefield should have
gone to Webster’s room Friday night, after coming home late in the
evening!” He took that fact, without considering the others, — that
he went, at the same time, according to his custom, round into the
dissecting-room and the entries, to fasten up the building. Why
should he not try Webster’s rooms also 2

There are other objections to his testimony : — * receiving the tur-
key ; ™ “ heat of the fire felt on his face, as he passed through the
entry.” Are these suspicious and extr mnhnar:,’ actions?  The whole
fallacy of the argument is, that the Counsel proceeds upon the as-
sumption that Mr. Littlefield’s suspicion, on Sunday nizcht, was a
settled conviction. Mr. Littlefield has not the command of language.
When he says he has a suspicion, what is it? Consider the rela-
tions of the two men. Here was Littlefield, conceiving, on grounds
which I think you will justify, suspicions against his superior, upon
whom he was dependent, in some degree, for his daily bread. Those
were checked by his wife — “ For mercy’s sake, don't ever say or
think of such a thing again.” But he could not help thinking of
it. Originally, when Dr. Webster told him, with his downcast eyes,
that he had paid Dr. Parkman, and that Dr, Parkman grabbed the
money, and ran off without counting it, — when he ﬁ:uund, in connec-
tion with this, that Dr. Webster pursued the unusual course of
keeping his doors elosed against him, — why should he not entertain
the suspicion? When Dr. Webster went on, through the week, in
the same way; when he was learning that public sentiment was
settling down, decisively, upon the idea that Dr. Parkman’s remains
would be found in that College, and nowhere else ; when it came to
the point that that College might have been the scene of a riot
and a mob, — then he commeneced a search in the only place unexam-
ined — acting upon that honest suspicion, early conceived, honestly
entertained, but still cautiously acted upon, — cautious, because, if 1t
should turn out to be erroneous, where would he be? Suppose he
had undertaken to have broken through the door of that privy; what
would Dr. Webster have done, if he had caught him there, and his
suspicion had turned out to be unfounded ? Tt is not a conviction
that he is to find anything, not a probability, not an expectation,
perhaps, but a suspicion, arising out of Dr. Webster’s conduct.  Was
he the only one? Were there not suspicions from others, who had
interviews with him? What was Mr. Samuel Parkman Blake’s
feeling, when he came from that interview? And yet, Mr. Little-
field is denounced, for having entertained a ﬁuspiciun which he did
not consistently act upon. I maintain that he did aect upon it con-
sistently, when you consider the relations between him and the Pro-
fessor ; and that he should have goue, in the manner he did, to Dr.
Jadisun and Dr. Bigelow, shows the confidence of his suspicions at
that time. That he should have created no disturbance, and have
made a very cautious, hurried, and imperfect examination, when he
went in on Wednesday, is perfectly natural.

I may as well answer, here, the objection of the Counsel, that he
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took the turkey. Why should he refuse it? Should he refuse the
only present ever given him by Dr. Webster, and thus tell him his
suspicions ? It don’t appear that he ate it. But it does appear that
he did not dine at home on Thanksgiving day ; so that all the pa-
thos and poetry of my learned friend, about his eating that conse-
crated meal, received from a murderer, is entirely lost! [Langhter.]

Then the warmth of the fire felt on the face! Why should he not
feel it? As I understand it, when there is an intense heat in that
furnace, the wall would be heated after the fire had gone down ; and
the heat of the wall need not have to be very creat, in order to feel
the warmth in a natrow passage. Is there anything in that objec-
tion 2 -~ At all events, Mr. Littlefield swears to it, and he is an un-
impeached witness ; —and I feel authorized to say of him, as the Coun-
sel did of another witness, an unimpeachable one.

Then the search made in the laboratory! Why did n't he break
into the privy-door? He had alluded to it once, in the presence of
the police, and they did not choose even to ask Dr. Webster to open
it. He was not going to expose himself to the maledictions of Dr.
Webster, if he should find nothing there. But when the cloud thickens
round the College, he communicates his suspicions to the Professors,
and one of them tells him to go throngh the wall before he sleeps,
Why should not the suspicions attach to my friend Dr. Bigelow, here,

who sat beside the Attorney General,] or to Dr. Jackson? Why

id n’t they say, Go into that privy, and put a lantern down, and dis-
cover what youcan? You are not to assume that something decisive
had been discovered about Dr. Webster, and that Littlefield knew that
the remains were there, or that he suspected that they were there to
the degree that the Counsel seems to believe. He held the suspicion
cautiously, as a man naturally would held it, and acted accordingly.
Then there was secrecy pledged on the part of Dr. Jackson. Of
course. secrecy ! Secrecy all through, until something was discovered !
And when those suspicions npened into certainty, as they did when
the remains were found, then, if Mr. Littlefield were not an honest
man, and an honest witness —1if he had a purpose to implieate Dr,
Webster, why did not he point out the tea-chest ? why did not he
point out the bones? He did neither.

Now, Gentlemen, if there is anything, in any system of law, which
lies at the foundation of all justice, it is that, if a man is to be put
upon his trial, he should first be accused. And that is what my
friends on the other side have been insisting upon. They say that
we have not charged Dr. Webster with sufficient precision, in our in-
dictment. They did not undertake to charge Littlefield at all ; and yet
they undertake to try him ; and it is the breath of an advocate alone
which is to fix and fasten infamy upon an honest, though a humble
man. Gentlemen, is that justice — Christian justice ? Let them
come out! Let this prisoner have come out, through his friends and
his Counsel, and, in the open face of day, have undertaken to fasten
this charge upon Mr. Littlefield, and it would have been met—success-
fully, da'cisively met!  Remember, Gentlemen, that, at a critical pe=
riod in the history of these events, this prisoner and this witness, Lit-
tlefield, have once been face to face. Littlefield has confronted him.
The dependent has stood up before the superior ; — the superior has
been dumb before the dependent ! ;
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Remember the testimony of all the witnesses who were at the Col-
lege as early as Tuesday of that week, that, when the significant al-
lusion was made to the privy on the first day, and to the privy-key
on the second, that Littlefield, in a natural manner, stands up before
the Professor, and says, * That is Dr. Webster’s private privy. He is
the only person who has the key;” and Dr. Webster bows them po-
litely out of the door. And when the key was asked for again, on
the second occasion — the Friday of the arrest — M, Littlefield said
again, “ Dr. Webster keeps that key.” What, then, does Dr. Web-
ster do, with respeet to Littlefield? This man, whose accusation
against him is to strip him of name, reputation, perhaps life itself —
what does he answer? “ He is dumb before the shearer. and opens
not his mouth.”

When he gets to that dimly-lighted laboratory, standing off nine
feet, at the-nearest, from the body, he pronounces upon the identity of
theseremains; and yet, he does not hesitate, behind Mr. Littlefield’s bacl,
to charge him with conspiracy against him ! But before his face, what
does he do @ What would an innocent man have done, when face to face
with the man whom he says he always hated — although he began to
manifest some kindly feelings on the Tuesday before, when he made
him the first and only present he ever made, in an intimate in-
tercourse of seven years ? When confronted there by him, as an inno-
cent man, he would have said, * Why, Mr. Littlefield, you have had
access to my rooms ; you can explain this.” But not a word ! — net
a word ! When the two men were together, there was foreshadowed
what has since been followed up, and made clear to every eye. Lat-
tlefield has spoken out everything ; — Dr. Webster has spoken oue
nothing. Now, through the breath of his Counsel, is this witness to
be attacked, before a Jury and before the world, as not being entitled
to credit and belief? No, Gentlemen! go down into your own hearts,
and see what justice you would demand for yourselves, in a case like
this; and what you would demand for yourselves, extend to him! 1
ask no more.

I should have added another thing that was unmistakable in the
conduct of Littlefield — the conduct exhibited by him when those re-
mains were found. He and his wife were examined here separately
— apart from each other. What a field was thus opened to the de-
fendant for detecting untruth and inconsistency, if any existed! It
was impossible for them to have imagined what questions would be
asked them; and, if there had been anything untrue in their answers,
would not have Mrs. Littlefield crossed her husband’s track, in a rig-
orous cross-examination ¢ And yet there is not a particle of conflict.
“When he came up,” says Murs. Littlefield, in simple and truthful
phrase. “ he bursted out a-crying.” The Counsel talks about Mr. Little-
field being the janitor of that College, and therefore familiar with sub-
jects of dissection. True, Gentlemen; but even he, familiar as he
was with them, when that awful truth, which had been but first
a vague suspicion, and had kindled its flame in other minds gradually
along through that week, till he had been compelled, from his fear
of what might happen to the College, to go into that vault, — when
that ripened into the certainty that the remains of Dr. Parkman were
there — that the founder and patron of the institution had had his
mutilated and dishonored bedy thrown down under its basement—
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even he could not choose but weep! Was it not a natural expression
of feeling, which would thus have been extorted even from a man of
flint, — which you see, by his appearance on the stand, that he is not ?
What opportunity had Littlefield to be in any way concerned in this
matter? Mr. Littlefield was in Dr. Holmes’ lecture-room within five
minutes, probably, of the time when Dr. Parkman entered that build-
ing.
Chief Justice Shaw. Did he not go into Professor Wares room ?

Mr. Clifford. Yes, your Honor. But he went to Dr. Holmes’ before
the close of the lecture. He assisted him in what he had to do, after
his lecture was finished. He then came down, with Dr. Holmes, at a
quarter past two o’clock. Now, we cannot ask Dr. Holmes the ques-
tion, whether that statement is true, because Littlefield having stated
it,and being unimpeached, he could not be corroborated ; but they had
it in their power to contradict him, if the statement was untrue.

Then, according to Littlefield’s testimony, he made his preparations
for the fires in the furnaces of the medical lecture-room and the dissect-
ing-room ; and also prepared the stove in Dr.Ware’s private room ; and
at three o’clock Dr. Bosworth calls there, and finds him engaged in these
accustomed occupations, and in his ordinary dress. There we have
Littlefield, at five minutes before two, at a quarter past two, at three
o'clock ; and then, at four o’clock, he was lying down, as we prove by
his wife's niece; and Mr. Pettee calls, and testifies that he saw him.
And then we find, from half past five to six o'clock, he dresses him-
self, and goes to Mr. Grant’s dancing academy, and he is there that
whole evening. Now, where is Dr. Webster?

Then there is another consideration, with which I shall leave this
matter. If Mr. Littlefield had anything to do with that body, he had
access to that receptacle of the bones from the dissecting-room, and
could command an entranece to it; his throwing anything down in
it would have excited nobody’s suspicions who might be passing
through the entry; he understood that lock, and if he bad those
remains there for any other purpose than for the gross and incredible
%H‘Jrl"]ﬂﬁ{-; I have already discussed. — of fastening suspicion upon Dr.

ebster, — he could have deposited them in the dissecting-vault, be-
yond all doubt.

The question is asked, why did not Dr. Webster deposit them in
the dissecting-vault? Two satisfactory reasons! You know whether
he had access to it. I very much doubt whether he knew where the
key was kept, or could have unlocked it, if he did. When yon visited
the building, Gentlemen, you tried that lock, and ascertained for
yourselves how difficult it was to unlock it. The other reason is,
that he was exposed, while there, at any moment, to observation, from
the students, who were passing, day and night, to that dissecting-
room.

But all these possible alternatives of what he might have done
suggest another consideration; and it covers a large portion of the
Counsel’s argument, about the folly of the prisoner, if he was really
guilty. When you are tracing the history of a criminal — when you
are attempting to mark out the course which he has pursued — you
must remember, that, in judging of his course, and in weighing his
conduct, in your anxiety and your conscientionsness of purpose, to
arrive at the truth, your own honest hearts can furnish you with no
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common standard. What he would do, you cannot easily conceive.
We always hear of the folly of a criminal. It is very rare that a
great crime is eommitted without prompting such remarks as, “ that
he would not be fool enough to have acted so unwisely, so indis-
creetlv.” It is not in the order of Divine Providence, that a man
engaged in a criminal enterprise shall retain the possession of those
facalties which were given him to be used in the work and the wa s
of virtue. And the course he takes may be, to the intelligence of
merest child, the extremest folly, when, in his own mind, it is the
height of adroitness and art. Crime is foolish; it has always been
g0, from the beginning; it always will be so, untl the end. It
is as true now as it ever was, that * guilt bedarkens and confounds
the mind flnan,”—tiiat “human will, of God abandoned. in its web
of snares strangles its own intent.”

Oue further suggestion, arising out of the proof in this case, may
impress your mmd:—, as it has my own. ff?ﬂ man has an object
which he wishes to get rid of, the possession of which is fatal to him,
or, rather, the world’s knowledge of the possession of which would be
fatal to him, what is the most obvious thing that oceurs to him, as
the instrument and agency of destruction? Fire! fire!—for that
reduces the organized structure to a mass of undistinguishable
ashes.

Mr. Foreman, suppose, to-day, a person should intrust to your
keeping the simplest thing, with an injunction upon you, that your
possession of it must not be known to any human being; that the
discovery of it in your possession would be ruinous and fatal, invely-
in,r: your reputation, your liberty, your life. Now, put it to !l"uur.?,elf
in what manner you would endeavor to dispose of it, so that all trace
of your connection with it might be beyond the reach of human dis
covery. You might have an nppﬂmmii}' to bury it.  Still, the fear
would arise that some person might exhume it. It would burn. You
must get rid of it.  “ And yet,” you say, “if I leave any trace of it,
I am not certain—1I am not safe. Its relics may come up ar some
future time to confront me. If I throw it into the sea, that sea may
give it up again; and it may be traced to me. Butif I can destroy
it by fire, I shall be secure.”

It is not the possession of the thing, but the terrible consequences
that will follow from the world’s knowledge of that possession, that
renders its destruction so difficult and perplexing to him upon whom
those consequences will be visited. A narrow line, marked out upon
a level floor, may be confidently traversed by a child, without an ncli-
nation to either side. But broaden that pathway ten-fold, and let it
streteh across a chasm, and the man of the firmest nerves, and the
mostldpra::l,ised self-command, would no more dare to cross it than he
Would to '

——— “’erwalk a current roaring loud,
On the unsteadfast footing of a spear.”

And so with this learned Professor! For in that his intellectual
sell-discipline makes him ne exception to the common lot.  When he
had that body fo dispose of, he had two things to do. And we come
now to a consideration of what he did, to show his connection with

the murder of Dr. George Parkman. He had, I say, two things to
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do: t.me_. to destroy the body, and all things pertaining to Dr. Park-

man, whether of his remains or his effects ; and, at the same time, he
was to avoid suspicion. He was to keep up his natural and custom-
ary deportment. He was not to seem to be embarrassed anywhere—
he was not to be caught anywhere, or at any moment, off his guard. If
a person spoke to him in relation to Dr. Parkman, he was to be in a
condition to meet the subject with calmness and seli-possession. He
was to maintain that external demeanor which would enable him to

to Professor Treadwell’s, and sit down and converse upon indif-
erent topics. He was to make it appear that he was at Cambridge
at times inconsistent with the destruction of that body.

But, it may be said, that, although this was his obvious course of
conduct, if he could so command and control himself, yet, that it was
not within the compass of his, or of any man’s power, to accomplish it.
Gentlemen, you have seen him here, through these two past weeks;
you have seen what his deportment has been, during all the solemnity
and impressiveness that have marked the progress of this trial ; you
have seen him, when others were affected to tears, — when the Judges
upon the bench, the Counsel at the bar, the witness upon the stand,
the entire audience throughout this hall, were unable altogether to
repress their emotion ; you have seen him when his own daughters
were upon the stand, and even the hardened hearf of a public prose-
cutor was too much moved to subject them to a cross-examination ;
through all these scenes, is not he a psychological phenomenon,
who, like this prisoner, innocent or guilty, could remain unmoved?
Never has he blenched but once, — never, but when detection, expos-
ure, discovery, yawned before him. Then, he drooped and fell pros-
trate. as innocence never did. That prostration continued through
all the horrors of that night of his arrest, and the day that followed
it. And when reassured, by the visits of his legal friend and adviser,
he rose again to the great conflict. and was calm ; calm everywhere,
at all times, under all circumstances; so long as he had anything to
Tesist, to fight against, this power has been at his command ; — it has
failed him only when fear — the fear of exposure, detection—like the
sense of guilt, crushed all his manhood out of him. *Take an
shape but that,” he has been able to say, “and my firm nerves shaﬂ
never tremble *

My. Franklin Dexter (who was sitting near the prisoner’s Counsel.)
Is there any evidence that I interfered in this matter ?

Mr. Clifford. There is evidence, sir, that you was sent for to visit
him at the jail.

Mr. Dexter. I should like to know who testified to it.

Mr. Clifford. Gentlemen, I shall have occasion to advert to this

in. I'am here to discharge my duty with fairness and justice to
everybody, but with fearlessness also, whatever may be the impressions
of those around me. I have mentioned no man’s name, and alluded
to no man’s presence, who does not appear in this cause.

I now come to state the evidence which attaches to the prisoner,
and shows him to have been connected with the murder of Dr, Georze
Parkman. We have waited for an explanation of this evidence, and
we have waited in vain. Undoubtedly we repel, as by an instinet,
the presumption that such a man as Dr. Webster could commit such
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a deed. I was not unimpressed with the comments which the Coun-
sel made in view of such a proposition.

His former fair reputation, as shown by the evidence, is admitted.
The fact that he held a Professorship in Harvard College is evidence
enough of this. And it is honorable to us, that we do hold education
in snch respect, that, when an educated man, and a man holding a
high social position, is charged with a crime, our people —not the
educated alone, but the humble, the illiterate — repel at once the prob-
ability of its truth.

But, Gentlemen, we deceive ourselves. The annals of crime forbid
us to indulge this pleasant delusion. We have been too much accus-
tomed to regard it as native only to the low levels of social life, — as
skulking ount from its dark hiding-places of squalor, ignorance, and
depravity, to inflict its deadly blows upon society. But the histo
of great crimes of violence shows us that neither intellectual culture,
hi Pi‘n social position, nor even the refining influences of cultivated do-
mestic life, can prove a shield against strong temptation, acting upon
a frivolous and neutral character — upon a character that has not its
anchorage deep and firm in steadfast religious prineiple. There is a
class of character, thank God ! and we have instances around us now,
which, of itself. would be almost sufficient to countervail any amount
of circumstantial proof that those who bear it had been seduced
into crime. But the proof in this case, which shows the connection
of the prisoner with Dr. Parkman, forbids us to class him in that
category of men of irrepproachable virtue. It prompts rather the sad
sugeestion — “ See what a geodly outside falsehood hath” — when
we see the best and purest men among us take the stand to testify to
his former reputation.

This case must go far to correct the popular notions on this subject.
It must impress us with the great truth, that out of the Aeart of man,
not out of his head, are the issues of life, and all those restraining
influences which keep him in the way of virtue. If the influences
which come from within are wanting, no matter what his degree of
intellectual culture, no matter what the graces and accomplishments
of which he is master, no matter what may be his reputation among
those who can see enly the outside of the man, — when the great trial
of temptation comes — the temptation, it may be, to keep from expos-
ure and ruin that very reputation, a fair though a false one — he
knows not, no one can know, what *“he may be left to do.”

The work of spiritual dilapidation may have been going on within
him, unobserved by the world’s eye; and the first indication that the
fair outside fabric of his character is not free from crack or blemish,
is in its sudden, utter, and irretrievable fall! There never was a
maxim so much perverted in its application as that which has been
cited and dwelt upon by the Counsel, both in the opening and the
close, that * No man becomes suddenly vile.” This may be true; but
it does not follow, that the first overt act of guilt is the first step from
virtue. It is the first, perhaps, that the world sees; and yet the
world’s judgment may have been long an erroneous one.

Between such a man as I have described, and the poor outeast,
with whose face the prisoner’s dock is associated, there are two modes
in which the world arrives at its decision, and pronounces its judg-
ment. We tried, the other day, in a neighboring county, a man born
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and bred among us, under the influence of our institutions all his
life, for the murder of his wife and two sleeping children. For one
in his condition, insanity was the ready and obvious defence, — while,
if he had been an educated, gently nurtured, simulating sinner, the
cant of the day would as obviously sucgested the other answer, that
the moral evidence outweighs the circumstantial proof —such a
crime could not have been committed by such a man!

No, Gentlemen! wherever, and in whatever outward circumstaneces,
you find the keart of man, with all its deceiiful passions, and, in the
* strong language of Holy Writ, “its desperate wickedness,” there you
will find the liableness to and the potentiality of crime.

And it is fortunate for society, that it is upon no fine theories,
which it may be pleasant but fatal to us to cherish, but upon the
lecal proof presented to them, that the duties of Jurors are to be dis-
charged.

You are to try this prisoner upon this proof; and from that, you
are to say, as reasonable men, whether this charge against him has
not been made out by the Government.

Before going to that proof, it may be proper for me, as a set-off to
some of the cases cited by my friend on the other side, in his uqcniug,
to present a few historical cases of an opposite character. [ have
before me a list of them, from which I will select two or three, the
study of which leads to the precise result to which my recent remarks
have tended, and which are an answer to those cases and those consider-
ations which were presented to you by the Counsel on the other side.

It is now just about one hundred years since, in our mother
country, an accomplished scholar, a lecturer and teacher, was arraigned
before the highest judicial tribunal of that realm, to answer to the
charge of having murdered, twelve years before, another man, for
money. And the evidence that that man was dead was the discov-
ery of his bones in a cave, where they had been deposited by the
murderer. During that interval of twelve years, that murderer, with
the red stains of blood upon his hands, had wielded the pen of a
scholar; had corresponded with the most learned men ; was engaged,
at the time of his arrest, in the preparation of a most learned diction-
ary, which embraced a knowledge of other languages besides his
own. That accomplished scholar, Engene Aram, who has been the
subject of a celebrated work of fiction, of a history stranger than
any fiction, was tried, convicted and executed, for that murder, com-
mitted twelve years before.

So with a reverend divine of the Church of England, Dr. Dodd,
who was executed, during the last century, for a crime, which the
whole civilized world held up its hands with horror, to find perpetrated
by a man like him. And yet, he confessed it all.

But we need not cross the ocean or the century to obtain such
instances. Take the case of Colt, in New York, for the murder of
Adams. There was an indebtedness, and the victim was beguiled,
by an appointment, into the place of business of his murderer, and
slain for a paltry debt.

The case, in New Jersey, of Robinson, who killed Mr. Suydam
in his own cellar, and, by a strange concurrence of cireumstances, was

detected, was tried and convicted, then confessed, and was executed,
1s another instance.
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Take the case of another educated man, Dr. Coolidge, of Maine.
What was there to have prompted him to erime, any more than the
unhappy prisoner here? No, Gentlemen! it is not in any consider-
ations derived from the cases cited by the defence that you are to
look for the exculpation of this prisoner, or to have the weight of this
evidence impaired in the least degree. : ;

Reputation is one thing, character is another. A man who could
do what is proved by the most incontestable evidence the prisoner
nas done, cannot come here, and stand before a Jury, and put himself
upon his character, and nothing else, without asking them first to
obliterate all moral discriminations, and to surrender to a prejudice
the real convictions that the facts must force upon their minds.

Now, Gentlemen, let us come to the consideration of the faets
which go to show that Dr. Webster was concerned in the death of
Dr. Parkman. I think I hgve shown hitherto that Dr. Parkman
never left that building after he went into that College; that all the
evidence of his having been seen that afternoon is really of no account ;
that he could not have been slain by any other person; that it could
not have been done, especially by Mr, Littlefield. And now, we come
to the consideration of this great question— Was he slain by the
prisoner at the bar ?

First, let us consider the relation which Dr. Webster bore to Dr.
Parkman. 1 do not know that I care to have a better deseription of
that than was given to you by my learned friend who closed this
defence. He expressed 1t in connection with the proposition, that, if
he did commit the aet, it was manslaughter, and not murder. He
represented him, and I adopt the description so far as it shows
Dr. Webster the debtor whom his creditor believed had done him
a fraudulent wrong, and that Dr. Parkman was acting upon that
belief, in pressing for the payment of his debt. And I think it is
true, that, when you take into account the fact that Dr. Webster had
promised Dr Parkiman, from month to month, and from week to week,
and (rom day to day, up to the time of that fatal Friday, that he should
have his money from the proceeds of the sale of his lecture-tickets ;
then, when he knew that all the proceeds of those tickets were ap-
propriated to other objects — that he could not pay him {rom them;
when you see, alse, that Dr. Parkman held a mortgage on his house-
hold furniture; when youn see that he had threatened him with ex-

osure ;— for it appears, from a communication made to Dr. Parkman
y Robert G. Shaw, that, on the 9th of November, two days after the
lectures commenced, Dr. Parkman calls upon him; that on the 12th
and 14th he calls on Mr. Pettee ; that on Monday, the 19th, he calls
on Dr. Webster again — which is an important fact ignored by Dr.
Webster; that aflterwards Dr. Webster sent a note to him, which the
Counsel regretted could not be here; —1I join in that regret ; every
possible search has been made for it:; he doubtless had it in his
pocket when he was murdered ; — when that is followed up by a
visit to Cambridge, on Thursday ; and the toll-gatherer tells you that
he came down to the bridge, about that peried, maore than once, in-
quiring for Dr. Webster ; when we consider all this, we have a pretty
clear understanding of the relations between these parties.

Dr. Parkinan is following him up continually, For what? Dr.
Webster has no money to meet him. What is {liﬁ condition? Here
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is this ereditor, inexorable, as he calls him, and as his Counsel
echoes — inflexible, I think, would have been more just. The cloud
over him is broadening and blackening, day by day. What can he
do? What is he exposed to? The disclosure to the world of his
false but fair character! The exposure of his frand! But more,
and that which comes-nearest home to the bosom of such a man —
for I grant you he has strong domestic affections, and warm attach-
ments — that which comes nearest home to the hosom of such a man
is, that all his effects were liable to be seized, at any moment, and
his home stripped of that which stood as security for his debts. His
household furniture was all that was left. The minerals, as you will
see, when you examine the mortgage, were already disposed of, and
money raised on them to pay his debts. That had all been exhausted.
You will see, by the papers we put in, that his friends’ benevolence
and beneficence had been exhausted, and he had no resources left.
He was left stripped and bare, to receive the shock, coming upon
him from this creditor, whose just indignation he had reason to dread.
What was involved in this impending blow, which he thus feared
was about to be struck Aome upon him? The loss of caste! The
loss of reputation! For he could not stand an hour, with that repu-
tation assailed and exposed.

Now, Gentlemen, when you come to motive, I undertake to say,
that no poor, illiterate outcast, from the dregs of social life, who
prowls out from his hiding-place to steal the bread for himself, starv-
ing, or for his starving wife and children, ever had a motive which
addressed itself with more force to him, than was thus addressed to
this prisoner by circumstances like these, to get rid, in some way,
in any way, of this tremendous cloud that was darkening all around
him, and deepening every hour. Certainly he was the last man with
whom Dr. Parkman is shown to have been in contact. Dr. Parkman
is found dead on his premises, and under his lock and key; and he
gives no explanation. His property is found in his possession ; and he
gives a false account of how he came by it. His body is mutilated,
“under such circumstances as [ have shown you could not'exist with-
out the prizsoner’s knowledge. His own movements, acts, declarations,
and the unconscious disclosures which his fear of detection wrung
from him, are evidences of his guilt.

Now, Gentlemen, what were his financial relations to Dr. Park-
man? Here is a most instructive chapter. Dr. Parkman had held
two mortgages : — one to secure the $400 note, which was given in
1842 ; and another, which secured that note, and another note for
$2432, which was given in 1847. The mortgage that was given
in 1847 covered all his household furniture, all his books, min-
erals, and other objects of Natural History. That cabinet had been
disposed of, so that all that was left to secure this mortgage was the
household furniture, and what books he may have had. That $2432
included the $400 note.

In 1542, Dr. Parkman had made a loan to Dr. Webster of $400,
and had taken a mortgage.

Judge Merrick. ‘There is no evidence of it.

Mr. Cliffard. It appears that it was so. He took his note for
$400. In 1847, a loan is made to Webster, of which Dr. Parkman
contributes $500. The whole amount of that loan is $1600. In

17
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addition to that, there is a balance of %322, which is ihcluded as an
indebtedness to Dr. Parkman ; 8500 contributed, and $332 which
15 still due on the $400 note.  Dr. Parkman takes the mortgage for
himself, and for all the other contributors, in his own name. Dr.
Webster, in the mean time, according to the statement found in his
gﬂEEEEEimh made by his friend, Mr. Canningham, had paid all Dr,

arkman’s portion of that loan, except $125, which the Doctor, as'a
mere act of kindness, had given up.

Now, in April 25th, 1849, the actual indebtedness from Dr. Web-
ster to Dr. Parkman was $456.27. That was made up of three
items. The old balance of $343.83, upon that $400 note ; $125 of
the new loan, and from these is to be deducted $17.56; which Mr.
Cunningham says Dr. Webster has a receipt for. Thaose, you will
see, are the items which make up $456.27; and they are all due at
different times. All Dr. Parkman’s interest in that #2432 note is in-
cluded in the $456.27. Then Mr. Cunningham tells him,

“ You owe Dr. ‘Parkman  $456.27
Mr. Prescott 312.50

Mrs. Prescott 125.00

Mr. Nye 50.00

Mr., Cunningham 25.00
$968.77.”

Now, do you think that Dr. Parkman, with his habits of business,
intended to go to Cambridge and cancel that mortgage ? You will
remember that [ invited the Counsel to explain this. But they
stopped their evidence at this point, and so it stands upon the papers,
Now, Dr. Parkman never intended to earry that mortgage to the
Medical College, with any such purpnse. Other parties had an in-
terest here.  He says, on this very note, that the other mortgage of
the %400 note is to be cancelled, when he receives 8332 on the
large note. He had received $375 before Mr. Cunningham made
his examination. Then there was a balanee due him, as we have
shown, of $456.27. : ;

Chief Justice Shaw. What was the date of the note of 18472

Myr. Clifford. It reads as follows : —

« January 22, 1847,
Value received, I promise to pay to George Parkman, or order,
twenty-four hundred and thirty-two dollars, within four years from
date, with interest yearly ; a quarter of said capital sum being to be
paid vearly. JOHN W. WEBSTER.
Witness :
Cuarres CunNingHAM,"

You see that this note is at four years. That reminds me of an-
other thing ; — it was not due. * Value received, I promise to pay to
George Parkman, or order, twenty-four hundred and thirty-two dol-
lars, within four years.” Buta quarter of it only was to be paid
{‘:aarljf. If he did expect to get his pay, what would he have done?

"ould he have given up that note to him, leaving his friends to seek
their remedies as they could ? Dr. Webster had his statement from
Mr. Canningham in April, 1849, It was a sum without interest.




259

Having obtained these notes from Dr. Parkman— having got these
notes into his possession — he is to make up his story ; and, in order
to do that, he must fix upon the sum he had paid to Dr. Parkman. He did
not owe Dr. Parkman $483.64. on the 23d of November. We prove
that by his own documents; we prove it by the papers found in his
own wallet. He sets down o frame his story ; — and there is the most
- extraordinary document ever found in the pocket of an honest man.
You will remember the interviews he had with Dr. Parkman, On the
Bth of November, Dr. Parkmman calls on him. On Monday, the
19th, he calls again, and leaves him with that declaration,
“ To-morrow something must be done!” The next day, he writes the
note. You will find that the Monday night of the interview is en-
tirely ignored. Nothing is =aid about the Doctor’s going over to
Cambridge to see him ; nothing between the 9th and the fatal 23d.
What is the story he prepares ?  He tells it twice on the same piece
of paper. What is the object of that? [sa man keeping a journal
on such a piece of paper as that? If he were, it is important. If
he is writing an account in consequence of the disappearance of Dr.
Parkman, why, he had already communicated it to Dr. Franeis Park-
man, to Mr. Blake, and others ! But, Gentlemen, there is intrinsic
evidence that here,on the 23d, he did not owe Dr. Parkman $453.64,
That was not the sum he owed him. He is to set down and fix that
sum. Here is his paper: —
« Nov. 9th, rec’d £510
For Dr. Bigelow 254

e

Pettee, cash $276.

Dr. Parkman came to the lecture room — took the front left hand
seat.” — Of what importance was that ? — “ Suddenly stopped, came to
me, and asked for money. Desired him to wait till Friday, Novem-
ber 23d,” — thus, you see, stepping over entirely the evening of the
19th,—*as all the tickets were not paid for, but no doubt would be
then. A good deal excited! Went away! Friday, 23d, called at his
house about nine; told him, if he would call soon after one, he should
have the money. He called soon after one, and I paid him.” Now,
there is added to that, at a different time, with different colored ink,
«$483.64." There is added, * Said 1 owed him $483.64." This
would imply that he had fixed upon his story. Here are his own lig-
ures ; and yet he states that Dr. Parkman says he owed him, on the
9th, $453.64. Then he says, on the 23d, after a half month’s inter-
est, that he paid him just that sum. Do you think, if Dr. Parkman
was standing on points like these with this man — that if he owed
him that amount on the 9th, he would not have insisted on the one or
two dollars interest which would have accrued on the 23d2 Do you
think he would say nothing about the continuing of the interest to
the 23d ?

Then, on the paper which Dr. Webster wrote afterwards, I think
you can see, between his writing these two pages, that he had fixed
this amount in this way :

“ $456.27 due April 25th, 1849.

2737 interest.

453.64.
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Now, if you will reckon, you will see that that is six per cent,
which would carry it over to April 25th, 1850, Do you think that
Dr. Webster would have paid a year's interest, when only seven or
eight months’ was due 2 But perhaps you will say that he did not do
it, and that this amount is made up from other items — from the $125
and the $17.56, to which I have already alluded, which was a receipt
of money which Dr. Webster had paid Dr. Parlman, But he evi-
dently did do it by casting this year's interest, as we show by his
own figures. Now, to say that you are to cast six per cent. on all the
above items is palpably wrong, because he had Eifﬁ:rent times for
which to compute the interest on the several items. The computa-
tion is made of the six per cent. on $456.27, and it brought him
$453.64.

Now he says, “9th, due Dr. Parkman $453.64, by his account.
Desired him to wait till Friday, 23d. Friday, one and a half, paid.
He to clear mortgage,” and the other matters, which are not material.
You will have the paper with you, and you will see for yourselves.

Here is another piece of paper. Here iz found in his wallet a little
piece of paper bearing the figures $453.64, and another little piece
which had reference to something else —* Jug— keys —tin box —
solder!” I do not care to go into that. Why is this memorandum
of $453.64 put into his pocket and carried about? It is evident that
it is all a falsehood. But it is a fiction which concerns his reputation
— which concerns everything near to him — that he should be con-
sistent in ; and it would not do for him to change it. Having com-
mitted himself to Parkman and Blake, he must adhere to his state-
ment to them. Lest he should omit, by some slip of the tongue, giv-
ing the right amount, he carefully puts down $453.64, and puts it
into his wallet ; and carries this, a double version of the affair, omit-
ting two interviews, making a rate of interest which did not exist!
And then, Gentlemen, what is more important than all, there is found,
in the way in which you have already been apprized, through the let-
ter written to his daughter, ¢ Tell mamma not to open the little bun-
dle which I gave her the other day, but to keep it,”” —a bundle that
turns out to be these two notes. And yet, from beginning to end, he
represents Dr, Parkman as taking that money from him, turning sud-
denly round, and dashing his pen through tille signature, He says
not a word about two notes, expressly confining his statement to one
Eirmcf.- of paper. And yet, here are found in his possession two notes,

aring those marks, which, if made by Dr. Parkman, must have re-
quired those dashes to have been made, as it is proved neither one
of them was made by a pen. That is placed beyond question, by the
uncontradicted testimony of both the experts, — Mr. Gould and Mr.
Smith, We can show you how it might have been done. You
will have an opportunity to see how it might have been done, by a
peculiar instrument found on his premises. But, at all events, he has
falsified; and it is not the most serious thing about which he has
falsified.

AFTERNOON.

[Mr. Clifford resumed his argument, and continued as follows : —]
hope, Gentlemen of the Jury, I shall very soon relieve you and
mysell from the examination of this painful case. I am awarelhave
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already occupied more of your time than I expected I should have oc-
casion to, and I thank you for your patient attention. But there isa
duty resting on me which I cannot evade. 1 proceed now to consid-
er, in connection with the remarks [ have already submitted to you
this morning, the proposition that Dr, Webster has falsified, notwith-
standing all his Eeclamtions; and you will judge how consistent
those declarations are, when you come to consider the statements he
made to James H. Blake, to Mr. Littlefield, and to Dr. Parkman, on
Sunday, in connection with the statement to Mr. Thompson, his own
witness, This last-named witness, under his own hand, has testified
that Dr. Webster told him there were two persons present when he
paid the money ; and he now states that he thinks he was told there
were two persons present, though he is not quite certain that this was
the statement — but that there were two persons, one of whom was
the janitor, who had just left. Now, either of these statements was
untrue,

Then the statement he made to Mr. S. P. Blake, ahout his intrusting
the mortgage to Dr. Parkman, to carry it over to Cambridge to can-
cel 1t, 1s untrue. Dr. Parliman wnui:i, never have attempted to can-
cel that mortgage, involving as it did the interests of other parties.
Then, take all the circumstances under which he states that Dr. Park-
man received that money, and went out from that building with the
bills in his hands; — I put it to you to say whether that representation
was true.

I now come tp a more serious matter still. T say to you, that, from -
the evidence in this case, he told the toll-gatherer that he had
paid Dr. Parkman, when he had not paid him. I say to you, from the
evidence here, and from the absence of evidence, that he never paid
that money at all. Take the deposits in the Charles River Bank, and
the manner in which they were drawn out, and compare them, at your
leisure, with the account which Mr. Pettee rendered here, as the col-
lecting agent of Dr. Webster, of the times he paid him money.

It now appears that the whole number of students was 107. Mr.
Pettee has accounted for 99. Mr. Littlefield for two. Where could
he have obtained the money to pay this? Not from the sale of the
tickets, the proceeds of which he had — in his embarrassed circum-
stances, arising out of an improvident mode of living, which, of itself,
is dishonesty — devoted to other objects. A man who lives beyond his
means, knowingly, and trusts to the chances of making others the suf-
ferers, 15 a dishonest man.

Take these representations, and take the evidence before you, and
then ask from what source he derived that money, and you have the
great, overshadowing falsehood, which goes to the root of this whole
case. '©Lhis prisoner, and his Counsel, have never been unmindful of
the great importance of showing where he got the money to pay that
$455.64 to Dr. Parkman.

Let me say, that for four months he has had at his command the
entire treasury of this Commonwealth, to summon here every witness
from whom he had received a dollar.

Judge Merrick. How can that be ? — four months!

My, Clifford. You will observe the Coroner’s Inquest was held
immediately after this terrible event. You will observe that the mo-
ment the results of that inquest were placed in my hands, they were
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passed to him, before I had read them myself; and he has had them
from that hour to this. Iam willing to take a still more recent pe-
riod — the finding of the indictment, in January, 1550, I am willing
to take that as the time from whence they saw the importance of as-
certaining where the money came from ; but not a syllable of explan-
ation is vouchsafed to us. And why? Because he{md no money to
coeme from any quarter — least of all, from that which he declared to
the toll-gatherer it did come from — the sale of his tickets.

The law of this Commonwealth places its entire treasury at their
command. Every dollar expended for witnesses, or for the officers
who summon them, is paid by the Commonwealth, as well for the
prisoner as the Government. He has lacked nothing, in the vigilance
and acuteness of Counsel, in knowing all the points made against
him, or in furnishing the means that could explam them.

Every student that attended his lectures might have been sum-
moned. Every one who has paid to Mr. Pettee, or anybody else,
could have come upon that stand, and shown us, to a mathematical
demonstration, how much he has paid, and to whom. Gentlemen. not
a dollar is shown ! '

By the comparison of these fwo accounts — of the deposits in the
Charles River Bank, and of the payments made by Mr. Pettee — you
find a perfect coincidence, with a single exception. On the 14th of
November, Mr. Pettee paid him $195, and ou the next day he depos-
ited $150. And now the suggestion is, that he took out a $100 hill,
of the New England Banlk, and substituted other smaller bills for it;
that he took out the $45; and that he was gradually hoarding up the
sums to pay this note.. This is too transparent a fallacy to put to the
intelligence of the Jury.

We come to the unhappy conviction, that, if there is anything proved
here, it is that Dr. Webster had no money to pay to Dr. Parkman;
that he was compelled to prepare his statement and his stery, and he
did it in the manner I have stated to you.

Then, that interview with Mr. Pettee. What does it indicate 2
Why, Gentlemen, it was an accidental interview. Mr. Pettee states
to you that he communicated no message. He calls there at nine
o’clock on that fatal morning ; and what does Dr. Webster try to im-
press upon his mind ? Why, he tells him that audacious falsehood,
that Dr. Parkman was a peculiar man— subject to aberration of
mind — that he had placed his business out of his hands, and put it
into the hands of Mr. Blake. © But,” said he, “ you will have no
more trouble with Dr. Parkman., I fave seftled with him.” That
was after he had made an appointment with him to go into the Medi-
cal College, where, separate and surrounded and walled in from all the
rest of the building, his own apartments were, as Dr. Holmes testi-
fies. And is there not a strange inconsistency in the stor_-ivthat he
went to Dr. Parkman’s to have a settlement with him? hy not
have paid him there ? Is there a particle of evidence that he was in
a better condition to pay him at hall past one than at nine o'clock ?
Did not Dr. Parkman do business at his own house 7 If he had the
money, he would have said, * Thank God, I will get rid of this ered-
itor now ! What evidence is there that he received this money be-
tween nine o'clock and half past one o'clock? Whoever there was
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who paid him in that brief interval, they have had the resources of
this &vemment to bring here upon that stand and enlighten you;
and, believe me, nothing which they could do has been left undone.

Ifhedid not pay Dr. Parkman,—aud that he did not, isapparent from
all these facts, and perhaps as strongly from this fact as all others, that
Dr. Parkman never would have given upthat note or cancelled that mort-
gare, which involved the interest of other partics — never in the
world ! — if hedid not pay the money — if he did not have the money to
to pay with — then how did he get those notes 2 You will find a liutle
memorandum on one of them, that it was paid Nov. 22, 1849. Was that
the first thought, corrected afterwards Jby an after-thought, that Dr.
Parkinan might have shown these notes w Mr. Kll]ﬂilc_y, or Mr.
Shaw, or somebody, on Friday morning ; and therefore that it would be
fatal to him to have it understood that he paid him then? Was
it prompted, in the first instance, hf the fact that at nine o’clock he
had told Mr. Peitee * he had settled with hin”? Dr. Webster did
write, in his own hand-writing, * $183.64 balance paid Nov. 22,1549.”

Then, Gentlemen, the whole thing is changed. The story was pre-
pared, as | have aireaul}; told you — evidenced by the documents found
in his possession —evidenced by the documents which he attempted
to conceal. You remember he impressed upon his wife, to keep the
bundle, and not to open it. I ask again, if he did not pay those notes,
how came those notes in his possession ?  What becomes of all these
contradictory and inconsistent theories, that Dr. Parkman was mur-
dered by somebody else, or elsewhere? I put it to your intelligence ;
— answer that.

Now, Gentlemen, I shall briefly consider the evidence which goes
to confirm all this.

Mr. Bemis consults with the Attorney General.]

r. Clifford. 1 am reminded, Gentlemen — and it is a fact that [
should not forget, for it is pregnant with importance — that on that
Friday morning Dr. Webster did receive from Mr. Pettee a check for
£90 of the proceeds of the tickets — the source from which he said
he would pay Dr. Parkman, and from which he afterwards said he
had paid Dr. Parkman., And yet we find, from the books of the
bank, that this identical check for £90 was deposited by him, on the
next day, in the Charles River Bank. 1 leave here all this matter of
finance, with this exposition of the significant truth thus developed by
their financial relations.

What was the condition of things in that laboratory when these
remains were found? I shall go less fully into this than if 1 had not
consumed so moch time, so much more than I expected, upon the
earlier tapics of the case. There are some things which I should do
great injustice to this case to overlook. In the privy vault, with the
remains, there were found certain towels, which were produced here.
I especially call your attention to the fact, that some of these smaller
towels were marked « W.” One of them, it is here clearly in proof
before you, was in that laboratory, and in his upper room, on the very
maorning of that Friday when this fatal interview with Dr. Parkman
took plac:e

Then, Gentlemen, that knife, found in the tea-chest! Why, the
Counsel for the defence overlooked, in their comments upon this, the im-
portant fact, which they themselves had put into this case, by the cross-
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examination of one of the Government witnesses, that, on the 17th
of November, that knife was over at Cambridre, and afterwards, be-
tween the 17th and 23d, was brought over to the Medical College. Now
it is said that that is evidence of desion to fasten suspicion upon Dr.
Webster, in connection with the remains; and that the minerals,
which were not entirely covering the tan, on Tuesday, when Kingsley
saw the fire and tea-chest, were not put there by Dr. Webster. The
very fact, of that search, that Mr. Kingsley’s attention was called to
that — would it not prompt him to have piled on more minerals, and
was not that done, evidently? And the lknife was found there. It
had been in his possessione And who, pray tell me, if I have
not utterly failed in making myself understood, who could have
done this, but Dr. Webster himself? And, Gentlemen, it may ve
well be said, that, if that hammer, the disappearance of which is one
of the marked facts in this case, had been got rid of, he might also
have been equally anxious to be rid of the knife.

The yataghan was there —a murderous-looking instrument —
recently cleaned, as Dr. Jackson testified.  As you will see, it is enough
for me to say that here were murderous instruments connected with
him, and with no other human being.

Why, too, did he have that tan sent over here in that suspicions
way? Why not let Mr, Sawin have admission to his laboratory, as
he had dene two hundred times a year before, as he swears to you?
Whether it was to be used for the tea-chest, or the tin chest, neither
you nor I can tell. It is an anti-putrescent, and would stifle odor.
And what is most significant, although Mr. Sawin brought over for
him two empty boxes, the fagots, and the bag of tan, the bag of tan
was daken into the laboratory by Dr. Webster, and the others left
outside ! If anybody else had done this, after his direction to Sawin
to leave them all outside the door, would not Dr. Webster’s eye have
discovered it? There was chareoal, and anthracite coal, and pitch-
pine kindlings, which disappeared in considerable guantities, during
that week. The process was slow ; and I will tell you why it was
slow. He had those clothes to get rid of. The minutest circum-
stances are sometimes most important. The report of the physicians
shows that there was among the remains a shirt-button; and if he
separated the body from the clothes, remember that he had the
clothes to get rid of as well as the flesh, thus accounting for the time
expended. Then the blood upon the pantaloens and the slippers!
These were treated of in a very summary way by the Counsel, as
being of no consequence. I submit whether they ure, or not.
they were drops of blood falling from above, then I agree that it must
have had much less weight than it will have, as the facts are shown
by the testimony of Dr. Wyman, that it was probably spattered from
beneath. .

And then those stains upon the stairs! They were there when
Littlefield saw them, tasted, and found them acid. His testimony
is abundantly corroborated by Dr. Wyman, who says that they
were fresh. Kingsley saw them also. It turns out that they were
nitrate of copper; and I defy any man to look upon them, as you have
looked at them, and believe that they have not been thrown there
design, spattered, as they were, up against the perpendicular sides o
the stairs. If my eyes did not deceive me —and you have had the



265

same opportunity to examine that I have, I submit whether I am not
richt. It is proved that they were fresh. And they are shown to be
among the most efficient agents for removing the characteristic zigns
of blood. Dr. Wyman tells you water is as good for this pur-
pose as anythine. Water was used most freely; the Cochituate
was always running. The party had succeeded in removing all
other traces. That which confessedly waes done would have been
more difficult than the removal of the traces of blood, if traces of
blood there were. If the mortal wound did produce an external effu-
sion of blood, to the extent that would seem to be implied by the
course of argument on the other side — which by no means appears
from the testimony, as a man may be stabbed in the region of the
heart, and all the effusion, or almost all of it, be within the chest—
here were the means of removing blood.

Much was said of the overalls. We did not introduce them. I
have no idea that he had on his overalls. I never made a point of it;
— so all that requires no answer.

Those skeleton keys! Did he state truly where they came from,
or was there a connection between them and this transaction? Was
the filing done by himself?— for, remember, they were filed. And
is it a probable fact that the keys that would open the dissecting-room
were picked up by him in the street, and carelessly thrown into that
drawer? We cannot trace the course of such a man’s inexplicable
conduct, any more than you can trace the course of the serpent upon
the rock. Eut there are signs and indications which will not be lost
upon intelligent men.

Then we find that, in his private room, there were grapples, made
from fish-hooks, which had been purchased on the previous Tuesday ;
and when you come to examine them, and take the whole testimon
in relation to them, you find that the first grapple was made of three
hooks. You will find that they had been used; that oxydation had
commenced upon them,—one of them had become quite rusty.
Then one was made of two hooks; then one of but one. Then he
goes and purchases, on Friday, smaller hooks. All the time flitting
between the College and Cambridge, to keep up his afibi '—and then
you will determine for yourselves whether importance is to be given
to this fact of the fish-hooks.

You find, around the thich of these remains,a piece of twine,
which the Counsel have treated in a contemptuous manner, by saying,
if there had been a ball of twine, he would have been as likely to
have taken that as he would to have been there ; —overlooking the fact
that that twine was not found down in that laboratory, nor in the
upper laboratory ; but in the private room of Dr. Webster, to which
he alone had access, and in his private drawer. And I ask you
whether this does not connect him directly with the remains in the
tea-chest ?

Then the mode in which that body was cut up! T have adverted
to the attempt to destroy it by alkalies. But Il come to what is of
more importance than any other fact connected with the condition of
things in that laboratory. Dr. Webster, Gentlemen, carried in his
pocket the key of that privy, in the vault of which were found those
remains! That is a fact in this case which has not even been alluded
to by his Counsel. Gentlemen, [ ask you to look at that key, when you
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are alone, and ask yourselves the question, whether a gentleman, a
man of culture, would be likely to carry around in his pocket so
cumbersome a key as that, which he could, by no possibility, for any
honest purpose, use anywhere else? When that key is called for,
~ what is his answer? “It hangs up yonder.” [t is not found there;
the key of his wardrobe is found. He says,— =1 do not know,
then, where it is.” Then that door is broken open; and it turns out,
afterwards, that while they were at the jail, and before they had gone
to the College, that privy-key, which locked up these remains, had
been borne about in the prisoner’s possession, and was taken from his
pocket by the person who arrested him. i

In the great case of Courvoisier, for the murder of his master, Liord
William Russell — that case which has made all Europe ring with
strictures upon the conduect of the Counsel, whether just or unjust—the
great fact insisted upon was, that the bloody gloves were found in the
trunk of the prisoner — put there, as it was contended by his Counsel,
at a subsequent time, to fasten suspicion upon an innocent man.
Here were the remains themselves found, not in the trunk of the

risoner, but found in a place to which he alone had access.— the
Ee:,r of which he kept in his own pocket, and the fact of which pos-
session he denied.

And vou will determine whether I have said too much, or said it
too strongly, not only that this prisoner stands justly charged with
the homicide of Dr. Parkman, but that his mutilated remains have

“ been found under his lock and key.

The matter of the blankets — of new blankets and counterpanes
— is inexplicable to me, Why they should have been put there, or
carried there, I do not know, and you will judge. I make no sug-
gestion respecting them.

Now, what was his conduet and his whereabouts through that
weelc? In the first place, he was locked into his laboratory, at
unusual times, during a week of official leisure, Has he shown, or
attemnpted to show, that he was engaged in anything which required
his presence there? That he was so locked in, does not depend on
Littlefield’s testimony alone. Clapp, Rice, Starkweather, Fuller,
Mrs. Littlefield, Mr. gamuel Parkman Blake, Mr. Sawin, who had
often gone there before, testify to it.

The Cochituate water was running. No fires were wanted ; and
yet, It is here in evidence, unimpeached and unimpeachable, that fires
were kept up dnrin%' that week, more intense than were ever kept
there before, and in places where no fire was ever kept before,

Gentlemen, when was he there? [ have already stated to you,
and to the Court, that, upon a critical examination of the testimony
of his three daughters, there is a most significant and remarkable
corroboration of the testimony of Littlefield. They do not conflict in
any particular. He was there on Friday afternoon. What was he
domg there? Where did he dine? I have already asked you that
question. It is worthy of your consideration. On Saturday morning,
you have no trace of him. From Saturday morning at one o'clock,
until Saturday in the afternoon at one o’clock— have you any assurance
where he was during that interval?  Is not the argument just and fair,
that he had come over, in one of those flittings of his, from Cambridge
to the Medical College? Nobody else had a key to the building but
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himself and Dr. Leigh; and there is no pretence that Dr. Leigh was
there. That door was left bolted at night, and was found left un-
bolted in the morning.

In the course of that forencon, on Saturday, when Littlefield
went in to build his fire, and was abont to proceed down the labor-
atory stairs, he received, for the first time in his life, the peremp-
tory order — * Mr, Littlefield, go out the other way.” He went
out as-he came in. On Sunday, he was there. Then he had those
interviews of which I have :?pui{l.*n,_ and upon which I do not care to
dwell. In his interview with Mr. James Blake, his story was pre-
pared ; and you have been asked, with great significance, “1f he
were a guilty man, why should he come to communicate that
interyiew; for nobody would have known it, if he had not?” If
nobody was to know 1t, why does he have the notes? How did he
know but that they had been exhibited to Dr. Franeis Parkman on
that very Friday morning? The fact that he communicated his
interview is explicable on other grounds also. How could he
know but that he would be remembered, on that morning, by the ser-
vant? And what a fatal fact, if he kept it to himself, if it should
turn out afterwards that he was recognized !

But suppose he had been perfectly sincere, and had wanted simply
to communicate with this family the fact of the interview; then I
submit to you, considering the relations between him and the Rev. Dr.
Parkman, he would not, at least, have slept that night without send-
ing a note to relieve the agony of that family.. But he waits till
Sunday, and is dissuaded from going in the morning, in order to go
to church.

He had an early dinner on Sunday, in order that he might go over
and communicate with Rev, Dr. Parkman. But he does not visit
him till he had spent some time at the College. He does not get to
Dr. Parkman’s house till four o’clock in the afternoon ; and then he
makes a communication, the object of which seems to be, to impress
on Dr. Parkman’s mind just two things—one, that he had paid
money to his brother. He was never to appear. These notes would
be traced. He must show that he had paid them. The other, that
his brother was in a strange condition, and that he rushed out in a
hurry, indicating a disordered mind; and that concluded all that
cold, business-like, unsympathizing interview with the family of his
own pastor, and the pastor of his children.

Then, on Monday, that striking interview with Mr. Samuel P.
Blake, when he braced himself up to answer questions! It is com-
mented upon by the Counsel, that he was too warm in his interview
with one, and too cool in his interview with the other. But both are
consistent with the theory I have suggested.

I come now to another subject. Mr. Blake said he (Dr, Webster)
told him enongh to make him believe that Dr. Parkman took that
mortgage {rom him, although we find that very mort ge in Dr.
Parkman’s house, We find an interview with Fuller and Thompson
on Sunday night. Mr. Thompson did not observe what Fuller did,
and Fuller did not hear what Thompson did. They are to be taken
together. Mr. Fuller witnessed the agitation of Dr, Webster; Mr.
Thompson heard, by statement, of his interview with Dr. Parkman.

This is all evidence. And the statements that either two persons
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were present when he paid the money, or two persons, one of whom
was the janitor, had just left, were both fabrications. On Tuesday,
he wanted no fires—his lecture would not bear the heat. Isit
true, that, with the knowledge of this fact, the Counsel can turn
round and say that the Counsel for the Government have not shown
that it would bear it? Dr. Webster could show, by the students,
what his lecture was that day; and then the chemists here could tell
whether it was a matter to bear heat or not. This is for him, and
not for the Government, to show.

Then, Clapp’s search ! It arnounts to nothing, except the leading
away from the privy, and opening of another door, through which
Dr. Webster led them. Mr. Kingsley saw a fire in the assay
furnace on that Tuesday. That fire was burning, and Dr., Webster
was there, and the tea-chest was there, also, — the tan and the min-
erals in it — on that day. Then, Gentlemen, he gives that turkey to
Mr. Littlefield! If there was an attempt at conciliation, it was not
an attempt of Littlefield’s, but of Dr. Webster, so far as it amounted
to anything. And is it consistent with the fact, that he stated that
he had such a horror of this man? If youn believe Mr. Littlefield, on
Wednesday, Dr. Webster was at that furnace. He was away from
home, by the testimony of his own daughters. Fire was burning,
He locked up everything fast — covered up this fire in the furnace,
and left it to burn and smoulder away.

Then, his other object, that of keeping up the alibi, was to be at-
tended to. He was at home at dinner on Tuesday; but he came
into town on the afternoon. For what purpose? So far as it appears,
to give Mr. Littlefield this turkey ! N]::thing else! .

On Thursday, Thanksgiving day, he was at home after eleven
o’clock. On Friday, in the morning, at eight o'clock, he was at home,
At nine o'clock, on that morning, he was at Mr. Waterman’s shop,
ordering the tin box. It is said, by one of his daughters, that they
were in the habit of sending plants to Fayal. If that had been the
purpose of this box, never needed before, would it have required the
strong handle? If, too, plants were to be sent in if, would it have
been soldered up ticht? Who ever heard of sending across the
water live plants in a box so soldered up as to exclude the moisture
and the air?

More decisive than this, his daughter tells yon that she does not
know as there was any intention of sending p{ants at that time, and
Mr. Waterman tells you he never made such a box for him before.
But that interview with Mr. Waterman is very significant. “Dr.
Parkman,” he says. very energetically, *did go to Cambridge ;” and
then he tells the story about a man’s having seen, in a mesmeric state,
a cab, the number of which was obtained, in which Dr. Parkman
was carried off, and blood was found in it !

I do not know how it strikes your minds; but that a teacher in
Harvard College should be here, in the city of Boston, in the shop of
a mechanic, trying to impress upon this man the truth of such a story
as that, strilkes me as singular. He followed up that day, telling
that same story to Mr. Littlefield and his wife. Then, in the course
of that day, he buys the fish-hooks, and, in the afternoon, goes over
to Mrs, Coleman’s, and has that striking interview with her. What
was he trying to ascertain from her, or to make her say? Why, that
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Dr. Parkman was seen by her on Friday! “ Are you sure it was not
on Friday?” And even after she had given him reasons, and even
after he goes to the door, he repeats the quﬂstlun — ¢ Are you sure it
was not on Friday ? " —trying to impress her with that idea.

Then, that night, on that week, or some one of the nights on that
week, without his family, upon the evidence of Mr. Sanderson, the
waichman, he went out in the late omnibus, between eleven and
twelve o'clock.

I have thus traced him, and shown that he did all that was
competent for him to do; that he went to Mr. Treadwell’s, not by
invitation, but a casual call ; that he played whist, which is all con-
sistent with his subsequent conduct, and with that which he has shown
here. It required nerve. He has it, and enough of it; excepting,
and only excepting, when fear fell upon him, and the dread of im-
pending exposure made him afraid.

Gentlemen, I have but a word to say in relation to these anonymous
letters. The Counsel has called your attention to one single feature,
which was spoken of by Mr. Gould as characteristic genem!i y of Dr.
Webster's writing. He has called your attention to it in this letter,
as being of a different character. That is, the figure 9. Look at
that ficure 9, and see if it is not evidently disguised.

Then, there are some other circumstances in connection with this.
I do not pmf»:-:&'ﬂ to be an exXpert; but} when [ find a resper:tnb!e man, like
Mr. Gould, who has paid fifty years’ attention to this matter, and
another, Mr. Smith, who has had, perhaps, thirty years’ experience,
coming upon that stand, and saying to a Jury, that they have made a
thorough examination, and that they have no doubt that the hand-
writing is that of Dr. Webster, [ think their testimony is entitled to
some respect. If a mechanic should come and tell me, as a lawyer,
that such a thing could be, and such a thing eould not be, and it was
exclusively within the province of his art —if I believed him to be an
honest man, I should defer to him. If a ship-master should come
upon the stand and undertake to tell me, as a lawyer, that, under
certain states of the wind, and of the ship, such a result would hap-
pen, I should believe him, because he has enpenmce, and 1s compe-
tent to instruct me.

And, when a man comes and says, that, having had fifty years’ ex-
perience in the examination of hand-writing, that he has no doubt,
and that is confirmed by the testimony of another witness, who also
has no doubt, that it was written by Dr. Webster, then it is entitled
to consideration. That letter is written by a man accustomed to
composition. It is signed * Civis,” the Latin word for * Citizen.”
It was written by a man who had some knowledgze of the Latin
tongue. Who would be likely, in a matter so interesting to the pub-
lic, to have undertaken to communicate with the City Marshal under
an anonymous signature ? I it were Dr. Webster, and he was iono-
cent, would he not have done it personally, making such suggestions
as he considered important? Then, other letters are not testified to
so positively, namely, the * Dart ” and what | have called the * Sans-
crit” letter. But you will find that the latter is written on a fine,
delicate note-paper. It was not written with a pen. That there was
an instrument found in Dr. Webster’s laboratory, which is fitted to
make this, is proved; and that instrument is such an instrument as
might have made those erasures upon the notes, which were not made
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with a pen. But I submit this part of the case to your judgment,
without pressing it upon you.

Gentlemen, [ do not know but that I have said almost all that 1= nee-
essary for me to say, with regard to Prof. Webster's conduet, prior to
his arrest. I now propose to add a single word, respecting his conduct
afterwards. I have spoken of his meeting Mr. Littlefield. He had
spoken to Mr. Starkweather of Mr. Littlefield, before he met him face
to face — but that conversation with Starkweather is too important
not to have your attention called to it for a single moment. Here is
a man, certainly, of intellectnal culture — of a certain degree of
self-discipline, such as you would expect to find in an educated man.
He is called upon, at his own house, after his own premises have been
searched for the missing body of one whose disappearance has excited
the entire community. He is waited upon by three police officers,
They say they wish to make a further search of his premises. He
makes no objections. He calls their attention to the faet, that Mrs.
Bent had seen Dr. Parkman. He knew that story. Did it impress
his mind that nothing was discovered? Did he suggest this- in the
hope that, on going to Mrs. Bent with these police officers, she might
modify her statement? They stop at the Leverett-street Jail. Mr.
Clapp goes in, and, upon returning, requests them to get out. He;
submissively, and without inquiry, follows them into the prison. Who
is Dr. Webster?— and who are they? He, a Professor of Harvard
College ! and they, police officers of the city of Boston! He follows
them, and not till they reach the inner office of the jail, does he
ask what it means. Mr. Clapp replied, not that Dr. Parkman’s body
was found, but, = Dr. Webster, you remember I called your attention
to the soundings which have been made above and below the bridge,-
We have been sounding about the Medical College; we have been
looking for the body of Dr. Parkman. We shall look for it no more ;
and you are now in custody, charged with the murder of Dr. Park-
man. He articulated half a sentence,” continued Mr. Clapp—<«1 could
not understand it ; and then he said, ‘I wish you would send over to
my family.” I told him they would better not learn it till morning.
He seemed inclined to speak a word or two, and [ told him he had
better not say anything about it.”

What was his conversation, when he was left alone there with Mr.
Starkweather? And remember, that, not even in the cross-examination,
was it attempted to be shown that this conversation was not reported
exactly as it was taken down. The appeal is then made to yonu, to
consider him as an irresponsible person — that he was in no condition
to know what he was about, and that you ought not to regard his
declarations any more than you would those of a raving maniac.

He had intelligence and malevolence enough to endeavor, then and
there, to make a causeless accusation againstan honest, though a hum-
ble, man. He did make inquiries, and, from that time, he was master
of himself. He says to Mr. Starkweather, “ You might tell me
something about it.” Immediately after Mr. Clapp and Mr. Spurr
went out, he asked for water. A pitcher was brought, and he drank
several times, “ He asked, ¢if they had found him." I told him not
to ask any questions, for it was not proper for me to answer them.”
No man ever had more consideration, from Mr. Parker down to Mr,
Starlweather, than Dr. Webster had that night. He was expressly
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cautioned. He said, * You might tell me something about it — where
did they find him? Did they find the whole of the body 2 1 ask yon,
if, with the knowledge this prisoner had, that they had been suungling
about that Medical College, and should look no more for the body,
what prompted that inquiry — “Id ﬂﬁcgrﬁmf the whole of the body 27

Mr. Foreman, or either one of you, Gentlemen, I ask you to put
g:urs:elves i the condition in which Dr. Webster was that night,

ing an innocent man. A ftipstaff has put his hand upon your
shoulder, and youn are taken into custody ; and the body, he says, of
a murdered man is no longer to be searched for, because they have
been searching enouch, and you are arrested as his murderer. Now,
what would prompt you to put such a question as that, not knowing
that the body was cut up—= Did they find the whole of the body 2
There out-spoke the guilty conscience, showing a knowledge that the
body of Dr. Parlkman was not an entirety, but separated into {ragments,
“T then asked him, if anybody had access te his private rooms but him-
self.” #Nobody, but the porter, who makes the fires!” Nexta pause!
Then he says, “That villain! I am a ruined man!*” He then put
his hand into his pocket, and ook something —and then he had those
violent spasms, and the other symptoms that followed throush that
night; and, in the presence of Mr. Cummings, the turnkey, while
tossing upon his bed, unconsciously comes out from him that confes-
sion, © 1 expected this!” s

Now trace him down to the Medical College. He has had no in-
formation that the body had been found. Mr. Clapp told him simply
that they should search no more. When he had reached the College,
and when they were searching the private room, where they can
find nothing, then he is calm. But when they got down to the lab-
oratory, and it was discovered that the remains were found in the
privy-vault, then came that spasm again. And, if you believe what
the witnesses testify to, the sweat streamed out upon him. though he
was complaining of cold — that his pantaloons were saturated, and his
coat moistened with perspiration !

[ ask you, if this man, who has gone calmly through, innocent or
guilty, more than any man I ever knew — whether you can believe
that that was the mere prostration of an innocent man, or whether it
was the guilty conscience that drew the sweat of that mortal agony
out of him?  When he found that there was nothing discovered but
these remains in the vault, upon which were no marks of identity, and
which he did not see nearer than nine feet, he says, “ Why did they
not ask Littlefield?” «They took me down there, and asked no
questions,” And he comes here with no declarations, of that fearful
night, which had been extorted from him by inquiries. All that
comes here is the voluntary, unconscious uoni’:;rss-iun of mute nature
in the man.

Now, 1 have but one other fact to comment upon, and I will relieve
your patience. On Saturday, he remains in this condition. Mr.
Andrews states to you that he went in there in the morning, and then
he made that cruel aceusation against Littlefield, although he said —
not as the Counsel put it to you, but in his own language, — * That
i5 no more Dr. Parkman’s body than it is my body ; but how in the
name of Heaven it came there, I do not know.” This is his defence;
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and it 18 expected that this asseveration, which is no more than his
plea of not guilty, is to outweigh the proof! :

Gentlemen, he was in that condition when he could have made an
inquiry, #t any time. Can you conceive of any innocent man, going
along through twenty-four hours, nearly — for it was followed up during
that day — and being perfectly mute, making no inquiry? The only
thing was, to ascertain {rom Starkweather what he could net tell him
with propriety. And from that hour in which the remains were
found, nota word escaped him, inregard to the matter. He continued
there till the Police Court, on Monday. He says, « I will go to prison ;
I will let my family suffer the torture of suspense ; I will let my name
be blighted by the prejudgment of the world ; I will not even ask them
what their evidence is.” Then he returns to that prison, and there he
writes the letter containing this sentence :

“ Tell mamma not to open the little bundle I gave her the other day,
but to keep it just as she received it.”

GGentlemen, you have that letter with you. Here is a man of edu-
cation — here 15 a man whao has lived all his days under the influences
of cultivated, social, and domestic associations — here is a man, a
Professor in a Christian University, whose motto is, *“ Christ and the
Church ! He is in the cell of a prison, as he was described by his
Counsel, and he sits down under this terrible accusation — an accusa-
tion that he has been guilty of a crime at which the universal heart of
the world revolts! And, (Gentlemen, he is the victim of a conspiracy,
which has fabricated that accusation against him. He sits down to
write to his daughter, to ask his wife to conceal that, which, when this
note was read, and the officers went there, turned out to be the two
notes, and that statement of the indebtedness of himself to Dr. Park-
man !

Judge Merrick. There is no tesumony.

My. Clifford. Mr. Clapp says that he went to Mrs. Webster,
after he got this letter, and these were produced.

Mpr. Sohier. You are mistaken.

M. Clifford. Mr. Clapp so states it ; I do not think I can be mis-
taken. W e will have it right.

My, Clifford (reads My, Clapp’s testimony.) I had been directed,
particularly, to search for a certain package of papers; and asked Mrs.
Webster il she had the package mentioned by Dr. Webster. San-
derson brought other papers, and finding them not named in his
search-warrant, sent them back to the trunk. [ requested her to give
them to me — I would give hera receipt; and she did so.”

And you will find it underscored, * not fo open that bundle.” He
is writing a letter, for the first time, to his daughter; and I ask you
whether he indicates in that such a character as his Counsel would
claim for him? What is that letter? Nota word in it, that he him-
sell was assured of his innocence, and telling her to keep up her heart,
for it would all be made right! Not a syllable which could strengthen
and assure them — not a word of reliance upon God, in that dark hour
— but a paltry enumeration of his physical wants, and so on through —
a litile pepper!and a little tea! Gentlemen, I forbear. 1 submit to
you, that 15 not a letter from an innocent father, the victim of a
foul conspiracy, immediately after his imprisonment, to a distressed
and anxious child. I will not comment upon it. You will consider
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with what justice the claim can be made, and how it indicates
character.

Gentlemen, we have been asked here to consider that, if this act was
done by Dr. Webster, it must have been in the heat of blood, provoked-

by contest, and therefore to be considered as manslaughter. When

the Counsel said, Would to God that he had rushed out, and said, =1
have killed my brother man ! "' — remember what he did do. Remem-
ber his plans, which repel the presumption that it could have been
done in the heat of blood. I have not thought it proper to dwell upon
the circumstances which imply premeditation, nor do I do so now.
It is entirely immaterial whether he premeditated this one day or one
minute. If you are satisfied that he did remove Dr. Parkman from
this mortal life, however sudden, if it was done with an instrument
likely to cause death, and unprovoked by a blow, then it is just as
much murder as if he had premeditated it for months. We find in
that the implied malice of the law. 1 leave it to you to say, whether
you do not find the express malice of the law. The treatment of these
remains proves incontestably that there was the malice afterwards, if
not before ; as described by the great reader of human nature,
“ It doth seem too bloody,

First, to cut off the head, then hack the limbs;
Like wrath in death, and malice afterwards.”’

I do not know as you could find in the books a better illustration of
the implied malice of the law than this cruel conduct indicates.

Have you any doubt, from all this evidence, that Dr. Webster had
an agency in the death of Dr. Parkman? Can you doubt it for a
moment ¢ It is not a possible doubt that will shield you from your
responsibilities — it must be a reasonable doubt. d) [turning to the
Bench] I invoke your Honor's instruction to this Jur;-,r, as to what a
reasonable doubt is. It is a doubt for which a man can give a good rea-
son, and not a mere possible doubt that somebody else may have done
it. And it is for you to say, upon all this evidence, whether you do
entertain that reasonable doubt which is recognized by the law, and
which, extended beyond its fair meaning, would leave society at the
merey of the passionate, the lawless, and the depraved.

Gentlemen, you have had appeals to you, in behalf of the prisoner’s
family, both in the opening of the Counsel, and in the closing argu-
ment. God forbid that we should forget them, though he did! ‘i’e will
remember them better than he remembered the family of Littlefield,
whom he could gratuitonsly charge with being the author of a homi-
cide, or a conspiracy, which was worse ; and more than he thought
of the family of Dr. Parkman, when he was endeavoring to impress
upon Mr. Pettee, by a gross and audacious falsehood, that Dr. Parkman
had been insane, — taking away from them, in their bereavement, the
consolation of thinking of him as he was, and as the proof has shown
him to have been, on that fatal morning, in good health of body,
his mind in its undimmed intelligence, and in unusually cheerful
spirits,

There is another family we are not to forget. That wife, whose
partner and protector has been suddenly removed from her compan-
ionship ; —that invalid daughter, on whom his last thoughts were
most probably centred, as was indicated by the purchase of “that deli-
cacy for her on Frjdag,—that daughter to whom his kind and pa-

1
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ternal presence made up the daily sunshine of her weary hours
but to whom, in his assiduous kindness, he will never come again; —
and that only son, who was compelled to hear, in a foreign land, the
heart-crushing intelligence that he should see his father’s face no
more ; and who comes home to enter upon the large responsibilities
which his father’s death devolves upon him, without parental guid-
ance and counse]!

The family of the prisoner are not to be forgotten. Our hearts
bleed for them now; but it is one of the great providential penalties
of sin, that the innocent must suffer with and for the guilty. In the
official experience which has been common to my learned friend and
myself, we have often seen the mother, the sister, heart-broken, ap-
pealing for mercy for some sinning, erring son or brother. Gentle-
men, it 1s so everywhere ; and no man can transgress the laws of God,
without involving others in the suffering that must follow. But is
that a reason why we should fail to do our duty, compassionately, it
1s true, but resolutely and firmly, like men?

It was the remark, Gentlemen, of a great English statesman, that
“the great object of all good government was to obtain a good
Jury.” If in any government this is true, it is especially so in ours,
which is “a government of laws, and not of men.” The constitu-
tion of this Commonwealth, as [ have already intimated to you, as its
first and highest object, has the protection of life,—the security of
human life against the violence of passionate and the machinations
of wicked men, And, Gentlemen, shall it fail of this, its high purpose?

If you undertake to exercise, here, the prerogative of mercy,—a
prerogative which is assigned by that constitution to another tribunal,
— how can you tell, Gentlemen, what mercy is? I very much doubt,
indeed, whether these murders —which have so thickened upon us of
late, the investigatiuns of which have crowded, within the last fevr
months, our judicial annals—1I very much doubt whether here,
in Massachusetts, we should have l::ad to deplore them all, had
it not been for the weakness of Jurors, who have permitted those
proved to be guilt}r, through a false tenderness of conscience, to
unpunished. Remember that great maxim, which has been long
honored in other lands, — ¢ Juder damnatur cum nocens absolvitur? —
the Judge is condemned when the guilty is acquitted. The Juror
who permits the guilty to escape, convicts himself. If ever we have
had a case which requires the Jury to stand wup firmly to the dis-
charge of their great duty as citizens, it is here and now. The mercy
which is to be exercised by a Jury may be more effectually exercised
by a conviction, oftentimes, than by an acquittal. How can you tell,
— who can tell — how many great erimes might have been spared to
humanity, if all our verdicts heretofore had impressed upon the public
mind and the public heart the certain conviction, that judicial pun-
ishment follows, like its shadow, detected crime !

I do feel, Gentlemen, that upon twelve men here is resting a
higher responsibility than ever rested on twelve men in Massachu-
setts before. Remember that we have had here, through these long
and weary days, those whose labors will carry this trial, and all this
mass of proof, unanswered by any explanations on the part of the de-
fendant, into all lands, to be read in all languages, and to be read, Gen-
tlemen, as a memorial of you among all men, —a testimonial of the
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degree of inflexibility and firmness which you shall have exhibited, in
upholding, paramount and supreme, the law under which human life
has claimed and enjoyed protection, in this Commonwealth of Massa-
chusetts, since its foundation by the Pilgrims !

—_—mE———— —————— 1]

[At this stage of the proceedings, Chief Justice Shaw addressed
the prisoner as follows: —|

Before committing this cause to the Jury, if yon have anything to
say, you may address the Jury, making any statement that you think
fit, and which you think necessary for your defence. I oucht to
inform you, also, that this is a privilege granted to you, which you
may use or not, at your own discretion,

ADDRESS OF PROF. JOHN WHITE WEBSTER TO THE JURY.

I feel indebted to your Honor for this kind permission. I cannot

o into an explanation of the net-work of circumstances which has

en woven around me, and which. in nine cases out of ten, would
require many hours to unravel, though, to probably nine tenths of
them, I could give a satisfactery explanation.

On all the points, testimony had been placed in the hands of the
Counsel ; and my innocence would have been firmly established, if it
had been produced. But, acting entirely under their guidance, I
have sealed my lips, and, from the first moment, I have trusted
entirely to them. They have not seen fit to bring forward the evi-
dence on a great variety of subjects, which, therefore, have been
brought to bear, with consummate ingenuity, against me. [ trust
they will not be considered against me by the Jury.

I will allude to one or two of the subjects which have been unex-
plained. I doubt whether the letter written by me, from the jail, to my
daughter, and which has been read, was the first, because there were
two or three long letters which I wrote about that time. The infer-
ence, from the sentence in that letter, which led to the examination of
my private papers by the police, was different, very different, from
what was intended by me. The explanation of that sentence is as
follows. I had read, in one of the daily prints, which were distributed
in the prison, some of the various fabrications which were made re-
specting me ; and one of them which I saw was, that I had purchased
a quantity of oxalic acid. It immediately occurred to me that the
veri{ parcel referred to was saved, and could be produced. For sev-
eral days, Mrs. Webster had reminded me of a want of citric acid, and
lallghed at me when I returned home for forgetting to obtain it.

n the very day of my arrest, [ stopped at Mr. Thayer’s Apothecary
establishment, in Bowdoin-square, conversed about half an hour, on
various topics, and purchased the citric acid. [ carried it home, and
placed it in my wife’s hands, saying, * There is your acid.” [ knew
that the possession of the acid would show that it was not oxalic ; and
hence the request about the bundle — not to open, but to keep it— had
no connection with the papers.

Mr. Charles Cunningham was at my house when the officers came
there to examine. They broke open a frunk, examined it, and left
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Afterwards, Mr. Cunningham opened that trunk, and, in lcoking over
the papers, found the notes laying there; and thinking they had been
overlooked, and that the officers might come again, laid them in
sight, and made a memorandum of it, in the presence of a witness.

Then, with regard to Rev. Dr. Parkman. lpl:c-nversed with him on
this very point of aberration of mind, and he asked me if Dr. Park-
man had in his hand, when I saw him, this very bunch of lettuce ;
and I think I said that he had a bundle.

In regard to the nitrate of copper, — either the lecture preceding
my arrest, or the one preceding that, 1 had oceasion to show the ex-
periments of changes of color in gases. 1 prepared a large quantit
of the nitric oxide gas. In a two gallon jar, were placed nitric a—:iﬁ
and bits of copper. Nitric oxyde gas is thereby produced. After
standing a few hours, it becomes colorless ; and, during the lecture,
by the admission of oxygen gas, it becomes of a bright orange color,
the gas being changed, by this experiment, into nitrous acid, Blood,
by the admission of oxygen pas, is changed from dark venous blood
to florid red. And sol might go on, and show how these eircum-
stances which have been testified to have occurred.

My very calmness has been brought against me. My trust has
been in my God! I have been advised by my Counsel to remain as
calm as possible.

That money paid Dr. Parkman I had positively laid by, from day
to day, in thislittle trunk, and, unfortunately, no one can be produced
who saw me pay it. Several years ago, I had been in the habit of
having students in my laboratory ; but, for a number of years, I have
prepared everything with my own hands. The reasons why I excluded
any one from my laboratory are obvious. I will not allude to them.

T'his will serve to give the Jury an idea of the perversions, as I
must call them, which have been brought forward in this case.

Every day, from the Friday of the disappearance, to the following
Friday, I never was absent from my home alone after nine o’clock at
night ; and, as to being seen by Mr. Sanderson, it is altogether a mis-
take. I was at home every night but Wednesday. In regard to where
I dined on Friday, I would say, that about three o’clock 1 went toward
the omnibus office, to go out, but stopped into Brigham’s, where 1
often went to get a bite, and took a mutton chop. ng'um there I went
to Kidder’s, and from thence to the omnibus office.

But, accident put it into my power to show that I had been at one
place on Wednesday evening. Having occasion to make a little pres-
ent, I went to Munroe’s book-store, and bought Humboldt’s late work.
I took that book with me, stopped again at Brigham’s, and thence
went to Mr. Canningham’s. tyn my arrival, [ found that [ had for-
gotten my book. They went to Brigham’s, and found the book; but,
ynfwtunate]y, on the other oceasion, I cannot prove the fact; and =o
it has been with the greater number of other circumstances. I will
not detain the Court by detailing them.

: If the Court will allow me to say one word more,— I have felt more
distressed by the production of these various anonymous letters, I had
almost said, than by anything else, And I call my God to witness,
while I positively declare, I never wrote them! Since my trial, my
Counsel has received, on this day, a letter from this very  Civis"”;
and if he is present, and has a spark of humanity, I call upon him to
come forward, and acknowledge it!




277

EVENING.
CHARGE OF CHIEF JUSTICE SHAW.

Gentlemen of the Jury :

It is with the deepest sense of the responsibilities which devolve
upon me, that I rise to address yon upon the most important and
interesting subject that can be called to the attention of a Jury.

But this case has continued so long, it has been brought now to
such a crisis — the whole of the evidence, and the whole argument,
being before you— that we feel unwilling, notwithstanding the lateness
of the hour, painful, responsible, laborious, as it is, not to go on with
the cause, that you may proceed to consider of your verdict.

For this purpose, not because it is not important, but on account of
the peculiar circumstances, I shall be more brief than I should other-
wise be. But it is, after all, mainly a question of evidence. The prin-
ciples of law, for which the Court are responsible, are few, plain, and
simple. I shall be able to state them briefly; and it will be my
duty to consider the rules of law, rather than make an examination
of the evidence itself.

Gentlemen, some appeals have been made to you upon your duties.
[ think, after what is apparent of this character, after the long work
of a fortnight, the mode in which the cause has been conducted, the
degree of solemnity which has affected the minds of all, must have
already affected you, more than any words of mine can do, with the
vast importance to all citizens of their great rights, and, above all, the
right to life.

I may make a few and simple observations upon what I consider
the real, the appropriate duties of Jurors, and of Courts, in a case
of this description. This is a case in which a party is charged
with a high criminal offence —one of the highest known to the laws.
We profess to live in a government of laws. And now, by a distribu-
tion of those powers which go to make up the powers of a civil com-
munity, the constitution has intrusted to another department of the
government, the power of making the laws. For that we are not
responsible. Anﬂr whatever may be the view of all of us, or any of
us, upon the subject of the particular punishment which that law
has appropriated to a particular offence, it is not our duty to consider
it. But it is our duty to carry them info execution,— to adminis-
ter them truly and fairly. And every government must not only
have the Legislature to make the laws, but the Judicature to adminis-
ter them.

The appropriate province of jurisprudence is to take the law as we
find it. And when any person is bronght before us in the manner
required by the law, we are to consider what the law and evidence
are, and whether or not he has violated it in any such way as to be
amenable to public justice. If so, we are to declare it. Here isa
division of duties. The Jury have their duty; the Court have
theirs; and each is responsible for its own. It is the province of the
Court to lay down and state what the laws are ; to regulate the course
of proceeding in a particular case ; to direct what shall or shall not be
considered competent evidence, and, penerally, to conduct the trial.

But it is for the Jurors to take this mass of evidence into consider-
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ation, — to apply their best judgment and their best efforts to ascer-
tain the truth, and then to declare that truth, in what is called the
verdict, that is, in the declaration of truth. This is the province of
the Jury. And while each continues and keeps within its own

rovinee, the law will be administered ; all will be done which should
Ee done, for the punishment of the guilty, and the relief of the inno-
cent.

With these preliminary considerations, I will consider this case.

This, Gentlemen, s an indictment charging the defendant, the
prisoner at the bar, with the erime of murder. Homicide, Gentlemen,
of which murder is one of the hirhest species, is of various degrees,
according to circumstances. There may be homicide that is the death
of another in self-defence ; it may be in the execution of eriminals, and
in other ways. Homicide is a generic term, embracing every species,
by which the life of man is taken. It may be lawful or unlawful. It
is lawful, when it is alone justifiable, in war, or by an officer, under a
proper warrant. And it is also justifiable in self-defence,

It iz not necessary for me to go into those distinctions. But I will
state them briefly, from the books, and then submit to your consider-
ation the crime with which the defendant is specially charged.

The indictment, in the present case, charges that the present
defendant, ** Professor John W. Webster, of the Medical Co]lege, and
Professor in the College at Cambridge, did, on the 23d day of Novem-
ber last, violently make an assault upon Dr. George Parkman, and
then and there did deprive him of his life by violent means;” and so
the Grand Jury declared, that in these forms, or one of them, this
crime was committed.

The law provides what the punishment shall be ; but, in determining
what murder is, we all resort to that great magazine, the common
law. This provides what murder is; but the statute provides only
that the person who shall be guilty of wilful murder shall be pun-
ished with death. But the common law of England and of Massa-
chusetts is as much binding as that of our own legislature. We adopted
it when our ancestors settled here. It has been successively adopted
since that time, and was introduced into the constitution of our own
state; and it has the same force as if it had been specially enacted by
the legislature.

Referring, then, to this, I may as well state it now, from a former
memorandum of my own. I ought to have said, that, in rising to
address you, it wnull;l have been, certainly, more satisfactory to have
taken more time. But this would have prevented you from entering
on your duty immediately.

But, Gentlemen, I will state, therefore, from a former memorandum,
revised for this purpose, that an unlawful homicide is distinguished
into murder and manslaughter.

Murder, in the sense now understood, is the violently killing of
any person, under the peace of the Commonwealth, with malice pre-

nse or aforethought, either express or implied by law.

Malice is used in a technical sense, not only including hatred
and revenge, but every other unjustifiable motive. If a man should
kill another, with a motive of gam, it is unlawful. It is not confined
to one or more individual persons; but it is a thing done, “malo
animo,” with a malicious mind, when the fact has been attended
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with such circumstances as carry in them the plain indications of a
heart regardless of social duty, and fatally bent upon mischief. And,
therefore, malice is implied from any deliberate and cruel act against
another, however sudden. DManslaughter is the unlawful killing of
another, without malice ; and may be either voluntary, as that done
with a real design and purpose to kill, but through the violence of
sudden passion, occasioned by some provocation, which. in tender-
ness to human nature, the law considers sufficient to palliate it and
rebut the presumption of malice ; or from accident, when not accom-
panied with any ntention to take life. Hence, it will be seen that the
characteristic distinction between murder and manslaughter is malice
express or implied. [t therefore becomes necessary to ascertain, with
some precision, what constitutes the legal nature of malice, and what
evidence is requisité to establish the proof of it.

The authorities, therefore, proceed to state that the implication of
malice arises in every instance of intentional homicide, the fact of
killing being first proved. Therefore, all the circumstances of excuse
or palliation are to be satisfactorily proved, unless they result from
the evidence produced against him, showing that if any killing is
proved, it must have been with provocation by blows or other justifi-
cation. $nd if there is no justification or excuse in the attendant
circumstances, the case will be such as to warrant the conviction of
the party.

This rule is founded upon the plain and obvious principle, that a
person must be presumed to intend to do that which he in fact does ;
and that he must intend the natural, probable, and usual consequences
of his own acts. Therefore, where he assails another with a danger-
ous weapon, with a weapon likely to do bodily harm, the presumption
is that he intemied death, or great bodily harm ; and as there can ap-
pear no proper motive for such a cruel act, in the absence of proof, the
consequence is inevitable, that it was done unlawfully. On the con-
trary, if death is inflicted so suddenly after provocation, and if there
be any such cause of provocation, as the law allows, as to make it
manslaughter, the act is deemed to be without malice aforethought.

It is a settled rule, that no provocation with words only will justify
a mortal blow. Then if, upon provoking language, the party inten-
tionally revenges himself with a mortal blow, it is unguestionably
murder. It is a settled rule, that no provocation by words only, how-
ever opprobrious, will justify a mortal blow, intended to inflict death.
I shall have occasion to explain, that where a pistol is discharged at
the body of another; where a heavy bludgeon, or an axe, is used upon
the body of another; where a knife is used, — these are dangerous
weapons, and are indicative of an intention to kill. The law will
reduce it to manslaughter, if there be provecation sufficient for this.
But words are not sufficient for this. It must be at least an assault.
The word aforethought is used not as simply implying deliberation
or the lapse of time, but as rather intended to indicate purpose or de-
sign, and in contradistinetion from acecident or mischance.

I may verify these positions, perhaps, by being permitted to read
one or two passages {from a work of good authority—one from which
passages have already been read to you, by the opening Counsel for
the defence,— from the Pleas of the Crown, by East, a gentleman
afterwards one of the Judges in India.
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East’s Crown Law, chapter 5, section 2: — * Murder, in the sense

now understood, is the voluntary killing a person under the King's
ce,” —and, in my u‘]eﬁnitiun,?use, in place of that term, the words,

under the peace of the Commonwealth, — < of malice prepense or afore-
thought, either express or implied by law ; the sense of which word
malice 15 not confined to a particular 1ll-will to the deceased, but 1t 1s
intended to denote, az Mr. ﬁlﬁti{:c Foster expresses it, an action flow-
ing from a wicked and corrupt motive, a thing done malo animo,
where the fact has been attended with such circumstances as carry
in them the plain ‘indications of a heart regardless of social duty, and
fatally bent upon mischief. And, therefore, malice is implied, from
any deliberate, cruel act against another, however sndden.”

Section 12:—* The implication of malice arises in every instance
of homicide amounting in point of law to murder; and in every charge
of murder, the fact of killing being first proved, all the circumstances
of accident, necessity, or infirmity, are to be satisfactorily proved by
the prisoner, unless they arise out of the evidence produced against
him. But it is intended here only to speak of the more deliberate
and depraved species of that offence, where a mind has brooded upon
its prey, and marked out the object of destruction in cool blood; and
not where there is heat of blood arising from provocation, or from
mutual eombat.” Where there is a use of a dangerous weapon,
where it is intended to destroy life, or to do some great bodily harm,
—and [ use this qualification of some great bodily harm, because a
person may use a dangerous weapon, and say that he did not intend
to kill,—if he intended to do some great bodily harm, and death
ensue, it is not enough for him to say, “I meant merely to wound
him, but the blow unluckily killed him :” it is no excuse: he intends
to do great bodily harm. ’

Then whatisitthat will reduce murder to manslaughter? It is said,
in the passage that has been read, that it is out of regard for the frailty
of human passion. Every man, called upon suddenly to defend him-
self, is inspired with a prineiple which puts him upon resistance ;
and if, during that period, he attacks the party thus injuring him, by
blows, and death ensues, it is regarded as done through heat of pas-
sion, and not through malice, or that cold-blooded feeling of revenge,
which more properly constitutes the emation, the feeling, the passion,
of malice.

And so, again, in an instance which may be presented of heat of
blood in mutual combat. Two persons come together, not intending
to quarrel ; because, if they do intend to fight a duel, then it js mur-
der. But two persons come together. Angry words arise. Then
they come to blows. It is immaterial who strikes first, supposing that
there is nothing unfair on either side, but it is a fair combat. One
seizes an instrument, and strikes a deadly blow. That iz regarded as
heat of blood ; and, though not excusable, because a man is bound to
control his passions, yet it is not that higher offence, which is called
murder.

We have gone into these distinctions, though there is not much
necessity for it, because, where death ensues, and there is no evidence
of provocation, or of heat of blood, or mutual combat, the fact of
killing implies murder, and the Jur:,r would be warranted in finding
a verdict of murder. There seems to have been little evidence, in
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the present case, that the parties had a contest. There is some
evidence of angry feelings. But angry words are not sufficient. And,
unless these angry feelings resulted in angry words, and words were
followed by blows, then there is no evidence of mutual combat or
provacation, on the one side or the other. With these distinctions.
and without going more minutely into the law, we will proceed to the
further consideration of this case.

The party is charged with having committed the crime of murder
upon the deceased. In order to establish this fact, two things are to
be proved. In the first place. that death has been inflicted upon
the party alleged to be deceased ; of course, where he is dead, that
this has been inflicted by violence ; that it has been inflicted under
such circumstances as to exclude. beyond reasonable doubt, anv sup-
position of its being done either from accident or suicide.

If a dead body is found, and seems to have been destroyed by vio-
lence, three questions should be asked. Did he destrov his own life 2
Was it caused by accident? or, was it from violence inflicted upon him
by others ?

In most cases, there are facts and circumstances which surround the
case, which answer the questions at once. If you see the effect, and
the cause is apparent, there is no more deliberation. You sometimes
find that a Coroner is called. Sometimes it is unnecessary to hold an
inquest; although there may be some indications of a sudden death,
What is the reason of a Coroner’s inquest? A man has suddenly
died, and it is proper that there are investigations into the cause of
death. You perceive, by the whole course of this irial, by the ten-
derness of the law for the party deceased, and all connected with
him, — by the tenderness, also, manifested towards the prisoner — how
carefully and how scrutinizingly the law regards the life of every
member of society.

It is not necessary for me to say here —the spirit pervades the whole
body of our law — that, before the law, all are equal; and whatever may
be the circumstances of the individual, it makes no difference. Life
has been destroyed by violence. Therefore, the law institutes pro-
ceedings. And whether, as in one of the most recent cases which
occurred, it be a colored child in a country alms-house, or whether it
be one of the most eminent individuals in-the community for science
and wealth, it makes no difference. The same apparatus is provided —
the same security provided for every individual. Then, the purpose
of the inquest is, when there is a sudden death, that the public shall
be informed —and the community have a right to know — how it
happened. Therefore, an officer is appointed, whose duty it is to go
to the spot, take all the evidence arising from the state of things,
obtain a Jury, and ascertain what are the facts. If, as in the present
case, they appear to charge any individual, then that is the basis of
further proceedings. If they are satisfied that it is by an act of God,
a dispensation of Providence, then they must report that. The result
is given to the proper anthority. Thus, every means is taken to vin-
dicate the law. If it be suicide, in England, the party forfeits his
goods ; in our Commonwealth, there is nothing of the kind. And,
therefore, if it be suicide or accident, no further action is necessary.
But if some person is charged with murder or manslaughter, affecting
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‘the life of the individual, then it is the duty of the officers to proceed
further.

This, Gentlemen, is a case in which a person suddenly disappears;
in which evidence has been laid before you, to show that he was
deprived of life at or about a particular time, under such circum-
stances as to lead to a strong belief that some person or other had
done the act which led to this result.

Now, this is to be proved by circumstantial evidence; that is,
nobody saw the act done. And, therefore, it becomes important to state
what circumstantial evidence is, and to give you some idea of the
mode in which an investigation is to be pursued by the aid of cireum-
stantial evidence,

The distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence is this :
Direct or positive evidence arises, where a witness can be called to
prove the precise fact which is the subject of the issue in the trial ;
that is, did one man cause the death of another? That is the fact
to be proved. Well, no witness saw it: but can it not be proved?
Circumstantial evidence may be of such a nature as to warrant a
conclusive belief that somegudy did it; and it would be injurious
to the best interests of society, to have it so ordered that cireum-
stantial proof cannot avail. If it were necessary always to have
positive evidence, how many of the acts committed in tg: comimni-
nity, which destroy its peace, which subvert its security, would

entirely unpunished? No, Gentlemen ; it is not so. There may
Eg evidence quite as strong, indeed, sometimes considered stronger,
from circumstantial evidence, as from positive. The attempt to com-
pare one of these means of proof witﬁu the other is not bazed upon
sound elements of comparison, because there is no common medium
by which they can be compared. Each has its own advantages and
disadvantages, and it is necessary to understand them both,

The necessity, therefore, of resorting to circumstantial evidence, is
absolute and is obvious. Crimes are secret. Most crimes seek the
security of secrecy, and of darkness. It is, therefore, necessary to
use another mode of evidence than that which is direct, provided
there is another mode : and, thanks to a beneficent Providence, there
is furnished a means of proof, in another way, which is quite as
strong, and quite as satisfactory, as that arising from the direct testi-
mony of a witness.

But I have stated that each has its advantages and its disadvan-
tages. Now, the advantage of positive testimony is, that you have
a man, who, if he is to be believed, saw the act done; and, the
only question is, whether he is to be believed. You have the satisfac-
tory evidence of that witness ; and, from the circumstances and pe-
culiarities in which he is placed, he may be entitled to belief. The
advantage is, that you have a man who testifies to the fact itself.

But, in a case of circumstantial evidence, no person having wit-
nessed the fact, you arrive at it by a series of other facts, which, by
long experience, we have so associated with the fact in question, that
they lead to a conclusion as direct, as positive, as satisfactory, as if it
was derived from positive proof itself. Circumstantial evidence
is founded on experience, and obvious . facts and coincidences, estab-
lishing a connection between the known and proved facts, and the
facts sought to be proved.
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It must be a fair and natural inference, not a forced or an artificial
one. There are some instances where the law has declared that a
fact shall be considered in evidence of such a conclusion ; but it has
not commonly been so ; and perhaps the better rule is, that it should
not be so. It has sometimes been held, that a woman who is the
parent of a bastard child, and who gives no notice of the birth of her
child, being found with a dead child, it is to be presumed that she
murdered it ; but that is an artificial and not a natural presumption.
But, in circumstantial evidence, the inference to be drawn from
the facts is a probable one, and it should be a necessary one: the
presence of one is proof of the existence of the other.

For this purpose, therefore, each fact which is necessary to the con-
clusion must be distinctly proved. It is not, therefore, that you may
offer partial proof of a variety of facts, and then ask the Jury to
draw an inference from them. FEach fact must be proved, as [ have
said ; that is, each fact necessary to the conclusion.

It does sometimes happen, as it does in the present case, that facts
are offered in evidence, not because they are necessary to the conclu-
sion, but to show that they are consistent with it, and not repugnant
to it.

If the proof of one of these facts fails, it does not destroy the chain
of facts ; 1t fails only to give them that particular corroboration, I will
only illustrate it by a fact in the present case, which I shall consider
more particularly by and bye.

Suppose, for instance, there is proof here, which goes to show that
the teeth found in the furnace were the identical teeth belonging to
Dr. Parkman, as examined a fortnight before, and actually seen by
one person the day before his disappearance. This has a tendency
to prove that he was the person. The first great fact to be proved
being what is called the corpus delicti, the body of the crime ; — ordi-
narily, it is to prove that the crime has been committed.

ow, suppose, at the same time, there is other evidence in the case, of
a less conclusive nature, — for instance, the shape, size, height of these
various parts, when put together, which would naturally conform to the
body sought. Now, this latter view would fall short of being a conclu-
sive circumstance, because the same height, and the same other indi-
cations, might not be so indicative of the individual. They go to
corroborate the first evidence thus far, that they are consistent with
it ; and a great part of the evidence is resorted to, not because each of
these particular [acts is necessary to establish the main conelusion, but
because they go to show that the circumstances are not such as to be
repugnant to or inconsistent with it. It must depend upon a basis
of facts, which must be as strictly proved by testimony as any other
facts must be ; the coincidences may be of a physical character, or
of a moral nature. The ordinary views and feelings with which
parties act are facts, and they are of such uniform operation, that a
conclusion may be drawn from them, that, if a person acts in a par-
ticular way, he does it from a particular motive : when they are of a
physical and mechanical nature, they are very strong — sometimes they
may be so strong that there can be no question on the subject. Take
an instance where it is natural or physical. Certain circumstances
may exist, which are so conclusive as to leave no doubt.

One of the recent cases that occurred in this Court was a murder,
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by stabbing in the heart with a dirl-lmife. What were the coinci-
dences in that case? There was evidence tending to show that the
party charged had possession of the knife during the day. On the next
morning, the handle of the knife was found, having been thrown into
an open cellar. Some of the witnesses testified that that was the
handle of the knife. Afterwards, at a later hour of the day, the blade
of that knife was found broken in the heart of the deceased. Now,
when the pieces came to be fitted together, no person could have arr}y
doubt that that blade was the blade belonging to that handle. No
two knives could have been broken in precisely the same way as to
produce edges that would so precisely match.

An instance is mentioned 1in the life of Lord Eldon, that he was
in one of the Courts, trying a eriminal charged with murderin
another with a pistol. There was a great deal of evidence tend-
ing to show that he was near the place about the time the crime
was committed, and other evidence going to create suspicion that he
was the person who fired the pistol ; but still, the circumstances failed
to be conclusive of fastening it precisely on the individual, which was
the great object of all this investication. The surgeon stated, in his
examination, in the presence of the Judge, that the pistol must have
been very near the body. On being asked why, he replied, * Because
the body was blackened, and the wad found i it.” Said the Judge,
“Did you keep that wad?” =1 did,” was the response; and the
Judge requested him to examine it. It was found that the wad was
made from a part of a song; and the other part was found in the de-
fendant’s poclet. The two parts corresponded.

I only put these as cases showing what are, and what are not,
circumstances from which eonelusions may be drawn as satisfactorily
as from positive testimony. DBut these are from physical causes.

There is another class of circumstances, which are to be considered
as moral, arising out of the conduct of men in certain situations;
because, from Jong experience, it is known that men act from motives;
and that men, in certain circumstances, are likely to act in a par-
ticular way. Indeed, this is the only mode in which a great variety
of crimes can be proved, because there ars many crimes which can
be proved only from the intent. Now, the intent is a secret of the
heart, which can be known only from his declarations: and those he
may express to none, so that they may remain known only to Him
who is the reader of all hearts, except by external acts.

But it is reasoned from the fact that a man, doing a certain thing,
acts in a particular way; and, as [ have already stated, in another
part of the case,a man is always presumed to intend the natural and
usual consequences of his own acts.

The natural conduct of men is such, that fair inferences can be drawn
from it. It is necessary, to the proper administration of justice, that
such evidence shall be admitted, because it is, in its nature, satisfac-
tory ; and, if proved, it is equally conclusive.

here are various other views taken : where, for instance, probable
proof is brought of a state of facts, the absence of evidence tending
to a contrary conclusion is then to be weighed, to be considered ; and
I shall have occasion to consider that, by and bye, in another part of
the present case. So, if a party who is called upon to meet a charge,
and against whom stringent proof is produced, can offer satisfactory
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evidence to account for the circumstances in which he is placed, in
another way, and does not do it, the presumption is, that the proof,
instead of rebutting the charge, would have the contrary effect; and,
therefore, he suppresses the evidence.

There is another consideration, and that is this: that inferences
coming from independent sources, different from each other, and tend-
ing to the same conclusion, not only support each other, but support
each other with an increased weight of evidence.

To illustrate. Suppose, for instance, in the ease just mentioned,
that the paper containing the song was produced. It is barely pos-
sible that he might have picked up the piece. It is not conclusive
that he wadded the gun himself, from the fact of the piece of paper
being found in his possession. But suppose, from another, and an
entirely independent witness, it was proved that that individual pur-
chased that paper, that particular song, at a shop, the day before ;
then we have concurrent circumstances, coming from different sources,
independent of each other, which bear upon the same conclusion, and
therefore have a very strong tendency to establish the result.

Under this head — that i1s, under the head that a party who can
produce proof, and does not do it, thereby, to some extent, corrcborates
the evidence produced against him —may be referred various other
considerations, where it is shown that the party has attempted to
suppress proof, has endeavored to prevent things from being known
which might make against him; such effgrts, when proved, exert an
influence against him.

It sometimes happens that a man may be placed in such a situation
that he attempts to resort to deception, for the purpose of concealing
RmofS, when he is an innocent man, instead of having the fact pro-

uced. That was the point in the case produced yesterday, of a man
who was convicted of the murder of his niece, because she suddenly
disappeared under circumstances that gave rise to the suspicion that
she was dead ; then he attempted to impose on the Court by present-
ing another person as his niece. The deception was discovered, and
operated against him.

In that light, in connection with these various considerations, cer-
tain rules can be applied to circumstantial evidence. The first is,
that the cireumstance on which the conclusion depends must be fully
established by proof. They are facts. They are not less to be proved
by competent evidence than if they were the direct proof. Under
this rule, great care is to be taken, by guarding against pretended
circumstances, which might seem to raise suspicion against the party.
These are found, detected ; and in general it may be considered as
one of the wisest provisions of Providence, that where certain things
have happened in reality, there they must, of necessity, correspond ;
because what has happened once may happen again; and therefore,
if the facts and circumstances all correspond, there is then a strong
belief in their truth. But, if there be one cireumstance repugnant,
not consistent with them, then they cannot agree ; because two things
impossible cannot agree. The familiar illustration is : where persons
have been slain, and placed in certain positions to make it appear
that they had committed suicide. In one case of this kind, there
was the print of a bloody hand, a bloody left hand, on her own left
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hand. Tt was therefore impossible that the theory of suicide could

be maintained.

So in another case, where a man was found dead, shot by a pistol-
ball, with the pistol in his hand. Of course, this indicated suicide.
But, upon an examination of the bullet, it was found to be too large
for the pistol; and hence you will see at once that snicide was im-
possible.

The rule, therefore, is, that the circumstance upon which the
conclusion depends must be proved. I have already attempted to
distinguish that upon which the conclusion depends, and that which
is not essential to the conclusion, but only corroboratory of it. If they
are not of that character upon which the conclusion depends, then
the failure of any one does not make the case fail, but only fails in
the corroboration.

The next rule to which I ask your attention is, that all the
facts must be consistent. What has happened may happen again.
What is impossible could not have happened. And, therefore, the
facts must be consistent with each other. Considering them to be
the facts upon which the conclusion depends, if any one fact is wholly
inconsistent with the hypothesis of guilt, it, of course, breaks that
chain of circumstantial evidence, and puts an end to the case. Of
this character, Gentlemen, is an eliéi. And what is an alibi? A
man is charged with crime. He says, I was elsewhere — alibi, the
Latin word for elsewwhere. ¢Well, if that is true, that cannot be con-
sistent with the fact of his being there at that time. At precisely
eight o’clock, on a given evening, he is proved to be in one place;
therefore, he cannot be in another place at precisely the same hour.
That has been the source of a vast deal of contrariety, because an
alibi is easily suggested. With a little contrivance, and a little
arrangement of proof; a person may seem to have been in one place
when he was in another. If the alili is proved, then it is a cerfain
conelusion, because a person cannot be in two places at the same time.
Therefore, showing him to be in one, shows him not to be in the
other. DBut, wherever such proof is attempted, there must be the
most rigid and strict inquiry whether the fact is proved to the satis-
faction of the Jury; and false testimony, in the attempting to prove
that a man was in another place from his real one, is open to all the
varions suggestions of contrivance, such as the appearance of sudden
riding from one place to the other, and various other modes of that
description.

Another faet, which appears in one of these cases. A man was
accused of stealing timber. The evidence was gone through with,
and seemed to make a very strong case against him. But, on the
whole, it was proved, that, if he did it, he did it alone. Then a wit-
ness came forward and stated that one man could not lift the timber ;
it would take five. That was sufficient to close the case.

But where the cireumstances are proved, where they lead to a cer-
tain result, it may not be the same species of evidence ; but it is legal
evidence, competent evidence, and evidence which is necessary, in
many cases, in order that the guilty may not escape. But they
must be of a conclusive tendency. Yet, how is that conclusive ten-
dency to be shown? Whether the party had, or had not, the motive
to do the act, may be shown; that there was an advantage to be
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gained by it; plunder to be obtained. The circumstances which the
party fails to prove, when he might prove them ; the attempt to ere-
ate and impose false evidence; the attempt to withdraw attention
from himself to a third person; to suppress actual .facts, and various
other modes of this description, — these all tend to show, that circum-
stances which might have affected that party, as well as any other

rty, were such as to implicate him, because of something wrong.

aving a motive, and nobody else having such a motive, nor there
being any other cause of homicide shown — such as making threats,
manifesting a disposition to do the act, and various other things —
come under the head of what I have stated to be moral coincidences,
and facts which coeéxist with each other. The facts should be, to a
moral certainty, exclusive of any other reasonable hypothesis, besides
the one proposed to be proved. This is merely an expansion of the
last suggestion which I made. They must be such not only as are
consistent with the guilt of the party, but must exclude and overthrow
every other reasonable hypothesis. They must have a tendency to
show that no other individual could, under any reasonable presump-
tion, have done the act which is alleged to be done by the party.
They must prove the corpus delicti, or the offence committed — the fact
that the crime has been committed. The evidence must prove, not
only, in a case of homicide or death by violence, the hypothesis pre-
sented, but, to a reasonable extent, it must exclude a reasonable
hypothesis by suicide, or by the act of another party. This is to be
proved beyond reasonable doubt.

» Now, then, Gentlemen, what is reasonable doubt? It is not possi-
ble doubt only, because everything is doubtful. It is that doubt which,
after the entire consideration of all the evidence has been taken, leaves
the Jury uncertain. It is not a mere probability, arising from the doc-
trine of chances, that it is more likely to be so than otherwise ; but a
reasonable, moral certainty ; that is, a certainty that weighs upon the
mind, weighs upon the understanding, satisfies the reason and jude-
ment, that, without leaving any other hypothesis, the facts are such
as to implicate the defendant, and do not implicate anybody else.
This we take to be proof heyond reasonable doubt ; because, if it went
beyond that, if it required absolute certainty, as it is of a moral char-
acter, this species of evidence would always be insufficient. [t is,
therefore, that evidence which excludes every other hypothesis, beyond
reasonable doubt.

Now, we are to consider these rules as applying to the present case.
The charge is'a charge against Dr. Webster, of the wilful murder of
Dr. Parkman, on the 23d of November last.

In the first place, it is necessary to ask, what is the indictment,
inasmuch as it is the duty of the Court to decide upon all points of
law, and as the form of indictment is a guesiion of law, under the
authority which has been presented here. We have investigated this
subject, and I now give the result.

This indictment contains four counts. I will not read them ; but it
charges the commission of the act of homicide by four different modes
of death. Legal proceedings, established by old, long, well-confirmed
precedents, sometimes do secem to differ. But the general rule is,
that no man shall be held responsible for erime, in any form, until it
has been substantially set out in some charge — substantially and
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formally set out in some charge. But whatever may be the form,
the offence shall be fully and formally, clearly and substantially, set
forth. It therefore often becomes necessary to set forth several counts,
When a person, who does not know these rules, sees these counts,
he is very apt to say that these are inconsistent. But we are to
consider that a party who draws the indictment often does not know
which charge will be proved ; but, in order to meet the evidence,
he may set them forth in as many counts as he pleases, and aver
as many modes of death as he chooses, and if any one of them is
Fmved, that is all that is necessary to sustain the indictment. Satis-
actory proof of any one mode of death is sufficient.

It is said, that there are various forms of indictment adapted to
many of the modes in which death may be inflicted. But is not
science continually discovering new modes ?  Suppose, in the chem-
ical laboratory, a person might be held fast, while chloroform was

laced over his mouth, until he dies. Suppose such a case has never
efore occurred. Shall such a party escape on that account? 1
think not. And, therefore, as in cases of new modes of locomo-
tion, the common law has a rule fot all new cases. Not that it
foresaw that a steamboat would be built, or that railroads wonld
intersect the country ; yet, its general principles embrace all these
cases. And, therefore, whatever be the form of death, still the charge
in the indictment, if it presents the mode of death in as special'a
manner as the circumstances of the case will allow, is sufficient.

The same authority that has been cited I will read a passage from.
(East’s Crown Law, chap. b, sect. 13.) *The manner of procuring
the death of another, with malice, is, generally speaking, no other-
wise material than as the degree of cruelty or deliberation with
which it is accompanied may in conscience enhance the gnilt of the
perpetrator; with this reservation, however, that the malice must be
of corporal damage to the party. And, therefore, working upon the
fancy of another, or treating him harshly or unkindly, by which he
dies of fear or grief, is not such a killing as the law takes notice of.
But he who wilfully and deliberately does any act which apparently
endangers another’s life, and thereby occasions his death, shall, unless
he be clearly proved the contrary, be adjudged to kill him of malice
prepense.” The mode is not material.

How are we to consider this indictment? The first count contains
the charge of death by striking with a hammer; the second, by some
thing nearly like it; the third, by throwing upon the floor, and beating
with the hands and feet, and thereby producing death ; and the last is
the count which I shall presently read.

Now, in a case of this description, if the parties prove, to your satis-
faction, that Dr. Parkman lost his life by any means suggested, of
which there has been proof offered, perhaps the reasonable probability
would be, independent of any direct proof about the body, that it
was done by a blow, or a stab in the side, or something similar; and,
therefore, if such fact were proved, it might be considered sufficient. It
may be impossible to determine in which of these modes death was
produced ; yet, if it was made in some of the modes suggested, then
it will warrant the finding against the defendant. i

The last count is as follows :—

“ And the Jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid, do further
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present, that the said John W. Webster, of Boston aforesaid, in the
county aforesaid, in a certain building known as the Medieal College,
there situate, on the 23d day of November last past, in and upon the
said George Parkman, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
thought, did make an assault on him the said George Parkman, in
some way and manner, and by some means, instruments and weap-
ons, to the Jury unknown, and did then and there, feloniously, wilfully,
and of his malice aforethought, deprive of life, so that he, the said
Georze Parkman, then and there died ; and =o the Jurors aforesaid,
upon their oaths aforesaid, do say, that the said John W. Webster,
him the said George Parkman, in the manner and by the means
aforesaid, to the said Jurors unknown, then and there, felonionsly,
wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did kill and murder, against
the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth aforesaid, and contrary
to the formn of the statute in such case made and provided.”

The Court are of opinion, and for the purposes of this trial adopt
it, that this is a gﬂﬂd count of the indictment; and, from the neces-
sity of the case, it is s0; becanse circumstances may be imagined in
which the cause of death could not be introduced into an indict-
ment. Some books enumerate varions modes in which death may be
inflicted — strangling, smothering, and depriving of breath ; but if new
maodes oceir, as the use of ether, or chloroform, continued so as to pro=
duce death, the body may be put into such a condition that no one
can determine how death was aceasioned, and it may be said, “to the
Jurors unknown.” The precaution which is taken in the books, in ex-
plaining murder, shows that death produced merely by fright or griet
15 not included. A person who frightens another to death is not,
strictly speaking, a murderer. Murder must be some physical force
applied to the person. This count charges an assault. That isa
technical term, well understood in law ; it is something inflicted upon
the person, and naturally excites sudden and violent resentment.

Then this count charges death, by means, instruments, and
weapons, to the Jurors unknown. Ifmv, the tules of law pre-
scribe, that the Grand Jury will present the charce with as much
certainty as the circumstances will admit. And if there was no
evidence by which they could specify more particularly, then this
count is conformable:to the law. And, therefore, if you are satisfied
that the defendant is guilty of the crime charged, this form of indict-
ment is safficient to warrant a conviction. This is all, I believe, it
15 necessary to state, with regard to the form of the indictment.

Then what is necessary to be proved? It is necessary, in the first
place, to establish the corpus delicti, or the offence charged; that the
death was effected by violence, and that the circumstances are such
as to exclude aceident or suicide.

Now, Gentlemen, what are the facts charged ? They are these:
It is alleged that, on the 23d of November, in the forenoon, Dr. George
Parkman — very well known by most persons in this vicinity — was
in good spirits and health; that he walked with Mr. Shaw down
town; that he was seen, in different places, that forencon; that
he was traced to different places, until between half past one and two
o'clock; that he was seen about to enter the Medical College;
that, having gone in, he never came out of that College alive;

19
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that he was missed as soon as he would paturally be. It is further
charged that no general proclamation was made till Saturday morning.
Search was made for him, in various directions, on Friday and Sat-
urday morning, but it was not thought best to malke a public proe-
lamation until the ecars on the various railroads came in at noon;
at that time the police were called into action, and search was made.
That such search was continued, with great activity, in all diree-
tions where there was any likelihood of his being found, until the
termination of a week; that certain remains of a dead body were
found, which led to the arrest of the defendant; that the next
day, proper examinations were made; and that there were fur-
ther discoveries — that further parts of the dead body were found, and
examined, under such circumstances as to induce a reasonable belief
that they constituted portions of the dead body of Dr. George Park-
man. 'i:his is the charge ; and you are to decide whether the evidence
does, or does not, tend to charge guilt upon the defendant.

In the first place, is the crime proved? If the party was in good
health, and in good spirits, and that he so continued to the day of
his disappearance, by the evidence before you, this must be considered
a fact, until something to the contrary is shown. It isalleged that
he went to the College, and met Dr. Webster. This is admitted by
himself; but then the question arises, whether anything further was
heard from him.

Three questions, then, arise in the present case. First,— were
these the remains of the body of Dr. Parkman? And if so, were
they found under such circumstances as to exclude any belief that
he came to his death by accident, or suicide, so as to leave the other
conclusion, that he came to his death by viclence ? And if so, then
by whose hand ? 1

In the first place, then, Gentlemen, it seems to be proved, by testi-
mony that is unquestionable, that he disappeared some time in the
forencon, so far as his family are concerned, on Friday, the 23d of
November, and that he did not return that day to dinner. That is
a fact uncontested.

Then another question arises. Whether any other mode or cause
of that disappearance is shown? It is argued that the search
which was made was unusual, was unprecedented, was extensive ;
that every line of inquiry whs followed up, which seemed to indicate
a favorable result, and no discovery made.

Perhaps, as the first point on the part of the defendant was on the
score of the alifi, it may be as well to refer to that; because, if, alter
the time when, by the probable circumstances of the case, it would
appear from the proof that his life was destroyed in the Medical
College, if at all, he was seen elsewhere, of course, that would be
a circumstance inconsistent with the allepation that he was last
seen entering the Medical College. If the alibi is made out, it is
conclusive in his favor.

Now, the question is, whether he was seen. There is a point
made afterwards, to which it may be necessary to allude. hen
you are called to consider the evidence of any particular fact, of
course, you are to decide upon the preponderance of the weight of
evidence in favor of or against it. And, therefore, when a certain
amount of evidence is adduced to establish one conclusion, if there is
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a vast, overwhelming amount of evidence, to establish the other,
however the proof might have been if it stood alone, it will not stand
against the greater mass of testimony.

The witnesses in favor of the alibi of Dr. Parkman are Mrs. Hatch,
Mr. Thompson, Mr. Wentworth, Mr. Cleland, Mrs. Rhodes and her
daughter, and Mrs. Greenough. It is not necessary to go over all
their evidence. You will remember that the notice of Dr. Parkman’s
disappearance appeared in the public papers on Saturday afternoon ;
that on Sunday a general inquiry was made; that on Saturday af-
ternoon and evening, and on Monday, they had a pretty thorough
search; and so it continued, up to the succeeding Friday, when the
remains were found. No doubt, during that period, there were va-
ripus stories, as to his having been seen during the day of his disap-
pearance. It may be very probable that there were some accounts
which were made during that period, and very honestly made, by the
persons who thought they saw him. But, [ said that this was to be
compared with the evidence on the other side. Gentlemen, perhaps
it is somewhat peculiar to our own country, but it is perfectly well
known to all men of experienes, that, when a great event of this kind
arises, which fastens upon the mind of the public, the whole com-
munity are resolved, at once, into a body of inquirers. Everybody
tells to everybody else whom he has seen, and what he has seen,
within the last twenty-four hours, or within the last week. Itis
upon those statements that at last a line of inquiries is made, which
leads to the true result. One says, I saw such a thing ; and another,
another thing ; but, when compared, they do not agree.

There are two circumstances which apply to proof of alibi. In the
first place, there is the uncertainty whi:;E applies to the fact, not to say
anything about an intentional misleading ; but a witness is always
liable to be mistaken. Then, in order to establish the fact, it must be
proved, beyond reasonable doubt, that the party was seen at the pre-
cise time and place where he is alleged to have been seen by the
witness, And that is the difficulty with regard to proof of alibi.
There is always room for the difference of time to be explained, owing
to the difference of time-pieces, which sometimes vary five or ten
minutes.

‘On Saturday, notice was given. On Sunday, his disappearance
was pretty generally known in the west part of the town. lphclinve,
on Monday morning, it was universally known in the city. Then
thousands were put upon their recollection, to say whether they had
seen Dr. Parkman, where, when, and under what circumstances,
Now, he was a person very well known. Perhaps no man of his
?ﬁ and situation was better known here, in person, than himself.

ow, notwithstanding this proof, the question is whether he would
have been likely to have been seen by many persons, if he had been
moving through the streets in the manner indicated by this testimony.
Judge for yourselves. Would there not have been hundreds or
thousands of persons who wounld have seen him, and have testified to
it? This, however, is negative testimony. But if anything happens,
and persons do not see it, if they were placed where they might have
seen it, this, though nerative, leads to an affirmative result. That 1s
one of the modes to lead you to a view of the truth. If you are satisfied
that there were a great number of persons along the streets where he
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was said to have been seen — Cambridge, Court, Washington streets,
&e. —would there, or would there not; have been a great variety of
persons who would have confirmed that statement? If so, it isa
cr:r}llnpariﬁﬂn of the testimony, negative on one side, positive on the
other

Now, it is said, that positive testimony is more available than nega-
tive ; and it not unt"requently happens, in proof of this sort, that one
witness sees one thing, which another did not. Now, when two
persons are placed in a position to observe, and one says that he did
see it,and the other says that he did not, I donot see why they do not
contradict each other. For, though one is nr-gative,and the other
positive, yet, if the one who testifies that he did not see it was placed
in a position in which he would have seen it, if it had occurred, they
are contradictory.

Owing to the dimness of the hour at which he was said to have
been seen by Mrs, and Miss Rhodes, it is possible that they were mis-
talen in the individual. They may have been mistaken, also, in the
day. If a person says, “I know it was the day, because I wrote a
note on that day,” he may have misdated it at the time, which is a
matter of common experience. One of the papers in this case bears
upon its face an impossible date, having been dated the thirty-first
of November. If the actual pmnf is such as to show that the
deceased party lost his life at or about two o'clock, in the Medical
College, then 1t is impossible that he should have been seen after that
time ; and, whatever may be the causes, it must be that the parties
were mistaken, But this depends upon the main evidence brought to
establish the case. If that puts it beyond reasonable doubt that he
was there, and at that time murdered, then it places it beyond reason-
able doubt that he could not have been seen at a later hour.

One remark with repard to those different persons who saw him in
the course of Friday afternoon. They do not come to establish any
one theory. Now, if he had been seen by one person in one
place, and subsequently by another person in that direction, and so on
a certain length of distance and time, then they would have tended
to corroborate each other.

Mrs. Hatch is not relied upon. The other testimony is, that he
was seen by Mr. Thompson, who came from East Cambrldge and
who estimated his time by the BEast Cambridge Couit-house clock —
a new clock, and proved by some witnesses to be irregular; by Mr.
Wentworth, who saw him in Court-street, nearly opposite Mrs, Kid
der’s; by Mr. Cleland, who saw him in Washington-street; and by
Mrs. and Miss Hlmdcs who saw him in Green-street, going in an
opposite direction to t]wm as they were going home, tu Chambers-
street ; and Mrs. Greenmln'h saw him in Cambridge-street. They do
not scem to correspond with any one theory.

If the other ev L1]IF:‘I'I¢L is sufficient, it goes to show that this must
have been a mistake. DBut this is proper evidence to compare with
the other evidence ; and, therefore, if of 'such a character as to raise in
your minds a reasonable doubt, and if the contrary be not proved be-
yond such reasonable doubt, the case of the Government 1s lost, and
the defendant is entitled to an acquittal.

The difficulty of establishing such proof is, first, as to the day;
sacond, as to the time of day; thirdly, as to the identity of the per-
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son. Then contrast it with the supposed controlling proposition, that
if Dr. Parkman had been in those places, other persons would have seen
him. Take these things into consideration, and see if a reasonable
doubt is produced. It is true, that the time is not of itself material to
this case. If it should be established that he was seen at half past one,
or two, or three, or four o’clock, still the crime may have been commit-
ted. * But the importance of this proof is this: }nasmuch as all the
proof, on the other side, tends to establish the faet that he did go,
about a quarter of two o'clock, into the Medical College, and that he
did not come away, then it would have a tendency to control that
proof, and render the fact doubtful. But if the evidence is oth-
erwise, such as to prove that Dr. Parkman lost his life at the College,
about two o'clock, on Friday, then it cannot be proved that he was
abroad, whatever may have been the source of the mistake. But the
question, whether he was abroad, bears upon that proof.

Then the question is, whether the defendant was there upon that
day, and did meet Dr. Parkman by appointment, and did act upon that
temptation to kill Dr. Parkman. It is not necessary to establish the®
fact of seducing him there ; but, if proved, then all implied malice is
laid out of the case, because it is murder by express malice.

Oun that Friday, Dr. Webster lectured. It was the last day he was
to lecture, previous to the ensuing week. He remained there, as he
says, till about hall past one o'clock, and did meet Dr. Parkman, and
gﬂ.i:l him the money. Tracing the evidence, then, with regard to Dr.

Webster, it appears that he was at Mr. Kidder's that afternoon; and
there is some evidence tending to show that he was at the College about
six o'clock. This testimony is from Mr. Preston, a medical student,
who was in the low wing, at the west end, where the students are in the
habit of practising dissection, daily and constantly. Mr. Preston says he
was coming out of the dissecting-room at about six o’clock. I think you
will recall his testimony, though it was given pretty early in the trial.
He states that he had an engagement at seven o’elock ; that his own
tea hour was half past six o’clock; and that he started early enough
from the College to reach home in season for tea ; so that he states it
at six or half past six, that he saw Dr. Webster passing into the Col-
lege shed.

This is the evidence of that day. If there is no evidence beyond
this —if Dr. Parkman is not seen afterwards — then the conclusion
seems to be strong, that, having gone there in good health, and in one
week found bereft of life, he came to his death, not by accident,
not by the visitation of Providence ; because, if it had been by acei-
dent, it would have been known, — there would be no motive to con-
ceal it. The concealment, therefore, has a tendency to show, from
the facts and circumstances under which this body was found — if that
was hisbody — that he came to his death by violence, Youwill judge
whether that is a natural and proper conclusion.

If so, then the question arises, Were these his remains? Was the
body of Dr. Parkman found 2 It has sometimnes been said by Judges,
that a Jury never ought to convict, in a capital case, unless the dead
body is found. That, as a general proposition, is true. It some-
times happens, however, that it cannot be found, where the proof of
death is clear. Sometimes, in a case of murder at sea, the body is
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thrown overboard, in a stormy night. Because the body is not found,
can anybody deny that the author of that crime is a murderer ?

Now, about the mode of death. Suppose that a man isstruck, ona
deck of a vessel, His skull is fractured, and he remains for a length
of time insensible. Suppose that, while in this condition, he was
thrown overboard. The evidence tends to show either that it was
death from the blow or from drowning, though we cannot tell which ;
and vet, 1t may be said that it was certain that it was one, and as ab-
solutely uncertain which it was,

It is not necessary for me to gointo all the evidence. The remains
were in three places. One was the privy, (and when we speak of the -
privy, we refer to the cellar of the building, the corner only of which
was used asa privy ;) a second part were found, partially calcined, in
the furnace ; and still other parts in the tea-chest; and all the parts
being found near one place, and all connected with one apartment. If
these places were resorted to for concealment, you will judge whether
the person who concealed one part is the same that concealed the

*other. If a person had a motive to conceal one part, then he probably
had a motive to conceal the other.

These are thought, by the witnesses, to be parts of one human body.
But if, upon examination, it were found that there were two right legs
or right arms, they could not be the remains of one body. They might,
perhaps, have been the remains of anatomical subjects. It is, there-
fore, of Importance to ascertain whether they were parts of one hu-
man body. If all the parts coincide with each other as one body —
those parts that were found in the basement, and those found in the
tea-chest, and those in the furnace, all corresponding — then the natural
conclusion would be, that the same person who concealed one did the
whole, and that they did belong to the same body. Then the ques-
tion would be, whether those were parts of a body used for dissection ;
because, finding a dead body in the Medical College, the first natural
conclusion would be that they were parts of a body used for dissec-
tion. Then the question is, whether that is negatived. The phy-
sicians have_testified as to the manner in which the dissection was
performed. Dr. Holmes and Dr. Wyman have testified. Dr. Ains-
worth says that it is his business to keep an account of the subjects ;
and as they now have the sanction of the laws in furnishing the
means of obtaining subjects, it is necessary to keep accurate ac-
counts of them. He testifies that all are accounted for.

It is testified to be a uniform custom, when a subject is brought for
dissection to the Medical College, to make some preparation before
dissection commences.

That is done by injecting the arteries with some chemical sub-
stance, which tends to preserve the body. This, therefore, is the
first question, to ascertain whether these remains were parts of an
anatomical subject. One inquiry was, had the blood-vessels been
injected ? That could be ascertained by chemical analysis. Por-
tions of the blood-vessels were taken out, and committed to the ex-
amination of Dr. C, T. Jackson, and that late eminent chemist, Dr.
Gay, and Dr. Crossley. In consequence of Dr. Gay’s death, his ex-
aminations were not finished, but were concluded by Drs. Jackson

and Crossley; and they testified that these arteries had not this
anatomical injection.
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Now, then, the first evidence that was offered was, that these
parts were laid in juxtaposition, and that they appeared to correspond
in height and figure with the body of Dr. Parkman. Here is one of
the cases to which the rules of evidence apply, to which I called your
attention in speaking of circumstantial evidence. If this had been
alone relied upon, as proof of identity, it would be left doubtful ;
because parts of the body were wanting, and those the parts by which
identity 1s commonly established. Had there been marks upon the
portions of the body which remained, and they could have been
proved as natural or artificial marks upon the body of Dr. Parkman,
of which there was no evidence, it would have tended to prove
identity. If there be, in the teeth, sufficient evidence of the
specific identity of these remains with those of Dr. Parkman, then
the fact that they did not differ, in shape, size, or height, from
those which did belong to him, would have this effect: they
would not, of themselves, be sufficient to prove identity; they
would be conformable to the supposition that this was the body of
Dr. Parkman, — not opposed to it, and yet not specific enough to be
direct evidence of it. ou are, then, to determine whether the body
was identified by the teeth.

It is scarcely necessary for me to do more than to name the wit-
nesses which have been called to testify upon that subject. Itis
certainly a very interesting inquiry, whether the teeth can be identi-
fied or not. It cannot have escaped notice, how great a similarity
there is in this to the investigation of what are called fossil re-
mains. Persons have studied the anatomy of the bodies of reptiles,
and of the lower orders, to such a minute degree, that from the
figure, from the openings, they are able to say, from a single bone,
even, what class they belong to, and thus trace the inquiry, and as-
certain the existence of races and species of animals. Bat still you
are told here, by the anatomists, —by Dr. Jeffries 1‘»'wir:,rrn:ctn, who is
reputed to be excellent,— that by finding a small piece of bone, it is
possible to determine to what part of the body that belonged. There
are particular parts through which particular nerves, or vessels, pass,
by which it can be determined that they are parts of the temporal
bone, the cheek-bone, or some other. - ;

Dr. Keep was called, and stated that, three years previous, in 1846,
he made teeth for Dr. Parkman, to whose teeth and stumps various
adjustments were to be made. He testifies that they were adjusted
and fitted. Now, the gold having been melted, but the blocks of teeth
remaining, with several peculiar angles and points, the question was,
whether he could ascertain their identity. It is merely necessary
for me to refer you to this testimony. He was of opinion that he
could identify them; he was satisged that they were the teeth of
Dr. Parkman. If you are satisfied that that conclusion was right,
then this testimony is of a very different character from that of the
shape and size, and has a strong tendency to prove that it was the
body of the deceased person. I barely refer to'the persons who have
testified to this, Dr. Keep, with his assistant, Dr. Noble, think that
they can identify these blocks of teeth. Dr. Morton is of opinion
that there is not enough to enable an artist to identify them And
with regard to all that, Drs. Harwood, Codman, and Tucker, have
testified the other way.



206

You are to determine, by all the testimony, whether, those were
the teeth of Dr. Parkman, and belonged to the same body as the
other parts; and, if so, it has a strong tendency 1o a proof of death
by violence,and then the corpus delicti is esta blished; otherwise, not.
If this is not proved to the satisfaction of the Jury, beyond reasonable
donbt, then the dead body is net proved to be that of Dr. Parkman,
and the proof of the corpus delicti. as offered by the prosecution, fails.

But if this is satisfactorily proved, then the next question for the
Jury is, By whom was it done ? I have already submitted to you
the question, whether or not these belonged to the same person. If
they belonged to the same person—if these were the teeth of Dr.
Parkian,— (you will recollect the reasons that they gave why the
teeth were in the head before being put in the furnace,) — then one

rt, being identified. identifies the rest.

Gentlemen, I shall pass over all that has been said in regard to
Mr. Littlefield. I am not aware that the conclusion depends upon
his testimony. You are to judge of, and give that weight to it, as
you think it deserves, so far as it 3Imulﬁd command attention. It 1s
not impeached. You will attribute to it the value and importance
which it merits, '

Before proceeding away from this question of the remains, it ma

be proper to allude to the fact which was stated by Mr. Littlefield —
I am not sure that it was by any other witness — that is, why these
remains were not placed in the dissecting-vault, instead of being
placed in the laboratory and cellar. Seeing limbs there, would have
excited less suspicion. Mr. Littlefield says that it was double locked ;
and that, though the key was there, it was in a dark place, and he
had charge of it. I state several things here, as I happen to find
them upon my minutes. because they may as well come in at one
place as at another.
. The general outline only of these facts it 1s necessary to state
Undoubtedly, from Monday and Tuesday, till Friday, there was a
pretty close watch kept on the Medical College. On Monday, one of
the family went there, — Dr. Samuel Parkman; Mr. Kingsley, and
two officers with him, were there also. A more thorough investiga-
tion was made on Tuesday, by four officers, yet probably not particu-
larly thorough; but every part had been looked through, at least,
except the vault. [ speak of it as a vault, because, though it is a
large section of the cellar, vet it is separated from the rest by a solid
wall, and separated from the dissecting-vault. The privy leading
from the lower laboratory was the only means of access to it, except
by taking up the floor, or by making an aperture through the brick
wall. Every part pf the building had been searched except that.

With regard to the conduct of the defendant at the time of the
arrest and since, it strikes us that not much can be drawn from it.
Such are the various temperaments of people, such is the rare oceur-
rence of an arrest for this erime, who can say how a man onght to
behave ? How can you say that he was too muth moved, or too little
moved? Have yon had any experience how you would behave in
such a position? Judee you concerning that. The facts are before
you, regarding his conduct and language. They are a part of the
evidence, but it strikes me that they cannot be very important: if
the testimony is sufficient without, then this species of evidence is
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unnecessary ; if they are not, then the conduct seems not sufficient
to give any conclusive effect to the other proofs.

Now, Gentlemen, there are two things to consider. From the
law which I have read to you, it appears that if two persons meet,
and one voluntarily destroys the life of the other, and no evidence
appears, either in the testimony brought to convict him, or in that

duced in his behalf, to show provocation, or heat of blood, it is
held to be murder, or homicide with malice. I have stated that
malice may be either implied or express. DMalice express is where
there is evidence of design, in the previous acts or conduct of the
accused.

Murder by poison must be by express malice, because there must
have been preparations previcusﬁv. But whether malice, in any case,
be express or implied, it is always murder, if the homicide be volun-
tary, and not death produced in heat of blood.

There are two theories on which this is thought to be murder. One
is that it was by express malice, and the other is that it was by implied
malice ; that is, that if the express malice is not proved, and if the
mitigation to manslanghter is not proved, still, in cases where there
is not accident or suicide, it is murder by implied malice.

The theory on the part of the Government is, that Dr. Parkman
was the creditor of Dr. Webster ; that he held two notes against him;
that one was given as early as the year 1843, for 400 or 5500 : that,
afterwards, another note was given, in which Dr. Parkman advanced
another sum, making up in the whole $300), and other friends of Dr.
Webster contributed enough to make up the sum of $2400, so that,
when collected, it would be partly his own and partly the money of
others ; that Dr. Parkman had insisted very urgently for the payment
till the time of his death. It would seem, from the facts which appear
in the case, that what he was urgent for was the payment of his own
debt. Now, although he held the note for $2400, which was not due
till March, 1851, still, that embraced the $500, and the $332, a part
of the old note ; so that this smaller note, though not given up, was to
be considered as paid when the larger note should be settled. You

reeive, therefore, that he held two notes, one due to himself, and one
due to himself with others; that he had pressed for payment rather
earnestly ; that Dr. Webster had put him off’; that the time had come
for receiving the annual stipend ; that Dr. Parkman had expected to
receive his pay at that time; that Dr. Parkman wished to obtain the
money received from the sale of tickets; that this fact was received
from Mr, Pettee by Dr. Webster himself; that, on Monday evening,
Dr. Parkman called at the College, and urged Dr. Webster very
strongly for payment; that the reply was, that he could not pay him
on that day; that he was finally put off until Friday.

It seems, however, that, in the interval, he was seen, on Thursday,
to go to Cambridge. Now, the paperwhich was found in his possession,
being a paper drawn up by Dr. Webster'’s friend. Cunningham, will
exhibit the pecuniary transaction between these two parties,

The sngoestion is, that Dr. Webster called at Dr. Parkman’s
house on that Friday morning, and said that, if Dr. Parkman would
come to the Medical College at half past one, he would pay him,
The ground taken on the part of the prosecutor is, that this was done
for the purpose of inducing Dr. Parkman to come there, without the
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intention of paying him; that he did not pay him; that he had not
the means ofp paying him: but that his object was to get possession
of those notes on which this claim was due. And, in consequence of
this engagement, Dr. Parkman did go; that Dr. Webster, instead of
being prepared to pay his debt, took measures to destroy the life of
his ereditor, with a view of getting possession of the notes, without
payment; that he did get such possession; that he then gave out to
the world that he had paid $483.64, which was the smaller note ; and
therefore that the object was an act of plunder, and that, too, by tak-
ing the life of the individual. If that is proved to your satisfaction,
-undoubtedly it is a case of express malice.

If proved, I cannot distinguish between this and a case of prop-
erty found upon the person alleged to have plundered another of his
property. Such possession, established by proof, beyond reasonahle
doubt, tends to show that plunder was the object for which the act
was done.

Gentlemen, you will have the notes. There is abundant l:{ruuf
about the pecuniary transactions between Mr, Pettee and Dr. Web-
ster. DMr. Pettee was an officer who was appointed to collect the
dues from the students. He testifies to you that he happened to be
at the Medical College on the morning of that Friday, and that he
went there for the purpose of paying Dr. Webster $80, which was
due to him, having paid him $250 or $260 before. $500 was
received by Mr. Pettee to Dr. Webster’s credit, at one time, about
half of which was paid to Dr. Bigelow. You will compare these state-
ments of Mr. Pettee with the bank-book, and say whether these were
the sums received by Dr. Webster during that period. There is one
of the circumstances which is very significant, and that is, that the
£90 paid, on the morning of that Friday, to Dr. Webster, by Mr. Pettee,
was not a part of the money used for the payment of the note, for
$453.64, which Dr. Webster stated that he paid on that day; because
it appears that that was paid in a check on the Freeman’s Bank; and
also, that, on the next day, though possibly on that day, after two
o'clock, but not eredited, as it was after bank hours, until the next
day, when the check was entered to his credit, on the books of the
Charles River Bank.

Mr. Pettee says, that he told Dr. Webster that he did not choose
to be troubled by Dr. Parkman; and, on account of his desire of
avoiding Dr. Parkman, he had previously told Littlefield to inform
Dr. Webster that he would meet him on that Friday morning, at the
Medical College, to pay him whatever sums were due. He testifies
that, though he had some business transactions with Dr. Webster
at that time, he thinks he did not mention to Dr. Webster the
harsh language used by Dr. Parkman. Still he said he did mention
that he had had trouble, and that Dr. Webster said, “ There would
be no difficulty about it, for he had settled with Dr. Parkman.”

If this engagement with Dr. Parkman was made by Dr. Webster,
with the purpose of getting possession of those notes, and by means
of this arrangement he did get possession of those notes, it would be
a very strong case of murder by express malice, A fact, if it be so,
that there was still money due on the larger note — I mean, money not
paid, and which was not due for more than a year — would be a still
stronger circumstance than finding the note that was due ; because
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it is stated now, by the defendant, that he had collected money for
the purpose of paying the $483, but he has not stated that anything
 more than that was paid. The evidence to show that these two notes
were found in the possession of Dr. Webster, upon a search of his
house at Cambridge, is before you; and you will judoe whether it
proves the fact beyond reasonable doubt. This is one of the faets, in
the chain of evidence, which the Court deem material ; without which,
the chain of circumstantial evidence wounld not seem to be complete.

It was my intention to examine all the testimony of his own ac-
count of the payment of the money. I think that you will find that
the statement made to Mr. 8. Parkman Blake was one of the fullest.
I intended to read it, but I think it is not necessary. He says, that
Dr. Webster informed him, that, about the time of the engagement,
namely, at half past one, on Friday noon, Dr. Parkman came to the
Medical College, and that he paid Eim in the smaller room ; that he
took the money, and started off hastily, with the money and papers in
his hands ; that Dr. Webster said to him, “ You have not cancelled
the notes;” that Dr. Parkman turned and dashed his pen through the
signature, and was then hurrying away, when Dr. Webster spoke to
him about discharging the mortgage ; that he replied, “I will go and
see to that.” This mortgage turned out to be.on personal property.
The office was, therefore, that of the Town Clerk, at Cambridgeport,
and not at East Cambridge, as was supposed. Baut, if you find that
money was due on the other note, and that that note was obtained
without paying anything, you will have to consider the motive for it.
If it'is proved, this may tend to make out a case from ecircumstantial
evidence, because it would tend to connect the defendant individually
with the possession of the note, having a motive to obtain it.

Then, there is a great variety of circumstances, tending to show
the acts of the defendant in concealing these remains. Now, if it be
surmised that these remains were placed there after the death of the
party, and without the knowledge of Dr. Webster, of course, this con-
cealment would not affect him. But I have already stated that the
three portions were so situated, with regard to each other, that who-
ever had a motive to conceal one probably had a motive to conceal the
other. And if this was done umller circumstances so as to render it
necessary that it must have been done with the knowledgze of Dr.
Webster, that strengthens the conclusion that it was done by him, or,
at least, with his concurrence.

It is not necessary to go through all the circumstances relied upon
to show the conduct of the defendant after he was arrested. If the
defendant was charged with the guilt of murder, or if any man found
himself charged with the guilt of such an offence, and the circum-
stances remain unexplained, they might tend to show an apparent
consciousness of guilt. :

Dr. Webster’s conduct, we think, ought to be considered to have a
very slight bearing. There is nothing, from the experience of the
Jury, to show how men will act when charged with such a crime.

The fact, in regard to Dr. Webster’s statements, made to different
FEI‘SN‘IE, that he never mentioned two notes, and yet two notes are

ound in his possession, would go to show motives of a conclusive
character. So the fact, that these papers were found in his possese
sion, or custody, in Cambridge, is of importance. It may be that he
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alluded, in his letter to his danghter, to the package given to his wife
a day or two before, when he had been applied to to obtain some
citric acid. The letter does not say package, but * bundle.” Whether
those were the papers which he requested to be concealed, would be
immaterial, and, therefore, it would be immaterial whether that was
the package which he referred to, because the papers themselves fur-
nish the material evidence. But if it referred to them, the letter
itself might go a little further, and show that he thought the posses-
sion of those papers might be hazardous to him; and, therefore, the
attempt to conceal them, if proved, would bring it within the rule,
that the attempt to suppress proof, or to alter any of the facts in the
case, would go against the accused. But if it led to a search, and
hence these papers were found, the papers have the same effect,
whether it alludes to them or not.

li is sometimes said, that small circumstances go to show great
truths. Identity is sometimes proved by small circumstances. It is
argued, on the part of the prosecution, that a piece of twine was tied
about these remains, similar to what was found in Dr. Webster’s
room. Gentleraer, whoever undertook to destroy these remains.
whether the defendant or any other person, had access to the rooms
of the defendant, and undoubtedly would use all the means within
reach, whether under lock and key or not; toa person with such views,
a lock would be of little avail. The whole apartments may be consid-
ered to be under the control of Dr. Webster. Of his knowledge of
the fire, and his presence, you can judge from the evidence. With
regard to this twine; that somebody had the intention of concealing
these remains — proposing first to conceal them, then to destroy
them — is pretty manifest, from the manher in which they are cov-
ered up and concealed. The same person who had the motive to do
one, probably did the whole. The same person who packed up the
body, used the cord ; it seems a slight circumstance. By not dwel-
ling npon these various circumstances, I do not intend to withdraw
them from your consideration. But the time admonishes me that I
must draw to a close. 7

I might enumerate the witnesses. They are very numerous. The
persons who speak of the search are, Messrs. Shaw, Blake, Tukey,
and others. As shown by witnesses, Dr. Francis Parkman and Mr.
Blake, the conduct of the defendant, at different times, was of such a
character, and he was in such a situation, that you will judge how
far any statement made by him at those times ought to be considered
as evidence bearing much against him.

There is one cirenmstance, which is dwelt upon with some force,
by the prosecuting officer, which ought, in the opinion of the Court,
not to be considered against the defendant. That is, that he waived
an examination in the Police Court. Here was the Inquest charging
hitn with murder ; — what is the purpose of the Police Court? It is
simply to find prima facie evidence, to warrant a commitment. It is
customary, oftentimes, to waive an examination there. The magis-
trates would not go into as thorough an examination in that Court as
here. Its object is simply to ascertain whether a warrant shall be
issued for the commitment of the accused. His waiving an examina-
tion there seems to us immaterial, more especially as there had been
an Inquest, charging him with an offence. [The Judges consult
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together.] I am told there had been no Inquest at that time, but
that is immaterial. There was sufficient evidence to hold the party
for trial : and that is all that is required. '

Then, Gentlemen, the question of the anonymous letters. If a

rson attempts to divert attention from himself, more especially if it
1s to fix attention upon others, that is one of those circumstances,
arising out of human conduct, when an individual has been guilty of
erime, But the facts cannot be proved certainly; and unless they
are proved beyond reasonable doubt, they are not material. This
only goes to show that, if the proof existed without them, they would
corroborate it.  But if the letter marked * Civis * is written by him,
you will judge whether he was placed in such a situation as to in-
duce him to write it. A man may be placed in such a situation
that he thinks there are strong circumnstances against him, and, without
actual guiit, may attempt to ward off proof. But proof is necessary.
With regard to the other two letters, the proof is slight. You will
judge for yourselves whether any of them were written by the de-
gendant*

If this act of homicide was committed by Prof. Webster, and
there is not sufficient proof to mitigate the crime to manslaughter,
then the conclusion would be that it was murder by implied malice,
If the other assertion is proved, that it was intended to decoy him
to the College, to do this deed, that is express malice. If it is not
proved that /e was there, then there must be a general verdict of ae-
quittal.

There is another point. Itis competent for a person accused to give
evidence of character. Now there are cases in which a man may
stand in such a situation that a good character would be very import-
ant to him. A stranger may %e placed where there were circum-
stances tending to charge him with larceny, or with some other spe-
cies of crime. He may show that, though there are suspicious cir-
cumstances, yet, where he is known, he is esteemed to be of perfectly

od character; and that sustains him. Such a character may de-
%:1‘111 him from such a crime. But where it is a question of a great
and atrocious crime, it is so unusual, so out of the ordinary course of
things, he must have been influenced by such facts and circum-
stances as to create effects which have unfrequently been produced
upon a human mind, so that the evidence of character may be con-
sidered as far inferior to what it is in the case of smaller crimes.
Against facts strongly proved, character cannot avail. It is therefore
in smaller offences, in such as relate to the actions of daily life,
— that if a man be charged with being light-fingered, for instance, —
he may bring evidence with regard to his character, showing that he
would not be likely to yield to a small temptation. Iresuch a case,
evidence concerning character may be given with some effect.

But with regard to the higher crimes, the mere possession of a

od character, though of less avail, is competent evidence to the

ury, and is one of a species which the party has a right to offer.
The party accused may give evidence of it; and if he does, the
party opposed may present evidence to contradict his witnesses. But
a person who is charged with such an atrocious crime as this, ought
to prove his character by very strong evidence, to make it counter-

balance strong proof on the other side. It is not competent for a
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prosecutor to give in proof of the bad character of the defendant;
and it cannot be done, unless the party on the other side puts in evi-
dence of his good character.

Gentlemen, I am sensible that there are a great many facts here.
It is impossible that a great many things should not be omitted. 1
shall feel rejoiced if I have stated such of the main considerations
of this case as shall enable you to come to a fair and just conclusion.
Many things press upon my mind which I intended to mention ; and
yet I have taken as much time as I ought to take.

Gentlemen, we commend this case to your serious consideration.
Weigh it under the rules of law. Consider that you have been called
upon and set apart; in the first place, drawn by lot from those' most
experienced. You have been then selected from the body of those
who have been drawn, with all the advantages of which the condition
of humanity will admit. And, Gentlemen, when it is said that it is
possible to err, that is true. It is nothing more than to say that we
are human. It is always possible to err. All that we can hope to
do—you in your department,and we in ours,— is to exercise the best
faculties of our minds, to give all the weight to the evidence which
it deserves, to weigh carefully on both sides ; and although we should
come to a result which, at some future time, may be proved to be erro-
neous, yet still a consciousness that we have done our duty will
sustain us. I commend this cause to your consideration. Take
sufficient time, weigh the evidence, and give such a verdict as will
satisfy your own judgment, and your own sound conscience, and I
am sure it will be a true one.

THE VERDICT.

Immediately on receiving the charge from the Chief Justice, the
Jury 1::La-i;imd, and the Court took a recess till a quarter to eleven
o'clock. :

As the hour drew near, the Court began to be again filled with the
anxions crowd, who had heard that the Jury had sent to come into
Court. A deep silence pervaded the room, as the announcement was
made, that the Jury had agreed. Even from the densely filled gal-
lery, there was hardly a sound that fell audibly upon the ear.

At twelve minutes of eleven, the prisoner, pale and thoughtful, was
conducted to his seat within the dock. Shortly after, the Jury came
in, solemnly and slow, and took their seats, as though they felt deeply
that theirs was a painful task. Soon the Court entered; and the
most thoughtless listened with breathless attention, to catch the first
sound of those thrillingly important words, which, in a few short,
flitting seconds, were to decide the prisoner’s fate.

The profouad and painful silence was first broken by the Clerk,
who said :

Gentlemen of the Jury, have you agreed on a verdict ?

Some of the Jury. %E have.

Clerk. Who shall speak for you, Gentlemen ?

Some of the Jury. The Foreman.

The Clerk then said —* John W, Webster, hold up your right
hand! Foreman, look upon the prisoner! What say you, Mr.
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Foreman, is John W. Webster, the prisoner at the bar, guilty, or not
ilty ?
guF?rmm GUILTY'! .

Clerk. Gentlemen of the Jury, hearken to your verdict, as the
Court have recorded it. You, upon your oaths, do say, that John W.
Webster, the prisoner at the bar, is guilty : so you say, Mr. Foreman ;
so, Gentlemen, you all say.

When the Foreman pronounced the word Guilty, the prisoner
started, like a person shot ; his hand dropped upon the rail in front, his
chin drooped upon his breast ; and after remaining thus a moment or
two, he sank into the chair, covering his eyes with his hands. A death-
like silence followed, and all eyes were fixed in sadness on him whose
hopes had now fled. For nearly five minutes the prisoner remained
in this state, apparently unconscious, when Judge Merrick, his Coun-
sel, went and conversed with him. The prisoner at one time seemed
affected to tears.

No one seemed willing to move — to break the spell which kept
all fixed in silence. At length the order was given to adjourn the
Court, and the spectators began to leave. The prisoner remained
some time after the Court adjourned, with his handkerchief to his
eyes ; and, at his own request, was removed to his cell, where he might
be left to himself, free from the gaze of others.

TWELFTH DAY.— Monday, April 1st.

It having been generally known that Professor Webster would be
brought up this morning for sentence, an immense collection of spec-
tators was in attendance ; and as early as eight o’clock, every position
from whence a glimpse might be had of the unfortunate prisoner
was occupied. Though the gathering was large, and composed
of all classes of people, the demeanor of the concourse was most
creditable. There were no tumults or noises, but the entire mass
seemed awfully impressed with the solemnity of the occasion.

Agreeably to adjournment on Saturday night, the Court met ata
few moments after nine o’clock. The assemblage in the Court-room
embraced some of the most distingnished persons of the State, and
many individuals from other parts of the country. There were, on
the bench, Chief Justice Shaw, and Associate Justices Wilde, Dewey,
Metealf and Fletcher. The Counsel for the defence, Hon. Pliny
Merrick, of Worcester; and Edward D. Sohier, Esq., of Boston, sat
at a table in front of the bench ; and the Attorney General, and George
Bemis, Esq., occupied seats in front of the jury-box.

Precisely at ten minutes after nine o'clock, the prisoner, in custody
of constable Jones and jailer Andrews, was brought into Court, and
took his seat in the dock. His appearance betokened extreme melan-
choly. He was downcast and nervous, and appeared to be suffering
from terrible emotions.

The vast audience having been seated, the Attorney General, Hon.
John H. Clifford, rose, and in a tremulous and scarr:e?;r audible voice,
addressed the Bench as follows: —

May it please your Honors : — The prisoner at the bar, at the Janu-
ary term of the Municipal Court, in this county, was indicted by the



304

Grand Jury for the crime of wilful murder. On that indictment,
according to the provisions of the law, the prisoner wasarraigned, and
leaded © Not guilty.” Counsel of his own selection, capable and [aith-
ul, were assigned to him by the Court, to assist in preparing and
condueting his defence. The issue then found has been presented to
& Jury almost of his own selection. Every aid from Counsel has been
rendered, in making out his defence, that could be rendered, and that
Jury have found him guilty of the charge. It now becomes my pain-
ful duty to move, that the sentence which the law of this Common-
wealth affixes to this offence should be passed upon the prisoner.

Mr. George C. Wilde, the Clerk of the Court, holding the indiet-
ment in his hand, now addressed the prisoner: — “ John W. Webster,
have you anything to say why sentence of death should not be pro-
nounced upon you, according to law ¢”

The prisoner, upon the call of his name, rose, and placing his hands
upon the bar in front of the dock, looked calmly towards the Bench.
He seemed as if disposed to speak; but, after a bow, again resumed
his seat, without doing so.

Chief Justice Shaw then addressed the prisoner as follows.  Upon
the call of his name, Professor Webster stood up, and during the
speech of the venerable Judge, it would have been difficult to determine
which was the most affected, himself or the unfortunate man to
whom his remarks were addressed : —

John W. Webster : — In meeting you here for the last time, fo pro-
nounce that sentence which the law has affixed to the high and
ageravated offence of which you stand convicted, it is impossible, by
language, to give utterance to the deep consciousness of responsibility,
to the keen sense of sadness and sympathy, with which we approach
this solemn duty. Circumstances, which all who know me will duly
appreciate, but which it may seem hardly fit to allude to in more detail,
render the performance of this duty, on the present occasion, unspeak-
ably painful. At all times, and under all circumstances, a feeling of
indescribable solemnity attaches to the utterance of that stern voice of’
retributive justice which consigns a fellow-being to an untimely and
ignominious death ; but when we consider all the circumstances of

our past life, your various relations to society, the claims upon you
K}_.f others, the hopes and expectations you have cherished, and con-
trast them with your present condition, and the ignominious death
which awaits you, we are oppressed with griel and anguish, and
nothing but a sense of imperative duty, imposed on us by the law,
whose officers and ministers we are, could sustain us in pronouncing
such a judgment.

Against the erime of wilful murder, of which you stand convicted —
a crime at which humanity shudders, a crime everywhere and under
all forms of society regarded with the deepest abhorrence — the law has
denounced its severest penalty, in these few and simple, but solemn
and impressive words: —

“ Every person who shall commit the erime of murder shall suffer
the punishment of death for the same.” |

The manifest object of this law is the protection and security of
human life, the most important object of a just and paternal govern-
ment. Itismade the duty of this Court to declare this penalty against
any one who shall have been found guilty, in due course of the ad-
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ministration of justice, of having violated this law. It is one of the
most solemn acts of judicial power which an earthly tribunal can be
called upon to exercise, It is a high and exemplary manifestation of
the sovereign authority of the law, as well in its stern and inflexible
severity, as in its protecting and paternal benignity. It punishes the
guilty with severity, in order that the rightto the enjoyment of life —
the most precious of all rights — may be more effectually secured.

By the record before us, it appears that you have been indicted, by
the E::rand Jury of this county, for the crime of murder ; alleging that
on the 23d November last, you made an assault on the person of Dr.
George Parkman, and, by acts of violence, deprived him of life, with
malice aforethought. This 1s alleged to have been done within the
apartments of a public institution in this city, the Medical College, of
which you were a Professor and instructor, upon the person of a man
of mature age, well known, and of extensive connections in this com-
munity, and a benefactor of that institution. The charge of an offence
so aggravated, under such eircumstances, in the midst of a peaceful
community, created an instantaneous outburst of surprise, alarm and
terror, and was followed by a universal and intense anxiety to learn,
,i?' the results of a judicial proceeding, whether this charge was true.

he day of trial came ; a Court was organized to conduct it; a Jury
almost of your own choosing was selected in the manner best calcu-
lated to insure intellicence and impartiality ; Counsel were appointed
to assist you in conducting your defence, who have done all that
learning, eloquence and skill could accomplish, in presenting your
defence in its most favorable aspects; a very large number of witnesses
were carefully examined ; and, after a laborious trial, of unprecedented
length, conducted, as we hope, with patience and fidelity, that Jury
have pronounced you * Guim.“

To this verdict, upon a careful revision of the whole proceedings, I
am constrained to say, in behalf of the Court, that they can perceive
no just or legal ground of exception.

“ Guilty !” How much, under all the thrilling circumstances which
cluster around the case and throng our memories in the retrospect,
does this single word import! The wilful, violent and malicious
destruction of the life a fellow-man, in the peace of God and under
the protection of the law — yes, of one in the midst of life, with bright
hopes, warm affections, mutual attachments, strong, extensive and
numerous, making life a blessing to himself and others !

We allude thus to the injury you have inflicted, not for the purpose
of awakening one unnecessary pang in a heart already lacerated, but
to remind you of the irreparable wrong done to the victim of your
cruelty, in sheer justice to him whose voice is now hushed in death,
and whose wrongs can only be vindicated by the living action of the
law. If, therefore, you may, at any moment, think your case a hard
one, and your punishment too severe — if one repining thought arises
m your mind, orone murmuring word seeks utterance from your lips —
think, oh ! think of him, instantly deprived of life by your guilty hand ;
then, if not lost to all sense of retributive justice, if you have any
compunctious visitings of conscience, you may perhaps be ready to.
exclaim, in the bitter anguish of truth,—*I have sinned against
Heaven and my own soul ; my punishment is just; God be merciful te
me,a sinner ! ” '

20



306

God grant that your example may afford a solemn warning to all,
especially to the young! May it impress deeply upon every mind the
salutary lesson it is intended to_teach, to guard against the indulgence

of every unhallowed and vindictive pas.'ﬂun ; to resist temptation to
any and every selfish, sordid, and wicked purpose ; to listen to the
warings of cnnsmencc, and yield to the plain dictates of duty; and,
whilst they instinctively shrink with abhorrence from the first thuught
of assailing the life of another, may they learn to reverence the laws
of God, and of society, designed to secure protection to their own !

We farbefar, for-ohvious mnsad_emtmus. from adding such words of
advice as may be sometimes thought appropriate, on 0ucasmns lilkze
this. [t has commonly been our province, on occasions like the
present, to address the illiterate, the degraded, the outcast, whose
early life has been cast among the vicious, the neglected, the aban-
doned ; who have been blessed with no means of moral and religious
culture ; who have never received the benefits of cultivated society,
nor enjoyed the sweet and ennobling influences of home. To such
an one, a word of advice, upon an occasion so impressive, may be a
word fitly spoken, and tend to good. But in a case like this, where
these circumstances are all reversed, no word of ours could be more
efficacious than the suggestions of your own better thoughts, to which
we commend you.

But, as we approach this last sad duty of pronouncing sentence,
which is indeed the voice of the law, and not our own, yet, in giving
it utterance, we cannot do it with feelings of indifference, as a mere
formal and official act. God forbid that we should be prevented from
indulging and expressing those irrepressible feelings of interest, sym-
pﬂthdy, and compassion, which arise spontaneously in our hearts; and
we do most sincerely and cordially deplore the distressing condition
into which crime has brought you! And though we have no word of
‘present consolation, or of earthly hope, to offer you, in this hour of
E}ur affliction, yet we devoutly commend you to the mercy of our

eavenly Father, with whom is abundance of merey, and from whom
we may all hope for pardon and peace

And now nothing remains but the solemn duty of pronouncing the
sentence which the law affixes to the erime of murder, of which you
stand convicted, which sentence is, [the Court and spectators rising,]

That you, John W. Webster, be removed from this place, and
detained in close custody in the prison of this county, and thence
taken, at such time as the executive government of this Common-
wealth may, by their warrant, appoint, to the place of execution, and
there be hung by the neck until you are dead.

And may Em{ of his infinite goodness, have mercy on your soul !

At the conclusion of the sentence, the prisoner sank back into
his chair, and wept. He took a handkerchief, and, after wiping
his face, placed his forehead upon the bar, as if to conceal the current
of his 'tears from the thousand eyes that were turned upon him. In
this position he remained until disturbed by the officers whe had him
in charge.

About five minutes were now passed in solemn silence, which was
suddenly broken by the Chief Justice, who said —* Mr. Sheriff, the
prisoner is in your custody — Mr. Crier, adjourn the Court until to-
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morrow morning, at nine o'clock.” The prisoner was accordingly
manacled and remanded, and the Court adjourned.

After Prof. Wehbster had entered the carriage, and was driven
towards the jail, the crowd outside the Court-house dispersed in a
quiet and orderly manner.

The prisoner’s deportment, after his return to his cell, was marked
gzr calmness, and he seemed much bowed down with affliction.

houghts of his famil?r were uppermost in his mind. Many distin-
guished gentlemen called to see him during the day, and all the con-
solation possible has been afforded to him. In the afterncon, the
wife and daughters of Prof. Webster visited him, and passed several
hours in his cell. They retired at sunset.

Thus ended a trial which has probably created greater interest and
excitement than any event that has occurred for years in the city
of Boston.
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LITTLEFIELD'S CELLAR. l

EXPLANATION OF THE DIAGRAM.

1. A wet sink, connecting with the vault by a small pipe.

2. Sink, with Cochituate water.

3. Stove.

4. Staircase leading from the laboratory to the Professor’s private rooms, and
encircling the privj'.

5. Privy, immediately under which the pelvis, right thigh, and lower part of the
left leg, were found.

6. Furnace, in which were found the mineral teeth, parts of bones of the head,
neck, arms, hands, right leg and feet.

7. Two large casks, for chemical purposes.

B. Tea-chest, in which the thorax and left thizh were dizscovered.

ﬁ'l, A very large window, overlooking the water, and about two feet above it, at high
tide.

10. Another large window, but not so wide as No. 9, also overlooking the water.
Both windows are without blinds or curtains.
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B.

SPECIAL NOTICE.

Georce Parrmaw, M. D., a well-known and highly respectable citizen of
BosTox, left his house in W ALNUT-STREET, to meet an engagement of business,
on Friday last, November 23d, between twelve and one o’clock, P. M., and
was seen in the southerly part of the city, in and near Washington-street, in
conversation with some persons, at about five o’clock of the afternoon of the
same day.

Any person who ean give information relative to him, that may lead to
his discovery, is earnestly requested to communicate the same immediately
to the City Marshal, for which he shall be liberally rewarded.

Boston, November 25th, 1849,

$3000 REWARD!

Dr. Georce Pareman, a well-known citizen of Boston, left his residence,
No. B, WaLNuT-sTREET, on Friday last. He is 60 years of age, about 5 feet,
9 inches high ; gray hair, thin face, with a scar under the chin ; light com-
glexiun, and usually walks very fast. He was dressed in a dark frock coat,
h:rk pantaloons, purple silk vest, with dark figured black stock, and black

1.

As he may have wandered from home in consequence of some sudden
aberration of mind, being perfectly well when he left his house ; or, as he
had with him a large sum of money, he may have been foully dealt with.
The above reward will be paid for information which will lead to his dis-
covery, if alive; or for the detection and conviction of the perpetrators, if
any injury may have been done to him.

A suitable reward will be paid for the discovery of his body.

Roeert G. SmAW.

Boston, November § 5th, 1849,

Information may be given to the City Marshal.

$100 Rewarp will be paid for inFormaTioN which leads to the recovery of
a gold double-bottomed Lepine turned-case Watch : ladies’ size, full plate,
four-holed Ea}l:!ﬂd, gold dial, black fizures, steel hands, no second hands, no

eap. Mar B. Adams & Sons, St. John-street, London. No. 61351.
Francis Tukey, City Marshal.
Boston, November 27th. Police Office, City Hall.

#1000 REWARD!

Whereas, no satisfactory information has been obtained respecting Dr.
Grorce Parkmax, since the afternoon of Friday last, and fears are enter-
tained that he has been murdered, the above Reward will be paid for
information which leads to the recovery of his body.

Boston, Nevember 28th, 1849.

RoserT G. SHaw.

C.

SUFFOLE 8s.

AN INQUISITION, taken at the City of Boston, within the County of
Suffolk, the thirteenth day of December, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight bundred and forty-nine, before Jabez Pratt, Esquire, one of the Coro-
ners of said County, upon the view of sundry parts of the body of a dead man,
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"
viz., a thorax, kidneys, pelvis, two thighs, left leg, and sundry bones, thers
'1yingrdaad, h}:ltha oaths of Osmyn Brewster, John L. Andrews, Pear]l Mar-
tin, Thomas Restieanx, Lewis Jones, and Harum Merrill, good and lawful
men, who, being charged and sworn to inquire for the Commonwealth, when,
how, and by what means, the said dead man came to his death, upon their oaths
do say: ‘T{Ia.t they all have been demonstrated to be parts of one and the
same person. That these parts of the human frame have been identified and
proved to be the remains and pars of the dead body and limbs of Doctor
George Parkman, late a citizen of said Boston, aged about sixty years. That
he came to his death by violence. at said Boston, on the 23d day of No-
vember last, between the hour of one and a half of the elock in the after-
noon of that day, (about which time he entered, alive and in good health, into
the Massachusetts Medical College building, situate in North Grove-street. in
said Boston,) and the hour of four of the clock in the afternoon of the
thirtieth day of November last, (when a portion of the said remains were
found conecealed in and under the apartments of Doetor John W. Webster,
of Cambridge, in the County of Middlesex, in said College building,) in which
building the residue of said remains were afterwards discovered. That he
was kii%ed, in said College building, by a blow or blows, wound or wounds,
inflicted upon him with some instrument or weapon to the Jurors unknown,
and by means not yet known to said Jurors, and that said blow or blows,
wound or wounds, were inflicted upon him, and said means were used, by the
hands of said Doetor John W. Webster, by whom he was killed.

In witness whereof, the said Coronor and Jurors to this Inquisition have

set their hands and seals, the day and year abovesaid.

Jasez PratT, Coroner.

Osuyr Brewster, Foreman.

Jonn L. Awprews, Secrefary.

Peary MarTIN.

Tuomas Restieavx.

Lewis Joxnes.

Harum MEeRRILL.

InguesT held by Jabez Pratt, Esquire, Coroner, this 1st day of December,
A.D. 1849, at the Medical College, Grove-street, upon a body supposed te
be the body of George Parkman, there lying dead ; and by ad{nurnmﬂnt
to the same place to Monday, the 3d day of December, and also by an
adjournment to the Ward Hoom, on Wednesday, December 5th, 1849.
‘Wednesday, December 5th, the Jury of Inquest met and set until 7 1-2
P. M., and adjourned to Thursday, at 3 P. M. Metat3 P. M., and adjourned
to meet at room No. 15, in the Court-house, on Friday, 7th inst., at 10 o'clock.
Met on Friday, December 7th, and adjourned to meet on Saturday, December
Bth. Met at 9 o’clock A. M. on Saturday, and adjourned to meet on Mon-
day, December 10th, at 9 o’clock A. M. Met on Monday, December 10th,
and adjourned to Tuesday, December 11th, at 9 o'clock, A. M. Tuesday,
9 A. M., met according to adjournment, and adjourned to meet on Thurs-
day, December 13th. Met, according to adjournment, and finished the
evidence, and rendered the verdict. On each of the days, except December 6th,
the Jury met at 9 o’clock, and continued through the day, until near 7
o’clock P. M. Joun t ANDREWS, Secrefary

I, MarTiv Gav, being duly sworn, depose as follows. I am by profession
a Physician and Chemist.

1 was appointed, with other persons, to be a Committee for the purpose of
making an examination of several parts of a human body, said to have been
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found at the Medical College, in the City of Boston, —of bones, slag, vari-
‘ous metallic and other substances, said to be found in the furnace in the
laboratory of the same boilding, and of reddish brown spots upon the wain-
scot of the laboratory.

The committee were divided into sub-committees, for the purpose of
apportioning to each the kind of service to which he was most accustomed.

he anatomical examination was especially committed to Dr. Winslow

Lewis, Jr. Iexamined, however, with him, and at various times by myself, the
parts of a human body ; and I ohserved, so far as I made an examination,
the same'factz and appearances that Dr. Lewis has described.

The chemieal examination was commnitted to Dr. C. T. Jackson, and to
myself.

Cuemical ExaminaTion ofF variovs SuUBSTANCES.

1. A piece of metal was found to be an alloy of lead and tin. 2. Another
piece of metal was alzo found to be an alloy of tin and lead. 3. Having
fused most of the pieces of metal into one mass, 1 gave one portion of it to
Dr. C.T. Jackson. I examined another portion, and found it to consist
essentially of an alloy of lead and tin.

4. 'The slag from the furnace was pounded into coarse powder; then, by
sifting, several pieces of yellow metal were separated from it. I examined
one of the pieces, and found it to be gold. I have partially examined the
remainder, and believe them to be gold also, in a state of greater or less
purity. The sifted portion was levigated, and will be examined. The
metallie pieces already separated will also be examined further. Their weight
is 47 grains.

5. Anexamination was made of small pieces of muscle, and of an artery and
vein, by Mr. Crossley, under my irnmediate observation, for the purpose of
ascertaining if the body had been injected with arsenie acid, or chloride of
ging. None was discovered. Ishall make an examination of larger portions of
muscle and artery.

6. A piece of flesh, that appeared to have been acted upon by some
powerful re-agent, was examined by me. It gave strong indications of an
alkali. This alkali T found to be potash; it was applied, without any
reasonable doubt, in a caustic state.

7. There were some small, round pieces of sheet-copper. They were
gaid to have been found in the furnace, but they had not been acted upon by
furnace heat. MARTIN GAY.

Attest, Jonw L. AvDrREWS.

Baston, December 8th, 1849,

In consequence of the decease of Dr. Gay, this deposition was inadmis-
gible.

E

THE JURY IN THE WEBSTER TRIAL.

To the Editors of the Traveller— Gentlemen: Having read, in several
papers, what purported to be a relation of the scenes and events which trans-
pired in the Jury-room, on the trial of John W, Webster, I have felt desirous
{now that the subject has been brought before the public mind) that a plain
gtatement of the more important matters connected with the Jury-room
ghould be made, as it might prove interesting, if not instruective, to the com-
munity. The Jury was composed of twelve men, from as many different
hrancg’es of the mechanieal and mercantile *¢ professions ;' they were from
four different religious denominations, and their ages varied from 28 to 66
years, They were men whom I should designate as possessing good sound
common sense,—men capable of judging, of discerning, of appreciating
evidenee, and estimating its importance. The Jurors, after they had become
better acquainted with each other, and as the evidence began to bear with
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erushing weight upon the prisoner, and the * net-work of complicated cir-
eumstances 7’ seemed to encirele him, felt strongly the need of ** that wisdom
which cometh from above,” to guide and direct their minds aright, in their
most momentous and responsible situation.

It was then that our worthy Foreman (whom we all must highly respeet, and
whom we shall ever remember with pleasure) proposed to the Jury that they
should have religious services every evening. 'T'he proposition was most
cheerfully responded to, and ever after that time, the voice of praize and

rayer ascended, as we trust, from sincere hearts, to the throne of Infinite
QVisd-:nm and Mercy. I need not say that the burden of every prayer was for
wisdom to guide and direet unto a right decision, and for blessings most rich
and precious to descend upon the prisoner and his afflicted f'am‘}y. :

I now come to the elosing part of this momentous trial. When the wit-
nesses for the defence had given in their testimony, and the Counsel for the
prisoner announced the evidence on their part closed, a feeling_ﬂf pain and
anguish must have come over the mind of m’mt'l',' Juror. * What! can no
more be said, — no more be done in behalf of the unhappy prisoner? Is
that the evidence — the only evidence on which we are to place our verdict
of * Not Guilty?’"

At that very time, with the light which the able charge of the Chief Jus-
tice afterwards gave us on several points of ¢ the law and the evidence,” 1
think I speak the sentiments of nearly, if not quite, all the Jury, when Isay,
that they were as fully prepared for their verdiet as they were when they
retired to the Jury-room, after listening to the most able and eloquent pleas
of the prisoner’s senior Counsel and the Attorney General, so strongly, so
fully, had the evidence pointed to the prisoner as the guilty man, Axp TO N0
oxE eLse.  After the Jury had gone to their room, — with the various evi-,
dences of guilt spread out on the table before them, and the door locked upon
them, shut out, as it were, entirely from the world, with nothing but the eye
of the Omniseient God upon them, — so painful was the sense of responsi-
bility, so unwilling were they to come to the result which ali felt they must
come to, that thirty to forty minutes were spent ere anything was done ;
when at last the voice of the Foreman was heard calling them to order, and
reminding them of duty, however painful. And, when they had all taken
their seats around the table, then it was that one of the Jurors rose and said,
¢ Mr. Foreman, before entering upon the further consideration and decision
of thiz most important matter, mellii propose that we seek for Divine wis-
dom and guidanee.” The proposition met with a cordial response, and the
Foreman called npon a Juror to offer prayer. This was done, most feelingly
and sincerely. We then proceeded to the most trying and painful part of
our arduous duty. The various articles which were put into the case were
examined by the Jury, and particularly those things which seemed to bear
most strongly against the prisoner. The final decision of the question was
resolved into three parts :

First. Are the remains of a human body, found in the Medical College, on
the 30th Nov., 1849, those of the late Dr. George Parkman !

Second. Did Dr. George Parkman come to his death by the hands of Dr.
John W. Webster, in the Medieal College, on the 23d November, 13491

Third. Is Dr. John W. Webster guilty, as set forth in the indictment, of
the wilful murder of Dr. George Parkman?

When the vote on the first question was put, twelve hands arose immedi-
ately. Some little discussion then took place, when the second question was
tested, and twelve hands at once arose ‘The third — the most important
question of all — wasnext tobe tried. Quite a pause ensued. One Juror—in
his sympathies of kindness for the prisoner (who was his personal aequaint-
ance, or friend) and his afflicted family — shrunk from the * fiery ordeal.”
“ Can’t we stop here? —can’t the law be vindicated, and justice satisfied, if
we pause here? Must we take the Jife of the unhappy prisoner?” Some
discussion ensued ; the mind of the Juror seemed more calm, and he expressed
his readiness to vote on the final question, which was then put, and twelve
























